

# paloalto

# PAN-OS<sup>®</sup> Administrator's Guide

Version 6.1

# **Contact Information**

Corporate Headquarters: Palo Alto Networks 4401 Great America Parkway Santa Clara, CA 95054 www.paloaltonetworks.com/company/contact-support

## About this Guide

This guide takes you through the configuration and maintenance of your Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall. For additional information, refer to the following resources:

- For information on how to configure other components in the Palo Alto Networks Next-Generation Security Platform, go to the Technical Documentation portal: https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/documentation or search the documentation.
- For access to the knowledge base and community forums, refer to <a href="https://live.paloaltonetworks.com">https://live.paloaltonetworks.com</a>.
- For contacting support, for information on support programs, to manage your account or devices, or to open a support case, refer to https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/support/tabs/overview.html.
- For the most current PAN-OS and Panorama 6.1 release notes, go to https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/documentation/61/pan-os/pan-os-release-notes.html.

To provide feedback on the documentation, please write to us at: documentation@paloaltonetworks.com.

Palo Alto Networks, Inc.

www.paloaltonetworks.com

© 2014–2017 Palo Alto Networks, Inc. Palo Alto Networks is a registered trademark of Palo Alto Networks. A list of our trademarks can be found at https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/company/trademarks.html. All other marks mentioned herein may be trademarks of their respective companies.

Revision Date: May 9, 2017

# **Table of Contents**

Getting Started
Integrate the Firewall into Your Management Network       14         Determine Your Management Strategy       14         Perform Initial Configuration       15         Set Up Network Access for External Services       17         Register the Firewall       21         Activate Licenses and Subscriptions       21         Manage Content Updates       23         Install Software Updates       26
Create the Security Perimeter.28Basic Interface Deployments28About Security Policy30Plan the Deployment31Configure Interfaces and Zones.32Set Up Basic Security Policies34
Enable Basic Threat Prevention Features       41         Enable WildFire       41         Scan Traffic for Threats       43         Control Access to Web Content       47
Best Practices for Completing the Firewall Deployment
Device Management
Management Interfaces54Use the Web Interface55Use the Command Line Interface (CLI)60Use the XML API62
Manage Firewall Administrators       64         Administrative Roles       64         Administrative Authentication       65         Create an Administrative Account       65
Reference: Web Interface Administrator Access    69      Web Interface Access Privileges.    69      Panorama Web Interface Access    105
Reference: Port Numbers Used by Palo Alto Networks Devices       108         Ports Used for Management Functions       108         Ports Used for HA       109         Ports Used for Panorama       110         Ports Used for Ver-ID       111         Ports Used for User-ID       111
Keset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings

Certificate Management 113
Keys and Certificates
Certificate Revocation       116         Certificate Revocation List (CRL)       116         Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP)       117
Certificate Deployment
Set Up Verification for Certificate Revocation Status       119         Configure an OCSP Responder.       119         Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication.       120         Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption       121
Configure the Master Key 123
Obtain Certificates124Create a Self-Signed Root CA Certificate125Generate a Certificate on the Firewall126Import a Certificate and Private Key127Obtain a Certificate from an External CA128
Configure a Certificate Profile
Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates
Revoke and Renew Certificates    134      Revoke a Certificate    134      Renew a Certificate    134
Secure Keys with a Hardware Security Module135Set up Connectivity with an HSM136Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM142Store Private Keys on an HSM144Manage the HSM Deployment145
High Availability
HA Overview
HA Concepts149HA Modes149HA Links and Backup Links149Device Priority and Preemption151Failover Triggers152HA Timers153
1111 1 111010
Set Up Active/Passive HA       155         Prerequisites for Active/Passive HA       156         Configuration Guidelines for Active/Passive HA       157         Configure Active/Passive HA       159         Define HA Failover Conditions       165         Verify Failover       166

Reports and Logging	169
Use the Dashboard	. 170
Use the Application Command Center	. 172
ACC Risk Level.	. 173
ACC Charts	. 174
Use the ACC	. 177
Use App-Scope	178
Summary Report	. 179
Change Monitor Report	. 180
Threat Monitor Report	182
Inreat Map Report	183
Traffic Map Report	. 185
Take Packet Captures	. 186
Monitor the Firewall	. 188
Monitor Applications and Threats	. 189
Monitor Log Data	. 190
Monitor the Dashboard	. 194
View Reports.	. 195
Forward Logs to External Services	. 196
Enable Log Forwarding	. 204
Log Forwarding Profiles	. 205
Monitor the Firewall Using SNMP	. 208
Monitor the Firewall Using NetFlow	. 210
NetFlow Templates	. 211
Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems	. 214
Manage Reporting	. 216
About Reports	. 217
View Reports	. 218
Generate Custom Reports	. 219
Generate Botnet Reports	. 226
Manage PDF Summary Reports	. 228
Generate User/Group Activity Reports	. 230
Manage Report Groups	231
Syslog Field Descriptions	. 233
User-ID	245
User-ID Overview	. 246
User-ID Concepts	. 248
Group Mapping	. 248
User Mapping	. 248
Enable User-ID	. 253

Map Users to Groups
Map IP Addresses to Users
Configure User Mapping Using the Windows User-ID Agent
Configure User Mapping Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent
Configure User-ID to Receive User Mappings from a Syslog Sender
Configure User Mapping for Terminal Server Users
Send User Mappings to User-ID Using the XML API
Configure a Firewall to Share User Mapping Data with Other Firewalls
Enable User- and Group-Based Policy
Verify the User-ID Configuration. 297
App-ID
App-ID Overview 302
Manage Custom of Unknown Applications 303
Best Practices for Using App-ID in Policy
Applications with Implicit Support
Application Level Gateways
Disable the SIP Application-level Gateway (ALG)
Threat Prevention
Set Up Security Profiles and Policies
Set Up Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and Vulnerability Protection
Set Up Data Filtering
Set Up File Blocking
Prevent Brute Force Attacks
Customize the Action and Trigger Conditions for a Brute Force Signature
Best Practices for Securing Your Network from Layer 4 and Layer 7 Evasions 325
Enable Passive DNS Collection for Improved Threat Intelligence
Use DNS Queries to Identify Infected Hosts on the Network
DNS Sinkholing
Configure DNS Sinkholing
Identify Infected Hosts
Content Delivery Network Intrastructure for Dynamic Updates
Threat Prevention Resources   338
Decryption
Decryption Overview
Decryption Concepts
Keys and Certificates for Decryption Policies
SSL Forward Proxy
SSH Proxy
Decryption Exceptions
Decryption Port Mirroring

Configure SSL Forward Proxy	
Configure SSL Inbound Inspection	
Configure SSH Proxy	
Configure Decryption Exceptions Exclude Traffic From Decryption Exclude a Server From Decryption	
Enable Users to Opt Out of SSL Decryption	
Configure Decryption Port Mirroring	
Temporarily Disable SSL Decryption	
URL Filtering	367
URL Filtering Overview. URL Filtering Vendors. Interaction Between App-ID and URL Categories	
URL Filtering Concepts	
URL Categories	
URL Filtering Profile	
URL Filtering Profile Actions	
Safe Search Enforcement	
Container Pages	
HTTP Header Logging.	
URL Filtering Response Pages	
PAN-DB Categorization Workflow	
PAN-DB URL Categorization Components.	
PAN-DB URL Categorization Workflow	
Enable a URL Filtering Vendor.	
Enable PAN-DB URL Filtering.	
Determine URL Eilterine Delier Requirements	200
Manitan Wah Astrice	201
Interpret the URL Filtering Logs Use the ACC to Monitor Web Activity	
View URL Filtering Reports.	
Configure Custom URL Filtering Reports	
Configure URL Filtering	
Log Client IP Addresses for Proxied HTTP/HTTPS Requests Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users Add XFF Values to URL Filtering Logs	
Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages	403
Configure URL Admin Override	404

Enable Safe Search Enforcement
Block Search Results that are not Using Strict Safe Search Settings 406
Enable Transparent Safe Search Enforcement
URL Filtering Use Case Examples 413
Use Case: Control Web Access
Use Case: Use URL Categories in Policy 418
Troubleshoot URL Filtering
Problems Activating PAN-DB
PAN-DB Cloud Connectivity Issues
URLs Classified as Not-Resolved
Incorrect Categorization
UKL Database Out of Date 424
Quality of Service
QoS Overview
OoS Concepts
OoS for Applications and Users
QoS Profile
QoS Classes
QoS Policy
QoS Egress Interface    432
QoS Cleartext and Tunneled Traffic
Configure QoS
Configure QoS for a Virtual System
QoS Use Case Examples    446
Use Case: QoS for a Single User
QoS for Voice and Video Applications
VPNS
VPN Deployments
Site-to-Site VPN Overview
Site-to-Site VPN Concepts
IKE Gateway
Tunnel Interface   456
Tunnel Monitoring.     457
Internet Key Exchange (IKE) for VPN 45/
Set Up Site-to-Site VPN
Set up an IKE Gateway
Define Cryptographic Profiles
Set up an IPSec Tunnel
Test VPN Connectivity
Interpret VPN Error Messages
Site-to-Site VPN Onick Configs
Site-to-Site VPN with Static Routing
Site-to-Site VPN with OSPF
Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing

LSVPN Overview.490Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN491Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components493About Certificate Deployment.493Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components493Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites.497Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.499Prerequisite Tasks.499Configure the GlobalProtect Ortal for LSVPN.490Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.502Prerequisite Tasks.502Configure the ClobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.502Prerequisite Tasks.502Configure the Satellite Configurations504Prepare the Satellite Configuration504Prepare the Satellite Configuration510LSVPN Quick Configs.511Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing.512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking523Layer 3 Deployments.523Layer 3 Deployments.524Virtual Wire Deployments.525Static Routes527Static Routes527Static Routes527Static Routes529OSPF.531OSPF.531Configure OSPF.531Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.534Confi	Large Scale VPN (LSVPN)	39
Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN       491         Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components       493         About Certificate Deployment       493         Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components       493         Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites       497         Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites       499         Percequisite Tasks       499         Configure the Gateway.       499         Configure the Gateway.       499         Configure the Ortal Ior LSVPN.       502         Prerequisite Tasks.       502         Configure the Portal.       503         Define the Satellite Configurations       504         Prepare the Satellite Configuration       510         LSVPN Quick Configs.       511         Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing       512         Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing       515         Networking       523         Layer 3 Deployments       523         Layer 3 Deployments       524         Virtual Routers       525         Static Routes       527         Static Routes       527         Static Routes       529         OSPF Concepts	LSVPN Overview	90
Enable SSI. Between GlobalProtect ISVPN Components493About Certificate Deployment493Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components493Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites497Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.499Prerequisite Tasks.499Configure the Gateway.499Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.502Prerequisite Tasks.502Configure the Fortal503Define the Satellite Configurations504Prepare the Satellite Configuration507Verify the LSVPN Configuration510LSVPN Quick Configs511Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking520Virtual Wire Deployments520Layer 3 Deployments523Layer 3 Deployments524Virtual Wire Deployments525Static Routes527RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts531OSPF Concepts531OSPF Concepts534Configure OSPF534Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Configure OSPF Graceful	Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN	91
Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites       497         Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.       499         Prerequisite Tasks       499         Configure the Gateway.       499         Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.       502         Prerequisite Tasks       502         Configure the Ortal       503         Define the Satellite Configurations       504         Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN.       507         Verify the LSVPN Configuration       510         LSVPN Quick Configs.       511         Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing       512         Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing       515         Networking       520         Virtual Wire Deployments       523         Layer 1 Deployments       523         Layer 3 Deployments       523         Tap Mode Deployments       524         Virtual Routers       525         Static Routes       527         RIP       529         OSPF       531         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart       542         Configure OSPF       534         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart       542         Configure OSPF Graceful	Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components       49         About Certificate Deployment       49         Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components       49	93 93 93
Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.       499         Prerequisite Tasks       499         Configure the Gateway.       499         Configure the Portal for LSVPN.       502         Configure the Portal       503         Define the Satellite Configurations       504         Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN.       507         Verify the LSVPN Configuration       510         LSVPN Quick Configs.       511         Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing.       512         Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing.       515         Networking.       520         Virtual Wire Deployments       520         Virtual Wire Deployments       523         Layer 3 Deployments       523         Layer 3 Deployments       524         Virtual Routers       525         Static Routes       527         RIP       529         OSPF - Oncepts       531         Configure OSPF Gaceful Restart       544         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart	Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites	97
Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.       502         Prerequisite Tasks       502         Configure the Portal       503         Define the Satellite Configurations       504         Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN       507         Verify the LSVPN Configuration       510         LSVPN Quick Configs       511         Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing       512         Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing       515         Networking       520         Virtual Wire Deployments       520         Layer 2 Deployments       520         Layer 2 Deployments       523         Tap Mode Deployments       523         Tap Mode Deployments       524         Virtual Routers       525         Static Routes       527         RIP       529         OSPF Concepts       531         Configure OSPF Fv3       534         Configure OSPF Operation       543         BGP       544         Configure OSPF Operation       543         DAP       544         Configure OSPF Operation       543         DAP       544         Virtual Routers       535	Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.       49         Prerequisite Tasks       49         Configure the Gateway.       49	99 99 99
Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN.507Verify the LSVPN Configuration510LSVPN Quick Configs511Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking519Interface Deployments520Virtual Wire Deployments523Layer 2 Deployments523Tap Mode Deployments523Static Routes527RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts531Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Configure OSPF Operation543BGP546Session Settings and Timeouts552UDP.552UDP.554ICMP555UDP.554ICMP555Configure Sessions552UDP.554ICMP555Configure Timeouts552Configure Timeouts552Configure Timeouts552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Timeouts552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552<	Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN.       50         Prerequisite Tasks       50         Configure the Portal       50         Define the Satellite Configurations       50	02 02 03 04
Verify the LSVPN Configuration510LSVPN Quick Configs.511Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking519Interface Deployments.520Uayer 2 Deployments520Layer 3 Deployments523Tap Mode Deployments.524Virtual Routers525Static Routes527RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts.531Configure OSPF Qraceful Restart542Configure OSPF Operation543GGP.544Session Settings and Timeouts551Transport Layer Sessions552UDP.554ICMP.555Configure OSPF Concepts554ICMP.555Configure OSPF Operation554ICMP.555TCP554ICMP.555Configure Transport Layer Sessions552Configure Transport Layer Sessions555Configure Transport Layer Sessions55	Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN	07
LSVPN Quick Configs.511Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking519Interface Deployments520Virtual Wire Deployments520Layer 2 Deployments523Layer 3 Deployments523Tap Mode Deployments524Virtual Routers525Static Routes527RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts.531Configure OSPF operation543GGP.544Session Settings and Timeouts552Transport Layer Sessions552UDP.554ICMP.552UDP.554ICMP.552OSPF Concepts.551Transport Layer Sessions552TCP554ICMP.554ICMP.554ICMP.555Configure OSPF Concepts.551Tansport Layer Sessions552TCP554ICMP.555Configure Configure Toport Layer Sessions552TCP555UDP.554ICMP.555Configure Configure Toport Topor	Verify the LSVPN Configuration	10
Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing512Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing515Networking519Interface Deployments520Virtual Wire Deployments523Layer 2 Deployments523Layer 3 Deployments523Tap Mode Deployments524Virtual Routers525Static Routes527RIP529OSPF531OSPF Concepts531Configure OSPF534Configure OSPF539Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Configure OSPF Operation543BGP544Configure OSPF Operation543Configure OSPF Operation543Configure OSPF Operation543Configure OSPF Operation544Session Settings and Timeouts551Transport Layer Sessions552Configure Sessions552Configure Sessions552TCP552UDP554ICMP555Configure Service Elements552Configure Service Elements552Configure Service Elements552TCP552UDP554ICMP555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service Elements555Configure Service El	LSVPN Quick Configs	11
Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing       515         Networking       .519         Interface Deployments       .520         Virtual Wire Deployments       .520         Layer 2 Deployments       .523         Layer 3 Deployments       .523         Tap Mode Deployments       .523         Tap Mode Deployments       .525         Static Routes       .527         RIP       .529         OSPF       .531         OSPF Concepts       .531         Configure OSPF       .531         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart       .542         Configure OSPF Operation       .543         BGP       .544         Session Settings and Timeouts       .551         Transport Layer Sessions       .552         TCP       .552         UDP       .554         ICMP       .555         Configure Serving Timeore       .554	Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing	12
Networking       .519         Interface Deployments       .520         Virtual Wire Deployments       .523         Layer 2 Deployments       .523         Layer 3 Deployments       .523         Tap Mode Deployments       .523         Tap Mode Deployments       .525         Static Routers       .527         RIP       .529         OSPF       .531         OSPF Concepts       .531         Configure OSPF       .531         Configure OSPF       .533         Gornfigure OSPF Graceful Restart       .542         Configure OSPF Operation       .543         BGP       .544         Transport Layer Sessions       .552         UDP       .554         ICMP       .555         Configure Session Settings and Timeouts       .551         Transport Layer Sessions       .552         UDP       .554         ICMP       .555	Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing	15
Interface Deployments520Virtual Wire Deployments523Layer 2 Deployments523Layer 3 Deployments523Tap Mode Deployments524Virtual Routers525Static Routes527RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts531Configure OSPF v3539Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Confirm OSPF Operation543BGP544Session Settings and Timeouts551Transport Layer Sessions552UDP554ICMP555Configure Serving Timeouts554ICMP555Configure Serving Timeouts554ICMP554ICMP555Configure Serving Timeouts554ICMP555Configure Serving Timeouts555Configure Serving Timeouts555Configure Serving Timeouts552		
Virtual Routers       525         Static Routes       527         RIP       529         OSPF       531         OSPF Concepts.       531         Configure OSPF       534         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart       542         Configure OSPF Operation       543         BGP.       544         Session Settings and Timeouts.       551         Transport Layer Sessions       552         UDP.       554         ICMP.       555         Configure Service Timeoutt       555	Networking	9
Static Routes       527         RIP       529         OSPF.       531         OSPF Concepts.       531         Configure OSPF.       534         Configure OSPF.       534         Configure OSPF Graceful Restart       542         Confirm OSPF Operation       543         BGP.       546         Session Settings and Timeouts       551         Transport Layer Sessions       552         UDP.       554         ICMP.       554         ICMP.       554	Networking       .51         Interface Deployments       .52         Virtual Wire Deployments       .52         Layer 2 Deployments       .52         Layer 3 Deployments       .52         Tap Mode Deployments       .52	<ol> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> </ol>
RIP529OSPF.531OSPF Concepts.531Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPF.539Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Confirm OSPF Operation543BGP.546Session Settings and Timeouts.551Transport Layer Sessions552UDP.554ICMP.555Conform Service Timeouts555	Networking       .51         Interface Deployments       .52         Virtual Wire Deployments       .52         Layer 2 Deployments       .52         Layer 3 Deployments       .52         Tap Mode Deployments       .52         Virtual Routers       .52	<ol> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> <li>25</li> </ol>
OSPF.531OSPF Concepts.531Configure OSPF.534Configure OSPFv3.539Configure OSPF Graceful Restart542Confirm OSPF Operation543BGP.546Session Settings and Timeouts.551Transport Layer Sessions552TCP.552UDP.554ICMP.555Conform Service Timeouts555	Networking.51Interface Deployments.52Virtual Wire Deployments.52Layer 2 Deployments.52Layer 3 Deployments.52Tap Mode Deployments.52Virtual Routers.52Static Routes.52	<ol> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> <li>25</li> <li>27</li> </ol>
BGP	Networking.51Interface Deployments.52Virtual Wire Deployments.52Layer 2 Deployments.52Layer 3 Deployments.52Tap Mode Deployments.52Virtual Routers.52Static Routes.52RIP.52	<ol> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> <li>25</li> <li>27</li> <li>29</li> </ol>
Session Settings and Timeouts.       551         Transport Layer Sessions       552         TCP       552         UDP.       554         ICMP.       555         Conference Sension Timeoente       557	Networking.51Interface Deployments.52Virtual Wire Deployments.52Layer 2 Deployments.52Layer 3 Deployments.52Tap Mode Deployments.52Virtual Routers.52Static Routes.52RIP.52OSPF.52OSPF Concepts.52Configure OSPF.52Configure OSPF Graceful Restart.54Confirm OSPF Operation.54	<ul> <li>9</li> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> <li>25</li> <li>27</li> <li>29</li> <li>31</li> <li>34</li> <li>39</li> <li>42</li> <li>43</li> </ul>
Configure Session Settings 559	Networking.51Interface Deployments.52Virtual Wire Deployments.52Layer 2 Deployments.52Layer 3 Deployments.52Tap Mode Deployments.52Virtual Routers.52Static Routes.52RIP.52OSPF.52OSPF Concepts.52Configure OSPF.52Configure OSPF Graceful Restart.52Configure OSPF Graceful Restart.54Configure OSPF Operation.54BGP.54	<ol> <li>9</li> <li>20</li> <li>20</li> <li>23</li> <li>24</li> <li>25</li> <li>27</li> <li>29</li> <li>31</li> <li>34</li> <li>39</li> <li>42</li> <li>43</li> <li>46</li> </ol>

DHCP	562
DHCP Overview	562
DHCP Messages	563
DHCP Addressing	563
DHCP Options	565
Restrictions to Palo Alto Networks Implementation of DHCP	566
Configure an Interface as a DHCP Server	566
Configure an Interface as a DHCP Client.	570
Configure an Interface as a DHCP Relay Agent	571
Monitor and Troubleshoot DHCP	571
NAT	573
Purpose of NAT.	573
NAT Rules and Security Policies	. 573
Source NAT and Destination NAT	. 574
NAT Rule Capacities	. 575
Dynamic IP and Port NAT Oversubscription	. 576
Dataplane NAT Memory Statistics	577
Configure NAT	. 579
NATICA	507
NA164	58/
NA164 Overview	588
IPv4-Embedded IPv6 Address	589
DINS04 Server.	590
Path MTU Discovery	591
Configure NA164	592
LACP	601
LACP Settings	601
Configure LACP	604
Policy	607
Policy Types	608
Security Policy	609
Components of a Security Policy Rule	610
Security Policy Best Practices	613
Policy Objects	614
Security Profiles	615
Antivirus Profiles	616
Anti-spyware Profiles	617
Vulnerability Protection Profiles	618
URL Filtering Profiles	619
Data Filtering Profiles	620
File Blocking Profiles	622
DoS Protection Profile.	623
Zone Protection Profiles	624
Security Profile Group	625
Enumeration of Rules Within a Rulebase	620
	02)
Use Tags to Visually Distinguish Objects	631

Tips and Tricks for Searching for Objects in Security Policy Search Security Policy Rules for Security Profiles	633
Search for Disabled Rules in the Security Policy.	637
Search for Log Forwarding Details in Security Policy	637
Search for Log Details in Security Policy.	638
Search for Scheduled Kules in Security Policy	639
Use a Dynamic Block List in Policy.	640
View the IP Address Limit For Your Firewall Model	640
Formatting Guidelines for Dynamic Block Lists	641
Enforce Policy with a Dynamic Block List	641
View the List of IP addresses in the Dynamic Block List.	642
Retrieve a Dynamic Block List from Web Server	643
Register IP Addresses and Tags Dynamically	644
Monitor Changes in the Virtual Environment	645
Enable VM Monitoring to Track Changes on the Virtual Network	646
Attributes Monitored in the AWS and VMware Environments.	649
Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy	650
CLI Commands for Dynamic IP Addresses and Tags	653
Policy-Based Forwarding	655
PBF	656
Create a Policy-Based Forwarding Rule	658
Use Case: PBF for Outbound Access with Dual ISPs	660
DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions	668
DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions	669
Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions	673
Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session	676
Identify Sessions That Use an Excessive Percentage of the Packet Buffer	677
Discard a Session Without a Commit	679
Virtual Systems	601
	.001
Virtual Systems Overview	682
Virtual System Components and Segmentation	682
Benefits of Virtual Systems.	683
Use Cases for Virtual Systems	683
Platform Support and Licensing for Virtual Systems	684
Administrative Roles for Virtual Systems	084
Shared Objects for Virtual Systems	004 684
Communication Between Virtual Systems	685
Inter-VSYS Traffic That Must Leave the Fifewall	080
Inter-VSTS Traine That Remains within the Fifewait	
Shared Gateway	691
External Zones and Shared Gateway.	691
INETWORKING COnsiderations for a Shared Gateway	692
Configure Virtual Systems	693
Configure Virtual Systems	693 696

Configure a Shared Gateway	697
Virtual System Functionality with Other Features	698

# **Getting Started**

The following sections provide detailed steps to help you deploy a new Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall. They provide details for integrating a new firewall into your network and configuring basic security policies and threat prevention features.

After you perform the basic configuration steps required to integrate the firewall into your network, you can use the rest of the topics in this guide to help you deploy the comprehensive enterprise security platform features as necessary to address your network security needs.

- ▲ Integrate the Firewall into Your Management Network
- ▲ Create the Security Perimeter
- ▲ Enable Basic Threat Prevention Features
- ▲ Best Practices for Completing the Firewall Deployment

# Integrate the Firewall into Your Management Network

All Palo Alto Networks firewalls provide an out-of-band management port (MGT) that you can use to perform the firewall administration functions. By using the MGT port, you separate the management functions of the firewall from the data processing functions, safeguarding access to the firewall and enhancing performance. When using the web interface, you must perform all initial configuration tasks from the MGT port even if you plan to use an in-band port for managing your device going forward.

Some management tasks, such as retrieving licenses and updating the threat and application signatures on the firewall require access to the Internet. If you do not want to enable external access to your MGT port, you will need to either set up a data port to provide access to required external services or plan to manually upload updates regularly.

The following topics describe how to perform the initial configuration steps that are necessary to integrate a new firewall into the management network and deploy it in a basic security configuration.

- Determine Your Management Strategy
- Perform Initial Configuration
- Set Up Network Access for External Services
- Register the Firewall
- Activate Licenses and Subscriptions
- Manage Content Updates
- Install Software Updates



The following topics describe how to integrate a single Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall into your network. However, for redundancy, consider deploying a pair of firewalls in a High Availability configuration.

# **Determine Your Management Strategy**

The Palo Alto Networks firewall can be configured and managed locally or it can be managed centrally using Panorama, the Palo Alto Networks centralized security management system. If you have six or more firewalls deployed in your network, use Panorama to achieve the following benefits:

- Reduce the complexity and administrative overhead in managing configuration, policies, software and dynamic content updates. Using device groups and templates on Panorama, you can effectively manage device specific configuration locally on a device and enforce shared policies across all devices or device groups.
- Aggregate data from all managed firewalls and gain visibility across all the traffic on your network. The Application Command Center (ACC) on Panorama provides a single glass pane for unified reporting across all the firewalls, allowing you to centrally analyze, investigate and report on network traffic, security incidents and administrative modifications.

The procedures in this document describe how to manage the firewall using the local web interface. If you want to use Panorama for centralized management, after you complete the instructions in the Perform Initial Configuration section of this guide and verify that the firewall can establish a connection to Panorama. From that point on you can use Panorama to configure your firewall centrally.

# Perform Initial Configuration

By default, the firewall has an IP address of 192.168.1.1 and a username/password of admin/admin. For security reasons, you must change these settings before continuing with other firewall configuration tasks. You must perform these initial configuration tasks either from the MGT interface, even if you do not plan to use this interface for your firewall management, or using a direct serial connection to the console port on the device.

Set Up	Network Access to the Firewall	
Step 1	Gather the required information from your network administrator.	<ul> <li>IP address for MGT port</li> <li>Netmask</li> <li>Default gateway</li> <li>DNS server address</li> </ul>
Step 2	Connect your computer to the firewall.	<ul> <li>You can connect to the firewall in one of the following ways:</li> <li>Connect a serial cable from your computer to the Console port and connect to the firewall using terminal emulation software (9600-8-N-1). Wait a few minutes for the boot-up sequence to complete; when the device is ready, the prompt changes to the name of the firewall, for example PA-500 login.</li> <li>Connect an RJ-45 Ethernet cable from your computer to the MGT port on the firewall. From a browser, go to https://192.168.1.1. Note that you may need to change the IP address on your computer to an address in the 192.168.1.0 network, such as 192.168.1.2, in order to access this URL.</li> </ul>
Step 3	When prompted, log in to the firewall.	You must log in using the default username and password (admin/admin). The firewall will begin to initialize.
Step 4	Configure the MGT interface.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management and then edit the Management Interface Settings.</li> <li>Enter the IP Address, Netmask, and Default Gateway.</li> <li>Set the Speed to auto-negotiate.</li> <li>Select which management services to allow on the interface.</li> <li>Make sure Telnet and HTTP are not selected because these services use plaintext and are not as secure as the other services.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> </ol>

Set Up	Set Up Network Access to the Firewall (Continued)			
Step 5	(Optional) Configure general firewall settings.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management</b> and edit the General Settings.	
		2.	Enter a <b>Hostname</b> for the firewall and enter your network <b>Domain</b> name. The domain name is just a label; it will not be used to join the domain.	
		3.	Enter the <b>Latitude</b> and <b>Longitude</b> to enable accurate placement of the firewall on the world map.	
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> .	
Step 6	Configure DNS, time and date settings.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Services</b> and edit the Services.	
	You must manually configure at least one DNS server on the	2.	On the <b>Services</b> tab, enter the IP address of the <b>Primary DNS</b> <b>Server</b> and optionally a <b>Secondary DNS Server</b> .	
	firewall or it will not be able to resolve hostnames; it will not use DNS server settings from another source, such as an ISP.	3.	To use the virtual cluster of time servers on the Internet, enter the hostname <b>pool.ntp.org</b> as the <b>Primary NTP Server</b> or add the IP address of your <b>Primary NTP Server</b> and optionally a <b>Secondary NTP Server</b> .	
		4.	To authenticate time updates from an NTP server, select the <b>NTP</b> tab, enter the <b>NTP Server Address</b> , and select the <b>Authentication Type</b> for the firewall to use.	
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save your settings.	
Step 7	Set a secure password for the admin	1.	Select Device > Administrators.	
	account.	2.	Select the <b>admin</b> role.	
		3.	Enter the current default password and the new password.	
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to save your settings.	
Step 8	Commit your changes.	Clic	k <b>Commit</b> . The device may take up to 90 seconds to save your	
	When the configuration changes are saved, you will lose connectivity to the web interface because the IP address will have changed.	cha	nges.	
		*	Commit 👩 🛅 Save	
Step 9	Connect the firewall to your network.	1.	Disconnect the firewall from your computer.	
		2.	Connect the MGT port to a switch port on your management network using an RJ-45 Ethernet cable. Make sure that the switch port you cable the firewall to is configured for auto-negotiation.	
Step 10	Open an SSH management session to the firewall.	Usi: sess	ng a terminal emulation software, such as PuTTY, launch an SSH ion to the firewall using the new IP address you assigned to it.	

Set Up Network Access to the Firewall	(Continued)
---------------------------------------	-------------

Step 11	<ul> <li>Verify network access to external services required for firewall management, such as the Palo Alto Networks Update Server.</li> <li>You can do this in one of the following ways: <ul> <li>If you do not want to allow external network access to the MGT interface, you will need to set up a data port to retrieve required service updates. Continue to Set Up Network Access for External Services.</li> <li>If you do plan to allow external network access to the MGT interface, verify that you have connectivity and then proceed to Register the Firewall and Activate Licenses and Subscriptions.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	1.	Use the ping utility to verify network connectivity to the Palo Alto Networks Update server as shown in the following example. Verify that DNS resolution occurs and the response includes the IP address for the Update server; the update server does not respond to a ping request. admin@PA-200 > ping host updates.paloaltonetworks.com PING updates.paloaltonetworks.com (10.101.16.13) 56(84) bytes of data. From 192.168.1.1 icmp_seq=1 Destination Host Unreachable From 192.168.1.1 icmp_seq=2 Destination Host Unreachable From 192.168.1.1 icmp_seq=3 Destination Host Unreachable From 192.168.1.1 icmp_seq=4 Destination Host Unreachable
		2.	Use the following CLI command to retrieve information on the support entitlement for the firewall from the Palo Alto Networks update server: request support check If you have connectivity, the update server will respond with the support status for your firewall. Because your firewall is not registered, the update server will return the following message: Contact Us https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/company/contact-u s.html Support Home https://www.paloaltonetworks.com/support/tabs/over view.html Device not found on this update server

# Set Up Network Access for External Services

By default, the firewall uses the MGT interface to access remote services, such as DNS servers, content updates, and license retrieval. If you do not want to enable external network access to your management network, you must set up a data port to provide access to these required external services.



This task requires familiarity with firewall interfaces, zones, and policies. For more information on these topics, see Create the Security Perimeter.

Set Up	a Data Port for Access to External Serv	ces	
Step 1	Decide which port you want to use for access to external services and connect it to your switch or router port.	The i	interface you use will need to have a static IP address.
Step 2	Log in to the web interface.	Usiną using confi warn:	g a secure connection (https) from your web browser, log in g the new IP address and password you assigned during initial iguration (https:// <ip address="">). You will see a certificate ing; that is okay. Continue to the web page.</ip>
Step 3	(Optional) The firewall comes preconfigured with a default virtual wire interface between ports Ethernet 1/1 and Ethernet 1/2 (and a corresponding default security policy and zones). If you do not plan to use this virtual wire configuration, you must manually delete the configuration to prevent it from interfering with other interface settings you define.	You : 1. 7 2. 1 3. 7 4. 1 5. 0	must delete the configuration in the following order: To delete the default security policy, select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> , select the rule, and click <b>Delete</b> . Next, delete the default virtual wire by selecting <b>Network &gt;</b> <b>Virtual Wires</b> , selecting the virtual wire and clicking <b>Delete</b> . To delete the default trust and untrust zones, select <b>Network &gt;</b> <b>Zones</b> , select each zone and click <b>Delete</b> . Finally, delete the interface configurations by selecting <b>Network</b> <b>&gt; Interfaces</b> and then select each interface (ethernet1/1 and ethernet1/2) and click <b>Delete</b> . <b>Commit</b> the changes.
Step 4	Configure the interface.	1.       5.         2.       5.         3.       6.         7.       1         1.       1         2.       2         3.       6.         5.       5.         5.       5.         6.       5.         7.       1         1.       2         2.       2         3.       0         7.       1         2.       2         2.       2         2.       2         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.       0         3.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select the interface that corresponds to the port you cabled in Step 1. Select the <b>Interface Type</b> . Although your choice here depends on your network topology, this example shows the steps for <b>Layer3</b> . On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down and select <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example L3-trust, and then click <b>OK</b> . Select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, select the <b>Static</b> radio button, and click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.1.254/24. Select <b>Advanced &gt; Other Info</b> , expand the <b>Management Profile</b> drop-down, and select <b>New Management Profile</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile, such as allow_ping, and then select the services you want to allow on the interface. These services provide management access to the device, so only select the services that correspond to the management activities you want to allow on this interface. For example, if you plan to use the MGT interface for device configuration tasks through the web interface or CLI, you would not want to enable HTTP, HTTPS, SSH, or Telnet so that you could prevent unauthorized access through this interface. For the purposes of allowing access to the external services you probably only need to enable <b>Ping</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .
		8. 1	access to the external services you probably only need to <b>Ping</b> and then click <b>OK</b> . To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .

Step 5 Because the firewall uses the MGT 1	Select Nevice > Setur > Services > Service Route
interface by default to access the external	Configuration.
interface the firewall uses to send these requests by editing the service routes.	Services Features
	For the purposes of activating your licenses and getting the most recent content and software updates, you will want to change the service route for DNS, Palo Alto Updates, URL Updates, and WildFire.
2.	Click the <b>Customize</b> radio button, and select one of the following:
	<ul> <li>For a predefined service, select IPv4 or IPv6 and click the link for the service for which you want to modify the Source Interface and select the interface you just configured.</li> </ul>
	If more than one IP address is configured for the selected interface, the <b>Source Address</b> drop-down allows you select an IP address.
	• To create a service route for a custom destination, select <b>Destination</b> , and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Destination</b> name and select a <b>Source Interface</b> . If more than one IP address is configured for the selected interface, the <b>Source Address</b> drop-down allows you select an IP address.
3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the settings.
4.	Repeat steps 2-3 above for each service route you want to modify.
5.	Commit your changes.

Set Up	a Data	Port for A	ccess to	Externa	l Serv	ices	(Continued	i)				
Step 6	Config and an securit firewal interna	gure an ext associated y and NAT l to send s ll zone to t	ernal-faci d zone an f policy ru ervice rec the exterr	ng interfa d then cre ales to allo quests from nal zone.	ace eate ow the m the	1.	Select <b>Netv</b> external-fac <b>Add</b> the <b>IP</b> associated <b>S</b> You do no interface.	vork > Int cing interf address (c Security Z t need to s	erfaces an ace. Select on the <b>IPv4</b> one (on the set up man	d then select Layer3 as t or IPv6 tal config tab agement ser	ct your the <b>Interfac</b> o), and crea o), such as l3 rvices on th	<b>:e Type</b> , te the untrust. nis
						2.	To set up a network to DNS serve purposes o that allows	security r the Palo 4 rs, select <b>F</b> f initial co all traffic	ule that all Alto Netwo Policies > S onfiguration from 13-tru	ows traffic orks update fecurity and a, you can c ast to 13-unt	from your i server and d click <b>Add</b> . reate a simp trust as follo	nternal external . For the ole rule ows:
			11				0.50		Dectination			1
		Name	Tag	Zone	Address		User HI	Profile Zon	e Address	Applicatio	n Service	Action
		rule1	none	🕅 13-trust	any		any any	<b>pa</b> 1	3-untrust any	any	any	0
							and then cl the rule (G l3-trust to l define the s Packet tab	ick Add. A eneral tab 3-untrust source add ) and then	At a minimu b), specify a in this case dress transle a click <b>OK</b> .	im you mus source and ( <b>Original</b> l	st define a r l destination Packet tab) gs (Transla	name for n zone, , and ted
									Oriș	inal Packet		
				Name source NAT	r r	Tag	Source Zone	Destination Zone	Destination Interface	Source Address	Destination Address	Service
				Source nam		4.	Commit yo	ur change	s.	uly	uly	uly
Step 7	Verify the dati includi server, Update After y networ Registe Licens	that you h ta port to t ing the def and the P e Server. you verify the connect er the Fire es and Sub	ave conn the extern fault gatev alo Alto I you have ivity, con wall and 2 oscription	ectivity front al service way, DNS Networks the require tinue to Activate s.	om :s, red	Lau con for adm upd PIN 192 64 64 64 64 Aft	unch the CLI nectivity. Ke GT interface, the ping req in@PA-200> p lates.paloali G updates.p .168.1.254 bytes from ( bytes from ( bytes from (	and use t sep in min so in this uests as for ing source inetworks 56(84) t 77.192.236 57.192.236 57.192.236	he ping uti d that by d case you m ollows: = 192.168. 	lity to verify efault pings ust specify 1.254 host (67.192.23 tta. seq=1 ttl seq=2 ttl seq=3 ttl press Ctrl+	y that you h s are sent fr the source i (6.252) from =242 time= =242 time= =242 time= C to stop th	nave om the interface m 56.7 ms 47.7 ms 47.6 ms he pings.

# **Register the Firewall**

Registe	er the Firewall	
Step 1	Log in to the web interface.	Using a secure connection (https) from your web browser, log in using the new IP address and password you assigned during initial configuration (https:// <ip address="">). You will see a certificate warning; that is okay. Continue to the web page.</ip>
Step 2	Locate your serial number and copy it to the clipboard.	On the <b>Dashboard</b> , locate your <b>Serial Number</b> in the General Information section of the screen.
Step 3	Go to the Palo Alto Networks Support site.	In a new browser tab or window, go to https://support.paloaltonetworks.com.
Step 4	Register the device. The way you register depends on whether you already have a login to the support site.	<ul> <li>If this is the first Palo Alto Networks device you are registering and you do not yet have a login, click <b>Register</b> on the right side of the page. To register, you must provide your sales order number or customer ID, and the serial number of your firewall (which you can paste from your clipboard) or the authorization code you received with your order. You will also be prompted to set up a username and password for access to the Palo Alto Networks support community.</li> <li>Login         <ul> <li>Forgot Password</li> <li>No account yet?</li> <li>Register</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
		• If you already have a support account, log in and then click <b>My</b> <b>Devices</b> . Scroll down to Register Device section at the bottom of the screen and enter the serial number of your firewall (which you can paste from your clipboard), your city and postal code and then click <b>Register Device</b> .

# Activate Licenses and Subscriptions

Before you can start using your firewall to secure the traffic on your network, you must activate the licenses for each of the services you purchased. Available licenses and subscriptions include the following:

- Threat Prevention—Provides antivirus, anti-spyware, and vulnerability protection.
- Decryption Port Mirroring—Provides the ability to create a copy of decrypted traffic from a firewall and send it to a traffic collection tool that is capable of receiving raw packet captures—such as NetWitness or Solera—for archiving and analysis.
- URL Filtering—In order to create policy rules based on dynamic URL categories, you must purchase and install a subscription for one of the supported URL filtering databases: PAN-DB or BrightCloud. For more information about URL filtering, see Control Access to Web Content.

- Virtual Systems—This license is required to enable support for multiple virtual systems on PA-2000 and PA-3000 Series firewalls. In addition, you must purchase a Virtual Systems license if you want to increase the number of virtual systems beyond the base number provided by default on PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series, and PA-7050 firewalls (the base number varies by platform). The PA-500, PA-200, and VM-Series firewalls do not support virtual systems.
- WildFire—Although basic WildFire support is included as part of the Threat Prevention license, the WildFire subscription service provides enhanced services for organizations that require immediate coverage for threats, enabling sub-hourly WildFire signature updates, advanced file type forwarding (APK, PDF, Microsoft Office, and Java Applet), as well as the ability to upload files using the WildFire API. A WildFire subscription is also required if your firewalls will be forwarding files to a private WF-500 WildFire appliance.
- GlobalProtect—Provides mobility solutions and/or large-scale VPN capabilities. By default, you can deploy a single GlobalProtect portal and gateway (without HIP checks) without a license. However, if you want to deploy multiple gateways, you must purchase a portal license (one-time, permanent license). If you want to use host checks you will also need gateway licenses (subscription) for each gateway.

Activat	e Licenses			
Step 1	Locate the activation codes for the licenses you purchased.	When you purchased your subscriptions you should have received an email from Palo Alto Networks customer service listing the activation code associated with each subscription. If you cannot locate this email, contact customer support to obtain your activation codes before you proceed.		
Step 2	Launch the web interface and go to the license page.	Select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> .		
Step 3	Activate each license you purchased.	<ul> <li>After purchasing your licenses/subscriptions activate them in one of the following ways:</li> <li>Retrieve license keys from license server—Use this option if</li> </ul>		
		you activated your license on the support portal.		
		• Activate feature using authorization code—Use this option to enable purchased subscriptions using an authorization code for licenses that have not been previously activated on the support portal. When prompted, enter the <b>Authorization Code</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .		
		• <b>Manually upload license key</b> —Use this option if your device does not have connectivity to the Palo Alto Networks support site. In this case, you must download a license key file from the support site on an Internet connected computer and then upload to the device.		
Step 4	Verify that the license was successfully activated	On the <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> page, verify that the license was successfully activated. For example, after activating the WildFire license, you should see that the license is valid:		
		WildFire License         Date Issued       September 11, 2012         Date Expires       September 11, 2015         Description       WildFire License		

Activat	e Licenses (Continued)	
Step 5	(WildFire subscriptions only) Perform a commit to complete WildFire subscription activation.	<ul> <li>After activating a WildFire subscription, a commit is required for the firewall to begin forwarding advanced file types:</li> <li>Commit any pending changes.</li> <li>Make a minor change and perform a commit. For example, update a rule description and commit the change.</li> <li>Check the file blocking profile rule used for WildFire forwarding includes the advanced file types that are now supported with the WildFire subscription. If the rule is already set to forward <b>Any</b> file type, or no change to the rule is required, make a minor edit to the rule description and perform a commit.</li> </ul>

# Manage Content Updates

In order to stay ahead of the changing threat and application landscape, Palo Alto Networks maintains a Content Delivery Network (CDN) infrastructure for delivering content updates to the Palo Alto Networks devices. The devices access the web resources in the CDN to perform various App-ID and Content-ID functions. By default, the devices use the management port to access the CDN infrastructure for application updates, threat and antivirus signature updates, BrightCloud and PAN-DB database updates and lookups, and access to the Palo Alto Networks WildFire Cloud. To ensure that you are always protected from the latest threats (including those that have not yet been discovered), you must ensure that you keep your devices up-to-date with the latest updates published by Palo Alto Networks.

The following content updates are available, depending on which subscriptions you have:



Although you can manually download and install content updates at any time, as a best practice you should Schedule each update. Scheduled updates occur automatically.

- Antivirus—Includes new and updated antivirus signatures, including signatures discovered by the WildFire cloud service. You must have a Threat Prevention subscription to get these updates. New antivirus signatures are published daily.
- **Applications**—Includes new and updated application signatures. This update does not require any additional subscriptions, but it does require a valid maintenance/support contract. New application updates are published weekly.
- Applications and Threats—Includes new and updated application and threat signatures. This update is available if you have a Threat Prevention subscription (and you get it instead of the Applications update). New Applications and Threats updates are published weekly.
- GlobalProtect Data File—Contains the vendor-specific information for defining and evaluating host information profile (HIP) data returned by GlobalProtect agents. You must have a GlobalProtect portal and GlobalProtect gateway license in order to receive these updates. In addition, you must create a schedule for these updates before GlobalProtect will function.

- **BrightCloud URL Filtering**—Provides updates to the BrightCloud URL Filtering database only. You must have a BrightCloud subscription to get these updates. New BrightCloud URL database updates are published daily. If you have a PAN-DB license, scheduled updates are not required as devices remain in-sync with the servers automatically.
- WildFire—Provides near real-time malware and antivirus signatures created as a result of the analysis done by the WildFire cloud service. Without the subscription, you must wait 24 to 48 hours for the signatures to roll into the Applications and Threat update.



If your firewall does not have Internet access from the management port, you can download content updates from the Palo Alto Networks Support portal and then Upload them to your firewall.

If your firewall is deployed behind existing firewalls or proxy servers, access to these external resources might be restricted using access control lists that allow the firewall to only access a hostname or an IP address. In such cases, to allow access to the CDN, set the update server address to use the hostname staticupdates.paloaltonetworks.com or the IP address 199.167.52.15.

### **Download the Latest Databases**

Step 1	Verify that the firewall points to the CDN infrastructure.	<ul> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Services.</li> <li>As a best practice, set the Update Server to access updates.paloaltonetworks.com. This allows the firewall to receive content updates from the server to which it is closest in the CDN infrastructure.</li> </ul>
		• (Optional) If the firewall has restricted access to the Internet, set the update server address to use the hostname staticupdates.paloaltonetworks.com or the IP address 199.167.52.15.
	• For additional security, select <b>Verify Update Server Identity</b> . The firewall verifies that the server from which the software or content package is download has an SSL certificate signed by a trusted authority.	
Step 2	Launch the web interface and go to the Dynamic Updates page.	Select Device > Dynamic Updates.

Downlo	oad the	Latest D	atabases	(Continued	d)							
Step 3	Checl	x for the la	atest updat	tes.		Click <b>Chec</b> window) to column inc	<b>k Now</b> (lo ) check fo licates wh	ocated in t or the lates bether an u	he lower l st updates. 100 ate is a	eft-hand . The linl wailable:	l corner o k in the <b>A</b>	f the ction
						Downlo	ad_Indic	rates that	a new und	ate file is	savailable	Click the
						link to h	egin dow	nloading 1	the file dir	ectly to	the firewa	ll. After
						successf	ul downlo	ad, the lir	nk in the <b>A</b>	ction co	lumn chai	nges from
						Downlo	ad to Inst	all.				0
				WildFire	Last	checked: 2012/0	9/11 17:09:37	Schedule: N	one			
				4451-7738 panu all-wi 4451	o- dfire- -7738	Full	3 MB	2012/09/ 16:33:15		Do	wnload Relea	se
						N h	lou canno nave instal	ot downlo led the A <sub>l</sub>	ad the ant pplication	ivirus da and Thr	itabase un reats datal	itil you base.
						<ul> <li>Upgrade</li> <li>BrightC</li> <li>downloa</li> <li>begins in</li> <li>in the C</li> <li>PAN-D</li> <li>upgrade</li> <li>sync witt</li> </ul>	e—Indica loud datal ad and ins n the back urrently I B as your link becau h the serv	tes that th base availa tallation of ground; v <b>nstalled</b> URL filte use the PA ver.	here is a n- hable. Click of the data when comp column. N ring datab M-DB da	ew versie the link base. Th pleted a o lote that base you tabase an	on of the to begin he databas check man if you are will not so utomatica	the e upgrade k displays e using ee an lly stays in
			🗉 URL Filteri	ng Sche	dule:	Every day at 01:	02 (download-	and-install)				
			3940								Upgrade	
			3932							~		
						×.	To ch lower	neck the st right-han	tatus of ar	n action, of the wi	click <b>Tasl</b> indow).	<b>(S</b> (on the
						• Revert- been do previous	—Indicate wnloaded sly installe	s that the previous d version	correspon ly. You can of the up	nding so n choose date.	ftware ver e to revert	rsion has to the
Step 4	Instal	l the upda	ites.			Click the <b>I</b>	nstall link	in the Ac	tion colu	mn. Whe	en the inst	allation
	N	Installati minutes PA-2000 minutes PA-4000 PA-7050	ion can tal on a PA-2 ) device an on a PA-3 ) Series, PA ), or VM-S	ke up to 20 200, PA-500, ad up to two 5000 Series, A-5000 Serie Geries firewal	or s, l.	completes,	a check m	nark displa	ays in the (	Current	ly Installe	d column.
		WildFire	Lastaba	cked: 2012/00/11.1	7-17-24	Schedular M	ne.					
		4451-7738	panup- all-wildfire- 4451-7738	Ful	/:1/:20	3 MB	2012/09/11 16:33:15	*			Release Notes	×

Downlo	oad the Latest Databases (Continued)		
Step 5	Schedule each update.	1.	Set the schedule of each update type by clicking the <b>None</b> link.
	Repeat this step for each update you want to schedule.		□ WildFire Last checked: 2012/11/09 09:31:01 Schedule: None
	Stagger the update schedules because the firewall can only download one update at a time. If you schedule the updates to download during the same time interval, only the first download will succeed.	2.	Specify how often you want the updates to occur by selecting a value from the <b>Recurrence</b> drop-down. The available values vary by content type (WildFire updates are available <b>Every 15 minutes</b> , <b>Every 30 minutes</b> or <b>Every Hour</b> whereas all other content types can be scheduled for <b>Daily</b> or <b>Weekly</b> update). Specify the <b>Time</b> and (or, minutes past the hour in the case of WildFire), if applicable depending on the <b>Recurrence</b> value you selected, <b>Day</b> of the week that you want the updates to occur.
		4.	Specify whether you want the system to <b>Download Only</b> or, as a best practice, <b>Download And Install</b> the update.
		5.	In rare instances, errors in content updates may be found. For this reason, you may want to delay installing new updates until they have been released for a certain number of hours. You can specify how long after a release to wait before performing a content update by entering the number of hours to wait in the <b>Threshold (Hours)</b> field.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the schedule settings.
		7.	Click <b>Commit</b> to save the settings to the running configuration.

# Install Software Updates

When installing a new firewall, it is a good idea to upgrade to the latest software update (or to the update version recommended by your reseller or Palo Alto Networks Systems Engineer) to take advantage of the latest fixes and security enhancements. Note that before updating the software, you should first make sure you have the latest content updates as detailed in the previous section (the Release Notes for a software update specify the minimum Content Release version supported in the release).

Update PAN-OS				
Step 1	Launch the web interface and go to the Software page.	Select Device > Software.		
Step 2	Check for software updates.	Click <b>Check Now</b> to check for the latest updates. If the value in the <b>Action</b> column is <b>Download</b> it indicates that an update is available.		

Update	PAN-OS (Continued)								
Step 3	Download the update. If your firewall does not have Internet access from the management port, you can download the software update from the Palo Alto Networks Support portal. You can then manually <b>Upload</b> them to your	Locate the version you want and then click <b>Download</b> . When the download completes, the value in the Action column changes to <b>Install</b> .							
			Version	Size	Release Date	Downloaded	Currently Installed	Action	
			5.0.0	259 MB	2012/11/01 19:58:24	*		Install	
			4.1.9	169 MB	2012/11/05 23:40:31			Download	
			4.1.8	168 MB	2012/09/22 21:01:08	~	~	Download	
	firewall.		4.1.8-h3	168 MB	2012/10/18 23:49:21			Download	
			4.1.7	152 MB	2012/07/29 09:30:58			Download	
			Reboot Device The Do ye Do ye If you are no <b>Operations</b> Operations Device Operation <b>Coperations</b>	ot promp and click section o	Yes Im Yes Im Yes Im ted to reboo <b>Reboot De</b> f the screen	for the new s No ot, select <b>vice</b> in th	oftware to b <b>Device &gt;</b> e Device	e effective. Setup >	
			Shutdown Devi	lice					

# Create the Security Perimeter

Traffic must pass through the firewall in order for the firewall to manage and control it. Physically, traffic enters and exits the firewall through *interfaces*. The firewall determines how to act on a packet based on whether the packet matches a *security policy rule*. At the most basic level, each security policy rule must identify where the traffic came from and where it is going. On a Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall, security policy rules are applied between zones. A *zone* is a grouping of interfaces (physical or virtual) that provides an abstraction for an area of trust for simplified policy enforcement. For example, in the following topology diagram, there are three zones: Trust, Untrust, and DMZ. Traffic can flow freely within a zone, but traffic will not be able to flow between zones until you define a security policy rule that allows it.



The following topics describe the components of the security perimeter and provide steps for configuring the firewall interfaces, defining zones, and setting up a basic security policy that allows traffic from your internal zone to the Internet and to the DMZ. By initially creating a basic security policy rulebase like this, you will be able to analyze the traffic running through your network and use this information to define more granular policies for safely enabling applications while preventing threats.

- ▲ Basic Interface Deployments
- About Security Policy
- Plan the Deployment
- ▲ Configure Interfaces and Zones
- Set Up Basic Security Policies

If you use private IP addresses in your internal networks, you will also need to configure network address translation (NAT); see Networking for NAT concepts and configuration tasks.

# **Basic Interface Deployments**

All Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls provide a flexible networking architecture that includes support for dynamic routing, switching, and VPN connectivity, enabling you to deploy the firewall into nearly any networking environment. When configuring the Ethernet ports on your firewall, you can choose from

virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3 interface deployments. In addition, to allow you to integrate into a variety of network segments, you can configure different types of interfaces on different ports. The following sections provide basic information on each type of deployment.

- Virtual Wire Deployments
- Layer 2 Deployments
- Layer 3 Deployments

For more detailed deployment information, refer to Designing Networks with Palo Alto Networks Firewalls.

# Virtual Wire Deployments

In a virtual wire deployment, the firewall is installed transparently on a network segment by binding two ports together. By using a virtual wire, you can install the firewall in any network environment without reconfiguring adjacent devices. If necessary, a virtual wire can block or allow traffic based on the virtual LAN (VLAN) tag values. You can also create multiple subinterfaces and classify traffic according to an IP Address (address, range, or subnet), VLAN, or a combination of the two.

By default, the virtual wire (named **default-vwire**) binds Ethernet ports 1 and 2 and allows all untagged traffic. Choose this deployment to simplify installation and configuration and/or avoid configuration changes to surrounding network devices.

A virtual wire is the default configuration, and should be used only when no switching or routing is needed. If you do not plan to use the default virtual wire, you should manually delete the configuration before proceeding with interface configuration to prevent it from interfering with other interface settings you define. For instructions on how to delete the default virtual wire and its associated security policy and zones, see Step 3 in Set Up a Data Port for Access to External Services.

# Layer 2 Deployments

In a Layer 2 deployment, the firewall provides switching between two or more interfaces. Each group of interfaces must be assigned to a VLAN object in order for the firewall to switch between them. The firewall will perform VLAN tag switching when Layer 2 subinterfaces are attached to a common VLAN object. Choose this option when switching is required.

For more information on Layer 2 deployments, refer to the Layer 2 Networking Tech Note and/or the Securing Inter VLAN Traffic Tech Note.

### Layer 3 Deployments

In a Layer 3 deployment, the firewall routes traffic between ports. An IP address must be assigned to each interface and a virtual router must be defined to route the traffic. Choose this option when routing is required.

You must assign an IP address to each physical Layer 3 interface you configure. You can also create logical subinterfaces for each physical Layer 3 interface that allows you to segregate the traffic on the interface based on VLAN tag (when VLAN trunking is in use) or by IP address, for example for multi-tenancy.

In addition, because the firewall must route traffic in a Layer 3 deployment, you must configure a virtual router. You can configure the virtual router to participate with dynamic routing protocols (BGP, OSPF, or RIP) as well as adding static routes. You can also create multiple virtual routers, each maintaining a separate set of routes that are not shared between virtual routers, enabling you to configure different routing behaviors for different interfaces.

The configuration example in this chapter illustrates how to integrate the firewall into your Layer 3 network using static routes. For information on other types of routing integrations, refer to the following documents:

- How to Configure OSPF Tech Note
- How to Configure BGP Tech Note

# **About Security Policy**

Security Policy protects network assets from threats and disruptions and aids in optimally allocating network resources for enhancing productivity and efficiency in business processes. On the Palo Alto Networks firewall, security policy rules determine whether to block or allow a session based on traffic attributes such as the source and destination security zone, the source and destination IP address, the application, user, and the service.

For traffic that doesn't match any defined rules, the default rules apply. The default rules—displayed at the bottom of the security rulebase—are predefined to allow all intrazone (within the zone) traffic and deny all interzone (between zones) traffic. Although these rules are part of the pre-defined configuration and are read-only by default, you can override them and change a limited number of settings, including the tags, action (allow or deny), log settings, and security profiles.

Security policies rules are evaluated left to right and from top to bottom. A packet is matched against the first rule that meets the defined criteria; after a match is triggered the subsequent rules are not evaluated. Therefore, the more specific rules must precede more generic ones in order to enforce the best match criteria. Traffic that matches a rule generates a log entry at the end of the session in the traffic log, if logging is enabled for that rule. The logging options are configurable for each rule, and can for example be configured to log at the start of a session instead of, or in addition to, logging at the end of a session.

- ▲ About Policy Objects
- ▲ About Security Profiles

# **About Policy Objects**

A *policy object* is a single object or a collective unit that groups discrete identities such as IP addresses, URLs, applications, or users. With Policy Objects that are a collective unit, you can reference the object in security policy instead of manually selecting multiple objects one at a time. Typically, when creating a policy object, you group objects that require similar permissions in policy. For example, if your organization uses a set of server IP addresses for authenticating users, you can group the set of server IP addresses as an *address group* policy object and reference the address group in the security policy. By grouping objects, you can significantly reduce the administrative overhead in creating policies.

Some examples of address and application policy objects are shown in the security policies that are included in Create Security Rules. For information on the other policy objects, see Enable Basic Threat Prevention Features.

# About Security Profiles

While security policies enable you to allow or deny traffic on your network, security profiles help you define an *allow but scan* rule, which scan allowed applications for threats. When traffic matches the allow rule defined in the security policy, the Security Profiles that are attached to the rule are applied for further content inspection rules such as antivirus checks and data filtering.



Security profiles are not used in the match criteria of a traffic flow. The security profile is applied to scan traffic after the application or category is allowed by the security policy.

The different types of security profiles that can be attached to security policies are: Antivirus, Anti-spyware, Vulnerability Protection, URL Filtering, File Blocking, and Data Filtering. The firewall provides default security profiles that you can use out of the box to begin protecting your network from threats. See Create Security Rules for information on using the default profiles in your security policy. As you get a better understanding about the security needs on your network, you can create custom profiles. See Scan Traffic for Threats for more information.

# Plan the Deployment

Before you begin configuring interfaces and zones, take some time to plan the zones you will need based on the different usage requirements within your organization. In addition, you should gather all of the configuration information you will need ahead of time. At a basic level, you should plan which interfaces will belong to which zones. For Layer 3 deployments you'll also need to obtain the required IP addresses and network configuration information from your network administrator, including information on how to configure the routing protocol or static routes required for the virtual router configuration. The example in this chapter will be based on the following topology:

### Figure: Layer 3 Topology Example



The following table shows the information we will use to configure the Layer 3 interfaces and their corresponding zones as shown in the sample topology.

Zone	Deployment Type	Interface(s)	Configuration Settings
Untrust	L3	Ethernet1/3	IP address: 203.0.113.100/24 Virtual router: default Default route: 0.0.0.0/0 Next hop: 203.0.113.1
Trust	L3	Ethernet1/4	IP address: 192.168.1.4/24 Virtual router: default
DMZ	L3	Ethernet1/13	IP address: 10.1.1.1/24 Virtual router: default

# Configure Interfaces and Zones

After you plan your zones and the corresponding interfaces, you can configure them on the device. The way you configure each interface depends on your network topology.

The following procedure shows how to configure a Layer 3 deployment as depicted in Figure: Layer 3 Topology Example.



The firewall comes preconfigured with a default virtual wire interface between ports Ethernet 1/1 and Ethernet 1/2 (and a corresponding default security policy and virtual router). If you do not plan to use the default virtual wire, you must manually delete the configuration and commit the change before proceeding to prevent it from interfering with other settings you define. For instructions on how to delete the default virtual wire and its associated security policy and zones, see Step 3 in Set Up a Data Port for Access to External Services.

### Set Up Interfaces and Zones

Step 1	Configure a default route to your Internet router.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Router</b> and then select the <b>default</b> link to open the Virtual Router dialog.
		2.	Select the <b>Static Routes</b> tab and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the route and enter the route in the <b>Destination</b> field (for example, $0.0.0.0/0$ ).
		3. 4.	Select the <b>IP Address</b> radio button in the <b>Next Hop</b> field and then enter the IP address and netmask for your Internet gateway (for example, 203.00.113.1). Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the virtual router configuration.

Set Up Interfaces and Zones (Continued)							
Step 2	Configure the external interface (the interface that connects to the Internet).	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and then select the interface you want to configure. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/3 as the external interface.				
		2.	Select the <b>Interface Type</b> . Although your choice here depends on your network topology, this example shows the steps for <b>Layer3</b> .				
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select <b>New Zone</b> from the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down. In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example Untrust, and then click <b>OK</b> . In the <b>Virtual Router</b> drop-down, select <b>default</b> .				
		4.					
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 208.80.56.100/24.				
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select <b>Advanced &gt; Other</b> <b>Info</b> , expand the <b>Management Profile</b> drop-down, and select <b>New Management Profile</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile, select <b>Ping</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .				
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .				
Step 3	Configure the interface that connects to your internal network.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select the interface you want to configure. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/4 as the internal interface.				
	connects to a network segment	2.	Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.				
	<ul> <li>that uses private IP addresses.</li> <li>Because private IP addresses</li> <li>cannot be routed externally, you will have to configure NAT.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> <li>7.</li> </ul>	3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down and select <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example Trust, and then click <b>OK</b> .				
		4.	Select the same Virtual Router you used in Step 2, default in this example.				
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.1.4/24.				
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select the management profile that you created in Step 2-6.				
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .				

Set Up Interfaces and Zones (Continued)						
Step 4	Configure the interface that connects to the DMZ.	1.	Select the interface you want to configure.			
		2.	Select <b>Layer3</b> from the <b>Interface Type</b> drop-down. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/13 as the DMZ interface.			
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down and select <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example DMZ, and then click <b>OK</b> .			
		4.	Select the Virtual Router you used in Step 2, default in this example.			
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 10.1.1.1/24.			
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select the management profile that you created in Step 2-6.			
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .			
Step 5	Save the interface configuration.	Clie	Click Commit.			
Step 6	Cable the firewall.	Att the	Attach straight through cables from the interfaces you configured to the corresponding switch or router on each network segment.			
Step 7	Verify that the interfaces are active.	From the web interface, select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and verify tha icon in the Link State column is green. You can also monitor link state from the <b>Interfaces</b> widget on the <b>Dashboard</b> .				
		Inte	erfaces 😋 🛛			
			1       3       5       7       9       11       13       15       17       19       21       23         1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       12       12       13         1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       12       13       13       13       14       15       17       19       12       14       1			

# Set Up Basic Security Policies

Policies allow you to enforce rules and take action. The different types of policy rules that you can create on the firewall are: Security, NAT, Quality of Service (QoS), Policy Based Forwarding (PBF), Decryption, Application Override, Captive Portal, Denial of Service, and Zone protection policies. All these different policies work together to allow, deny, prioritize, forward, encrypt, decrypt, make exceptions, authenticate access, and reset connections as needed to help secure your network. This section covers basic security policies and the default security profiles:

- ▲ Create Security Rules
- ▲ Test Your Security Policies
- ▲ Monitor the Traffic on Your Network

# Create Security Rules

Security policies reference security zones and enable you to allow, restrict, and track traffic on your network. Because each zone implies a level of trust, the implicit rule for passing traffic between two different zones is deny, and the traffic within a zone is permitted. To allow traffic between two different zones, you must create a security rule that allows traffic to flow between them.

While setting up the basic framework for securing the enterprise perimeter, it's good idea to start with a simple security policy that allows traffic between the different zones without being too restrictive. As illustrated in the following section, our objective is to minimize the likelihood of breaking applications that users on the network need access to, while providing visibility into the applications and the potential threats for your network.



When defining policies make sure that you do not create a policy that denies all traffic from *any* source zone to *any* destination zone as this will break intra-zone traffic that is implicitly allowed. By default, intra-zone traffic is permitted because the source and destination zones are the same and therefore share the same level of trust.

Define Basic Security Rules	y Rules
-----------------------------	---------

Step 1	<ul> <li>Permit Internet access for all users on the enterprise network.</li> <li>Zone: Trust to Untrust</li> <li>By default, the firewall includes a security rule named <i>rule1</i> that allows all traffic from Trust zone to Untrust zone. You can either delete the rule or modify the rule to reflect your zone-naming convention.</li> </ul>	To safely business the Inter- default sc 1. Selec 2. Give 3. In th 4. In th 5. In th serv 6. In th a. Sc b. A vi S 7. Veri	<ul> <li>To safely enable applications that are required for day-to-day business operations we will create a simple rule that allows acces the Internet. To provide basic threat protection, we will attach default security profiles available on the firewall.</li> <li>Select Policies &gt; Security and click Add.</li> <li>Give the rule a descriptive name in the General tab.</li> <li>In the Source tab, set the Source Zone to Trust.</li> <li>In the Destination tab, Set the Destination Zone to Untrue To scan policy rules and visually identify the zones each rule, create a tag with the same name as the zero each rule, create a tag with the same name as green select Objects &gt; Tags, click Add and Name the tag T and select the Color green.</li> <li>In the Service/ URL Category tab, select service-http and service-https.</li> <li>In the Actions tab, complete these tasks: <ul> <li>a. Set the Action Setting to Allow.</li> <li>b. Attach the default profiles for antivirus, anti-spyware, vulnerability protection and URL filtering, under Profil Setting.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>					
	Mile paloatto Marriero Marriero Name Address	Dashboard	ACC Source Address 3) trust any	Monitor Policies           Destination           User         Zone         Add           any         p2g unbrust         any	Objects dress Applicat y any	Network	Device & Comment	nt 🔮 🖻 Save
Step 2	Permit users on the internal network to access the servers in the DMZ. Zone: Trust to DMZ If using IP addresses for configuring access to the servers in the DMZ, always refer to the original IP addresses in the packet (i.e. the pre-NAT addresses), and the post-NAT zone.	<ol> <li>Click Add in the Policies &gt; Security section.</li> <li>Give the rule a descriptive name in the General tab.</li> <li>In the Source tab, set the Source Zone to Trust.</li> <li>In the Destination tab, set the Destination Zone to DMZ.</li> <li>In the Service/ URL Category tab, make sure the Service is set to application-default.</li> <li>In the Actions tab, set the Action Setting to Allow.</li> <li>Leave all the other options at the default values.</li> </ol>					OMZ. vice is set	
	Name         Image: Constraint of the state of the	Address any	Applic	Service	Action	Profile none	Options	
Define	Basic Security Rules (Continued)							
--------	---	-------------------	---	--	--	--	--	
Step 3	Restrict access from the Internet to the servers on the DMZ to specific server IP addresses only.	To a ru the	To restrict inbound access to the DMZ from the Internet, configure a rule that allows access only to specific servers IP addresses and on the default ports that the applications use.					
	For example, you might only allow users	1.	Click <b>Add</b> to add a new rule, and give it a descriptive name.					
	to access the webmail servers from outside.	2.	In the <b>Source</b> tab, set the <b>Source Zone</b> to Untrust.					
		3.	In the $\ensuremath{Destination}$ tab, set the $\ensuremath{Destination}$ to $\ensuremath{DMZ}$ .					
	Zone: Untrust to DMZ	4.	Set the <b>Destination Address</b> to the <b>Public web server</b> address object you created earlier. The public web server address object references the public IP address—208.80.56.11/24—of the web server that is accessible on the DMZ.					
			Select the webmail application in the <b>Application</b> tab.					
			The <b>Service</b> is set to <b>application-default</b> by default.					
			6.Set the Action Setting to Allow.					

Name	$\bigtriangledown$	Zone	Address	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile
Internet to DMZ	-111	🕅 untrust	any	pag DMZ	Sy Public web server	🔝 outlook-web	🔀 applicatio	0	none

Step 4 Allow access from the DMZ to your internal network (Trust zone). To minimize risk, you will allow traffic only between specific servers and destination addresses. For example, if you have an application server on the DMZ that needs to communicate with a specific database server in your Trust zone, create a rule to allow traffic between a specific source to a specific destination.

Zone: DMZ to Trust

- Click **Add** to add a new rule, and give it a descriptive name.
- Set the **Source Zone** to DMZ.
- Set the **Destination Zone** to Trust.
- Create a an address object that specifies the server(s) on your Trust zone that can be accessed from the DMZ.

lress			0
Name	Database serv	ers acces	sible from DMZ
Description			
Type	IP Range	~	192.168.1.200-192.168.1.202
			Enter an IP address range (Ex. 10.0.0.1-10.0.0.4), Each of the IP addresses in the range can also be in an IPv6 form (Ex. 2001:db8:123:1::1- 2001:db8:123:1::11)

- In the Destination tab on the Security Policy rule, set the Destination Address to the Address object you created above.
- In the **Actions** tab, complete these tasks:
  - a. Set the Action Setting to Allow.
  - b. Attach the default profiles for antivirus, anti-spyware, vulnerability protection, under **Profile Setting.**
  - c. In the Other Settings section, select the option to **Disable Server Response Inspection**. This setting disables the antivirus and anti-spyware scanning on the server-side responses, and thus reduces the load on the firewall.

	S								
Name	Zone	Address	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options
Internal network to D	pag DMZ	any	🛱 untrust	Se Database acce	any	any	0	<b>\$00</b>	B 🔒

Define	Basic Security Rules (Continued)		
Step 5	Enable the servers on the DMZ to obtain updates and hot fixes from the Internet. Say, for example, you would like to allow the Microsoft Update service. Zone: DMZ to Untrust	1. 2. 3. 4.	Add a new rule and give it a descriptive label. Set the <b>Source Zone</b> to DMZ. Set the <b>Destination Zone</b> to Untrust. Create an application group to specify the applications that you would like to allow. In this example, we allow Microsoft updates (ms-updates) and dns.
		Gene	ty Policy Rule () sral Source User Destination Application Service/URL Category Actions  kny Applications   im ms-update im dns
		5. 6.	The <b>Service</b> is set to <b>application-default</b> by default. This allows the firewall to permit the applications only when they use the standard ports associated with these applications. Set the <b>Action Setting</b> to <b>Allow</b> . Attach the default profiles for antivirus, anti-spyware, and
			vumerability protection, under <b>Profiles</b> .

Name	Zone	User	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options
Updates- DMZ to Internet	pag DMZ	any	🕅 Untrust	any	📰 dns	🗙 application-d	0	🤹 💭 👽	
					📰 ms-update				

Step 6	Save your policies to the running	Click <b>Commit</b> .
	configuration on the device.	

### **Test Your Security Policies**

To verify that you have set up your basic policies effectively, test whether your security policies are being evaluated and determine which security rule applies to a traffic flow.

Verify Policy Match Against a Flow	
To verify the policy rule that matches a flow, use the following CLI command:	For example, to verify the policy rule that will be applied for a server on the DMZ with the IP address 208.90.56.11 when it
<pre>test security-policy-match source <ip_address> destination <ip_address> destination port <port_number> protocol</port_number></ip_address></ip_address></pre>	accesses the Microsoft update server, you will try the following command:
<protocol_number></protocol_number>	test security-policy-match source 208.80.56.11
The output displays the best rule that matches the source and destination IP address specified in the	protocol 6
CLI command.	"Updates-DMZ to Internet" {
	from dmz;
	source any;
	source-region any;
	to untrust;
	destination any;
	destination-region any;
	user any;
	category any;
	application/service[ dns/tcp/any/53
	ans/uap/any/53 ans/uap/any/5353 mg_undate/tan/any/80 mg_undate/tan/any/4431:
	action allow:
	terminal yes;

#### Monitor the Traffic on Your Network

Now that you have a basic security policy in place, you can review the statistics and data in the Application Command Center (ACC), traffic logs, and the threat logs to observe trends on your network, to identify where you need to create more granular policies.

Unlike traditional firewalls that use port or protocol to identify applications, the Palo Alto Networks firewalls use the application signature (the App-ID technology) to monitor applications. The application signature is based on unique application properties and related transaction characteristics in combination with the port or protocol. Therefore, even when the traffic uses the right port/protocol, the firewall can deny access to content because the application signature is not a match. This feature allows you to safely enable applications by allowing parts of the application while blocking or controlling functions within the same application. For example, if you allow the application *web-browsing* a user will be able to access content on the Internet. Then, if a user goes to Facebook and then goes on to play Scrabble on Facebook, the firewall will identify the application shifts and recognize Facebook as an *application* and Scrabble as a *Facebook-app*. Therefore, if you create a specific rule that blocks Facebook applications, the user will be denied access to Scrabble while still being able to access Facebook.

Monitor Network Traffic	
• Use the Application Command Center.	In the ACC, review the most used applications and the high-risk applications on your network. The ACC graphically summarizes the log information to highlight the applications traversing the network, who is using them (with User-ID enabled), and the potential security impact of the content to help you identify what is happening on the network in real time. You can then use this information to create appropriate security policies that block unwanted applications, while allowing and enabling applications in a secure manner.
<ul> <li>Determine what updates/modifications are required for your network security rules and implement the changes.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>For example:</li> <li>Evaluate whether to allow content based on schedule, users, or groups</li> <li>Allow or control certain applications or functions within an application</li> <li>Decrypt and inspect content</li> <li>Allow but scan for threats and exploits</li> <li>For information on refining your security policies and for attaching custom security profiles, see Enable Basic Threat Prevention Features.</li> </ul>
• View the Log Files.	Specifically, view the traffic and threat logs (Monitor > Logs). Traffic logs are dependent on how your security policies are defined and setup to log traffic. The ACC tab, however, records applications and statistics regardless of policy configuration; it shows all traffic that is allowed on your network, therefore it includes the inter zone traffic that is allowed by policy and the same zone traffic that is allowed implicitly
• Interpret the URL Filtering Logs	Review the URL filtering logs to scan through alerts, denied categories/URL. URL logs are generated when a traffic matches a security rule that has a URL filtering profile attached with an action of alert, continue, override or block.

# **Enable Basic Threat Prevention Features**

The Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall has unique threat prevention capabilities that allow it to protect your network from attack despite evasive, tunneled, or circumvention techniques. The threat prevention features on the firewall include the WildFire service, the Security Profiles that support Antivirus, Anti-spyware, Vulnerability Protection, URL Filtering, File Blocking and Data Filtering capabilities and the Denial of Service (DoS) and Zone protection functionality.



Before you can apply threat prevention features, you must first configure zones—to identify one or more source or destination interfaces—and security policies. To configure interfaces, zones, and the policies that are needed to apply threat prevention features, see Configure Interfaces and Zones and Set Up Basic Security Policies.

To begin protecting your network from threats start here:

- ▲ Enable WildFire
- Scan Traffic for Threats
- ▲ Control Access to Web Content

# Enable WildFire

The WildFire service is included as part of the base product. The WildFire service enables the firewall to forward attachments to a sandbox environment where applications are run to detect any malicious activity. As new malware is detected by the WildFire system, malware signatures are automatically generated and are made available within 24-48 hours in the antivirus daily downloads. Your threat prevention subscription entitles you for antivirus signature updates that include signatures discovered by WildFire.

Consider purchasing the WildFire subscription service for these additional benefits:

- Sub-hourly (as often as every 15 minutes) WildFire signature updates
- Advanced file type forwarding (APK, Flash, PDF, Microsoft Office, and Java Applet)
- Ability to upload files using the WildFire API
- Ability to forward files to a private WF-500 WildFire appliance

While the ability to configure a file blocking profile to forward Portable Executable (PE) files to the WildFire cloud for analysis is free, in order to forward files to a private WildFire appliance, a WildFire subscription is required.

Enable WildFire					
Step 1	Confirm that your device is registered and that you have a valid support account	1.	Go to the Palo Alto Networks Support Site, log in, and select My Devices.		
	as well as any subscriptions you require.	2.	Verify that the firewall is listed. If it is not listed, see Register the Firewall.		
		3.	(Optional) Activate Licenses and Subscriptions.		

Enable	WildFire (Continued)		
Step 2	Set the WildFire forwarding options. If you do not have a WildFire subscription you can only forward executables.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; WildFire and edit the General Settings.</li> <li>(Optional) Specify the WildFire Server to which to forward files. By default, the firewall will forward files to the public WildFire cloud hosted in the United States. To forward files to a different WildFire cloud, enter a new value as follows:</li> <li>To forward to a private WildFire cloud, enter the IP address or FQDN of your WF-500 WildFire appliance.</li> <li>To forward files to the public WildFire cloud running in Japan, enter wildfire.paloaltonetworks.jp.</li> <li>Review the maximum file size that the firewall can forward for a specific type of file.</li> <li>It is a WildFire best practice to set the File Size limit for PEs to the maximum file size supported: 10 MB.</li> </ul>
Step 3	Enable the firewall to forward decrypted SSL traffic for WildFire analysis. This is a WildFire best practice.	On 1. 2. 3. On Sele to r	a firewall with no virtual systems configured: Select Device > Setup > Content-ID. Edit the Content-ID settings and Allow Forwarding of Decrypted Content. Click OK to save the changes. a firewall with multiple virtual systems configured: ect Device > Virtual Systems, select the virtual system you want modify, and Allow Forwarding of Decrypted Content.
Step 4	Set up a file blocking profile to forward files to WildFire.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; File Blocking</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> and optionally a <b>Description</b> for the profile. Click <b>Add</b> to create a forwarding rule and enter a name. In the <b>Action</b> column, select <b>forward</b> . Leave the other fields set to <b>any</b> to forward any supported file type from any application. Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 5	Attach the file blocking profile to the security policies that allow access to the Internet.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and either select an existing policy or create a new policy as described in Create Security Rules. Click the <b>Actions</b> tab within the security policy. In the Profile Settings section, click the drop-down and select the file blocking profile you created for WildFire forwarding. (If you don't see a drop-down for selecting a profile, select <b>Profiles</b> from the <b>Profile Type</b> drop-down.
Step 6	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.

Enable	WildFire (Continued)		
Step 7	Verify that the firewall is forwarding files to WildFire.	1.	Select Monitor > Logs > Data Filtering.
	2.	<ul> <li>Forward— Indicates that the file was successfully forwarded by the file blocking profile attached to the security policy.</li> </ul>	
			• <b>Wildfire-upload-success</b> —Indicates that the file was sent to WildFire. This means the file is not signed by a trusted file signer and it has not been previously analyzed by WildFire.
			• Wildfire-upload-skip—Indicates that the file was identified as eligible to be sent to WildFire by a file blocking profile/security policy, but did not need to be analyzed by WildFire because it has already been analyzed previously. In this case, the action will display as <b>forward</b> in the Data Filtering log because it was a valid forward action, but it was not sent to WildFire and analyzed because the file has already been sent to the WildFire cloud from another session, possibly from another firewall.
		3.	View the WildFire logs by selecting <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; WildFire</b> <b>Submissions</b> . If new WildFire logs appear, the firewall is successfully forwarding files to WildFire and WildFire is returning file analysis reports.

# Scan Traffic for Threats

Security Profiles provide threat protection in security policies. For example, you can apply an antivirus profile to a security policy and all traffic that matches the security policy will be scanned for viruses.

The following sections provide steps for setting up a basic threat prevention configuration:

- ▲ Set Up Antivirus, Anti-Spyware, and Vulnerability Protection
- ▲ Set Up File Blocking

#### Set Up Antivirus, Anti-Spyware, and Vulnerability Protection

Every Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall comes with predefined Antivirus, Anti-Spyware, and Vulnerability Protection profiles that you can attach to security policies. There is one predefined Antivirus profile, **default**, which uses the default action for each protocol (block HTTP, FTP, and SMB traffic and alert on SMTP, IMAP, and POP3 traffic). There are two predefined Anti-spyware and Zone Protection profiles:

- **default**—Applies the default action to all client and server critical, high, and medium severity spyware/vulnerability protection events. It does not detect low and informational events.
- **strict**—Applies the block response to all client and server critical, high and medium severity spyware/vulnerability protection events and uses the default action for low and informational events.

To ensure that the traffic entering your network is free from threats, attach the predefined profiles to your basic web access policies. As you monitor the traffic on your network and expand your policy rulebase, you can then design more granular profiles to address your specific security needs.

Set up	Antivirus/Anti-Spyware/Vulnerability Pr	otection
Step 1	Verify that you have a Threat Prevention license.	<ul> <li>The Threat Prevention license bundles the Antivirus, Anti-Spyware, and the Vulnerability Protection features in one license.</li> <li>Select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> to verify that the <b>Threat Prevention</b> license is installed and valid (check the expiration date).</li> </ul>
Step 2	Download the latest antivirus threat signatures.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Dynamic Updates and click Check Now at the bottom of the page to retrieve the latest signatures.</li> <li>In the Actions column, click Download to install the latest Antivirus, and Applications and Threats signatures.</li> </ol>
Step 3	Schedule signature updates. Perform a <b>download-and-install</b> on a daily basis for antivirus updates and weekly for applications and threats updates.	<ol> <li>From Device &gt; Dynamic Updates, click the text to the right of Schedule to automatically retrieve signature updates for Antivirus and Applications and Threats.</li> <li>Specify the frequency and timing for the updates and whether the update will be downloaded and installed or only downloaded. If you select Download Only, you would need to manually go in and click the Install link in the Action column to install the signature. When you click OK, the update is scheduled. No commit is required.</li> <li>(Optional) You can also enter the number of hours in the Threshold field to indicate the minimum age of a signature before a download will occur. For example, if you entered 10, the signature must be at least 10 hours old before it will be downloaded, regardless of the schedule.</li> <li>In an HA configuration, you can also click the Sync To Peer option to synchronize the content update with the HA peer after download/install. This will not push the schedule settings to the peer device, you need to configure the schedule on each device.</li> </ol>

#### Recommendations for HA Configurations:

- Active/Passive HA—If the MGT port is used for antivirus signature downloads, you should configure a schedule on both devices and both devices will download/install independently. If you are using a data port for downloads, the passive device will not perform downloads while it is in the passive state. In this case you would set a schedule on both devices and then select the **Sync To Peer** option. This will ensure that whichever device is active, the updates will occur and will then push to the passive device.
- Active/Active HA—If the MGT port is used for antivirus signature downloads on both devices, then schedule the download/install on both devices, but do not select the **Sync To Peer** option. If you are using a data port, schedule the signature downloads on both devices and select **Sync To Peer**. This will ensure that if one device in the active/active configuration goes into the active-secondary state, the active device will download/install the signature and will then push it to the active-secondary device.

Set up	Antivir	us/Anti-Spyware/Vulnerability Pr	ote	ction (Contin	ued)				
Step 4	Attach policy.	the security profiles to a security	1.	Select <b>Polic</b> and then cli	ies > Securit ck the Action	<b>y</b> , sel I <b>s</b> tal	ect the des	ired policy	to modify it
	٢	Attach a clone of a predefined security profile to your basic security policies. That way, if you want to customize the profile you	2.	profile you default for Anti-Spywa	would like to Antivirus, Vu Ire.	enat	alop-down ble. In this ability Pro	example we	e choose d
		can do so without deleting the read-only predefined <b>strict</b> or <b>default</b> profile and attaching a customized profile.	-	Fecurity Policy Rule	ou don't see d fi <b>les</b> from the	rop-o e <b>Pro</b>	downs for s ofile Type o	selecting pro- lrop-down.	ofiles, select ©
				General Source User	r Destination Applie	ation	Service/URL Catego	Actions	
				Action	🔾 Deny 💿 Allow			✓ Log at Session Star ✓ Log at Session End	t
			Profile Setting			Log Forwarding	default	~	
				Profile Type Antivirus	Profiles	~	Other Settings		
				Vulnerability Protection	strict	~	Schedule	None	-
				Anti-Spyware	strict	•	QoS Marking	None Disable Server Resr	w nonse Inspection
				URL Filtering	None	-		_	
				File Blocking	None				
				Data Filtering	None	•			
								ОК	Cancel
Step 5	Save t	ne configuration.	Cli	ck Commit.					

### Set Up File Blocking

File Blocking Profiles allow you to identify specific file types that you want to want to block or monitor. The following workflow shows how to set up a basic file blocking profile that prevents users from downloading executable files from the Internet.

Config	ure File Blocking		
Step 1	Create the file blocking profile.	1.	Select Objects > Security Profiles > File Blocking and click Add.
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> for the file blocking profile, for example Block_EXE.
		3.	Optionally enter a <b>Description</b> , such as Block users from downloading exe files from websites.
Step 2	Configure the file blocking options.	1. 2. 3.	Click <b>Add</b> to define the profile settings. Enter a <b>Name</b> , such as <b>BlockEXE</b> . Set the <b>Applications</b> to which to apply file blocking, or leave it
		4.	set to <b>any</b> . Set <b>File Types</b> to block. For example, to block download of executables, you would select <b>exe</b> .
		5.	Specify the <b>Direction</b> in which to block files: <b>download</b> , <b>upload</b> , or <b>both</b> .
		6.	Set the <b>Action</b> to one of the following:
	The <b>forward</b> and <b>continue-and-forward</b> actions are for forwarding files to WildFire only		• <b>continue</b> —(web traffic only) Files matching the selected criteria will trigger a customizable response page that requires users to click <b>Continue</b> in order to proceed with the download/upload. You must enable response pages on the associated interfaces if you plan to use this option (Step 4).
	vial ne ony.		• <b>block</b> —Files matching the selected criteria will be blocked from download/upload.
			• <b>alert</b> —Files matching the selected criteria will be allowed, but will generate a log entry in the data filtering log.
		r	Ile Blocking Profile           Name         Block_EXE           Description         Block .exe files from being downloaded from websites.           S         S
		7.	BlockEXE web-browsing exe download continue Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 3	Attach the file blocking profile to the security policies that allow access to content.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and either select an existing policy or create a new policy as described in Create Security Rules. Click the <b>Actions</b> tab within the security policy. In the Profile Settings section, click the drop-down and select the file blocking profile you created. If you don't see drop-downs for selecting profiles, select <b>Profiles</b> from the <b>Profile Type</b> drop-down.

Config	ure File Blocking (Continued)		
Step 4	Enable response pages in the management profile for each interface on which you are attaching file blocking	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; Interface Mgmt</b> and then select an interface profile to edit or click <b>Add</b> to create a new profile.
	profile with a <b>continue</b> action.	2.	Select <b>Response Pages</b> , as well as any other management services required on the interface.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the interface management profile.
		4.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select the interface to which to attach the profile.
		5.	On the <b>Advanced &gt; Other Info</b> tab, select the interface management profile you just created.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the interface settings.
Step 5	Test the file blocking configuration.	Acc dow the file • ] 1 • ]	cess a client PC in the trust zone of the firewall and attempt to wnload an.exe file from a website in the untrust zone. Make sure file is blocked as expected based on the action you defined in the blocking profile: If you selected <b>alert</b> as the action, check the data filtering log to make sure you see a log entry for the request. If you selected <b>block</b> as the action, the File Blocking Block Page
		• ] ] [ ] ]	If you selected the <b>continue</b> action, the File Blocking Continue Page response page should display. Click <b>Continue</b> to download the file. The following shows the default File Blocking Continue Page.
		F A CC FT	File Download Blocked ccess to the file you were trying to download has been blocked in accordance with ompany policy. Please contact your system administrator if you believe this is in error. ile name: Support_services_ds1.pdf lease click Continue to download/upload the file.

# **Control Access to Web Content**

URL Filtering provides visibility and control over web traffic on your network. With URL filtering enabled, the firewall can categorize web traffic into one or more (from approximately 60) categories. You can then create policies that specify whether to allow, block, or log (alert) traffic based on the category to which it belongs. The following workflow shows how to enable PAN-DB for URL filtering, create security profiles, and attach them to security policies to enforce a basic URL filtering policy.

Config	figure URL Filtering					
Step 1	Confirm license information for URL Filtering.	1. 2.	Obtain and install a URL Filtering license. See Activate Licenses and Subscriptions for details. Select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> and verify that the URL Filtering license is valid.			
		PA	N-DB URL Filtering			
			Date Issued     June 19, 2013       Date Expires     June 24, 2014       Description     Palo Alto Networks URL Filtering       Active     No       Download Status     Download			
Step 2	Download the seed database and activate the license.	1.	To download the seed database, click <b>Download</b> next to <b>Download Status</b> in the PAN-DB URL Filtering section of the Licenses page.			
		2.	Choose a region (North America, Europe, APAC, Japan) and then click <b>OK</b> to start the download.			
		3.	After the download completes, click <b>Activate</b> .			
			PAN-DB URL Filtering Date Issued June 19, 2013 Date Expires June 24, 2014 Description Palo Alto Networks URL Filtering Active No (Activate) Download Status 2013-10-29 16:49:57 PAN-DB download: Finished successfully. Re-Download			
Step 3	Create a URL filtering profile.	1.	Select Objects > Security Profiles > URL Filtering.			
	Because the default URL filtering profile blocks risky and threat-prone content, clone this profile when creating a new profile in order to preserve the default settings.	2. 3.	Select the default profile and then click <b>Clone</b> . The new profile will be named default-1. Select the new profile and rename it.			

Config	ure URL Filtering (Continued)		
Step 4	Define how to control access to web content. If you are not sure what traffic you want to control, consider setting the categories (except for those blocked by default) to alert. You can then use the visibility tools on the firewall, such as the ACC and App Scope, to determine which web categories to restrict to specific groups or to block entirely. You can then go back and modify the profile to block and allow categories as desired. You can also define specific sites to always allow or always block regardless of category and enable the safe search option to filter search results when defining the URL Filtering profile.	1.	<text><list-item></list-item></text>
Step 5	Attach the URL filtering profile to a security policy.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> . Select the desired policy to modify it and then click the <b>Actions</b> tab. If this is the first time you are defining a security profile, select <b>Profiles</b> from the <b>Profile Type</b> drop-down. In the <b>Profile Settings</b> list, select the profile you just created from the <b>URL Filtering</b> drop-down. (If you don't see drop-downs for selecting profiles, select <b>Profiles</b> from the <b>Profile Type</b> drop-down.) Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile. <b>Commit</b> the configuration.

Config	ure URL Filtering (Continued)	
Step 6	Enable Response Pages in the management profile for each interface on which you are filtering web traffic.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; Interface Mgmt and then select an interface profile to edit or click Add to create a new profile.</li> <li>Select Response Pages, as well as any other management services required on the interface.</li> <li>Click OK to save the interface management profile.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces and select the interface to which to attach the profile.</li> <li>On the Advanced &gt; Other Info tab, select the interface management profile you just created.</li> <li>Click OK to save the interface settings.</li> </ol>
Step 7	Save the configuration.	Click Commit.
Step 8	Test the URL filtering configuration.	<ul> <li>Access a client PC in the trust zone of the firewall and attempt to access a site in a blocked category. Make sure URL filtering is applied based on the action you defined in the URL filtering profile:</li> <li>If you selected <b>alert</b> as the action, check the data filtering log to make sure you see a log entry for the request.</li> <li>If you selected the <b>continue</b> action, the URL Filtering Continue and Override Page response page should display. <b>Continue</b> to the site.</li> <li>If you selected <b>block</b> as the action, the URL Filtering and Category Match Block Page response page should display as follows:</li> </ul>

#### For More Information

For more detailed information on how to protect your enterprise from threats, see Threat Prevention. For details on how to scan encrypted (SSH or SSL) traffic for threats, see Decryption.

For information about the threats and applications that Palo Alto Networks products can identify, visit the following links:

- Applipedia—Provides details on the applications that Palo Alto Networks can identify.
- Threat Vault—Lists threats that Palo Alto Networks products can identify. You can search by Vulnerability, Spyware, or Virus. Click the Details icon next to the ID number for more information about a threat.

# Best Practices for Completing the Firewall Deployment

Now that you have integrated the firewall into your network and enabled the basic security features, you can begin configuring more advanced features. Here are some things to consider next:

- Learn about the different Management Interfaces that are available to you and how to access and use them.
- Set up High Availability—High availability (HA) is a configuration in which two firewalls are placed in a group and their configuration is synchronized to prevent a single point to failure on your network. A heartbeat connection between the firewall peers ensures seamless failover in the event that a peer goes down. Setting up the firewalls in a two-device cluster provides redundancy and allows you to ensure business continuity.
- □ Configure the Master Key—Every Palo Alto Networks firewall has a default master key that encrypts private keys that are used to authenticate administrators when they access management interfaces on the firewall. As a best practice to safeguard the keys, configure the master key on each firewall to be unique. However, if you use Panorama, you must use the same master key on Panorama and all managed firewalls. Otherwise, Panorama cannot push configurations to the firewalls.
- □ Manage Firewall Administrators—Every Palo Alto Networks firewall and appliance is preconfigured with a default administrative account (admin) that provides full read-write access (also known as superuser access) to the device. As a best practice, create a separate administrative account for each person who needs access to the administrative or reporting functions of the firewall. This allows you to better protect the device from unauthorized configuration (or modification) and to enable logging of the actions of each individual administrator.
- Enable User Identification (User-ID)—User-ID is a Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall feature that allows you to create policies and perform reporting based on users and groups rather than individual IP addresses.
- Enable Decryption—Palo Alto Networks firewalls provide the capability to decrypt and inspect traffic for visibility, control, and granular security. Use decryption on a firewall to prevent malicious content from entering your network or sensitive content from leaving your network concealed as encrypted or tunneled traffic.
- Enable Passive DNS Collection for Improved Threat Intelligence—Enable this opt-in feature to enable the firewall to act as a passive DNS sensor and send select DNS information to Palo Alto Networks for analysis in order to improve threat intelligence and threat prevention capabilities.
- **Follow the** Best Practices for Securing Your Network from Layer 4 and Layer 7 Evasions.

# **Device Management**

Administrators can configure, manage, and monitor the Palo Alto Networks firewalls using the web interface, the CLI, and the API management interfaces. Role-based administrative access to the management interfaces can be customized in order to delegate specific tasks or permissions to certain administrators. See the following topics for information on device management options, including how to begin using the management interfaces and how to customize administrator roles:

- ▲ Management Interfaces
- ▲ Manage Firewall Administrators
- ▲ Reference: Web Interface Administrator Access
- ▲ Reference: Port Numbers Used by Palo Alto Networks Devices
- ▲ Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings

# **Management Interfaces**

PAN-OS firewalls and Panorama provide three user interfaces: a web interface, a command line interface (CLI), and a XML-based management API. See the following topics for how to access and begin using each of the device management interfaces:

- Use the Web Interface to complete administrative tasks and generate reports from the web interface with relative ease. This graphical interface allows you to access the firewall using HTTPS and it is the best way to perform administrative tasks.
- Use the Command Line Interface (CLI) to type through the commands in rapid succession to complete a series of tasks. The CLI is a no-frills interface that supports two command modes and each mode has its own hierarchy of commands and statements. When you get familiar with the nesting structure and the syntax of the commands, the CLI allows quick response times and offers administrative efficiency.
- Use the XML API to streamline your operations and integrate with existing, internally developed applications and repositories. The XML API is provided as a web service that is implemented using HTTP/HTTPS requests and responses.

# Use the Web Interface

The following topics describes how to begin using the firewall web interface. For detailed information about the tabs and fields that are available in the web interface, refer to the Web Interface Reference Guide.

- ▲ Launch the Web Interface
- ▲ Navigate the Web Interface
- ▲ Commit Changes
- ▲ Use Configuration Pages
- ▲ Required Fields
- ▲ Lock Transactions

#### Launch the Web Interface

The following web browsers are supported for access to the web interface for PAN-OS firewalls and Panorama:

- Internet Explorer 7+
- Firefox 3.6+
- Safari 5+
- Chrome 11+

Launch an Internet browser and enter the firewall's IP address. Enter your user credentials. If logging in to the firewall for the first time, type the default **admin** into both the **Name** and **Password** fields.

To view information on how to use a specific page and an explanation of the fields and options on the page, click the **Help** icon in the upper right area of the page to open the online help system. In addition to displaying context-sensitive help for a page, clicking the **Help** icon displays a help navigation pane with options to browse and search all help content.

#### Navigate the Web Interface

The following conventions apply when using the web interface.

• To display the menu items for a general functional category, click the tab, such as **Objects** or **Device**, near the top of the browser window.

	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Objects	Network	Device	
-								

• Click an item on the side menu to display a panel.

Interfaces	
- 🎮 Zones	
😼 VLANs	
- 🔁 Virtual Wires	
- 🏵 Virtual Routers 🗥	
··· () IPSec Tunnels	
- 🖞 DHCP	
DNS Proxy	

• To display submenu items, click the 🛨 icon to the left of an item. To hide submenu items, click the 🖃 icon to the left of the item.

```
    GlobalProtect
    GobalProtect
    GoS
    GoS
    File Gateways
    GIPSec Crypto
    GIPSec Crypto
    GMonitor
    Monitor
    GInterface Mgmt
    Gos Protection
    Gos Profile
```

• On most configuration pages, you can click **Add** to create a new item.

🕂 Add 😑 Delete

• To delete one or more items, select their check boxes and click **Delete**. In most cases, the system prompts you to confirm by clicking **OK** or to cancel the deletion by clicking **Cancel**.

+ Add - Delete

• On some configuration pages, you can select the check box for an item and click **Clone** to create a new item with the same information as the selected item.

🕂 Add 😑 Delete 📀 Clone

• To modify an item, click its underlined link.

Name	Location	Protocol
service-http	Predefined	TCP
service-https	Predefined	TCP
<u>(</u> )		

• To view the current list of tasks, click the **Tasks** icon in the lower right corner of the page. The Task Manager window opens to show the list of tasks, along with status, start times, associated messages, and actions. Use the **Show** drop-down to filter the list of tasks.

Task Manager - A	All Tasks			0	
Туре	Status	Start Time	Messages	Action	
Commit	Completed	09/09/11 07:57:23	<ul> <li>In virtual-router vr 1: address 10.40.1.1/24 on interface ethernet1/7 is duplicate with address 10.40.1.2/24 on interface ethernet1/8. (Module: routed)</li> <li>Commit failed</li> </ul>		^
Commit	Completed	09/09/11 07:56:16	<ul> <li>In virtual-router vn1: address 10.40,1.1/24 on interface ethernet1/7 is duplicate with address 10.40,1.2/24 on interface ethernet1/8. (Module: routed)</li> <li>Commit failed</li> </ul>		
Commit	Completed	09/09/11 07:52:26			
Commit	Completed	09/09/11 07:49:25	<ul> <li>Interface ethernet1/7 has no ip pool(Module: dhcpd)</li> <li>Configuration committed successfully</li> </ul>		
Auto Commit	Completed	09/08/11 15:06:15	<ul> <li>Configuration committed successfully</li> <li>Successfully committed last configuration</li> <li>L3 Service Configuration is changed. I3svc will be restarted.</li> <li>(Module: device)</li> </ul>		~
<				>	
Show All Tasks	<b>v</b>			Close	7

- The web interface language is controlled by the current language of the computer that is managing the device if a specific language preference has not been defined. For example, if the computer you use to manage the firewall has a locale of Spanish, when you log in to the firewall, the web interface will be in Spanish.
- To specify a language that will always be used for a given account regardless of the locale of the computer, click the Language icon in the lower right corner of the page and the Language Preference window opens. Click the drop-down to select the desired language and then click **OK** to save your change.

Language Prefere	псе	0
Language		-
	es (Spanish)	
	en (English)	
	fr (French)	
	zh_TW (Chinese-Traditional)	
	ja (Japanese)	- 1
	zh_CN (Chinese-Simplified)	

• On pages that list information you can modify (for example, the **Setup** page on the **Devices** tab), click the icon in the upper right corner of a section to edit the settings.

Management Interface Settings	0
Speed	
IP Address	10.5.68.46

• After you configure settings, you must click **OK** or **Save** to store the changes. When you click **OK**, the current *candidate* configuration is updated.

#### **Commit Changes**

Click **Commit** at the top of the web interface to open the Commit dialog box, which displays the following options. Certain options only display if you click **Advanced**.



If dependencies between the configuration changes you included and excluded cause a validation error, perform the commit with all the changes included. For example, if your changes introduce a new Log Forwarding profile (an object) that references a new Syslog server profile (a device setting), the commit must include both policy and object configurations and device and network configurations.

- Include Device and Network configuration—Include the device and network configuration changes in the commit operation.
- Include Shared Object configuration—(Multi-virtual system firewalls only) Include the shared object configuration changes in the commit operation.
- Include Policy and Objects—(Non-multi-virtual system firewalls only) Include the policy and object configuration changes in the commit operation.
- Include virtual system configuration—Include all virtual systems or choose Select one or more virtual systems.

• **Preview Changes**—Click this button to bring up a two-pane window that shows proposed changes in the candidate configuration compared to the current running configuration. You can choose the number of lines of context to display, or show all lines. Changes are color coded based on items that you and other administrators added (green), modified (yellow), or deleted (red) since the last commit.



Because the preview results display in a new window, your browser must allow pop-ups. If the preview window does not open, refer to your browser documentation for the steps to unblock pop-ups.

#### **Use Configuration Pages**

The tables on configuration pages include sorting and column chooser options. Click a column header to sort on that column, and click again to change the sort order. Click the arrow to the right of any column and select check boxes to choose the columns to display.



#### **Required Fields**

Required fields are shown with a light yellow background. A message indicating that the field is required appears when you hover over or click in the field entry area.

Name	I
scription	This field is required

#### Lock Transactions

The web interface provides support for multiple administrators by allowing an administrator to lock a current set of transactions, thereby preventing configuration changes or commit operations by another administrator until the lock is removed. The following types of locks are supported:

• **Config lock**—Blocks other administrators from making changes to the configuration. This type of lock can be set globally or for a virtual system. It can be removed only by the administrator who set it or by a superuser on the system.

• **Commit Lock**—Blocks other administrators from committing changes until all of the locks have been released. This type of lock prevents collisions that can occur when two administrators are making changes at the same time and the first administrator finishes and commits changes before the second administrator has finished. The lock is released when the current changes are committed by the administrator who applied the lock, or it can be released manually.

Any administrator can open the lock window to view the current transactions that are locked, along with a time stamp for each.

To lock a transaction, click the unlocked icon a on the top bar to open the Locks dialog box. Click **Take a Lock**, select the scope of the lock from the drop-down, and click **OK**. Add additional locks as needed, and then click **Close** to close the Lock dialog box.

The transaction is locked, and the icon on the top bar changes to a locked icon that shows the number of locked items in parentheses.

To unlock a transaction, click the locked icon  $\beta$  on the top bar to open the Locks window. Click the  $\beta$  icon for the lock that you want to remove, and click **Yes** to confirm. Click **Close** to close the Lock dialog box.

You can arrange to automatically acquire a commit lock by selecting the **Automatically acquire commit lock** check box in the Management area of the **Device Setup** page.

# Use the Command Line Interface (CLI)

The PAN-OS CLI allows you to access Firewall and Panorama devices, view status and configuration information, and modify configurations. Access to the PAN-OS CLI is provided through SSH, Telnet, or direct console access.

The following topics describe how to access and begin using the PAN-OS CLI:

- ▲ Access the PAN-OS CLI
- Operational and Configuration Modes

For more information on the CLI, refer to the PAN-OS Command Line Interface Reference Guide.

#### Access the PAN-OS CLI

You can connect to the CLI on the firewall either directly using a serial cable from your management computer to the Console port, or by opening a Secure Shell (SSH) connection to the firewall MGT port as follows:

Access	s the PAN-OS CLI					
Step 1	Launch a terminal emulator, such as PuTTY, and open a connection to the firewall using one of the following methods:					
	• <b>Console Connection</b> —Connect a serial cable from your computer to the Console port and connect use the terminal emulation software to open a Serial connection to the firewall. The firewall requires that you configure the terminal emulation software with the following settings:					
	• Data rate: 9600					
	Data bits: 8					
	• Parity: none					
	• Stop bits: 1					
	Flow control: None					
	• <b>SSH Connection</b> —Use the terminal emulation software to open an SSH connection (default port 22) to the IP address you assigned to the MGT port during initial configuration.					
Step 2	Enter the administrative username. The default is admin.					
Step 3	Enter the administrative password. The default is admin.					
Step 4	The PAN-OS CLI opens in Operational mode, and the CLI prompt is displayed:					
Step 5	username@hostname>					

### **Operational and Configuration Modes**

When you log in, the PAN-OS CLI opens in Operational mode. You can move between Operational and Configuration modes at any time. Use Operational mode to view the state of the system, navigate the PAN-OS CLI, and enter configuration mode. Use Configuration mode to view and modify the configuration hierarchy.

• To enter Configuration mode from Operational mode, use the configure command:

```
username@hostname> configure
Entering configuration mode
[edit]
username@hostname#
```

• To leave Configuration mode and return to Operational mode, use the quit or exit command:

username@hostname# quit Exiting configuration mode username@hostname>

• To enter an Operational mode command while in Configuration mode, use the run command, for example:

username@hostname# run ping host 1.1.1.2
PING 1.1.1.1 (1.1.1.1) 56(84) bytes of data
...
username@hostname#

• To direct an Operational mode command to a particular VSYS, specify the target VSYS with the following command:

username@hostname# set system setting target-vsys <vsys\_name>

### Use the XML API

Palo Alto Networks XML API uses standard HTTP requests to send and receive data, allowing access to several types of data on the device so the data can be easily integrated with and used in other systems. Use the XML-based Management API to view a firewall or Panorama's configuration, extract report data in XML format, and execute operational commands. API calls can be made directly from command line utilities such as cURL or wget, or using any scripting or application framework that supports RESTful services. When using the API with command lines tools, both HTTP GET and POST methods are supported.

You must generate an API key in order to use the XML API. The API key authenticates the user to the firewall, application, or Panorama. After you have generated an API key, you can use the key to perform device configuration and operational tasks, retrieve reports and logs, and import and export files. See Generate an API Key for steps to generate an API key.

The following table shows the URL structure for API requests:

PAN-OS Version	XML API URL Structure
Prior to PAN-OS 4.1.0	http(s)://hostname/esp/restapi.esp?request-parameters-values
PAN-OS 4.1.0 and later	http(s)://hostname/api/?request-parameters-values

URL structure item definitions:

- hostname—Device's IP address or Domain name.
- request-parameters-values—A series of multiple 'parameter=value' pairs separated by the ampersand character (&). These values can either be keywords or data-values in standard or XML format (response data is always in XML format).

There are APIs for PAN-OS, User-ID, and WildFire products. For more information on how to use the API interface, refer to the PAN-OS XML API Usage Guide. To access the online community for developing scripts, visit: https://live.paloaltonetworks.com/community/devcenter.

#### Generate an API Key

In order to use the API to manage a firewall or application, an API key is required to authenticate all API calls. Admin account credentials are used to generate API keys.



#### Generate an API key

Step 1	Create an administrator account.	1.	In the web interface, on the <b>Device &gt; Administrators</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a login <b>Name</b> for the admin.
		3.	Enter and confirm a <b>Password</b> for the admin.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

Genera	Generate an API key (Continued)				
Step 2	Request an API key.	Replace the hostname, username and password parameters in the following URL with the appropriate values from your administrator account credentials: http(s)://hostname/api/?type=keygen&user=username&pas sword=password			
		The API key is displayed in an XML block. For example: <response status="success"> <result> <key>0RgWc420i0vDx2WRUIUM6A</key> </result> </response>			
Step 3	<ul> <li>(Optional) Revoke or change an API key.</li> <li>For PAN-OS 4.1.0 and later releases, generating an API key using the same administrator account credentials returns unique API keys every time, and all of the keys are valid.</li> <li>You can choose to revoke and then change an API key associated with an administrator account by changing the password associated with the administrator account. Any API keys that were generated using the previous credentials would no longer be valid.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>On the Device &gt; Adminstrators tab, open the administrator account associated with the API key.</li> <li>Enter and confirm a new Password for the administrator account.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit. Any API keys associated with the admin account prior to the password change are revoked upon Commit.</li> <li>(Optional) Use the updated administrator account credentials to generate a new API key. See Step 2.</li> </ol>			

#### Example work flow using an API key:

Request an API key by entering the URL with the appropriate values in a web browser:

```
https://10.xx.10.50/esp/restapi.esp?type=keygen&user=admin&password=admin
```

```
Entering the URL displays an XML block that contains the API key:
```

```
<response status="success">
```

```
<result>
<key>0RgWc42Oi0vDx2WRUIUM6A</key>
</result>
```

```
</response>
```

Continue to use the API key to create API requests. For example, to generate a report:

```
https://10.xx.10.50/esp/restapi.esp?type=report&reporttype=dynamic&reportname =top-app-summary&period=last-hour&topn=5&key=0RgWc42Oi0vDx2WRUIUM6A=
```

# Manage Firewall Administrators

Every Palo Alto Networks firewall and appliance is preconfigured with a default administrative account (admin) that provides full read-write access (also known as superuser access) to the device.



As a best practice, create a separate administrative account for each person who needs access to the administrative or reporting functions of the firewall. This allows you to better protect the device from unauthorized configuration (or modification) and to enable logging of the actions of each individual administrator.

The following topics describe the various ways you can set up administrative accounts and provides procedures for setting up basic administrative access:

- Administrative Roles
- Administrative Authentication
- ▲ Create an Administrative Account

# Administrative Roles

The way you configure administrator accounts depends on the security requirements within your organization, whether you have existing authentication services you want to integrate with, and how many different administrative roles you require. A *role* defines the type of access the associated administrator has to the system. There are two types of roles you can assign:

• **Dynamic Roles**—These are built-in roles that provide access to the firewall. When new features are added, the firewall automatically updates the definitions of dynamic roles; you never need to manually update them. The following table lists the access privileges associated with dynamic roles.

Dynamic Role	Privileges
Superuser	Full access to the firewall, including defining new administrator accounts and virtual systems. You must have superuser privileges to create an administrative user with superuser privileges.
Superuser (read-only)	Read-only access to the firewall.
Virtual system administrator	Full access to a selected virtual system (vsys) on the firewall.
Virtual system administrator (read-only)	Read-only access to a selected vsys on the firewall.
Device administrator	Full access to all firewall settings except for defining new accounts or virtual systems.
Device administrator (read-only)	Read-only access to all firewall settings except password profiles (no access) and administrator accounts (only the logged in account is visible).

• Admin Role Profiles—Custom roles you can configure for more granular access control over the functional areas of the web interface, CLI, and XML API. For example, you can create an Admin Role profile for your operations staff that provides access to the firewall and network configuration areas of the web interface and a separate profile for your security administrators that provides access to security policy definitions, logs, and reports. On a multi-vsys firewall, you can select whether the role defines access for all

virtual systems or for a specific vsys. When new features are added to the product, you must update the roles with corresponding access privileges: the firewall does not automatically add new features to custom role definitions. For details on the privileges you can configure for custom administrator roles, see Reference: Web Interface Administrator Access.

# Administrative Authentication

There are four ways you can authenticate administrative users:

- Local administrator account with local authentication—Both the administrator account credentials and the authentication mechanisms are local to the firewall. You can further secure the local administrator account by creating a password profile that defines a validity period for passwords and by setting device-wide password complexity settings.
- Local administrator account with SSL-based authentication—With this option, you create the administrator accounts on the firewall, but authentication is based on SSH certificates (for CLI access) or client certificates/common access cards (for the web interface). Refer to the article How to Configure Certificate-based Authentication for the WebUI for details on how to configure this type of administrative access.
- Local administrator account with external authentication—The administrator accounts are managed on the local firewall, but the authentication functions are offloaded to an existing LDAP, Kerberos, or RADIUS service. To configure this type of account, you must first create an authentication profile that defines how to access the external authentication service and then create an account for each administrator that references the profile.
- External administrator account and authentication—Account administration and authentication are handled by an external RADIUS server. To use this option, you must define Vendor Specific Attributes (VSAs) on your RADIUS server that map to the admin role and, optionally, the virtual system objects you have defined on the Palo Alto Networks device. Refer to the Radius Vendor Specific Attributes (VSA) article for details on how to configure this type of administrative access.

# Create an Administrative Account

Create administrative accounts to define access and administrative privileges for firewall administrators. Because it is common to delegate specific administrative tasks to specific administrators with varying roles, Palo Alto Networks recommends that you create admin role profiles that allow administrators access only to the areas of the management interface that are required to perform their jobs. You can assign the various roles you create to individual administrator accounts and specify access privileges to each management interface: the web interface, the Command Line Interface (CLI), and the XML-based Management API. By creating admin roles with very granular access privileges, you can ensure that sensitive company data is protected and end user privacy is ensured.

The following procedure describes how to create a local administrator account with local authentication, including how to set administrator access for each management interface.

#### **Create a Local Administrator**

Step 1 Create the Admin Role Profiles that you plan to assign to your administrators (this does not apply if you plan to use Dynamic Roles). The Admin Role Profiles define what type of access to give to the different sections of the web interface, CLI, and XML API for each administrator that you assign a role to.

> You can use this step to set particularly granular access privileges for web interface users. For details on what a specific option enables on the **Web UI** tab, see Web Interface Access Privileges.

Complete the following steps for each role you want to create:

- 1. Select **Device > Admin Roles** and then click **Add**.
- 2. Enter a **Name** and optionally a **Description** for the role.
- 3. On the Web UI, Command Line and/or XML API tabs, specify the access to allow for each management interface:
  - On the **Web UI** and/or **XML API** tabs, set the access levels for each functional area of the interface by clicking the icon to toggle it to the desired setting: Enable, Read Only, or Disable.
  - On the **Command Line** tab, specify the type of access to allow to the CLI: **superreader**, **deviceadmin**, or **devicereader** (for Device roles); **vsysadmin** or **vsysreader** (for Virtual System roles); or **None** to disable CLI access entirely.
- 4. Click **OK** to save the profile.

For example, allow an admin full access to a device using the XML API, with the exception of importing or exporting files:

lmin Role Profile	0
Name Admin	
Description	
Web UI XML API Command Line	
Report	*
Cog	
Configuration	
Operational Requests	
@ Commit	
⊘User-ID Agent	
🛞 Export	
🛞 Import	
Constant O Frankles @ David Only @ Distribution	F
Legend: 🕑 Enable 🍙 Read Only 🔞 Disable	
	OK Cancel

Create	Create a Local Administrator (Continued)				
Step 2	(Optional) Set requirements for local user-defined passwords.		<b>Create Password Profiles</b> —Define how often administrators must change their passwords. You can create multiple password profiles and apply them to administrator accounts as needed to enforce the desired security. To create a password profile, select <b>Device &gt; Password Profiles</b> and then click <b>Add</b> .		
		•	<b>Configure minimum password complexity settings</b> —Define rules that govern password complexity, allowing you to force administrators to create passwords that are harder to guess, crack, or compromise. Unlike password profiles, which can be applied to individual accounts, these rules are device-wide and apply to all passwords. To configure the settings, select <b>Device &gt; Setup</b> and then Edit in the Minimum Password Complexity section.		
Step 3	Create an account for each administrator.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Administrators</b> and then click <b>Add</b> . Enter a user <b>Name</b> and <b>Password</b> for the administrator, or create an <b>Authentication Profile</b> to use for validating an administrative user's credentials to an external authentication server. See Step 4 for details on setting up an authentication profile.		
		3.	Select the <b>Role</b> to assign to this administrator. You can either select one of the predefined Dynamic roles or a custom Role Based profile if you created one in Step 1.		
		4.	(Optional) Select a Password Profile.		
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the account.		

Create	a Local Administrator (Continued)		
Step 4	(Optional) Set up authentication to an external server—LDAP, RADIUS or Kerberos.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Authentication Profile</b> and then click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a user <b>Name</b> to identify the authentication profile.
	The server profile specifies how the firewall can connect to the authentication service you plan to use.	3.	Define the conditions for locking out the administrative user.
			a. Enter the <b>Lockout Time</b> . This is the number of minutes that a user is locked out upon reaching the maximum number of failed attempts (0-60 minutes; default 0). 0 means that the lockout is in effect until it is manually unlocked.
			b. Enter the <b>Failed Attempts</b> count. This is the number of failed login attempts that are allowed before the account is locked out (1-10; default 0). By default, the failed attempt count is 0 and the user is not locked out despite repeated failure to authenticate.
		4.	Specify the users and groups that are explicitly allowed to authenticate. By adding an <b>Allow List</b> to an authentication profile, you can limit access to specific users in a user group/directory.
			• Select the <b>All</b> check box to allow all users.
			• Click <b>Add</b> and enter the first few characters of a name in the field to list all the users and user groups that start with those characters. Repeat to add as many users/user groups as required.
		5.	In the <b>Authentication</b> drop-down, select the type of authentication you plan to use on your network.
			If you plan to use local database authentication, you must create the local database. Select <b>Device &gt; Local User Database</b> and add the users and groups to be authenticated.
		6.	For access to an external authentication server (not local database), select the appropriate server profile in the <b>Server</b> <b>Profile</b> drop-down. To create a new server profile, click the link next to New and continue with configuring access to the <b>LDAP</b> , <b>RADIUS</b> or <b>Kerberos</b> server.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Commit your changes.	1.	Click Commit.

# Reference: Web Interface Administrator Access

While the privileges associated with dynamic administrator roles are fixed, you can configure privileges at a granular level for custom administrator roles. Configuring privileges at a granular level ensures that lower level administrators cannot access certain information. You can create custom roles for firewall administrators (see Create an Administrative Account), Panorama administrators, or Device Group and Template administrators (refer to the Panorama Administrator's Guide). The following topics describe the privileges you can configure for custom administrator roles.

- ▲ Web Interface Access Privileges
- ▲ Panorama Web Interface Access

# Web Interface Access Privileges

If you want to prevent a role-based administrator from accessing specific tabs on the web interface, you can disable the tab and the administrator will not even see it when logging in using the associated role-based administrative account. For example, you could create an Admin Role Profile for your operations staff that provides access to the **Device** and **Network** tabs only and a separate profile for your security administrators that provides access to the **Object**, **Policy**, and **Monitor** tabs.

The following table describes the tab-level access privileges you can assign to the admin role profile. It also provides cross-references to additional tables that detail granular privileges within a tab. For specific information on how to set the admin role profile to protect end user privacy, see Define User Privacy Settings in the Admin Role Profile.

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Dashboard	Controls access to the <b>Dashboard</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the tab and will not have access to any of the Dashboard widgets.	Yes	No	Yes
ACC	Controls access to the Application Command Center (ACC). If you disable this privilege, the <b>ACC</b> tab will not display in the web interface. Keep in mind that if you want to protect the privacy of your users while still providing access to the ACC, you can disable the <b>Privacy &gt; Show Full Ip Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show User Names In Logs And Reports</b> option.	Yes	No	Yes
Monitor	Controls access to the <b>Monitor</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Monitor</b> tab and will not have access to any of the logs, packet captures, session information, reports or to App Scope. For more granular control over what monitoring information the admin can see, leave the Monitor option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Monitor Tab.	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Policies	Controls access to the <b>Policies</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Policies</b> tab and will not have access to any policy information. For more granular control over what policy information the admin can see, for example to enable access to a specific type of policy or to enable read-only access to policy information, leave the <b>Policies</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Policy Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
Objects	Controls access to the <b>Objects</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Objects</b> tab and will not have access to any objects, security profiles, log forwarding profiles, decryption profiles, or schedules. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Objects</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Objects Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
Network	Controls access to the <b>Network</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network</b> tab and will not have access to any interface, zone, VLAN, virtual wire, virtual router, IPsec tunnel, DHCP, DNS Proxy, GlobalProtect, or QoS configuration information or to the network profiles. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Network</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Network Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
Device	Controls access to the <b>Device</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Device</b> tab and will not have access to any device-wide configuration information, such as User-ID, High Availability, server profile or certificate configuration information. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Objects</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Device Tab. You cannot enable access to the <b>Admin Roles</b> or <b>Administrators</b> nodes for a role-based	Yes	No	Yes
	the <b>Device</b> tab.			

### Provide Granular Access to the Monitor Tab

In some cases you might want to enable the administrator to view some but not all areas of the Monitor tab. For example, you may want to restrict operations admins to the configuration and system logs only, because they do not contain sensitive user data. Although this section of the admin role definition specifies what areas of the Monitor tab the admin can see, you can also couple privileges in this section with privacy privileges, such as disabling the ability to see user names in logs and reports. One thing to keep in mind, however, is that any system-generated reports will still show user names and IP addresses even if you disable that functionality in the role. For this reason, if you do not want the admin to see any of the private user information, you should disable access to the specific reports as detailed in the following table.

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Monitor	Enables or disables access to the <b>Monitor</b> tab. If disabled, the admin will not see this tab or any of the associated logs or reports.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>Yes</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Logs	Enables or disables access to all log files. You can also leave this privilege enabled and then disable specific logs that you do not want the admin to see. Keep in mind that if you want to protect the privacy of your users while still providing access to one or more of the logs, you can disable the <b>Privacy &gt; Show Full Ip Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show User Names In Logs And Reports</b> option.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Traffic	Specifies whether the admin can see the traffic logs.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>Yes</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Threat	Specifies whether the admin can see the threat logs.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>Yes</b>	Yes	No	Yes
URL Filtering	Specifies whether the admin can see the URL filtering logs.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes
WildFire Submissions	Specifies whether the admin can see the WildFire logs. These logs are only available if you have a WildFire subscription.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes

The following table lists the Monitor tab access levels and the administrator roles for which they are available.

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Data Filtering	Specifies whether the admin can see the data filtering logs.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>Yes</b>	Yes	No	Yes
HIP Match	Specifies whether the admin can see the HIP Match logs. HIP Match logs are only available if you have a GlobalProtect portal license and gateway subscription.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Configuration	Specifies whether the admin can see the configuration logs.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
System	Specifies whether the admin can see the system logs.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Alarms	Specifies whether the admin can see system-generated alarms.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>Yes</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Packet Capture	Specifies whether the admin can see packet captures (pcaps) from the <b>Monitor</b> tab. Keep in mind that packet captures are raw flow data and as such may contain user IP addresses. Disabling the <b>Show Full IP</b> <b>Addresses</b> privileges will not obfuscate the IP address in the pcap and you should therefore disable the Packet Capture privilege if you are concerned about user privacy.	Firewall: Y <b>es</b> Panorama: No Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
App Scope	Specifies whether the admin can see the App Scope visibility and analysis tools. Enabling App Scope enables access to all of the <b>App Scope</b> charts.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Session Browser	Specifies whether the admin can browse and filter current running sessions on the firewall. Keep in mind that the session browser shows raw flow data and as such may contain user IP addresses. Disabling the <b>Show Full IP Addresses</b> privileges will not obfuscate the IP address in the session browser and you should therefore disable the <b>Session Browser</b> privilege if you are concerned about user privacy.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: No Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
-------------------------	---	---	--------	--------------	---------
Botnet	Specifies whether the admin can generate and view botnet analysis reports or view botnet reports in read-only mode. Disabling the <b>Show Full IP Addresses</b> privileges will not obfuscate the IP address in scheduled botnet reports and you should therefore disable the <b>Botnet</b> privilege if you are concerned about user privacy.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: No Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
PDF Reports	Enables or disables access to all PDF reports. You can also leave this privilege enabled and then disable specific PDF reports that you do not want the admin to see. Keep in mind that if you want to protect the privacy of your users while still providing access to one or more of the reports, you can disable the <b>Privacy &gt; Show</b> <b>Full Ip Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show</b> <b>User Names In Logs And Reports</b> option.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Manage PDF Summary	Specifies whether the admin can view, add or delete PDF summary report definitions. With read-only access, the admin can see PDF summary report definitions, but not add or delete them. If you disable this option, the admin can neither view the report definitions nor add/delete them.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
PDF Summary Reports	Specifies whether the admin can see the generated PDF Summary reports in <b>Monitor &gt; Reports</b> . If you disable this option, the <b>PDF Summary Reports</b> category will not display in the <b>Reports</b> node.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
User Activity Report	Specifies whether the admin can view, add or delete User Activity report definitions and download the reports. With read-only access, the admin can see User Activity report definitions, but not add, delete, or download them. If you disable this option, the admin cannot see this category of PDF report.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Report Groups	Specifies whether the admin can view, add or delete report group definitions. With read-only access, the admin can see report group definitions, but not add or delete them. If you disable this option, the admin cannot see this category of PDF report.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Email Scheduler	Specifies whether the admin can schedule report groups for email. Because the generated reports that get emailed may contain sensitive user data that is not removed by disabling the <b>Privacy &gt; Show</b> <b>Full Ip Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show</b> <b>User Names In Logs And Reports</b> options and because they may also show log data to which the admin does not have access, you should disable the <b>Email Scheduler</b> option if you have user privacy requirements.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Manage Custom Reports	Enables or disables access to all Custom report functionality. You can also leave this privilege enabled and then disable specific custom report categories that you do not want the admin to be able to access. Keep in mind that if you want to protect the privacy of your users while still providing access to one or more of the reports, you can disable the <b>Privacy &gt; Show Full Ip</b> <b>Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show User</b> <b>Names In Logs And Reports</b> option.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Application Statistics	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the application statistics database.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Data Filtering Log	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the data filtering log.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Threat Log	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the threat log.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Threat Summary	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the threat summary database.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes
Traffic Log	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the traffic log.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Traffic Summary	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the traffic summary database.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Url Log	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the URL filtering log.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Hipmatch	Specifies whether the admin can create a custom report that includes data from the HIP match log.	Firewall: <b>Yes</b> Panorama: <b>Yes</b> Device Group/Template: <b>No</b>	Yes	No	Yes
View Scheduled Custom Reports	Specifies whether the admin can view a custom report that has been scheduled to generate.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
View Predefined Application Reports	Specifies whether the admin can view Application Reports. Privacy privileges do not impact reports available on the <b>Monitor</b> > <b>Reports</b> node and you should therefore disable access to the reports if you have user privacy requirements.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
View Predefined Threat Reports	Specifies whether the admin can view Threat Reports. Privacy privileges do not impact reports available on the <b>Monitor &gt;</b> <b>Reports</b> node and you should therefore disable access to the reports if you have user privacy requirements.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
View Predefined URL Filtering Reports	Specifies whether the admin can view URL Filtering Reports. Privacy privileges do not impact reports available on the <b>Monitor &gt;</b> <b>Reports</b> node and you should therefore disable access to the reports if you have user privacy requirements.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
View Predefined Traffic Reports	Specifies whether the admin can view Traffic Reports. Privacy privileges do not impact reports available on the <b>Monitor &gt;</b> <b>Reports</b> node and you should therefore disable access to the reports if you have user privacy requirements.	Firewall: Yes Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes

#### Provide Granular Access to the Policy Tab

If you enable the Policy option in the admin role profile, you can then enable, disable, or provide read-only access to specific nodes within the tab as necessary for the admin role you are defining. By enabling access to a specific policy type, you enable the ability to view, add, or delete policy rules. By enabling read-only access to a specific policy, you enable the admin to view the corresponding policy rule base, but not add or delete rules. Disabling access to a specific type of policy prevents the admin from seeing the policy rule base.

Because policy that is based on specific users (by user name or IP address) must be explicitly defined, privacy settings that disable the ability to see full IP addresses or user names do not apply to the Policy tab. Therefore, you should only allow access to the Policy tab to administrators that are excluded from user privacy restrictions.

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Security	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete security policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the security policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
NAT	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete NAT policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the NAT policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
QoS	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete QoS policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the QoS policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Policy Based Forwarding	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete Policy-Based Forwarding (PBF) policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the PBF policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Decryption	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete decryption policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the decryption policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Application Override	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete application override policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the application override policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Captive Portal	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete captive portal policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the captive portal policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes
DoS Protection	Enable this privilege to allow the admin to view, add, and/or delete DoS protection policy rules. Set the privilege to read only if you want the admin to be able to see the rules, but not modify them. To prevent the admin from seeing the DoS protection policy rule base, disable this privilege.	Yes	Yes	Yes

### Provide Granular Access to the Objects Tab

An *object* is a container that groups specific policy filter values—such as IP addresses, URLs, applications, or services—for simplified rule definition. For example, an address object might contain specific IP address definitions for the web and application servers in your DMZ zone.

When deciding whether to allow access to the objects tab as a whole, determine whether the admin will have policy definition responsibilities. If not, the admin probably does not need access to the tab. If, however, the admin will need to create policy, you can enable access to the tab and then provide granular access privileges at the node level.

By enabling access to a specific node, you give the admin the privilege to view, add, and delete the corresponding object type. Giving read-only access allows the admin to view the already defined objects, but not create or delete any. Disabling a node prevents the admin from seeing the node in the web interface.

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Addresses	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete address objects for use in security policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Address Groups	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete address group objects for use in security policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Regions	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete regions objects for use in security, decryption, or DoS policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Applications	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete application objects for use in policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Application Groups	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete application group objects for use in policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Application Filters	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete application filters for simplification of repeated searches.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Services	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete service objects for use in creating policies that limit the port numbers an application can use.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Service Groups	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete service group objects for use in security policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Tags (Panorama only)	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete tags that have been defined on the device.	Yes	Yes	Yes
GlobalProtect	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete HIP objects and profiles. You can restrict access to both types of objects at the GlobalProtect level, or provide more granular control by enabling the GlobalProtect privilege and restricting HIP Object or HIP Profile access.	Yes	No	Yes
HIP Objects	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete HIP objects, which are used to define HIP profiles. HIP Objects also generate HIP Match logs.	Yes	Yes	Yes
HIP Profiles	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete HIP Profiles for use in security policy and/or for generating HIP Match logs.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Dynamic Block Lists	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete dynamic block lists for use in security policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Custom Objects	Specifies whether the admin can see the custom spyware and vulnerability signatures. You can restrict access to either enable or disable access to all custom signatures at this level, or provide more granular control by enabling the Custom Objects privilege and then restricting access to each type of signature.	Yes	No	Yes
Data Patterns	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete custom data pattern signatures for use in creating custom vulnerability protection profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Spyware	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete custom spyware signatures for use in creating custom vulnerability protection profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Vulnerability	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete custom vulnerability signatures for use in creating custom vulnerability protection profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
URL Category	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete custom URL categories for use in policy.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Security Profiles	Specifies whether the admin can see security profiles. You can restrict access to either enable or disable access to all security profiles at this level, or provide more granular control by enabling the Security Profiles privilege and then restricting access to each type of profile.	Yes	No	Yes
Antivirus	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete antivirus profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Anti-Spyware	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete anti-spyware profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Vulnerability Protection	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete vulnerability protection profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
URL Filtering	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete URL filtering profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
File Blocking	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete file blocking profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Data Filtering	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete data filtering profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
DoS Protection	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete DoS protection profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Security Profile Groups	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete security profile groups.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Log Forwarding	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete log forwarding profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Decryption Profile	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete decryption profiles.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Schedules	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete schedules for limiting a security policy to a specific date and/or time range.	Yes	Yes	Yes

#### Provide Granular Access to the Network Tab

When deciding whether to allow access to the **Network** tab as a whole, determine whether the admin will have network administration responsibilities, including GlobalProtect administration. If not, the admin probably does not need access to the tab.

You can also define access to the **Network** tab at the node level. By enabling access to a specific node, you give the admin the privilege to view, add, and delete the corresponding network configurations. Giving read-only access allows the admin to view the already-defined configuration, but not create or delete any. Disabling a node prevents the admin from seeing the node in the web interface.

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Interfaces	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete interface configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Zones	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete zones.	Yes	Yes	Yes
VLANs	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete VLANs.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Virtual Wires	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, or delete virtual wires.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Virtual Routers	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify or delete virtual routers.	Yes	Yes	Yes
IPSec Tunnels	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify, or delete IPSec Tunnel configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
DHCP	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify, or delete DHCP server and DHCP relay configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
DNS Proxy	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify, or delete DNS proxy configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
GlobalProtect	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify GlobalProtect portal and gateway configurations. You can disable access to the GlobalProtect functions entirely, or you can enable the GlobalProtect privilege and then restrict the role to either the portal or gateway configuration areas.	Yes	No	Yes
Portals	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify, or delete GlobalProtect portal configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Gateways	Specifies whether the admin can view, add, modify, or delete GlobalProtect gateway configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
MDM	Specifies whether the admin can view add, modify, or delete GlobalProtect MDM server configurations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
QoS		Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Network Profiles	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the Network settings described below.	Yes	No	Yes
IKE Gateways	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; IKE</b> <b>Gateways</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>IKE Gateways</b> node or define gateways that include the configuration information necessary to perform IKE protocol negotiation with peer gateway. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured IKE Gateways but cannot add or edit gateways.	Yes	Yes	Yes
IPSec Crypto	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; IPSec</b> <b>Crypto</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network Profiles &gt;</b> <b>IPSec Crypto</b> node or specify protocols and algorithms for identification, authentication, and encryption in VPN tunnels based on IPSec SA negotiation. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured IPSec Crypto configuration but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
IKE Crypto	Controls how devices exchange information to ensure secure communication. Specify the protocols and algorithms for identification, authentication, and encryption in VPN tunnels based on IPsec SA negotiation (IKEv1 Phase-1).	Yes	Yes	Yes
Monitor	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; Monitor</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network Profiles &gt; Monitor</b> node or be able to create or edit a monitor profile that is used to monitor IPSec tunnels and monitor a next-hop device for policy-based forwarding (PBF) rules. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured monitor profile configuration but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Interface Mgmt	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; Interface</b> <b>Mgmt</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network Profiles &gt;</b> <b>Interface Mgmt</b> node or be able to specify the protocols that are used to manage the firewall. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured Interface management profile configuration but cannot add or edit a configuration	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Zone Protection	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; Zone</b> <b>Protection</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network Profiles &gt; Zone</b> <b>Protection</b> node or be able to configure a profile that determines how the firewall responds to attacks from specified security zones. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured Zone Protection profile configuration but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
QoS Profile	Controls access to the <b>Network Profiles &gt; QoS</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network Profiles &gt; QoS</b> node or be able to configure a profile QoS profile that determines how QoS traffic classes are treated. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured QoS profile configuration but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes

## Provide Granular Access to the Device Tab

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Setup	Controls access to the <b>Setup</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Setup</b> node or have access to device-wide setup configuration information, such as Management, Operations, Service, Content-ID, Wildfire or Session setup information.	Yes	Yes	Yes
	current configuration but cannot make any changes.			
Config Audit	Controls access to the <b>Config Audit</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Config</b> <b>Audit</b> node or have access to any device-wide configuration information.	Yes	No	Yes
Admin Roles	Controls access to the <b>Admin Roles</b> node. This function can only be allowed for read only access. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Admin Roles</b> node or have access to any device-wide information concerning admin roles	No	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, you can view the configuration information for all admin roles configured on the device.			

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Administrators	Controls access to the <b>Administrators</b> node. This function can only be allowed for read only access. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Administrators</b> node or have access to information about their own admin account. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the configuration information for their own admin account. They will not see any information about other admin accounts configured on the device.	No	Yes	Yes
Virtual Systems	Controls access to the <b>Virtual Systems</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see or be able to configure virtual systems. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured virtual systems but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Shared Gateways	Controls access to the <b>Shared Gateways</b> node. Shared gateways allow virtual systems to share a common interface for external communications. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see or be able to configure shared gateways. If the privilege state is set to read only, you can view the currently configured shared gateways but cannot add or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
User Identification	Controls access to the <b>User Identification</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>User Identification</b> node or have access to device-wide User Identification configuration information, such as User Mapping, User-ID Agents, Service, Terminal Services Agents, Group Mappings Settings or Captive Portal Settings. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view configuration information for the device but is not allowed to perform any configuration procedures.	Yes	Yes	Yes
VM Information Source	Controls access to the <b>VM Information Source</b> node that allows you to configure the firewall/Windows User-ID agent to collect VM inventory automatically. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>VM Information Source</b> node. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the VM information sources configured but cannot add, edit, or delete any sources. This privilege is not available to Device Group and Template administrators.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
High Availability	Controls access to the <b>High Availability</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>High Availability</b> node or have access to device-wide high availability configuration information such as General setup information or Link and Path Monitoring. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view High Availability configuration information for the device but is not allowed to perform any configuration procedures.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Certificate Management	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the Certificate settings described below.	Yes	No	Yes
Certificates	Controls access to the <b>Certificates</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Certificates</b> node or be able to configure or access information regarding Device Certificates or Default Trusted Certificate Authorities. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Certificate configuration information for the device but is not allowed to perform any configuration procedures.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Certificate Profile	Controls access to the <b>Certificate Profile</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Certificate Profile</b> node or be able to create certificate profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Certificate Profiles that are currently configured for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a certificate profile.	Yes	Yes	Yes
OCSP Responder	Controls access to the <b>OCSP Responder</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>OCSP Responder</b> node or be able to define a server that will be used to verify the revocation status of certificates issues by the PAN-OS device. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>OCSP Responder</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit an OCSP responder configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Response Pages	Controls access to the <b>Response Pages</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Response Page</b> node or be able to define a custom HTML message that is downloaded and displayed instead of a requested web page or file.	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Response Page</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a response page configuration.			
Log Settings	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the Log settings described below.	Yes	No	Yes
System	Controls access to the <b>Log Settings &gt; System</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Log Settings &gt; System</b> node or be able to specify the severity levels of the system log entries that are logged remotely with Panorama and sent as SNMP traps, syslog messages, and/or email notifications.	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Log Settings &gt; System</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a configuration.			
Config	Controls access to the <b>Log Settings &gt; Config</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Log Settings &gt; Config</b> node or be able to specify the configuration log entries that are logged remotely with Panorama, and sent as syslog messages and/or email notification.	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Log Settings &gt; Config</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a configuration.			
HIP Match	Controls access to the <b>Log Settings &gt; HIP Match</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Log Settings &gt; HIP Match</b> node or be able to specify the Host Information Profile (HIP) match log settings that are used to provide information on security policies that apply to GlobalProtect clients	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Log Settings &gt; HIP</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a configuration.			

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Alarms	Controls access to the <b>Log Settings &gt; Alarms</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Log Settings &gt; Alarms</b> node or be able to configure notifications that are generated when a security rule (or group of rules) has been hit repeatedly in a set period of time. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Log Settings &gt; Alarms</b> configuration for the device but is not allowed to create or edit a configuration.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Manage Logs	Controls access to the <b>Log Settings &gt; Manage Logs</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Log Settings &gt; Manage Logs</b> node or be able to clear the indicated logs. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Log Settings &gt; Manage Logs</b> information but cannot clear any of the logs.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Server Profiles	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the Server Profiles settings described below.	Yes	No	Yes
SNMP Trap	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; SNMP Trap</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; SNMP Trap</b> node or be able to specify one or more SNMP trap destinations to be used for system log entries. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; SNMP Trap Logs</b> information but cannot specify SNMP trap destinations.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Syslog	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Syslog</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Syslog</b> node or be able to specify one or more syslog servers. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Syslog</b> information but cannot specify syslog servers.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Email	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Email</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Email</b> node or be able to configure an email profile that can be used to enable email notification for system and configuration log entries If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Email</b> information but cannot configure and email profile.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Netflow	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Netflow</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Netflow</b> node or be able to define a NetFlow server profile, which specifies the frequency of the export along with the NetFlow servers that will receive the exported data. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Netflow</b> information but cannot define a Netflow profile.	Yes	Yes	Yes
RADIUS	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; RADIUS</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; RADIUS</b> node or be able to configure settings for the RADIUS servers that are identified in authentication profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; RADIUS</b> information but cannot configure settings for the RADIUS servers.	Yes	Yes	Yes
LDAP	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; LDAP</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; LDAP</b> node or be able to configure settings for the LDAP servers to use for authentication by way of authentication profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; LDAP</b> information but cannot configure settings for the LDAP servers.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Kerberos	Controls access to the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Kerberos</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Kerberos</b> node or configure a Kerberos server that allows users to authenticate natively to a domain controller. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Server Profiles &gt; Kerberos</b> information but cannot configure settings for Kerberos servers.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Local User Database	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the Local User Database settings described below.	Yes	No	Yes
Users	Controls access to the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> node or set up a local database on the firewall to store authentication information for remote access users, device administrators, and captive portal users. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> information but cannot set up a local database on the firewall to store authentication information.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
User Groups	Controls access to the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> node or be able to add user group information to the local database. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Local User Database &gt; Users</b> information but cannot add user group information to the local database.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Authentication Profile	Controls access to the <b>Authentication Profile</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Authentication Profile</b> node or be able to create or edit authentication profiles that specify local database, RADIUS, LDAP, or Kerberos settings that can be assigned to administrator accounts. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Authentication Profile</b> information but cannot create or edit an authentication profile.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Authentication Sequence	Controls access to the <b>Authentication Sequence</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Authentication Sequence</b> node or be able to create or edit an authentication sequence. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Authentication Profile</b> information but cannot create or edit an authentication sequence.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Access Domain	Controls access to the <b>Access Domain</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Access Domain</b> node or be able to create or edit an access domain. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Access Domain</b> information but cannot create or edit an access domain.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Scheduled Log Export	Controls access to the <b>Scheduled Log Export</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Scheduled Log Export</b> node or be able schedule exports of logs and save them to a File Transfer Protocol (FTP) server in CSV format or use Secure Copy (SCP) to securely transfer data between the device and a remote host. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Scheduled Log Export Profile</b> information but cannot schedule the export of logs.	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Software	Controls access to the <b>Software</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Software</b> node or view the latest versions of the PAN-OS software available from Palo Alto Networks, read the release notes for each version, and select a release to download and install. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Software</b> information but cannot download or install software.	Yes	Yes	Yes
GlobalProtect Client	Controls access to the <b>GlobalProtect Client</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>GlobalProtect Client</b> node or view available GlobalProtect releases, download the code or activate the GlobalProtect agent. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the available <b>GlobalProtect Client</b> releases but cannot download or install the agent software.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Dynamic Updates	Controls access to the <b>Dynamic Updates</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Dynamic Updates</b> node or be able to view the latest updates, read the release notes for each update, or select an update to upload and install. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the available <b>Dynamic Updates</b> releases, read the release notes but cannot upload or install the software.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Licenses	Controls access to the <b>Licenses</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Licenses</b> node or be able to view the licenses installed or activate licenses. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the installed <b>Licenses</b> , but cannot perform license management functions.	Yes	Yes	Yes
Support	Controls access to the <b>Support</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Support</b> node or be able to access product and security alerts from Palo Alto Networks or generate tech support or stats dump files. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Support</b> node and access product and security alerts but cannot generate tech support or stats dump files.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Master Key and Diagnostics	Controls access to the <b>Master Key and Diagnostics</b> node. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Master Key and Diagnostics</b> node or be able to specify a master key to encrypt private keys on the firewall.	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the <b>Master Key and Diagnostics</b> node and view information about master keys that have been specified but cannot add or edit a new master key configuration.			

## Define User Privacy Settings in the Admin Role Profile

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Privacy	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the privacy settings described below.	Yes	N/A	Yes
Show Full IP addresses	When set to disable, full IP addresses obtained by traffic running through the Palo Alto firewall are not shown in logs or reports. In place of the IP addresses that are normally displayed, the relevant subnet is displayed.	Yes	N/A	Yes
	Scheduled reports that are displayed in the interface through <b>Monitor &gt; Reports</b> and reports that are sent via scheduled emails will still display full IP addresses. Because of this exception, we recommend that the following settings within the <b>Monitor</b> tab be set to disable: Custom Reports, Application Reports, Threat Reports, URL Filtering Reports, Traffic Reports and Email Scheduler.			
Show User Names in Logs and Reports	When set to disable, user names obtained by traffic running through the Palo Alto Networks firewall are not shown in logs or reports. Columns where the user names would normally be displayed are empty.	Yes	N/A	Yes
	Scheduled reports that are displayed in the interface through <b>Monitor &gt; Reports</b> or reports that are sent via the email scheduler will still display user names. Because of this exception, we recommend that the following settings within the Monitor tab be set to disable: Custom Reports, Application Reports, Threat Reports, URL Filtering Reports, Traffic Reports and Email Scheduler.			

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
View Pcap Files	When set to disable, packet capture files that are normally available within the Traffic, Threat and Data Filtering logs are not displayed.	Yes	N/A	Yes

#### **Restrict Admin Access to Commit Functions**

#### Restrict User Access Using the Commit Setting

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Commit	When set to disable, an admin cannot commit any changes to a configuration.	Yes	N/A	Yes

#### Provide Granular Access to Global Settings

#### Restrict User Access Using the Global Settings

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Global	Sets the default state to enable or disable for all of the global settings described below. In effect, this setting is only for System Alarms at this time.	Yes	N/A	Yes
System Alarms	When set to disable, an admin cannot view or acknowledge alarms that are generated.	Yes	N/A	Yes

#### Provide Granular Access to the Panorama Tab

The following table lists the **Panorama** tab access levels and the custom Panorama administrator roles for which they are available. Firewall administrators cannot access any of these privileges.

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Setup	Specifies whether the administrator can view or edit Panorama setup information, such as <b>Management</b> , <b>Operations</b> , <b>Services</b> , <b>WildFire</b> , or <b>HSM</b> . If you set the privilege to read only, the administrator can see the information but cannot edit it. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or edit the information.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Templates	Specifies whether the administrator can view, edit, add, or delete templates. If you set the privilege to read only, the administrator can see template configurations but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage template configurations.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: Y <b>es</b>	Yes (No for Device Group and Templat e admins)	Yes	Yes
Config Audit	Specifies whether the administrator can run Panorama configuration audits. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot run Panorama configuration audits.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Managed Devices	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, tag, or delete firewalls as managed devices, and install software or content updates on them. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see managed firewalls but cannot add, delete, tag, or install updates on them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot view, add, edit, tag, delete, or install updates on managed firewalls. This privilege applies only to the <b>Panorama &gt; Managed Devices</b> page. An administrator with Device Deployment privileges can still use the <b>Panorama &gt; Device</b> Deployment pages to install updates on managed firewalls.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes (No for Device Group and Templat e roles)	Yes	Yes
Device Groups	Specifies whether the administrator can view, edit, add, or delete device groups. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see device group configurations but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage device group configurations.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes (No for Device Group and Templat e roles)	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Managed Collectors	Specifies whether the administrator can view, edit, add, or delete Managed Collectors. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see Managed Collector configurations but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot view, edit, add, or delete Managed Collector configurations. This privilege applies only to the <b>Panorama &gt; Managed Collectors</b> page. An administrator with Device Deployment privileges can still use the <b>Panorama &gt; Device</b> Deployment pages to install updates on Log Collectors.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Collector Groups	Specifies whether the administrator can view, edit, add, or delete Collector Groups. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see Collector Groups but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Collector Groups.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Admin Roles	Specifies whether the administrator can view Panorama administrator roles. You cannot enable full access to this function: just read only access. (Only Panorama administrators with a dynamic role can add, edit, or delete custom Panorama roles.) With read only access, the administrator can see Panorama administrator role configurations but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama administrator roles.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	No	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Administrators	Specifies whether the administrator can view Panorama administrator account details. You cannot enable full access to this function: just read only access. (Only Panorama administrators with a dynamic role can add, edit, or delete Panorama administrators.) With read only access, the administrator can see information about his or her own account but no other Panorama administrator accounts. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see information about any Panorama administrator account, including his or her own.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	No	Yes	Yes
High Availability	Specifies whether the administrator can view and manage high availability (HA) settings for the Panorama management server. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view HA configuration information for the Panorama management server but cannot manage the configuration. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage HA configuration settings for the Panorama management server.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
VMware Service Manager	Specifies whether the administrator can view and edit VMware Service Manager settings. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the settings but cannot perform any related configuration or operational procedures. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see the settings or perform any related configuration or operational procedures.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Certificate Management	Sets the default state, enabled or disabled, for all of the Panorama certificate management privileges.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Certificates	Specifies whether the administrator can view, edit, generate, delete, revoke, renew, or export certificates. This privilege also specifies whether the administrator can import or export HA keys.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see Panorama certificates but cannot manage the certificates or HA keys.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama certificates or HA keys.				
Certificate Profile	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, delete or clone Panorama certificate profiles.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see Panorama certificate profiles but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama certificate profiles.				
Log Settings	Sets the default state, enabled or disabled, for all the log setting privileges.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
System	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of system logs to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers). If you set this privilege to read only, the	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	administrator can see the system log forwarding settings but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.				
	On a Panorama M-100 appliance, this privilege pertains only to system logs that Panorama generates for itself. On a Panorama virtual appliance, this privilege applies to system logs that Panorama generates and to system logs that Panorama collects from firewalls.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Config	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of configuration logs to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers). If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the configuration log forwarding settings but cannot manage them	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.				
	On a Panorama M-100 appliance, this privilege pertains only to configuration logs that Panorama generates for itself. On a Panorama virtual appliance, this privilege applies to configuration logs that Panorama generates and to configuration logs that Panorama collects from firewalls.				
HIP Match	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of HIP match logs from a Panorama virtual appliance to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers).	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	The <b>Panorama &gt; Collector Groups</b> page controls the forwarding of HIP match logs from a Panorama M-100 appliance. The <b>Device &gt; Log</b> <b>Settings &gt; HIP Match</b> page controls the forwarding of HIP match logs directly from firewalls to external services (without aggregation on Panorama).				
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the forwarding settings of HIP match logs but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Traffic	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of traffic logs from a Panorama virtual appliance to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers).	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	The <b>Panorama &gt; Collector Groups</b> page controls the forwarding of traffic logs from a Panorama M-100 appliance. The <b>Objects &gt; Log</b> <b>Forwarding</b> page controls the forwarding of traffic logs directly from firewalls to external services (without aggregation on Panorama).				
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the forwarding settings of traffic logs but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.				
Threat	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of threat logs from a Panorama virtual appliance to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers).	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	The <b>Panorama &gt; Collector Groups</b> page controls the forwarding of threat logs from a Panorama M-100 appliance. The <b>Objects &gt; Log</b> <b>Forwarding</b> page controls the forwarding of threat logs directly from firewalls to external services (without aggregation on Panorama).				
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the forwarding settings of threat logs but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Wildfire	<ul> <li>Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the settings that control the forwarding of WildFire logs from a Panorama virtual appliance to external services (Syslog, email, or SNMP trap servers).</li> <li>The Panorama &gt; Collector Groups page controls the forwarding of WildFire logs from a Panorama M-100 appliance. The Objects &gt; Log Forwarding page controls the forwarding of WildFire logs directly from firewalls to external services (without aggregation on Panorama).</li> <li>If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the forwarding settings of WildFire logs but cannot manage them.</li> <li>If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the settings.</li> </ul>	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Server Profiles	Sets the default state, enabled or disabled, for all the server profile privileges. These privileges pertain only to the server profiles that are used for forwarding logs that Panorama generates or collects from firewalls and the server profiles that are used for authenticating Panorama administrators. The <b>Device</b> > <b>Server Profiles</b> pages control the server profiles that are used for forwarding logs directly from firewalls to external services (without aggregation on Panorama) and for authenticating firewall administrators.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
SNMP Trap	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure SNMP trap server profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see SNMP trap server profiles but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage SNMP trap server profiles.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Syslog	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure Syslog server profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see Syslog server profiles but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Syslog server profiles.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Email	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure email server profiles. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see email server profiles but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage email server profiles.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
RADIUS	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the RADIUS server profiles that are used to authenticate Panorama administrators. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the RADIUS server profiles but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the RADIUS server profiles.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
LDAP	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the LDAP server profiles that are used to authenticate Panorama administrators. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the LDAP server profiles but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the LDAP server profiles.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Kerberos	Specifies whether the administrator can see and configure the Kerberos server profiles that are used to authenticate Panorama administrators.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see the Kerberos server profiles but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the Kerberos server profiles.				
Authentication Profile	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, delete, or clone authentication profiles for Panorama administrators.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Panorama authentication profiles but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama authentication profiles.				
Authentication Sequence	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, delete, or clone authentication sequences for Panorama administrators.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Panorama authentication sequences but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama authentication sequences.				
Access Domain	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, delete, or clone access domains for Panorama administrators.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Panorama access domains but cannot manage them.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage Panorama access domains.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Scheduled Config Export	Specifies whether the administrator can view, add, edit, delete, or clone scheduled Panorama configuration exports. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the scheduled exports but cannot manage them. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or manage the scheduled exports.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	No	Yes
Software	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about Panorama software updates; download, upload, or install the updates; and view the associated release notes. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view information about Panorama software updates and view the associated release notes but cannot perform any related operations. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see Panorama software updates, see the associated release notes, or perform any related operations. This privilege pertains only to software installed on a Panorama management server. The <b>Panorama</b> > <b>Device Deployment &gt; Software</b> page controls access to PAN-OS software deployed on firewalls and Panorama software deployed on dedicated Log Collectors.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Dynamic Updates	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about Panorama content updates (for example, WildFire updates); download, upload, install, or revert the updates; and view the associated release notes. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view information about Panorama content updates and view the associated release notes but cannot perform any related operations.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see Panorama content updates, see the associated release notes, or perform any related operations. This privilege pertains only to content updates installed on a Panorama management server. The <b>Panorama &gt; Device Deployment &gt;</b> <b>Dynamic Updates</b> page controls access to content updates deployed on firewalls and dedicated Log Collectors.				
Support	Specifies whether the administrator can: view Panorama support license information, product alerts, and security alerts; activate a support license, generate Tech Support files, and manage cases If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view Panorama support information, product alerts, and security alerts, but cannot activate a support license, generate Tech Support files, or manage cases.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot: see Panorama support information, product alerts, or security alerts; activate a support license, generate Tech Support files, or manage cases.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Device Deployment	Sets the default state, enabled or disabled, for all the device deployment privileges. These privilege pertain only to software and content updates that Panorama administrators deploy on firewalls and dedicated Log Collectors. The <b>Panorama &gt;</b> <b>Software</b> and <b>Panorama &gt;</b> <b>Dynamic Updates</b> pages control the software and content updates installed on a Panorama management server.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Software	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about the software updates installed on firewalls and Log Collectors; download, upload, or install the updates; and view the associated release notes. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see information about the software updates and view the associated release notes but cannot deploy the updates to firewalls or dedicated Log Collectors. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see information about the software updates, see the associated release notes, or deploy the updates to firewalls or dedicated Log Collectors.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
SSL VPN Client	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about SSL VPN client software updates on firewalls; download, upload, or activate the updates; and view the associated release notes. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see information about SSL VPN client software updates and view the associated release notes but cannot activate the updates on firewalls. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see information about SSL VPN client software updates, see the associated release notes, or activate the updates on firewalls.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
GlobalProtect Client	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about GlobalProtect client software updates on firewalls; download, upload, or activate the updates; and view the associated release notes.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see information about GlobalProtect client software updates and view the associated release notes but cannot activate the updates on firewalls.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see information about GlobalProtect client software updates, see the associated release notes, or activate the updates on firewalls.				
Dynamic Updates	Specifies whether the administrator can: view information about the content updates (for example, Applications updates) installed on firewalls and dedicated Log Collectors; download, upload, or install the updates; and view the associated release notes.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: Y <b>es</b>	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can see information about the content updates and view the associated release notes but cannot deploy the updates to firewalls or dedicated Log Collectors.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see information about the content updates, see the associated release notes, or deploy the updates to firewalls or dedicated Log Collectors.				
Licenses	Specifies whether the administrator can view, refresh, and activate firewall licenses.	Panorama: Yes Device Group/Template: Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view firewall licenses but cannot refresh or activate those licenses.				
	If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot view, refresh, or activate firewall licenses.				

Access Level	Description	Admin Role Availability	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Master Key and Diagnostics	Specifies whether the administrator can view and configure a master key by which to encrypt private keys on Panorama. If you set this privilege to read only, the administrator can view the Panorama master key configuration but cannot change it. If you disable this privilege, the administrator cannot see or edit the Panorama master key configuration.	Panorama: Y <b>es</b> Device Group/Template: No	Yes	Yes	Yes

# Panorama Web Interface Access

The custom Panorama administrator roles allow you to define access to the options on Panorama and the ability to only allow access to Device Groups and Templates (**Policies, Objects, Network, Device** tabs).

The admin roles you can create are **Panorama** and **Device Group and Template**. You cannot assign CLI access privileges to a **Device Group and Template** admin role. If you assign superuser privileges for the CLI to a **Panorama** admin role, administrators with that role can access all features regardless of the web interface privileges you assign.

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Dashboard	Controls access to the <b>Dashboard</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the tab and will not have access to any of the Dashboard widgets.	Yes	No	Yes
ACC	Controls access to the Application Command Center (ACC). If you disable this privilege, the <b>ACC</b> tab will not display in the web interface. Keep in mind that if you want to protect the privacy of your users while still providing access to the ACC, you can disable the <b>Privacy &gt; Show Full Ip Addresses</b> option and/or the <b>Show User Names In Logs And Reports</b> option.	Yes	No	Yes
Monitor	Controls access to the <b>Monitor</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Monitor</b> tab and will not have access to any of the logs, packet captures, session information, reports or to App Scope. For more granular control over what monitoring information the admin can see, leave the Monitor option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Monitor Tab.	Yes	No	Yes

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Policies	Controls access to the <b>Policies</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Policies</b> tab and will not have access to any policy information. For more granular control over what policy information the admin can see, for example to enable access to a specific type of policy or to enable read-only access to policy information, leave the <b>Policies</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Policy Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
Objects	Controls access to the <b>Objects</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Objects</b> tab and will not have access to any objects, security profiles, log forwarding profiles, decryption profiles, or schedules. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Objects</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Objects Tab.	Yes	Νο	Yes
Network	Controls access to the <b>Network</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Network</b> tab and will not have access to any interface, zone, VLAN, virtual wire, virtual router, IPsec tunnel, DHCP, DNS Proxy, GlobalProtect, or QoS configuration information or to the network profiles. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Network</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Network Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
Device	Controls access to the <b>Device</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Device</b> tab and will not have access to any device-wide configuration information, such as User-ID, High Availability, server profile or certificate configuration information. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Device</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Device Tab.	Yes	No	Yes
	You cannot enable access to the <b>Admin Roles</b> or <b>Administrators</b> nodes for a role-based administrator even if you enable full access to the <b>Device</b> tab.			

Access Level	Description	Enable	Read Only	Disable
Panorama	Controls access to the <b>Panorama</b> tab. If you disable this privilege, the administrator will not see the <b>Panorama</b> tab and will not have access to any Panorama-wide configuration information, such as Managed Devices, Managed Collectors, or Collector Groups. For more granular control over what objects the admin can see, leave the <b>Panorama</b> option enabled and then enable or disable specific nodes on the tab as described in Provide Granular Access to the Panorama Tab.	Yes	No	Yes

# Reference: Port Numbers Used by Palo Alto Networks Devices

The following tables list the ports that Palo Alto Networks devices use to communicate with each other, or with other services on the network.

- Ports Used for Management Functions
- Ports Used for HA
- ▲ Ports Used for Panorama
- ▲ Ports Used for User-ID

## Ports Used for Management Functions

Destination Port	Protocol	Description
22	TCP	Used for communication from a client system to the firewall CLI interface.
80	ТСР	The port the firewall listens on for Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) updates when acting as an OCSP responder.
123	UDP	Port the firewall uses for NTP updates.
443	ТСР	Used for communication from a client system to the firewall web interface. This is also the port the firewall and/or the User-ID agent listens on for VM Information source updates. For monitoring an AWS environment, this is the only port that is used. For monitoring a VMware vCenter/ESXi environment, the listening port defaults to 443, but it is configurable.
162	UDP	Port the firewall, Panorama, or the log collector use to send SNMP traps to a SNMP trap receiver. This port does not need to be open on the Palo Alto Networks device. The SNMP trap receiver must be configured to listen on this port.
161	UDP	Port the firewall listens on for SNMP polling requests from the NMS.
514	TCP	Port the firewall, Panorama, or the log collector use to send logs to a Syslog server
514	UDP	and the ports the User-ID agent (on the firewall or on a Windows server) listens on for authentication Syslog messages for use with User-ID.
6514	SSL	
2055	UDP	Default port the firewall uses to send NetFlow records, but this is configurable.
5008	ТСР	Port the GlobalProtect Mobile Security Manager listens on for HIP requests from the GlobalProtect gateways.
		If you are using a third-party MDM system, you can configure the gateway to use a different port as required by the MDM vendor.
Destination Port	Protocol	Description
---------------------	----------	--------------------------------
6081	TCP	Ports used for Captive Portal.
6082	TCP	

### Ports Used for HA

Firewalls configured as High Availability (HA) peers must be able to communicate with each other to maintain state information (HA1 control link) and synchronize data (HA2 data link). In Active/Active HA deployments the peer firewalls must also forward packets to the HA peer that owns the session. The HA3 link is a Layer 2 (MAC-in-MAC) link and it does not support Layer 3 addressing or encryption.

Destination Port	Protocol	Description	
28769	TCP	Used for the HA1 control link for clear text communication between the HA peer	
28260	TCP	firewalls. The HAT link is a Layer 3 link and requires an IP address.	
28	ТСР	Used for the HA1 control link for encrypted communication (SSH over TCP) between the HA peer firewalls.	
28770	TCP	Listening port for HA1 backup links.	
28771	ТСР	Used for heartbeat backups. Palo Alto Networks recommends enabling heartbeat backup on the MGT interface if you use an in-band port for the HA1 or the HA1 backup links.	
99 29281	IP UDP	Used for the HA2 link to synchronize sessions, forwarding tables, IPSec security associations and ARP tables between firewalls in an HA pair. Data flow on the HA2 link is always unidirectional (except for the HA2 keep-alive); it flows from the active device (Active/Passive) or active-primary (Active/Active) to the passive device (Active/Passive) or active-secondary (Active/Active). The HA2 link is a Layer 2 link, and it uses ether type 0x7261 by default. The HA data link can also be configured to use either IP (protocol number 99) or	
		UDP (port 29281) as the transport, and thereby allow the HA data link to span subnets.	

## Ports Used for Panorama

Destination Port	Protocol	Description	
22	ТСР	Used for communication from a client system to the Panorama CLI interface.	
443	ТСР	Used for communication from a client system to the Panorama web interface.	
3978	ТСР	Used for communication between Panorama and managed devices and/or managed log collectors as well as for communication between log collectors in a collector group as follows:	
		• For communication between Panorama and managed devices, this is a bi-directional connection on which the managed firewalls forward logs to Panorama and for Panorama to push configuration changes to the managed devices. Context switching commands are sent over the same connection.	
		• Log collectors use this destination port to forward logs to Panorama.	
		• For communication between the default log collector on a Panorama in Panorama mode, and for communicating with log collectors in a DLC architecture mode.	
28769 (5.1 and later)	ТСР	Used for the HA connectivity and synchronization between Panorama HA peers	
28260 (5.0 and later)	ТСР	using clear text communication. Communication can be initiated by either peer.	
49160 (5.0 and earlier)	ТСР		
28	ТСР	Used for the HA connectivity and synchronization between Panorama HA peers using encrypted communication (SSH over TCP). Communication can be initiated by either peer.	
28270 (6.0 and later)	ТСР	Used for communication between log collectors in a collector group for log	
49190 (5.1 and earlier)		distribution.	
2049	ТСР	Used by the Panorama virtual appliance to write logs to the NFS datastore.	

## Ports Used for User-ID

User-ID is a feature that enables mapping of user IP addresses to usernames and group memberships, enabling user- or group-based policy and visibility into user activity on your network (for example, to be able to quickly track down a user who may be the victim of a threat). To perform this mapping, the firewall, the User-ID agent (either installed on a Windows-based system or the PAN-OS integrated agent running on the firewall), and/or the Terminal Services agent must be able to connect to directory services on your network to perform Group Mapping and User Mapping. Additionally, if the agents are running on systems external to the firewall, they must be able to connect to the firewall to communicate the IP address to username mappings to the firewall. The following table lists the communication requirements for User-ID along with the port numbers required to establish connections.

Destination Port	Protocol	Description	
389	ТСР	Port the firewall uses to connect to the LDAP server (plaintext or StartTLS) in order to Map Users to Groups.	
636	ТСР	Port the firewall uses to connect to the LDAP server (LDAP over SSL) in order to Map Users to Groups. Used for LDAP over SSL connections.	
514 514 6514	TCP UDP SSL	Ports the User-ID agent (on the firewall or on a Windows server) listens on for authentication Syslog messages for use with User-ID.	
5007	ТСР	Port the firewall listens on for user mapping information from the User-ID or Terminal Server agent. The agent sends the IP address and username mapping along with a timestamp whenever it learns of a new or updated mapping. In addition, it connects to the firewall at regular intervals to refresh known mappings	
5006	ТСР	Port the User-ID agent listens on for User-ID XML API requests. The source for this communication is typically the system running a script that invokes the API.	
88	UDP	Port the User-ID agent uses to authenticate to a Kerberos server.	
1812	UDP	Port the User-ID agent uses to authenticate to a RADIUS server.	
135	ТСР	Port the User-ID agent uses to establish TCP-based WMI connections with the Microsoft Remote Procedure Call (RPC) Endpoint Mapper. The Endpoint Mapper then assigns the agent a randomly assigned port in the 49152-65535 port range. The agent uses this connection to make RPC queries for Exchange Server or AD server security logs, session tables. This is also the port used to access Terminal Services.	
		The User-ID agent also uses this port to connect to client systems to perform WMI probes.	
139	ТСР	Port the User-ID agent uses to establish TCP-based NetBIOS connections to the AD server so that it can send RPC queries for security logs and session information.	
		The User-ID agent also uses this port to connect to client systems for NetBIOS probing (supported on the Windows-based User-ID agent only).	
445	ТСР	Port the User-ID agent uses to connect to the Active Directory (AD) using TCP-based SMB connections to the AD server for access to user logon information (print spooler and Net Logon).	

## Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings

Resetting the firewall to factory defaults will result in the loss of all configuration settings and logs.

Reset t	Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings			
Step 1	Set up a console connection to the firewall.	1.	Connect a serial cable from your computer to the Console port and connect to the firewall using terminal emulation software (9600-8-N-1).	
			USB-to-serial port connector.	
		2.	Enter your login credentials.	
		3.	Enter the following CLI command:	
			debug system maintenance-mode	
			The firewall will reboot in the maintenance mode.	
Step 2	Reset the system to factory default settings.	1.	When the device reboots, press Enter to continue to the maintenance mode menu.	
			Welcome to the Maintenance Recovery Tool	
			Welcome to maintenance mode. For support please contact Falo Alto Networks.	
			866-898-9087 or support@paloaltonetworks.com	
		< C	Q=Quit, Up/Down=Navigate, ENTER=Select, ESC=Back	
		2	Select Factory Reset and press Enter	
		3.	Select Factory Reset and press Enter again.	
			The firewall will reboot without any configuration settings. The default username and password to log in to the firewall is admin/admin.	
			To perform initial configuration on the firewall and to set up network connectivity, see Integrate the Firewall into Your Management Network.	

# **Certificate Management**

The following topics describe the different keys and certificates that Palo Alto Networks devices use, and how to obtain and manage them:

- ▲ Keys and Certificates
- ▲ Certificate Revocation
- ▲ Certificate Deployment
- ▲ Set Up Verification for Certificate Revocation Status
- ▲ Configure the Master Key
- ▲ Obtain Certificates
- ▲ Configure a Certificate Profile
- ▲ Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates
- ▲ Revoke and Renew Certificates
- ▲ Secure Keys with a Hardware Security Module

## **Keys and Certificates**

To ensure trust between parties in a secure communication session, Palo Alto Networks devices use digital certificates. Each certificate contains a cryptographic key to encrypt plaintext or decrypt cyphertext. Each certificate also includes a digital signature to authenticate the identity of the issuer. The issuer must be in the list of trusted certificate authorities (CAs) of the authenticating party. Optionally, the authenticating party verifies the issuer did not revoke the certificate (see Certificate Revocation).

Palo Alto Networks devices use certificates in the following applications:

- User authentication for Captive Portal, GlobalProtect, Mobile Security Manager, and firewall/Panorama web interface access.
- Device authentication for GlobalProtect VPN (remote user-to-site or large scale).
- Device authentication for IPSec site-to-site VPN with Internet Key Exchange (IKE).
- Decrypting inbound and outbound SSL traffic. A firewall decrypts the traffic to apply security policies and rules, then re-encrypts it before forwarding the traffic to the final destination. For outbound traffic, the firewall acts as a forward proxy server, establishing an SSL/TLS connection to the destination server. To secure a connection between itself and the client, the firewall uses a *signing certificate* to automatically generate a copy of the destination server certificate.

The following table describes the keys and certificates that Palo Alto Networks devices use. As a best practice, use different keys/certificates for each usage.

Key/Certificate Usage	Description
Administrative Access	Secure access to device administration interfaces (HTTPS access to the web interface) requires a server certificate for the MGT interface (or a designated interface on the dataplane if the device does not use MGT) and, optionally, a certificate to authenticate the administrator.
Captive Portal	In deployments where Captive Portal identifies users who access HTTPS resources, designate a server certificate for the Captive Portal interface. If you configure Captive Portal to use certificates (instead of, or in addition to, username/password credentials) for user identification, designate a user certificate also. For more information on Captive Portal, see Map IP Addresses to User Names Using Captive Portal.
Forward Trust	For outbound SSL/TLS traffic, if a firewall acting as a forward proxy trusts the CA that signed the certificate of the destination server, the firewall uses the forward trust CA certificate to generate a copy of the destination server certificate to present to the client. To set the key size, see Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates. For added security, store the key on a hardware security module (for details, see Secure Keys with a Hardware Security Module).
Forward Untrust	For outbound SSL/TLS traffic, if a firewall acting as a forward proxy does not trust the CA that signed the certificate of the destination server, the firewall uses the forward untrust CA certificate to generate a copy of the destination server certificate to present to the client.

### Table: Palo Alto Networks Device Keys/Certificates

Key/Certificate Usage	Description	
SSL Inbound Inspection	The keys that decrypt inbound SSL/TLS traffic for inspection and policy enforcement. For this application, import onto the firewall a private key for each server that is subject to SSL/TLS inbound inspection. See Configure SSL Inbound Inspection.	
SSL Exclude Certificate	Certificates for servers to exclude from SSL/TLS decryption. For example, if you enable SSL decryption but your network includes servers for which the firewall should not decrypt traffic (for example, web services for your HR systems), import the corresponding certificates onto the firewall and configure them as SSL Exclude Certificates. See Configure Decryption Exceptions.	
GlobalProtect	All interaction among GlobalProtect components occurs over SSL/TLS connections. Therefore, as part of the GlobalProtect deployment, deploy server certificates for all GlobalProtect portals, gateways, and Mobile Security Managers. Optionally, deploy certificates for authenticating users also.	
	Note that the GlobalProtect Large Scale VPN (LSVPN) feature requires a CA signing certificate.	
Site-to-Site VPNs (IKE)	In a site-to-site IPSec VPN deployment, peer devices use Internet Key Exchange (IKE) gateways to establish a secure channel. IKE gateways use certificates or preshared keys to authenticate the peers to each other. You configure and assign the certificates or keys when defining an IKE gateway on a firewall. See Site-to-Site VPN Overview.	
Master Key	The firewall uses a master key to encrypt all private keys and passwords. If your network requires a secure location for storing private keys, you can use an encryption (wrapping) key stored on a hardware security module (HSM) to encrypt the master key. For details, see Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM.	
Secure Syslog	The certificate to enable secure connections between the firewall and a syslog server. See Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server.	
Trusted Root CA	The designation for a root certificate issued by a CA that the firewall trusts. The firewall can use a self-signed root CA certificate to automatically issue certificates for other applications (for example, SSL Forward Proxy).	
	Also, if a firewall must establish secure connections with other firewalls, the root CA that issues their certificates must be in the list of trusted root CAs on the firewall.	

## **Certificate Revocation**

Palo Alto Networks devices use digital certificates to ensure trust between parties in a secure communication session. Configuring a device to check the revocation status of certificates provides additional security. A party that presents a revoked certificate is not trustworthy. When a certificate is part of a chain, the device checks the status of every certificate in the chain except the root CA certificate, for which the device cannot verify revocation status.

Various circumstances can invalidate a certificate before the expiration date. Some examples are a change of name, change of association between subject and certificate authority (for example, an employee terminates employment), and compromise (known or suspected) of the private key. Under such circumstances, the certificate authority that issued the certificate must revoke it.

Palo Alto Networks devices support the following methods for verifying certificate revocation status. If you configure both, the devices first try the OCSP method; if the OCSP server is unavailable, the devices use the CRL method.

- ▲ Certificate Revocation List (CRL)
- ▲ Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP)



In PAN-OS, certificate revocation status verification is an optional feature. It is a best practice to enable it for certificate profiles, which define user and device authentication for Captive Portal, GlobalProtect, site-to-site IPsec VPN, and firewall/Panorama web interface access.

### Certificate Revocation List (CRL)

Each certificate authority (CA) periodically issues a certificate revocation list (CRL) to a public repository. The CRL identifies revoked certificates by serial number. After the CA revokes a certificate, the next CRL update will include the serial number of that certificate.

The Palo Alto Networks firewall downloads and caches the last-issued CRL for every CA listed in the trusted CA list of the firewall. Caching only applies to validated certificates; if a firewall never validated a certificate, the firewall cache does not store the CRL for the issuing CA. Also, the cache only stores a CRL until it expires.

The firewall supports CRLs only in Distinguished Encoding Rules (DER) format. If the firewall downloads a CRL in any other format—for example, Privacy Enhanced Mail (PEM) format—any revocation verification process that uses that CRL will fail when a user performs an activity that triggers the process (for example, sending outbound SSL data). The firewall will generate a system log for the verification failure. If the verification was for an SSL certificate, the firewall will also display the SSL Certificate Errors Notify response page to the user.

To use CRLs for verifying the revocation status of certificates used for the decryption of inbound and outbound SSL/TLS traffic, see Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption.

To use CRLs for verifying the revocation status of certificates that authenticate users and devices, configure a certificate profile and assign it to the interfaces that are specific to the application: Captive Portal, GlobalProtect (remote user-to-site or large scale), site-to-site IPSec VPN, or firewall/Panorama web interface access. For details, see Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication.

## Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP)

When establishing an SSL/TLS session, clients can use Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) to check the revocation status of the authentication certificate. The authenticating client sends a request containing the serial number of the certificate to the OCSP responder (server). The responder searches the database of the certificate authority (CA) that issued the certificate and returns a response containing the status (*good, revoked* or *unknown*) to the client. The advantage of the OCSP method is that it can verify status in real-time, instead of depending on the issue frequency (hourly, daily, or weekly) of CRLs.

The Palo Alto Networks firewall downloads and caches OCSP status information for every CA listed in the trusted CA list of the firewall. Caching only applies to validated certificates; if a firewall never validated a certificate, the firewall cache does not store the OCSP information for the issuing CA. If your enterprise has its own public key infrastructure (PKI), you can configure the firewall as an OCSP responder (see Configure an OCSP Responder).

To use OCSP for verifying the revocation status of certificates when the firewall functions as an SSL forward proxy, perform the steps under Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption.

The following applications use certificates to authenticate users and/or devices: Captive Portal, GlobalProtect (remote user-to-site or large scale), site-to-site IPSec VPN, and firewall/Panorama web interface access. To use OCSP for verifying the revocation status of the certificates:

- Configure an OCSP responder.
- Enable the HTTP OCSP service on the firewall.
- Create or obtain a certificate for each application.
- Configure a certificate profile for each application.
- Assign the certificate profile to the relevant application.

To cover situations where the OCSP responder is unavailable, configure CRL as a fall-back method. For details, see Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication.

## **Certificate Deployment**

The basic approaches to deploy certificates for Palo Alto Networks devices are:

- Obtain certificates from a trusted third-party CA—The benefit of obtaining a certificate from a trusted third-party certificate authority (CA) such as VeriSign or GoDaddy is that end clients will already trust the certificate because common browsers include root CA certificates from well-known CAs in their trusted root certificate stores. Therefore, for applications that require end clients to establish secure connections with a Palo Alto Network device, purchase a certificate from a CA that the end clients trust to avoid having to pre-deploy root CA certificates to the end clients. (Some such applications are a GlobalProtect portal or GlobalProtect Mobile Security Manager.) However, note that most third-party CAs cannot issue signing certificates. Therefore, this type of certificate is not appropriate for applications (for example, SSL/TLS decryption and large-scale VPN) that require the firewall to issue certificates. See Obtain a Certificate from an External CA.
- Obtain certificates from an enterprise CA—Enterprises that have their own internal CA can use it to issue certificates for firewall applications and import them onto the firewall. The benefit is that end clients probably already trust the enterprise CA. You can either generate the needed certificates and import them onto the firewall, or generate a certificate signing request (CSR) on the firewall and send it to the enterprise CA for signing. The benefit of this method is that the private key does not leave the firewall. An enterprise CA can also issue a signing certificate, which the firewall uses to automatically generate certificates (for example, for GlobalProtect large-scale VPN or sites requiring SSL/TLS decryption). See Import a Certificate and Private Key.
- Generate self-signed certificates—You can Create a Self-Signed Root CA Certificate on the firewall and use it to automatically issue certificates for other firewall applications. Note that if you use this method to generate certificates for an application that requires an end client to trust the certificate, end users will see a certificate error because the root CA certificate is not in their trusted root certificate store. To prevent this, deploy the self-signed root CA certificate to all end user systems. You can deploy the certificates manually or use a centralized deployment method such as an Active Directory Group Policy Object (GPO).

## Set Up Verification for Certificate Revocation Status

To verify the revocation status of certificates, the firewall uses Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) and/or certificate revocation lists (CRLs). For details on these methods, see Certificate Revocation If you configure both methods, the firewall first tries OCSP and only falls back to the CRL method if the OCSP responder is unavailable. If your enterprise has its own public key infrastructure (PKI), you can configure the firewall to function as the OCSP responder.

The following topics describe how to configure the firewall to verify certificate revocation status:

- ▲ Configure an OCSP Responder
- ▲ Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication
- ▲ Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption

### Configure an OCSP Responder

To use Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) for verifying the revocation status of certificates, you must configure the firewall to access an OCSP responder (server). The entity that manages the OCSP responder can be a third-party certificate authority (CA) or, if your enterprise has its own public key infrastructure (PKI), the firewall itself. For details on OCSP, see Certificate Revocation

Configure	an OCSP Responder		
Step 1 D	Define an OCSP responder.	1.	In a firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; OCSP</b> <b>Responder</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
			In Panorama, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; OCSP</b> <b>Responder</b> , select a <b>Template</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> to identify the responder (up to 31 characters). The name is case-sensitive. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, spaces, hyphens, and underscores.
		3.	If the firewall supports multiple virtual systems, the dialog displays a <b>Location</b> drop-down. Select the virtual system where the responder will be available or select <b>Shared</b> to enable availability on all the virtual systems.
		4.	In the <b>Host Name</b> field, enter the host name (recommended) or IP address of the OCSP responder. From this value, PAN-OS automatically derives a URL and adds it to the certificate being verified.
			If you configure the firewall itself as an OCSP responder, the host name must resolve to an IP address in the interface that the firewall uses for OCSP services (specified in Step 3).
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> .

Configu	Configure an OCSP Responder			
Step 2	Enable OCSP communication on the firewall.	1. 2.	In a firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management</b> . In Panorama, select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management</b> and select a <b>Template</b> . In the Management Interface Settings section, edit to select the <b>HTTP OCSP</b> check box, then click <b>OK</b> .	
Step 3	Optionally, to configure the firewall itself as an OCSP responder, add an Interface Management Profile to the interface used for OCSP services.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select Network > Network Profiles > Interface Mgmt. Click Add to create a new profile or click the name of an existing profile. Select the HTTP OCSP check box and click OK. Select Network > Interfaces and click the name of the interface that the firewall will use for OCSP services. The OCSP Host Name specified in Step 1 must resolve to an IP address in this interface. Select Advanced > Other info and select the Interface Management Profile you configured. Click OK and Commit.	

## Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication

The firewall uses certificates to authenticate users and devices for such applications as Captive Portal, GlobalProtect, site-to-site IPSec VPN, and firewall/Panorama web interface access. To improve security, it is a best practice to configure the firewall to verify the revocation status of certificates that it uses for device/user authentication.

Config	Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for User/Device Authentication			
Step 1	Configure a Certificate Profile for each application.	Assign one or more root CA certificates to the profile and select how the firewall verifies certificate revocation status. The common name (FQDN or IP address) of a certificate must match an interface to which you apply the profile in Step 2. For details on the certificates that various applications use, see Keys and Certificates		
Step 2	Assign the certificate profiles to the relevant applications.	The steps to assign a certificate profile depend on the application that requires it.		

### Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption

The firewall decrypts inbound and outbound SSL/TLS traffic to apply security policies and rules, then re-encrypts the traffic before forwarding it. (For details, see SSL Inbound Inspection and SSL Forward Proxy.) You can configure the firewall to verify the revocation status of certificates used for decryption as follows.



Enabling revocation status verification for SSL/TLS decryption certificates will add time to the process of establishing the session. The first attempt to access a site might fail if the verification does not finish before the session times out. For these reasons, verification is disabled by default.

Config	Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption			
Step 1	Access the Decryption Certificate Revocation Settings page.	In a firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and, in the Session Features section, select <b>Decryption Certificate Revocation</b> <b>Settings</b> .		
		In Panorama, select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> , select a <b>Template</b> and, in the Session Features section, select <b>Decryption Certificate</b> <b>Revocation Settings</b> .		
Step 2	Define the service-specific timeout intervals for revocation status requests.	<ul> <li>Perform one or both of the following steps, depending on whether the firewall will use Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) or the Certificate Revocation List (CRL) method to verify the revocation status of certificates. If the firewall will use both, it first tries OCSP; if the OCSP responder is unavailable, the firewall then tries the CRL method.</li> <li>1. In the CRL section, select the Enable check box and enter the Receive Timeout. This is the interval (1-60 seconds) after which the firewall stops waiting for a response from the CRL service.</li> </ul>		
		2. In the OCSP section, select the <b>Enable</b> check box and enter the <b>Receive Timeout</b> . This is the interval (1-60 seconds) after which the firewall stops waiting for a response from the OCSP responder.		
		Depending on the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value you specify in Step 3, the firewall might register a timeout before either or both of the <b>Receive Timeout</b> intervals pass.		

Step 3	Define the total timeout interval for revocation status requests.	Enter the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> . This is the interval (1-60 seconds) after which the firewall stops waiting for a response from any certificate status service and applies the session-blocking logic you optionally define in Step 4. The <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> relates to the OCSP/CRL <b>Receive Timeout</b> as follows:
		• If you enable both OCSP and CRL—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value or the aggregate of the two <b>Receive Timeout</b> values.
		<ul> <li>If you enable only OCSP—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the Certificate Status Timeout value or the OCSP Receive Timeout value.</li> </ul>
		• If you enable only CRL—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value or the CRL <b>Receive Timeout</b> value.
Step 4	Define the blocking behavior for <i>unknown</i> certificate status or a revocation status request timeout.	If you want the firewall to block SSL/TLS sessions when the OCSP or CRL service returns a certificate revocation status of <i>unknown</i> , select the <b>Block Session With Unknown Certificate Status</b> check box. Otherwise, the firewall proceeds with the session.
		If you want the firewall to block SSL/TLS sessions after it registers a request timeout, select the <b>Block Session On Certificate Status</b> <b>Check Timeout</b> check box. Otherwise, the firewall proceeds with the session.
Step 5	Save and apply your entries.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

### Configure Revocation Status Verification of Certificates Used for SSL/TLS Decryption (Continued)

## Configure the Master Key

Every firewall and Panorama management server has a default master key that encrypts all the private keys and passwords in the configuration to secure them (such as the private key used for SSL Forward Proxy Decryption).

If you deploy firewalls or Panorama in a high availability (HA) configuration, use the same master key on both HA peers. Otherwise, HA synchronization will not work properly.

If you use Panorama, use the same master key on Panorama and all managed firewalls. Otherwise, Panorama cannot push configurations to the firewalls.



As a best practice, configure a new master key instead of using the default, periodically change the key, and store the key in a safe location. For extra security you can also Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM.

The only way to restore the default master key is to Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings.

#### Configure a Master Key

1. Select **Device > Master Key and Diagnostics** and edit the Master Key settings.

- 2. Enter the Current Master Key if one exists.
- 3. Define a new New Master Key and then Confirm New Master Key. The key must contain exactly 16 characters.
- 4. To specify the master key **Life Time**, enter the number of **Days** and/or **Hours** after which the key will expire.

You must configure a new master key before the current key expires. If the master key expires, the firewall or Panorama automatically reboots in Maintenance mode. You must then Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings.

5. Enter a **Time for Reminder** that specifies the number of **Days** and **Hours** before the master key expires when the firewall generates an expiration alarm. The firewall automatically opens the System Alarms dialog to display the alarm.



To ensure the expiration alarm displays, select **Device > Log Settings**, edit the Alarm Settings, and **Enable Alarms**.

6. (Optional) Select whether to use an **HSM** to encrypt the master key. For details, see Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM.

7. Click **OK** and **Commit**.

## **Obtain Certificates**

- Create a Self-Signed Root CA Certificate
- ▲ Generate a Certificate on the Firewall
- ▲ Import a Certificate and Private Key
- ▲ Obtain a Certificate from an External CA

## Create a Self-Signed Root CA Certificate

A self-signed root certificate authority (CA) certificate is the top-most certificate in a certificate chain. A firewall can use this certificate to automatically issue certificates for other uses. For example, the firewall issues certificates for SSL/TLS decryption and for satellite devices in a GlobalProtect large-scale VPN.

When establishing a secure connection with the firewall, the remote client must trust the root CA that issued the certificate. Otherwise, the client browser will display a warning that the certificate is invalid and might (depending on security settings) block the connection. To prevent this, after generating the self-signed root CA certificate, import it into the client systems.

#### Generate a Self-signed Root CA Certificate

1. In a firewall, select **Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates**.

In Panorama, select **Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates** and select a **Template**.

- 2. If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a **Location** drop-down. Select a virtual system for the certificate. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the shared option described in Step 6.
- 3. Click Generate.
- 4. Enter a **Certificate Name**, such as *GlobalProtect\_CA*. The name is case-sensitive and can have up to 31 characters. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, hyphens, and underscores.
- 5. In the **Common Name** field, enter the FQDN (recommended) or IP address of the interface where you will configure the service that will use this certificate.
- 6. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the **Shared** check box. This check box appears only if the device supports multiple virtual systems.
- 7. Leave the **Signed By** field blank to designate the certificate as self-signed.
- 8. Select the **Certificate Authority** check box.
- 9. Do not select an **OCSP Responder**. Certificate revocation status verification does not apply to root CA certificates.
- 10. Click Generate and Commit.

### Generate a Certificate on the Firewall

The firewall uses certificates to authenticate clients, servers, users and devices in several applications, including SSL/TLS decryption, Captive Portal, GlobalProtect, site-to-site IPSec VPN, and firewall/Panorama web interface access. Generate certificates for each usage. For details on application-specific certificates, see Keys and Certificates

To generate a certificate, you must first create or import a root CA certificate to sign it. For details, see Create a Self-Signed Root CA Certificate or Import a Certificate and Private Key.

To use Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) for verifying certificate revocation status, Configure an OCSP Responder *before* generating the certificate. For details on status verification, see Certificate Revocation

Generate a Certificate on the Firewall

- In a firewall, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
   In Panorama, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and select a Template.
- 2. If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a **Location** drop-down. Select a virtual system for the certificate. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the shared option described in Step 6.

3. Click Generate.

- 4. Enter a **Certificate Name**. The name is case-sensitive and can have up to 31 characters. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, hyphens, and underscores.
- 5. In the **Common Name** field, enter the FQDN (recommended) or IP address of the interface where you will configure the service that will use this certificate.
- 6. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the **Shared** check box. This check box appears only if the device supports multiple virtual systems.
- 7. In the Signed By field, select the root CA certificate that will issue the certificate.

8. If applicable, select an **OCSP Responder**.

9. (Optional) Define the **Cryptographic Settings** as necessary to create a certificate that will work with the devices that must authenticate to it. The default and recommended key size (**Number of Bits**) is 2048 bits. The default and recommended encryption algorithm (**Digest**) is SHA256.

10. (Optional) Add the Certificate Attributes to uniquely identify the firewall and the service that will use the certificate.



If you add a **Host Name** (DNS name) attribute, it is a best practice for it to match the **Common Name**. The host name populates the Subject Alternative Name field of the certificate.

11. Click Generate and, in the Device Certificates tab, click the certificate Name.



Regardless of the time zone on the firewall, it always displays the corresponding Greenwich Mean Time (GMT) for certificate validity and expiration dates/times.

Select the check boxes that correspond to the intended use of the certificate on the firewall. For example, if the firewall will use this certificate to authenticate user access to its web interface, select the Certificate for Secure Web GUI check box.

13. Click **OK** and **Commit**.

## Import a Certificate and Private Key

If your enterprise has its own public key infrastructure (PKI), you can import a certificate and private key into the firewall from your enterprise certificate authority (CA). Enterprise CA certificates (unlike most certificates purchased from a trusted, third-party CA) can automatically issue CA certificates for applications such as SSL/TLS decryption or large-scale VPN.



Instead of importing a self-signed root CA certificate into all the client systems, it is a best practice to import a certificate from the enterprise CA because the clients will already have a trust relationship with the enterprise CA, which simplifies the deployment. If the certificate you will import is part of a certificate chain, it is a best practice to import the entire chain.

#### Import a Certificate and Private Key

1. From the enterprise CA, export the certificate and private key that the firewall will use for authentication.

When exporting a private key, you must enter a passphrase to encrypt the key for transport. Ensure the management system can access the certificate and key files. When importing the key onto the firewall, you must enter the same passphrase to decrypt it.

- In a firewall, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
   In Panorama, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and select a Template.
- 3. If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a **Location** drop-down. Select a virtual system for the certificate. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the shared option described in Step 6.

#### 4. Click Import.

- 5. Enter a **Certificate Name**. The name is case-sensitive and can have up to 31 characters. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, hyphens, and underscores.
- 6. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the **Shared** check box. This check box appears only if the device supports multiple virtual systems.
- 7. Enter the path and name of the Certificate File received from the CA, or Browse to find the file.
- 8. Select a **File Format**:
  - Encrypted Private Key and Certificate (PKCS12)—This is the default and most common format, in which the key and certificate are in a single container (Certificate File). If a hardware security module (HSM) will store the private key for this certificate, select the Private key resides on Hardware Security Module check box.
  - Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM)—You must import the key separately from the certificate. If a hardware security module (HSM) stores the private key for this certificate, select the **Private key resides on Hardware Security Module** check box and skip Step 9. Otherwise, select the **Import Private Key** check box, enter the **Key** File or Browse to it, then perform Step 9.
- 9. Enter and re-enter (confirm) the **Passphrase** used to encrypt the private key.
- 10. Click OK. The Device Certificates tab displays the imported certificate.

### Obtain a Certificate from an External CA

The advantage of obtaining a certificate from an external certificate authority (CA) is that the private key does not leave the firewall. To obtain a certificate from an external CA, generate a certificate signing request (CSR) and submit it to the CA. After the CA issues a certificate with the specified attributes, import it onto the firewall. The CA can be a well-known, public CA or an enterprise CA.

To use Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) for verifying the revocation status of the certificate, Configure an OCSP Responder *before* generating the CSR.

Obtain	a Certificate from an External CA		
Step 1	Request the certificate from an external CA.	1.	In a firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt;</b> Certificates <b>&gt; Device Certificates</b> .
			In Panorama, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and select a Template.
		2.	If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a <b>Location</b> drop-down. Select a virtual system for the certificate. To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the shared option described in sub-step 6.
		3.	Click Generate.
		4.	Enter a <b>Certificate Name</b> . The name is case-sensitive and can have up to 31 characters. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, hyphens, and underscores.
		5.	In the <b>Common Name</b> field, enter the FQDN (recommended) or IP address of the interface where you will configure the service that will use this certificate.
		6.	To make the certificate available to all virtual systems, select the <b>Shared</b> check box. This check box appears only if the device supports multiple virtual systems.
		7.	In the Signed By field, select External Authority (CSR).
		8.	If applicable, select an <b>OCSP Responder</b> .
		9.	(Optional) <b>Add</b> the <b>Certificate Attributes</b> to uniquely identify the firewall and the service that will use the certificate.
			If you add a <b>Host Name</b> attribute, it is a best practice for it to match the <b>Common Name</b> (this is mandatory for GlobalProtect). The host name populates the Subject Alternative Name field of the certificate.
		10.	Click <b>Generate</b> . The Device Certificates tab displays the CSR with a Status of <i>pending</i> .
Step 2	Submit the CSR to the CA.	1.	Select the CSR and click <b>Export</b> to save the .csr file to a local computer.
		2.	Upload the .csr file to the CA.

Obtain	a Certificate from an External CA		
Step 3	Import the certificate.	1.	After the CA sends a signed certificate in response to the CSR, return to the <b>Device Certificates</b> tab and click <b>Import</b> .
		2.	Enter the <b>Certificate Name</b> used to generate the CSR in Step 1-4.
		3.	Enter the path and name of the PEM <b>Certificate File</b> that the CA sent, or <b>Browse</b> to it.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> . The <b>Device Certificates</b> tab displays the certificate with a Status of <i>valid</i> .
Step 4	Configure the certificate.	1. 2.	Click the certificate <b>Name</b> . Select the check boxes that correspond to the intended use of
			the certificate on the firewall. For example, if the firewall will use this certificate to authenticate administrators who access the web interface, select the <b>Certificate for Secure Web GUI</b> check box.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

## **Configure a Certificate Profile**

Certificate profiles define user and device authentication for Captive Portal, GlobalProtect, site-to-site IPSec VPN, Mobile Security Manager, and firewall/Panorama web interface access. The profiles specify which certificates to use, how to verify certificate revocation status, and how that status constrains access. Configure a certificate profile for each application.



It is a best practice to enable Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) and/or Certificate Revocation List (CRL) status verification for certificate profiles. For details on these methods, see Certificate Revocation.

Config	Configure a Certificate Profile					
Step 1	Obtain the certificate authority (CA) certificates you will assign.	Per wil	rform one of the following steps to obtain the CA certificates you l assign to the profile. You must assign at least one. Generate a Certificate on the Firewall.			
		•	Export a certificate from your enterprise CA and then import it onto the firewall (see Step 3).			
Step 2	Identify the certificate profile.	1.	In a firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt;</b> <b>Certificates Profile</b> and click <b>Add</b> .			
			In Panorama, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt;</b> <b>Certificates Profile</b> , select a <b>Template</b> and click <b>Add</b> .			
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> to identify the profile. The name is case-sensitive. It must be unique and use only letters, numbers, spaces, hyphens, and underscores. It can have up to 31 characters.			
		3.	If the firewall supports multiple virtual systems, the dialog displays a <b>Location</b> drop-down. Select the virtual system where the profile will be available or select <b>Shared</b> to enable availability on all the virtual systems.			

Config	Configure a Certificate Profile					
Step 3	Assign one or more certificates.	Per 1.	form the following steps for each certificate: In the CA Certificates table, click <b>Add</b> .			
		2.	Select a <b>CA Certificate</b> from Step 1, or click <b>Import</b> and perform the following sub-steps:			
			a. Enter a Certificate Name.			
			b. Enter the path and name of the <b>Certificate File</b> you exported from your enterprise CA, or <b>Browse</b> to find the file.			
			c. Click <b>OK</b> .			
		3.	Optionally, if the firewall uses OCSP to verify certificate revocation status, configure the following fields to override the default behavior. For most deployments, these fields do not apply.			
			• By default, the firewall uses the OCSP responder URL that you set in the procedure Configure an OCSP Responder. To override that setting, enter a <b>Default OCSP URL</b> (starting with <i>http://</i> or <i>https://</i> ).			
			• By default, the firewall uses the certificate selected in the <b>CA</b> <b>Certificate</b> field to validate OCSP responses. To use a different certificate for validation, select it in the <b>OCSP</b> <b>Verify CA Certificate</b> field.			
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> . The CA Certificates table displays the assigned certificate.			

Config	ure a Certificate Profile		
Step 4	Define the methods for verifying certificate revocation status and the associated blocking behavior.	1.	Select <b>Use CRL</b> and/or <b>Use OCSP</b> . If you select both, the firewall first tries OCSP and falls back to the CRL method only if the OCSP responder is unavailable.
		2.	Depending on the verification method, enter the <b>CRL Receive</b> <b>Timeout</b> and/or <b>OCSP Receive Timeout</b> . These are the intervals (1-60 seconds) after which the firewall stops waiting for a response from the CRL/OCSP service.
		3.	Enter the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> . This is the interval (1-60 seconds) after which the firewall stops waiting for a response from any certificate status service and applies any session-blocking logic you define. The <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> relates to the OCSP/CRL <b>Receive Timeout</b> as follows:
			• If you enable both OCSP and CRL—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value or the aggregate of the two <b>Receive Timeout</b> values.
			• If you enable only OCSP—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value or the OCSP <b>Receive Timeout</b> value.
			• If you enable only CRL—The firewall registers a request timeout after the lesser of two intervals passes: the <b>Certificate Status Timeout</b> value or the CRL <b>Receive Timeout</b> value.
		4.	If you want the firewall to block sessions when the OCSP or CRL service returns a certificate revocation status of <i>unknown</i> , select the <b>Block session if certificate status is unknown</b> check box. Otherwise, the firewall proceeds with the session.
		5.	If you want the firewall to block sessions after it registers an OCSP or CRL request timeout, select the <b>Block session if certificate status cannot be retrieved within timeout</b> check box. Otherwise, the firewall proceeds with the session.
Step 5	Save and apply your entries.	Clie	ck <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

## Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates

When responding to a client in an SSL Forward Proxy session, the firewall creates a copy of the certificate that the destination server presents and uses the copy to establish a connection with the client. By default, the firewall generates certificates with the same key size as the certificate that the destination server presented. However, you can change the key size for the firewall-generated certificate as follows:

#### Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates

Step 1 Select Device > Setup > Session and, in the Decryption Settings section, click Forward Proxy Server Certificate Settings.

#### Step 2 Select a **Key Size**:

- **Defined by destination host**—The firewall determines the key size for the certificates it generates to establish SSL proxy sessions with clients based on the key size of the destination server certificate. If the destination server uses a 1,024-bit RSA key, the firewall generates a certificate with that key size and an SHA-1 hashing algorithm. If the destination server uses a key size larger than 1,024 bits (for example, 2,048 bits or 4,096 bits), the firewall generates a certificate that uses a 2,048-bit RSA key and SHA-256 algorithm. This is the default setting.
- **1024-bit RSA**—The firewall generates certificates that use a 1,024-bit RSA key and SHA-1 hashing algorithm regardless of the key size of the destination server certificates. As of December 31, 2013, public certificate authorities (CAs) and popular browsers have limited support for X.509 certificates that use keys of fewer than 2,048 bits. In the future, depending on security settings, when presented with such keys the browser might warn the user or block the SSL/TLS session entirely.
- **2048-bit RSA**—The firewall generates certificates that use a 2,048-bit RSA key and SHA-256 hashing algorithm regardless of the key size of the destination server certificates. Public CAs and popular browsers support 2,048-bit keys, which provide better security than the 1,024-bit keys.

Changing the key size setting clears the current certificate cache.

Step 3 Click **OK** and **Commit**.

## **Revoke and Renew Certificates**

- ▲ Revoke a Certificate
- ▲ Renew a Certificate

### **Revoke a Certificate**

Various circumstances can invalidate a certificate before the expiration date. Some examples are a change of name, change of association between subject and certificate authority (for example, an employee terminates employment), and compromise (known or suspected) of the private key. Under such circumstances, the certificate authority (CA) that issued the certificate must revoke it. The following task describes how to revoke a certificate for which the firewall is the CA.

#### **Revoke a Certificate**

- 1. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
- 2. If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a **Location** drop-down. Select the virtual system to which the certificate belongs.
- 3. Select the certificate to revoke.
- 4. Click **Revoke**. PAN-OS immediately sets the status of the certificate to revoked and adds the serial number to the Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) responder cache or certificate revocation list (CRL). You need not perform a commit.

### **Renew a Certificate**

If a certificate expires, or soon will, you can reset the validity period. If an external certificate authority (CA) signed the certificate and the firewall uses the Online Certificate Status Protocol (OCSP) to verify certificate revocation status, the firewall uses the OCSP responder information to update the certificate status (see Configure an OCSP Responder). If the firewall is the CA that issued the certificate, the firewall replaces it with a new certificate that has a different serial number but the same attributes as the old certificate.

#### **Renew a Certificate**

- In a firewall, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
   In Panorama, select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and select a Template.
- 2. If the device supports multiple virtual systems, the tab displays a **Location** drop-down. Select the virtual system to which the certificate belongs.
- 3. Select a certificate to renew and click **Renew**.
- 4. Enter a New Expiration Interval (in days).
- 5. Click **OK** and **Commit**.

## Secure Keys with a Hardware Security Module

A hardware security module (HSM) is a physical device that manages digital keys. An HSM provides secure storage and generation of digital keys. It provides both logical and physical protection of these materials from non-authorized use and potential adversaries.

HSM clients integrated with Palo Alto Networks devices enable enhanced security for the private keys used in SSL/TLS decryption (both SSL forward proxy and SSL inbound inspection). In addition, you can use the HSM to encrypt device master keys.

The following topics describe how to integrate an HSM with your Palo Alto Networks devices:

- ▲ Set up Connectivity with an HSM
- ▲ Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM
- ▲ Store Private Keys on an HSM
- ▲ Manage the HSM Deployment

### Set up Connectivity with an HSM

HSM clients are integrated with PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series, PA-7050, and VM-Series firewalls and on Panorama (virtual appliance and M-100 appliance) for use with the following HSMs:

- SafeNet Network 5.2.1
- Thales nShield Connect 11.62 or later



The HSM server version must be compatible with these client versions. Refer to the HSM vendor documentation for the client-server version compatibility matrix.

The following topics describe how to set up connectivity between the firewall/Panorama and one of the supported HSMs:

- Set Up Connectivity with a SafeNet Network HSM
- Set Up Connectivity with a Thales nShield Connect HSM

### Set Up Connectivity with a SafeNet Network HSM

To set up connectivity between the Palo Alto Networks device and a SafeNet Network HSM, you must specify the address of the HSM server and the password for connecting to it in the firewall configuration. In addition, you must register the firewall with the HSM server. Prior to beginning the configuration, make sure you have created a partition for the Palo Alto Networks devices on the HSM server.



HSM configuration is not synced between high availability firewall peers. Consequently, you must configure the HSM module separately on each of the peers. In Active-Passive HA deployments, you must manually perform one failover to configure and authenticate each HA peer individually to the HSM. After this manual failover has been performed, user interaction is not required for the failover function.

#### Set up a Connectivity with a SafeNet Network HSM

Step 1	Configure the firewall to	1.	Log in to the firewall web interface and select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> .	
		communicate with the SafeNet2.Edit the HarNetwork HSM.Luna SA (Sa	Edit the Hardware Security Module Provider section and select <b>Safenet</b> <b>Luna SA</b> (SafeNet Network) as the <b>Provider Configured</b> .	
		3.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter a <b>Module Name</b> . This can be any ASCII string up to 31 characters in length.	
			4.	Enter the IPv4 address of the HSM module as the $\ensuremath{Server}\xspace{Address}$ .
			If you are configuring a high availability HSM configuration, enter module names and IP addresses for the additional HSM devices.	
		5.	(Optional) If configuring a high availability HSM configuration, select the <b>High Availability</b> check box and add the following: a value for <b>Auto</b> <b>Recovery Retry</b> and a <b>High Availability Group Name</b> .	
			If two HSM servers are configured, you should configure high availability. Otherwise the second HSM server is not used.	
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .	

Set up	a Connectivity with a SafeNet Ne	work F	ISM (Continued)
Step 2	(Optional) Configure a service route to enable the firewall to connect to the HSM. By default, the firewall uses the Management Interface to communicate with the HSM. To use a different interface, you must configure a service route.	<ol> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Gradient</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>Gradient</li> <li>Gradient</li> <li>Cliant</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>lect Device &gt; Setup &gt; Services.</li> <li>lect Service Route Configuration from the Services Features area.</li> <li>lect Customize from the Service Route Configuration area.</li> <li>lect the IPv4 tab.</li> <li>lect HSM from the Service column.</li> <li>lect an interface to use for HSM from the Source Interface op-down.</li> <li>If you select a dataplane connected port for HSM, issuing the clear session all CLI command will clear all existing HSM sessions, causing all HSM states to be brought down and then up. During the several seconds required for HSM to recover, all SSL/TLS operations will fail.</li> <li>ick OK and Commit.</li> </ul>
Step 3	Configure the firewall to authenticate to the HSM.	<ol> <li>Sel</li> <li>Sel</li> <li>O<sub>F</sub></li> <li>Sel</li> <li>4. En</li> <li>HS</li> <li>5. Clii</li> <li>Th</li> <li>dis</li> <li>6. Clii</li> </ol>	lect <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> . lect <b>Setup Hardware Security Module</b> in the Hardware Security perations area. lect the HSM <b>Server Name</b> from the drop-down. neter the <b>Administrator Password</b> to authenticate the firewall to the SM. ick <b>OK</b> . ne firewall attempts to perform an authentication with the HSM and splays a status message. ick <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Register the firewall (the HSM client) with the HSM and assign it to a partition on the HSM.	<ol> <li>Lo</li> <li>Re</li> <li>cl</li> <li>wh</li> <li>HS</li> <li>co</li> <li>3. As</li> <li>cl</li> <li>wh</li> <li>re</li> <li>pro</li> </ol>	<pre>bg in to the HSM from a remote system. egister the firewall using the following command: ient register -c <cl-name> -ip <fw-ip-addr> here <cl-name> is a name that you assign to the firewall for use on the SM and <fw-ip-addr> is the IP address of the firewall that is being infigured as an HSM client. assign a partition to the firewall using the following command: ient assignpartition -c <cl-name> -p <partition-name> here <cl-name> is the name assigned to the firewall in the client gister command and <partition-name> is the name of a eviously configured partition that you want to assign to the firewall.</partition-name></cl-name></partition-name></cl-name></fw-ip-addr></cl-name></fw-ip-addr></cl-name></pre>

•			. ,
Step 5	Configure the firewall to connect to the HSM partition.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> . Click the <b>Refresh</b> icon. Select the <b>Setup HSM Partition</b> in the Hardware Security Operations area. Enter the <b>Partition Password</b> to authenticate the firewall to the partition on the HSM. Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 6	(Optional) Configure an additional HSM for high availability (HA).	1. 2.	Follow Step 1 through Step 5 to add an additional HSM for high availability (HA). This process adds a new HSM to the existing HA group. If you remove an HSM from your configuration, repeat Step 5. This will remove the deleted HSM from the HA group.
Step 7	Verify connectivity with the HSM.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM.</li> <li>Check the Status of the HSM connection:</li> <li>Green—HSM is authenticated and connected.</li> <li>Red—HSM was not authenticated or network connectivity to the HSM is down.</li> <li>View the following columns in Hardware Security Module Status area to determine authentication status:</li> <li>Serial Number—The serial number of the HSM partition if the HSM was successfully authenticated.</li> <li>Partition—The partition name on the HSM that was assigned on the firewall.</li> <li>Module State—The current operating state of the HSM. It always has the value Authenticated if the HSM is displayed in this table.</li> </ul>

### Set up a Connectivity with a SafeNet Network HSM (Continued)

### Set Up Connectivity with a Thales nShield Connect HSM

The following workflow describes how to configure the firewall to communicate with a Thales nShield Connect HSM. This configuration requires that you set up a remote filesystem (RFS) to use as a *hub* to sync key data for all firewalls in your organization that are using the HSM.



HSM configuration is not synced between high availability firewall peers. Consequently, you must configure the HSM module separately on each of the peers.

If the high availability firewall configuration is in Active-Passive mode, you must manually perform one failover to configure and authenticate each HA peer individually to the HSM. After this manual failover has been performed, user interaction is not required for the failover function.

	<b>,</b>	
Step 1	Configure the Thales nShield Connect server as the firewall's HSM provider.	<ol> <li>From the firewall web interface, select Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM and edit the Hardware Security Module Provider section.</li> <li>Select Thales Nshield Connect as the Provider Configured.</li> <li>Click Add and enter a Module Name. This can be any ASCII string up to 31 characters in length.</li> <li>Enter the IPv4 address as the Server Address of the HSM module. If you are configuring a high availability HSM configuration, enter module names and IP addresses for the additional HSM devices.</li> <li>Enter the IPv4 address of the Remote Filesystem Address.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ol>
Step 2	(Optional) Configure a service route to enable the firewall to connect to the HSM. By default, the firewall uses the Management Interface to communicate with the HSM. To use a different interface, you must configure a service route.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Services.</li> <li>Select Service Route Configuration from the Services Features area.</li> <li>Select Customize from the Service Route Configuration area.</li> <li>Select the IPv4 tab.</li> <li>Select HSM from the Service column.</li> <li>Select an interface to use for HSM from the Source Interface drop-down.</li> <li>If you select a dataplane connected port for HSM, issuing the clear session all CLI command will clear all existing HSM sessions, causing all HSM states to be brought down and then up. During the several seconds required for HSM to recover, all SSL/TLS operations will fail.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ol>
Step 3	Register the firewall (the HSM client) with the HSM server. This step briefly describes the procedure for using the front panel interface of the Thales nShield Connect HSM. For more details, consult the Thales documentation.	<ol> <li>Log in to the front panel display of the Thales nShield Connect HSM unit.</li> <li>On the unit front panel, use the right-hand navigation button to select System &gt; System configuration &gt; Client config &gt; New client.</li> <li>Enter the IP address of the firewall.</li> <li>Select System &gt; System configuration &gt; Client config &gt; Remote file system and enter the IP address of the client computer where you set up the remote file system.</li> </ol>

Set up Connectivity with a Thales nShield Connect HSM

oci up		5 110	
Step 4	Set up the remote filesystem to accept connections from the firewall.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Log in to the remote filesystem (RFS) from a Linux client. Obtain the electronic serial number (ESN) and the hash of the K <sub>NETI</sub> key. The K <sub>NETI</sub> key authenticates the module to clients: anonkneti <ip-address> where <ip-address> is the IP address of the HSM. The following is an example: anonkneti 192.0.2.1 BIE2-2D4C-E6A2 5a2e5107e70d525615a903f6391ad72b1c03352c In this example, BIE2-2D4C-E6A2 is the ESM and 5a2e5107e70d525615a903f6391ad72b1c03352c is the hash of the K<sub>NETI</sub> key. Use the following command from a superuser account to perform the remote filesystem setup: rfs-setupforce <ip-address> <esn> <hash-kneti-key> where <ip-address> is the IP address of the HSM, <esn> is the electronic serial number (ESN) and <hash-kneti-key> is the hash of the KNETI key. The following example uses the values obtained in this procedure: rfs-setupforce &lt;192.0.2.1&gt; <bie2-2d4c-e6a2> &lt;5a2e5107e70d525615a903f6391ad72b1c03352c&gt; Use the following command to permit client submit on the Remote Filesystem: rfs-setupgang-clientwrite-noauth <fw-ipaddress> where <fw-ipaddress> is the IP address of the firewall.</fw-ipaddress></fw-ipaddress></bie2-2d4c-e6a2></hash-kneti-key></esn></ip-address></hash-kneti-key></esn></ip-address></ip-address></ip-address>
Step 5	Configure the firewall to authenticate to the HSM.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	From the firewall web interface, select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> . Select <b>Setup Hardware Security Module</b> in the Hardware Security Operations area. Click <b>OK</b> . The firewall attempts to perform an authentication with the HSM and displays a status message. Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 6	Synchronize the firewall with the remote filesystem.	1. 2.	Select the <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> . Select <b>Synchronize with Remote Filesystem</b> in the Hardware Security Operations section.

### Set up Connectivity with a Thales nShield Connect HSM (Continued)

oot up			
Step 7	Verify that the firewall can	1.	Select Device > Setup > HSM.
	connect to the HSM.	2.	Check the Status indicator to verify that the firewall is connected to the HSM:
		Green—HSM is authenticated and connected.	Green—HSM is authenticated and connected.
	<ul> <li>Red—HSM was not authenticated or network connectivity to the I down.</li> <li>3. View the following columns in Hardware Security Module Status s determine authentication status.</li> <li>Name: The name of the HSM attempting to be authenticated.</li> <li>IP address: The IP address of the HSM that was assigned on the following the termine and the termine authenticated of the termine and the termine address.</li> </ul>	Red—HSM was not authenticated or network connectivity to the HSM is down.	
		3.	View the following columns in Hardware Security Module Status section to determine authentication status.
		Name: The name of the HSM attempting to be authenticated.	
			<b>IP address:</b> The IP address of the HSM that was assigned on the firewall.
			Module State: The current operating state of the HSM: Authenticated or Not Authenticated.

### Set up Connectivity with a Thales nShield Connect HSM (Continued)

## Encrypt a Master Key Using an HSM

A master key is configured on a Palo Alto Networks firewall to encrypt all private keys and passwords. If you have security requirements to store your private keys in a secure location, you can encrypt the master key using an encryption key that is stored on an HSM. The firewall then requests the HSM to decrypt the master key whenever it is required to decrypt a password or private key on the firewall. Typically, the HSM is located in a highly secure location that is separate from the firewall for greater security.

The HSM encrypts the master key using a wrapping key. To maintain security, this encryption key must occasionally be changed. For this reason, a command is provided on the firewall to rotate the wrapping key which changes the master key encryption. The frequency of this wrapping key rotation depends on your application.



Master key encryption using an HSM is not supported on firewalls configured in FIPS or CC mode.

The following topics describe how to encrypt the master key initially and how to refresh the master key encryption:

- ▲ Encrypt the Master Key
- ▲ Refresh the Master Key Encryption

### Encrypt the Master Key

If you have not previously encrypted the master key on a device, use the following procedure to encrypt it. Use this procedure for first time encryption of a key, or if you define a new master key and you want to encrypt it. If you want to refresh the encryption on a previously encrypted key, see Refresh the Master Key Encryption.

Encryp	t a Master Key Using an HSM					
Step 1	Select Device > Master Key and Diagnostics.					
Step 2	Specify the key that is currently used to encrypt all of the private keys and passwords on the firewall in the <b>Master Key</b> field.					
Step 3	If changing the master key, enter the new master key and confirm.					
Step 4	Select the <b>HSM</b> check box.					
	Life Time: The number of days and hours after which the master key expires (range 1-730 days).					
	<b>Time for Reminder:</b> The number of days and hours before expiration when the user is notified of the impending expiration (range 1-365 days).					
Step 5	Click <b>OK</b> .					

### Refresh the Master Key Encryption

As a best practice, refresh the master key encryption on a regular basis by rotating the master key wrapping key on the HSM. This command is the same for both the SafeNet Network and Thales nShield Connect HSMs.

#### **Refresh the Master Key Encryption**

1. Use the following CLI command to rotate the wrapping key for the master key on an HSM:

> request hsm mkey-wrapping-key-rotation

If the master key is encrypted on the HSM, the CLI command will generate a new wrapping key on the HSM and encrypt the master key with the new wrapping key.

If the master key is not encrypted on the HSM, the CLI command will generate new wrapping key on the HSM for future use.

The old wrapping key is not deleted by this command.

### Store Private Keys on an HSM

For added security, you can use an HSM to secure the private keys used in SSL/TLS decryption for:

- SSL Forward Proxy—The HSM can store the private key of the Forward Trust certificate that signs certificates in SSL/TLS forward proxy operations. The firewall will then send the certificates that it generates during such operations to the HSM for signing before forwarding the certificates to the client.
- SSL Inbound Inspection—The private keys for the internal servers for which you are doing SSL/TLS inbound inspection can be stored on the HSM.

Store Private Keys on an HSM		
Step 1	On the HSM, import or generate the certificate and private key used in your decryption deployment.	For instructions on importing or generating a certificate and private key on the HSM, refer to your HSM documentation.
Step 2	<ul> <li>(Thales nShield Connect only)</li> <li>Synchronize the key data from the Thales nShield remote file system to the firewall.</li> <li>Synchronization with the SafeNet Network HSM is automatic.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>From the firewall web interface, select Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM.</li> <li>Select Synchronize with Remote Filesystem in the Hardware Security Operations section.</li> </ol>
Step 3	Import the certificate that corresponds to the HSM-stored key onto the firewall.	<ol> <li>From the firewall web interface, select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates.</li> <li>Click Import.</li> <li>Enter the Certificate Name.</li> <li>Browse to the Certificate File on the HSM.</li> <li>Select a File Format.</li> <li>Select Private Key resides on Hardware Security Module.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ol>
Step 4	(Forward trust certificates only) Enable the certificate for use in SSL/TLS Forward Proxy.	<ol> <li>Locate the certificate you imported in Step 3.</li> <li>Select Forward Trust Certificate.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ol>
Step 5	Verify that you successfully imported the certificate onto the firewall.	<ul> <li>Locate the certificate you imported in Step 3 and check the icon in the Key column:</li> <li>Lock icon—The private key for the certificate is on the HSM.</li> <li>Error icon—The private key is not on the HSM or the HSM is not properly authenticated or connected.</li> </ul>
## Manage the HSM Deployment

Manage HSM	
• View the HSM configuration settings.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; HSM</b> .
• Display detailed HSM information.	Select <b>Show Detailed Information</b> from the Hardware Security Operations section. Information regarding the HSM servers, HSM HA status, and HSM hardware is displayed.
• Export Support file.	Select <b>Export Support File</b> from the Hardware Security Operations section. A test file is created to help customer support when addressing a problem with an HSM configuration on the firewall.
Reset HSM configuration.	Select <b>Reset HSM Configuration</b> from the Hardware Security Operations section. Selecting this option removes all HSM connections. All authentication procedures must be repeated after using this option.

# **High Availability**

High availability (HA) is a configuration in which two firewalls are placed in a group and their configuration is synchronized to prevent a single point to failure on your network. A heartbeat connection between the firewall peers ensures seamless failover in the event that a peer goes down. Setting up the firewalls in HP pairs provides redundancy and allows you to ensure business continuity.

The Palo Alto Networks firewalls support stateful active/passive or active/active high availability with session and configuration synchronization. Some models of the firewall, such as the VM-Series firewall and the PA-200, only support HA lite without session synchronization capability. The following topics provide more information about high availability and how to configure it in your environment.

- ▲ HA Overview
- ▲ HA Concepts
- ▲ Set Up Active/Passive HA
- ▲ HA Resources

## HA Overview

On Palo Alto Networks firewalls, you can set up two firewalls as an HA pair. HA allows you to minimize downtime by making sure that an alternate firewall is available in the event that the peer firewall fails. The firewalls in an HA pair use dedicated or in-band HA ports on the firewall to synchronize data—network, object, and policy configurations—and to maintain state information. Firewall-specific configuration such as management interface IP address or administrator profiles, HA specific configuration, log data, and the Application Command Center (ACC) information is not shared between peers. For a consolidated application and log view across the HA pair, you must use Panorama, the Palo Alto Networks centralized management system.

When a failure occurs on one firewall in the pair and the other firewall takes over the task of securing traffic, the event is called a *failover*. The conditions that trigger a failover are:

- One or more of the monitored interfaces fail. (Link Monitoring)
- One or more of the destinations specified on the firewall cannot be reached. (Path Monitoring)
- The firewall does not respond to heartbeat polls. (Heartbeat Polling and Hello messages)

After you understand the HA Concepts, continue to Set Up Active/Passive HA.

## **HA Concepts**

The following topics provide conceptual information about how HA works on a Palo Alto Networks firewall:

- ▲ HA Modes
- HA Links and Backup Links
- ▲ Device Priority and Preemption
- ▲ Failover Triggers
- ▲ HA Timers

## HA Modes

You can set up the firewalls for HA in two modes:

• Active/Passive— One firewall actively manages traffic while the other is synchronized and ready to transition to the active state, should a failure occur. In this configuration, both firewalls share the same configuration settings, and one actively manages traffic until a path, link, system, or network failure occurs. When the active firewall fails, the passive firewall takes over seamlessly and enforces the same policies to maintain network security. Active/passive HA is supported in the virtual wire, Layer 2 and Layer 3 deployments. For information on setting up your firewall in an active/passive configuration, see Configure Active/Passive HA.



The PA-200 and the VM-Series firewalls support a lite version of active/passive HA. HA lite provides configuration synchronization and some runtime data synchronization such as IPSec security associations. It does not support any session synchronization, and therefore, HA Lite does not offer stateful failover.

• Active/Active— Both the firewalls in the pair are active and processing traffic, and work synchronously to handle session setup and session ownership. The active/active deployment is supported in virtual wire and Layer 3 deployments, and is only recommended for networks with asymmetric routing. For information on setting up the firewalls in an active/active configuration, refer to the Active/Active High Availability Tech Note.

## HA Links and Backup Links

The firewalls in an HA pair use HA links to synchronize data and maintain state information. Some models of the firewall have dedicated HA ports—Control link (HA1) and Data link (HA2), while others require you to use the in-band ports as HA links.

On firewalls with dedicated HA ports such as the PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series, and PA-7050 firewalls (see HA Ports on the PA-7050 Firewall), use the dedicated HA ports to manage communication and synchronization between the firewalls. For firewalls without dedicated HA ports such as the PA-200, PA-500, and PA-2000 Series firewalls, as a best practice use the management port for the HA1 link to allow for a direct connection between the management planes on the firewalls, and an in-band port for the HA2 link.



The HA1 and HA2 links provide synchronization for functions that reside on the management plane. Using the dedicated HA interfaces on the management plane is more efficient than using the in-band ports as this eliminates the need to pass the synchronization packets over the dataplane.

• **Control Link**: The HA1 link is used to exchange hellos, heartbeats, and HA state information, and management plane sync for routing, and User-ID information. This link is also used to synchronize configuration changes on either the active or passive firewall with its peer. The HA1 link is a Layer 3 link and requires an IP address.

**Ports used for HA1**: TCP port 28769 and 28260 for clear text communication; port 28 for encrypted communication (SSH over TCP).

• **Data Link**: The HA2 link is used to synchronize sessions, forwarding tables, IPSec security associations and ARP tables between firewalls in an HA pair. Data flow on the HA2 link is always unidirectional (except for the HA2 keep-alive); it flows from the active firewall to the passive firewall. The HA2 link is a Layer 2 link, and it uses ether type 0x7261 by default.

**Ports used for HA2:** The HA data link can be configured to use either IP (protocol number 99) or UDP (port 29281) as the transport, and thereby allow the HA data link to span subnets.

Additionally, an HA3 link is used in Active/Active HA deployments. When there is an asymmetric route, the HA3 link is used for forwarding packets to the HA peer that owns the session. The HA3 link is a Layer 2 link and it does not support Layer 3 addressing or encryption.

- **Backup Links**: Provide redundancy for the HA1 and the HA2 links. In-band ports are used as backup links for both HA1 and HA2. Consider the following guidelines when configuring backup HA links:
  - The IP addresses of the primary and backup HA links must not overlap each other.
  - HA backup links must be on a different subnet from the primary HA links.
  - HA1-backup and HA2-backup ports must be configured on separate physical ports. The HA1-backup link uses port 28770 and 28260.



Palo Alto Networks recommends enabling heartbeat backup (uses port 28771 on the MGT interface) if you use an in-band port for the HA1 or the HA1 backup links.

• **Packet-Forwarding Link**: In addition to the HA1 and HA2 links, an active/active deployment also requires a dedicated HA3 link. The firewalls use this link for forwarding packets to the peer during session setup and asymmetric traffic flow. The HA3 link is a Layer 2 link that uses MAC-in-MAC encapsulation; it does not support Layer 3 addressing or encryption. You can configure aggregate interfaces on the PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series and PA-7000 Series firewalls as an HA3 link. The aggregate interfaces can also provide redundancy for the HA3 link; you cannot configure backup links for the HA3 link.

#### HA Ports on the PA-7050 Firewall

For HA connectivity on the PA-7050, use the following table for details on which ports on the Switch Management Card (SMC) are mandated and where ports on the Network Processing Card (NPC) are suitable.

HA Links and Backup Links	Ports on the SMC	Description
Control Link	HA1-A Speed: Ethernet 10/100/1000	Used for HA control and synchronization. Connect this port directly from the HA1-A port on the first firewall to the HA1-A on the second firewall in the pair, or connect them together through a switch or router. HA1 cannot be configured on NPC data ports or the MGT port.
Control Link Backup	HA1-B Speed: Ethernet 10/100/1000 port	Used for HA control and synchronization as a backup for HA1-A. Connect this port directly from the HA1-B port on the first firewall to the HA1-B on the second firewall in the pair, or connect them together through a switch or router. HA1 Backup cannot be configured on NPC data ports or the MGT port.
Data Link Data Link Backup	HSCI-A HSCI-B	The High Speed Chassis Interconnect (HSCI) ports are layer-1 Quad Port SFP+ (QSFP+) interfaces which are used to connect two PA-7000 Series firewalls in an HA configuration. Each port is comprised of four 10 gigabit channels multiplexed for a combined speed of 40 gigabits. The traffic carried on the HSCI ports is raw layer-1, which is not
		directly to each other. The HSCI-A on the first chassis connected directly to each other. The HSCI-A on the first chassis connects directly to HSCI-A on the second chassis and HSCI-B on the first chassis connects to HSCI-B on the second chassis. This will provide full 80 gigabit transfer rates. In software, both ports (HSCI-A and HSCI-B) are treated as one HA interface.
		<ul> <li>Palo Alto Networks recommends using the dedicated HSCI ports for the HA2 link. The HA3 link, required for packet forwarding in an active/active deployment, must use the HSCI port; the HA3 traffic cannot be configured on data ports. If the firewalls are deployed in:</li> <li>an active/active configuration, the HA3 link may use only the HSCI ports. The HA2 link and HA2 backup links can use the HSCI</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>an active/passive configuration, you can configure a data port on the NPC for the HA2 link or the HA2 backup link, if needed.</li> </ul>

For an overview of the Modules and Interface cards on the PA-7050 firewall, refer to the PA-7050 Hardware Reference Guide.

## **Device Priority and Preemption**

The firewalls in an HA pair can be assigned a *device priority* value to indicate a preference for which firewall should assume the active role and manage traffic. If you need to use a specific firewall in the HA pair for actively securing traffic, you must enable the preemptive behavior on both the firewalls and assign a device priority value for each firewall. The firewall with the lower numerical value, and therefore *higher priority*, is designated as active

and manages all traffic on the network. The other firewall is in a passive state, and synchronizes configuration and state information with the active firewall so that it is ready to transition to an active state should a failure occur.

By default, preemption is disabled on the firewalls and must be enabled on both firewalls. When enabled, the preemptive behavior allows the firewall with the *higher priority* (lower numerical value) to resume as active after it recovers from a failure. When preemption occurs, the event is logged in the system logs.

### **Failover Triggers**

When a failure occurs on one firewall and the peer takes over the task of securing traffic, the event is called a *failover*. A failover is triggered when a monitored metric on a firewall in an HA pair fails. The metrics that are monitored for detecting a device failure are:

#### • Heartbeat Polling and Hello messages

The firewalls use hello message and heartbeats to verify that the peer firewall is responsive and operational. Hello messages are sent from one peer to the other at the configured *Hello Interval* to verify the state of the firewall. The heartbeat is an ICMP ping to the HA peer over the control link, and the peer responds to the ping to establish that the firewalls are connected and responsive. By default, the interval for the heartbeat is 1000 milliseconds. For details on the HA timers that trigger a failover, see HA Timers.

#### • Link Monitoring

The physical interfaces to be monitored are grouped into a link group and their state (link up or link down) is monitored. A link group can contain one or more physical interfaces. A firewall failure is triggered when any or all of the interfaces in the group fail. The default behavior is failure of any one link in the link group will cause the firewall to change the HA state to non-functional to indicate a failure of a monitored object.

#### • Path Monitoring

Monitors the full path through the network to mission-critical IP addresses. ICMP pings are used to verify reachability of the IP address. The default interval for pings is 200ms. An IP address is considered unreachable when 10 consecutive pings (the default value) fail, and a firewall failure is triggered when any or all of the IP addresses monitored become unreachable. The default behavior is any one of the IP addresses becoming unreachable will cause the firewall to change the HA state to non-functional to indicate a failure of a monitored object.

In addition to the failover triggers listed above, a failover also occurs when the administrator places the firewall is a suspended state or if preemption occurs.

On the PA-3000 Series, PA-5000 Series, and PA-7050 firewalls, a failover can occur when an internal health check fails. This health check is not configurable and is enabled to verify the operational status for all the components within the firewall.

## HA Timers

High Availability (HA) timers are used to detect a firewall failure and trigger a failover. To reduce the complexity in configuring HA timers, you can select from three profiles have been added: **Recommended**, **Aggressive** and **Advanced**. These profiles auto-populate the optimum HA timer values for the specific firewall platform to enable a speedier HA deployment.

Use the **Recommended** profile for typical failover timer settings and the **Aggressive** profile for faster failover timer settings. The **Advanced** profile allows you to customize the timer values to suit your network requirements.

The following table describes each timer included in the profiles and the current preset values across the different hardware models; these values are for current reference only and can change in a subsequent release.

Timers	Description	PA-7050	PA-2000 Series	Panorama VM
		PA-5000 Series	PA-500 Series	M-100
		PA-4000 Series	VM-Series	
Monitor fail hold up time	Interval during which the firewall will remain active following a path monitor or link monitor failure. This setting is recommended to avoid an HA failover due to the occasional flapping of neighboring devices.	0/0	0/0	0/0
Preemption hold time	Time a passive or active-secondary firewall will wait before taking over as the active or active-primary firewall.	1/1	1/1	1/1
Heartbeat interval	Frequency at which the HA peers exchange heartbeat messages in the form of an ICMP ping.	1000/1000	2000/1000	2000/1000
Promotion hold time	Time that the passive firewall (in active/passive mode) or the active-secondary firewall (in active/active mode) will wait before taking over as the active or active-primary firewall after communications with the HA peer have been lost. This hold time will begin only after the peer failure declaration has been made.	2000/500	2000/500	2000/500

#### Recommended/Aggressive HA Timer Values by Platform

Timers	Description	PA-7050	PA-2000 Series	Panorama VM
		PA-5000 Series	PA-500 Series	M-100
		PA-4000 Series	PA-200 Series	
		PA-3000 Series	VM-Series	
Additional master hold up time	This time interval is applied to the same event as Monitor Fail Hold Up Time (range 0-60000 ms, default 500 ms). The additional time interval is applied only to the active firewall in active/passive mode and to the active-primary firewall in active/active mode. This timer is recommended to avoid a failover when both firewalls experience the same link/path monitor failure simultaneously.	500/500	500/500	7000/5000
Hello interval	Interval in milliseconds between the hello packets that are sent to verify that the HA functionality on the other firewall is operational. The range is 8000-60000 ms with a default of 8000 ms for all platforms.	8000/8000	8000/8000	8000/8000
Maximum no. of flaps	A flap is counted when the firewall leaves the active state within 15 minutes after it last left the active state. This value indicates the maximum number of flaps that are permitted before the firewall is determined to be suspended and the passive firewall takes over (range 0-16, default 3).	3/3	3/3	Not Applicable

## Set Up Active/Passive HA

- ▲ Prerequisites for Active/Passive HA
- ▲ Configuration Guidelines for Active/Passive HA
- ▲ Configure Active/Passive HA
- ▲ Define HA Failover Conditions
- ▲ Verify Failover

### Prerequisites for Active/Passive HA

To set up high availability on your Palo Alto Networks firewalls, you need a pair of firewalls that meet the following requirements:

- **The same model**—Both the firewalls in the pair must be of the same hardware model or virtual machine model.
- **The same PAN-OS version**—Both the firewalls must be running the same PAN-OS version and must each be up-to-date on the application, URL, and threat databases. They must also both have the same multiple virtual systems capability (single or multi vsys).

**The same type of interfaces**—Dedicated HA links, or a combination of the management port and in-band ports that are set to *interface type* HA.

 Determine the IP address for the HA1 (control) connection between the HA peers. The HA1 IP address for both peers must be on the same subnet if they are directly connected or are connected to the same switch.

For firewall without dedicated HA ports, you can use the management port for the control connection. Using the management port provides a direct communication link between the management planes on both firewalls. However, because the management ports will not be directly cabled between the firewalls, make sure that you have a route that connects these two interfaces across your network.

If you use Layer 3 as the transport method for the HA2 (data) connection, determine the IP address
for the HA2 link. Use Layer 3 *only* if the HA2 connection must communicate over a routed network.
The IP subnet for the HA2 links must not overlap with that of the HA1 links or with any other subnet
assigned to the data ports on the firewall.

□ **The same set of licenses**—Licenses are unique to each firewall and cannot be shared between the firewalls. Therefore, you must license both firewalls identically. If both firewalls do not have an identical set of licenses, they cannot synchronize configuration information and maintain parity for a seamless failover.



If you have an existing firewall and you want to add a new firewall for HA purposes and the new firewall has an existing configuration, it is recommended that you Reset the Firewall to Factory Default Settings on the new firewall. This will ensure that the new firewall has a clean configuration. After HA is configured, you will then sync the configuration on the primary firewall to the newly introduced firewall with the clean config.

## Configuration Guidelines for Active/Passive HA

To set up an active (PeerA) passive (PeerB) pair in HA, you must configure some options identically on both firewalls and some independently (non-matching) on each firewall. These HA settings are not synchronized between the firewalls. For details on what is/is not synchronized, refer to HA Synchronization.

To proceed with the instructions on configuring the firewalls in HA, see Configure Active/Passive HA.

The following table lists the settings that you must configure identically on both firewalls:

#### Identical Configuration Settings on PeerA and PeerB

- HA must be enabled on both firewalls.
- Both firewall must have the same Group ID value. The Group ID value is used to create a virtual MAC address for all the configured interfaces. The format of the virtual MAC is 00-1B-17:00: xx: yy where

00-1B-17: vendor ID; 00: fixed; xx: HA group ID; yy: interface ID.

When a new active firewall takes over, Gratuitous ARPs are sent from each of the connected interfaces of the new active member to inform the connected Layer 2 switches of the virtual MAC address' new location.

- If using in-band ports, the interfaces for the HA1 and HA2 links must be set to type HA.
- The HA mode must be set to Active Passive.
- If required, preemption must be enabled on both firewalls. The device priority value, however, must not be identical.
- If required, encryption on the HA1 link (for communication between the HA peers) must be configured on both firewalls.
- Based on the combination of HA1 and HA1 Backup ports you are using, use the following recommendations to decide whether you should enable heartbeat backup:
  - HA1: Dedicated HA1 port
    - HA1 Backup: In-band port

Recommendation: Enable Heartbeat Backup

• HA1: Dedicated HA1 port

HA1 Backup: Management port

Recommendation: Do not enable Heartbeat Backup

- HA1: In-band port
  - HA1 Backup: In-band port
  - Recommendation: Enable Heartbeat Backup
- HA1: Management port
  - HA1 Backup: In-band port
  - Recommendation: Do not enable Heartbeat Backup

Independent Configuration Settings	PeerA	PeerB
Control Link	IP address of the HA1 link configured on this firewall (PeerA).	IP address of the HA1 link configured on this firewall (PeerB).
	For firewalls without dedicated HA ports, use the r link.	nanagement port IP address for the control
Data Link The data link information is synchronized between the firewalls after HA is enabled and the control link is established between the firewalls.	By default, the HA2 link uses Ethernet/Layer 2. If using a Layer 3 connection, configure the IP address for the data link on this firewall (PeerA).	By default, the HA2 link uses Ethernet/Layer 2. If using a Layer 3 connection, configure the IP address for the data link on this firewall (PeerB).
Device Priority (required, if preemption is enabled)	The firewall you plan to make active must have a lower numerical value than its peer. So, if Peer A is to function as the active firewall, keep the default value of 100 and increment the value on PeerB.	If PeerB is passive, set the device priority value to a number larger than that on PeerA. For example, set the value to 110.
Link Monitoring— Monitor one or more physical interfaces that handle vital traffic on this firewall and define the failure condition.	Select the physical interfaces on the firewall that you would like to monitor and define the failure condition (all or any) to trigger a failover.	Pick a similar set of physical interfaces that you would like to monitor on this firewall and define the failure condition (all or any) to trigger a failover.
Path Monitoring— Monitor one or more destination IP addresses that the firewall can use ICMP pings to ascertain responsiveness.	Define the failure condition (all or any), ping interval and the ping count. This is particularly useful for monitoring the availability of other interconnected networking devices. For example, monitor the availability of a router that connects to a server, connectivity to the server itself, or some other vital device that is in the flow of traffic.	Pick a similar set of devices or destination IP addresses that can be monitored for determining the failover trigger for PeerB. Define the failure condition (all or any), ping interval and the ping count.
	Make sure that the node/device that you are monitoring is not likely to be unresponsive, especially when it comes under load, as this could cause a a path monitoring failure and trigger a failover.	

The following table lists the settings that must be configured independently on each firewall:

## Configure Active/Passive HA

The following procedure shows how to configure a pair of firewalls in an active/passive deployment as depicted in the following example topology.



Conne	ct and Configure the Firewalls (Continu	ed)	
Step 3	If the firewall does not have dedicated HA ports, set up the data ports to function as HA ports. For firewalls with dedicated HA ports continue to the next step.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select Network > Interfaces. Confirm that the link is up on the ports that you want to use. Select the interface and set the interface type to HA. methemet1/3 HA m Set the Link Speed and Link Duplex settings, as appropriate.
Step 4	Set the HA mode and group ID.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General</b> and edit the Setup section. Set a <b>Group ID</b> and optionally a <b>Description</b> for the pair. The Group ID uniquely identifies each HA pair on your network. If you have have multiple HA pairs that share the same broadcast domain you must set a unique Group ID for each pair. Set the mode to <b>Active Passive</b> .
Step 5	Set up the control link connection. This example shows an in-band port that is set to interface type HA. For firewalls that use the management port as the control link, the IP address information is automatically pre-populated.	1. 2. 3. 4.	In <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General</b> , edit the Control Link (HA1) section. Select the Port that you have cabled for use as the HA1 link. Set the IPv4/IPv6 Address and Netmask. If the HA1 interfaces are on separate subnets, enter the IP address of the Gateway. Do not add a gateway address if the firewalls are directly connected. Control Link (HA1) Port ethernet1/13 IPv4/IPv6 Address 1.1.1.10 Netmask 255.255.0 Gateway Encryption Enabled Monitor Hold Time (ms) 3000 OK Cancel
Step 6	(Optional) Enable encryption for the control link connection. This is typically used to secure the link if the two firewalls are not directly connected, that is if the ports are connected to a switch or a router.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Export the HA key from a firewall and import it into the peer firewall.</li> <li>a. Select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates.</li> <li>b. Select Export HA key. Save the HA key to a network location that the peer can access.</li> <li>c. On the peer, select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates, and select Import HA key to browse to the location that you saved the key and import it in to the peer.</li> <li>Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General, edit the Control Link (HA1) section.</li> <li>Select Encryption Enabled.</li> </ul>

Conne	ct and Configure the Firewalls (Continu	ied)	
Step 7	Set up the backup control link connection.	1.	In Device > High Availability > General, edit the Control Link (HA1 Backup) section. Select the HA1 backup interface and set the IPv4/IPv6 Address and Netmask.
Step 8	Set up the data link connection (HA2) and the backup HA2 connection between the firewalls.	1. 2. 3. 4.	In Device > High Availability > General, edit the Data Link (HA2) section. Select the Port to use for the data link connection. Select the Transport method. The default is ethernet, and will work when the HA pair is connected directly or through a switch. If you need to route the data link traffic through the network, select IP or UDP as the transport mode. If you use IP or UDP as the transport method, enter the IPv4/IPv6 Address and Netmask.
		5. 6. 7.	<ul> <li>Verify that Enable Session Synchronization is selected.</li> <li>Select HA2 Keep-alive to enable monitoring on the HA2 data link between the HA peers. If a failure occurs based on the threshold that is set (default is 10000 ms), the defined action will occur. For active/passive configuration, a critical system log message is generated when an HA2 keep-alive failure occurs.</li> <li>You can configure the HA2 keep-alive option on both firewalls, or just one firewall in the HA pair. If you only enable the option on one peer, only that firewall will send the keep-alive messages. The other firewall will be notified if a failure occurs.</li> <li>Edit the Data Link (HA2 Backup) section, select the interface, and add the IPv4/IPv6 Address and Netmask.</li> </ul>

Connec	t and Configure the Firewalls (Continu	ed)	
Step 9	Enable heartbeat backup if your control link uses a dedicated HA port or an in-band port.	1.	In <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General</b> , edit the Election Settings. Select <b>Heartheat Backun</b>
	You do not need to enable heartbeat backup if you are using the management port for the control link.	2.	To allow the heartbeats to be transmitted between the firewalls, you must verify that the management port across both peers can route to each other.
			Enabling heartbeat backup also allows you to prevent a split-brain situation. Split brain occurs when the HA1 link goes down causing the firewall to miss heartbeats, although the firewall is still functioning. In such a situation, each peer believes that the other is down and attempts to start services that are running, thereby causing a split brain. When the heartbeat backup link is enabled, split brain is prevented because redundant heartbeats and hello messages are transmitted over the management port.
Step 10	Set the device priority and enable preemption.	1.	In <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General</b> , edit the Election Settings.
	This setting is only required if you want to make sure that a specific firewall is the preferred active firewall. For information, see Device Priority and Preemption.	2.	Set the numerical value in <b>Device Priority</b> . Make sure to set a lower numerical value on the firewall that you want to assign a higher priority to.
			If both firewalls have the same device priority value, the firewall with the lowest MAC address on the HA1 control link will become the active firewall.
		3.	Select Preemptive.
			You must enable preemptive on both the active firewall and the passive firewall.
Step 11	(Optional) Modify the failover timers.	1.	In <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General</b> , edit the Election
	By default, the HA timer profile is set to the <b>Recommended</b> profile and is suited for most HA deployments.	2.	Settings. Select the <b>Aggressive</b> profile for triggering failover faster; select <b>Advanced</b> to define custom values for triggering failover in your set up.
			To view the preset value for an individual timer included in a profile, select <b>Advanced</b> and click <b>Load</b> <b>Recommended</b> or <b>Load Aggressive</b> . The preset values for your hardware model will be displayed on screen.

Step 12 (Optional, only con firewall) Modify th ports on the passiv	nfigured on the passive the link status of the HA ve firewall.	Setting the link state to <b>Auto</b> allows for reducing the amount of time it takes for the passive firewall to take over when a failover occurs and it allows you to monitor the link state.
The passive by default. the link star the active fi those on th be down ar	e link state is <b>shutdown</b> , After you enable HA, te for the HA ports on rewall will be green and ne passive firewall will nd display as red.	<ul> <li>To enable the link status on the passive firewall to stay up and reflect the cabling status on the physical interface:</li> <li>1. In Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General, edit the Active Passive Settings.</li> <li>2. Set the Passive Link State to Auto. The auto option decreases the amount of time it takes for the passive firewall to take over when a failover occurs. Although the interface displays green (as cabled and up) it continues to discard all traffic until a failover is triggered. When you modify the passive link state, make sure that the adjacent devices do not forward traffic to the passive firewall based only on the link status of the firewall.</li></ul>
Step 13 Enable HA.		<ol> <li>In Device &gt; High Availability &gt; General, edit the Setup section.</li> <li>Select Enable HA.</li> <li>Select Enable Config Sync. This setting enables the synchronization of the configuration settings between the active and the passive firewall and should always be enabled.</li> <li>Enter the IP address assigned to the control link of the peer firewall in Peer HA1 IP Address.</li> <li>Setup Or B S Description Active Passive Active Active Active Peer HA1 IP Address 1.1.1.10 Description Active Passive Config Sync Peer HA1 IP Address 2.2.2.2</li> <li>For firewalls without dedicated HA ports, if the peer uses the management port for the HA1 link, enter the management port IP address.</li> <li>Enter the Backup HA1 IP Address.</li> </ol>
Step 14 Save your configur	ration changes.	Click Commit.
Step 15 Complete Step 2 t	hrough Step 14 on the ot	other firewall in the HA pair.

Connec	connect and Configure the Firewalls (Continued)							
Step 16	After you finish configuring both firewalls, verify that the firewalls are paired in active/passive HA.	1. 2. 3.	Access the <b>Dashboard</b> on both firewalls, and view the High Availability widget. On the active firewall, click the <b>Sync to peer</b> link. Confirm that the firewalls are paired and synced, as shown below:					

should display **passive** and the Running Config should show as **synchronized**.

On the passive firewall: the state of the local firewall On the active firewall: The state of the local firewall should display active and the Running Config should show as synchronized.

High Availability		S 🛛
Mode		Active-Passive
Local	0	passive
Peer (10.2.133.221)	$\bigcirc$	active
Running Config	$\bigcirc$	synchronized 훭
App Version	$\bigcirc$	Match
Threat Version	$\bigcirc$	Match
Antivirus Version	$\bigcirc$	Match
PAN-OS Version	$\bigcirc$	Match
GlobalProtect Version	$\bigcirc$	Match
HA1	$\bigcirc$	up
HA2	0	up



## **Define HA Failover Conditions**

Config	ure the Failover Triggers							
Step 1	To configure link monitoring, define the interfaces that you would like to monitor. A change in the link state of these interface will trigger a failover.	1. 2. 3.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Link and Path Monit</li> <li>In the Link Group section, click Add.</li> <li>Name the Link Group, Add the interfaces to monitor, and the Failure Condition for the group. The Link group you is added to the Link Group section.</li> </ol>					<b>d Path Monitoring.</b> 9 monitor, and select nk group you define
	N M	ame ain d	elete	Enabled	a	Group Failure ( Iny	Condition	Interfaces ethernet1/11 ethernet1/15 ethernet1/21
Step 2	(Optional) Modify the failure condition for the Link Groups that you configured (in the preceding step) on the firewall. By default, the firewall will trigger a failover when any monitored link fails.	1. 2.	<ol> <li>Select the Link Monitoring section.</li> <li>Set the Failure Condition to All. The default setting is Any.</li> </ol>					
Step 3	To configure path monitoring, define the destination IP addresses that the firewall should ping to verify network connectivity.	<ol> <li>In the Path Group section of the Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Link and Path Monitoring tab, pick the Add option for your set up: Virtual Wire, VLAN, or Virtual Router.</li> <li>Select the appropriate item from the drop-down for the Name and Add the IP addresses (source and/or destination, as prompted) that you wish to monitor. Then select the Failure Condition for the group. The path group you define is added to the Path Group section.</li> </ol>					High Availability > I option for your set down for the Name estination, as select the Failure ou define is added to	
			Add Virtual Wire Pati	Type virtual-router	Enabled	Failure Condition all al Router Path	Source IP	Destination JP 10.2.2.5 10.2.2.2 10.2.2.3 10.2.2.4
Step 4	(Optional) Modify the failure condition for all Path Groups configured on the firewall.	Set the Failure Condition to All. The default setting is Any.						
	By default, the firewall will trigger a failover when any monitored path fails.							
Step 5	Save your changes.	Cli	ck <b>Commi</b>	t.				

n

If you are using SNMPv3 to monitor the firewalls, note that the SNMPv3 Engine ID is unique to each firewall; the EngineID is not synchronized between the HA pair and, therefore, allows you to independently monitor each firewall in the HA pair. For information on setting up SNMP, see Set Up SNMP Trap Destinations. Because the EngineID is generated using the firewall's unique serial number, on the VM-Series firewall you must apply a valid license in order to obtain a unique EngineID for each firewall.

## Verify Failover

To test that your HA configuration works properly, trigger a manual failover and verify that the firewalls transition states successfully.

Verify Failover					
Step 1	Suspend the active firewall.	Click the Suspend local device link on the Device > High Availability > Operational Commands tab.			
		General         Link and Path Monitoring         Operational Commands           Suspend local device			
Step 2	Verify that the passive firewall has taken over as active.	On the <b>Dashboard</b> , verify that the state of the passive firewall changes to <b>active</b> in the <b>High Availability</b> widget.			
		High Availability 😋 🔀			
Step 3	Restore the suspended firewall to a functional state. Wait for a couple minutes, and then verify that preemption has occurred, if preemptive is enabled.	Implif Availability       Implif Availability         Mode       Active-Passive         Local       active         Peer (10.2.133.221)       suspended (User requested)         Running Config       synchronized         App Version       Match         Threat Version       Match         PAN-OS Version       Match         PAN-OS Version       Match         GlobalProtect Version       Match         General Link and Path Monitoring       Operational Commands			
		Make local device functional			
		2. In the <b>High Availability</b> widget on the <b>Dashboard</b> , confirm that the firewall has taken over as the active firewall and that the peer is now in a passive state.			
		High Availability			
		Mode     Active-Passive       Local     active       Peer (10.2.133.225)     passive       Running Config     synchronized       App Version     Match       Threat Version     Match       Antivirus Version     Match       PAN-OS Version     Match       GlobalProtect Version     Match			

## **HA Resources**

For more information on HA, refer to the following sources:

- Active/Active HA
- High Availability Synchronization
- High Availability Failover Optimization
- Upgrading an HA pair
- Examples: Deploying HA

# **Reports and Logging**

The firewall provides reports and logs that are useful for monitoring activity on your network. You can monitor the logs and filter the information to generate reports with predefined or customized views. You can, for example, use the predefined templates to generate reports on a user's activity or analyze the reports and logs to interpret unusual behavior on your network and generate a custom report on the traffic pattern. The following topics describe how to view, manage, customize, and generate the reports and logs on the firewall:

- ▲ Use the Dashboard
- ▲ Use the Application Command Center
- ▲ Use App-Scope
- ▲ Take Packet Captures
- ▲ Monitor the Firewall
- ▲ Forward Logs to External Services
- ▲ Monitor the Firewall Using SNMP
- ▲ Monitor the Firewall Using NetFlow
- ▲ NetFlow Templates
- ▲ Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems
- ▲ Manage Reporting
- ▲ Syslog Field Descriptions

## Use the Dashboard

The **Dashboard** tab widgets show general device information, such as the software version, the operational status of each interface, resource utilization, and up to 10 of the most recent entries in the threat, configuration, and system logs. All of the available widgets are displayed by default, but each administrator can remove and add individual widgets, as needed.

Click the refresh icon 💽 to update the Dashboard or an individual widget. To change the automatic refresh interval, select an interval from the drop-down (**1 min, 2 mins, 5 mins**, or **Manual**). To add a widget to the Dashboard, click the widget drop-down, select a category and then the widget name. To delete a widget, click in the title bar.

Dashboard Charts	Descriptions
Top Applications	Displays the applications with the most sessions. The block size indicates the relative number of sessions (mouse-over the block to view the number), and the color indicates the security risk—from green (lowest) to red (highest). Click an application to view its application profile.
Top High Risk Applications	Similar to Top Applications, except that it displays the highest-risk applications with the most sessions.
General Information	Displays the device name, model, PAN-OS software version, the application, threat, and URL filtering definition versions, the current date and time, and the length of time since the last restart.
Interface Status	Indicates whether each interface is up (green), down (red), or in an unknown state (gray).
Threat Logs	Displays the threat ID, application, and date and time for the last 10 entries in the Threat log. The threat ID is a malware description or URL that violates the URL filtering profile.
Config Logs	Displays the administrator username, client (Web or CLI), and date and time for the last 10 entries in the Configuration log.
Data Filtering Logs	Displays the description and date and time for the last 60 minutes in the Data Filtering log.
URL Filtering Logs	Displays the description and date and time for the last 60 minutes in the URL Filtering log.
System Logs	Displays the description and date and time for the last 10 entries in the System log.
	A Config installed entry indicates configuration changes were committed successfully.
System Resources	Displays the Management CPU usage, Data Plane usage, and the Session Count, which displays the number of sessions established through the firewall.
Logged In Admins	Displays the source IP address, session type (Web or CLI), and session start time for each administrator who is currently logged in.

The following table describes the Dashboard widgets.

Dashboard Charts	Descriptions
ACC Risk Factor	Displays the average risk factor (1 to 5) for the network traffic processed over the past week. Higher values indicate higher risk.
High Availability	If high availability (HA) is enabled, indicates the HA status of the local and peer device—green (active), yellow (passive), or black (other). For more information about HA, see High Availability.
Locks	Shows configuration locks taken by administrators.

## Use the Application Command Center

The ACC tab visually depicts trends and historic view of traffic on your network.

- ▲ ACC Risk Level
- ▲ ACC Charts
- ▲ ACC Detail Pages
- ▲ Use the ACC

## ACC Risk Level

The **ACC** tab displays the overall risk level for all network traffic, the risk levels and number of threats detected for the most active and highest-risk applications on your network, and the number of threats detected from the busiest application categories and from all applications at each risk level. Use the ACC to view application data for the past hour, day, week, month, or any custom-defined time frame. **Risk** levels (1=lowest to 5=highest) indicate the application's relative security risk based on criteria such as whether the application can share files, is prone to misuse, or tries to evade firewalls.

paloalto				1				
NETWORKS	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies 01	bjects Netw	ork Device	a Connit o	
	Time Last H	lour		Sort By Se	ssions 💌 Top 25	▼ ⊕ ⊕		
						1 2 3	- 3 7	
						9		
Top Applications								
Risk	App	kcation				Sessions	Bytes	
1 3	wet	-brows	ing		121.	6К 🗖	2.1G	
2 1	dns				97.	1K 🛄	23.3 M	
3 11	non	-syn-tq	P /		63.	ок 💷	2.8 G	
4 13	lee l				39.	39.8 K 🖬 556.1 M 🖬		
5 5	bitt	orrent			36.	зк 🗔	1.3G 🗔	
6	insu	iffis t	-data		20.	20.2 K 🛙 134.1 M		
7 2	n	Top So	irces					
8	a							
9 3	9		Source Address	Source Host Name		Source User	E	ytes Sessions
10	fe	1	10.154.173.238	10.154.173.238 💕		pancademo kramer	24.1 M 🔳	2.4 K
11	ы	2	10, 154, 168, 193	10.154.168.193 🔐		pancademo\steve	435.4 M	2.1K
12 🗾	PI	3	10, 154, 10, 176	10.154.10.176		pancademo\jose	534.0 K	1.8 K
13 3	9	4	10, 154, 14, 30	10.154.14.30		pancademo/mars	350.9 K	1.6 K
14 🔝	id	5	10, 154, 3, 13	10.154.3.13 🚅		pancademo\james	42.3 M 🔳	1.4 K
15	u	6	10.154.14.29	10, 154, 14, 29 🕼		pancademo\ucas	1.7 M	1.2 K
16 👥	3	7	10.154.14.28	10.154.14.28		pancademo\mary	290.2 K	1.2 K
17 2	pi	8	10, 154, 3, 26	10.154.3.26 😫		pancademo\sergi	284.3 K	1.1K
18 🔝	ft	9	10.154.4.95	10, 154, 4, 95		pancademo vandy	206.8 K	1.0 K
19 3	99	10	10,154,10,181	10 154 10 181 12		nancademo\nhvlic	150.0 K	709

## ACC Charts

There are five charts displayed on the **Application Command Center (ACC)** tab:

- ▲ Application
- ▲ URL Filtering
- ▲ Threat Prevention
- Data Filtering
- ▲ HIP Matches

ACC Chart	Description
Application	Displays application information grouped by the following attributes: • Applications
	High risk applications
	Categories
	Sub Categories
	• Technology
	• Risk
	Each chart can include the number of sessions, bytes transmitted and received, number of threats, application category, application subcategories, application technology, and risk level, as applicable.
URL Filtering	Displays URL/category information grouped by the following attributes:
	URL Categories
	• URLs
	Blocked URL Categories
	Blocked URLs
	Each chart can include the URL, URL category, repeat count (number of times access was attempted, as applicable).
Threat Prevention	Displays threat information grouped by the following attributes:
	• Threats
	• Types
	• Spyware
	Spyware Phone Home
	• Spyware Downloads
	• Vulnerability
	• Virus
	Each chart can include the threat ID, count (number of occurrences), number of sessions, and subtype (such as vulnerability), as applicable.

ACC Chart	Description
Data Filtering	Displays information on data filtered by the firewall grouped by the following attributes:
	Content/File Types
	• Types
	• File Names
HIP Matches	Displays the host information collected by the firewall grouped by:
	• HIP Objects
	• HIP Profiles

## ACC Detail Pages

To view additional details, click any of the links on the ACC charts. A details page opens to show information about the item at the top and additional lists for related items. For example, click on the web-browsing link on the Application chart opens the Application Information page for web-browsing:

A										
	Application Information									
			Name:	web-browsing						
	Description: Web Browsing is us Wide Web. Its orig				sing Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP), which is a method used to transfer or convey information on the World inal purpose was to provide a way to publish and retrieve HTML pages.					
							Category:	general-intern	et	
		Chanda	ud Daubar	ter (80		9	Subcategory:	internet-utility		
	6-1	Standa	ra Ports:	tcp/80			Technology: browser-based			
	Caj	pable of File	Fransfer:	yes			Risk:	4		
	-	Used by	Malware:	yes			Widely Used:	yes		
	Exce	ssive Bandw	idth Use:	no		Has Known Vu	Inerabilities:	yes		
	<b>T</b>		Evasive:	no		Pro	ne to Misuse:	no		
	Tunne	is Other App	lications:	yes Williamlia Canala	Valaat	Session Timeo	ut (seconds):			
	AC	iditional Info	ormation:	wikipedia Google	Tanoo!	TCP Timeo	ut (seconds):			
						UDP Timeout (seconds):				
						ODF TIMEO	ut (seconds).			
Т	op Appl Risk	ications Application				Ses:	sions		Bytes	
T(	op Appl Risk	ications Application web-browsin	g			Ses 559	sions		Bytes	
T( 1	op Appl Risk	Application web-browsin	ıg			Ses	sions		Bytes	
T 1	Risk Risk A Source	Application web-browsin	ig Source Ho	st Name		Source User	sions	Bytes	Bytes 11.1 M Sessions	
	Appl     Appl     Risk     Source     10,16,0	ications Application web-browsin rcces address 0.54	g Source Ho 10.16.0.5	st Name 4		Source User	sions	Bytes	Bytes 11.1 M 20002000	
T( 1 1 1 2	Op         Appl           Risk         4           Image: Source         10.16.0           10.16.0         10.16.5	ications Application web-browsin rccs address 0.54 1.1	g Source Ho 10.16.0.5 10.16.1.1	st Name 4		Source User	sions 9.9 M 829.3 K	Bytes	Bytes 11.1 M Sessions 491 45 1	
T( 1 1 2 3	Source           10.16.0           10.16.0	Applications Application web-browsin cces address 0.54 1.1 0.33	g Source Ho 10.16.0.5 10.16.1.1 10.16.0.3	st Name 4		Source User	9.9 M 829.3 K 220.2 K	Bytes	Bytes 11.1 M Sessions 491 45 1 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	
T 1 1 2 3 4	Source           10.16.0           10.16.0           10.16.0	Applications Application web-browsin cces address 0.54 1.1 0.33 0.34	g Source Ho 10.16.0.5 10.16.1.1 10.16.0.3 10.16.0.3	st Name 4 4		Source User	9.9 M 829.3 K 220.2 K 25.0 K	Bytes	Bytes 11.1 M Sessions 491 451	

### Use the ACC

The following procedure describes how to use the ACC tab and how to customize your view:

Use the	Use the ACC				
Step 1	On the <b>ACC</b> , change one or more of the settings at the top of the page.				
	• Use the drop-down to select Applications, URL Categories, Threats, Content/File Types, and HIP Objects to view.				
	• Select a virtual system, if virtual systems are defined.				
	• Select a time period from the Time drop-down. The default is Last Hour.				
	• Select a sorting method from the <b>Sort By</b> drop-down. You can sort the charts in descending order by number of sessions, bytes, or threats. The default is by number of sessions.				
	• For the selected sorting method, select the top number of applications and application categories shown in each chart from the <b>Top</b> drop-down. Click the Submit icon to apply the selected settings.				
Step 2	To open log pages associated with the information on the page, use the log links in the upper-right corner of the page, as shown here. The context for the logs matches the information on the page.				

Step 3 To filter the list, click an item in one of the columns, this will add that item to the filter bar located above the log column names. After adding the desired filters, click the Apply Filter icon.

🔍 (rece	🔿 🗙 🕂 📴	<b>i</b>					
	Receive Time	Туре	From Zone	To Zone	Source	Source User	Destinatio
Þ	09/05 16:44:14	end	I3-vlan-trust	13-untrust	192.168.2.10		10.0. 🔺
<b>P</b>	09/05 16:44:14	end	I3-vlan-trust	13-untrust	192, 168, 2, 10		10.0.)

## Use App-Scope

The App-Scope reports provide visibility and analysis tools to help pinpoint problematic behavior, helping you understand changes in application usage and user activity, users and applications that take up most of the network bandwidth, and identify network threats.

With the App-Scope reports, you can quickly see if any behavior is unusual or unexpected. Each report provides a dynamic, user-customizable window into the network; hovering the mouse over and clicking either the lines or bars on the charts opens detailed information about the specific application, application category, user, or source on the ACC. The App-Scope charts give you the ability to:

- Toggle the attributes in the legend to only view chart details that you want to review. The ability to include or exclude data from the chart allows you to change the scale and review details more closely.
- Click into an attribute in a bar chart and drill down to the related sessions in the ACC. Click into an Application name, Application Category, Threat Name, Threat Category, Source IP address or Destination IP address on any bar chart to filter on the attribute and view the related sessions in the ACC.
- Export a chart or map to PDF or as an image. For portability and offline viewing, you can Export charts and maps as PDFs or PNG images.

The following App-Scope reports are available:

- ▲ Summary Report
- ▲ Change Monitor Report
- ▲ Threat Monitor Report
- ▲ Threat Map Report
- Network Monitor Report
- ▲ Traffic Map Report

## Summary Report

The App-Scope Summary report displays charts for the top five gainers, losers, and bandwidth consuming applications, application categories, users, and sources.



## Change Monitor Report

The App-Scope Change Monitor report displays changes over a specified time period. For example, the following chart displays the top applications that gained in use over the last hour as compared with the last 24-hour period. The top applications are determined by session count and sorted by percent.



The Change Monitor Report contains the following buttons and options.

Button	Description
<u>□</u> Top 10 ▼	Determines the number of records with the highest measurement included in the chart.
Application 🝷	Determines the type of item reported: Application, Application Category, Source, or Destination.
🚈 Gainers	Displays measurements of items that have increased over the measured period.
Sa Losers	Displays measurements of items that have decreased over the measured period.
O New	Displays measurements of items that were added over the measured period.
22 <sup>Z</sup> Dropped	Displays measurements of items that were discontinued over the measured period.
Button	Description
--	---
Filter 🔠 None 🔻	Applies a filter to display only the selected item. <b>None</b> displays all entries.
010	Determines whether to display session or byte information.
Sort: 🕲 (#)	Determines whether to sort entries by percentage or raw growth.
Export: 🗾 🛱	Exports the graph as a .png image or as a PDF.
Compare last hour <b>*</b> to the same period ending 24 hours <b>*</b> ago	Specifies the period over which the change measurements are taken.

## Threat Monitor Report

The App-Scope Threat Monitor report displays a count of the top threats over the selected time period. For example, the following figure shows the top 10 threat types over the last 6 hours.



Each threat type is color-coded as indicated in the legend below the chart. The Threat Monitor report contains the following buttons and options.

Button	Description
Top 10 ▼	Determines the number of records with the highest measurement included in the chart.
P Threats 🔻	Determines the type of item measured: Threat, Threat Category, Source, or Destination.
Filter 😺 🖏 💭 👽 🚡	Applies a filter to display only the selected type of items.
	Determines whether the information is presented in a stacked column chart or a stacked area chart.
Export: 🔚 🖾	Exports the graph as a .png image or as a PDF.
Last 6 hours Last 12 hours Last 24 hours Last 7 days Last 30 days	Specifies the period over which the measurements are taken.

### Threat Map Report

The App-Scope Threat Map report shows a geographical view of threats, including severity. Each threat type is color-coded as indicated in the legend below the chart.

The firewall uses geolocation for creating threat maps. The firewall is placed at the bottom of the threat map screen, if you have not specified the geolocation coordinates (**Device > Setup > Management**, General Settings section) on the firewall.



The Threat Map report contains the following buttons and options.

Button	Description
<u>□</u> Top 10 ▼	Determines the number of records with the highest measurement included in the chart.
Incoming threats	Displays incoming threats.
Outgoing threats	Displays outgoing threats.
Filter 😼 🤯 🧔 💽 📑	Applies a filter to display only the selected type of items.
Zoom In Zoom Out	Zoom in and zoom out of the map.
Export: V 🔄 🖾	Exports the graph as a .png image or as a PDF.
Last 6 hours Last 12 hours Last 24 hours Last 7 days Last 30 days	Indicates the period over which the measurements are taken.

### Network Monitor Report

The App-Scope Network Monitor report displays the bandwidth dedicated to different network functions over the specified period of time. Each network function is color-coded as indicated in the legend below the chart. For example, the image below shows application bandwidth for the past 7 days based on session information.



The Network	Monitor re	port contains	the f	following	buttons	and o	ptions.
THE INCLUDIN.	monitor ic	port contains	une i	lonowing.	Duttons	and O	puons.

Button	Description
Top 10 ▼	Determines the number of records with the highest measurement included in the chart.
Application 🔻	Determines the type of item reported: Application, Application Category, Source, or Destination.
Filter 🖄 None 🔻	Applies a filter to display only the selected item. <b>None</b> displays all entries.
010	Determines whether to display session or byte information.
Export: 🎦 🖾	Exports the graph as a .png image or as a PDF.
	Determines whether the information is presented in a stacked column chart or a stacked area chart.
Last 6 hours Last 12 hours Last 24 hours Last 7 days Last 30 days	Indicates the period over which the change measurements are taken.

## Traffic Map Report

The App-Scope Traffic Map report shows a geographical view of traffic flows according to sessions or flows.

The firewall uses geolocation for creating traffic maps. The firewall is placed at the bottom of the traffic map screen, if you have not specified the geolocation coordinates (**Device > Setup > Management**, General Settings section) on the firewall.



Each traffic type is color-coded as indicated in the legend below the chart. The Traffic Map report contains the following buttons and options.

Buttons	Description
<u>□</u> Top 10 ▼	Determines the number of records with the highest measurement included in the chart.
Incoming threats	Displays incoming threats.
Outgoing threats	Displays outgoing threats.
010	Determines whether to display session or byte information.
Zoom In Zoom Out	Zoom in and zoom out of the map.
Export: 🖉 🔂	Exports the graph as a .png image or as a PDF.
Last 6 hours Last 12 hours Last 24 hours Last 7 days Last 30 days	Indicates the period over which the change measurements are taken.

## **Take Packet Captures**

PAN-OS supports packet capture for troubleshooting or detecting unknown applications. You can define filters such that only the packets that match the filters are captured. The packet captures are locally stored on the device and are available for download to your local computer.



Packet Capture is for troubleshooting only. This feature can cause the system performance to degrade and should be used only when necessary. Remember to disable the feature after you complete the packet capture.

The following table describes the packet capture settings on **Monitor > Packet Capture**.

Field	Description							
Manage Filters	Click <b>Manage Filters</b> , click <b>Add</b> to add a new filter, and specify the following information:							
	• <b>Id</b> —Enter or select an identifier for the filter.							
	Ingress Interface—Select the firewall interface.							
	• <b>Source</b> —Specify the source IP address.							
	• <b>Destination</b> —Specify the destination IP address.							
	• <b>Src Port</b> —Specify the source port.							
	Dest Port—Specify the destination port.							
	• <b>Proto</b> —Specify the protocol to filter.							
	• <b>Non-IP</b> —Choose how to treat non-IP traffic (exclude all IP traffic, include all IP traffic, include only IP traffic, or do not include an IP filter).							
	• IPv6—Select the check box to include IPv6 packets in the filter.							
Filtering	Click to toggle the filtering selections on or off.							
Pre-Parse Match	Click to toggle the pre-parse match option on or off.							
	The pre-parse-match option is added for advanced troubleshooting purposes. After a packet enters the ingress port, it proceeds through several processing steps before it is parsed for matches against pre-configured filters.							
	It is possible for a packet, due to a failure, to not reach the filtering stage. This can occur, for example, if a route lookup fails.							
	Set the pre-parse-match setting to <b>ON</b> to emulate a positive match for every packet entering the system. This allows the firewall to capture even the packets that do not reach the filtering process. If a packet is able to reach the filtering stage, it is then processed according to the filter configuration and discarded if it fails to meet filtering criteria.							

Field	Description
Packet Capture	Click to toggle packet capturing on or off.
	For anti-spyware and vulnerability protection profiles, you can enable extended packet captures for rules and exceptions defined in the profile. This functionality allows the firewall to capture from 1 to 50 packets and provides more context when analyzing the threat logs.
	To define the extended packet capture length: 1. Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Content-ID.</b>
	2. Edit the Threat Detection Settings section to specify the <b>Capture Length</b> for the number of packets to capture.
	Threat Detection Settings           Extended Packet Capture Length (packets)         5
	3. View the packet capture in <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Threat</b> .
	Locate the threat log entry and click the green arrow (Packet Capture) icon in the corresponding row to view the capture.
Packet Capture Stage	Select Add and specify the following:
	• <b>Stage</b> —Indicate the point at which to capture the packet:
	• <b>drop</b> —When packet processing encounters an error and the packet is to be dropped.
	• <b>firewall</b> —When the packet has a session match or a first packet with a session is successfully created.
	• <b>receive</b> —When the packet is received on the dataplane processor.
	• <b>transmit</b> —When the packet is to be transmitted on the dataplane processor.
	• <b>File</b> —Specify the capture file name. The file name should begin with a letter and can include letters, digits, periods, underscores, or hyphens.
	• <b>Packet Count</b> —Specify the number of packets after which capturing stops.
	• <b>Byte Count</b> —Specify the number of bytes after which capturing stops.
Captured Files	Select <b>Delete</b> to remove a packet capture file from the list displaying captured files.
Clear All Settings	Select <b>Clear All Settings</b> to clear all packet capture settings.

## Monitor the Firewall

The following sections describe the methods you can use to monitor the firewall and provide basic setup instructions:

- Monitor Applications and Threats
- Monitor Log Data
- Monitor the Dashboard
- View Reports



You can also configure the firewall (excluding PA-4000 Series and PA-7050 firewalls) to export flow data to a NetFlow collector for analysis and reporting. To configure NetFlow Settings, refer to the PAN-OS Web Interface Reference Guide.

## Monitor Applications and Threats

All Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls come equipped with the App-ID technology, which identifies the applications traversing your network, irrespective of protocol, encryption, or evasive tactic. You can then Use the Application Command Center to monitor the applications. ACC graphically summarizes the log database to highlight the applications traversing your network, who is using them, and their potential security impact. ACC is dynamically updated, using the continuous traffic classification that App-ID performs; if an application changes ports or behavior, App-ID continues to see the traffic, displaying the results in ACC.

You can quickly investigate new, risky, or unfamiliar applications that appear in ACC with a single click that displays a description of the application, its key features, its behavioral characteristics, and who is using it. Additional visibility into URL categories, threats, and data provides a complete and well-rounded picture of network activity. With ACC, you can very quickly learn more about the traffic traversing the network and then translate that information into a more informed security policy.

paloalto	Di	shboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Objects	Network	Device	é	🕯 🗎 Sa
	Layout:	3 Columns	<b>- ::</b> w	idgets 🔥 l	ast updated: 09:16.	5:44		1 m	in 💌	S 0
URL Filtering Logs		5 ⊠	Data Logs			5 ⊠	ACC Risk Factor			5 ⊠
URL	Category	Time	File Name		Name	Time	Last CO minutes	1 2 3	4 5	
www.sheriffguadagno.com/favico n.ico	personal- sites-	09/19 09:16:42	1537077.flv		FLV File	09/19 09:16:43	Last ou minutes		<u>.</u>	
ichart.finance.vahoo.com/instrum	and-blogs	09/19	validateForm.js		Confidential	09/19	3.4			
ent/1.0/^N225/chart;range=1d /image;size=239x110	edia	09:16:42			MP4 Detected	09/19 09:16:37				
b.static.ak.fbcdn.net/rsrc.php	content-	09/19	i18n.js		Confidential	09/19	Threat Logs			S 🛛
/141/165156	networks	09.10.42			0.01.01	09:16:33	Name		Severity	Time
/js/dk4xcwf9hrswsko0.pkg.js	content-	09/19			Confidential	09/19	FTP Login Failed		informational	09/19
/z315R/l/b55dg2qo/en_US /146748/css/UIProfileBox.css	delivery- networks	09:16:42	i18n.js		Confidential	09/19 09:16:32	MIT Kerberos kad	mind RPC Library	high	09/19
b.static.ak.fbcdn.net/rsrc.php	content-	09/19	Week 4 Summar	ry.doc	Microsoft	09/19	Vulnerability	in class or criticity		00120112
/283HV/Ipkg/dvtt/mrg/en_US /141/169335 /ccs/3w4176i09e2o88ow.pkg.ccs	networks	09:16:42	Week 4 Summar	ry.doc	Microsoft Word	09/19	HTTP Forbidden E	rror	informational	09/19 09:16:42
entertain.teenee.com/thaistar /vote.oif	personal- sites-	09/19	pa4.doc		Microsoft Word	09/19	HTTP WWW-Auth	entication Failed	informational	09/19 09:16:41
1						09,10,20	land the second second		1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A	

### Monitor Log Data

All Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls can generate log files that provide an audit trail of the activities and events on the firewall. There are separate logs for separate types of activities and events. For example, the Threat logs record all traffic that causes the firewall to generate a security alarm, URL Filtering logs record all traffic that matches a URL Filtering profile attached to a security policy, and Config logs record all changes to the firewall configuration.

You can either Forward Logs to External Services or you can view logs locally on the device as follows:

- View the Log Files
- Filter Log Data

#### View the Log Files

The firewall maintains logs for WildFire, configurations, system, alarms, traffic flows, threats, URL filtering, data filtering, and Host Information Profile (HIP) matches. You can view the current logs at any time. To locate specific entries, you can apply filters to most of the log fields.



The firewall displays the information in logs so that role-based administration permissions are respected. When you display logs, only the information that you have permission to see is included. For information on administrator permissions, see Administrative Roles.

By default all log files are generated and stored locally on the firewall. You can view these log files directly (Monitor > Logs):

🐙 palo <mark>alto</mark>		_									A		
NETWORKS		D	ashboard	ACC MC	onitor Policies (	Dbjects	Network	Devi	ce		a com	1. 🍯 🔚 😣	we
	Virtu	tual System All											
▼ 📴 Logs	۹(											🗴 🕀 🗗 🚧	۲
Traffic			Receive Time	туре	Name	From Zone	To Zone	Attacker	Attac Name	Victim	To Port	Application	
URL Filtering	P	\$	01/10 14:24:30	spyware	Suspicious DNS Query (geoeric or bads o doubled	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal	10.43.2.10	53	dns	Ŀ
Data Filtering	Þ	ŧ	01/10 13:43:34	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Cipher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	74.125.25.95	443	sal	
Configuration System	P	ŧ	01/10 11:45:15	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Clipher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	74.125.25.95	443	ssi	
P Packet Capture	P	ŧ	01/10 11:39:35	spyware	Suspidous DNS Query (generic:pubads.g.doublec	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	10.43.2.10	53	dns	
▼ 40 App Scope	P	ŧ	01/10 10:26:29	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Opher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	74.125.239.45	443	ssi	
Threat Monitor	P	ł	01/08 15:28:45	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Cipher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal	93.184.216.139	443	twitter-base	
Retwork Monitor	P	ŧ	01/08 15:11:15	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Cipher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal	74.125.239.47	443	ssl	
Session Browser	ø	ŧ	01/07 15:11:15	vulnerability	SSL Double Client Hello Cipher Suite Length Mismatch	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	208.77.214.139	443	es!	
Manage PDF Summary	Þ	ŧ	01/02 11:52:08	vulnerability	Nicrosoft Windows SMB Fragmentation RPC Request Attempt	trust	untrust	10.47.2	gerald	10.44.2.15	445	marpc	
Report Groups	P	ł	01/02 11:46:50	vulnerability	Microsoft Windows SMB Fragmentation RPC Request Attempt	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	10.44.2.15	445	marpc	
Manage Custom Reports	P	ŧ	12/30 14:07:16	vulnerability	HTTP JavaScript Obfuscation Detected	untrust	trust	63.146		10.47.20.20	42553	web-browsing	u
the response	ø	ŧ	12/30 12:28:19	vulnerability	Generic GET Method Buffer Overflow Vulnerability	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	208.92.238.66	80	web-browsing	
	P	ŧ	12/30 12:28:18	vulnerability	Generic GET Method Buffer Overflow Vulnerability	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal gerald	208.92.238.66	80	web-browsing	
	ø	ŝ	12/30 12:24:34	vulnerability	Generic GET Method Buffer Overflow Vulnerability	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal geraid	208.92.238.66	80	web-browsing	
	Þ	ł	12/30 12:24:33	vulnerability	Generic GET Method Buffer Overflow Vulnerability	trust	untrust	10.47.2	paloal geraid	208.92.238.66	80	web-browsing	-
	KM		123456789	10   Þ   🗌 Res	solve hostname				Dispi	aying logs 1 - 20 2	0 🔻 ре	r page   DESC	v
	mve	sidya	anathan  Logout							Active	🧿 Tasks L	anguage 🖺 Ak	arms

To display additional details, click the spyglass icon [ for an entry.

Detailed Log Viev	N													0 🗆
General				Sourc	ce				De	stination				
General Set App C Session End Virtual De IIP F Log Generat Sta Recei Elapsed Tin	ssion ID 103 Action allow olication incom Rule rule1 ategory any Reason tcp-rs System vsys1 wice SN Protocol tcp g Action ed Time 2014/ art Time 2014/ me(sec) 5	D 103 n allow nincomplete le rule1 ry any n tcp-rst-from-server w sys1 N tcp 2014/03/25 11:02:57 ne 2014/03/25 11:02:58 c) 5			Source User Address 11.11.11.1 Country US Port 41220 Zone l3trust Interface ethernet1/1 Details Bytes 134 Bytes Received 60 Bytes Sent 74 Repeat Count 1 Packets 2 Packets Received 1 Packets Sent 1				Destination User Address 11.11.11.2 Country US Port 80 Zone I3trust Interface ethernet1/1  Flags Captive Portal Proxy Transaction Decrypted Packet Capture Client to Server Server to Client Symmetric Return Mirrored					
Related Logs (	+/- 24 Hours	)												
PCAP Rece	ive Time	Log	Туре		Application	Action	Rule	Bytes	s	Packets	Severity	Catego	ry	URL/
2014	/03/25 11:02:5	8 TRAFFIC	end		incomplete	allow	rule1	134		2		any		
													C	Close

The following table includes information on each log type:

Log Description Charts	Description
Traffic	Displays an entry for the start and end of each session. Each entry includes the date and time, source and destination zones, addresses and ports, application name, security rule name applied to the flow, rule action ( <b>allow</b> , <b>deny</b> , or <b>drop</b> ), ingress and egress interface, number of bytes, and session end reason.
	Click in next to an entry to view additional details about the session, such as whether an ICMP entry aggregates multiple sessions between the same source and destination (the <b>Count</b> value will be greater than one).
	The <b>Type</b> column indicates whether the entry is for the start or end of the session, or whether the session was denied or dropped. A <b>drop</b> indicates that the security rule that blocked the traffic specified <b>any</b> application, while a <b>deny</b> indicates the rule identified a specific application.
	If traffic is dropped before the application is identified, such as when a rule drops all traffic for a specific service, the application is shown as <b>not-applicable</b> .

Log Description Charts	Description
Threat	Displays an entry when traffic matches a Security Profile (Antivirus, Anti-spyware, Vulnerability, URL Filtering, File Blocking, Data Filtering, or DoS Protection) that is attached to a security policy on the firewall. Each entry includes the date and time, a threat name or URL, the source and destination zones, addresses, and ports, the application name, and the alarm action ( <b>allow</b> or <b>block</b> ) and severity.
	Click next to an entry to view additional details about the threat, such as whether the entry aggregates multiple threats of the same type between the same source and destination (the <b>Count</b> value will be greater than one).
	The <b>Type</b> column indicates the type of threat, such as "virus" or "spyware." The Name column is the threat description or URL, and the <b>Category</b> column is the threat category (such as "keylogger") or URL category.
	If local packet captures are enabled, click 📮 next to an entry to access the captured packets. To enable local packet captures, see Take Packet Captures.
URL Filtering	Displays logs for all traffic that matches a URL Filtering profile attached to a security policy. For example, if policy blocks access to specific web sites and web site categories or if policy is configured to generate an alert when a web site is accessed. For information on defining URL filtering profiles, see URL Filtering.
WildFire Submissions	Displays logs for files that are uploaded and analyzed by the WildFire cloud; log data is sent back to the device after analysis, along with the analysis results.
Data Filtering	Displays logs for the security policies that help prevent sensitive information such as credit card or social security numbers from leaving the area protected by the firewall. See Set Up Data Filtering for information on defining data filtering profiles.
	This log also shows information for file-blocking profiles. For example, if you are blocking <i>.exe</i> files, the log will show the files that were blocked. If you forward files to WildFire, you will see the results of that action. In this case, if you are forwarding PE files to WildFire, for example, the log will show that the file was forwarded and will also show the status on whether or not it was uploaded to WildFire successfully.
Configuration	Displays an entry for each configuration change. Each entry includes the date and time, the administrator username, the IP address from where the change was made, the type of client (XML, Web or CLI), the type of command executed, whether the command succeeded or failed, the configuration path, and the values before and after the change.
System	Displays an entry for each system event. Each entry includes the date and time, the event severity, and an event description.
HIP Match	Displays traffic flows that match a HIP Object or HIP Profile that you have configured.

#### Filter Log Data

Each log page has a filter area at the top of the page.

( zone.dst eq tapzone ) and ( app eq unknown-udp )

🗩 🗶 🕂 📑 🚔 😫

Use the filter area as follows:

- Click any of the underlined links in the log listing to add that item as a log filter option. For example, if you click the **Host** link in the log entry for 10.0.0.252 and **Web Browsing**, both items are added, and the search will find entries that match both (AND search).
- To define other search criteria, click Add Log Filter. Select the type of search (and/or), the attribute to include in the search, the matching operator, and the values for the match, if appropriate. Click Add to add the criterion to the filter area on the log page, and then click **Close** to close the pop-up window. Click **Apply Filter** to display the filtered list.



If the **Value** string matches an **Operator** (such as **has** or **in**), enclose the string in quotation marks to avoid a syntax error. For example, if you filter by destination country and use IN as a **Value** to specify INDIA, enter the filter as ( dstloc eq "IN" ). You can combine filter expressions added on the log page with those you define in the Add Log Filter dialog. The filter field on the log page displays each filter as an entry. If you add a **Receive Time** filter with the **Operator** set to **in** and the **Value** set to **Last 60 seconds**, some of the page links on the log viewer might not show results because the number of pages might grow or shrink due to the dynamic nature of the selected time.

- To clear filters and redisplay the unfiltered list, click **Clear Filter**.
- To save your selections as a new filter, click **Save Filter**, enter a name for the filter, and click **OK**.
- To export the current log listing (as shown on the page, including any applied filters) click **Save Filter**. Select whether to open the file or save it to disk, and select the check box if you want to always use the same option. Click **OK**.
- To export the current log listing in CSV Format, select the **Export to CSV** icon. By default, exporting the log listing to CSV format generates a CSV report with up to 2,000 rows of logs. To change the limit for rows displayed in CSV reports, use the **Max Rows in CSV Export** field on the **Log Export and Reporting** tab (select **Device > Setup > Management > Logging and Reporting Settings**).

To change the automatic refresh interval, select an interval from the drop-down (**1 min, 30 seconds, 10 seconds**, or **Manual**).

To change the number of log entries per page, select the number of rows from the **Rows** drop-down.

Log entries are retrieved in blocks of 10 pages. Use the paging controls at the bottom of the page to navigate through the log list. Select the **Resolve Hostname** check box to begin resolving external IP addresses to domain names.

### Monitor the Dashboard

You can also monitor the local log data directly from the **Dashboard** by adding the associated widgets:

paloalto	Da	ashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Objects	Network	Device		😭 🗐 Sa
	Layout:	3 Columns	<b>-</b>	Vidgets 🔚	Last updated: 09:1	16:44		1 m	in 💌	୍ ତ
URL Filtering Logs		SX	Data Logs			S 🛛	ACC Risk Factor			5 ⊠
URL	Category	Time	File Name		Name	Time	Last CO minutes	1 2 3	4 5	
www.sheriffguadagno.com/favico n.ico	personal- sites-	09/19 09:16:42	1537077.flv		FLV File	09/19 09:16:43	Last 60 minutes			
ichart.finance.yahoo.com/instrum	and-blogs news-and-m	09/19	validateForm.j	s	Confidential	09/19 09:16:43	3.4			
ent/1.0/^N225/chart;range=1d /image;size=239x110	edia	09:16:42			MP4 Detected	09/19 09:16:37				
b.static.ak.fbcdn.net/rsrc.php /z30WB/lpkg/81s3yfbn/en_US	content- delivery-	09/19	i18n.js		Confidential	09/19	Threat Logs			S 🛛
/141/165156	networks				Confidential	09:16:33	Name		Severity	Time
/js/dk4xcwt9nrswskou.pkg.js b.static.ak.fbcdn.net/rsrc.php	content-	09/19			Connachaar	09:16:32	FTP Login Failed		informational	09/19 09:16:43
/z315R//b55dg2qo/en_US /146748/css/UIProfileBox.css	delivery- networks	09:16:42	i18n.js		Confidential	09/19 09:16:32	MIT Kerberos kad	mind RPC Library	high	09/19
b.static.ak.fbcdn.net/rsrc.php	content-	09/19	Week 4 Summ	ary.doc	Microsoft	09/19	Vulnerability			
/283HV/Ipkg/dvtt/mrg/en_US /141/169335 /css/3w4176i09e2o88ow.pkg.css	networks	09:16:42	Week 4 Summ	ary.doc	Microsoft Word	09/19	HTTP Forbidden E	rror	informational	09/19 09:16:42
entertain.teenee.com/thaistar	personal-	09/19	pa4.doc		Microsoft Word	09/19	HTTP WWW-Auth	entication Failed	informational	09/19
/vote.gif	sites- and-blogs	09:16:42	l'			09:16:28	FTP Login Failed		informational	09/19
www.jstor.org/templates	training-	09/19	pa4.doc		Microsoft MSOFFICE	09/19 09:16:28				09:16:40
/jsp/_jstor/images/dear.gif	and-tools	09:16:42					FTP: login brute f	orce attempt	high	09/19 09:16:40
statse.webtrendslive.com/	computer- and-internet -info	09/19 09:16:42	System Logs			5 🛛	HTTP Forbidden E	irror	informational	09/19 09:16:38
newsrss.bbc.co.uk/rss	news-and-m	09/19	Description			Time	FTP Login Failed		informational	09/19
/newsonline_world_edition /front_page/rss.xml	edia	09:16:42	User Imelvin lo 64.124.57.5 u	gged in via We sing https	b from	09/19 09:15:39	Microsoft ASP.NE	TRemote	low	09:16:36
www.jstor.org.bob.csueastbay.e du/templates/jsp/_jstor/images	reference- and-researc	09/19 09:16:42	User 'Imelvin' a 64.124.57.5.	uthenticated. I	From:	09/19 09:15:39	Unauthenticated Vulnerability	Denial of Service		09:16:34

### **View Reports**

The firewall also uses the log data to generate reports (**Monitor > Reports**) that display the log data in a tabular or graphical format. See About Reports for more details on the predefined and custom reports available on the firewall.

NETWORKS	D	ashboard ACC	Monitor Policies	Objects	Network	Device	_		80	ommit	đ		Save
												с (	•
Logs		Threat/Content Name		I	ID	Co	Int	Cus	tom	Repo	rts		
Traffic	1	FTP Login Failed		4	40000	22.3K	-	Ар	olicat		epor		
Threat	2	FTP: login brute force a	ttempt	4	40001	12.3K		Тга	ffic R	epor			
URL Filtering	3	HTTP Forbidden Error		3	34556	6.7K 🗔		The	ost I	eno			
Data Filtering	4	HTTP OPTIONS Method		3	30520	4.5K 🔳				ic por	6		
HIP Match	5	HTTP WWW-Authentica	tion Failed	3	31708	2.2K 🚺			Att	ackers			
- Lonfiguration	6	Microsoft ASP.NET Rem	ote Unauthenticated Denial of Service Vul	nerability 3	32513	2.0 K		1 8	Att	acker (	Count	nes	
System	7	DNS ANY Request		3	34842	999		1 6	Vict	ims Co	mbrier	-	
Alarms	8	HTTP Non RFC-Complia	ATTP Non RFC-Compliant Response Found 3287			699 🛔			Mieu	in cou	unu ies		
P Packet Capture	9	Adobe PDF File With Embedded Javascript			31971	446	= W Spyware						
App Scope	10	Microsoft ASP.Net Information Leak Vulnerability		2	33435	377 🛔	-	W Vulnerabilities o		0			
Change Monitor	11	Generic GET Method Bu	ffer Overflow Vulnerability	3	34267	141		1	Spy	ware	Infect	Hos	sts
Threat Monitor	12	NetBIOS nbtstat query		3	31707	135		UR	Filt	erina	Repo	rts	
Contract Man	13	PDF Exploit Evasion Fou	ind	3	33939	123							
Network Monitor	14	MIT Kerberos kadmind F Vulnerability	IPC Library Unix Authentication Stack Ove	erflow 3	30243	102 🛿		4	Ser	otem	y Rep ber 2	012 <b>•</b>	
	15	SSH2 Login Attempt		3	31914	98							
Botnet	16	SIP Register Request A	ttempt	3	33592	98 🖡							-
PDE Reports	17	HTTP JavaScript Obfus	ation Detected	3	31825	96 🛔		26	27	28	29	30 31	1
Manage PDE Summary	18	SSL Renegotiation Deni	al of Service Vulnerability	3	33862	94 🛔		2	3	4	5	6 7	7
Sallser Activity Report	19	PHP CGI Query String P	arameter Handling Information Disclosure	Vulnerability 3	34860	78		9	10	11	12	13 1	4
Report Groups	20	Apache Un-terminated	Request With Content Length Denial Of Se	ervice Attack	32452	51		16	17	10			
Email Scheduler	21	HTTP JavaScript Obfus	ation Detected		31826	48	-	10	1/	10	72 .	eu 2.	
Manage Custom Reports			Event to BDE	Turnet by M				23	24		26	27 28	3
III Reports			Export to PDF Export to CS	export to x				30				4 5	

# Forward Logs to External Services

Depending on the type and severity of the data in the log files, you may want to be alerted to critical events that require your attention, or you may have policies that require you to archive the data for longer than it can be stored on the firewall. In these cases you will want to forward your log data to an external service for archive, notification, and/or analysis.

- To forward log data to an external service you must complete the following tasks:
- Configure the firewall to access the remote services that will be receiving the logs. See Define Remote Logging Destinations.
- Configure each log type for forwarding. See Enable Log Forwarding.
- For traffic and threat logs, enabling log forwarding includes setting up a log forwarding profile or a default log forwarding profile. For details, see Log Forwarding Profiles.

## **Define Remote Logging Destinations**

In order to reach an external service—such as a Syslog server or SNMP trap manager—the firewall must know the details of how to access and, if necessary, authenticate to the service. On the firewall, you define this information in a Server Profile. You must create a Server Profile for each external service you want the firewall to interact with. The type of logging destinations you need to set up and which logs you forward will depend on your needs. Some common log forwarding scenarios include the following:

- For immediate notification about critical system events or threats that require your attention, you can generate SNMP traps or send email alerts. See Set Up Email Alerts and/or Set Up SNMP Trap Destinations.
- For long-term storage and archival of data and for centralized device monitoring, you can send the log data to a Syslog server. See Define Syslog Servers. This enables integration with third-party security monitoring tools, such as Splunk! or ArcSight. You can also secure the channel between the firewall and the Syslog server. See Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server.
- For aggregation and reporting of log data from multiple Palo Alto Networks firewalls, you can forward logs to a Panorama Manager or Panorama Log Collector. See Enable Log Forwarding.

You can define as many Server Profiles as you need. For example, you could use separate Server Profiles to send traffic logs to one Syslog server and system logs to a different one. Or, you could include multiple server entries in a single Server Profile to enable you to log to multiple Syslog servers for redundancy.



By default, all log data is forwarded over the MGT interface. If you plan to use an interface other than MGT, you will need to configure a Service Route for each service to which you plan to forward logs as described in Step 5 in the procedure to Set Up Network Access for External Services.

#### Set Up Email Alerts

Set Up	Email Alerts		
Step 1	Create a Server Profile for your email	1.	Select Device > Server Profiles > Email.
	server.	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and then enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile.
		3.	(Optional) Select the virtual system to which this profile applies from the <b>Location</b> drop-down.
		4.	Click <b>Add</b> to add a new email server entry and enter the information required to connect to the Simple Mail Transport Protocol (SMTP) server and send email (you can add up to four email servers to the profile):
			• <b>Server</b> —Name to identify the mail server (1-31 characters). This field is just a label and does not have to be the host name of an existing SMTP server.
			• <b>Display Name</b> —The name to show in the From field of the email.
			• <b>From</b> —The email address where notification emails will be sent from.
			• <b>To</b> —The email address to which notification emails will be sent.
			• Additional Recipient—If you want the notifications sent to a second account, enter the additional address here. You can only add one additional recipient. To add multiple recipients, add the email address of a distribution list.
			• <b>Gateway</b> —The IP address or host name of the SMTP gateway to use to send the emails.
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the server profile.
Step 2	(Optional) Customize the format of the email messages the firewall sends.	Sel cus Eve	ect the <b>Custom Log Format</b> tab. For details on how to create stom formats for the various log types, refer to the Common ent Format Configuration Guide.
Step 3	Save the server profile and commit your changes.	1. 2.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile. Click <b>Commit</b> to save the changes to the running configuration.

#### Set Up SNMP Trap Destinations

Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP) is a standard facility for monitoring the devices on your network. You can configure the firewall to send SNMP traps to your SNMP management software to alert you to critical system events or threats that require your immediate attention.



You can also use SNMP to monitor the firewall. In this case, your SNMP manager must be configured to get statistics from the firewall rather than (or in addition to) having the firewall send traps to the manager. For more information, see Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server.

Set Up	SNMP Trap Destinations	
Step 1	(SNMP v3 only) Get the engine ID for the firewall. In many cases, the MIB browser or SNMP manager will automatically discover the engine ID upon successful connection to the SNMP agent on the firewall. You can usually find this information in the agent settings section of the interface. Refer to the documentation for your specific product for instructions on finding the agent information.	<ul> <li>In order to find out the firewall's engine ID, you must configure the firewall for SNMP v3 and send a GET message from your SNMP manager or MIB browser as follows:</li> <li>1. Enable the interface to allow inbound SNMP requests: <ul> <li>If you will be receiving SNMP GET messages on the MGT interface, select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management and click to Edit in the Management Interface Settings section of the screen. In the Services section, select the SNMP check box and then click OK.</li> <li>If you will be receiving SNMP GET messages on a different interface, you must associate a management profile with the interface and enable SNMP management.</li> </ul> </li> <li>2. Configure the firewall for SNMP v3 as described in Step 2 in Set Up SNMP Monitoring. If you do not configure the firewall for SNMP v3, your MIB browser or SNMP manager to the firewall and run a GET for OID 1.3.6.1.6.3.10.2.1.1.0. The value that is returned is the unique engine ID for the firewall.</li> </ul>

Step 2 Create a Server Profile that contains the information for connecting and authenticating to the SNMP manager(s).

- 1. Select Device > Server Profiles > SNMP Trap.
- 2. Click **Add** and then enter a **Name** for the profile.
- 3. (Optional) Select the virtual system to which this profile applies from the Location drop-down.
- 4. Specify the version of SNMP you are using (V2c or V3).
- 5. Click Add to add a new SNMP Trap Receiver entry (you can add up to four trap receivers per server profile). The required values depend on whether you are using SNMP V2c or V3 as follows: SNMP V2c
  - **Server**—Name to identify the SNMP manager (1-31 characters). This field is just a label and does not have to be the host name of an existing SNMP server.
  - Manager—The IP address of the SNMP manager to which you want to send traps.
  - **Community**—The community string required to authenticate to the SNMP manager. SNMP V3
  - **Server**—Name to identify the SNMP manager (1-31 characters). This field is just a label and does not have to be the host name of an existing SNMP server.
  - Manager—The IP address of the SNMP manager to which you want to sent traps.
  - User-The username required to authenticate to the SNMP manager.
  - **EngineID**—The engine ID of the firewall, as identified in Step 1. This is a hexadecimal value from 5 to 64 bytes with a 0x prefix. Each firewall has a unique engine ID.
  - Auth Password—The password to be used for authNoPriv level messages to the SNMP manager. This password will be hashed using Secure Hash Algorithm (SHA-1), but will not be encrypted.
  - **Priv Password**—The password to be used for authPriv level messages to the SNMP manager. This password be hashed using SHA and will be encrypted using Advanced Encryption Standard (AES 128).
- 6. Click **OK** to save the server profile.

Set Up	SNMP Trap Destinations (Continued)	
Step 3	(Optional) Set up a service route for SNMP traps.	By default, SNMP traps are sent over the MGT interface. If you want to use a different interface for SNMP traps, you must edit the service route to enable the firewall to reach your SNMP manager. See Set Up Network Access for External Services for instructions.
Step 4	Commit your changes.	Click <b>Commit</b> . The device may take up to 90 seconds to save your changes.
Step 5	Enable the SNMP manager to interpret the traps it receives from the firewall.	Load the PAN-OS MIB files into your SNMP management software and compile them. Refer to the documentation for your SNMP manager for specific instructions on how to do this.

#### **Define Syslog Servers**

Syslog is a standard log transport mechanism that enables the aggregation of log data from different network devices—such as routers, firewalls, printers—from different vendors into a central repository for archive, analysis, and reporting.

The firewall generates six types of logs that can be forwarded to an external syslog server: traffic, threat, WildFire, host information profile (HIP) match, config, and system. If you want to forward all or some of these logs to an external service for long-term storage and analysis, you can use TCP or SSL for reliable and secure transport of logs, or UDP for non-secure transport.

Set Up	Syslog Forwarding		
Step 1	Create a Server Profile that contains the	1.	Select Device > Server Profiles > Syslog.
Step 1	information for connecting to the Syslog	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and then enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile.
	server(s).	3.	(Optional) Select the virtual system to which this profile applies from the <b>Location</b> drop-down.
		4.	Click <b>Add</b> to add a new Syslog server entry and enter the information required to connect to the Syslog server (you can add up to four Syslog servers to the same profile):
			• <b>Name</b> —Unique name for the server profile.
			• <b>Server</b> —IP address or fully qualified domain name (FQDN) of the Syslog server.
			• <b>Transport</b> —Select TCP, UDP, or SSL as the method of communication with the syslog server.
			• <b>Port</b> —The port number on which to send Syslog messages (default is UDP on port 514); you must use the same port number on the firewall and the Syslog server.
			• Format—Select the Syslog message format to use, BSD or IETF. Traditionally, BSD format is over UDP and IETF format is over TCP/SSL. For setting up secure syslog forwarding with client authentication, see Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server.
			• <b>Facility</b> —Select one of the Syslog standard values, which is used to calculate the priority (PRI) field in your Syslog server implementation. You should select the value that maps to how you use the PRI field to manage your Syslog messages.
		5.	(Optional) To customize the format of the Syslog messages the firewall sends, select the <b>Custom Log Format</b> tab. For details on how to create custom formats for the various log types, refer to the Common Event Format Configuration Guide.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the server profile.

Set Up Syslog Forwarding (Continued)	
Step 2 (Optional) Configure the header format used in Syslog messages. Choosing the header format offers more flexibility in filtering and reporting on the log data for some SIEMs.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management and click the Edit icon in the Logging and Reporting Settings section.</li> <li>Select Log Export and Reporting.</li> <li>Select one of the following options from the Send Hostname in Syslog drop-down:</li> </ol>
g Storage       Log Export and Reporting         Number of Versions for Config Audit       100         Max Rows in CSV Export       65535         Max Rows in User Activity Report       5000         Average Browse Time (sec)       60         Page Load Threshold (sec)       20         Syslog HOSTNAME Format       2000         Pre-Defined Reports       none         Application Reports       none         Application Categories       jpv6-address         Image This is a global setting and applies to all syslog server profiles configured on the appliance.	<ul> <li>FQDN—(the default) Concatenates the hostname and domain name defined on the sending device.</li> <li>hostname—Uses the hostname defined on the sending device.</li> <li>ipv4-address—Uses the IPv4 address of the interface used to send logs on the device. By default, this is the MGT interface of the device.</li> <li>ipv6-address—Uses the IPv6 address of the interface used to send logs on the device. By default, this is the MGT interface of the device.</li> <li>ipv6-address—Uses the IPv6 address of the interface used to send logs on the device. By default, this is the MGT interface of the device.</li> <li>none—Leaves the hostname field unconfigured on the device. There is no identifier for the device that sent the logs.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ul>
Step 3 Commit your changes.	Click <b>Commit</b> . The device may take up to 90 seconds to save your changes.
Step 4 Enable log forwarding.	<ul> <li>See Enable Log Forwarding.</li> <li>You must configure each log type for forwarding and specify the severity for which the event is logged.</li> <li>WildFire logs are a type of threat log, but they are not logged and forwarded along with threat logs. While WildFire logs use the same syslog format as threat logs, the threat subtype is preset to WildFire. Therefore, you must enable logging/forwarding for WildFire logs distinctly from threat logs.</li> </ul>
Step 5Review the logs on the syslog server.	To parse the logs, see Syslog Field Descriptions.

### Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server

To enable client authentication for syslog over SSL, you can use a trusted CA or a self-signed CA for generating certificates that can be used for secure syslog communication. Check for the following when generating a certificate for secure syslog communication:

- The private key must be available on the sending device; the keys cannot be stored on a Hardware Security Module (HSM).
- The subject and the issuer for the certificate must not be identical.

• The certificate is neither a trusted CA nor a certificate signing request (CSR). Neither of these types of certificates can be enabled for secure syslog communication.

#### Configure the Firewall to Authenticate to the Syslog Server

Step 1 If the syslog server requires client authentication, generate the certificate for secure communication. For details on certificates, see Certificate Management.

ertificate informa	tion
Name	Syslog SSLforfirewall
Location	Shared
Subject	/CN=pm-firewall
Issuer	/CN=cert-shared-2
Not Valid Before	Sep 19 22:38:03 2013 GMT
Not Valid After	Sep 19 22:38:03 2014 GMT
	Certificate Authority
	Forward Trust Certificate
	Forward Untrust Certificate
	SSL Exclude Certificate
	Trusted Root CA
	Certificate for Secure Web GUI
	Certificate for Secure Syslog

To verify that the sending device is authorized to communicate with the syslog server, you must enable the following:

- The server and the sending device must have certificates that are signed by the Enterprise CA; or you can generate a self-signed certificate on the firewall, export the CA root certificate from the firewall and import it in to the syslog server.
- Use the Enterprise CA or the self-signed certificate to generate a certificate with the IP address of the sending device (as the Common Name) and enabled for use in secure syslog communication. The syslog server uses this certificate to verify that the firewall is authorized to communicate with the syslog server.

Use the following steps to generate the certificate on the firewall or Panorama:

- 1. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
- 2. Click **Generate** to create a new certificate that will be signed by a trusted CA or the self-signed CA.
- B. Enter a **Name** for the certificate.
- . In **Common Name**, enter the IP address of the device sending logs to the syslog server.
- 5. Select **Shared** if you want the certificate to be a shared certificate on Panorama or to be shared by all virtual systems in a multiple virtual system firewall.
- 6. In **Signed by**, select the trusted CA or the self-signed CA that is trusted by both the syslog server and the sending device.
- 7. Click **Generate**. The certificate and the keypair will be generated.
- Click the link with name of the certificate and enable the Certificate for Secure Syslog option for secure access to the syslog server.
- 9. **Commit** the changes.
- 10. Verify the certificate details and that it is marked for **Usage** as **Certificate for Secure Syslog**.

ame	Location	Subject	Issuer	CA	Key	Expires	Status	Usage
🛛 ⋥ cert-shared-2	Shared	cert-shared-2	cert-shared-2	<b>V</b>	<b>V</b>	Feb 26 23:03:44 2014 GMT	valid	Certificate for Secure Web GL
								Trusted Root CA Certificate
🔄 Syslog SSLforfirewall	Shared	pm-firewall	cert-shared-2			Sep 19 22:38:03 2014 GMT	valid	Certificate for Secure Syslog

## Enable Log Forwarding

After you create the Server Profiles that define where to send your logs (see Define Remote Logging Destinations), you must enable log forwarding. For each log type, you can specify whether to forward it to Syslog, email, SNMP trap receiver, and/or Panorama.

Before you can forward log files to a Panorama Manager or a Panorama Log Collector, the firewall must be configured as a managed device. You can then enable log forwarding to Panorama for each type of log. For logs forwarded to Panorama, support for centralized log forwarding to an external syslog server is available. You can use Secure Copy (SCP) commands from the CLI to export the entire log database (logdb) to an SCP server and import it to another firewall: refer to the PAN-OS Command Line Interface (CLI) Reference Guide. Because the log database is too large for an export or import to be practical on the following platforms, they do not support these options: PA-7050 firewall (all PAN-OS releases), Panorama virtual appliance running Panorama 6.0 or later releases, and Panorama M-Series appliances (all Panorama releases).

The way you enable forwarding depends on the log type:

- **Traffic Logs**—You enable forwarding of Traffic logs by creating a Log Forwarding Profile (**Objects > Log Forwarding**) and adding it to the security policies you want to trigger the log forwarding. Only traffic that matches a specific rule within the security policy will be logged and forwarded. For details on setting up a log forwarding profile, see Log Forwarding Profiles.
- Threat Logs—You enable forwarding of Threat logs by creating a Log Forwarding Profile (**Objects > Log Forwarding**) that specifies which severity levels you want to forward and then adding it to the security policies for which you want to trigger the log forwarding. A Threat log entry will only be created (and therefore forwarded) if the associated traffic matches a Security Profile (Antivirus, Anti-spyware, Vulnerability, URL Filtering, File Blocking, Data Filtering, or DoS Protection). For details on setting up a log forwarding profile, see Log Forwarding Profiles. The following table summarizes the threat severity levels:

Severity	Description
Critical	Serious threats, such as those that affect default installations of widely deployed software, result in root compromise of servers, and the exploit code is widely available to attackers. The attacker usually does not need any special authentication credentials or knowledge about the individual victims and the target does not need to be manipulated into performing any special functions.
High	Threats that have the ability to become critical but have mitigating factors; for example, they may be difficult to exploit, do not result in elevated privileges, or do not have a large victim pool.
Medium	Minor threats in which impact is minimized, such as DoS attacks that do not compromise the target or exploits that require an attacker to reside on the same LAN as the victim, affect only non-standard configurations or obscure applications, or provide very limited access. In addition, WildFire Submissions log entries with a malware verdict are logged as Medium.
Low	Warning-level threats that have very little impact on an organization's infrastructure. They usually require local or physical system access and may often result in victim privacy or DoS issues and information leakage. Data Filtering profile matches are logged as Low.

Severity	Description
Informational	Suspicious events that do not pose an immediate threat, but that are reported to call attention to deeper problems that could possibly exist. URL Filtering log entries and WildFire Submissions log entries with a benign verdict are logged as Informational.

- **Config Logs**—You enable forwarding of Config logs by specifying a Server Profile in the log settings configuration. (**Device > Log Settings > Config Logs**).
- System Logs—You enable forwarding of System logs by specifying a Server Profile in the log settings configuration. (Device > Log Settings > System Logs). You must select a Server Profile for each severity level you want to forward. For a partial list of system log messages and their corresponding severity levels, refer to the System Log Reference. The following table summarizes the system log severity levels:

Severity	Description		
Critical	Hardware failures, including HA failover and link failures.		
High	Serious issues, including dropped connections with external devices, such as LDAP and RADIUS servers.		
Medium	Mid-level notifications, such as antivirus package upgrades.		
Low	Minor severity notifications, such as user password changes.		
Informational	Log in/log off, administrator name or password change, any configuration change, and all other events not covered by the other severity levels.		

### Log Forwarding Profiles

Log forwarding profiles allow you to forward traffic and threat logs to Panorama or an external system. A log forwarding profile can be added to a security zone to forward zone protection logs or to a security policy to forward logs for traffic that matches that policy. You can also configure a default log forwarding profile—the settings in the default profile will be used as the default log forwarding settings for new security zones and new security policies. This allows you to consistently include your organization's preferred log forwarding settings in new policies and zones automatically, without administrators having to manually add them each time.

The following sections show how to create a log forwarding profile and how to enable a profile to be used as the default log forwarding settings for new security policies or security zones:

- ▲ Create a Log Forwarding Profile
- ▲ Set Up or Override a Default Log Forwarding Profile

#### Create a Log Forwarding Profile

Create a log forwarding profile that can be added to security policies and security zones, in order to forward traffic and threat logs to Panorama or an external system. Forwarded logs can be sent as SNMP traps, syslog messages, or email notifications.

Enable	a Log Forwarding Profile		
Step 1	Add a log forwarding profile.	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Log Forwarding Profile</b> and <b>Add</b> a new security profile group.
		2.	Give the profile group a descriptive <b>Name</b> to help identify it when adding the profile to security policies or security zones.
		3.	If the firewall is in Multiple Virtual System Mode, enable the profile to be <b>Shared</b> by all virtual systems.
		4.	Add settings for the Traffic logs, Threat logs, and WildFire logs:
			• Select the <b>Panorama</b> check box for the severity of the Traffic, Threat, or WildFire logs that you want to be forwarded to Panorama.
			<ul> <li>Specify logs that you want to forward to additional destinations: SNMP Trap destinations, Email servers, or Syslog servers.</li> </ul>
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the log forwarding profile.
Step 1	Add the log forwarding profile to a	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> or modify a security policy.
	security policy. Traffic that matches the security policy and your log forwarding profile will be forwarded to the destinations defined in your profile.	2.	Select Actions and the log forwarding profile you created in the
			Log Forwarding Profile drop-down.
			profiles you have configured, in addition to the settings defined in the log forwarding profile. For more details on
	For more details on security policies, see		security profiles, see Security Profiles.
	Security Policy.	3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the security policy.
Step 1	Add the log forwarding profile to a security zone.	1. 2	Select <b>Network &gt; Zones</b> and <b>Add</b> or modify a security zone.
	For more details on setting up security	2.	drop-down.
	zones, see Configure Interfaces and Zones.	3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the security zone.
Step 1	Save your changes.	Cor	nmit.

### Set Up or Override a Default Log Forwarding Profile

Add a new log forwarding profile or modify an existing one to be used as the default log forwarding settings for new security policy rules or new security zones. When an administrator creates a new security policy or a new security zone, the *default* log forwarding profile will be automatically selected as the policy or zone's log forwarding settings (the administrator can choose to manually select different log forwarding settings if desired). Use the following options to set up a default log forwarding profile or to override your default settings.



If no default security profile exists, the profile settings for a new security policy are set to  $\ensuremath{\textbf{None}}$  by default.

Set up a default log forwarding profile.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; Log Forwarding and Add a new log forwarding profile or modify an existing profile.</li> </ol>
	2. Name the security profile group <i>default</i> :
	Log Forwarding Profile           Name         default
	3. Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .
	<ol> <li>Confirm that the <i>default</i> log forwarding profile is included in new security policies by default:</li> </ol>
	a. Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> a new security policy.
	<ul> <li>b. Select the Actions tab and ensure the Log Forwarding field shows the <i>default</i> profile selected:</li> <li>Log Setting</li> </ul>
	Log at Session Start
	Log Forwarding default
	<ol> <li>Confirm the <i>default</i> log forwarding profile is included in new security zones by default:</li> </ol>
	a. Select <b>Network &gt; Zones</b> and <b>Add</b> a new security zone.
	<ul> <li>Ensure the Log Setting field shows the <i>default</i> log forwarding profile selected:</li> </ul>
	Log Setting default
• Override a default log forwarding profile.	If you have an existing default log forwarding profile, and you do not want the log forwarding settings defined in that profile to be applied to a new security policy or a new security zone, continue to modify the <b>Log Setting</b> field in the policy or zone according to your

## Monitor the Firewall Using SNMP

All Palo Alto Networks firewalls support standard networking SNMP management information base (MIB) modules as well as proprietary Enterprise MIB modules. You can configure an SNMP manager to get statistics from the firewall. For example, you could configure your SNMP manager to monitor the interfaces, active sessions, concurrent sessions, session utilization percentage, temperature, and/or system uptime on the firewall.



Palo Alto Networks firewalls support SNMP GET requests only; SNMP SET requests are not supported.

Set Up	SNMP Monitoring	
Step 1	Enable the interface to allow inbound SNMP requests.	<ul> <li>If you will be receiving SNMP GET messages on the MGT interface, select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management and click to Edit the Management Interface Settings section of the screen. In the Services section, select the SNMP check box and then click OK.</li> <li>If you will be receiving SNMP GET messages on a different interface, you must associate a management profile with the interface and enable SNMP management.</li> </ul>
Step 2	From the web interface on the firewall, configure the settings to allow the SNMP agent on the firewall to respond to incoming GET requests from the SNMP manager.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Operations &gt; SNMP Setup.</li> <li>Specify the Physical Location of the firewall and the name or email address of an administrative Contact.</li> <li>Select the SNMP Version and then enter the configuration details as follows (depending on which SNMP version you are using) and then click OK:         <ul> <li>V2c—Enter the SNMP Community String that will allow the SNMP manager access to the SNMP agent on the firewall. The default value is public, however because this is a well-known community string, it is a best practice to use a value that is not easily guessed.</li> <li>V3—You must create at least one View and one User in order to use SNMPv3. The view specifies which management information the manager has access to. If you want to allow access to all management information, just enter the top-level OID of .1.3.6.1 and specify the Option as include (you can also create views that exclude certain objects). Use 0xf0 as the Mask. Then when you create a user, select the View you just created and specify the Auth Password and Priv Password. The authentication settings (the community string for V2c or the username and passwords for V3) configured on the firewall must match the value configured on the SNMP manager.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Click OK to save the settings.</li> </ol>
Step 3	Enable the SNMP manager to interpret firewall statistics.	Load the PAN-OS MIB files into your SNMP management software and, if necessary, compile them. Refer to the documentation for your
	irewall statistics.	and, if necessary, compile them. Refer to the documentation for yo SNMP manager for specific instructions on how to do this.

Set Up	SNMP Monitoring (Continued)	
Step 4	Identify the statistics you want to monitor.	Using a MIB browser, walk the PAN-OS MIB files to identify the object identifiers (OIDs) that correspond to the statistics you want to monitor. For example, suppose you want to monitor Session Utilization Percentage on the firewall. Using a MIB browser you will see that this statistic corresponds to OID 1.3.6.1.4.1.25461.2.1.2.3.1.0 in the PAN-COMMON-MIB.
Step 5	Configure the SNMP management software to monitor the OIDs you are interested in.	Refer to the documentation for your SNMP manager for specific instructions on how to do this.
Step 6	After you complete the configuration on both the firewall and the SNMP manager, you can begin monitoring the firewall from your SNMP management software.	The following is an example of how an SNMP manager displays real-time session utilization percentage statistics for a monitored PA-500 firewall:

## Monitor the Firewall Using NetFlow

NetFlow is an industry-standard protocol that enables the firewall to record statistics on the IP traffic that traverses its interfaces. The firewall exports the statistics as NetFlow fields to a NetFlow collector. The NetFlow collector is a server you use to analyze network traffic for security, administration, accounting and troubleshooting purposes. All firewalls support NetFlow Version 9 except the PA-4000 Series and PA-7050 firewalls. The firewalls support only unidirectional NetFlow, not bidirectional. The firewalls perform NetFlow processing on all IP packets on the interfaces and do not support sampled NetFlow. You can export NetFlow records for Layer 3, Layer 2, virtual wire, tap, VLAN, loopback, and tunnel interfaces. For aggregate Ethernet interfaces, you can export records for the aggregate group but not for individual interfaces within the group. To identify firewall interfaces in a NetFlow collector, see Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems.

The firewall supports standard and enterprise (PAN-OS specific) NetFlow Templates, which NetFlow collectors use to decipher the exported fields. The firewall selects a template based on the type of data it exports: IPv4 or IPv6 traffic, with or without NAT, and with standard or enterprise-specific fields. The firewall periodically refreshes templates to re-evaluate which one to use (in case the type of exported data changes) and to apply any changes to the fields in the selected template. You configure the refresh frequency according to the requirements of the particular NetFlow collector you use.

#### Monitor the Firewall Using NetFlow

Step 1	Create a NetFlow server profile. The profile defines which NetFlow collectors will receive the exported records and specifies export parameters.		Select <b>Device &gt; Server Profiles &gt; NetFlow</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile. Specify the rate at which the firewall refreshes NetFlow Templates in <b>Minutes</b> (default is 30) and <b>Packets</b> (exported records—default is 20), according to the requirements of your NetFlow collector. The firewall refreshes the templates after
		4.	For the <b>Active Timeout</b> , specify the frequency in minutes at which the firewall exports records (default is 5).
		5.	Select the <b>PAN-OS Field Types</b> check box if you want the firewall to export App-ID and User-ID fields.
		6.	For each NetFlow collector (up to two per profile) that will receive fields, click <b>Add</b> and enter an identifying server <b>Name</b> , hostname or IP address ( <b>NetFlow Server</b> ), and access <b>Port</b> (default 2055).
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 2	Assign the NetFlow server profile to the interfaces that carry the traffic you want to analyze.		Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b> and click an <b>Interface</b> name to edit it. In the <b>NetFlow Profile</b> drop-down, select the NetFlow server
	The interfaces can be any type except HA, log card, or decrypt mirror. In this example, you assign the profile to an existing Ethernet interface.	3.	profile and click <b>OK</b> . Click <b>Commit</b> and <b>OK</b> .

# **NetFlow Templates**

NetFlow collectors use templates to decipher the fields that the firewall exports. The firewall selects a template based on the type of exported data: IPv4 or IPv6 traffic, with or without NAT, and with standard or enterprise-specific (PAN-OS specific) fields. The firewall periodically refreshes templates to re-evaluate which one to use (in case the type of exported data changes) and to apply any changes to the fields in the selected template. When you configure NetFlow exports, set the refresh rate based on a time interval and a number of exported records according to the requirements of your NetFlow collector. The firewall refreshes the templates after either threshold is passed.

The Palo Alto Networks firewall supports the following NetFlow templates:

Template	ID
IPv4 Standard	256
IPv4 Enterprise	257
IPv6 Standard	258
IPv6 Enterprise	259
IPv4 with NAT Standard	260
IPv4 with NAT Enterprise	261

The following table lists the NetFlow fields that the firewall can send, along with the templates that define them:

Value	Field	Description	Templates
1	IN_BYTES	Incoming counter with length N * 8 bits for the number of bytes associated with an IP flow. By default, N is 4.	All templates
2	IN_PKTS	Incoming counter with length N * 8 bits for the number of packets associated with an IP glow. By default, N is 4	All templates
4	PROTOCOL	IP protocol byte.	All templates
5	TOS	Type of Service byte setting when entering the incoming interface.	All templates
6	TCP_FLAGS	Total of all the TCP flags in this flow.	All templates
7	L4_SRC_PORT	TCP/UDP source port number (for example, FTP, Telnet, or equivalent).	All templates
8	IPV4_SRC_ADDR	IPv4 source address.	IPv4 standard
			IPv4 enterprise
			IPv4 with NAT standard
			IPv4 with NAT enterprise

Value	Field	Description	Templates
10	INPUT_SNMP	Input interface index. The value length is 2 bytes by default, but higher values are possible. For details on how Palo Alto Networks firewalls generate interface indexes, see Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems.	All templates
11	L4_DST_PORT	TCP/UDP destination port number (for example, FTP, Telnet, or equivalent).	All templates
12	IPV4_DST_ADDR	IPv4 destination address.	IPv4 standard IPv4 enterprise IPv4 with NAT standard IPv4 with NAT enterprise
14	OUTPUT_SNMP	Output interface index. The value length is 2 bytes by default, but higher values are possible. For details on how Palo Alto Networks firewalls generate interface indexes, see Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems.	All templates
21	LAST_SWITCHED	System uptime in milliseconds when the last packet of this flow was switched.	All templates
22	FIRST_SWITCHED	System uptime in milliseconds when the first packet of this flow was switched.	All templates
27	IPV6_SRC_ADDR	IPv6 source address.	IPv6 standard IPv6 enterprise
28	IPV6_DST_ADDR	IPv6 destination address.	IPv6 standard IPv6 enterprise
32	ICMP_TYPE	Internet Control Message Protocol (ICMP) packet type. This is reported as: ICMP Type * 256 + ICMP code	All templates
61	DIRECTION	<ul><li>Flow direction:</li><li>0 = ingress</li><li>1 = egress</li></ul>	All templates
148	flowId	An identifier of a flow that is unique within an <i>observation domain</i> . You can use this <i>information element</i> to distinguish between different flows if <i>flow keys</i> such as IP addresses and port numbers are not reported or are reported in separate records. The flowID corresponds to the session ID field in Traffic and Threat logs.	All templates

Value	Field	Description	Templates
233	firewallEvent	<ul> <li>Indicates a firewall event:</li> <li>0 = Ignore (invalid)</li> <li>1 = Flow created</li> </ul>	All templates
		<ul> <li>2 = Flow deleted</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>3 = Flow denied</li> </ul>	
		• 4 = Flow alert	
		• 5 = Flow update (the session state changed from active to deny)	
225	postNATSourceIPv4Address	The definition of this information element is identical to that of sourceIPv4Address, except that it reports a modified value that a NAT middlebox function caused after the packet passed the <i>observation point</i> .	IPv4 with NAT standard IPv4 with NAT enterprise
226	postNATDestinationIPv4Address	The definition of this information element is identical to that of destinationIPv4Address, except that it reports a modified value that a NAT middlebox function caused after the packet passed the observation point.	IPv4 with NAT standard IPv4 with NAT enterprise
227	postNAPTSourceTransportPort	The definition of this information element is identical to that of sourceTransportPort, except that it reports a modified value that a Network Address Port Translation (NAPT) middlebox function caused after the packet passed the observation point.	IPv4 with NAT standard IPv4 with NAT enterprise
228	postNAPTDestinationTransportPor t	The definition of this information element is identical to that of destinationTransportPort, except that it reports a modified value that a Network Address Port Translation (NAPT) middlebox function caused after the packet passed the observation point.	IPv4 with NAT standard IPv4 with NAT enterprise
346	privateEnterpriseNumber	This is a unique private enterprise number that identifies Palo Alto Networks: 25461.	IPv4 enterprise IPv4 with NAT enterprise IPv6 enterprise
56701	App-ID	The name of an application that App-ID identified. The name can be up to 32 bytes.	IPv4 enterprise IPv4 with NAT enterprise IPv6 enterprise
56702	User-ID	A username that User-ID identified. The name can be up to 64 bytes.	IPv4 enterprise IPv4 with NAT enterprise IPv6 enterprise

# Identify Firewall Interfaces in External Monitoring Systems

When you use a NetFlow collector (see Monitor the Firewall Using NetFlow) or SNMP manager (see Monitor the Firewall Using SNMP) to monitor traffic flows, an interface index (SNMP ifindex object) identifies the firewall interface that carried a particular flow. The formula that the Palo Alto Networks firewall uses to calculate interface indexes varies by platform and whether the interface is physical or logical.



You cannot use SNMP to monitor logical interfaces, only physical interfaces. You can use NetFlow to monitor logical or physical interfaces. Most NetFlow collectors use SNMP to determine the name of a physical interface based on the SNMP interface index.

Physical interface indexes have a range of 1-9999, which the firewall calculates as follows:

Firewall Platform	Calculation	Example Interface Index
Non-chassis based: VM-Series, PA-200, PA-500, PA-2000 Series, PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series The PA-4000 Series platform supports SNMP but not NetFlow.	<ul> <li>MGT port + physical port offset</li> <li>MGT port—This is a constant that depends on the platform: <ul> <li>2 for hardware-based firewalls (for example, the PA-5000 Series firewall)</li> <li>1 for the VM-Series firewall</li> </ul> </li> <li>Physical port offset—This is the physical port number.</li> </ul>	PA-5000 Series firewall, Eth1/4 = 2 (MGT port) + 4 (physical port) = <b>6</b>
Chassis based: PA-7050 firewalls This platform supports SNMP but not NetFlow.	<ul> <li>(Max. ports * slot) + physical port offset + MGT port</li> <li>Maximum ports—This is a constant of 64.</li> <li>Slot—This is the chassis slot number of the network interface card.</li> <li>Physical port offset—This is the physical port number.</li> <li>MGT port—This is a constant of 5 for PA-7050 firewalls.</li> </ul>	PA-7050 firewall, Eth3/9 = [64 (max. ports) * 3 (slot)] + 9 (phyical port) + 5 (MGT port) = <b>206</b>

Logical interface indexes for all platforms are nine-digit numbers that the firewall calculates as follows:

Interface Type	Range	Digit 9	Digits 7-8	Digits 5-6	Digits 1-4	Example Interface Index
Layer 3 subinterface	101010001- 1999999999	Type: 1	Interface slot: 1-9 (01-09)	Interface port: 1-9 (01-09)	Subinterface: suffix 1-9999 (0001-9999)	Eth1/5.22 = 10000000 (type) + 100000 (slot) + 50000 (port) + 22 (suffix) = <b>101050022</b>
Layer 2 subinterface	101010001- 1999999999	Type: 1	Interface slot: 1-9 (01-09)	Interface port: 1-9 (01-09)	Subinterface: suffix 1-9999 (0001-9999)	Eth2/3.6 = 100000000 (type) + 200000 (slot) + 30000 (port) + 6 (suffix) = <b>102030006</b>

Interface Type	Range	Digit 9	Digits 7-8	Digits 5-6	Digits 1-4	Example Interface Index
Vwire subinterface	101010001- 1999999999	Type: 1	Interface slot: 1-9 (01-09)	Interface port: 1-9 (01-09)	Subinterface: suffix 1-9999 (0001-9999)	Eth4/2.312 = 10000000 (type) + 400000 (slot) + 20000 (port) + 312 (suffix) = <b>104020312</b>
VLAN	200000001- 2000099999	Type: 2	00	00	VLAN suffix: 1-9999 (0001-9999)	VLAN.55 = 200000000 (type) + 55 (suffix) = <b>200000055</b>
Loopback	300000001- 300009999	Type: 3	00	00	Loopback suffix: 1-9999 (0001-9999)	Loopback.55 = 30000000 (type) + 55 (suffix) = <b>300000055</b>
Tunnel	400000001- 4000099999	Type: 4	00	00	Tunnel suffix: 1-9999 (0001-9999)	Tunnel.55 = 40000000 (type) + 55 (suffix) = <b>400000055</b>
Aggregate group	500010001- 500089999	Type: 5	00	AE suffix: 1-8 (01-08)	Subinterface: suffix 1-9999 (0001-9999)	AE5.99 = 50000000 (type) + 50000 (AE Suffix) + 99 (suffix) = <b>500050099</b>

## Manage Reporting

The reporting capabilities on the firewall allow you to keep a pulse on your network, validate your policies, and focus your efforts on maintaining network security for keeping your users safe and productive.

- ▲ About Reports
- ▲ View Reports
- ▲ Disable Predefined Reports
- ▲ Generate Custom Reports
- ▲ Generate Botnet Reports
- ▲ Manage PDF Summary Reports
- ▲ Generate User/Group Activity Reports
- ▲ Manage Report Groups
- ▲ Schedule Reports for Email Delivery
# About Reports

The firewall includes predefined reports that you can use as-is, or you can build custom reports that meet your needs for specific data and actionable tasks, or you can combine predefined and custom reports to compile information you need. The firewall provides the following types of reports:

- **Predefined Reports**—Allow you to view a quick summary of the traffic on your network. A suite of predefined reports are available in four categories—Applications, Traffic, Threat, and URL Filtering. See View Reports.
- User or Group Activity Reports—Allow you to schedule or create an on-demand report on the application use and URL activity for a specific user or for a user group. The report includes the URL categories and an estimated browse time calculation for individual users. See Generate User/Group Activity Reports.
- **Custom Reports**—Create and schedule custom reports that show exactly the information you want to see by filtering on conditions and columns to include. You can also include query builders for more specific drill down on report data. See Generate Custom Reports.
- **PDF Summary Reports**—Aggregate up to 18 predefined or custom reports/graphs from Threat, Application, Trend, Traffic, and URL Filtering categories into one PDF document. See Manage PDF Summary Reports.
- **Botnet Reports**—Allow you to use behavior-based mechanisms to identify potential botnet-infected hosts in the network. See Interpret Botnet Report Output.
- **Report Groups**—Combine custom and predefined reports into report groups and compile a single PDF that is emailed to one or more recipients. See Manage Report Groups.

Reports can be generated on demand, on a recurring schedule, and can be scheduled for email delivery.

# **View Reports**

The firewall provides an assortment of over 40 predefined reports that are generated every day; these reports can be viewed directly on the firewall. In addition to these reports, you can view *scheduled* custom reports and summary reports.

About 200 MB of storage is allocated for saving reports on the firewall. This storage space is not user-configurable, and older reports are purged to store recent reports. Therefore, for long-term retention of reports, you can either export the reports or schedule the reports for email delivery. To disable selected reports and conserve system resources on the firewall, see Disable Predefined Reports.



User/group activity reports must be generated on demand or scheduled for email delivery. Unlike the other reports, these reports cannot be saved on the firewall.

#### **View Reports**

#### Step 1 Select Monitor > Reports.

The reports are chunked into sections on the right-hand side of the window: **Custom Reports, Application Reports, Traffic Reports, Threat Reports, URL Filtering Reports,** and **PDF Summary Reports**.

Step 2 Select a report to view. When you select a report, the previous day's report is displayed on screen.

To view reports for any of the previous days, select an available date from the calendar at the bottom of the page and select a report within the same section. If you change sections, the time selection is reset.



Step 3 To view a report offline, you can export the report to PDF, CSV or to XML formats. Click **Export to PDF**, **Export to CSV**, or **Export to XML** at the bottom of the page. Then print or save the file.

	·	NETWORKS		Dashboard	ACC	Monito	Policies	Objects	Netwo
				Virtu	al System Shared		<b>v</b>		
	Source Addr	Source Host Name	s 🗸	Destina Address	Destination Host Name		Byte	is	Sessi
1	10.4	10.47.2		10.0.0	sjcdcvw01p.paloalton.		5.6 M 🔲		11.0 K
2	10.4	10.47.2		10.0.0	sjcdcvw02p.paloalton.		5.6 M 🔲		11.0 K
3	10.4	10.47.2		10.0.0	sjcdcvw02p.paloalton.		3.7 M 🔲		5.8K E
4	10.4	10.47.2		10.0.0	sjcdcvw01p.paloalton.		3.7 M 🔲		5.8K
5	10.4	10.47.2		10.2.1	10.2.133.73		277.7 K		544
5	10.4	10.47.2		10.2.1	10.2.133.73			277.7К 🛙	277.7К 🛙

# **Disable Predefined Reports**

The firewall includes about 40 predefined reports that are automatically generated each day. If you do not use some or all of these predefined reports, you can disable selected reports and conserve system resources on the firewall.

Before disabling one or more predefined reports, make sure that the report is not included in a Group Report or a PDF Report. If the disabled predefined report is included in a group or PDF report, the Group/PDF report will be rendered without any data.

#### **Disable Predefined Reports**

- 1. Select **Device > Setup > Management** on the firewall.
- 2. Click the Edit icon in the Logging and Reporting Settings section and select the Log Export and Reporting tab.
- 3. To disable reports:
  - Clear the check box corresponding to each report that you want to disable.
  - Select **Deselect All** to disable all predefined reports.



4. Click **OK**, and **Commit** the changes.

# Generate Custom Reports

In order to create purposeful custom reports, you must consider the attributes or key pieces of information that you want to retrieve and analyze. This consideration guides you in making the following selections in a custom report:

Selection	Description
Data Source	The data file that is used to generate the report. The firewall offers two types of data sources—Summary databases and Detailed logs.
	• Summary databases are available for traffic, threat, and application statistics. The firewall aggregates the detailed logs on traffic, application, and threat at 15-minute intervals. The data is condensed—duplicate sessions are grouped together and incremented with a repeat counter, and some attributes (or columns) are not included in the summary—to allow faster response time when generating reports.
	• Detailed logs are itemized and are a complete listing of all the attributes (or columns) that pertain to the log entry. Reports based on detailed logs take much longer to run and are not recommended unless absolutely necessary.
Attributes	The columns that you want to use as the match criteria. The attributes are the columns that are available for selection in a report. From the list of <b>Available Columns</b> , you can add the selection criteria for matching data and for aggregating the details (the <b>Selected Columns</b> ).
Sort By/ Group By	The <b>Sort By</b> and the <b>Group By</b> criteria allow you to organize/segment the data in the report; the sorting and grouping attributes available vary based on the selected data source.
	The Sort By option specifies the attribute that is used for aggregation. If you do not select an attribute to sort by, the report will return the first N number of results without any aggregation.
	The Group By option allows you to select an attribute and use it as an anchor for grouping data; all the data in the report is then presented in a set of top 5, 10, 25 or 50 groups. For example, when you select Hour as the Group By selection and want the top 25 groups for a 24-hr time period, the results of the report will be generated on an hourly basis over a 24-hr period. The first column in the report will be the hour and the next set of columns will be the rest of your selected report columns.

Selection	Description
	The following example illustrates how the Selected Columns and Sort By/Group By

criteria work together when generating reports:

	Group By Column	)	Selected Column 1	Selected Column 2		Selected column 3					Bytes	Repeat Count
	1	, 1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	T	1	1
		1	I.	1	1	1	1	1	1	T	1	1
		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
		1	1	1	I	1	1	I.	1	1	1	1
		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	ł
	1	1	1	I	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	T	1
	۱ 🔲	1	li	li	1	li	1	1	1	1	I.	2
	1	1	li	li	1	li	1	I.	1	1	1	
The colu attribute data sou same val (or sessio	umns ci s that y rce is p ues for ons) is i	rcl ou ars th	ed in red match a ed and t e selected cremente	l (above) against fo hese colu d column d.	d or in ns,	epict the generations are r the sess	e co ng nat	olun the cheo ns ar	nns rep d or e ag	sele ort. n. If ggre	cted, wi Each lo multipl gated ar	hich are tl og entry fr e sessions nd the rep
The colu <b>By</b> ) is sp	ımn cir ecified,	cle , tł	d in blue ne data is	indicate sorted (	es ar	the chos d aggre	en gat	sort ed)	t oro by t	der. he s	When t elected	he sort or attribute.
T11-		1						_				

The column circled in green indicates the **Group By** selection, which serves as an anchor for the report. The **Group By** column is used as a match criteria to filter for the top N groups. Then, for each of the top N groups, the report enumerates the values for all the other selected columns.

Selection	Description

For example, if a report has the following selections

Report Setting					
🔂 Load Template	→Run Now				
Name	Group By Example		Available Columns	Ľ.	Selected Columns
Database	Application Statistics	•	App Container	<u> </u>	App Category
	Scheduled		App Technology	<b>€</b>	App Sub Category
Time Frame	Last 7 Days	▼	Application Name	Ξ	Risk of App
Sort By	Sessions Top 5	~	Dav	÷	Sessions
Group By	Day S Groups	▼			Top ●Up ●Down ●Bottom

The output will display as follows:

Day Received	App Category	App Sub Category	Risk	Session
1 Wed, Jan 8, 2014	networking	infrastructure	4	33.3К 🗔
2	general-internet	internet-utility	4	3.5К 🛙
3	networking	encrypted-tunnel	4	1.5K
4	media	audio-streaming	3	265
5	business-systems	management	2	262
6 Thu, Jan 2, 2014	networking	infrastructure	4	35.8К
7	networking	encrypted-tunnel	4	1.3K
8	general-internet	internet-utility	4	430
9	media	audio-streaming	3	347
10	business-systems	management	2	330
11 Tue, Jan 7, 2014	networking	infrastructure	4	19.6К 🔲
12	networking	encrypted-tunnel	4	1.1K
13	general-internet	internet-utility	4	411
14	business-systems	management	2	153
15	networking	infrastructure	3	151
16 Fri, Jan 3, 2014	networking	infrastructure	4	20.4K
17	networking	encrypted-tunnel	4	210
18	business-systems	management	2	175
19	networking	infrastructure	3	166
20	general-internet	internet-utility	4	98 1
21 Wed, Jan 1, 2014	networking	infrastructure	4	3.1K 🛙
22	business-systems	management	2	23 1
23	networking	infrastructure	3	23

The report is anchored by **Day** and sorted by **Sessions**. It lists the 5 days (**5 Groups**) with maximum traffic in the **Last 7 Days** time frame. The data is enumerated by the **Top 5** sessions for each day for the selected columns—**App Category**, **App Subcategory** and **Risk**.

Time Period	The date range for which you want to analyze data. You can define a custom range or select a time period ranging from last 15 minutes to the last 30 days. The reports can be run on demand or scheduled to run at a daily or weekly cadence.
Query Builder	The query builder allows you to define specific queries to further refine the selected attributes. It allows you see just what you want in your report using <b>and</b> and <b>or</b> operators and a match criteria, and then include or exclude data that matches or negates the query in the report. Queries enable you to generate a more focused collation of information in a report.

#### **Generate Custom Reports**

- 1. Select Monitor > Manage Custom Reports.
- 2. Click **Add** and then enter a **Name** for the report.



To base a report on an predefined template, click **Load Template** and choose the template. You can then edit the template and save it as a custom report.

3. Select the database to use for the report.

Database	Application Statistics	V
	Summary Databases	
	Application Statistics	
Time Frame	Traffic	
Sort By	Threat	
	Detailed Logs (Slower)	
Group By	Traffic	
	Threat	
Query Builder	- Data Filtering	
	HIP Match	
	URL	

Each time you create a custom report, a **Log View** report is automatically created. This report show the logs that were used to build the custom report. The log view report uses the same name as the custom report, but appends the phrase (Log View) to the report name.

When creating a report group, you can include the log view report with the custom report. For more information, see Manage Report Groups.

- 4. Select the **Scheduled** check box to run the report each night. The report is then available for viewing in the **Reports** column on the side.
- 5. Define the filtering criteria. Select the **Time Frame**, the **Sort By** order, **Group By** preference, and select the columns that must display in the report.
- 6. (Optional) Select the **Query Builder** attributes if you want to further refine the selection criteria. To build a report query, specify the following and click **Add**. Repeat as needed to construct the full query.
  - **Connector**—Choose the connector (and/or) to precede the expression you are adding.
  - **Negate**—Select the check box to interpret the query as a negation. If, for example, you choose to match entries in the last 24 hours and/or are originating from the untrust zone, the negate option causes a match on entries that are not in the past 24 hours and/or are not from the untrust zone.
  - Attribute—Choose a data element. The available options depend on the choice of database.
  - **Operator**—Choose the criterion to determine whether the attribute applies (such as =). The available options depend on the choice of database.
  - **Value**—Specify the attribute value to match.

For example, the following figure (based on the Traffic Log database) shows a query that matches if the traffic log entry was received in the past 24 hours and is from the "untrust" zone.

Query	(receive_time in last-2	4-hr	s) and (zone eq untrus)	t)			
Query Builder	Connector		Attribute		Operator	Value	
	and	^	Zone	^	=	untrust	-
	or	~	zone.src		<i>≠</i>		+ Add
	Negate		zone.dst	~			

- 7. To test the report settings, select **Run Now**. Modify the settings as required to change the information that is displayed in the report.
- 8. Click **OK** to save the custom report.

#### **Generate Custom Reports (Continued)**

#### **Examples of Custom Reports**

If you want to set up a simple report in which you use the traffic summary database from the last 30 days, and sort the data by the top 10 sessions and these sessions are grouped into 5 groups by day of the week. You would set up the custom report to look like this:

stom Report								0
eport Setting	untitled ×							
Load Template	-Run Now							
Name	untitled				Available Columns		Selected Columns	
Database	Traffic Summary			-	App Container		Source Zone	
	Scheduled				App Sub Category	=+	Destination Zone	
Time Frame	Last 30 Days			~	App Technology	Ξ	Sessions	
Sort By	Sessions	~	Top 10	~	Day	-	Application	
Group By	Day	~	5 Groups	~				Botto

And the PDF output for the report would look as follows:

Group by										Son By	
Column									1	Column	
om-firewall : 2	2013/11/2	0 16:07:33 -	2013/12/20 1	6:07:32	Sele	cted Columns					
Day Received	Source Zo	ne Destination Zo	ane Application	Source addres	a Source Host Net	Destination address	Destination Host Name	Risk	App Category	Sessions	Bytes
Von, Dec 16, 2013	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloatonetworks.local	4	networking	11.26 k	5.41 N
	must	untrust	dns	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.pelostonetworks.local	4	networking	11.26 k	6,40 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloationetworks.local	4	networking	6.83 k	3,44 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10,47,20,3	10,47.20.3	10.0.0.248	sjodovw01p.paloationetworks.local	4	networking	5.83 k	3.48 N
	inust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.5	10.47.20.5	10.43.2.10	sjcb1dovw01p.paloaitonetworks.local	4	networking	1.75 k	414.151
	trust	untrust	ssl	10,47,20.5	10.47.20.5	10.101.2.90	hoexone.paloaltonetworks.local	4	networking	1.02 k	49.03 N
	trust	untrust	syslog	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	2	business-systems	280	103.221
	trust	untrust	srmp-trap	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	3	networking	280	181.841
	Pust	unorust	dns	10.47.20.5	10.47.20.5	10.44.2.10	sjcb2dcvw01p.paloaitonetworks.local	4	networking	190	43.111
	arrist	untrust	dropbox	10,47,20.5	10.47.20.5	10.101.101.234	10.101.101.234	4	general-internet	170	80.073
kin, Dec 15, 2013	anst	untrust	des	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.pakaationetworks.local	4	networking	11.04 k	5.59 N
	anst	untrust	dns	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloationetworks.local	4	networking	11.04 k	5.56 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p peloetionetworks.local	4	networking	5.83 k	3.67 N
	anst	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.peloationetworks.local	4	networking	6.82 k	3.65 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.43.2.10	sjob1dovw01p.paloatonetworks.local	4	networking	1.95 k	471.251
	trust	untrust	sil	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.101.2.90	hqexone.paloattonetworks.local	4	networking	415	12.02.1
	trust	untrust	syslog	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	2	business-systems	278	104.10 8
	trust	untrust	srmp-trap	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	3	networking	278	183.38 8
	inust.	untrust	sa	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	23.72.35.120	a23-72-35-120 deploy static akamatechnologies.com	4	networking	101	937.11 k
	trust	untrust	web-browsing	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	213.27.164.28	213.27.164.20	4	general-internet	90	515,491
Thu, Dec 19, 2013	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.248	sjodovw01p.peloatonetworks.local	4	networking	11.35 k	5.50 N
	trust.	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloaltonetworks.local	4	networking	11.34 k	5.46 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.palostionetworks.local	4	networking	6.83 k	3.51 N
	1/L/ST	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.247	sjoćove02p.paloaltonetworks.local	4	networking	6.82 k	3.53 N
	trust	untrust.	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.43.2.10	sjcb1dovw01p.paloaitonetworks.local	4	networking	1.44 k	345.451
	trust	untrust.	sel	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.101.2.90	hoexone paloattonetworks Jocal	4	networking	482	24.22 N
	trust	untrust	srmp-trap	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	3	networking	280	190.20 k
	trust	untrust	syslog	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	2	business-systems	280	107.86 1
	trust	untrust	ssi	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.47.0.8	pm-frewall peloatonetworks Jocal	4	networking	222	3.79 N
	trust	wroust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.44.2.10	sjd22cvw01p.paloatonetworks.local	4	networking	185	41.49 8
Nec, Dec 18, 2013	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.247	sjodove02p.paloationetworks.local	4	networking	11.33 k	5.49 N
	trust .	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.peloebonetworks.local	4	networking	11.32 k	5.50 N
	trust	untrust	dris	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloahonetworks.local	4	networking	6.83 k	3.51 N
	anst	untrust	dns	10,47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.246	sjodovw61p.paloatonetworks.local	4	networking	5.82 k	3,53 N
	trust	untrust	dris	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.43.2.10	sjcb1dcvw01p.paloaltonetworks.local	4	retworking	1.16 k	276.75 1
	trust	untrust.	and .	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.101.2.90	hoexone.paloattonetworks.local	4	networking	495	54.20 N
	mist	untrust	srmp-trap	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	3	networking	289	190.63 k
	trust	untrust	syslog	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	2	business-systems	289	108.07 1
	trust	untrust	dns	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.44.2.10	sjcb2dovw01p.paloationetworks.local	4	retworking	228	64.163
	trust	untrust	web-browsing	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	213.27.164.28	213.27.164.28	4	general-internet	62	4.27 N
hu, Dec 12, 2013	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p peloatonetworks.local	.4	networking	11.40 k	6.53 N
	trust	untrust.	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.0.0.247	sjodovw92p.peloebonetworks.local	4	networking	11.39 k	6.51 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.246	sjodovw01p.pelostionetworks.local	4	networking	3.69 k	2.19 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10,47.20.3	10.47.20.3	10.0.0.247	sjodovw02p.paloahonetworks.local	4	networking	3.69 k	2.19 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.43.2.10	sjcb1dcvw01p.paloaltonetworks.local	4	networking	2.35 k	563.08 k
	trust	wrotust	sel.	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.101.2.90	hoexone.paloattonetworks.local	4	networking	649	64.13 N
	trust	untrust	dns	10,47 20 20	10.47.20.20	10.44.2.10	sjch2dovw01p.paloaltonetworks.local	4	networking	417	99.08 k
	trust	untrust	srmp-trap	10,47,20,20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	3	networking	292	196.16 k
	trust	untrust	syslog	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.2.133.73	10.2.133.73	2	business-systems	292	110.95 4
	trust	untrust	ssi	10.47.20.20	10.47.20.20	10.101.2.49	10.101.2.49	4	networking	130	5.88 M

#### **Generate Custom Reports (Continued)**

Now, if you want to use the query builder to generate a custom report that represents the top consumers of network resources within a user group, you would set up the report to look like this:

stom Report								0
leport Setting	Group Prod M	gmt by Byte	• ×					
Load Template	🔿 Run Now							
Name	Group Prod Mgmt by Bytes				Available Columns		Selected Columns	
Database	Traffic Summar	Ŷ		*	Hour		Source address	
	Scheduled				Quarter Hour	Œ	Source User	
Time Frame Last 24 Hrs				~	Risk of App	E	Sessions	
Sort By	Bytes	-	Top 50	~	Source Country		bytes	
Group By	None	*	10 Groups	*		Ŧ		Bott
Query Builder (srcuser in 'paloal	ltonetwork\prodr	ngmt') Attribute		0;	verator	Value		
and	Negate	Kule		equ	Jal	paloaltor	etwork\prodmgmt	+ Ad
or	S	Technology	Source User		t equal			
		Virtual Syst	em	in				
		Zone		not	in			

The report would display the top users in the product management user group sorted by bytes, as follows:

	Source Address	Source Host Name	Source User	Sessions	Bytes
1	10	1	paloaltonetwork\r jact* a	136 🗖	445.3 K 🔲
2	10.25.35.48	10.1 3.482	paloaltonetwork\" "hr	123 🗔	410.5 K
3	10.03.16.49	10.: 16.49🛃	paloaltonetwork\[,a=.,~va``ı	103 🗔	360.4 K
4	10	1( ) 13.23	paloaltonetwork	103 🗔	347.2 K
5	10. 7.14.51	10.1.14.51	paloaltonetwork\t_ttems	103 🗖	334.9 K
6	10.1.3.11.55	1	paloaltonetwork\r_ar_pag	96 🔳	326.3 K
7	10j.11.161	10 11.161	paloaltonetwork\jf., 🧃 🗊	84 🔳	306.7 K
8	103.16.42	pan , i_hq.paloaltonetwork	paloaltonetwork\c o'	49 🚺	232.2 K
9	10. <sup></sup> 14.145	pany * hq.paloaltonetwork	paloaltonetwork\t_L_a a	65 🖬	201.2 K
10	10.37.11 42	10 422	paloaltonetwork\alle.	54 🚺	191.4 K
11	10.55.1 145	pa	${\sf paloal to network } {\sf (I, {\sf a}, {\sf A})^2}_{\rm or}$	28 🛙	171.2 K
12	10.4.2.17.26	10.47.2 266	paloaltonetwork\r_acis_t.	32 🚺	110.0 K
13	10.41 .74	10.*374	paloaltonetwork\In: 21.	13	98.6 K

## **Generate Botnet Reports**

The botnet report enables you to use heuristic and behavior-based mechanisms to identify potential malwareor botnet-infected hosts in your network. To evaluate botnet activity and infected hosts, the firewall correlates user and network activity data in Threat, URL, and Data Filtering logs with the list of malware URLs in PAN-DB, known dynamic DNS domain providers, and domains registered within the last 30 days. You can configure the report to identify hosts that visited those sites, as well as hosts that communicated with Internet Relay Chat (IRC) servers or that used unknown applications. Malware often use dynamic DNS to avoid IP blacklisting, while IRC servers often use bots for automated functions.

The firewall requires Threat Prevention and URL Filtering licenses to use the botnet report.

- ▲ Configure a Botnet Report
- ▲ Interpret Botnet Report Output

## Configure a Botnet Report

You can schedule a botnet report or run it on demand. The firewall generates scheduled botnet reports every 24 hours because behavior-based detection requires correlating traffic across multiple logs over that timeframe.

Configure a Botnet Report			
Step 1	Define the types of traffic that indicate possible botnet activity.	1.	Select <b>Monitor &gt; Botnet</b> and click <b>Configuration</b> on the right side of the page.
		2.	<b>Enable</b> and define the <b>Count</b> for each type of HTTP Traffic that the report will include.
			The <b>Count</b> values represent the minimum number of events of each traffic type that must occur for the report to list the associated host with a higher confidence score (higher likelihood of botnet infection). If the number of events is less than the <b>Count</b> , the report will display a lower confidence score or (for certain traffic types) won't display an entry for the host. For example, if you set the <b>Count</b> to three for <b>Malware URL</b> <b>visit</b> , then hosts that visit three or more known malware URLs will have higher scores than hosts that visit less than three. For details, see Interpret Botnet Report Output.
		3.	Define the thresholds that determine whether the report will include hosts associated with traffic involving Unknown TCP or Unknown UDP applications.
		4.	Select the <b>IRC</b> check box to include traffic involving IRC servers.
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the report configuration.

Configure a Botnet Report (Continued)			
Step 2	Schedule the report or run it on demand.	1.	Click <b>Report Setting</b> on the right side of the page.
		2.	Select a time interval for the report in the <b>Test Run Time Frame</b> drop-down.
		3.	Select the No. of Rows to include in the report.
		4.	(Optional) <b>Add</b> queries to the Query Builder to filter the report output by attributes such as source/destination IP addresses, users, or zones.
			For example, if you know in advance that traffic initiated from the IP address 10.3.3.15 contains no potential botnet activity, you can add <b>not (addr.src in 10.0.1.35)</b> as a query to exclude that host from the report output. For details, see Interpret Botnet Report Output.
		5.	Select <b>Scheduled</b> to run the report daily or click <b>Run Now</b> to run the report immediately.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

#### Interpret Botnet Report Output

The botnet report displays a line for each host that is associated with traffic you defined as suspicious when configuring the report. For each host, the report displays a confidence score of 1 to 5 to indicate the likelihood of botnet infection, where 5 indicates the highest likelihood. The scores correspond to threat severity levels: 1 is informational, 2 is low, 3 is medium, 4 is high, and 5 is critical. The firewall bases the scores on:

- **Traffic type**—Certain HTTP traffic types are more likely to involve botnet activity. For example, the report assigns a higher confidence to hosts that visit known malware URLs than to hosts that browse to IP domains instead of URLs, assuming you defined both those activities as suspicious.
- Number of events—Hosts that are associated with a higher number of suspicious events will have higher confidence scores based on the thresholds (Count values) you define when you Configure a Botnet Report.
- **Executable downloads**—The report assigns a higher confidence to hosts that download executable files. Executable files are a part of many infections and, when combined with the other types of suspicious traffic, can help you prioritize your investigations of compromised hosts.

When reviewing the report output, you might find that the sources the firewall uses to evaluate botnet activity (for example, the list of malware URLs in PAN-DB) have gaps. You might also find that these sources identify traffic that you consider safe. To compensate in both cases, you can add query filters when you Configure a Botnet Report.

# Manage PDF Summary Reports

PDF summary reports contain information compiled from existing reports, based on data for the top 5 in each category (instead of top 50). They also contain trend charts that are not available in other reports.

Generate PDF Summary Repor	rts		
Step 1 Set up a <b>PDF Summary Report</b> .	Report. 1.	Select Monitor > PDF Reports	> Manage PDF Summary.
	2.	Click Add and then enter a Na	<b>me</b> for the report.
	3.	Use the drop-down for each re	port group and select one or
		more of the elements to design	the PDF Summary Report. You
		can include a maximum of 18 m	report elements.
	PDF	mmary Report	Ø
		Name Summary Report 1	ante a 🕞 Di Eltarina Ranatte a 🔛 Outras Banatte a
		The Bandwidth trend (Bar Graph)	ces X
		Risk trend (Line Graph)	countries X Top source countries X
		Threat trend (Bar Graph) 🛛 🔀 Top destination	zones 🛛 Top source zones 🖾
	6	Top connections	s 🔯 Top sources 🛛
	E	Top denied applications	rfaces 🛛 Top unknown TCP connections 🔀
	E	Top denied destinations 🛛 🔀 Top ingress inte	rfaces 🛛 Top unknown UDP connections 🔀
			ancel Cancel
		• To remove an element from clear the selection from the report group	h the report, click the <b>x</b> icon or drop-down for the appropriate
		• To rearrange the reports, dr. area of the report.	ag and drop the icons to another
	4.	Click <b>OK t</b> o save the report.	
	5.	<b>Commit</b> the changes.	

ep 2 View the report.	To download and view the PDF Summary Report, see View Rep
	Application and Threat Summary Nev 22, 2013
	Application Usage InstanceUser Behavior Top 6 usesDataBehavior Top 6 usesDataBehavior 
	Threat Types To 8 Byware     Threat Type Building on the second to 8 Byware     Threat Type A Building to 8 Byware       No matting ond hunding to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware       No matting ond hunding to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware       No matting ond hunding to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware       No matting ond hunding to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware     Type A Building to 9 Byware

# Generate User/Group Activity Reports

User/Group activity reports summarize the web activity of individual users or user groups. Both reports include the same information with a couple exceptions—**Browsing Summary by URL Category** and **Browse time calculations** are included in User Activity Reports, but are not included in Group Activity Reports.

The User Activity Report includes two variables—the **Average Browse Time (sec)** and the **Page Load Threshold (sec)** in the Logging and Reporting sections of the **Device > Setup > Management tab**—when calculating the browse time. The **Average Browse Time** is the average time that the admin estimates that a user will browse a web page. Any request made after the average browse time has elapsed will be considered a new browsing activity. The calculation uses Container Pages (logged in the URL filtering logs) as the basis and ignores any new web pages that are loaded between the time of the first request (start time) and the average browse time. Example: If the average browse time setting is 2 minutes and a user opens a web page and views that page for 5 minutes, the browse time for that page will still be 2 minutes. This is done because there is no way to determine how long a user views a given page. The Average Browse Time calculation ignores sites categorized as web advertisements and content delivery networks. The **Page Load Threshold** is the estimated time for page elements to load on the page. Any request that occurs between the first page load threshold are assumed to be the user clicking a link within the page.

User-ID must be configured on the firewall in order to access the list of user/user groups.

#### **Generate User/Group Activity Reports**

- 1. Select Monitor > PDF Reports > User Activity Report.
- 2. Click Add and then enter a Name for the report.
- 3. Create the report:
  - For a User Activity Report: Select **User** and enter the **Username** or **IP address** (IPv4 or IPv6) of the user who will be the subject of the report.
  - For Group Activity Report: Select **Group** and select the **Group Name** for which to retrieve user group information in the report.
- 4. Select the time frame for the report from the drop-down.



The number of logs that are analyzed in a user activity report is determined by the number of rows defined on the **Max Rows in User Activity Report** on the Logging and Reporting Settings section on **Device >Setup > Management**.

5. Select **Include Detailed Browsing** to include detailed URL logs in the report.

The detailed browsing information can include a large volume of logs (thousands of logs) for the selected user or user group and can make the report very large.

- 6. To run the report on demand, click **Run Now**.
- 7. To save the report, click **OK**. User/Group activity reports cannot be saved on the firewall; to schedule the report for email delivery, see Schedule Reports for Email Delivery.

## Manage Report Groups

Report groups allow you to create sets of reports that the system can compile and send as a single aggregate PDF report with an optional title page and all the constituent reports included.

Set up	Set up Report Groups		
Step 1	Set up report groups.	1.	Create a Server Profile for your email server.
Step 1	Set up report groups. You must set up a <b>Report Group</b> to email report(s).	2.	<ul> <li>Create a Server Frome for your email server.</li> <li>Define the Report Group. A report group can compile predefined reports, PDF Summary reports, custom reports, and Log View report into a single PDF.</li> <li>a. Select Monitor &gt; Report Group.</li> <li>b. Click Add and then enter a Name for the report group.</li> <li>c. (Optional) Select Title Page and add a Title for the PDF output.</li> <li>d. Select reports from the left column and click Add to move each report to the report group on the right.</li> </ul>
			The Log View report is a report type that is automatically created each time you create a custom report and uses the same name as the custom report. This report will show the logs that were used to build the contents of the custom report. To include the log view data, when creating a report group, add your custom report under the Custom Reports list and then add the log view report by selecting the matching report name from the Log View list. The report will include the custom report. e. Click OK to save the settings.
			<ul> <li>f. To use the report group, see Schedule Reports for Email Delivery.</li> </ul>

# Schedule Reports for Email Delivery

Reports can be scheduled for daily delivery or delivered weekly on a specified day. Scheduled reports are executed starting at 2:00 AM, and email delivery starts after all scheduled reports have been generated.

#### Schedule Reports for Email Delivery

- 1. Select Monitor > PDF Reports > Email Scheduler.
- 2. Select the **Report Group** for email delivery. To set up a report group; see Manage Report Groups.
- 3. Select the frequency at which to generate and send the report in **Recurrence**.
- 4. Select the email server profile to use for delivering the reports. To set up an email server profile, see Create a Server Profile for your email server.
- 5. The **Override Recipient email(s)** allows you to send this report exclusively to the recipients specified in this field. When you add recipients to the **Override Recipient email(s)**, the report is not sent to the recipients configured in the email server profile. Use this option for those occasions when the report is for the attention of someone other than the administrators or recipients defined in the email server profile.



# Syslog Field Descriptions

This is a list of the standard fields for each of the five log types that are forwarded to an external server. For ease of parsing, the comma is the delimiter; each field is a comma-separated value (CSV) string. The FUTURE\_USE tag applies to fields that the devices do not currently implement.

WildFire logs are a subtype of threat logs and use the same Syslog format.

- ▲ Traffic Logs
- Threat Logs
- ▲ HIP Match Logs
- ▲ Config Logs
- System Logs
- Syslog Severity
- ▲ Custom Log/Event Format
- ▲ Escape Sequences

#### **Traffic Logs**

**Format:** FUTURE\_USE, Receive Time, Serial Number, Type, Subtype, FUTURE\_USE, Generated Time, Source IP, Destination IP, NAT Source IP, NAT Destination IP, Rule Name, Source User, Destination User, Application, Virtual System, Source Zone, Destination Zone, Ingress Interface, Egress Interface, Log Forwarding Profile, FUTURE\_USE, Session ID, Repeat Count, Source Port, Destination Port, NAT Source Port, NAT Destination Port, Flags, Protocol, Action, Bytes, Bytes Sent, Bytes Received, Packets, Start Time, Elapsed Time, Category, FUTURE\_USE, Sequence Number, Action Flags, Source Location, Destination Location, FUTURE\_USE, Packets Sent, Packets Received, Session End Reason\*

Field Name	Description		
Receive Time (receive_time)	Time the log was received at the management plane		
Serial Number (serial)	Serial number of the device that generated the log		
Type (type)	Specifies type of log; values are traffic, threat, config, system and hip-match		
Subtype (subtype)	<ul> <li>Subtype of traffic log are as follows:</li> <li>start—session started</li> <li>end—session ended</li> <li>drop—session dropped before the application is identified and there is no rule that allows the session.</li> </ul>		
	• deny—session dropped after the application is identified and there is a rule to block or no rule that allows the session.		
Generated Time (time_generated)	Time the log was generated on the dataplane		

Field Name	Description				
Source IP (src)	Original session source IP address				
Destination IP (dst)	Original session destination IP address				
NAT Source IP (natsrc)	If Source NAT performed, the post-NAT Source IP address				
NAT Destination IP (natdst)	If Destination NAT performed, the post-NAT Destination IP address				
Rule Name (rule)	Name of the rule that the session matched				
Source User (srcuser)	Username of the user who initiated the session				
Destination User (dstuser)	Username of the user to which the session was destined				
Application (app)	Application associated with the session				
Virtual System (vsys)	Virtual System associated with the session				
Source Zone (from)	Zone the session was sourced from				
Destination Zone (to)	Zone the session was destined to				
Ingress Interface (inbound_if)	Interface that the session was sourced form				
Egress Interface (outbound_if)	Interface that the session was destined to				
Log Forwarding Profile (logset)	Log Forwarding Profile that was applied to the session				
Session ID (sessionid)	An internal numerical identifier applied to each session				
Repeat Count (repeatcnt)	Number of sessions with same Source IP, Destination IP, Application, and Subtype seen within 5 seconds; used for ICMP only				
Source Port (sport)	Source port utilized by the session				
Destination Port (dport)	Destination port utilized by the session				
NAT Source Port (natsport)	Post-NAT source port				
NAT Destination Port (natdport)	Post-NAT destination port				

Field Name	Description
Flags (flags)	32-bit field that provides details on session; this field can be decoded by AND-ing the values with the logged value:
	• 0x80000000—session has a packet capture (PCAP)
	• 0x02000000—IPv6 session
	0x01000000—SSL session was decrypted (SSL Proxy)
	0x00800000—session was denied via URL filtering
	• 0x00400000—session has a NAT translation performed (NAT)
	• 0x00200000—user information for the session was captured via the captive portal (Captive Portal)
	• 0x00080000—X-Forwarded-For value from a proxy is in the source user field
	• 0x00040000—log corresponds to a transaction within a http proxy session (Proxy Transaction)
	0x00008000—session is a container page access (Container Page)
	• 0x00002000—session has a temporary match on a rule for implicit application dependency handling. Available in PAN-OS 5.0.0 and above.
	• 0x00000800—symmetric return was used to forward traffic for this session
Protocol (proto)	IP protocol associated with the session
Action (action)	Action taken for the session; values are allow or deny:
	Allow—session was allowed by policy
	Deny—session was denied by policy
Bytes (bytes)	Number of total bytes (transmit and receive) for the session
Bytes Sent (bytes_sent)	Number of bytes in the client-to-server direction of the session
	Available on all models except the PA-4000 Series
Bytes Received (bytes_received)	Number of bytes in the server-to-client direction of the session
	Available on all models except the PA-4000 Series
Packets (packets)	Number of total packets (transmit and receive) for the session
Start Time (start)	Time of session start
Elapsed Time (elapsed)	Elapsed time of the session
Category (category)	URL category associated with the session (if applicable)
Sequence Number (seqno)	A 64-bit log entry identifier incremented sequentially; each log type has a unique number space. This field is not supported on PA-7050 firewalls.
Action Flags (actionflags)	A bit field indicating if the log was forwarded to Panorama
Source Location (srcloc)	Source country or Internal region for private addresses; maximum length is 32 bytes

Field Name	Description				
Destination Location (dstloc)	Destination country or Internal region for private addresses. Maximum length is 32 bytes				
Packets Sent (pkts_sent)	Number of client-to-server packets for the session				
	Available on all models except the PA-4000 Series				
Packets Received (pkts_received)	Number of server-to-client packets for the session				
	Available on all models except the PA-4000 Series				
Session End Reason (session_end_reason) New in v6.1!	The reason a session terminated. If the termination had multiple causes, this field displays only the highest priority reason. The possible session end reason values are as follows, in order of priority (where the first is highest):				
	• threat—The firewall detected a threat associated with a reset, drop, or block (IP address) action.				
	• policy-deny—The session matched a security policy with a deny or drop action.				
	• tcp-rst-from-client—The client sent a TCP reset to the server.				
	• tcp-rst-from-server—The server sent a TCP reset to the client.				
	• resources-unavailable—The session dropped because of a system resource limitation. For example, the session could have exceeded the number of out-of-order packets allowed per flow or the global out-of-order packet queue.				
	• tcp-fin—One host or both hosts in the connection sent a TCP FIN message to close the session.				
	• tcp-reuse—A session is reused and the firewall closes the previous session.				
	• decoder—The decoder detects a new connection within the protocol (such as HTTP-Proxy) and ends the previous connection.				
	• aged-out—The session aged out.				
	• unknown—This value applies in the following situations:				
	• Session terminations that the preceding reasons do not cover (for example, a clear session all command).				
	• For logs generated in a PAN-OS release that does not support the session end reason field (releases older than PAN-OS 6.1), the value will be <i>unknown</i> after an upgrade to the current PAN-OS release or after the logs are loaded onto the firewall.				
	• In Panorama, logs received from firewalls for which the PAN-OS version does not support session end reasons will have a value of <i>unknown</i> .				
	• $n/a$ —This value applies when the traffic log type is not <i>end</i> .				

## Threat Logs

**Format**: FUTURE\_USE, Receive Time, Serial Number, Type, Subtype, FUTURE\_USE, Generated Time, Source IP, Destination IP, NAT Source IP, NAT Destination IP, Rule Name, Source User, Destination User, Application, Virtual System, Source Zone, Destination Zone, Ingress Interface, Egress Interface, Log Forwarding Profile, FUTURE\_USE, Session ID, Repeat Count, Source Port, Destination Port, NAT Source Port, NAT Destination Port, Flags, Protocol, Action, Miscellaneous, Threat ID, Category, Severity, Direction, Sequence Number, Action Flags, Source Location, Destination Location, FUTURE\_USE, Content Type, PCAP\_id, Filedigest, Cloud, FUTURE\_USE, User Agent\*, File Type\*, X-Forwarded-For\*, Referer\*, Sender\*, Subject\*, Recipient\*, Report ID\*

Field Name	Description				
Receive Time (receive_time)	Time the log was received at the management plane				
Serial Number (serial)	Serial number of the device that generated the log				
Type (type)	Specifies type of log; values are traffic, threat, config, system and hip-match				
Subtype (subtype)	<ul> <li>Subtype of threat log. Values include the following:</li> <li>data—Data pattern matching a Data Filtering profile.</li> <li>file—File type matching a File Blocking profile.</li> <li>flood—Flood detected via a Zone Protection profile.</li> <li>packet—Packet-based attack protection triggered by a Zone Protection profile.</li> <li>scan—Scan detected via a Zone Protection profile.</li> <li>spyware—Spyware detected via an Anti-Spyware profile.</li> <li>url—URL filtering log.</li> <li>virus—Virus detected via an Antivirus profile.</li> <li>wildfire—A WildFire verdict generated when the firewall submits a file to WildFire per a WildFire Analysis profile and a verdict (malicious, grayware, or benign, depending on what you are logging) is logged in the WildFire Submissions log.</li> <li>wildfire-virus—Virus detected via an Antivirus profile.</li> </ul>				
Generated Time (time_generated)	Time the log was generated on the dataplane				
Source IP (src)	Original session source IP address				
Destination IP (dst)	Original session destination IP address				
NAT Source IP (natsrc)	If source NAT performed, the post-NAT source IP address				
NAT Destination IP (natdst)	If destination NAT performed, the post-NAT destination IP address				
Rule Name (rule)	Name of the rule that the session matched				
Source User (srcuser)	Username of the user who initiated the session				
Destination User (dstuser)	Username of the user to which the session was destined				

Field Name	Description							
Application (app)	Application associated with the session							
Virtual System (vsys)	Virtual System associated with the session							
Source Zone (from)	Zone the session was sourced from							
Destination Zone (to)	Lone the session was destined to							
Ingress Interface (inbound_if)	Interface that the session was sourced from							
Egress Interface (outbound_if)	Interface that the session was destined to							
Log Forwarding Profile (logset)	Log Forwarding Profile that was applied to the session							
Session ID (sessionid)	An internal numerical identifier applied to each session							
Repeat Count (repeatent)	Number of sessions with same Source IP, Destination IP, Application, and Subtype seen within 5 seconds; used for ICMP only							
Source Port (sport)	Source port utilized by the session							
Destination Port (dport)	Destination port utilized by the session							
NAT Source Port (natsport)	Post-NAT source port							
NAT Destination Port (natdport)	Post-NAT destination port							
Flags (flags)	32-bit field that provides details on session; this field can be decoded by AND-ing the values with the logged value:							
	• 0x80000000—session has a packet capture (PCAP)							
	• 0x02000000—IPv6 session							
	0x01000000—SSL session was decrypted (SSL Proxy)							
	0x00800000—session was denied via URL filtering							
	• 0x00400000—session has a NAT translation performed (NAT)							
	• 0x00200000—user information for the session was captured via the captive portal (Captive Portal)							
	• 0x00080000—X-Forwarded-For value from a proxy is in the source user field							
	• 0x00040000—log corresponds to a transaction within a http proxy session (Proxy Transaction)							
	0x00008000—session is a container page access (Container Page)							
	• 0x00002000—session has a temporary match on a rule for implicit application dependency handling. Available in PAN-OS 5.0.0 and above							
	• 0x00000800—symmetric return was used to forward traffic for this session							
Protocol (proto) IP protocol associated with the session								

Field Name	Description						
Action (action)	Action taken for the session; values are alert, allow, deny, drop, drop-all-packets, reset-client, reset-server, reset-both, block-url.						
	• Alert—threat or URL detected but not blocked						
	Allow—flood detection alert						
	<ul> <li>Deny—flood detection mechanism activated and deny traffic based on configuration</li> </ul>						
	Drop-threat detected and associated session was dropped						
	• Drop-all-packets-threat detected and session remains, but drops all packets						
	• Reset-client—threat detected and a TCP RST is sent to the client						
	• Reset-server—threat detected and a TCP RST is sent to the server						
	• Reset-both—threat detected and a TCP RST is sent to both the client and the server						
	• Block-url—URL request was blocked because it matched a URL category that was set to be blocked						
Miscellaneous (misc)	Field with variable length with a maximum of 1023 characters						
	The actual URI when the subtype is URL						
	File name or file type when the subtype is file						
	File name when the subtype is virus						
	File name when the subtype is WildFire						
Threat ID (threatid)	Palo Alto Networks identifier for the threat. It is a description string followed by a 64-bit numerical identifier in parentheses for some Subtypes:						
	• 8000 – 8099—scan detection						
	• 8500 – 8599—flood detection						
	• 9999—URL filtering log						
	• 10000 – 19999—spyware phone home detection						
	<ul> <li>20000 – 29999—spyware download detection</li> </ul>						
	• 30000 – 44999—vulnerability exploit detection						
	• 52000 – 52999—filetype detection						
	• 60000 – 69999—data filtering detection						
	• 100000 – 29999999—virus detection						
	• 3000000 – 3999999 — WildFire signature feed						
	• 4000000-49999999—DNS Botnet signatures						
Category (category)	For URL Subtype, it is the URL Category; For WildFire subtype, it is the verdict on the file and is either 'malicious' or 'benign'; For other subtypes, the value is 'any'.						
Severity (severity)	everity associated with the threat; values are informational, low, medium, high, critical						

Field Name	Description						
Direction (direction)	Indicates the direction of the attack, <i>client-to-server</i> or <i>server-to-client</i>						
	• 0—direction of the threat is client to server						
	• 1—direction of the threat is server to client						
Sequence Number (seqno)	A 64-bit log entry identifier incremented sequentially. Each log type has a unique number space. This field is not supported on PA-7050 firewalls.						
Action Flags (actionflags)	A bit field indicating if the log was forwarded to Panorama.						
Source Location (srcloc)	Source country or Internal region for private addresses. Maximum length is 32 bytes.						
Destination Location (dstloc)	Destination country or Internal region for private addresses. Maximum length is 32 bytes.						
Content Type (contenttype)	Applicable only when Subtype is URL.						
	Content type of the HTTP response data. Maximum length 32 bytes.						
PCAP ID (pcap_id)	Pcap-ID is a 64 bit unsigned integral denoting an ID to correlate threat pcap files with extended pcaps taken as a part of that flow. All threat logs will contain either a pcap_id of 0 (no associated pcap), or an ID referencing the extended pcap file.						
File Digest (filedigest)	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field						
	The filedigest string shows the binary hash of the file sent to be analyzed by the WildFire service.						
Cloud (cloud)	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
	The cloud string displays the FQDN of either the WildFire appliance (private) or the WildFire cloud (public) from where the file was uploaded for analysis.						
New in v6.1! User Agent	Only for the URL Filtering subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
(user_agent)	The User Agent field specifies the web browser that the user used to access the URL, for example Internet Explorer. This information is sent in the HTTP request to the server.						
New in v6.1! File Type (filetype)	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
	Specifies the type of file that the firewall forwarded for WildFire analysis.						
New in v6.1! X-Forwarded-For	Only for the URL Filtering subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
(xff)	The X-Forwarded-For field in the HTTP header contains the IP address of the user who requested the web page. It allows you to identify the IP address of the user, which is useful particularly if you have a proxy server on your network that replaces the user IP address with its own address in the source IP address field of the packet header.						
New in v6.1! Referer (referer)	Only for the URL Filtering subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
	The Referer field in the HTTP header contains the URL of the web page that linked the user to another web page; it is the source that redirected (referred) the user to the web page that is being requested.						
New in v6.1! Sender (sender)	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field.						
	Specifies the name of the sender of an email that WildFire determined to be malicious when analyzing an email link forwarded by the firewall.						

Field Name	Description				
Subject (subject) New in v6.1!	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field. Specifies the subject of an email that WildFire determined to be malicious when analyzing an email link forwarded by the firewall.				
Recipient (recipient) New in v6.1!	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field. Specifies the name of the receiver of an email that WildFire determined to be malicious when analyzing an email link forwarded by the firewall.				
Report ID (reportid) New in v6.1!	Only for WildFire subtype; all other types do not use this field. Identifies the analysis request on the WildFire cloud or the WildFire appliance.				

## **HIP Match Logs**

**Format:** FUTURE\_USE, Receive Time, Serial Number, Type, Subtype, FUTURE\_USE, Generated Time, Source User, Virtual System, Machine name, OS, Source Address, HIP, Repeat Count, HIP Type, FUTURE\_USE, FUTURE\_USE, Sequence Number, Action Flags

Field Name	Description					
Receive Time (receive_time)	Time the log was received at the management plane					
Serial Number (serial)	Serial number of the device that generated the log					
Type (type)	Type of log; values are traffic, threat, config, system and hip-match					
Subtype (subtype)	Subtype of HIP match log; unused					
Generated Time (time_generated)	Time the log was generated on the dataplane					
Source User (srcuser) Username of the user who initiated the session						
Virtual System (vsys)	Virtual System associated with the HIP match log					
Machine Name (machinename)	Name of the user's machine					
OS	The operating system installed on the user's machine or device (or on the client system)					
Source Address (src)	IP address of the source user					
HIP (matchname)	Name of the HIP object or profile					
Repeat Count (repeatent)	Number of times the HIP profile matched					
HIP Type (matchtype)	Whether the hip field represents a HIP object or a HIP profile					
Sequence Number (seqno)	A 64-bit log entry identifier incremented sequentially; each log type has a unique number space. This field is not supported on PA-7050 firewalls.					
Action Flags (actionflags)	A bit field indicating if the log was forwarded to Panorama					

## Config Logs

**Format:** FUTURE\_USE, Receive Time, Serial Number, Type, Subtype, FUTURE\_USE, Generated Time, Host, Virtual System, Command, Admin, Client, Result, Configuration Path, Sequence Number, Action Flags, Before Change Detail\*, After Change Detail\*

Field Name	Description						
Receive Time (receive_time)	Time the log was received at the management plane						
Serial Number (serial)	Serial number of the device that generated the log						
Type (type)	Type of log; values are traffic, threat, config, system and hip-match						
Subtype (subtype)	Subtype of configuration log; unused						
Generated Time (time_generated)	Time the log was generated on the dataplane						
Host (host)	Host name or IP address of the client machine						
Virtual System (vsys)	Virtual System associated with the configuration log						
Command (cmd)	Command performed by the Admin; values are add, clone, commit, delete, edit, move, rename, set.						
Admin (admin)	Username of the Administrator performing the configuration						
Client (client)	Client used by the Administrator; values are Web and CLI						
Result (result)	Result of the configuration action; values are Submitted, Succeeded, Failed, and Unauthorized						
Configuration Path (path)	The path of the configuration command issued; up to 512 bytes in length						
Sequance Number (seqno)	A 64bit log entry identifier incremented sequentially; each log type has a unique number space. This field is not supported on PA-7050 firewalls.						
Action Flags (actionflags)	A bit field indicating if the log was forwarded to Panorama.						
Before Change Detail (before_change_detail) New in v6.1!	This field is in custom logs only; it is not in the default format. It contains the full xpath before the configuration change.						
After Change Detail (after_change_detail) New in v6.1!	This field is in custom logs only; it is not in the default format. It contains the full xpath after the configuration change.						

## System Logs

**Format:** FUTURE\_USE, Receive Time, Serial Number, Type, Subtype, FUTURE\_USE, Generated Time, Virtual System, Event ID, Object, FUTURE\_USE, FUTURE\_USE, Module, Severity, Description, Sequence Number, Action Flags

Field Name	Description					
Receive Time (receive_time)	Time the log was received at the management plane					
Serial Number (serial)	Serial number of the device that generated the log					
Type (type)	Type of log; values are traffic, threat, config, system and hip-match					
Subtype (subtype)	Subtype of the system log; refers to the system daemon generating the log; values are crypto, dhcp, dnsproxy, dos, general, global-protect, ha, hw, nat, ntpd, pbf, port, pppoe, ras, routing, satd, sslmgr, sslvpn, userid, url-filtering, vpn					
Generated Time (time_generated)	Time the log was generated on the dataplane					
Virtual System (vsys)	Virtual System associated with the configuration log					
Event ID (eventid)	String showing the name of the event					
Object (object)	Name of the object associated with the system event					
Module (module)	This field is valid only when the value of the Subtype field is general. It provides additional information about the sub-system generating the log; values are general, management, auth, ha, upgrade, chassis					
Severity (severity)	Severity associated with the event; values are informational, low, medium, high, critical					
Description (opaque)	Detailed description of the event, up to a maximum of 512 bytes					
Sequence Number (seqno)	A 64-bit log entry identifier incremented sequentially; each log type has a unique number space. This field is not supported on PA-7050 firewalls.					
Action Flags (actionflags)	A bit field indicating if the log was forwarded to Panorama					

## Syslog Severity

The syslog severity is set based on the log type and contents.

Log Type/Severity	Syslog Severity				
Traffic	Info				
Config	Info				
Threat/System—Informational	Info				
Threat/System—Low	Notice				
Threat/System—Medium	Warning				

Log Type/Severity	Syslog Severity					
Threat/System—High	Error					
Threat/System—Critical	Critical					

## Custom Log/Event Format

To facilitate the integration with external log parsing systems, the firewall allows you to customize the log format; it also allows you to add custom *Key: Value* attribute pairs. Custom message formats can be configured under **Device > Server Profiles > Syslog > Syslog Server Profile > Custom Log Format**.

To achieve ArcSight Common Event Format (CEF) compliant log formatting, refer to the CEF Configuration Guide.

## Escape Sequences

Any field that contains a comma or a double-quote is enclosed in double quotes. Furthermore, if a double-quote appears inside a field it is escaped by preceding it with another double-quote. To maintain backward compatibility, the Misc field in threat log is always enclosed in double-quotes.

# **User-ID**

User Identification (User-ID) is a Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall feature that allows you to create policies and perform reporting based on users and groups rather than individual IP addresses. The following sections describe the Palo Alto Networks User-ID feature and provide instructions on setting up user- and group-based access:

- ▲ User-ID Overview
- ▲ User-ID Concepts
- ▲ Enable User-ID
- ▲ Map Users to Groups
- ▲ Map IP Addresses to Users
- ▲ Configure a Firewall to Share User Mapping Data with Other Firewalls
- ▲ Enable User- and Group-Based Policy
- ▲ Verify the User-ID Configuration

# **User-ID** Overview

User-ID seamlessly integrates Palo Alto Networks firewalls with a range of enterprise directory and terminal services offerings, enabling you to tie application activity and security policies to users and groups—not just IP addresses. In addition, with User-ID enabled, the Application Command Center (ACC), App-Scope, reports, and logs all include usernames in addition to user IP addresses.

The Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall supports monitoring of the following enterprise services:

- Microsoft Active Directory
- Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP)
- Novell eDirectory
- Citrix Metaframe Presentation Server or XenApp
- Microsoft Terminal Services

To be able to create policy based on user and group, the firewall must have a list of all available users and their corresponding group mappings that you can select from when defining your policies. It gets this Group Mapping information by connecting directly to your LDAP directory server.

To be able to enforce the user- and group-based policies, the firewall must be able to map the IP addresses in the packets it receives to usernames. User-ID provides many mechanisms to get these IP address-to-username mappings. For example, it uses agents to monitor server logs for login events and/or probe clients, and/or listen for syslog messages from authenticating services. To identify mappings for IP addresses that were not mapped using one of the agent mechanisms, you can configure the firewall to redirect HTTP requests to a captive portal login. You can tailor the mechanisms you use for User Mapping to suit your environment, and you can even use different mechanisms at different sites.

#### Figure: User-ID



Proceed to User-ID Concepts for information on how User-ID works and Enable User-ID for instructions on setting up User-ID on the firewall.

# **User-ID Concepts**

- ▲ Group Mapping
- ▲ User Mapping

## **Group Mapping**

In order to define security policies based on user or group, the firewall must retrieve the list of groups and the corresponding list of members from your directory server. To enable this functionality to Map Users to Groups, you must create an LDAP server profile that instructs the firewall how to connect and authenticate to the server and how to search the directory for the user and group information. After you connect to the LDAP server and configure the group mapping functionality for user identification, you will be able to select users or groups when defining your security policies. The firewall supports a variety of LDAP directory servers, including Microsoft Active Directory (AD), Novell eDirectory, and Sun ONE Directory Server.



You can then define policies based on group membership rather than on individual users for simplified administration. For example, the following security policy allows access to specific internal applications based on group membership:

		Tags									
	Name		Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action
1	CRM access	none	🕅 13-trust	any	8 Finance	🕵 Missing Patch	🕅 13-trust	any	🃰 sap	💥 application-default	۲
2	Eng access	none	🕅 13-trust	any	Sengineering	🕵 Missing Patch	🕅 İ3-trust	any	bugzilla	🗶 application-default	0

## **User Mapping**

Having the names of the users and groups is only one piece of the puzzle. The firewall also needs to know which IP addresses map to which users so that security policies can be enforced appropriately. Figure: User-ID illustrates the different methods that are used to identify users and groups on your network and shows how user mapping and group mapping work together to enable user- and group-based security enforcement and visibility.

The following topics describe the different methods of user mapping:

- Server Monitoring
- ▲ Client Probing
- Port Mapping
- ▲ Syslog
- Captive Portal
- GlobalProtect
- ▲ User-ID XML API

## Server Monitoring

With server monitoring a User-ID agent—either a Windows-based agent running on a domain server in your network, or the integrated PAN-OS User-ID agent running on the firewall—monitors the security event logs for specified Microsoft Exchange Servers, domain controllers, or Novell eDirectory servers for login events. For example, in an AD environment, you can configure the User-ID agent to monitor the security logs for Kerberos ticket grants or renewals, Exchange server access (if configured), and file and print service connections. Keep in mind that in order for these events to be recorded in the security log, the AD domain must be configured to log successful account login events. In addition, because users can log in to any of the servers in the domain, you must set up server monitoring for all servers in order to capture all user login events.

Because server monitoring requires very little overhead and because the majority of users can generally be mapped using this method, it is recommended as the base user mapping method for most User-ID deployments. See Configure User Mapping Using the Windows User-ID Agent or Configure User Mapping Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent for details.

#### **Client Probing**

In a Microsoft Windows environment, you can configure the User-ID agent to probe client systems using Windows Management Instrumentation (WMI). The Windows-based User-ID agent can also perform NetBIOS probing (not supported on the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent). Probing is particularly useful in environments with a high IP address turnover because changes will be reflected on the firewall more quickly, enabling more accurate enforcement of user-based policies. However, if the correlation between IP addresses and users is fairly static, you probably do not need to enable client probing. Because probing can generate a large amount of network traffic (based on the total number of mapped IP addresses), the agent that will be initiating the probes should be located as close as possible to the end clients.

If probing is enabled, the agent will probe each learned IP address periodically (every 20 minutes by default, but this is configurable) to verify that the same user is still logged in. In addition, when the firewall encounters an IP address for which it has no user mapping, it will send the address to the agent for an immediate probe.

See Configure User Mapping Using the Windows User-ID Agent or Configure User Mapping Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent for details.

## Port Mapping

In environments with multi-user systems—such as Microsoft Terminal Server or Citrix environments—many users share the same IP address. In this case, the user-to-IP address mapping process requires knowledge of the source port of each client. To perform this type of mapping, you must install the Palo Alto Networks Terminal Services Agent on the Windows/Citrix terminal server itself to intermediate the assignment of source ports to the various user processes. For terminal servers that do not support the Terminal Services Agent, such as Linux terminal servers, you can use the XML API to send user mapping information from login and logout events to User-ID. See Configure User Mapping for Terminal Server Users for configuration details.

## Syslog

Your environment might have existing network services that authenticate users. These services include wireless controllers, 802.1x devices, Apple Open Directory servers, proxy servers, and other Network Access Control (NAC) mechanisms. You can configure these services to send syslog messages and configure the User-ID agent to parse the messages for login events. The agent then maps IP addresses to usernames based on the login events.

Both the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent and Windows-based User-ID agent use Syslog Parse profiles to parse syslog messages. In environments where services send the messages in different formats, you can create a custom profile for each format. If you use the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent, you can also use predefined Syslog Parse profiles that Palo Alto Networks provides through Applications content updates.

Syslog messages must meet the following criteria for a User-ID agent to parse them:

- Each message must be a single-line text string. The allowed delimiters for line breaks are a new line (\n) or a carriage return plus a new line (\r\n).
- The maximum size for individual messages is 2,048 bytes.
- Messages sent over UDP must be contained in a single packet; messages sent over SSL can span multiple packets. A single packet might contain multiple messages.

See Configure User-ID to Receive User Mappings from a Syslog Sender for configuration details.



#### Figure: User-ID Integration with Syslog

#### **Captive Portal**

If the firewall or the User-ID agent are unable to map an IP address to a user—for example if the user is not logged in or is using an operating system such as Linux that is not supported by your domain servers—you can configure Captive Portal. When configured, any web traffic (HTTP or HTTS) matching your Captive Portal policy requires user authentication, either transparently via an NT LAN Manager (NTLM) challenge to the browser, or actively by redirecting the user to a web authentication form for authentication against a RADIUS, LDAP, Kerberos, or local authentication database or using client certificate authentication. See Map IP Addresses to User Names Using Captive Portal for details.

#### GlobalProtect

For mobile or roaming users, the GlobalProtect client provides the user mapping information to the firewall directly. In this case, every GlobalProtect user has an agent or app running on the client that requires the user to enter login credentials for VPN access to the firewall. This login information is then added to the User-ID user mapping table on the firewall for visibility and user-based security policy enforcement. Because GlobalProtect users must authenticate to gain access to the network, the IP address-to-username mapping is

explicitly known. This is the best solution in sensitive environments where you must be certain of who a user is in order to allow access to an application or service. For more information on setting up GlobalProtect, refer to the GlobalProtect Administrator's Guide.

## User-ID XML API

For other types of user access that cannot be mapped using any of the standard user mapping methods or Captive Portal—for example, to add mappings of users connecting from a third-party VPN solution or users connecting to a 802.1x enabled wireless network—you can use the User-ID XML API to capture login events and send them to the User-ID agent or directly to the firewall. See Send User Mappings to User-ID Using the XML API for details.
# Enable User-ID

You must complete the following tasks to set up the firewall to user users and groups in policy enforcement, logging, and reporting:

- Map Users to Groups
- Map IP Addresses to Users
- Enable User- and Group-Based Policy
- □ Verify the User-ID Configuration

# Map Users to Groups

Use the following procedure to connect to your LDAP directory to enable the firewall to retrieve user-to-group mapping information:



- Best practices for group mapping in an Active Directory environment:
- If you have a single domain, you only need one LDAP server profile that connects the firewall to the domain controller with the best connectivity. You can add additional domain controllers for fault tolerance.
- If you have multiple domains and/or multiple forests, you must create a server profile to connect to a domain server in each domain/forest. Take steps to ensure unique usernames in separate forests.
- If you have Universal Groups, create a server profile to connect to the Global Catalogue server.

#### Map Users to Groups

- Step 1 Create an LDAP Server Profile that specifies how to connect to the directory servers you want the firewall to use to obtain group mapping information.
  - 1. Select Device > Server Profiles > LDAP.
  - 2. Click **Add** and then enter a **Name** for the profile.
  - 3. (Optional) Select the virtual system to which this profile applies from the **Location** drop-down.
  - 4. Click Add to add a new LDAP server entry and then enter a Server name to identify the server (1-31 characters) and the IP Address and Port number the firewall should use to connect to the LDAP server (default=389 for LDAP;



636 for LDAP over SSL). You can add up to four LDAP servers to the profile, however, all the servers you add to a profile must be of the same type. For redundancy you should add at least two servers.

- 5. Enter the LDAP **Domain** name to prepend to all objects learned from the server. The value you enter here depends on your deployment:
  - If you are using Active Directory, you must enter the NetBIOS domain name; NOT a FQDN (for example, enter acme, not acme.com). Note that if you need to collect data from multiple domains, you will need to create separate server profiles.
  - If you are using a global catalog server, leave this field blank.
- 6. Select the **Type** of LDAP server you are connecting to. The correct LDAP attributes in the group mapping settings will automatically be populated based on your selection. However, if you have customized your LDAP schema, you may need to modify the default settings.
- 7. In the **Base** field, select the DN that corresponds to the point in the LDAP tree where you want the firewall to begin its search for user and group information.
- 8. Enter the authentication credentials for binding to the LDAP tree in the **Bind DN**, **Bind Password**, and **Confirm Bind Password** fields. The Bind DN can be in either User Principal Name (UPN) format

(for example, administrator@acme.local) or it can be a fully qualified LDAP name

(for example, cn=administrator, cn=users, dc=acme, dc=local).

- 9. If you want the firewall to communicate with the LDAP server(s) over a secure connection, select the SSL check box. If you enable SSL, make sure that you have also specified the appropriate port number.
- 10. Click **OK** to save the profile.

### Map Users to Groups (Continued)

Step 2 Add the LDAP server profile to the User-ID Group Mapping configuration.

- 1. Select Device > User Identification > Group Mapping Settings and click Add.
- 2. Enter a unique **Name** to identify the group mapping configuration.
- 3. Select the Server Profile you created in Step 1.
- (Optional) To filter the groups that User-ID tracks for group mapping, in the Group Objects section enter a Search Filter (LDAP query), then specify the Object Class (group definition), Group Name, and Group Member.
- 5. (Optional) To filter the users that User-ID tracks for group mapping, in the User Objects section enter a **Search Filter** (LDAP query), then specify the **Object Class** (user definition) and **User Name**.
- 6. (Optional) To match User-ID information with email header information identified in the links and attachments of emails forwarded to WildFire, enter the list of email domains in your organization in the Mail Domains section, **Domain List** field. Use commas to separate

erver Profile Group Include List Server Profile AD LDAP Update Interval [60 - 8640 Group Objects Search Filter Object Class Group Name name Group Member Wember User Objects User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name SAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Name acr	ne.local
Server Profile AD LDAP Update Interval [60 - 8640 Group Objects Search Filter Object Class Group Name name Group Name member User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name eAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Gerver Profile Gro	up Include List
Group Objects Search Filter Object Class Group Name Group Name Group Member User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name AMAil Domains Mail Attributes mail	Server Profile A	D LDAP Update Interval [60 - 86400]
Search Filter     group       Group Name     name       Group Member     member       User Objects     search Filter       Object Class     person       User Name     sAMAccountName	Group Objects	
Object Class     group       Group Name     name       Group Member     member       User Objects     search Filter       Object Class     person       User Name     sAMAccountName	Search Filter	
Group Name name Group Member User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name SAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Object Class	group
Group Member member User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name sAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Group Name	name
User Objects Search Filter Object Class person User Name AMAAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Group Member	member
Search Filter Object Class person User Name sAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	User Objects	
Object Class person User Name sAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Search Filter	
User Name sAMAccountName Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	Object Class	person
Mail Domains Mail Attributes mail	User Name	sAMAccountName
Mail Attributes mail	Mail Domains	
	Mail Attributes	mail
Domain List	Domain List	
Enabled	2	Enabled

multiple domains (up to 256 characters). After you click **OK** (Step 9), PAN-OS automatically populates the **Mail Attributes** field based on your LDAP server type (Sun/RFC, Active Directory, or Novell). When a match occurs, the username in the WildFire log email header section will contain a link that opens the **ACC** tab, filtered by the user or group of users.

- 7. Make sure the **Enabled** check box is selected.
- 8. (Optional) To limit which groups appear in security policy, select the **Group Include List** tab and browse the LDAP tree to locate the desired groups. For each group you want to include, select it in the **Available Groups** list and click the add **⊕** icon to move it to the **Included Groups** list.
- 9. Click **OK** to save the settings.

Step 3 **Commit** the configuration.

# Map IP Addresses to Users

The tasks you need to perform to map IP addresses to usernames depends on the type and location of the client systems on your network. Complete as many of the following tasks as necessary to enable mapping of your client systems:

- To map users as they log in to your Exchange servers, domain controllers, or eDirectory servers, or Windows clients that can be directly probed, you must configure a User-ID agent to monitor the server logs and/or probe client systems. You can either install the standalone Windows User-ID agent on one or more member servers in the domain that contains the servers and clients to be monitored (see Configure User Mapping Using the Windows User-ID Agent) or you can configure the on-firewall User-ID agent that is integrated with PAN-OS (Configure User Mapping Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent). For guidance as to which agent configuration is appropriate for your network and the number and placements of agents that are required, refer to Architecting User Identification Deployments.
- □ If you have clients running multi-user systems such as Microsoft Terminal Server or Citrix Metaframe Presentation Server or XenApp, see Configure the Palo Alto Networks Terminal Server Agent for User Mapping for instructions on how to install and configure the agent on a Windows server. If you have a multi-user system that is not running on Windows, you can use the User-ID XML API to send IP address to username mappings directly to the firewall. See Retrieve User Mappings from a Terminal Server Using the User-ID XML API.
- □ To obtain user mappings from existing network services that authenticate users, such as wireless controllers, 802.1x devices, Apple Open Directory servers, proxy servers, or other Network Access Control (NAC) mechanisms, configure the User-ID agent (either the Windows agent or the agentless user mapping feature on the firewall) to listen for authentication syslog messages from those services. See Configure User-ID to Receive User Mappings from a Syslog Sender.
- □ If you have users with client systems that are not logged into your domain servers—for example, users running Linux clients that do not log in to the domain—see Map IP Addresses to User Names Using Captive Portal.
- For other clients that you are unable to map using the previous methods, you can use the User-ID XML API to add user mappings directly to the firewall. See Send User Mappings to User-ID Using the XML API.
- Because policy is local to each firewall, each firewall must have a current list of IP address-to-username mappings in order to accurately enforce security policy by group or user. However, you can configure one firewall to collect all the user mappings and distribute them to the other firewalls. For details, see Configure a Firewall to Share User Mapping Data with Other Firewalls.

# Configure User Mapping Using the Windows User-ID Agent

In most cases, the majority of your network users will have logins to your monitored domain services. For these users, the Palo Alto Networks User-ID agent monitors the servers for login events and performs the IP address-to-user mapping. The way you configure the User-ID agent depends on the size of your environment and the location of your domain servers. As a best practice, you should locate your User-ID agents near your monitored servers (that is, the monitored servers and the Windows User-ID agent should not be across a WAN link from each other). This is because most of the traffic for user mapping occurs between the agent and the monitored server, with only a small amount of traffic—the delta of IP address mappings since the last update—from the agent to the firewall.

The following topics describe how to install and configure the User-ID Agent and how to configure the firewall to retrieve user mapping information from the agent:

- ▲ Install the User-ID Agent
- Configure the User-ID Agent for User Mapping

# Install the User-ID Agent

The following procedure shows how to install the User-ID agent on a member server in the domain and set up the service account with the required permissions. If you are upgrading, the installer will automatically remove the older version, however, it is a good idea to back up the config.xml file before running the installer.



For information about the system requirements for installing the Windows-based User-ID agent and for information on the supported server OS versions are supported, refer to "Operating System (OS) Compatibility User-ID Agent" in the User-ID Agent Release Notes, which are available on the Palo Alto Networks Software Updates page.

#### Install the Windows User-ID Agent

Step 1	Decide where to install the User-ID agent(s). The User-ID agent queries the Domain Controller and Exchange server logs using Microsoft Remote Procedure Calls (MSRPCs), which require a complete transfer of the entire log at each query. Therefore, you should always install one or more User-ID agents at each site that has servers to be monitored.	•	You must install the User-ID agent on a system running one of the supported OS versions: see "Operating System (OS) Compatibility User-ID Agent" in the User-ID Agent Release Notes. Make sure the system you plan to install the User-ID agent on is a member of the domain that the servers it will be monitoring belong to. As a best practice, install the User-ID agent close to the servers it will be monitoring (there is more traffic between the User-ID agent and the monitored servers than there is between the User-ID agent and the firewall, so locating the agent close to the monitored
	has servers to be monitored.		agent and the monitored servers than there is between the User-ID agent and the firewall, so locating the agent close to the monitored servers optimizes bandwidth usage).
	where to install User-ID agents, refer to Architecting User Identification (User-ID) Deployments.	•	To ensure the most comprehensive mapping of users, you must monitor all servers that contain user login information. You may need to install multiple User-ID agents to efficiently monitor all of your resources.

Install t	stall the Windows User-ID Agent (Continued)					
Step 2	Download the User-ID agent installer. As a best practice, install the User-ID agent version that is the same as the PAN-OS version running on the firewalls.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Log in to Palo Alto Networks Support site. Select <b>Software Updates</b> from the Manage Devices section. Scroll to the User Identification Agent section of the screen and <b>Download</b> the version of the User-ID agent you want to install. Save the UaInstall-x.x.x.msi file on the system(s) where you plan to install the agent.			
Step 3	Run the installer as an administrator.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>1.</li> </ol>	To launch a command prompt as an administrator, click Start and right-click <b>Command Prompt</b> and then select <b>Run as</b> <b>administrator</b> . From the command line, run the .msi file you downloaded. For example, if you saved the .msi file to the Desktop you would enter the following: C:\Users\administrator.acme>cd Desktop C:\Users\administrator.acme\Desktop>UaInstall-6.0. 0-1.msi Follow the setup prompts to install the agent using the default settings. By default, the agent gets installed to the C:\Program Files (x86)\Palo Alto Networks\User-ID Agent folder, but you can <b>Browse</b> to a different location. When the installation completes, <b>Close</b> the setup window. Click Start and select <b>User-ID Agent</b> .			
Step 5 Palo Alto Ne Authentic User n	(Optional) Change the service account that the User-ID agent uses to log in.	By the acc 1. 2. 3.	default, the agent uses the administrator account used to install e.msi file. However, you may want to switch this to a restricted count as follows: Select User Identification > Setup and click Edit. Select the Authentication tab and enter the service account name that you want the User-ID agent to use in the User name for Active Directory field. Enter the Password for the specified account.			

.

Install	Install the Windows User-ID Agent (Continued)						
Step 6	(Optional) Assign account permissions to the installation folder. You only need to perform this step if the service account you configured for the User-ID agent is not a member of the administrators group for the domain or a member of both the Server Operators and the Event Log Readers groups.	1.	<ul> <li>Give the service account permissions to the installation folder:</li> <li>a. From the Windows Explorer, navigate to C:\Program Files\Palo Alto Networks and right-click the folder and select Properties.</li> <li>b. On the Security tab, Add the User-ID agent service account and assign it permissions to Modify, Read &amp; execute, List folder contents, and Read and then click OK to save the account settings.</li> </ul>				
		2.	Give the service account permissions to the User-ID Agent registry sub-tree: a. Run regedit32 and navigate to the Palo Alto Networks sub-tree in one of the following locations:				
			- <b>32-bitsystems</b> —HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\Software\ Palo Alto Networks				
			- <b>64-bitsystems</b>				
			<ul> <li>b. Right-click the Palo Alto Networks node and select Permissions.</li> </ul>				
			<ul> <li>c. Assign the User-ID service account Full Control and then click OK to save the setting.</li> </ul>				
		3.	<ul><li>On the domain controller, add the service account to the builtin groups to enable privileges to read the security log events (Event Log Reader group) and open sessions (Server Operator group):</li><li>a. Run the MMC and Launch the Active Directory Users and Computers snap-in.</li></ul>				
			b. Navigate to the Builtin folder for the domain and then right-click each group you need to edit (Event Log Reader and Server Operator) and select <b>Add to Group</b> to open the properties dialog.				
			<ul> <li>c. Click Add and enter the name of the service account that you configured the User-ID service to use and then click Check Names to validate that you have the proper object name.</li> </ul>				
			d. Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the settings.				

# Configure the User-ID Agent for User Mapping

The Palo Alto Networks User-ID agent is a Windows service that connects to servers on your network-for example, Active Directory servers, Microsoft Exchange servers, and Novell eDirectory servers-and monitors the logs for login events. The agent uses this information to map IP addresses to usernames. Palo Alto Networks firewalls connect to the User-ID agent to retrieve this user mapping information, enabling visibility into user activity by username rather than IP address and enables user- and group-based security enforcement.



For information about the server OS versions supported by the User-ID agent, refer to "Operating System (OS) Compatibility User-ID Agent" in the *User-ID Agent Release Notes*, which are available on the Palo Alto Networks Software Updates page.

Map IP	Addresses to Users Using the User-ID	Age	nt
Step 1	Launch the User-ID Agent application.	1.	Select <b>User-ID Agent</b> from the Windows Start menu.
Step 2	Define the servers the User-ID agent should monitor to collect IP address to user mapping information. The User-ID agent can monitor a total of up to 100 servers, of which up to 50 can be syslog senders. Keep in mind that to collect all of the required mappings, you must connect to all servers that your users log in to in order to monitor the security log files on all servers that contain login events.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select User Identification &gt; Discovery.</li> <li>In the Servers section of the screen, click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name and Server Address for the server to be monitored. The network address can be a FQDN or an IP address.</li> <li>Select the Server Type (Microsoft Active Directory, Microsoft Exchange, Novell eDirectory, or Syslog Sender) and then click OK to save the server entry. Repeat this step for each server to be monitored.</li> <li>(Optional) To enable the firewall to automatically discover domain controllers on your network using DNS lookups, click Auto Discover.</li> <li>The auto-discovery locates domain controllers in the local domain only; you must manually add Exchange servers, eDirectory servers, and syslog senders.</li> <li>(Optional) To tune the frequency at which the firewall polls configured servers for mapping information, select User Identification &gt; Setup and Edit the Setup section. On the Server Monitor tab, modify the value in the Server Log Monitor Frequency (seconds) field. As a best practice, you should increase the value in this field to 5 seconds in environments with older Domain Controllers or high-latency links. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>

•	5	•	
Step 3	(Optional) If you configured the agent to connect to a Novell eDirectory server, you must specify how the agent should search the directory.	1.	Select <b>User Identification &gt; Setup</b> and click <b>Edit</b> in the Setup section of the window.
		2.	Select the <b>eDirectory</b> tab and then complete the following fields:
			• Search Base—The starting point or root context for agent queries, for example: dc=domain1, dc=example, dc=com.
			• <b>Bind Distinguished Name</b> —The account to use to bind to the directory, for example: cn=admin, ou=IT, dc=domain1, dc=example, dc=com.
			• <b>Bind Password</b> —The bind account password. The agent saves the encrypted password in the configuration file.
			• Search Filter—The search query for user entries (default is objectClass=Person).
			• Server Domain Prefix—A prefix to uniquely identify the user. This is only required if there are overlapping name spaces, such as different users with the same name from two different directories.
			• <b>Use SSL</b> —Select the check box to use SSL for eDirectory binding.
			• <b>Verify Server Certificate</b> —Select the check box to verify the eDirectory server certificate when using SSL.
Step 4	(Optional) Enable client probing.	1.	On the <b>Client Probing</b> tab, select the <b>Enable WMI Probing</b> check box and/or the <b>Enable NetBIOS Probing</b> check box.
	Client probing is useful in environments where IP addresses are not tightly bound to users because it ensures that previously mapped addresses are still valid. However, as the total number of learned IP addresses grows, so does the amount of traffic generated. As a best practice, only enable probing on network segments where IP address turnover is high.	2.	Make sure the Windows firewall will allow client probing by adding a remote administration exception to the Windows firewall for each probed client.
			For NetBIOS probing to work effectively, each probed client PC must allow port 139 in the Windows firewall and must also have file and printer sharing services enabled. WMI probing is always preferred over NetBIOS whenever possible.
	For more details on the placement of User-ID agents using client probing, refer to Architecting User Identification (User-ID) Deployments.		
Step 5	Save the configuration.	Clio Cor	ck <b>OK</b> to save the User-ID agent setup settings and then click <b>mmit</b> to restart the User-ID agent and load the new settings.

### Map IP Addresses to Users Using the User-ID Agent (Continued)

Map IP	Addresses to Users Using the User-ID	Ager	nt (Continued)
Step 6	<ul> <li>(Optional) Define the set of users for which you do not need to provide IP address-to-user name mappings, such as kiosk accounts.</li> <li>You can also use the ignore-user list to identify users whom you want to force to authenticate using Captive Portal.</li> </ul>	Cre Age List acc a se SPA SPI TFS	eate an ignore_user_list.txt file and save it to the User-ID ent folder on the domain server where the agent is installed. It the user accounts to ignore; there is no limit to the number of ounts you can add to the list. Each user account name must be on eparate line. For example: admin Enstall Report
Step 7 Configure the firewalls to connect to the User-ID agent.		Conto to t	mplete the following steps on each firewall you want to connect the User-ID agent to receive user mappings: Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User-ID Agents</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
			Enter a <b>Name</b> for the User-ID agent.
			Enter the IP address of the Windows <b>Host</b> on which the User-ID Agent is installed.
			Enter the <b>Port</b> number on which the agent will be listening for user mapping requests. This value must match the value configured on the User-ID agent. By default, the port is set to 5007 on the firewall and on newer versions of the User-ID agent. However, some older User-ID agent versions use port 2010 as the default.
		5.	Make sure that the configuration is $\ensuremath{Enabled}$ and then click $\ensuremath{OK}.$
		6.	<b>Commit</b> the changes.
		7.	Verify that the <b>Connected status</b> displays as connected (a green light).
Step 8	Verify that the User-ID agent is	1.	Launch the User-ID agent and select User Identification.
	successfully mapping IP addresses to usernames and that the firewalls can connect to the agent.	2.	Verify that the agent status shows <b>Agent is running</b> . If the Agent is not running, click <b>Start</b> .
		3.	To verify that the User-ID agent can connect to monitored servers, make sure the Status for each Server is <b>Connected</b> .
		4.	To verify that the firewalls can connect to the User-ID agent, make sure the Status for each of the Connected Devices is <b>Connected</b> .
			To verify that the User-ID agent is mapping IP addresses to usernames, select <b>Monitoring</b> and make sure that the mapping table is populated. You can also <b>Search</b> for specific users, or <b>Delete</b> user mappings from the list.

# Configure User Mapping Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent

The following procedure shows how to configure the PAN-OS integrated agent on the firewall for user mapping. The integrated User-ID agent performs the same tasks as the Windows-based agent with the exception of NetBIOS client probing (WMI probing is supported).

Map IP	Iap IP Addresses to Users Using the Integrated User-ID Agent					
Step 1	Create an Active Directory (AD) account for the firewall agent that has the privilege levels required to log in to each service or host you plan to monitor to collect user mapping data.	•	<ul> <li>Windows 2008 or later domain servers—Add the account to the Event Log Readers group. If you are using the on-device User-ID agent, the account must also be a member of the Distributed COM Users Group.</li> <li>Windows 2003 domain servers—Assign Manage Auditing and Security Logs permissions through group policy.</li> <li>WMI probing—Make sure the account has rights to read the CIMV2 namespace; by default, Domain Administrator and Server Operator accounts have this permission.</li> </ul>			
		•	<b>NTLM authentication</b> —Because the firewall must join the domain if you are using Captive Portal NTLM authentication with an on-device User-ID agent, the Windows account you create for NTLM access must have administrative privileges. Note that due to AD restrictions on virtual systems running on the same host, if you have configured multiple virtual systems, only vsys1 will be able to join the domain.			

Map IP Addresses to Users Usi	ng the Integrated User-ID	Agent (Continued)
-------------------------------	---------------------------	-------------------

1.

5.

6.

Define the servers the firewall should Step 2 monitor to collect IP address-to-user mapping information.

> Within the total maximum of 100 monitored servers per firewall, you can define no more than 50 syslog senders for any single virtual system.

> Keep in mind that in order to collect all of the required mappings, you must connect to all servers that that the firewall of log files on all ser events.

- Select Device > User Identification > User Mapping.
- 2. In the Server Monitoring section of the screen, click Add.
- 3. Enter a Name and Network Address for the server. The network address can be a FQDN or an IP address.
- Select the **Type** of server. 4.
  - Make sure the **Enabled** check box is selected and then click **OK**
  - (Optional) To enable the firewall to automatically discover domain controllers on your network using DNS lookups, click

**Password** for the account that will be used to probe the clients

and monitor servers. Enter the user name using the

WMI Authentication Server Monitor Client Probing Cache NTLM Redistri User Name acme\panfw1 Password ..... Confirm Password

domain/username syntax. Palo Alto Networks User ID Agent Setur

to all servers that your users log in to so		Discover.						
that the firewall can monitor the security log files on all servers that contain login events.		Server I	Monitoring					
		Name	e Enal	bled	Туре	Network Address	Status 🔺	
		dc1			Microsoft Active Directory	192.168.201.10	Connected	
		🕂 Add	Delete	👌 Disc	cover(h)			
		n	The auto only; you eDirecto	o-di u m ory :	iscovery featu ust manually servers you v	ure is for dom add any Excl want to monit	ain controllers nange servers or or.	
	7.	(Optional) Specify the frequency at which the firewall polls Windows servers for mapping information. This is the interval between the end of the last query and the start of the next query.						
		n	If the qu queries f frequence	iery mig cy.	v load is high ht significant	, the observed tly exceed the	delay between specified	
		a. In t clici	he <b>Palo /</b> k the Edi	Alto .t 🧃	Networks l	Jser ID Agent	Setup section,	
		b. Sele Mor	ect the Se nitor Free	erve que	er Monitor ta ency in secon	b and specify ds (default is 2	the <b>Server Log</b> 2, range is 1-360	
		2	As a secon contr	bes nds colle	t practice, ind in environm ers or high-la	crease the valu ents with olde tency links.	e in this field to r domain	
		c. Clic	k <b>0K</b> to s	save	e the changes	5.		
Set the domain credentials for the account the firewall will use to access Windows	1.	Edit th the scr	ne Palo A reen.	lto	Networks U	ser ID Agent	Setup section o	
resources. This is required for monitoring Exchange servers and domain controllers	2.	On the Passw	e WMI Au	ithe he a	entication tal	b, enter the <b>Us</b>	ser Name and	

as well as for WMI probing.

Step 3

OK Cancel

0

Step 4	(Optional) Enable WMI probing. The on-device agent does not support NetBIOS probing; it is supported on the Windows-based User-ID agent only.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>On the Client Probing tab, select the Enable Probing check box.</li> <li>(Optional) If necessary, modify the Probe Interval (in minutes) to ensure it is long enough for the User-ID agent to probe all the learned IP addresses (default is 20, range is 1-1440). This is the interval between the end of the last probe request and the start of the next request.</li> <li>If the request load is high, the observed delay between requests might significantly exceed the specified interval.</li> <li>Make sure the Windows firewall will allow client probing by adding a a remote administration exception to the Windows firewall for each probed client.</li> </ul>
Step 5	Save the configuration.	1. 2.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the User-ID agent setup settings. Click <b>Commit</b> to save the configuration.
Step 6	<ul> <li>(Optional) Define the set of users for which you do not need to provide IP address-to-user name mappings, such as kiosk accounts.</li> <li>You can also use the ignore-user list to identify users whom you want to force to authenticate using Captive Portal.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Open a CLI session to the firewall. To add the list of user accounts for which you do not want the firewall to perform mapping, run the following command: <b>set user-id-collector ignore-user <value></value></b> where <value> is a list of the user accounts to ignore; there is no limit to the number of accounts you can add to the list. Separate entries with a space and do not include the domain name with the username. For example: set user-id-collector ignore-user SPAdmin SPInstall TFSReport <b>Commit</b> your changes.</value>
Step 7	Verify the configuration.	1. 2.	From the CLI, enter the following command: show user server-monitor state all On the <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping</b> tab in the web interface, verify that the <b>Status</b> of each server you configured for server monitoring is <b>Connected</b> .

Map IP	Addresses to	Users Using th	e Integrated Use	er-ID Agent (	Continued)
wap ir	Audi 63363 10	users using m	e initegrateu 036	я пр Адени (	Continue

# Configure User-ID to Receive User Mappings from a Syslog Sender

To obtain IP address-to-username mappings from existing network services that authenticate users, you can configure the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent or Windows-based User-ID agent to parse Syslog messages from those services.

- Configure the Integrated User-ID Agent as a Syslog Listener
- Configure the Windows User-ID Agent as a Syslog Listener

# Configure the Integrated User-ID Agent as a Syslog Listener

To configure the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID agent to create new user mappings based on syslog monitoring, start by defining Syslog Parse profiles. The User-ID agent uses the profiles to find login events in syslog messages. In environments where *syslog senders* (the network services that authenticate users) deliver syslog messages in different formats, configure a profile for each syslog format. Syslog messages must meet certain criteria for a User-ID agent to parse them (see Syslog). This procedure uses examples with the following format:

[Tue Jul 5 13:15:04 2016 CDT] Administrator authentication success User:johndoel Source:192.168.3.212

After configuring the Syslog Parse profiles, you specify syslog senders for the User-ID agent to monitor.

The PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent accepts syslogs over SSL and UDP only. However, you must use caution when using UDP to receive syslog messages because it is an unreliable protocol and as such there is no way to verify that a message was sent from a trusted syslog server. Although you can restrict syslog messages to specific source IP addresses, an attacker can still spoof the IP address, potentially allowing the injection of unauthorized syslog messages into the firewall. As a best practice, always use SSL to listen for syslog messages. However, if you must use UDP, make sure that the syslog server and client are both on a dedicated, secure VLAN to prevent untrusted hosts from sending UDP traffic to the firewall.

#### **Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders**

Step 1	Determine whether there is a predefined Syslog Parse profile for your particular syslog senders.	1.	Install the latest Applications or Applications and Threats update: a. Select <b>Device &gt; Dynamic Updates</b> and <b>Check Now</b> .
	Palo Alto Networks provides several		b. Download and Install any new update.
	predefined profiles through Application content updates. The predefined profiles are global to the firewall, whereas custom profiles apply to a single virtual system	2.	<ul> <li>Determine which predefined Syslog Parse profiles are available:</li> <li>a. Select Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping click Add in the Server Monitoring section.</li> </ul>
	only. Any new Syslog Parse profiles in a given content release is documented in the corresponding release note along with the specific regex used to define the filter.		b. Set the <b>Type</b> to <b>Syslog Sender</b> and click <b>Add</b> in the Filter section. If the Syslog Parse profile you need is available, skip the steps for defining custom profiles.

Collect	Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)				
Step 2	Define custom Syslog Parse profiles to extract IP address-to-username mapping information from syslog messages.	1.	Review the syslog messages that the syslog sender generates to identify the syntax for successful login events. This enables you to define the matching patterns when creating Syslog Parse profiles.		
			While reviewing syslog messages, also determine whether they include the domain name. If they don't, and your user mappings require domain names, enter the <b>Default Domain Name</b> when defining the syslog senders that the User-ID agent monitors (later in this procedure).		
		2.	Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping</b> and edit the Palo Alto Networks User-ID Agent Setup.		
		3.	Select Syslog Filters and Add a Syslog Parse profile.		
		4.	Enter a name to identify the Syslog Parse Profile.		
		5.	Specify the <b>Type</b> of parsing to extract user mapping information:		
			• <b>Regex Identifier</b> —Regular expressions.		
			• Field Identifier—Text strings.		
			The following steps describe how to configure these parsing types.		

Step 3	(Rege	ex Identifier parsing only) Define	1.	Enter the <b>Event Regex</b> for the type of events you want to find.
		If the syslog message contains a standalone space or tab as a delimiter, use \s for a space and \t		For the example message, the regex (authentication\ success) {1} extracts the first {1} instance of the string authentication success. The backslash (\) before the space is a standard regex escape character that instructs the regex engine not to treat the space as a special character.
			2.	Enter the <b>Username Regex</b> to identify the start of the username.
				In the example message, the regex User:([a-zA-Z0-9\\\]+) matches the string User:johndoe1 and identifies johndoe1 as the username.
			3.	Enter the <b>Address Regex</b> to identify the IP address portion of syslog messages.
				In the example message, the regular expression Source:([0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{ 1,3}) matches the IPv4 address Source:192.168.3.212.
				The following is an example of a completed Syslog Parse profile that uses regex:
			Sys	slog Parse Profile
			S	yslog Parse Profile parse 1 Description
				Type 💿 Regex Identifier 🛛 Field Identifier
				Event Regex (authentication\success){1}
				Username Regex User:([a-zA-Z0-9\\\]+)
				Address Regex Source:([0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{1,3}\.
			OK (h) Cancel	
			4.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the profile.

Collect	User Mappings from Syslog Senders (	Con	tinued)
Step 4	(Field Identifier parsing only) Define string matching patterns.	1.	Enter an <b>Event String</b> to identify successful login events.
			identifies login events.
		2.	Enter a <b>Username Prefix</b> to identify the start of the username field in syslog messages. The field does not support regex expressions such as $\s$ (for a space) or $\t$ (for a tab).
			In the example messages, User: identifies the start of the username field.
		3.	Enter the <b>Username Delimiter</b> that indicates the end of the username field in syslog messages. Use $\s$ to indicate a standalone space (as in the sample message) and $\t$ to indicate a tab.
		4.	Enter an <b>Address Prefix</b> to identify the start of the IP address field in syslog messages. The field does not support regex expressions such as \s (for a space) or \t (for a tab).
			In the example messages, Source: identifies the start of the address field.
		5.	Enter the <b>Address Delimiter</b> that indicates the end of the IP address field in syslog messages.
			For example, enter $n$ to indicate the delimiter is a line break.
			The following is an example of a completed Syslog Parse profile that uses string matching:
			Syslog Parse Profile 💿
			Syslog Parse Profile parse 2
			Description
			Type Regex Identifier Field Identifier
			Username Prefix User:
			Username Delimiter \s
			Address Prefix Source:
			Address Delimiter y
			OK Cancel
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the profile.

			•
Step 5	Specify the syslog senders that the firewall monitors.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping</b> and <b>Add</b> an entry to the Server Monitoring section.
	Within the total maximum of 100	2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> to identify the sender.
	monitored servers per firewall, you can	3.	Make sure the sender profile is <b>Enabled</b> (default).
	define no more than 50 syslog senders for any single virtual system. The firewall discards any syslog messages	4.	Select <b>Syslog Sender</b> as the server <b>Type</b> .
		5.	Enter the <b>Network Address</b> of the syslog sender (IP address or FQDN).
	received from senders that are not on this	6.	Select a custom or predefined Syslog Parse profile as a <b>Filter</b> .
	list.	7.	Select UDP or SSL (default) as the Connection Type.
		/.	Use caution when using UDP to receive syslog messages because it is an unreliable protocol and as such there is no way to verify that a message was sent from a trusted syslog server. Although you can restrict syslog messages to specific source IP addresses, an attacker can still spoof the IP address, potentially allowing the injection of unauthorized syslog messages into the firewall. As a best practice, always use SSL to listen for syslog messages when using agentless User Mapping on a firewall. However, if you must use UDP, make sure that the syslog server and client are both on a dedicated, secure VLAN to prevent untrusted hosts from sending UDP traffic to the firewall.
			A syslog server using SSL to connect will show a Status of Connected only when there is an active SSL connection. Syslog servers using UDP will not show a Status value.
		8.	<b>(Optional)</b> If the syslog messages don't contain domain information and your user mappings require domain names, enter a <b>Default Domain Name</b> to append to the mappings.
		9.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the settings.

### Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)

Collect	ollect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)				
Step 6	Enable syslog listener services in the management profile associated with the interface used for user mapping.	1. 2.	Select Network > Network Profiles > Interface Mgmt and then select an interface profile to edit or click Add to create a new profile. Select User-ID Syslog Listener-SSL and/or User-ID Syslog Listener-UDP, depending on the protocols you defined when you set up your Syslog Senders in the Server Monitor list. Where the server Monitor list is the server Monitor list. The listening ports (514 for UDP and 6514 for SSL) are not configurable; they are enabled through the management service only.		
			Weer-ID Syslog Listener-SD,           Weer-ID Syslog Listener-LDP           Image: Root Processing Listeneree           Image: Root Processing Li		
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the interface management profile.		
			Even after enabling the User-ID Syslog Listener service on the interface, the interface will only accept syslog connections from servers that have a corresponding entry in the User-ID monitored servers configuration. Connections or messages from servers that are not on the list will be discarded.		
		4.	Assign the Interface Management profile to the interface that the firewall uses to collect user mappings:		
			a. Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and edit the interface.		
			b. Select <b>Advanced &gt; Other info</b> , select the Interface <b>Management Profile</b> you just added, and click <b>OK</b> .		
		5.	Commit your changes.		

#### Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)

Step 7 Verify the configuration by logging in to the firewall CLI and running the following commands:

#### To see the status of a particular syslog sender:

```
admin@PA-5050> show user server-monitor state Syslog2

UDP Syslog Listener Service is enabled

SSL Syslog Listener Service is enabled

Proxy: Syslog2(vsys: vsys1) Host: Syslog2(10.5.204.41)

number of log messages : 1000

number of auth. success messages : 1000

number of active connections : 0

total connections made : 4
```

To see how many log messages came in from syslog senders and how many entries were successfully mapped: admin@PA-5050> show user server-monitor statistics

Directory Servers: Name	TYPE	Host	Vsys	Status
AD	AD	10.2.204.43	vsysl	Connected
Syslog Servers: Name	Connection	Host	Vsys	Status
Syslog1 Syslog2	UDP SSL	10.5.204.40 10.5.204.41	vsys1 vsys1	N/A Not connected

#### To see how many user mappings were discovered through syslog senders: admin@PA-5050> show user ip-user-mapping all type SYSLOG

Vsys	From	User	IdleTimeout(s)	М
vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jreddick	2476	2
vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\jdonaldson	2480	2
vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\ccrisp	2476	2
vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\jjaso	2476	2
vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jblevins	2480	2
vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\bmoss	2480	2
vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\esogard	2476	2
vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\acallaspo	2476	2
vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\jlowrie	2478	2
	Vsys vsysl vsysl vsysl vsysl vsysl vsysl vsysl vsysl	VsysFromvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOGvsys1SYSLOG	VsysFromUservsys1SYSLOGacme\jreddickvsys1SYSLOGacme\jdonaldsonvsys1SYSLOGacme\crispvsys1SYSLOGacme\jjasovsys1SYSLOGacme\jblevinsvsys1SYSLOGacme\bmossvsys1SYSLOGacme\crispvsys1SYSLOGacme\bmossvsys1SYSLOGacme\crispvsys1SYSLOGacme\bmossvsys1SYSLOGacme\crispvsys1SYSLOGacme\crispvsys1SYSLOGacme\jlowrie	VsysFromUserIdleTimeout(s)vsys1SYSLOGacme\jreddick2476vsys1SYSLOGacme\jdonaldson2480vsys1SYSLOGacme\jjaso2476vsys1SYSLOGacme\jjaso2480vsys1SYSLOGacme\jblevins2480vsys1SYSLOGacme\jblevins2480vsys1SYSLOGacme\jblevins2480vsys1SYSLOGacme\acme\acme_sogard2476vsys1SYSLOGacme\acme\acme_sogard2476vsys1SYSLOGacme\jlowrie2478

Total: 9 users

### Configure the Windows User-ID Agent as a Syslog Listener

To configure the Windows-based User-ID agent to create new user mappings based on syslog monitoring, start by defining Syslog Parse profiles. The User-ID agent uses the profiles to find login events in syslog messages. In environments where *syslog senders* (the network services that authenticate users) deliver syslog messages in different formats, configure a profile for each syslog format. Syslog messages must meet certain criteria for a User-ID agent to parse them (see Syslog). This procedure uses examples with the following format:

[Tue Jul 5 13:15:04 2016 CDT] Administrator authentication success User:johndoel Source:192.168.3.212

After configuring the Syslog Parse profiles, you specify syslog senders for the User-ID agent to monitor.

The Windows User-ID agent accepts syslogs over TCP and UDP only. However, you must use caution when using UDP to receive syslog messages because it is an unreliable protocol and as such there is no way to verify that a message was sent from a trusted syslog server. Although you can restrict syslog messages to specific source IP addresses, an attacker can still spoof the IP address, potentially allowing the injection of unauthorized syslog messages into the firewall. As a best practice, use TCP instead of UDP. In either case, make sure that the syslog server and client are both on a dedicated, secure VLAN to prevent untrusted hosts from sending syslogs to the User-ID agent.

### Configure the Windows User-ID Agent to Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders

Step 1	Define custom Syslog Parse profiles to filter syslog messages for successful login events.	1.	Review the syslogs generated by the authenticating service to identify the syntax of the login events. This enables you to create the matching patterns that will allow the firewall to identify and extract the authentication events from the syslogs.
			While reviewing the syslogs, also determine whether the domain name is included in the log entries. If the authentication logs do not contain domain information, consider defining a default domain name when adding the syslog sender to the monitored servers list in Step 4.
		2.	Open the Windows Start menu and select User-ID Agent.
		3.	Select User Identification > Setup and Edit the Setup.
		4.	Select <b>Syslog, Enable Syslog Service,</b> and <b>Add</b> a Syslog Parse profile.
		5.	Enter a <b>Profile Name</b> and <b>Description</b> .
		6.	Select the <b>Type</b> of parsing to find login events in syslog messages:
			• <b>Regex</b> —Regular expressions.
			• Field—Text strings.
			The following steps describe how to configure these parsing types.

Step 2	<ul><li>(Regex parsing only) Define the regex matching patterns.</li><li>If the syslog message contains a</li></ul>	1.	Enter the <b>Event Regex</b> to identify successful login events.
			For the example message, the regex (authentication\
			success) {1} extracts the first {1} instance of the string
	standalone space or tab as a delimiter, use		authentication success. The backslash before the space is a
Ň	s for a space and $t$ for a tab.		standard regex escape character that instructs the regex engine
		~	The state of the space as a special character.
		2.	Enter the <b>Username Regex</b> to identify the start of the username.
			In the example message, the regex
			User:([a-zA-ZO-9])) matches the string
			User: johndoel and identifies johndoel as the username.
		3.	Enter the <b>Address Regex</b> to identify the IP address portion of
			syslog messages.
			In the example message, the regular expression
			Source: $([0-9]{1,3} \cdot [0-9]{1,3} \cdot [0-9]{1,3} \cdot [0-9]{1,3}$
			1,3}) matches the IPv4 address Source: 192.168.3.212.
			The following is an example of a completed Syslog Parse profile that uses regex to identify login events:
		Pa	alo Alto Networks User ID Agent Syslog Parse Profile
			Profile Name parse 1
			Description
			Type 💿 Regex 💿 Field
			Event Regex (authentication\success){1}
			Username Regex User:([a-zA-Z0-9\\\_]+)
			Address Regex Source:([0-9]{1,3}\.[0-9]{1,3})
			OK Cancel
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the profile.

### Configure the Windows User-ID Agent to Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)

Step 3	(Field Identifier parsing only) Define	1.	Enter an <b>Event String</b> to identify successful login events.
	string matching patterns.		For the example message, the string authentication success identifies login events.
		2.	Enter a <b>Username Prefix</b> to identify the start of the username field in syslog messages. The field does not support regex expressions such as $\s$ (for a space) or $\t$ (for a tab).
			In the example messages, User: identifies the start of the username field.
		3.	Enter the <b>Username Delimiter</b> that indicates the end of the username field in syslog messages. Use \s to indicate a standalone space (as in the sample message) and \t to indicate a tab.
		4.	Enter an <b>Address Prefix</b> to identify the start of the IP address field in syslog messages. The field does not support regex expressions such as $\s$ (for a space) or $\t$ (for a tab).
			In the example messages, Source: identifies the start of the address field.
		5.	Enter the <b>Address Delimiter</b> that indicates the end of the IP address field in syslog messages.
			For example, enter $n$ to indicate the delimiter is a line break.
			The following is an example of a completed Syslog Parse profile that uses string matching to identify login events:
		Pa	alo Alto Networks User ID Agent Syslog Parse Profile
			Profile Name parse2
			Description
			Type 🔘 Regex 💿 Field
			Event String authentication success
			Username Prefix User:
			Username Delimiter \s
			Address Prefix Source:
			OK Cancel

# Configure the Windows User-ID Agent to Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)

Step 4	Specify the syslog senders that the User-ID agent monitors.	1.	Select <b>User Identification &gt; Discovery</b> and <b>Add</b> an entry to the Servers list.
	Within the total maximum of 100 servers	2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> to identify the sender.
of all types that the User-ID agent can monitor, up to 50 can be syslog senders. The User-ID agent discards any syslog messages received from senders that are not on this list.	of all types that the User-ID agent can monitor, up to 50 can be syslog senders.	3.	Enter the <b>Server Address</b> of the syslog sender (IP address or FQDN).
	4.	Set the Server Type to Syslog Sender.	
	messages received from senders that are not on this list.	5.	<b>(Optional)</b> If the syslog messages don't contain domain information and your user mappings require domain names, enter a <b>Default Domain Name</b> to append to the mappings.
		6.	Select the Syslog Parse profile you configured as a Filter.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the settings.
		8.	<b>Commit</b> your changes to the User-ID agent configuration.

#### Configure the Windows User-ID Agent to Collect User Mappings from Syslog Senders (Continued)

Step 5 Verify the configuration by logging in to the firewall CLI and running the following commands:

To see the status of a particular syslog sender:

```
admin@PA-5050> show user server-monitor state Syslog2

UDP Syslog Listener Service is enabled

SSL Syslog Listener Service is enabled

Proxy: Syslog2(vsys: vsys1) Host: Syslog2(10.5.204.41)

number of log messages : 1000

number of auth. success messages : 1000

number of active connections : 0

total connections made : 4
```

To see how many log messages came in from syslog senders and how many entries were successfully mapped: admin@PA-5050> show user server-monitor statistics

Directory Servers: Name	TYPE	Host	Vsys	Status
AD	AD	10.2.204.43	vsys	l Connected
Syslog Servers: Name	Connection	Host	Vsys	Status
Syslog1 Syslog2	UDP SSL	10.5.204.40 10.5.204.41	vsys1 vsys1	N/A Not connected

#### To see how many user mappings were discovered through syslog senders: admin@PA-5050> show user ip-user-mapping all type SYSLOG

IP axTimeout(s)	Vsys	From	User	IdleTimeout(s)	М
192.168.3.8 476	vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jreddick	2476	2
192.168.5.39 480	vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\jdonaldson	2480	2
192.168.2.147 476	vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\ccrisp	2476	2
192.168.2.175 476	vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jjaso	2476	2
192.168.4.196 480	vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jblevins	2480	2
192.168.4.103 480	vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\bmoss	2480	2
192.168.2.193 476	vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\esogard	2476	2
192.168.2.119 476	vsysl	SYSLOG	acme\acallaspo	2476	2
192.168.3.176 478	vsys1	SYSLOG	acme\jlowrie	2478	2

Total: 9 users

# Map IP Addresses to User Names Using Captive Portal

If the firewall receives a request from a zone that has User-ID enabled and the source IP address does not have any user data associated with it yet, it checks its Captive Portal policy for a match to determine whether to perform authentication. This is useful in environments where you have clients that are not logged in to your domain servers, such as Linux clients. This user mapping method is triggered only for web traffic (HTTP or HTTPS) that matches a security rule/policy, but that has not been mapped using a different method.

- ▲ Captive Portal Authentication Methods
- ▲ Captive Portal Modes
- ▲ Configure Captive Portal

## Captive Portal Authentication Methods

Captive Portal uses the following methods to obtain user data from the client when a request matches a Captive Portal policy:

Authentication Method	Description
NT LAN Manager (NTLM)	The firewall uses an encrypted challenge-response mechanism to obtain the user's credentials from the browser. When configured properly, the browser will provide the credentials to the firewall transparently without prompting the user, but will display a prompt for credentials if necessary. If the browser cannot perform NTLM or if NTLM authentication fails, the firewall falls back to web form or client certificate authentication, depending on your Captive Portal configuration. By default, IE supports NTLM. Firefox and Chrome can be configured to use it. You cannot use NTLM to authenticate non-Windows clients.
Web Form	Requests are redirected to a web form for authentication. You can configure Captive Portal to use a local user database, RADIUS, LDAP, or Kerberos to authenticate users. Although users will always be prompted for credentials, this authentication method works with all browsers and operating systems.
Client Certificate Authentication	Prompts the browser to present a valid client certificate for authenticating the user. To use this method, you must provision client certificates on each user system and install the trusted CA certificate used to issue those certificates on the firewall. This is the only authentication method that enables transparent authentication for Mac OS and Linux clients.

### Captive Portal Modes

The Captive Portal mode defines how web requests are captured for authentication:

Mode	Description
Transparent	The firewall intercepts the browser traffic per the Captive Portal rule and impersonates the original destination URL, issuing an HTTP 401 to invoke authentication. However, because the firewall does not have the real certificate for the destination URL, the browser will display a certificate error to users attempting to access a secure site. Therefore you should only use this mode when absolutely necessary, such as in Layer 2 or virtual wire deployments.
Redirect	The firewall intercepts unknown HTTP or HTTPS sessions and redirects them to a Layer 3 interface on the firewall using an HTTP 302 redirect in order to perform authentication. This is the preferred mode because it provides a better end-user experience (no certificate errors). However, it does require additional Layer 3 configuration. Another benefit of the Redirect mode is that it provides for the use of session cookies, which enable the user to continue browsing to authenticated sites without requiring re-mapping each time the time outs expire. This is especially useful for users who roam from one IP address to another (for example, from the corporate LAN to the wireless network) because they will not need to re-authenticate upon IP address change as long as the session stays open. In addition, if you plan to use NTLM authentication, you must use Redirect mode because the browser will only provide credentials to trusted sites.

# **Configure Captive Portal**

The following procedure shows how to configure Captive Portal using the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent to redirect requests that match a Captive Portal policy to a Layer 3 interface on the firewall.



If you plan to use Captive Portal without using the other User-ID functions (user mapping and group mapping), you do not need to configure an agent.

Config	Configure Captive Portal Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent				
Step 1	Make sure the firewall has a route to the servers it will monitor to gather user data (for example, your Domain Controllers and your Exchange servers).	The firewall must be able to communicate with the servers over a designated interface (the management [MGT] interface by default), so make sure that the network where your directory servers reside is accessible from that interface. If this configuration doesn't work in your environment, you must configure Captive Portal using the Window-based User-ID agent.			
Step 2	Make sure DNS is configured to resolve your Domain Controller addresses.	To verify proper resolution, ping the server FQDN. For example: admin@PA-200> ping host dcl.acme.com			

Configi	are Captive Portal Using the PAN-OS Int	egra	ated User-ID Agent (Continued)
Step 3	(Redirect mode only) Create a Layer 3 interface to which to redirect Captive Portal requests.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Create a management profile to enable the interface to display Captive Portal response pages:</li> <li>a. Select Network &gt; Interface Mgmt and click Add.</li> <li>b. Enter a Name for the profile, select Response Pages, and then click OK.</li> <li>Create the Layer 3 interface. Be sure to attach the management profile you just created (on the Advanced &gt; Other Info tab of the Ethernet Interface dialog).</li> <li>Create a DNS "A" record that maps the IP address you configured on the Layer 3 interface to an intranet host name (that is, a hostname that does not have a dot in the name, such as ntlmhost).</li> </ul>
Step 4	<ul> <li>(Redirect mode only) To transparently redirect users without displaying certificate errors, install a certificate that matches the IP address of the interface to which you are redirecting requests.You can either generate a self-signed certificate or import a certificate that is signed by an external CA.</li> <li>When setting up Captive Portal for the first time, imported certificates may not work. If you plan to use an imported certificate, complete the initial configuration without specifying a Server Certificate. After you get Captive Portal working, you can go back and switch to the imported certificate.</li> </ul>	To cert for 1.	use a self-signed certificate, you must first create a root CA tificate and then use that CA to sign the certificate you will use Captive Portal as follows: To create a root CA certificate, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate</b> <b>Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates</b> and then click <b>Generate</b> . Enter a <b>Certificate Name</b> , such as RootCA. Do not select a value in the <b>Signed By</b> field (this is what indicates that it is self-signed). Make sure you select the <b>Certificate</b> <b>Authority</b> check box and then click <b>Generate</b> the certificate. To create the certificate to use for Captive Portal, click <b>Generate</b> . Enter a <b>Certificate Name</b> and enter the DNS name of the intranet host for the interface as the <b>Common Name</b> . In the <b>Signed By</b> field, select the CA you created in the previous step. Add an IP address attribute and specify the IP address of the Layer 3 interface to which you will be redirecting requests. <b>Generate</b> the certificate. To configure clients to trust the certificate, select the CA certificate on the <b>Device Certificates</b> tab and click <b>Export</b> . You must then import the certificate as a trusted root CA into all client browsers, either by manually configuring the browser or by adding the certificate to the trusted roots in an Active Directory Group Policy Object (GPO).

Configure Captive Portal Using	the PAN-OS Integrated	User-ID Agent (Continued)
--------------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------

### Configure Captive Portal Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent (Continued)

Step 5	<ul> <li>Set up an authentication mechanism to use when the web form is invoked. Note that even if you plan to use NTLM, you must also set up a secondary authentication mechanism that can be used if NTLM authentication fails or if the user agent does not support it.</li> <li>Best Practices: <ul> <li>If using RADIUS to authenticate users from the web form, be sure to enter a RADIUS domain. This will be used as the default domain if users don't supply one upon login.</li> <li>If using AD to authenticate users from the web form, make sure to enter sAMAccountName as the LogonAttribute.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	2.	<ul> <li>Configure the firewall to connect to the authentication service you plan to use so that it can access the authentication credentials.</li> <li>If you plan to authenticate using LDAP, Kerberos, or RADIUS, you must create a server profile that instructs the firewall how to connect to the service and access the authentication credentials for your users. Select <b>Device &gt;</b> Server Profiles and add a new profile for the specific service you will be accessing.</li> <li>If you plan to use local database authentication, you must first create the local database. Select <b>Device &gt; Local User Database</b> and add the users and groups to be authenticated.</li> <li>Create an authentication profile that references the server profile or local user database you just created. Select <b>Device &gt;</b> Authentication Profile and add a new profile for use with Captive Portal. For details on creating a specific type of authentication profile, refer to the online help.</li> </ul>
Step 6	<ul> <li>(Optional) Set up client certificate authentication. Note that you do not need to set up both an authentication profile and a client certificate profile to enable Captive Portal. If you configure both, the user will be required to authenticate using both methods.</li> <li>For details on other certificate profile fields, such as whether to use CRL or OCSP, refer to the online help.</li> </ul>	1. 2. 3. 4.	<ul> <li>Use a root CA certificate to generate a client certificate for each user who will authenticate to Captive Portal. The CA in this case is usually your enterprise CA, not the firewall.</li> <li>Export the CA certificate in Base64 format to a system that the firewall can access.</li> <li>Import the root CA certificate from the CA that generated the client certificates onto the firewall: <ul> <li>a. Select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates and click Import.</li> <li>b. Enter a Certificate Name that identifies the certificate as your client CA certificate.</li> <li>c. Browse to the Certificate File you downloaded from the CA.</li> <li>d. Select Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM) as the File Format and then click OK.</li> <li>e. Select the certificate you just imported on the Device Certificates tab to open it.</li> <li>f. Select Trusted Root CA and then click OK.</li> <li>Create the client certificate profile that you will use when you configure Captive Portal.</li> <li>a. Select Device &gt; Certificates &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificate Profile, click Add, and enter a profile Name.</li> <li>b. In the Username Field drop-down, select the certificate field that contains the user's identity information.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

Config	Configure Captive Portal Using the PAN-OS Integrated User-ID Agent (Continued)				
Step 7	Enable NT LAN Manager (NTLM) authentication.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping</b> and edit the Palo Alto Networks User ID Agent Setup section of the screen.		
	When using the on-device User-ID agent, the firewall must be able to successfully resolve the	2.	On the NTLM tab, select the Enable NTLM authentication processing check box.		
DNS name of your Domain Controller in order for the firewall to join the domain. The credentials you supply here will be used to join the firewall to the domain upon successful DNS resolution.	3.	Enter the <b>NTLM Domain</b> against which the User-ID agent on the firewall should check NTLM credentials.			
	to join the domain. The credentials you supply here will be used to join the firewall to the domain upon successful DNS resolution.	4.	Enter the <b>Admin User Name</b> and <b>Password</b> for the Active Directory account you created in Step 1 in Map IP Addresses to Users Using the Integrated User-ID Agent for NTLM authentication.		
			Do not include the domain in the <b>Admin User Name</b> field. Otherwise, the firewall will fail to join the domain.		
			Palo Alto Networks recommends that you use a User-ID agent account that is separate from your firewall administrator account.		
		5.	You don't need to configure any other settings for the User-ID agent: click <b>OK</b> .		

tep 8	Configure the Captive Portal settings.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; Captive Portal Settings</b> and Edit the <b>Captive Portal</b> section of the screen.
		2.	Make sure the <b>Enabled</b> check box is selected.
		3.	Set the <b>Mode</b> . This example shows how to set up <b>Redirect</b> mode.
		4.	(Redirect mode only) Select the <b>Server Certificate</b> the firewal should use to redirect requests over SSL. This is the certificat you created in Step 4.
		5.	(Redirect mode only) Specify the <b>Redirect Host</b> , which is the intranet hostname that resolves to the IP address of the Layer interface to which you are redirecting requests, as specified in Step 3.
		6.	Select the authentication method to use if NTLM fails (or if yo are not using NTLM):
			<ul> <li>If you are using LDAP, Kerberos, RADIUS, or local database authentication, select the Authentication Profile you created in Step 5.</li> <li>If you are using client certificate authentication, select the</li> </ul>
			Certificate Profile you created in Step 6.
			pptive Portal
		_	Redirect Host corp-fw Certificate Authentication
			Certificate Profile None v
			NTLM Authentication
			Attempts 1 Timeout (sec) 2

# Configure User Mapping for Terminal Server Users

Individual terminal server users appear to have the same IP address and therefore an IP address-to-username mapping is not sufficient to identify a specific user. To enable identification of specific users on Windows-based terminal servers, the Palo Alto Networks Terminal Services agent (TS agent) allocates a port range to each user. It then notifies every connected firewall about the allocated port range, which allows the firewall to create an IP address-port-user mapping table and enable user- and group-based security policy enforcement. For non-Windows terminal servers, you can configure the User-ID XML API to extract user mapping information.

The following sections describe how to configure user mapping for terminal server users:

- ▲ Configure the Palo Alto Networks Terminal Server Agent for User Mapping
- ▲ Retrieve User Mappings from a Terminal Server Using the User-ID XML API

# Configure the Palo Alto Networks Terminal Server Agent for User Mapping

Use the following procedure to install the TS agent on the terminal server. You must install the TS agent on all terminal servers that your users log in to in order to successfully map all your users.



For information about the supported terminal servers supported by the TS Agent, refer to "Operating System (OS) Compatibility TS Agent" in the Terminal Services Agent Release Notes, which are available on the Palo Alto Networks Software Updates page.

Install	Install the Windows Terminal Server Agent				
Step 1	Download the TS Agent installer.	1.	Log in to the Palo Alto Networks Support site.		
		2.	Select Software Updates from the Manage Devices section.		
		3.	Scroll to the <b>Terminal Services Agent</b> section and <b>Download</b> the version of the agent you want to install.		
		4.	Save the TaInstall64.x64-x.x.x-xx.msi or TaInstall-x.x.x-xx.msi file (be sure to select the appropriate version based on whether the Windows system is running a 32-bit OS or a 64-bit OS) on the system(s) where you plan to install the agent.		

		3 (1		
Step 2	Run the installer as Server Manager Command Prom Windows Update Command Prom Windows Update Notepad	s an administrator.	1. 2. 3.	To launch a command prompt as an administrator, click Start and right-click <b>Command Prompt</b> and then select <b>Run as</b> <b>administrator</b> . From the command line, run the .msi file you downloaded. For example, if you saved the .msi file to the Desktop you would enter the following: C:\Users\administrator.acme>cd Desktop C:\Users\administrator.acme\Desktop>TaInstall-6.0. 0-1.msi Follow the setup prompts to install the agent using the default settings. By default the agent gets installed to the G:\Dreggram
	Cop Rem Ren Prop	Copy  Remove from this list Rename  Properties	4.	<ul> <li>Settings. By default, the agent gets installed to the C:\Program</li> <li>Files (x86)\Palo Alto Networks\Terminal Server Agent folder, but you can Browse to a different location.</li> <li>When the installation completes, Close the setup window.</li> <li>If you are upgrading to a TS Agent version that has a newer driver than the existing installation, the installation wizard prompts you to reboot the system after upgrading in order to use the new driver.</li> </ul>
Step 3	Launch the Termin application.	nal Server Agent		ck Start and select <b>Terminal Server Agent</b> .

### Install the Windows Terminal Server Agent (Continued)

Install the Windows Terminal Server Agent (Continued)				
<image/>	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Configure.</li> <li>Set the Source Port Allocation Range (default 20000-39999). This is the full range of port numbers that the TS Agent will allocate for user mapping. The port range you specify cannot overlap with the System Source Port Allocation Range.</li> <li>(Optional) If there are ports/port ranges within the source port allocation that you do not want the TS Agent to allocate to user sessions, specify them as Reserved Source Ports. To include multiple ranges, use commas with no spaces, for example: 2000-3000, 3500, 4000-5000.</li> <li>Specify the number of ports to allocate to each individual user upon login to the terminal server in the Port Allocation Start Size Per User field (default 200).</li> <li>Specify the Port Allocation Maximum Size Per User, which is the maximum number of ports the Terminal Server agent can allocate to an individual user.</li> <li>Specify whether to continue processing traffic from the user if the user runs out of allocated ports. By default, the Fail port binding when available ports are used up is selected, which indicates that the application will fail to send traffic when all</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>these fields do not overlap with the ports you designate for user traffic. These values can only be changed by editing the corresponding Windows registry settings.</li> <li>Step 5 Configure the firewalls to connect to the Terminal Server agent.</li> </ul>	Corto ti 1.	ports are used. To enable users to continue using applications when they run out of ports, clear this check box. Keep in mind that this traffic may not be identified with User-ID.		
		and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the Terminal Server agent		
	3.	Enter the IP address of the Windows <b>Host</b> on which the Terminal Server agent is installed.		
	4.	Enter the <b>Port</b> number on which the agent will listen for user mapping requests. This value must match the value configured on the Terminal Server agent. By default, the port is set to 5009 on the firewall and on the agent. If you change it here, you must also change the <b>Listening Port</b> field on the Terminal Server agent <b>Configure</b> screen.		
		Make sure that the configuration is <b>Enabled</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .		
		Verify that the <b>Connected</b> status displays as connected (a green light).		

#### Install the Windows Terminal Server Agent (Continued)

Step 6 Verify that the Terminal Server agent is successfully mapping IP addresses to usernames and that the firewalls can connect to the agent.



- . Launch the Terminal Server agent and verify that the firewalls can connect by making sure the **Connection Status** for each of Device in the Connection List is **Connected**.
- 2. To verify that the Terminal Server agent is successfully mapping port ranges to usernames, select **Monitoring** and make sure that the mapping table is populated.

### Retrieve User Mappings from a Terminal Server Using the User-ID XML API

The User-ID XML API is a RESTful API that uses standard HTTP requests to send and receive data. API calls can be made directly from command line utilities such as cURL or using any scripting or application framework that supports RESTful services.

To enable a non-Windows terminal server to send user mapping information directly to the firewall, create scripts that extract the user login and logout events and use them for input to the User-ID XML API request format. Then define the mechanisms for submitting the XML API request(s) to the firewall using cURL or wget and providing the firewall's API key for secure communication. Creating user mappings from multi-user systems such as terminal servers requires use of the following API messages:

- <multiusersystem>—Sets up the configuration for an XML API Multi-user System on the firewall. This message allows for definition of the terminal server IP address (this will be the source address for all users on that terminal server). In addition, the <multiusersystem> setup message specifies the range of source port numbers to allocate for user mapping and the number of ports to allocate to each individual user upon login (called the *block size*). If you want to use the default source port allocation range (1025-65534) and block size (200), you do not need to send a <multiusersystem> setup event to the firewall. Instead, the firewall will automatically generate the XML API Multi-user System configuration with the default settings upon receipt of the first user login event message.
- **<blockstart>**—Used with the <login> and <logout> messages to indicate the starting source port number allocated to the user. The firewall then uses the block size to determine the actual range of port numbers to map to the IP address and username in the login message. For example, if the <blockstart> value is 13200 and the block size configured for the multi-user system is 300, the actual source port range allocated to the user is 13200 through 13499. Each connection initiated by the user should use a unique source port number within the allocated range, enabling the firewall to identify the user based on its IP address-port-user mappings for enforcement of user- and group-based security policy rules. When a user exhausts all the ports allocated, the terminal server must send a new <login> message allocating a new port range for the user so that the firewall can update the IP address-port-user mapping. In addition, a single

username can have multiple blocks of ports mapped simultaneously. When the firewall receives a <logout> message that includes a <blockstart> parameter, it removes the corresponding IP address-port-user mapping from its mapping table. When the firewall receives a <logout> message with a username and IP address, but no <blockstart>, it removes the user from its table. And, if the firewall receives a <logout> message with an IP address only, it removes the multi-user system and all mappings associated with it.



The XML files that the terminal server sends to the firewall can contain multiple message types and the messages do not need to be in any particular order within the file. However, upon receiving an XML file that contains multiple message types, the firewall will process them in the following order: multiusersystem requests first, followed by logins, then logouts.

The following workflow provides an example of how to use the User-ID XML API to send user mappings from a non-Windows terminal server to the firewall.

#### Use the User-ID XML API to Map Non-Windows Terminal Services Users

Step 1	Generate the API key that will be used to authenticate the API communication between the firewall and the Terminal server. To generate the key you must provide login credentials for an administrative account; the API is available to all administrators (including role-based administrators with XML API privileges enabled). Any special characters in the password must be URL/ percent-encoded.	<pre>From a browser, log in to the firewall. Then, to generate the API key for the firewall, open a new browser window and enter the following URL: https://<firewall-ipaddress>/api/?type=keygen&amp;user=<username>&amp; password=<password> Where <firewall-ipaddress> is the IP address or FQDN of the firewall and <username> and <password> are the credentials for the administrative user account on the firewall. For example: https://10.1.2.5/api/?type=keygen&amp;user=admin&amp;password=admin The firewall responds with a message containing the key, for example: <response status="success"> </response></password></username> // **********************************</firewall-ipaddress></password></username></firewall-ipaddress></pre>
--------	---	---

### Use the User-ID XML API to Map Non-Windows Terminal Services Users (Continued)

Step 2	<ul> <li>(Optional) Generate a setup message that the terminal server will send to specify the port range and block size of ports per user that your terminal services agent uses.</li> <li>If the terminal services agent does not send a setup message, the firewall will automatically create a terminal server agent configuration using the following default settings upon receipt of the first login message:</li> <li>Default port range: 1025 to 65534</li> <li>Per user block size: 200</li> </ul>	The following shows a sample setup message: <uid-message> <payload> <multiusersystem></multiusersystem></payload></uid-message>
Maximum numbe multi-user system	• Maximum number of multi-user systems: 1,000	there are no gaps or unused ports. For example, if you set the port range to 1000-1499, you could set the block size to 100, but not to 200. This is because if you set it to 200, there would be unused ports at the end of the range.
Step 3	Create a script that will extract the login events and create the XML input file to send to the firewall. Make sure the script enforces	The following shows the input file format for a user-ID XML login event: <uid-message> <payload> <login> <entry blockstart="20000" ip="10.1.1.23" name="acme\jjaso"></entry></login></payload></uid-message>
	assignment of port number ranges at fixed boundaries with no port overlaps. For example, if the port range is 1000-1999 and the block size is 200, acceptable blockstart values would be 1000, 1200, 1400, 1600, or 1800. Blockstart values of 1001, 1300, or 1850 would be unacceptable because some of the port numbers in the range would be left unused. The login event payload that the terminal server sends to the firewall can	<pre><entry blockstart="20100" ip="10.1.1.23" name="acme\jparker"> <entry blockstart="21000" ip="10.1.1.23" name="acme\ccrisp">   <type>update</type> <version>1.0</version>  The firewall uses this information to populate its user mapping table. Based on the mappings extracted from the example above, if the firewall received a packet with a source address and port of 10.1.1.23:20101, it would map the request to user jparker for policy enforcement. Each multi-user system can allocate a maximum of 1,000 port blocks.</entry></entry></pre>
contain multiple	to the threwall can contain multiple login	

events.
Step 4	Create a script that will extract the logout events and create the XML input file to send to the firewall. Upon receipt of a logout event message with a blockstart parameter, the firewall removes the corresponding IP address-port-user mapping. If the logout message contains a username and IP address, but no blockstart parameter, the firewall removes all mappings for the user. If the logout message contains an IP address only, the firewall removes the multi-user system and all associated mappings.	The following shows the input file format for a User-ID XML logout event: <uid-message> <payload> <logout> <entry <br="" ip="10.1.1.23" name="acme\jjaso">blockstart="20000"&gt; <entry ip="10.1.1.23" name="acme\ccrisp"> <entry ip="10.2.5.4"> </entry></entry></entry></logout> </payload> <type>update</type> <version>1.0</version> </uid-message> You can also clear the multiuser system entry from the firewall using the following CLI command: clear xml-api multiusersystem
Step 5	Make sure that the scripts you create include a way to dynamically enforce that the port block range allocated using the XML API matches the actual source port assigned to the user on the terminal server and that the mapping is removed when the user logs out or the port allocation changes.	One way to do this would be to use netfilter NAT rules to hide user sessions behind the specific port ranges allocated via the XML API based on the uid. For example, to ensure that a user with the user ID jjaso is mapped to a source network address translation (SNAT) value of 10.1.1.23:20000-20099, the script you create should include the following: [root@tsl ~]# iptables -t nat -A POSTROUTING -m owneruid-owner jjaso -p tcp -j SNATto-source 10.1.1.23:20000-20099 Similarly, the scripts you create should also ensure that the IP table routing configuration dynamically removes the SNAT mapping when the user logs out or the port allocation changes: [root@tsl ~]# iptables -t nat -D POSTROUTING 1
Step 6	Define how to package the XML input files containing the setup, login, and logout events into wget or cURL messages for transmission to the firewall.	<pre>To apply the files to the firewall using wget: &gt; wgetpost file <filename> "https://<firewall-ipaddress>/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=<key>&amp;file-name=<inp ut_filename.xml&gt;&amp;client=wget&amp;vsys=<vsys_name>" For example, the syntax for sending an input file named login.xml to the firewall at 10.2.5.11 using key k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx7ot%2BgzEA9U0nlZRg using wget would look as follows: &gt; wgetpost file login.xml "https://l0.2.5.11/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx 7ot%2BgzEA9U0nlZRg&amp;file-name=login.xml&amp;client=wget&amp;vsys=vsys1" To apply the file to the firewall using cURL: &gt; curlform file=@<filename> https://<firewall-ipaddress>/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=<key>&amp;vsys=<vsys_name &gt; For example, the syntax for sending an input file named login.xml to the firewall at 10.2.5.11 using key k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx7ot%2BgzEA9U0nlZRg using cURL would look as follows: &gt; curlform file@login.xml "https://10.2.5.11/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx7ot%2BgzEA9U0nlZRg using cURL would look as follows: &gt; curlform file@login.xml "https://10.2.5.11/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx7ot%2BgzEA9U0nlZRg using cURL would look as follows: &gt; curlform file@login.xml "https://10.2.5.11/api/?type=user-id&amp;key=k7J335J6hI7nBxIqyfa62sZugWx7ot% 2BgzEA9U0nlZRg&amp;vsys=vsys1"</vsys_name </key></firewall-ipaddress></filename></vsys_name></inp </key></firewall-ipaddress></filename></pre>

#### Use the User-ID XML API to Map Non-Windows Terminal Services Users (Continued)

Step 7	Verify that the firewall is successfully receiving login events from the terminal servers.	Verify the configuration by opening an SSH connection to the firewall and then running the following CLI commands: To verify if the terminal server is connecting to the firewall over XML: admin@PA-5050> <b>show user xml-api multiusersystem</b> Host Vsys Users Blocks
		<pre>10.5.204.43 vsys1 5 2 To verify that the firewall is receiving mappings from a terminal server over XML: admin@PA-5050&gt; show user ip-port-user-mapping all Global max host index 1, host hash count 1 XML API Multi-user System 10.5.204.43 Vsys 1, Flag 3 Port range: 20000 - 39999 Port size: start 200; max 2000 Block count 100, port count 20000 20000-20199: acme\administrator Total host: 1</pre>

#### Use the User-ID XML API to Map Non-Windows Terminal Services Users (Continued)

### Send User Mappings to User-ID Using the XML API

Although the User-ID functionality provides many out-of-the box methods for obtaining user mapping information, you may have some applications or devices that capture user information that cannot be natively integrated with User-ID. In this case you can use the User-ID XML API to create custom scripts that allow you to leverage existing user data and send it to the User-ID agent or directly to the firewall.

The User-ID XML API is a RESTful API that uses standard HTTP requests to send and receive data. API calls can be made directly from command line utilities such as cURL or using any scripting or application framework that supports RESTful services. To leverage user data from an existing system—such as a custom application developed internally or another device that is not supported by one of the existing user mapping mechanisms—you can create custom scripts to extract the data and send it to the firewall or the User-ID agent using the XML API.

To enable an external system to send user mapping information to the User-ID agent or directly to the firewall, you can create scripts that extract the user login and logout events and use them for input to the User-ID XML API request format. Then define the mechanisms for submitting the XML API request(s) to the firewall using cURL or wget using the firewall's API key for secure communication. For more details, refer to the *PAN-OS XML API Usage Guide*.

# Configure a Firewall to Share User Mapping Data with Other Firewalls

Because policy is local to each firewall, each firewall needs current user mapping and group mapping information to accurately enforce security policy by user and group. However, you can configure one firewall to collect all the mapping information and act as a User-ID agent to share that information with other firewalls. The redistribution firewall can share only the information it collects using local methods (for example, the PAN-OS integrated User-ID agent or Captive Portal), not the information collected from the Windows-based User-ID and Terminal Services agents. You configure the receiving firewalls to retrieve the mapping information firewall; they don't need to communicate directly with domain servers.



The following procedure describes how to set up redistribution of User-ID information.

Configu	ure a Firewall to Redistribute User Mapp	oings	S
Step 1	Configure the redistribution firewall. User-ID configurations apply to a single virtual system only. To redistribute User-ID mappings from multiple virtual systems, you must configure the user mapping settings on each virtual system separately, using a unique pre-shared key in each configuration.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User Mapping</b> and edit the Palo Alto Networks User-ID Agent Setup section. Select <b>Redistribution</b> . Enter a <b>Collector Name</b> . Enter and confirm the <b>Pre-Shared Key</b> that will enable other firewalls to connect to this firewall to retrieve user mapping information. Click <b>OK</b> to save the redistribution configuration.
Step 2	Create an interface management profile that enables the User-ID service and attach it to the interface that the other firewalls will connect to in order to retrieve user mappings.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; Interface Mgmt and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and then select the Permitted Services. At a minimum, select User-ID Service and HTTPS.</li> <li>Click OK to save the profile.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet and select the interface you plan to use for redistribution.</li> <li>On the Advanced &gt; Other Info tab, select the Management Profile you just created.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> </ul>

Coning						
Step 3	Configure the other firewalls to retrieve user mappings from the redistribution firewall.	Per to 1	form the following steps on each firewall that you want to be able retrieve user mappings: Select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; User-ID Agents</b> .			
	If the redistribution firewall has multiple virtual systems	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter a User-ID agent <b>Name</b> for the redistribution firewall.			
	configured for redistribution, make sure you are using the	3.	Enter the hostname or IP address of the firewall interface that you configured for redistribution in the <b>Host</b> field.			
	pre-shared key that corresponds to the virtual system from which you	4.	Enter 5007 as the <b>Port</b> number on which the redistribution firewall will listen for User-ID requests.			
	want this firewall to retrieve User-ID mappings.	5.	Enter the <b>Collector Name</b> that you specified in the redistribution firewall configuration (Step 1-3).			
		6.	Enter and confirm the <b>Collector Pre-Shared Key</b> . The key value you enter here must match the value configured on the redistribution firewall (Step 1-4).			
		7.	(Optional) If you are using the redistribution firewall to retrieve group mappings in addition to user mappings, select the <b>Use as</b> <b>LDAP Proxy</b> check box.			
		8.	(Optional) If you are using the redistribution firewall for Captive Portal authentication, select the <b>Use for NTLM Authentication</b> check box.			
		9.	Make sure that the configuration is <b>Enabled</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .			
		10.	<b>Commit</b> the changes.			
Step 4	Verify the configuration.		the <b>User-ID Agents</b> tab, verify that the redistribution firewall ry you just added shows a green icon in the <b>Connected</b> column.			
		If a ider has fror	red icon appears, check traffic logs ( <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Traffic</b> ) to ntify the issue. You can also check to see if any user mapping data been received by running the following operational commands m the CLI:			
		sho on	w user ip-user-mapping (to view user mapping information the dataplane)			
		shc ma	w user ip-user-mapping-mp (to view mappings on the nagement plane).			

### Configure a Firewall to Redistribute User Mappings (Continued)

### Enable User- and Group-Based Policy

In order to enable security policy based on user and/or group, you must enable User-ID for each zone that contains users you want to identify. You can then define policies that allow or deny traffic based on user name or group membership. Additionally, you can create Captive Portal policies to enable identification for IP addresses that do not yet have any user data associated with them.

1.

#### Enable User- and Group-Based Policy

- Step 1 Enable User-ID on the source zones that contain the users that will send requests that require user-based access controls.
- Select Network > Zones.
- 2. Click the **Name** of the zone in which you want to enable User-ID to open the Zone dialog.
- 3. Select the **Enable User Identification** check box and then click **OK**.

Name	trust		User Identification ACL
Туре	Layer3	-	Indude List 🔺
Interfaces 🔺			Select an address or address group or type in your own
ethernet1/2			address, EX: 192.106.1.20 or 192.106.1.0/24
			⊕ Add ⊡Delete
			Users from these addresses/subnets will be identified.
			Exclude List 🔺
Add Delete			Select an address or address group or type in your own address. Ex: 192.168.1.20 or 192.168.1.0/24
one Protection Profile	None	~	
Log Setting	None	-	+ Add Delete
	Manual Enable User Identification		Users from these addresses/subnets will not be identified.

Enable	Enable User- and Group-Based Policy (Continued)					
Step 2	Create security policies based on user and/or group. As a best practice, create policies based on group rather than user whenever possible. This prevents you from having to continually update your policies (which requires a commit) whenever your user base changes.	1.	<ul> <li>After configuring User-ID, you will be able to choose a user name or group name when defining the source or destination of a security rule:</li> <li>a. Select Policies &gt; Security and click Add to create a new policy or click on an existing policy rule name to open the Security Policy Rule dialog.</li> <li>b. Specify which users and/or groups to match in the policy in one of the following ways: <ul> <li>If you want to specify specific users/groups as matching criteria, select the User tab and click the Add button in the Source User section to display a list of users and groups discovered by the firewall group mapping function. Select the users and/or groups to add to the policy.</li> <li>If you want the policy to match any user who has or has not successfully authenticated and you don't need to know the specific user or group name, select known-user or unknown from the drop-down above the Source User list.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Configure the rest of the policy as appropriate and then click OK to save it. For details on other fields in the security policy, see Set Up Basic Security Policies.</li> </ul>			

### Enable User- and Group-Based Policy (Continued)

ble User- and Group-Based Policy (Continued)								
3 Create	your Captive Po	ortal policies.		1. Select Policies	s > Capt	ive Portal.		
			2. Click <b>Add</b> and	enter a	Name for the poli	.cy.		
			3. Define the matching criteria for the rule by completing the Source, Destination, and Service/URL Category tabs as appropriate to match the traffic you want to authenticate. The matching criteria on these tabs is the same as the criteria you define when creating a security policy. See Set Up Basic Security Policies for details.					
				4. Define the <b>Ac</b>	tion to	take on traffic that	matches the	rule:
			no-captive     presenting	<b>-portal</b> - a Captiv	—Allow traffic to p ve Portal page for a	pass without authentication	n.	
			• <b>web-form</b> —Present a Captive Portal page for the user to explicitly enter authentication credentials or use client certificate authentication.					
		• browser-cl request to th respond usi login creden to supply th LAN Mana Captive Por falls back to	halleng he web l ng the c ntials ar em. If y ger (NT rtal. If N web-f	e—Open an NTL browser of the user current login creder e not available, the ou select this action TLM) authenticatio VTLM authenticatio	M authentica . The web brontials of the u user will be p n, you must e n when you ( on fails, the p n.	ition owser will iser. If the prompted mable NT Configure firewall		
				5. Click <b>OK</b> .				
			T th w	The following exar the firewall to pres who send HTTP re	nple sho ent a wo equests	ows a Captive Port eb form to authent from the trust zon	al policy that icate unknov e to the untr	; instructs vn users rust zone.
				Source		Destination		
	Name	Tag	Zone	Address	Zone	Address	Service	Action

		Name	Tag	Zone		Address	Zone	Address	Service	Action
		all	none	🕅 trust	l	any	🕅 untrust	any	💥 service-http	web-form
Step 4	Save you	r policy setting	zs.		Click	Commit.				

### Verify the User-ID Configuration

After you configure group mapping and user mapping and enable User-ID on your security policies and Captive Portal policies, you should verify that it is working properly.

Verify	the User-ID Configuration	
Step 1	Verify that group mapping is working.	From the CLI, enter the following command: show user group-mapping statistics
Step 2	Verify that user mapping is working.	If you are using the on-device User-ID agent, you can verify this from the CLI using the following command: <b>show user ip-user-mapping-mp all</b>
		IP Vsys From User Timeout (sec)
		192.168.201.1       vsys1 UIA       acme\george       210         192.168.201.11       vsys1 UIA       acme\duane       210         192.168.201.50       vsys1 UIA       acme\betsy       210         192.168.201.10       vsys1 UIA       acme\betsy       210         192.168.201.10       vsys1 UIA       acme\administrator       210         192.168.201.100       vsys1 AD       acme\administrator       748         Total:       5       users       *:       WMI probe       succeeded
Step 3	Test your security policy.	<ul> <li>From a machine in the zone where User-ID is enabled, attempt to access sites and applications to test the rules you defined in your policy and ensure that traffic is allowed and denied as expected.</li> <li>You can also use the test security-policy-match command to determine whether the policy is configured correctly. For example, suppose you have a rule that blocks user duane from playing World of Warcraft; you could test the policy as follows: <pre>test security-policy-match application worldofwarcraft source-user acme\duane source any destination any destination-port any protocol 6 "deny worldofwarcraft" {     from corporate;     source any;     source-region any;     to internet;     destination-region any;     user acme\duane;     category any;     application/service worldofwarcraft;     action deny;     terminal no; }</pre></li></ul>

Verify tl	erify the User-ID Configuration (Continued)						
Step 4	tep 4 Test your Captive Portal configuration.		From the same zone, go to a machine that is not a member of your directory, such as a Mac OS system, and try to ping to a system external to the zone. The ping should work without requiring authentication.				
		2.	From the same machine, open a browser and navigate to a web site in a destination zone that matches a Captive Portal policy you defined. You should see the Captive Portal web form.				
			User Identification Portal The resource you are trying to access requires proper user identification prior to access. Please enter your credentials. Name Password Login				
		3.	Log in using the correct credentials and confirm that you are redirected to the requested page.				
		4.	You can also test your Captive Portal policy using the test cp-policy-match command as follows:				
			test cp-policy-match from corporate to internet source 192.168.201.10 destination 8.8.8.8				
		1	Matched rule: 'captive portal' action: web-form				

Step 5 Verify that user names are displayed in the log files (**Monitor > Logs**).

	Receive Time	Category	URL	From Zone	To Zone	Source	Source User
Þ	12/18 15:16:17	computer-and- internet-info	*.urbanairship.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme \jdonaldson
p	12/18 15:16:01	social-networking	graph.facebook.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\gbalfour
p	12/18 15:16:01	social-networking	graph.facebook.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jdonaldson
P	12/18 15:16:01	social-networking	orcart.facebook.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jparker
p	12/18 15:04:15	web-based-email	*.mg.mail.yahoo.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jreddick
p	12/18 14:51:13	search-engines	www.google.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jparker
þ	12/18 14:49:06	search-engines	*.google.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jreddick
Þ	12/18 14:48:10	search-engines	www.google.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\gbalfour
þ	12/18 14:43:53	web-based-email	*.mg.mail.yahoo.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jreddick
þ	12/18 14:43:51	internet-portals	android.register.push.mobile.yahoo.com/	I3-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jparker
þ	12/18 14:43:51	web-based-email	*.mg.mail.yahoo.com/	I3-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jdonaldson =
Þ	12/18 14:43:51	internet-portals	login.yahoo.com/	I3-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme \jparker
P	12/18 14:43:50	computer-and- internet-info	*.crittercism.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jreddick
P	12/18 14:36:35	computer-and- internet-info	mdmbeta.paloaltonetworks.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\gbalfour
P	12/18 14:36:35	internet-portals	android.connector.push.mobile.yahoo.com/	I3-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jdonaldson
Þ	12/18 14:36:35	computer-and-	settings.crashlytics.com/	13-trust	13-untrust	10.31.32.18	acme\jparker

#### Verify the User-ID Configuration (Continued)

Step 6 Verify that user names are displayed in reports (Monitor > Reports). For example, when drilling down into the denied applications report, you should see a list of the users who attempted to access the applications as in the following example.



## App-ID

To safely enable applications on your network, the Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls provide both an application and web perspective—App-ID and URL Filtering—to protect against a full spectrum of legal, regulatory, productivity, and resource utilization risks.

App-ID enables visibility into the applications on the network, so you can learn how they work and understand their behavioral characteristics and their relative risk. This application knowledge allows you to create and enforce security policies to enable, inspect, and shape desired applications and block undesired applications. When you define policies to begin allowing traffic, App-ID begins to classify traffic without any additional configuration.

- ▲ App-ID Overview
- ▲ Manage Custom or Unknown Applications
- Best Practices for Using App-ID in Policy
- Applications with Implicit Support
- ▲ Application Level Gateways
- ▲ Disable the SIP Application-level Gateway (ALG)

### **App-ID Overview**

App-ID, a patented traffic classification system only available in Palo Alto Networks firewalls, determines what the application is irrespective of port, protocol, encryption (SSH or SSL) or any other evasive tactic used by the application. It applies multiple classification mechanisms—application signatures, application protocol decoding, and heuristics—to your network traffic stream to accurately identify applications.

Here's how App-ID identifies applications traversing your network:

- Traffic is matched against policy to check whether it is allowed on the network.
- Signatures are then applied to allowed traffic to identify the application based on unique application properties and related transaction characteristics. The signature also determines if the application is being used on its default port or it is using a non-standard port. If the traffic is allowed by policy, the traffic is then scanned for threats and further analyzed for identifying the application more granularly.
- If App-ID determines that encryption (SSL or SSH) is in use, and a decryption policy is in place, the session is decrypted and application signatures are applied again on the decrypted flow.
- Decoders for known protocols are then used to apply additional context-based signatures to detect other applications that may be tunneling inside of the protocol (e.g., Yahoo! Instant Messenger used across HTTP). Decoders validate that the traffic conforms to the protocol specification and provide support for NAT traversal and opening dynamic pinholes for applications such as SIP and FTP.
- For applications that are particularly evasive and cannot be identified through advanced signature and protocol analysis, heuristics or behavioral analysis may be used to determine the identity of the application.

When the application is identified, the policy check determines how to treat the application, for example block, or allow and scan for threats, inspect for unauthorized file transfer and data patterns, or shape using QoS.

### Manage Custom or Unknown Applications

Palo Alto Networks provides weekly App-ID updates to identify new applications. By default, App-ID is always enabled on the firewall, and you don't need to enable a series of signatures to identify well-known applications. Typically, the only applications that are classified as *unknown* traffic—*tcp*, *udp* or *non-syn-tcp*—in the ACC and the traffic logs are commercially available applications that have not yet been added to App-ID, internal or custom applications on your network, or potential threats.

On occasion, the firewall may report an application as unknown for the following reasons:

- Incomplete data—A handshake took place, but no data packets were sent prior to the timeout.
- Insufficient data—A handshake took place followed by one or more data packets; however, not enough data packets were exchanged to identify the application.

The following choices are available to handle unknown applications:

- Create security policies to control unknown applications by unknown TCP, unknown UDP or by a combination of source zone, destination zone, and IP addresses.
- Request an App-ID from Palo Alto Networks—If you would like to inspect and control the applications that traverse your network, for any unknown traffic, you can record a packet capture. If the packet capture reveals that the application is a commercial application, you can submit this packet capture to Palo Alto Networks for App-ID development. If it is an internal application, you can create a custom App-ID and/or define an application override policy.
- Create a custom App-ID with a signature and attach it to a security policy, or create a custom App-ID and define an application override policy—A custom App-ID allows you to customize the definition of the internal application—its characteristics, category and sub-category, risk, port, timeout—and exercise granular policy control in order to minimize the range of unidentified traffic on your network. Creating a custom App-ID also allows you to correctly identify the application in the ACC and traffic logs and is useful in auditing/reporting on the applications on your network. For a custom application you can specify a signature and a pattern that uniquely identifies the application and attach it to a security policy that allows or denies the application.

In order to collect the right data to create a custom application signature, you'll need a good understanding of packet captures and how datagrams are formed. If the signature is created too broadly, you might inadvertently include other similar traffic; if it is defined too narrowly, the traffic will evade detection if it does not strictly match the pattern.
 Custom App-IDs are stored in a separate database on the firewall and this database is not impacted by the weekly App-ID updates.
 The supported application protocol decoders that enable the firewall to detect applications that may be tunneling inside of the protocol include the following as of content update 424: HTTP, HTTPS, DNS, FTP, IMAP SMTP, Telnet, IRC (Internet Relay Chat), Oracle, RTMP, RTSP, SSH, GNU-Debugger, GIOP (Global Inter-ORB Protocol), Microsoft RPC, Microsoft SMB (also known as CIFS). Additionally, with the 4.0 release of PAN-OS, this custom App-ID capability has been expanded to include unknown TCP and unknown UDP.

Alternatively, if you would like the firewall to process the custom application using fast path (Layer-4 inspection instead of using App-ID for Layer-7 inspection), you can reference the custom App-ID in an application override policy. An application override with a custom application will prevent the session from being processed by the App-ID engine, which is a Layer-7 inspection. Instead it forces the firewall to handle the session as a regular stateful inspection firewall at Layer-4, and thereby saves application processing time.

For example, if you build a custom application that triggers on a host header *www.mywebsite.com*, the packets are first identified as *web-browsing* and then are matched as your custom application (whose parent application is web-browsing). Because the parent application is web-browsing, the custom application is inspected at Layer-7 and scanned for content and vulnerabilities.

If you define an application override, the firewall stops processing at Layer-4. The custom application name is assigned to the session to help identify it in the logs, and the traffic is not scanned for threats.

For more details, refer to the following articles:

- Identifying Unknown Applications
- Video: How to Configure a Custom App-ID
- Custom Application Signatures

### Best Practices for Using App-ID in Policy

- Review the ACC for the list of applications on your network, and determine which applications to allow or block. If you are migrating from a firewall where you defined port-based rules, to get a list of applications that run on a given port, search by the port number in the application browser (**Objects > Applications**) on the Palo Alto Networks firewall or in Applipedia.
- Use application-default for the Service. The firewall compares the port used with the list of default ports for that application. If the port used is not a default port for the application, the firewall drops the session and logs the message appid policy lookup deny. If you have an application that is accessed on many ports and you would like to limit the ports on which the application is used, specify it in Service/Service Group objects in policies.

Use application filters to dynamically include new applications in existing policy rules. See an example.

### **Applications with Implicit Support**

When creating a policy to allow specific applications, you must also be sure that you are allowing any other applications on which the application depends. In many cases, you do not have to explicitly allow access to the dependent applications in order for the traffic to flow because the firewall is able to determine the dependencies and allow them implicitly. This implicit support also applies to custom applications that are based on HTTP, SSL, MS-RPC, or RTSP. Applications for which the firewall cannot determine dependent applications on time will require that you explicitly allow the dependent applications when defining your policies. You can determine application dependencies in Applipedia.

The following table lists the applications for which the firewall has implicit support (as of Content Update 484).

Application	Implicitly Supports
360-safeguard-update	http
apple-update	http
apt-get	http
as2	http
avg-update	http
avira-antivir-update	http, ssl
blokus	rtmp
bugzilla	http
clubcooee	http
corba	http
cubby	http, ssl
dropbox	ssl
esignal	http
evernote	http, ssl
ezhelp	http
facebook	http, ssl
facebook-chat	jabber
facebook-social-plugin	http
fastviewer	http, ssl
forticlient-update	http
good-for-enterprise	http, ssl
google-cloud-print	http, ssl, jabber
google-desktop	http

 Table: Applications with Implicit Support

Application	Implicitly Supports
google-drive-web	http
google-talk	jabber
google-update	http
gotomypc-desktop-sharing	citrix-jedi
gotomypc-file-transfer	citrix-jedi
gotomypc-printing	citrix-jedi
hipchat	http
iheartradio	ssl, http, rtmp
infront	http
instagram	http, ssl
issuu	http, ssl
java-update	http
jepptech-updates	http
kerberos	грс
kik	http, ssl
lastpass	http, ssl
logmein	http, ssl
mcafee-update	http
megaupload	http
metatrader	http
mocha-rdp	t_120
mount	rpc
ms-frs	msrpc
ms-rdp	t_120
ms-scheduler	msrpc
ms-service-controller	msrpc
nfs	грс
00V00	http, ssl
paloalto-updates	ssl
panos-global-protect	http
panos-web-interface	http
pastebin	http

Application	Implicitly Supports
pastebin-posting	http
pinterest	http, ssl
portmapper	грс
prezi	http, ssl
rdp2tcp	t_120
renren-im	jabber
roboform	http, ssl
salesforce	http
stumbleupon	http
supremo	http
symantec-av-update	http
trendmicro	http
trillian	http, ssl
twitter	http
whatsapp	http, ssl
xm-radio	rtsp

### Application Level Gateways

The Palo Alto Networks firewall does not classify traffic by port and protocol; instead it identifies the application based on its unique properties and transaction characteristics using the App-ID technology. Some applications, however, require the firewall to dynamically open *pinholes* to establish the connection, determine the parameters for the session and negotiate the ports that will be used for the transfer of data; these applications use the application-layer payload to communicate the dynamic TCP or UDP ports on which the application opens data connections. For such applications, the firewall serves as an Application Level Gateway (ALG), and it opens a pinhole for a limited time and for exclusively transferring data or control traffic. The firewall also performs a NAT rewrite of the payload when necessary.

As of Content Release version 464, the Palo Alto Networks firewall provides NAT ALG support for the following protocols: FTP, H.225, H.248, MGCP, MySQL, Oracle/SQLNet/TNS, RPC, RTSP, SCCP, SIP, and UNIStim.



When the firewall serves as an ALG for the Session Initiation Protocol (SIP), by default it performs NAT on the payload and opens dynamic pinholes for media ports. In some cases, depending on the SIP applications in use in your environment, the SIP endpoints have NAT intelligence embedded in their clients. In such cases, you might need to disable the SIP ALG functionality to prevent the firewall from modifying the signaling sessions. When SIP ALG is disabled, if App-ID determines that a session is SIP, the payload is not translated and dynamic pinholes are not opened. See Disable the SIP Application-level Gateway (ALG).

### Disable the SIP Application-level Gateway (ALG)

The Palo Alto Networks firewall uses the Session Initiation Protocol (SIP) application-level gateway (ALG) to open dynamic pinholes in the firewall where NAT is enabled. However, some applications—such as VoIP— have NAT intelligence embedded in the client application. In these cases, the SIP ALG on the firewall can interfere with the signaling sessions and cause the client application to stop working.

One solution to this problem is to define an Application Override Policy for SIP, but using this approach disables the App-ID and threat detection functionality. A better approach is to disable the SIP ALG, which does not disable App-ID or threat detection.

The following procedure describes how to disable the SIP ALG.

#### Disable the SIP ALG

- 1. Select **Objects > Applications**.
- 2. Select the **sip** application.

You can type **sip** in the **Search** box to help find the sip application.

3. Select **Customize...** for **ALG** in the Options section of the Application dialog box.



4. Select the **Disable ALG** check box in the Application - sip dialog box and click **OK**.



5. **Close** the Application dialog box and **Commit** the change.

## **Threat Prevention**

The Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall protects and defends your network from commodity threats and advanced persistent threats (APTs). The firewall's multi-pronged detection mechanisms include a signature-based (IPS/Command and Control/Antivirus) approach, heuristics-based (bot detection) approach, sandbox-based (WildFire) approach, and Layer 7 protocol analysis-based (App-ID) approach.

Commodity threats are exploits that are less sophisticated and more easily detected and prevented using a combination of the antivirus, anti-spyware, vulnerability protection and the URL filtering/Application identification capabilities on the firewall.

Advanced threats are perpetuated by organized cyber criminals or malicious groups that use sophisticated attack vectors to target your network, most commonly for intellectual property theft and financial data theft. These threats are more evasive and require intelligent monitoring mechanisms for detailed host and network forensics on malware. The Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall in conjunction with WildFire and Panorama provides a comprehensive solution that intercepts and break the attack chain and provides visibility to prevent security infringement on your network—including mobile and virtualized—infrastructure.

- ▲ Set Up Security Profiles and Policies
- ▲ Prevent Brute Force Attacks
- ▲ Customize the Action and Trigger Conditions for a Brute Force Signature
- ▲ Best Practices for Securing Your Network from Layer 4 and Layer 7 Evasions
- ▲ Enable Passive DNS Collection for Improved Threat Intelligence
- ▲ Use DNS Queries to Identify Infected Hosts on the Network
- Content Delivery Network Infrastructure for Dynamic Updates
- ▲ Threat Prevention Resources

### Set Up Security Profiles and Policies

The following sections provide basic threat prevention configuration examples:

- ▲ Set Up Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and Vulnerability Protection
- ▲ Set Up Data Filtering
- ▲ Set Up File Blocking

For information on controlling web access as part of your threat prevention strategy, see URL Filtering.

### Set Up Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and Vulnerability Protection

The following describes the steps needed to set up the default Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and Vulnerability Protection Security Profiles.



All Anti-spyware and Vulnerability Protection signatures have a default action defined by Palo Alto Networks. You can view the default action by navigating to **Objects > Security Profiles > Anti-Spyware** or **Objects > Security Profiles >Vulnerability Protection** and then selecting a profile. Click the **Exceptions** tab and then click **Show all signatures** and you will see a list of the signatures with the default action in the Action column. To change the default action, you must create a new profile and then create rules with a non-default action, and/or add individual signature exceptions to **Exceptions** in the profile.

Set up	Antivirus/Anti-spyware/Vulnerability Pro	otec	tion
Step 1	Verify that you have a Threat Prevention license.	•	The Threat Prevention license bundles the Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and the Vulnerability Protection features in one license. Select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> to verify that the <b>Threat Prevention</b> license is installed and check the expiration date.
Step 2	Download the latest antivirus threat signatures.	1. In t and	Select <b>Device &gt; Dynamic Updates</b> and click <b>Check Now</b> at the bottom of the page to retrieve the latest signatures. the <b>Actions</b> column, click <b>Download</b> to install the latest Antivirus d Applications and Threats signatures.
Step 3	Schedule signature updates.	1.	From <b>Device &gt; Dynamic Updates</b> , click the text to the right of <b>Schedule</b> to automatically retrieve signature updates for <b>Antivirus</b> and <b>Applications and Threats</b> . Specify the frequency and timing for the updates and whether the update will be downloaded and installed or only downloaded. If you select <b>Download Only</b> , you would need to manually go in and click the <b>Install</b> link in the <b>Action</b> column to
		3.	<ul> <li>install the signature. When you click <b>OK</b>, the update is scheduled. No commit is required.</li> <li>(Optional) You can also enter the number of hours in the <b>Threshold</b> field to indicate the minimum age of a signature before a download will occur. For example, if you entered <b>10</b>, the signature must be at least 10 hours old before it will be downloaded, regardless of the schedule.</li> </ul>
		4.	In an HA configuration, you can also click the <b>Sync To Peer</b> option to synchronize the content update with the HA peer after download/install. This will not push the schedule settings to the peer device, you need to configure the schedule on each device.

#### Set up Antivirus/Anti-spyware/Vulnerability Protection (Continued)

#### Best Practices for Antivirus Schedules

The general recommendation for antivirus signature update schedules is to perform a **download-and-install** on a daily basis for antivirus and weekly for applications and vulnerabilities.

#### **Recommendations for HA Configurations:**

- Active/Passive HA—If the MGT port is used for antivirus signature downloads, you should configure a schedule on both devices and both devices will download/install independently. If you are using a data port for downloads, the passive device will not perform downloads while it is in the passive state. In this case you would set a schedule on both devices and then select the **Sync To Peer** option. This will ensure that whichever device is active, the updates will occur and will then push to the passive device.
- Active/Active HA—If the MGT port is used for antivirus signature downloads on both devices, then schedule the download/install on both devices, but do not select the **Sync To Peer** option. If you are using a data port, schedule the signature downloads on both devices and select **Sync To Peer**. This will ensure that if one device in the active/active configuration goes into the active-secondary state, the active device will download/install the signature and will then push it to the active-secondary device.

Step 4	Attach the security profiles to a security	1.	Sele
	policy.		and
		2	In P

Select **Policies > Security**, select the desired policy to modify it and then click the **Actions** tab.

- In **Profile Settings**, click the drop-down next to each security profile you would like to enable. In this example we choose default for **Antivirus**, **Vulnerability Protection**, and **Anti-spyware**.
  - If no security profiles have been previously defined, select **Profiles** from the **Profile Type** drop-down. You will then see the list of options to select the security profiles.

	Security Policy Rule					0
	General Source Use	er Destination	Application	Service/URL Catego	ory Actions	
	Action Setting Action	🔵 Deny 💿 Alloi	N	Log Setting	Log at Session Start Log at Session End	
	Profile Setting	Desfine	-	Log Forwarding	None	-
	Antivirus	default	*	Other Settings		
	Vulnerability Protection	default	~	Schedule	None	~
	Anti-Spyware	default	*	QoS Marking	None	-
	URL Filtering	None	~		Disable Server Respon	nse Inspection
	File Blocking	None	*			
	Data Filtering	None	¥			
					ОК	Cancel
Save the configuration.	Click Commit.					

### Set Up Data Filtering

The following describes the steps needed to configure a data filtering profile that will detect Social Security Numbers and a custom pattern identified in .doc and .docx documents.

Data Fi	Itering Configuration Example		
Step 1	Create a Data Filtering security profile.	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; Data Filtering</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> and a <b>Description</b> for the profile. In this example the name is <i>DF_Profile1</i> with the description <i>Detect Social Security Numbers</i> .
		3.	(Optional) If you want to collect data that is blocked by the filter, select the <b>Data Capture</b> check box.
			You must set a password as described in Step 2 if you are using the data capture feature.
Step 2	(Optional) Secure access to the data		Select Device > Setup > Content-ID.
	filtering logs to prevent other administrators from viewing sensitive	2.	Click <b>Manage Data Protection</b> in the Content-ID Features section.
	data.	3.	Set the password that will be required to view the data filtering
	When you enable this option, you will be prompted for the password when you		logs.
	Filtering.		

#### Data Filtering Configuration Example (Continued)

Step 3 Define the data pattern that will be used in the Data Filtering Profile.

In this example, we will use the keyword **confidential** and will set the option to search for SSN numbers with dashes (Example - 987-654-4320).

•

It is helpful to set the appropriate thresholds and define keywords within documents to reduce false positives. 3.

- From the Data Filtering Profile page click **Add** and select **New** from the **Data Pattern** drop-down. You can also configure data patterns from **Objects > Custom Signatures > Data Patterns**.
- For this example, name the Data Pattern signature Detect SS Numbers and add the description Data Pattern to detect Social Security numbers.
  - In the **Weight** section for **SSN#** enter **3**. See Weight and Threshold Values for more details.

	Na	me	DF_Profile1
	Descript	ion	Detect Social Security Numbers
		C	Data Capture
٩			
	Data Patter	n 🔺	Applications
		-	any
	Detect SS N	lu	
	New	»	
			Data Pattern
(+)	Add - Del	ete	

4. (Optional) You can also set Custom Patterns that will be subject to this profile. In this case, you specify a pattern in the custom patterns Regex field and set a weight. You can add multiple match expressions to the same data pattern profile. In this example, we will create a Custom Pattern named SSN\_Custom with a custom pattern of confidential (the pattern is case sensitive) and use a weight of 20. The reason we use the term confidential in this example is because we know that our social security Word docs contain this term, so we define that specifically.

Name	Detect SS Numbers		
Description	Data Pattern to detec	t Social Security Numbers	
Weight (0 - 255 CC#	) [0 - 255] SSN	# 3 SSN# (without dash) [0 - 255]	
Custom Patterns	0.		•
Custom Patterns	Name	Regex	(→ Weight

Data Fi	Itering Configuration Example (Continu	ed)					
Step 4	Specify which applications to filter and set the file types.	2.	Set <b>Appl</b> application to narrow For applie SSL, you understa Outlook application PAN-OS application Set <b>File</b>	ications to Any. To on such as: web-by v down the applie cations such as M will need to enab nd the naming fo Web App, which on is identified as is list of application on to identify the <b>Types</b> to <b>doc</b> and	This will de prowsing, F cation, you licrosoft Ou ole decryption r each appli- is the Micr the applica ns. You can name defin <b>docx</b> to on	tect any supp TP, or SMTI can select it atlook Web on. Also main cation. For o osoft name tion <b>outlool</b> check the lo ned in PAN-4	Ported P. If you want from the list. App that uses ke sure you example, for this <b>k-web</b> in the gs for a given OS. and docx files.
Step 5 Specify the direction of traffic to filter and the threshold values.		<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Set the D downloa Set the A triggered instance instances confiden Set the B threshold exists in the word the thres a weight which wi	<b>irection</b> to <b>Both</b> . ded will be scann <b>lert Threshold</b> to if 5 instances of of the term <b>confi</b> with a weight of tial with a weight <b>cock Threshold</b> to d of 50 instances of the file. In this ca <b>confidential</b> with hold, and the doc of 3 that equals 4 ll exceed the bloc	Files that a ed. 5 <b>35.</b> In this Social Secu dential exi 3 = 15 plu of $20 = 35$ to <b>50.</b> The f of a SSN and se, if the do h a weight of has 15 Soci 5. Add 20 a ck threshold	are uploaded s case, an ale rity Number sts. The forr s 1 instance file will be bl d/or the terr oc contained of 20 that equ ial Security N and 45 and y l of 50.	or rt will be rs exist and 1 nula is 5 SSN of the term ocked if the n confidential 1 instance of tals 20 toward Numbers with ou have 65,
	Data Filtering Profile						0
	Name DF_Pr	ofile 1					
	Description Detec	t Social	Security Number:	1			
	Da	ita Capt	ure				
	Data Pattern Ann	icatiops			Direction	Alert Threshold	Block Threshold
	Image: State of the state			doc docx	both	35	50

Step 6	Attach the Data Filtering profile to the security rule.			<ol> <li>Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and select the security policy rule which to apply the profile.</li> </ol>								
		<ol> <li>Click the security policy rule to modify it and then click the Actions tab. In the Data Filtering drop-down, select the r data filtering profile you created and then click OK to save this example, the data filtering rule name is DF_Profile1.</li> </ol>						lick the the nev save. In <b>ile1</b> .				
				Security Po General Action Profile Vulne	licy Rule Source Use Setting Action Setting Profile Type Antivirus rability Protection Anti-Spyware URL Filtering File Blocking Data Filtering	Profiles None default None None DF_Profile1	Allow	ication Service	e/URL Ca Setting – og Forward er Setting Scher QoS Mari	tegory Action C Log at Se C Lo	is ssion Start ssion End	v     v     se Inspection
Step 7	<b>Commit</b> the con	figuration									OK	Cancel
Step 8	Test the data filte If you have prob Filtering to work Filtering log or th the application th and make sure yo appropriate num Security Number an application su Web App may se web-browsing, b the application is increase the num custom pattern t hitting the thresh	ering configu olems getting t, you can che he Traffic log hat you are te our test docur ober of uniqu r instances. F uch as Micross eem to be ide out if you look s <b>outlook-we</b> ober of SSNs to make sure holds.	aration. Data eck the Data g to verify esting with ment has the e Social or example, oft Outlook entified as a at the logs, b. Also , or your you are	When te number did in th sensitive data patt 1. Acc HT exac 2. Cre terr 3. Upl dec 4. Sele 5. Loc help dess sho Sec	sting, yc must be is examp . To kee ern first ess a cliu TP requ ct inform ate a Mio n confid oad the ryption o ect <b>Moni</b> ate the le o filter th ination o w <b>reset</b> urity Nu	bu mus unique ole with p your t, then ent PC est to unation crosoft ential a file to configu toring og that he logs of the <b>-both</b> .	t use r c. Also n the v test si test the in the upload you d c. Word a webs ired, if <b>&gt; Log</b> corre , use the web se You c in the	eal Social , when de word <b>con</b> mple, you e SSNs. e trust zoo l a .doc o efined foo docume re Social S site. Use a n which o s > Data sponds to he source erver. The an now in docume	l Secu efinir fiden i may ne of r .do r filte ent w Secur an H' case y Filte o the e of y e acti increa nt to	urity Num ng Custon ntial, the y want to E the firev cx file the ering. TTP site you can u ring logs file you ju our clien on colum use the mu	mbers m Patte o just t wall ar at cor nstand pers w unles use H' s. ust up t PC a nn in t umber	and eac cerns as v ern is cas est using hd send htains th ce of the ith dash s you ha ITPS. loaded. 7 and the he log w c of Soci thresho
	☐ ि Logs - ♀ Traffic - ☞ Threat	Receive Time	File Name	Name		From Zone	To Zone	Source	Sou	Destination	To Port	Application
	URL Filtering	10/25 14:03:06	DataFilter-Test.docx	Detect SS Numb	ers5 SS	I3-vlan- trust	13-untrust	192, 168, 2, 10	User	10.101.2.49	443	clearspace

### Set Up File Blocking

This example will describe the basic steps needed to set up file blocking and forwarding. In this configuration, we will configure the options needed to prompt users to continue before downloading .exe files from websites. When testing this example, be aware that you may have other systems between you and the source that may be blocking content.

Config	ure File Blocking		
Step 1	Create the file blocking profile.	1.	Select Objects > Security Profiles > File Blocking and click Add.
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> for the file blocking profile, for example <i>Block_EXE</i> . Optionally enter a <b>Description</b> , such as <i>Block users from downloading exe files from websites</i> .
Step 2	Configure the file blocking options.	1.	Click <b>Add</b> to define the profile settings.
		2.	Enter a Name, such as <i>BlockEXE</i> .
		3.	Set the <b>Applications</b> for filtering, for example <b>web-browsing</b> .
		4.	Set File Types to exe.
		5.	Set the <b>Direction</b> to <b>download</b> .
		6.	Set the <b>Action</b> to <b>continue</b> . By choosing the continue option, users will be prompted with a response page prompting them to click continue before the file will be downloaded.
		7.	Name       Block_EXE         Description       Block_exe         Names       Applications         File Types       Direction         Action       BlockEXE         Web-browsing       exe         Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 3	Apply the file blocking profile to a security policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and either select an existing policy or create a new policy as described in Set Up Basic Security Policies.
		2.	Click the <b>Actions</b> tab within the policy rule.
		3.	In the Profile Settings section, click the drop-down and select the file blocking profile you configured. In this case, the profile name is <i>Block_EXE</i> .
		4.	Commit the configuration.
		If r <b>Pro</b> list	no security profiles have been previously defined, select the <b>ofile Type</b> drop-down and select <b>Profiles</b> . You will then see the of options to select the security profiles.

#### **Configure File Blocking (Continued)**

Step 4 To test your file blocking configuration, access a client PC in the trust zone of the firewall and attempt to download a .exe file from a website in the untrust zone. A response page should display. Click **Continue** to download the file. You can also set other actions, such as alert only, forward (which will forward to WildFire), or block, which will not provide a continue page to the user. The following shows the default response page for File Blocking:

#### Example: Default File Blocking Response Page



Step 5 (Optional) Define custom file blocking response pages (Device > Response Pages). This allows you to provide more information to users when they see a response page. You can include information such as company policy information and contact information for a Helpdesk.



When you create a file blocking profile with the action continue or continue-and-forward (used for WildFire forwarding), you can only choose the application web-browsing. If you choose any other application, traffic that matches the security policy will not flow through the firewall due to the fact that the users will not be prompted with a continue page. Also, if the website uses HTTPS, you will need to have a decryption policy in place.

You may want to check your logs to confirm what application is being used when testing this feature. For example, if you are using Microsoft Sharepoint to download files, even though you are using a web-browser to access the site, the application is actually sharepoint-base, or sharepoint-document. You may want to set the application type to **Any** for testing.

### **Prevent Brute Force Attacks**

A brute force attack uses a large volume of requests/responses from the same source or destination IP address to break into a system. The attacker employs a trial-and-error method to guess the response to a challenge or a request.

The Vulnerability Protection profile on the firewall includes signatures to protect you from brute force attacks. Each signature has an ID, Threat Name, Severity and is triggered when a pattern is recorded. The pattern specifies the conditions and interval at which the traffic is identified as a brute-force attack; some signatures are associated with another child signature that is of a lower severity and specifies the pattern to match against. When a pattern matches against the signature or child signature, it triggers the default action for the signature.

To enforce protection:

- Attach the vulnerability profile to a security rule. See Set Up Antivirus, Anti-spyware, and Vulnerability Protection.
- Install content updates that include new signatures to protect against emerging threats. See Manage Content Updates.

### Customize the Action and Trigger Conditions for a Brute Force Signature

The firewall includes two types of predefined brute force signatures—parent signature and child signature. A child signature is a single occurrence of a traffic pattern that matches the signature. A parent signature is associated with a child signature and is triggered when multiple events occur within a time interval and match the traffic pattern defined in the child signature.

Typically, a child signature is of default action *allow* because a single event is not indicative of an attack. In most cases, the action for a child signature is set to allow so that legitimate traffic is not blocked and threat logs are not generated for non-noteworthy events. Therefore, Palo Alto Networks recommends that you only change the default action after careful consideration.

In most cases, the brute force signature is a noteworthy event because of its recurrent pattern. If you would like to customize the action for a brute-force signature, you can do one of the following:

- Create a rule to modify the default action for all signatures in the brute force category. You can define the action to allow, alert, block, reset, or drop the traffic.
- Define an exception for a specific signature. For example, you can search for a CVE and define an exception for it.

For a parent signature, you can modify both the trigger conditions and the action; for a child signature only the action can be modified.



To effectively mitigate an attack, the **block-ip address** action is recommended over the drop or reset action for most brute force signatures.

Customize the Threshold and Action for a Sign	nature
Step 1 Create a new Vulnerability Protection Profile.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; Vulnerability Protection.</li> <li>Click Add and enter a Name for the Vulnerability Protection Profile.</li> </ol>
Step 2 Create a rule that defines the action for all signatures in a category.	<ol> <li>Select Rules, click Add and enter a Name for the rule.</li> <li>Set the Action. In this example, it is set to Block.</li> <li>Set Category to brute-force.</li> <li>(Optional) If blocking, specify whether to block server or client, the default is any.</li> <li>See Step 3 to customize the action for a specific signature.</li> <li>See Step 4 to customize the trigger threshold for a parent signature.</li> </ol>
	7. Click <b>OK</b> to save the rule and the profile.

Custor	nize the Threshold and Action for a Sig	gnatu	re										
Step 3	(Optional) Customize the action for a specific signature.	1. 2.	Select signa To v. ( cate To e in th	et <b>Excep</b> tture you iew all th egory co dit a spe e <b>Action</b> ection Profile	tions an 1 want to ne signat ntains 'l ccific sig column	id click p mod pures in prute-1 nature n.	k <b>Shov</b> lify. n the t force' e, click	w all prute ). a the	signa -force prede	ture: cate; fined	<b>s</b> to f	find th searcl tult ac	ne h for tion
		R	ules Except	tions									
			。 ( category co	ntains 'brute-force'	)							61 / 5703	→ ×
		E	ID         ID         IT           ID         31         X           ID         31         K           ID         31         K           ID         31         K           ID         31         K           ID         31         K	hreat Name Vindows SMB Login Litempt DAP Authentication or Binding TTTP WWW- withentication Failed ailed Authentication Failed	IP Address Exemption: Failed	s Rule	CVE	Host server dient server server	Category brute-force brute-force brute-force	Severity informa informa informa	Action default (alow) default (alow) default (alow)	Packet Capture disable disable disable disable	
				hrough Mail Protoco							(allow)		
		3.	Set t	he action	n to <b>allo</b>	w, ale	ert or	bloci	k-ip.				
	Rules Exc	eptions											
	es (category	contains 'br	rute-force' )								_	61/5703	- ×
	Enable ID	Threat Na	ame Ed	it Action			May 194		<li>Seve</li>	rity Acti	ion	Packet Capture	
		Write Eva	asion Vulne	Action	default (allow) reset-server			· · · ·	low.	(allo	w)	disable	-
	34	Attempt SIP Bye R	Request At		reset-client reset-both			Cance	i Inform	(allo nat defi	w) ault	disable	
	<b>—</b> 34	HTTP NTL Failure	M Authenticati	on	drop-all-packets drop		BT	brute-fo	rce infor	nat defi	ault ow)	disable	
	E 34	HTTP Una	suthorized Erro		default (allow) block-ip		Br	brute-fo	rce infor	mat defi (allo	ault w)	disable	
	日 34. 四 34.	DNS ANY			allow alert			brute-fc	rce infor	nat den (allo	ault	disable	
		4.	If yo	u select	block-ip	, com	plete	these	addit	ional	task	s:	
			a. Sr th b. In by	e action a the <b>Tra</b> 7 <b>IP sour</b> Edit Action	ck By fig ck By fig cce or by	eld, de y <b>IP sc</b>	fine w	vheth and	is) aft ler to l destir	er wi block nation	the n.	IP add	ger lress
				Tr	Time 60 1360 ack By • I 〇 I	0 P source P source a	and destin	second	s DK	Car	ncel		
		5.	Click	UK	1.6.1.			1	1				- 1- 1
		6.	For e	each moe nn.	dified sig	gnatur	e, sele	ect th	e chec	ck do:	x in t	ne <b>En</b>	able
		7.	Click	OK.									

Customize the Threshold and Action for a Signature										
Step 4	Customize the trigger conditions for a parent signature.	1. Click 🖉 to edit the time attribute and the aggregation criteria for the signature.								
	A parent signature that can be edited is marked with this icon: $\bigcirc$ .	Naturentality thrutestion Public Plane Index bruce Arren Spratures Cestoption Remonitive Enversion Remonitive Enversion								
	In this example, the search criteria was brute force category and CVE-2008-1447.	2. 3. 4.	To modify the trigger threshold specify the Number of Hits per x seconds.         Specify whether to aggregate the number of hits by source, destination or by source and destination.         Click OK.							
Step 5	Attach this new profile to a security rule.									
Step 6	Save your changes.	1.	Click Commit.							
# Best Practices for Securing Your Network from Layer 4 and Layer 7 Evasions

To monitor and protect your network from most Layer 4 and Layer 7 attacks, here are a few recommendations.

- Upgrade to the most current PAN-OS software version and content release version to ensure that you have the latest security updates. See Manage Content Updates and Install Software Updates.
- □ For servers, create security policy rules to only allow the application(s) that you sanction on each server. Verify that the standard port for the application matches the listening port on the server. For example, to ensure that only SMTP traffic is allowed to your email server set the Application to smtp and the Service to application-default. If your server uses only a subset of the standard ports (for example, if your SMTP server uses only port 587 while the smtp application has standard ports defined as 25 and 587), you should create a new custom service that only includes port 587 and use that new service in your security policy rule instead of using application-default. Additionally, make sure to restrict access to specific source and destinations zones and sets of IP addresses.
- Attach the following security profiles to your security policies to provide signature-based protection.
  - Create a vulnerability protection profile to block all vulnerabilities with severity low and higher.
  - Create an anti-spyware profile to block all spyware.
  - Create an antivirus profile to block all content that matches an antivirus signature.
- Block all unknown applications/traffic using security policy. Typically, the only applications that are classified as unknown traffic are internal or custom applications on your network, or potential threats. Because unknown traffic can be a non-compliant application or protocol that is anomalous or abnormal, or a known application that is using non-standard ports, unknown traffic should be blocked. See Manage Custom or Unknown Applications.
- Create a file blocking profile that blocks Portable Executable (PE) file types for Internet-based SMB (Server Message Block) traffic from traversing the trust to untrust zones, (ms-ds-smb applications).
- Create a zone protection profile that is configured to protect against packet-based attacks:
  - Remove TCP timestamps on SYN packets before the firewall forwards the packet—When you remove the TCP timestamp option in a SYN packet, the TCP stack on both ends of the TCP connection will not support TCP timestamps. Therefore, by disabling the TCP timestamp for a SYN packet, you can prevent an attack that uses different timestamps on multiple packets for the same sequence number.
  - Drop malformed packets.
  - Drop mismatched and overlapping TCP segments—By deliberately constructing connections with overlapping but different data in them, attackers can attempt to cause misinterpretation of the intent of the connection. This can be used to deliberately induce false positives or false negatives. An attacker can use IP spoofing and sequence number prediction to intercept a user's connection and inject his/her own data into the connection. PAN-OS uses this field to discard such frames with mismatched and overlapping data. The scenarios where the received segment will be discarded are when the segment received is contained within another segment, the segment received overlaps with part of another segment, or the segment completely contains another segment.

 Verify that support for IPv6 is enabled, if you have configured IPv6 addresses on your network hosts. (Network > Interfaces > Ethernet> IPv6)

This allows access to IPv6 hosts and filters IPv6 packets that are encapsulated in IPv4 packets. Enabling support for IPv6 prevents IPv6 over IPv4 multicast addresses from being leveraged for network reconnaissance.

Enable support for multicast traffic so that the firewall can enforce policy on multicast traffic. (Network > Virtual Router > Multicast)

Enable the following CLI command to clear the URG bit flag in the TCP header and disallow out-of-band processing of packets.

The urgent pointer in the TCP header is used to promote a packet for immediate processing by removing it from the processing queue and expediting it through the TCP/IP stack on the host. This process is called out-of-band processing. Because the implementation of the urgent pointer varies by host, to eliminate ambiguity, use the following CLI command to disallow out-of-band processing; the out-of-band byte in the payload becomes part of the payload and the packet is not processed urgently. Making this change allows you to remove ambiguity in how the packet is processed on the firewall and the host, and the firewall sees the exact same stream in the protocol stack as the host for whom the packet is destined.

### set deviceconfig setting tcp urgent-data clear

□ If you configure the firewall to clear the URG bit flag and the packet has no other flags set in the TCP header, use the following CLI command to configure the firewall to drop packets with no flags:

### set deviceconfig setting tcp drop-zero-flag yes

Enable the following CLI command for disabling the bypass-exceed-queue.

The bypass exceed queue is required for out of order packets. This scenario is most common in an asymmetric environment where the firewall receives packets out of order. For identification of certain applications (App-ID) the firewall performs heuristic analysis. If the packets are received out of order, the data must be copied to a queue in order to complete the analysis for the application.

#### set deviceconfig setting application bypass-exceed-queue no

Enable the following CLI commands for disabling the inspection of packets when the out-of-order packet limit is reached. The Palo Alto Networks firewall can collect up to 64 out-of-order packets per session. This counter identifies that packets have exceeded the 64-packet limit. When the bypass setting is set to no, the device drops the out-of-order packets that exceed the 64-packet limit. A commit is required.

set deviceconfig setting tcp bypass-exceed-oo-queue no set deviceconfig setting ctd tcp-bypass-exceed-queue no set deviceconfig setting ctd udp-bypass-exceed-queue no

Enable the following CLI commands for checking the TCP timestamp. The TCP timestamp records when the segment was sent and allows the firewall to verify that the timestamp is valid for that session. Packets with invalid timestamps are dropped with this setting is enabled.

#### set deviceconfig setting tcp check-timestamp-option yes

Disable the HTTP Range option. The HTTP Range option allows a client to fetch part of a file only. When a next-generation firewall in the path of a transfer identifies and drops a malicious file, it terminates the TCP session with a RST packet. If the web browser implements the HTTP Range option, it can start a new session to fetch only the remaining part of the file. This prevents the firewall from triggering the same signature again due to the lack of context into the initial session, while at the same time allowing the web browser to reassemble the file and deliver the malicious content. To prevent this, disable the HTTP Range option as follows:

#### set deviceconfig setting ctd skip-block-http-range no

# Enable Passive DNS Collection for Improved Threat Intelligence

Passive DNS is an opt-in feature that enables the firewall to act as a passive DNS sensor and send select DNS information to Palo Alto Networks for analysis in order to improve threat intelligence and threat prevention capabilities. The data collected includes non-recursive (i.e. originating from the local recursive resolver, not individual clients) DNS query and response packet payloads. Data submitted via the Passive DNS Monitoring feature consists solely of mappings of domain names to IP addresses. Palo Alto Networks retains no record of the source of this data and does not have the ability to associate it with the submitter at a future date.

The Palo Alto Networks threat research team uses this information to gain insight into malware propagation and evasion techniques that abuse the DNS system. Information gathered through this data collection is used to improve accuracy and malware detection abilities within PAN-DB URL filtering, DNS-based command-and-control signatures, and WildFire.

DNS responses are only forwarded to the Palo Alto Networks and will only occur when the following requirements are met:

- DNS response bit is set
- DNS truncated bit is not set
- DNS recursive bit is not set
- DNS response code is 0 or 3 (NX)
- DNS question count bigger than 0
- DNS Answer RR count is bigger than 0 or if it is 0, the flags need to be 3 (NX)
- DNS query record type are A, NS, CNAME, AAAA, MX

Passive DNS monitoring is disabled by default, but it is recommended that you enable it to facilitate enhanced threat intelligence. Use the following procedure to enable Passive DNS:

#### **Enable Passive DNS**

- 1. Select Objects > Security Profiles > Anti-Spyware.
- 2. Select an existing profile to modify it or configure a new profile.

The Anti-Spyware profile must be attached to a security policy that governs your DNS server's external DNS traffic.

3. Select the DNS Signatures tab and click the Enable Passive DNS Monitoring check box.

#### 4. Click **OK** and then **Commit**.

# Use DNS Queries to Identify Infected Hosts on the Network

The DNS sinkhole action in Anti-Spyware profiles enables the firewall to forge a response to a DNS query for a known malicious domain, causing the malicious domain name to resolve to an IP address that you define. This allows you to identify hosts on your network that have been infected with malware. The following topics describe the DNS sinkhole action and provide instructions for enabling it and monitoring logs to identify infected hosts.

- ▲ DNS Sinkholing
- ▲ Configure DNS Sinkholing
- ▲ Identify Infected Hosts

## **DNS Sinkholing**

DNS sinkholing helps you to identify infected hosts on the protected network using DNS traffic in situations where the firewall cannot see the infected client's DNS query (that is, the firewall cannot see the originator of the DNS query). In a typical deployment where the firewall is north of the local DNS server, the threat log will identify the local DNS resolver as the source of the traffic rather than the actual infected host. Sinkholing malware DNS queries solves this visibility problem by forging responses to the client host queries directed at malicious domains, so that clients attempting to connect to malicious domains (for command-and-control, for example) will instead attempt to connect to a sinkhole IP address you define as illustrated in Configure DNS Sinkholing. Infected hosts can then be easily identified in the traffic logs because any host that attempts to connect to the sinkhole IP address are most likely infected with malware.

### Figure: DNS Sinkholing Example



## Configure DNS Sinkholing

To enable DNS Sinkholing, you must enable the action in an Anti-spyware profile and attach the profile to a security rule. When a client host attempts to access a malicious domain, the firewall forges the destination IP address in the packet using the IP address you configure as the DNS sinkhole address.

Config	ure DNS Sinkholing		
Step 1	Obtain both an IPv4 and IPv6 address to use as the sinkhole IP addresses.	Thi add	s configuration example uses the following DNS sinkhole resses:
	The DNS sinkhole address must be in a different zone than the client hosts to ensure that when an infected host attempts to start a session with the sinkhole IP address, it will be routed through the firewall. The reason both IPv4 and IPv6 are needed is because malicious software may perform DNS queries using one or both of these protocols.	IPv IPv	4 DNS sinkhole address—10.15.0.20 6 DNS sinkhole address—fd97:3dec:4d27:e37c:5:5:5
	This sinkhole addresses must be reserved for this purpose and do not need to be assigned to a physical host. You can optionally use a honey-pot server as a physical host to further analyze the malicious traffic.		
Step 2	Configure the sinkhole interface and zone.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select an interface to configure as your sinkhole interface.
	Traffic from the zone where the client	2.	In the Interface Type drop-down, select Layer3.
	hosts reside must route to the zone where the sinkhole IP address is defined, so traffic will be logged.	3.	To add an IPv4 address, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab and select <b>Static</b> and then click <b>Add</b> . In this example, use the IPv4 address 10.15.0.20 as the sinkhole address.
	Use a dedicated zone for sinkhole traffic, because the infected host will be sending traffic to this zone.	4.	Select the <b>IPv6</b> tab and click <b>Static</b> and then click <b>Add</b> and enter an IPv6 address and subnet mask. In this example, use the IPv6 address fd97:3dec:4d27:e37c::/64 as the sinkhole address.
	0	5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
		6.	To add a zone for the sinkhole, select <b>Network &gt; Zones</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		7.	Enter zone Name.
		8.	In the Type drop-down select Layer3.
		9.	In the <b>Interfaces</b> section, click <b>Add</b> and add the interface you just configured.
		10.	Click <b>OK</b> .

Config	Configure DNS Sinkholing (Continued)					
Step 3	Enable DNS sinkholing on the anti-spyware profile.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; Anti-Spyware</b> . Modify an existing profile, or select one of the existing defaults and clone it. <b>Name</b> the profile and then select the <b>DNS Signatures</b> tab. In the <b>Action on DNS queries</b> drop-down, select <b>sinkhole</b> . In the <b>Sinkhole IPv4</b> field enter the sinkhole IPv4 sinkhole address you configured in Step 2 (10.15.0.20 in this example). In the <b>Sinkhole IPv6</b> field enter the sinkhole IPv6 sinkhole address you configured in Step 2 (fd97:3dec:4d27:e37c:5:5:5:5 in this example).			
		7.	The default sinkhole address is the loopback address (127.0.0.1 for IPv4 and ::1 for IPv6). (Optional) In the <b>Packet Capture</b> drop-down, select <b>single-packet</b> or <b>extended-capture</b> . The single-packet option will capture the first packet of the session or you can select extended to capture between 1-50 packets. You can then use the packet captures for further analysis. Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.			
Step 4	Edit the security policy rule that allows traffic from client hosts in the trust zone to the untrust zone to include the sinkhole zone as a destination and attach the anti-spyware profile. To ensure that you are identifying traffic from infected hosts, make these changes to the security rule(s) that allow traffic from client hosts in the trust zone to the untrust zone. By adding the sinkhole zone as a destination on the rule, you enable infected clients to send bogus DNS queries to the DNS sinkhole.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> . Select an existing rule that allows traffic from the client host zone to the untrust zone. On the <b>Destination</b> tab, <b>Add</b> the Sinkhole zone. This allows client host traffic to flow to the sinkhole zone. On the <b>Actions</b> tab, select the <b>Log at Session Start</b> check box to enable logging. This will ensure that traffic from client hosts in the Trust zone will be logged when accessing the Untrust or Sinkhole zones. In the <b>Profile Setting</b> section, select the <b>Anti-Spyware</b> profile in which you enabled DNS sinkholing. Click <b>OK</b> to save the security rule and then <b>Commit</b> .			

Configu	ure DNS Sinkholing (Continued)		
Step 5	To ensure that you will be able to identify infected hosts, verify that traffic going from the client host in the Trust zone to the new Sinkhole zone is being logged. In this example, the infected client host is 192.168.2.10 and the Sinkhole IPv4 address is 10.15.0.20.	2.	<pre>From a client host in the trust zone, open a command prompt and run the following command: C:\&gt;ping <sinkhole address=""> The following example output shows the ping request to the DNS sinkhole address at 10.15.0.2 and the result, which is Request timed out because in this example the sinkhole IP address is not assigned to a physical host: C:\&gt;ping 10.15.0.20 Pinging 10.15.0.20 with 32 bytes of data: Request timed out. Ping statistics for 10.15.0.20: Packets: Sent = 4, Received = 0, Lost = 4 (100% loss) On the firewall, select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Traffic and find the log entry with the Source 192.168.2.10 and Destination 10.15.0.20. This will confirm that the traffic to the sinkhole IP address is traversing the firewall zones. You can search and/or filter the logs and only show logs with the destination 10.15.0.20. To do this, click the IP address (10.15.0.20) in the Destination column, which will add the filter (addr.dst in 10.15.0.20) to the search field. Click the Apply Filter icon to the right of the search field to apply the filter.</sinkhole></pre>
Step 6	Identify a malicious domain that you can use to verify that the DNS sinkhole functionality is configured properly. You must test this feature using a malicious domain that is included in the firewall's current antivirus signature database. The DNS Signatures used to identify malicious domains is only part of the full antivirus signature database, which contains hundreds of thousands of signatures.	To 1. 2.	find a malicious domain for testing: Select <b>Device &gt; Dynamic Updates</b> and in the <b>Antivirus</b> section click the <b>Release Notes</b> link for the current antivirus DB that is installed. You can also find the antivirus release notes on the support site in Dynamic Updates. In most cases, the signature update is an incremental update, so only new viruses and DNS signatures are listed. There are many antivirus signatures and DNS signatures that will already be installed on the firewall. In the second column of the release note, locate a line item with a domain extension (for example, com, edu, or net). The left column will show the domain name. For example, in Antivirus release 1117-1560, there is an item in the left column named "tbsbana" and the right column lists "net". The following shows the content in the release note for this line item: conficker:tbsbana1 variants: net Because this domain shows up in the current database, it will work for testing.

Configu	ure DNS Sinkholing (Continued)		
Step 7	Test the sinkhole action	1.	From the client host, open a command prompt.
	This is similar to the action that would be performed if the client host was infected	2.	Perform an NSLOOKUP to a URL that you identified as a known malicious domain in Step 6.
	and the malicious application was		For example, using the URL track.bidtrk.com:
	attempting to reach a hacker server using		C:\>nslookup track.bidtrk.com
	DNS queries.		Server: my-local-dns.local
			Address: 10.0.0.222
			Non-authoritative answer:
			Name: track.bidtrk.com.org
			Addresses: fd97:3dec:4d27:e37c:5:5:5:5
			10.15.0.20
			In the output, note that the NSLOOKUP to the malicious domain has been forged using the sinkhole IP addresses that we configured (10.15.0.20). Because the domain matched a malicious DNS signature, the sinkhole action was performed.
		3.	Select <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Threat</b> and locate the corresponding threat log entry to verify that the correct action was taken on the NSLOOKUP request.
		4.	Perform a ping to track.bidtrk.com, which will generate network traffic to the sinkhole address.

## **Identify Infected Hosts**

After you have configured DNS sinkholing and verified that traffic to a malicious domain goes to the sinkhole address, you should regularly monitor traffic to the sinkhole address, so that you can track down the infected hosts and eliminate the threat.

2.10 0			
Step 1	Use App Scope to identify infected client hosts.	1.	Select Monitor > App Scope and select Threat Monitor.
		2.	Click the <b>Show spyware</b> button along the top of the display
			page.
		3.	Select a time range.
			The following screenshot shows three instances of Suspicious DNS queries, which were generated when the test client host performed an NSLOOKUP on a known malicious domain. Click the graph to see more details about the event.

#### **DNS Sinkhole Verification and Reporting (Continued)**

Step 2 Configure a custom report to identify all client hosts that have sent traffic to the sinkhole IP address, which is 10.15.0.20 in this example.



Forward to an SNMP manager, Syslog server and/or Panorama to enable alerts on these events.

In this example, the infected client host performed an NSLOOKUP to a known malicious domain that is listed in the Palo Alto Networks DNS Signature database. When this occurred, the query was sent to the local DNS server, which then forwarded the request through the firewall to an external DNS server. The firewall security policy with the Anti-Spyware profile configured matched the query to the DNS Signature database, which then forged the reply using the sinkhole address of 10.15.0.20 and fd97:3dec:4d27:e37c:5:5:5:5. The client attempts to start a session and the traffic log records the activity with the source host and the destination address, which is now directed to the forged sinkhole address.

Viewing the traffic log on the firewall allows you to identify any client host that is sending traffic to the sinkhole address. In this example, the logs show that the source address 192.168.2.10 sent the malicious DNS query. The host can then be found and cleaned. Without the DNS sinkhole option, the administrator would only see the local DNS server as the system that performed the query and would not see the client host that is infected. If you attempted to run a report on the threat log using the action "Sinkhole", the log would show the local DNS server, not the infected host.

#### Select Monitor > Manage Custom Reports.

Click Add and Name the report.

2.

4.

- 3. Define a custom report that captures traffic to the sinkhole address as follows:
  - Database—Select Traffic Log.
  - **Scheduled**—Enable **Scheduled** and the report will run every night.
  - Time Frame—30 days
  - Selected Columns—Select Source address or Source User (if you have User-ID configured), which will identify the infected client host in the report, and Destination address, which will be the sinkhole address.
  - In the section at the bottom of the screen, create a custom query for traffic to the sinkhole address (10.15.0.20 in this example). You can either enter the destination address in the **Query Builder** window (addr.dst in 10.15.0.20) or select the following in each column and click Add: Connector = and, Attribute = Destination Address, Operator = in, and Value = 10.15.0.20. Click Add to add the query.

	0	_	-		-		_			_
Load Template	Run New									
Name	my-sinkhole-report				Available Columns			Selected Columns		
Database	Traffic Log				1	Action 🔺		<u>^</u>	Source address	
Scheduled						App Category		"€	Source User	
Time Frame	Last 30 Days				1	# App Container		Ξ	Destination address	
Sort By	None	1	٣	Top 10		App Sub Category				
Group By	None		٣	10 Groups	1	*	-			
Query Builder										
(addr.dst in 10.15	.0.20)									
(addr.dst in 10.15 Connector		Attribu	rte		6	perator	Va	lue		
(addr.dat in 10.15 Connector and	Negate	Attribu Source A	ite Iddr	255		perator	Va 10.	lue 15.0.	20	Đ
Connector and	Negate	Attribu Source A Destination	ite Iddri	sss . ddress	in In	operator ot in	Va 10.	lue 15.0.	20	ŧ

Click **Run Now** to run the report. The report will show all client hosts that have sent traffic to the sinkhole address, which indicates that they are most likely infected. You can now track down the hosts and check them for spyware.



# Content Delivery Network Infrastructure for Dynamic Updates

Palo Alto Networks maintains a Content Delivery Network (CDN) infrastructure for delivering content updates to the Palo Alto Networks devices. The devices access the web resources in the CDN to perform various App-ID and Content-ID functions. For enabling and scheduling the content updates, see Manage Content Updates.

The following table lists the web resources that the firewall accesses for a feature or application:

Resource	URL	Static Addresses (If a static server is required)
Application Database	• updates.paloaltonetworks.com:443	staticupdates.paloaltonetworks.com or the IP address 199.167.52.15
Threat/Antivirus Database	<ul> <li>updates.paloaltonetworks.com:443</li> <li>downloads.paloaltonetworks.com:443         As a best practice, set the update server to updates.paloaltonetworks.com.This allows the Palo Alto Networks device to receive content updates from the server closest to it in the CDN infrastructure.     </li> </ul>	staticupdates.paloaltonetworks.com or the IP address 199.167.52.15
PAN-DB URL Filtering	<ul> <li>*.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com</li> <li>Resolves to the primary URL s0000.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com and is then redirected to the regional server that is closest:</li> <li>s0100.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com</li> <li>s0200.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com</li> <li>s0300.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com</li> <li>s0500.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com</li> </ul>	Static IP addresses are not available. However, you can manually resolve a URL to an IP address and allow access to the regional server IP address.
BrightCloud URL Filtering	<ul><li> database.brightcloud.com:443/80</li><li> service.brightcloud.com:80</li></ul>	Contact BrightCloud Customer Support.

## **Threat Prevention Resources**

For more information on Threat Prevention, refer to the following sources:

- Creating Custom Threat Signatures
- Threat Prevention Deployment
- Understanding DoS Protection

To view a list of Threats and Applications that Palo Alto Networks products can identify, use the following links:

- Applipedia—Provides details on the applications that Palo Alto Networks can identify.
- Threat Vault—Lists threats that Palo Alto Networks products can identify. You can search by Vulnerability, Spyware, or Virus. Click the Details icon next to the ID number for more information about a threat.

# Decryption

Palo Alto Networks firewalls provide the capability to decrypt and inspect traffic for visibility, control, and granular security. Decryption on a Palo Alto Networks firewall includes the capability to enforce security policies on encrypted traffic, where otherwise the encrypted traffic might not be blocked and shaped according to your configured security settings. Use decryption on a firewall to prevent malicious content from entering your network or sensitive content from leaving your network concealed as encrypted traffic. Enabling decryption on a Palo Alto Networks firewall can include preparing the keys and certificates required for decryption, creating a decryption policy, and configuring decryption port mirroring. See the following topics to learn about and configure decryption:

- ▲ Decryption Overview
- Decryption Concepts
- ▲ Configure SSL Forward Proxy
- ▲ Configure SSL Inbound Inspection
- ▲ Configure SSH Proxy
- ▲ Configure Decryption Exceptions
- ▲ Enable Users to Opt Out of SSL Decryption
- ▲ Configure Decryption Port Mirroring
- ▲ Temporarily Disable SSL Decryption

# **Decryption Overview**

Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) and Secure Shell (SSH) are encryption protocols used to secure traffic between two entities, such as a web server and a client. SSL and SSH encapsulate traffic, encrypting data so that it is meaningless to entities other than the client and server with the keys to decode the data and the certificates to affirm trust between the devices. Traffic that has been encrypted using the protocols SSL and SSH can be decrypted to ensure that these protocols are being used for the intended purposes only, and not to conceal unwanted activity or malicious content.

Palo Alto Networks firewalls decrypt encrypted traffic by using keys to transform strings (passwords and shared secrets) from ciphertext to plaintext (decryption) and from plaintext back to ciphertext (re-encrypting traffic as it exits the device). Certificates are used to establish the firewall as a trusted third party and to create a secure connection. SSL decryption (both forward proxy and inbound inspection) requires certificates to establish trust between two entities in order to secure an SSL/TLS connection. Certificates can also be used when excluding servers from SSL decryption. You can integrate a hardware security module (HSM) with a firewall to enable enhanced security for the private keys used in SSL forward proxy and SSL inbound inspection decryption. To learn more about storing and generating keys using an HSM and integrating an HSM with your firewall, see Secure Keys with a Hardware Security Module. SSH decryption does not require certificates.

Palo Alto Networks firewall decryption is policy-based, and can be used to decrypt, inspect, and control both inbound and outbound SSL and SSH connections. Decryption policies allow you to specify traffic for decryption according to destination, source, or URL category and in order to block or restrict the specified traffic according to your security settings. The firewall uses certificates and keys to decrypt the traffic specified by the policy to plaintext, and then enforces App-ID and security settings on the plaintext traffic, including Decryption, Antivirus, Vulnerability, Anti-Spyware, URL Filtering, and File-Blocking profiles. After traffic is decrypted and inspected on the firewall, the plaintext traffic is re-encrypted as it exits the firewall to ensure privacy and security. Use policy-based decryption on the firewall to achieve outcomes such as the following:

- Prevent malware concealed as encrypted traffic from being introduced into an corporate network.
- Prevent sensitive corporate information from moving outside the corporate network.
- Ensure the appropriate applications are running on a secure network.
- Selectively decrypt traffic; for example, exclude traffic for financial or healthcare sites from decryption by configuring a decryption exception.

The three decryption policies offered on the firewall, SSL Forward Proxy, SSL Inbound Inspection, and SSH Proxy, all provide methods to specifically target and inspect SSL outbound traffic, SSL inbound traffic, and SSH traffic, respectively. The decryption policies provide the settings for you to specify what traffic to decrypt and decryption profiles can be selected when creating a policy, in order to apply more granular security settings to decrypted traffic, such as checks for server certificates, unsupported modes, and failures. This policy-based decryption on the firewall gives you visibility into and control of SSL and SSH encrypted traffic according to configurable parameters.

You can also choose to extend a decryption configuration on the firewall to include Decryption Port Mirroring, which allows for decrypted traffic to be forwarded as plaintext to a third party solution for additional analysis and archiving.

# **Decryption Concepts**

To learn about keys and certificates for decryption, decryption policies, and decryption port mirroring, see the following topics:

- ▲ Keys and Certificates for Decryption Policies
- ▲ SSL Forward Proxy
- ▲ SSL Inbound Inspection
- ▲ SSH Proxy
- ▲ Decryption Exceptions
- ▲ Decryption Port Mirroring

## Keys and Certificates for Decryption Policies

Keys are strings of numbers that are typically generated using a mathematical operation involving random numbers and large primes. Keys are used to transform other strings—such as passwords and shared secrets—from plaintext to ciphertext (called *encryption*) and from ciphertext to plaintext (called *decryption*). Keys can be symmetric (the same key is used to encrypt and decrypt) or asymmetric (one key is used for encryption and a mathematically related key is used for decryption). Any system can generate a key.

X.509 certificates are used to establish trust between a client and a server in order to establish an SSL connection. A client attempting to authenticate a server (or a server authenticating a client) knows the structure of the X.509 certificate and therefore knows how to extract identifying information about the server from fields within the certificate, such as its FQDN or IP address (called a *common name* or *CN* within the certificates must be issued by a certificate authority (CA). After the CA verifies a client or server, the CA issues the certificate and signs it using its private key.

With a decryption policy configured, an SSL/TLS session between the client and the server is established only if the firewall trusts the CA that signed the server's certificate. In order to establish trust, the firewall must have the server's root CA certificate in its certificate trust list (CTL) and use the public key contained in that root CA certificate to verify the signature. The firewall then presents a copy of the server certificate signed by the Forward Trust certificate for the client to authenticate. You can also configure the firewall to use an enterprise CA as a forward trust certificate for SSL Forward Proxy. If the firewall does not have the server's root CA certificate in its CTL, the firewall will present a copy of the server certificate signed by the Forward Untrust certificate to the client. The Forward Untrust certificate ensures that clients are prompted with a certificate warning when attempting to access sites hosted by a server with untrusted certificates.

For detailed information on certificates, see Certificate Management.



To control the trusted CAs that your device trusts, use the **Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Default Trusted Certificate Authorities** tab on the firewall web interface.

Table: Palo Alto Networks Device Keys and Certificates describes the different keys and certificates used by Palo Alto Networks devices for decryption. As a best practice, use different keys and certificates for each usage.

Key/Certificate Usage	Description
Forward Trust	The certificate the firewall presents to clients during decryption if the site the client is attempting to connect to has a certificate that is signed by a CA that the firewall trusts. To configure a Forward Trust certificate on the firewall, see Step 2 in the Configure SSL Forward Proxy task. By default, the firewall determines the key size to use for the client certificate based on the key size of the destination server. However, you can also set a specific key size for the firewall to use. See Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates. For added security, store the forward trust certificate on a Hardware Security Module (HSM), see Store Private Keys on an HSM.
Forward Untrust	The certificate the firewall presents to clients during decryption if the site the client is attempting to connect to has a certificate that is signed by a CA that the firewall does not trust. To configure a Forward Untrust certificate on the firewall, see Step 3 in the Configure SSL Forward Proxy task.

Table: Palo Alto Networks Device Keys and Certificates

Key/Certificate Usage	Description
SSL Exclude Certificate	Certificates for servers that you want to exclude from SSL decryption. For example, if you have SSL decryption enabled, but have certain servers that you do not want included in SSL decryption, such as the web services for your HR systems, you would import the corresponding certificates onto the firewall and configure them as SSL Exclude Certificates. See Exclude a Server From Decryption.
SSL Inbound Inspection	The certificate used to decrypt inbound SSL traffic for inspection and policy enforcement. For this application, you would import the server certificate for the servers for which you are performing SSL inbound inspection, or store them on an HSM (see Store Private Keys on an HSM).

## SSL Forward Proxy

Use an SSL Forward Proxy decryption policy to decrypt and inspect SSL/TLS traffic from internal users to the web. SSL Forward Proxy decryption prevents malware concealed as SSL encrypted traffic from being introduced to your corporate network; for example, if an employee is using her Gmail account from her corporate office and opens an email attachment that contains a virus, SSL Forward Proxy decryption will prevent the virus from infecting the client system and entering the corporate network.

With SSL Forward Proxy decryption, the firewall resides between the internal client and outside server. The firewall uses Forward Trust or Forward Untrust certificates to establish itself as a trusted third party to the session between the client and the server (For details on certificates, see Keys and Certificates for Decryption Policies). When the client initiates an SSL session with the server, the firewall intercepts the client's SSL request and forwards the SSL request to the server. The server sends a certificate intended for the client that is intercepted by the firewall. If the server's certificate is signed by a CA that the firewall trusts, the firewall creates a copy of the server's certificate is signed by a CA that the firewall does not trust, the firewall creates a copy of the server's certificate and signs it with the Forward Untrust certificate and sends it to the client. In this case, the client sees a block page warning that the site they're attempting to connect to is not trusted and the client can choose to proceed or terminate the session. When the client authenticates the certificate, the SSL session is established with the firewall functioning as a trusted forward proxy to the site that the client is accessing.

As the firewall continues to receive SSL traffic from the server that is destined for the client, it decrypts the SSL traffic into clear text traffic and applies security policies to the traffic. The traffic is then re-encrypted on the firewall and the firewall forwards the encrypted traffic to the client.

Figure: SSL Forward Proxy shows this process in detail.

### Figure: SSL Forward Proxy



See Configure SSL Forward Proxy for details on configuring SSL Forward Proxy.

## SSL Inbound Inspection

Use SSL Inbound Inspection to decrypt and inspect inbound SSL traffic from a client to a targeted server (any server you have the certificate for and can import it onto the firewall). For example, if an employee is remotely connected to a web server hosted on the company network and is attempting to add restricted internal documents to his Dropbox folder (which uses SSL for data transmission), SSL Inbound Inspection can be used to ensure that the sensitive data does not move outside the secure company network by blocking or restricting the session.

Configuring SSL Inbound Inspection includes importing the targeted server's certificate and key on to the firewall. Because the targeted server's certificate and key are imported on the firewall, the firewall is able to access the SSL session between the server and the client and decrypt and inspect traffic transparently, rather than functioning as a proxy. The firewall is able to apply security policies to the decrypted traffic, detecting malicious content and controlling applications running over this secure channel.

Figure: SSL Inbound Inspection shows this process in detail.



Figure: SSL Inbound Inspection

See Configure SSL Inbound Inspection for details on configuring SSL Inbound Inspection.

## SSH Proxy

SSH Proxy provides the capability for the firewall to decrypt inbound and outbound SSH connections passing through the firewall, in order to ensure that SSH is not being used to tunnel unwanted applications and content. SSH decryption does not require any certificates and the key used for SSH decryption is automatically generated when the firewall boots up. During the boot up process, the firewall checks to see if there is an existing key. If not, a key is generated. This key is used for decrypting SSH sessions for all virtual systems configured on the device. The same key is also used for decrypting all SSH v2 sessions.

In an SSH Proxy configuration, the firewall resides between a client and a server. When the client sends an SSH request to the server, the firewall intercepts the request and forwards the SSH request to the server. The firewall then intercepts the server's response and forwards the response to the client, establishing an SSH tunnel between the firewall and the client and an SSH tunnel between the firewall and the server, with firewall functioning as a proxy. As traffic flows between the client and the server, the firewall is able to distinguish whether the SSH traffic is being routed normally or if it is using SSH tunneling (port forwarding). Content and threat inspections are not performed on SSH tunnels; however, if SSH tunnels are identified by the firewall, the SSH tunneled traffic is blocked and restricted according to configured security policies.

Figure: SSH Proxy Decryption shows this process in detail.



## Figure: SSH Proxy Decryption

See Configure SSH Proxy for details on configuring an SSH Proxy policy.

## **Decryption Exceptions**

Traffic can also be excluded from decryption according to matching criteria (using a decryption policy), a targeted server's traffic can be excluded from decryption (using certificates), and some applications are excluded from decryption by default.

Applications that do not function properly when decrypted by the firewall and are automatically excluded from SSL decryption. The applications that are excluded from SSL decryption by default are excluded because these applications often fail when decrypted due to the application looking for specific details in the certificate that might not be present in the certificate generated for SSL Forward Proxy. Refer to the KB article List of Applications Excluded from SSL Decryption for a current list of applications excluded by default from SSL decryption on the firewall.

You can configure decryption exceptions for certain URL categories or applications that either do not work properly with decryption enabled or for any other reason, including for legal or privacy purposes. You can use a decryption policy to exclude traffic from decryption based on source, destination, service, and URL category. For example, with SSL decryption enabled, you can exclude traffic that is categorized as financial or health-related from decryption, using the URL category selection.

You can also exclude servers from SSL decryption based on the Common Name (CN) in the server's certificate. For example, if you have SSL decryption enabled but have certain servers that you do not want included in SSL decryption, such as the web services for your HR systems, you can exclude those servers from decryption by importing the server certificate onto the firewall and modifying the certificate to be an **SSL Exclude Certificate**.

To exclude traffic from decryption based on source, destination, service, URL category or to exclude a specific server's traffic from decryption, see Configure Decryption Exceptions.

## **Decryption Port Mirroring**

The Decryption Port mirror feature provides the capability to create a copy of decrypted traffic from a firewall and send it to a traffic collection tool that is capable of receiving raw packet captures—such as NetWitness or Solera—for archiving and analysis. This feature is necessary for organizations that require comprehensive data capture for forensic and historical purposes or data leak prevention (DLP) functionality. Decryption port mirroring is available on PA-7050, PA-5000 Series and PA-3000 Series platforms only and requires that a free license be installed to enable this feature.

Keep in mind that the decryption, storage, inspection, and/or use of SSL traffic is governed in certain countries and user consent might be required in order to use the decryption port mirror feature. Additionally, use of this feature could enable malicious users with administrative access to the firewall to harvest usernames, passwords, social security numbers, credit card numbers, or other sensitive information submitted using an encrypted channel. Palo Alto Networks recommends that you consult with your corporate council before activating and using this feature in a production environment.

Figure: Decryption Port Mirroring shows the process for decryption port mirroring and the section Configure Decryption Port Mirroring describes how to license and use this feature.



## Figure: Decryption Port Mirroring

Data Leakage Prevention

# Configure SSL Forward Proxy

Configuring SSL Forward Proxy decryption on the firewall requires setting up the certificates needed for SSL Forward Proxy decryption and creating an SSL Forward Proxy decryption policy. The firewall can use self-signed certificates or certificates signed by an enterprise CA to perform SSL Forward Proxy decryption.



By default, the firewall determines the key size to use for the client certificates it generates based on the key size of the destination server certificate. You can optionally set a static key size to use regardless of the key size of the destination server certificate. See Configure the Key Size for SSL Forward Proxy Server Certificates.

Use the following task to configure SSL Forward Proxy, including how to set up the certificates and create a decryption policy.

#### **Configure SSL Forward Proxy**

Step 1	Ensure that the appropriate interfaces are	View configured interfaces on the <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b>
	configured as either virtual wire, Layer 2,	tab. The Interface Type column displays if an interface is configured
	or Layer 3 interfaces.	to be a Virtual Wire or Layer 2, or Layer 3 interface. You can select
		an interface to modify its configuration, including what type of
		interface it is.

## **Configure SSL Forward Proxy**

Step 2	Configure the forward trust certificate. Use either a self-signed certificate or a certificate signed by an enterprise CA.	<b>To</b> 1. 2.	use a self-signed certificate: Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates. Click Generate at the bottom of the window.
	Using self-signed certificates	3.	Enter a Certificate Name, such as my-fwd-trust.
	When the certificate of the server that the client is connecting to is signed by a CA that is on the firewall's trusted CA list, the firewall signs a copy of the server's	4.	Enter a <b>Common Name</b> , such as <b>192.168.2.1</b> . This should be the IP or FQDN that will appear in the certificate. In this case, we are using the IP of the trust interface. Avoid using spaces in this field.
	certificate with a self-signed forward trust	5.	Leave the <b>Signed By</b> field blank.
	certificate to present to the client for authentication. In this case, the self-signed certificate must be imported onto each client system so that the client recognizes the firewall as a trusted CA. Use self-signed certificates for SSL Forward Proxy decryption if you do not use an enterprise CA or if you are only intended to perform decryption for a limited number of client systems (or if you are planning to use a centralized deployment).	6.	Click the <b>Certificate Authority</b> check box to enable the firewall to issue the certificate. Selecting this check box creates a certificate authority (CA) on the firewall that is imported to the client browsers, so clients trust the firewall as a CA.
		1.	Click Generate to generate the certificate.
		8.	Click the new certificate <i>my-fwd-frust</i> to modify it and enable the <b>Forward Trust Certificate</b> option.
		9.	Export the forward trust certificate for import into client systems by highlighting the certificate and clicking <b>Export</b> at the bottom of the window. Choose PEM format, and do not select the <b>Export private key</b> option. Because the certificate is self-signed, import it into the browser trusted root CA list on the client systems in order for the clients to trust it. When importing to the client browser, ensure the certificate is added to the Trusted Root Certification Authorities certificate store. On Windows systems, the default import location is the Personal certificate store. You can also simplify this process by using a centralized deployment, such as an Active Directory Group Policy Object (GPO).
			If the forward trust certificate is not imported on the



client systems, users will see certificate warnings for each SSL site they visit.

10. Click **OK** to save.

#### **Configure SSL Forward Proxy**

#### Using an Enterprise CA

An enterprise CA can issue a signing certificate which the firewall can use to then sign the certificates for sites requiring SSL decryption. Send a Certificate Signing Request (CSR) for the enterprise CA to sign and validate. The firewall can then use the signed enterprise CA certificate for SSL Forward Proxy decryption. Because the enterprise CA is already trusted by the client systems, with this option, you do not need to distribute the certificate to client systems prior to configuring decryption. To use an enterprise CA signed certificate, generate a CSR:
1. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates and click Generate.

- 2. Enter a **Certificate Name**, such as *my-fwd-proxy*.
- 3. In the Signed By drop-down, select External Authority (CSR).
- (Optional) If your enterprise CA requires it, add Certificate Attributes to further identify the firewall details, such as Country or Department.
- Click **OK** to save the CSR. The pending certificate is now displayed on the **Device Certificates** tab.
- 6. Export the CSR:
  - a. Select the pending certificate displayed on the **Device Certificates** tab.
  - b. Click **Export** to download and save the certificate file.

Leave **Export private key** unselected in order to ensure that the private key remains securely on the firewall.

- c. Click **OK**.
- d. Provide the certificate file to your enterprise CA. When you receive the signed enterprise CA certificate from your enterprise CA, save the signed enterprise CA certificate for import onto the firewall.
- 7. Import the signed enterprise CA onto the firewall:
  - a. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates and click Import.
  - b. Enter the pending **Certificate Name** exactly (in this case, *my-fwd-trust*). The **Certificate Name** that you enter must exactly match the pending certificate's name in order for the pending certificate to be validated.
  - c. Select the signed **Certificate File** that you received from your enterprise CA.
  - d. Click **OK**. The certificate is displayed as valid with the Key and CA check boxes selected.
  - e. Select the validated certificate, in this case, *my-fivd-proxy*, to enable it as a **Forward Trust Certificate** to be used for SSL Forward Proxy decryption.
  - f. Click **OK**.

Configu	ire SSL Forward Proxy		
Step 3	Configure the forward untrust certificate. With SSL Forward Proxy decryption, when the site the client is connecting to uses a certificate signed by a CA that is not in the firewall's trusted CA list, the firewall presents a forward untrust certificate to the client. The forward untrust certificate ensures that clients are prompted with a certificate warning when attempting to access sites with untrusted certificates.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> <li>7.</li> <li>8.</li> </ol>	Click <b>Generate</b> at the bottom of the certificates page. Enter a <b>Certificate Name</b> , such as <i>my-fwd-untrust</i> . Set the <b>Common Name</b> , for example <b>192.168.2.1</b> . Leave <b>Signed By</b> blank. Click the <b>Certificate Authority</b> check box to enable the firewall to issue the certificate. Click <b>Generate</b> to generate the certificate. Click <b>Generate</b> to generate the certificate. Click the new <i>my-ssl-fw-untrust</i> certificate to modify it and enable the <b>Forward Untrust Certificate</b> option. Do not export the forward untrust certificate for import into client systems. If the forward trust certificate is imported on client systems, the users will not see certificates. Click <b>OK</b> to save.
Step 4	(Optional) Set the key size of the SSL Forward Proxy certificates that the firewall presents to clients. Changing the key size clears the current certificate cache.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and, in the Decryption Settings section, click <b>Forward Proxy Server Certificate Settings</b> . Select a <b>Key Size</b> : <b>Defined by destination host</b> (default), <b>1024-bit RSA</b> , or <b>2048-bit RSA</b> .
Step 5	(Optional) Create a Decryption profile. Decryption profiles can be associated with a decryption policy, enabling the firewall to block and control various aspects of traffic that is being decrypted. An SSL Forward Proxy decryption profile can be used to perform checks for server certificates, unsupported modes, and failures and block or restrict traffic accordingly. For a complete list of checks that can be performed, navigate to <b>Objects &gt; Decryption Profiles</b> on the firewall and click the help icon.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Decryption Profile</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Select the <b>SSL Forward Proxy</b> tab to block and control specific aspects of SSL tunneled traffic. For example, you can choose to terminate sessions if system resources are not available to process decryption by selecting <b>Block sessions if resources</b> <b>not available</b> . Click <b>OK t</b> o save the profile.

Config	ure SSL Forward Proxy		
Step 6	Configure a decryption policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Decryption</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, give the policy a descriptive <b>Name</b> .
		3.	On the <b>Source</b> and <b>Destination</b> tabs, select <b>Any</b> for the <b>Source</b> <b>Zone</b> and <b>Destination Zone</b> to decrypt all SSL traffic destined for an external server. If you want to specify traffic from or to certain sources or destinations for decryption, click <b>Add</b> .
		4.	In the <b>URL Category</b> tab, leave <b>Any</b> to decrypt all traffic. If you only want to apply this profile to certain website categories, click <b>Add</b> .
			Selecting a URL Category is useful when excluding certain sites from decryption. See Configure Decryption Exceptions.
		5.	On the <b>Options</b> tab, select <b>Decrypt</b> and select <b>SSL Forward Proxy</b> as the <b>Type</b> of decryption to perform.
		6.	(Optional) Select a <b>Decryption Profile</b> to apply additional settings to decrypted traffic (see Step 5).
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
Step 7	Enable the firewall to forward decrypted SSL traffic for WildFire analysis	On 1.	a firewall with no virtual systems configured: Select Device > Setup > Content-ID
	This is a WildFire best practice. To forward portable executables (PEs) only, you do not need a WildFire license; however forwarding advanced file types requires an active WildFire license.	2.	Edit the Content-ID settings and Allow Forwarding of <b>Decrypted Content</b> .
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.
		On	a firewall with multiple virtual systems configured:
		Sele to r	ect <b>Device &gt; Virtual Systems</b> , select the virtual system you want modify, and <b>Allow Forwarding of Decrypted Content</b> .
Step 8	<b>Commit</b> the configuration.	With an SSL Forward Proxy decryption policy enabled, all traffic identified by the policy is decrypted. Decrypted traffic is blocked and restricted according to the profiles configured on the firewall (including the decryption profiles associated with the policy and Antivirus, Vulnerability, Anti-Spyware, URL Filtering, and File-Blocking profiles). Traffic is re-encrypted as it exits the firewall.	

# **Configure SSL Inbound Inspection**

Configuring SSL Inbound Inspection includes installing the targeted server's certificate on the firewall and creating an SSL Inbound Inspection decryption policy.

Use the following task to configure SSL Inbound Inspection.

Config	ure SSL Inbound Inspection		
Step 1	Ensure that the appropriate interfaces are configured as either virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3 interfaces.	View configured interfaces on the <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b> tab. The <b>Interface Type</b> column displays if an interface is configured to be a <b>Virtual Wire</b> or <b>Layer 2</b> , or <b>Layer 3</b> interface. You can select an interface to modify its configuration, including what type of interface it is.	
Step 2	Ensure that the targeted server's certificate is installed on the firewall.	<ul> <li>On the web interface, select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates to view certificates installed on the firewall.</li> <li>To import the targeted server's certificate onto the firewall:</li> <li>On the Device Certificates tab, select Import.</li> <li>Enter a descriptive Certificate Name.</li> <li>Browse for and select the targeted server's Certificate File.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> </ul>	
Step 3	(Optional) Create a Decryption profile. Decryption profiles can be associated with a decryption policy, enabling the firewall to block and control various aspects of traffic that is being decrypted. An SSL Inbound Inspection decryption profile can be used to perform checks for unsupported modes and failures and block or restrict traffic accordingly. For a complete list of checks that can be performed, select <b>Objects &gt; Decryption</b> <b>Profiles</b> and then click the help icon.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; Decryption Profile and click Add.</li> <li>Select the SSL Inbound Inspection tab to block and control specific aspects of SSL traffic. For example, you can choose to terminate sessions if system resources are not available to process decryption by selecting Block sessions if resources not available.</li> <li>Click OK to save the profile.</li> </ol>	

Configure SSL Inbound Inspection			
Step 4	Configure a decryption policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Decryption</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, give the policy a descriptive <b>Name</b> .
		3.	On the <b>Destination</b> tab, <b>Add</b> the <b>Destination Address</b> of the targeted server.
		4.	In the <b>URL Category</b> tab, leave <b>Any</b> to decrypt all traffic. If you only want to apply this profile to certain website categories, click <b>Add</b> .
			Selecting a URL Category is useful when excluding certain sites from decryption. See Configure Decryption Exceptions.
		5.	On the <b>Options</b> tab, select <b>Decrypt</b> and select <b>SSL Inbound</b> <b>Inspection</b> as the <b>Type</b> of traffic to decrypt.
			Select the <b>Certificate</b> for the internal server that is the destination of the inbound SSL traffic.
		6.	(Optional) Select a <b>Decryption Profile</b> to apply additional settings to decrypted traffic.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
Step 5	Enable the firewall to forward decrypted SSL traffic for WildFire analysis. This is a WildFire best practice. To forward portable executables (PEs) only, you do not need a WildFire license; however forwarding advanced file types requires an active WildFire license.	On	a firewall with no virtual systems configured:
		1.	Select Device > Setup > Content-ID.
		2.	Edit the Content-ID settings and Allow Forwarding of <b>Decrypted Content</b> .
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.
		On	a firewall with multiple virtual systems configured:
		Sele to r	ect <b>Device &gt; Virtual Systems</b> , select the virtual system you want nodify, and <b>Allow Forwarding of Decrypted Content</b> .
Step 6	<b>Commit</b> the configuration.	With an SSL Inbound Inspection decryption policy enabled, all SSL traffic identified by the policy is decrypted and inspected. Decrypted traffic is blocked and restricted according to the profiles configured on the firewall (including the decryption profiles associated with the policy and Antivirus, Vulnerability, Anti-Spyware, URL Filtering, and File-Blocking profiles). Traffic is re-encrypted as it exits the firewall.	

# **Configure SSH Proxy**

Configuring SSH Proxy does not require certificates and the key used to decrypt SSH sessions is generated automatically on the firewall during boot up.

Use the following task to configure SSH Proxy decryption.

Configure SSH Proxy Decryption			
Step 1	Ensure that the appropriate interfaces are configured as either virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3 interfaces. Decryption can only be performed on virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3 interfaces.	View configured interfaces on the <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b> tab. The <b>Interface Type</b> column displays if an interface is configured to be a <b>Virtual Wire</b> or <b>Layer 2</b> , or <b>Layer 3</b> interface. You can select an interface to modify its configuration, including what type of interface it is.	
Step 2	(Optional) Create a Decryption profile. Decryption profiles can be associated with a decryption policy, enabling the firewall to block and control various aspects of traffic that is being decrypted. The decryption profile can be used to perform checks for server certificates, unsupported modes, and failures and block or restrict traffic accordingly. For a complete list of checks that can be performed, navigate to <b>Objects &gt;</b> <b>Decryption Profiles</b> on the firewall and then click the help icon.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; Decryption Profile and click Add.</li> <li>Select the SSH tab to block and control specific aspects of SSH tunneled traffic. For example, you can choose to terminate sessions if system resources are not available to process decryption by selecting Block sessions if resources not available.</li> <li>Click OK to save the profile.</li> </ol>	
Step 3	Configure a decryption policy.	<ol> <li>Select Policies &gt; Decryption and click Add.</li> <li>On the General tab, give the policy a descriptive Name.</li> <li>On the Source and Destination tabs, select Any to decrypt all SSH traffic.</li> <li>On the URL Category tab, select Any to decrypt all SSH traffic.</li> <li>On the Options tab, select Decrypt and select SSH Proxy as the Type of traffic to decrypt.</li> <li>(Optional) Select a Decryption Profile to apply additional settings to decrypted traffic.</li> <li>Click OK to save.</li> </ol>	
Step 4	<b>Commit</b> the configuration.	With the an SSH Proxy decryption policy enabled, all SSH traffic identified by the policy is decrypted and identified as either regular SSH traffic or as SSH tunneled traffic. SSH tunneled traffic is blocked and restricted according to the profiles configured on the firewall. Traffic is re-encrypted as it exits the firewall.	

# **Configure Decryption Exceptions**

You can purposefully exclude traffic from decryption based on matching criteria, such the traffic's source, destination, URL category, or service. You can also exclude a specific server's traffic from decryption. See the following topics to configure Decryption Exceptions:

- ▲ Exclude Traffic From Decryption
- ▲ Exclude a Server From Decryption

## **Exclude Traffic From Decryption**

To purposefully exclude applications or certain traffic from other existing SSL or SSH decryption policies, you can create a new decryption policy that defines the traffic to exclude from decryption with the **No Decrypt** action selected in the policy. You can define traffic for policy-based exclusion according to matching criteria, such as source, destination, URL categories, or the service (port or protocol). Make sure the decryption policy that excludes traffic from decryption is listed first in your decryption policy list by dragging and dropping the policy above the other decryption policies.

See the following procedure to configure a decryption policy that excludes traffic from SSL or SSH decryption.

Exclude Traffic from a Decryption Policy			
Step 1	Create a decryption policy.	1.	Go to <b>Policies &gt; Decryption</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
	Use a decryption policy to exclude traffic from decryption according to the traffic's source and destination zones or addresses and URL categories. This example shows how to exclude traffic categorized as financial or health-related from SSL Forward Proxy decryption.	2.	Give the policy a descriptive <b>Name</b> , such as <i>No-Decrypt-Finance-Health</i> .
		3.	On the <b>Source</b> and <b>Destination</b> tabs, select <b>Any</b> for the <b>Source</b> <b>Zone</b> and <b>Destination Zone</b> to apply the <i>No-Decrypt-Finance-Health</i> rule to all SSL traffic destined for an external server.
		4.	On the <b>URL Category</b> tab, <b>Add</b> the URL categories financial-services and health-and-medicine to the policy, specifying that traffic that matches these categories will not be decrypted.
		5.	On the <b>Options</b> tab, select <b>No Decrypt</b> and select the <b>Type</b> of decryption policy you are excluding the traffic from. For example, to exclude traffic categorized as financial or health-related from a separately configured SSL Forward Proxy decryption policy, select <b>SSL Forward Proxy</b> as the <b>Type</b> .
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the <i>No-Decrypt-Finance-Health</i> decryption policy.
Step 2	Move the decryption policy to the top of the list of decryption policies.	On the <b>Decryption &gt; Policies</b> page, select the policy <i>No-Decrypt-Finance-Health</i> , and click <b>Move Up</b> until it appears top of the list (or you can drag and drop).	
		The whi <b>No</b> spe pol	e order in which the decryption policies are listed is the order in ich they are applied to network traffic. Moving the policy with the <b>Decrypt</b> action applied to the top of the list ensures that the cified traffic is not decrypted according to another configured icy.

Exclude Traffic from a Decryption Policy			
Step 3	<b>Commit</b> the configuration.	A decryption policy with <b>No Decrypt</b> enabled ensures that the specified traffic is remains encrypted as it flows through the firewall, and that the traffic is not decrypted according to other decryption policies configured and listed on the <b>Policies &gt; Decryption</b> page.	

## Exclude a Server From Decryption

You can exclude a targeted server's traffic from SSL decryption based on the Common Name (CN) in the server's certificate. For example, if you have SSL decryption enabled, you could configure a decryption exception for the server on your corporate network that hosts the web services for your HR systems. See the following procedure to configure a server's certificate so that the targeted server's traffic is excluded from decryption:

Exclude a Server from Decryption						
Step 1	Import the targeted server's certificate onto the firewall: 1. On the <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates</b> tab, select <b>Import</b> .					
	2. Enter a descriptive <b>Certificate Name</b> .					
	3. Browse for and select the targeted server's <b>Certificate File</b> .					
	4. Click <b>OK</b> .					
Step 2	Select the targeted server's certificate on the <b>Device Certificates</b> tab and enable it as an SSL Exclude Certificate.					
	With the targeted server's certificate imported on the firewall and designated as an SSL Exclude Certificate, the server's traffic is not decrypted as it passes through the firewall.					

## Enable Users to Opt Out of SSL Decryption

In some cases, you might need to alert your users to the fact that the firewall is decrypting certain web traffic and allow them to terminate sessions that they do not want inspected. With SSL Opt Out enabled, the first time a user attempts to browse to an HTTPS site or application that matches your decryption policy, the firewall displays a response page notifying the user that it will decrypt the session. Users can either click **Yes** to allow decryption and continue to the site or click **No** to opt out of decryption and terminate the session. The choice to allow decryption applies to all HTTPS sites that users try to access for the next 24 hours, after which the firewall redisplays the response page. Users who opt out of SSL decryption cannot access the requested web page, or any other HTTPS site, for the next minute. After the minute elapses, the firewall redisplays the response page the next time the users attempt to access an HTTPS site.

The firewall includes a predefined SSL Decryption Opt-out Page that you can enable. You can optionally customize the page with your own text and/or images.

Enable	Users to Opt Out of SSL Decryption		
Step 1	(Optional) Customize the SSL	1.	Select Device > Response Pages.
	Decryption Opt-out Page.	2.	Select the SSL Decryption Opt-out Page link.
		3.	Select the <b>Predefined</b> page and click <b>Export</b> .
		4.	Using the HTML text editor of your choice, edit the page.
		5.	If you want to add an image, host the image on a web server that is accessible from your end user systems.
		6.	Add a line to the HTML to point to the image. For example:
			<img src="http://cdn.slidesharecdn.com/&lt;br&gt;Acme-logo-96x96.jpg?1382722588"/>
		7.	Save the edited page with a new filename. Make sure that the page retains its UTF-8 encoding.
		8.	Back on the firewall, select <b>Device &gt; Response Pages</b> .
		9.	Select the SSL Decryption Opt-out Page link.
		10.	Click <b>Import</b> and then enter the path and filename in the <b>Import File</b> field or <b>Browse</b> to locate the file.
		11.	(Optional) Select the virtual system on which this login page will be used from the <b>Destination</b> drop-down or select shared to make it available to all virtual systems.
		12.	Click <b>OK</b> to import the file.
		13.	Select the response page you just imported and click <b>Close</b> .
Step 2	Enable SSL Decryption Opt Out.	1.	On the <b>Device &gt; Response Pages</b> page, click the <b>Disabled</b> link.
		2.	Select the Enable SSL Opt-out Page and click OK.
			SSL Opt-out Page
			Enable SSL Opt-out Page
			OK
		3.	<b>Commit</b> the changes.
Enable	Users to Opt Out of SSL Decryption		
--------	--	---	
Step 3	Verify that the Opt Out page displays when you attempt to browse to a site.	From a browser, go to an encrypted site that matches your decryption policy. Verify that the SSL Decryption Opt-out response page displays. SSL Inspection In accordance with company security policy, the SSL encrypted connection you have initiated will inspected for viruses, spyware, and other malware. After the connection is inspected it will be re-encrypted and sent to its destination. No data will be IP: 31.13.69.80 Category: social-networking Would you like to proceed with this session? Would you like to proceed with this session?	

## **Configure Decryption Port Mirroring**

Before you can enable decryption port mirroring, you must obtain and install a Decryption Port Mirror license. The license is free of charge and can be activated through the support portal as described in the following procedure. After you install the Decryption Port Mirror license and reboot the firewall, you can enable decryption port mirroring.

Enabling decryption port mirroring includes enabling the forwarding of decrypted traffic and configuring a decrypt mirror interface. You can then create a decryption profile that specifies the interface and attach it to a decryption policy. To learn more about implementing Decryption Port Mirroring, see Decryption Port Mirroring.

Use the following procedure to obtain and install a Decryption Port Mirror license and configure Decryption Port Mirroring.

Config	ure Decryption Port Mirroring								
Step 1	Request a license for each device on which you want to enable decryption	1.	Log in to th the <b>Assets</b> i	e Palo Alto N tab.	letworl	xs Sup	oport si	te and navigate to	
	port mirroring.	2.	Select the de select <b>Actio</b>	evice entry fo <b>ns</b> .	r the d	evice	you wa	nt to license and	
		3.	Select Decry	yption Port M	irror.	A lega	al notice	e displays.	
		4.	If you are cl requirement	lear about the ts, click <b>l unde</b>	potent erstand	tial leg d and	gal impl wish to	ications and <b>proceed</b> .	
		5.	Click Activa	ite.					
		DE	VICE LICENSES					×	
			Serial Number: 000 Model: PAN Device Name: PM Authorization Code:	9C100103 I-PA-5050-B Lab Firewall		• Add	0		
			Fasture Name	Authorization Code	Eupiratia	Dete	Actions		
			Threat Prevention	14344239	01/06/20	19	× x		
			PAN-DB URL Filtering	19544847	01/06/20	19	¥		
			Virtual Systems	18729162	Perpetua	1	×		
			Premium Support	17480971	12/29/20	15			
		ļ	AVAILABLE FEATUR	E LICENSES					

Config	ure Decryption Port Mirroring (Continue	ed)	
Step 2	Install the Decryption Port Mirror license	1.	From the firewall's web interface, select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> .
	on firewall.	2.	Click Retrieve license keys from license server.
		3.	Verify that the license has been activated on the firewall.
			Decryption Port Mirror
			Date Issued     January 06, 2014       Date Expires     Never       Description     Decryption Port Mirror       Active     Yes
		4.	Reboot the firewall ( <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Operations</b> ). This feature will not be available for configuration until PAN-OS reloads.
Step 3	Enable the ability to mirror decrypted	On	a firewall with a single virtual system:
	traffic. Superuser permission is required	1.	Select Device > Setup > Content - ID.
	to perform this step.	2.	Select the Allow forwarding of decrypted content ${\rm check}\ {\rm box}.$
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
		On	a firewall with multiple virtual systems:
		1.	Select Device > Virtual System.
		2.	Select a Virtual System to edit or create a new Virtual System by selecting <b>Add</b> .
		3.	Select the Allow forwarding of decrypted content check box.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
Step 4	Configure a decrypt mirror interface.	1.	Select Network > Interfaces > Ethernet.
		2.	Select the Ethernet interface that you want to configure for decryption port mirroring.
		3.	Select Decrypt Mirror as the Interface Type.
			This interface type will appear only if the Decryption Port Mirror license is installed.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.

Config	ure Decryption Port Mirroring (Continue	ed)	
Step 5	Configure a Decryption Profile to enable	1.	Select Objects > Decryption Profile.
	decryption port mirroring.	2.	Select the Interface to use for Decryption Mirroring.
			The <b>Interface</b> drop-down contains all Ethernet interfaces that have been defined as the type: <b>Decrypt Mirror</b> .
		3.	Specify whether to mirror decrypted traffic before or after policy enforcement.
			By default, the firewall will mirror all decrypted traffic to the interface before security policies lookup, which allows you to replay events and analyze traffic that generates a threat or triggers a drop action. If you want to only mirror decrypted traffic after security policy enforcement, select the <b>Forwarded Only</b> check box. With this option, only traffic that is forwarded through the firewall is mirrored. This option is useful if you are forwarding the decrypted traffic to other threat detection devices, such as a DLP device or another intrusion prevention system (IPS).
Step 6	Set a decryption policy for decryption	<del>т</del> . 1	Select Policies > Decryption
Sup 0	port mirroring.	2.	Click <b>Add</b> to configure a decryption policy or select an existing decryption policy to edit.
		3.	In the <b>Options</b> tab, select <b>Decrypt</b> and the <b>Decryption Profile</b> created in Step 4.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the policy.
Step 7	Save the configuration.	Clie	ck Commit.

## Temporarily Disable SSL Decryption

In some cases you may want to temporarily disable SSL decryption. For example, if your users are having problems accessing an encrypted site or application, you may want to disable SSL decryption in order to troubleshoot the issue. Although you could disable the associated decryption policies, modifying the policies is a configuration change that requires a Commit. Instead, use the following command to temporarily disable SSL decryption and then re-enable it after you finish troubleshooting. This command does not require a commit and it does not persist in your configuration after a reboot.

Temporarily Disable SSL Decrypt	ion				
Disable SSL Decryption	set	system	setting	ssl-decrypt	skip-ssl-decrypt yes
Re-enable SSL Decryption	set	system	setting	ssl-decrypt	skip-ssl-decrypt no

# **URL** Filtering

The Palo Alto Networks URL filtering solution is a powerful PAN-OS feature that is used to monitor and control how users access the web over HTTP and HTTPS. The following topics provide an overview of URL filtering, configuration and troubleshooting information, and best practices for getting the most out of this feature:

- ▲ URL Filtering Overview
- ▲ URL Filtering Concepts
- PAN-DB Categorization Workflow
- ▲ Enable a URL Filtering Vendor
- ▲ Determine URL Filtering Policy Requirements
- ▲ Monitor Web Activity
- ▲ Configure URL Filtering
- ▲ Log Client IP Addresses for Proxied HTTP/HTTPS Requests
- ▲ Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages
- Configure URL Admin Override
- ▲ Enable Safe Search Enforcement
- ▲ URL Filtering Use Case Examples
- ▲ Troubleshoot URL Filtering

### **URL Filtering Overview**

The Palo Alto Networks URL filtering feature compliments the App-ID feature by enabling you to configure your firewall to identify and control access to web (HTTP and HTTPS) traffic. By implementing URL filtering profiles in security policies and by using URL categories as a match criteria in policies (captive portal, decryption, security, and QoS), you will gain complete visibility and control of the traffic that traverses your firewall and will be able to safely enable and control how your users access the web.

The Palo Alto Networks URL filtering solution utilizes a URL filtering database that contains millions of websites and each website is placed in one of approximately 60 different categories. A URL filtering profile that contains the list of categories is then applied to a security policy that allows web traffic (HTTP/HTTPS) from the internal users to the Internet. After the URL filtering profile is applied and the alert or block action is set on a category, you will gain complete visibility into the websites that users access and can then decide which websites or website categories should be allowed, blocked, or logged. You can also define a list of URLs in the URL filtering profile that will always be blocked or allowed and you can create custom URL categories that contain a list of URLs that can be used the same way as the default category list. These same URL categories can also be used as a match criteria in other policies, such as captive portal, decryption, and QoS.

- ▲ URL Filtering Vendors
- ▲ Interaction Between App-ID and URL Categories

#### **URL Filtering Vendors**

Palo Alto Networks firewalls support two vendors for URL filtering purposes:

- **PAN-DB**—A Palo Alto Networks developed URL filtering database that is tightly integrated into PAN-OS by utilizing high-performance local caching to perform maximum inline performance for URL lookups while a distributed cloud architecture provides coverage for the latest websites. In addition, PAN-DB is tightly integrated with WildFire such that whenever WildFire deems a site malicious, it updates the corresponding PAN-DB URL category to malware, immediately blocking any future access to the site as long as you have a URL Filtering profile attached to the security policy rule. To view a list of PAN-DB URL filtering.paloaltonetworks.com/CategoryList.aspx.
- **BrightCloud**—A third-party URL database that is owned by Webroot, Inc. and is integrated into PAN-OS firewalls. For information on the BrightCloud URL database, visit http://brightcloud.com.

For instructions on configuring the firewall to use one of the supported URL Filtering vendors, see Enable a URL Filtering Vendor.

#### Interaction Between App-ID and URL Categories

The Palo Alto Networks URL filtering feature in combination with Application Identification (App-ID) provides unprecedented protection against a full spectrum of legal, regulatory, productivity, and resource utilization risks. While App-ID gives you control over what applications users can access, URL filtering provides control over related web activity. When combined with User-ID, you can also apply these controls based on users and groups.

With today's application landscape and the way many applications use HTTP and HTTPS, you will need to determine when to use App-ID and when to use URL filtering in order to define comprehensive web access policies. In most cases, if an App-ID signature exists, you will want to use App-ID to control the content at the application level. For example, although you can control access to Facebook and/or LinkedIn using URL filtering, this would not block the use of all related applications, such as email, chat, as well as any new application that is introduced after you implement your policy.

In some cases, you will want to use both URL filtering and App-ID, but to ensure that conflicts do not occur in your policies, it is important to understand how these features work together. Palo Alto Networks generates signatures for many applications and those signatures can be very granular in regard to various features within the web-based applications—whereas URL filtering would only apply actions based on a specific website or URL category. For example, you may want to block social networking sites in general, but want to allow a few sites in that category to be accessible to specific departments and then control what features of the website are available to the allowed users. For more information, see URL Filtering Use Case Examples.

## **URL Filtering Concepts**

- ▲ URL Categories
- ▲ URL Filtering Profile
- ▲ URL Filtering Profile Actions
- ▲ Block and Allow Lists
- ▲ Safe Search Enforcement
- ▲ Container Pages
- ▲ HTTP Header Logging
- ▲ URL Filtering Response Pages
- ▲ URL Category as Policy Match Criteria

#### **URL** Categories

Each website defined in the URL filtering database is assigned one of approximately 60 different URL categories. There are two ways to make use of URL categorization on the firewall:

- Block or allow traffic based on URL category—You can create a URL Filtering Profile that specifies an action for each URL category and attach the profile to a policy. Traffic that matches the policy would then be subject to the URL filtering settings in the profile. For example, to block all gaming websites you would set the block action for the URL category *games* in the URL profile and attach it to the security policy rule(s) that allow web access. See Configure URL Filtering for more information.
- Match traffic based on URL category for policy enforcement—If you want a specific policy rule to apply only to web traffic to sites in a specific category, you would add the category as match criteria when you create the policy rule. For example, you could use the URL category *streaming-media* in a QoS policy to apply bandwidth controls to all websites that are categorized as streaming media. See URL Category as Policy Match Criteria for more information.

By grouping websites into categories, it makes it easy to define actions based on certain types of websites. In addition to the standard URL categories, there are three additional categories:

Categories	Description
Not-resolved	Indicates that the website was not found in the local URL filtering database and the firewall was unable to connect to the cloud database to check the category. When a URL category lookup is performed, the firewall first checks the dataplane cache for the URL; if no match is found, it will then check the management plane cache, and if no match is found there, it queries the URL database in the cloud.
	When deciding on what action to take for traffic that is categorized as <i>not-resolved</i> , be aware that setting the action to block may be very disruptive to users.
	For more information on troubleshooting lookup issues, see Troubleshoot URL Filtering.
Private-ip-addresses	Indicates that the website is a single domain (no sub-domains), the IP address is in the private IP range, or the URL root domain is unknown to the cloud.
Unknown	The website has not yet been categorized, so it does not exist in the URL filtering database on the firewall or in the URL cloud database.
	When deciding on what action to take for traffic categorized as <i>unknown</i> , be aware that setting the action to block may be very disruptive to users because there could be a lot of valid sites that are not in the URL database yet. If you do want a very strict policy, you could block this category, so websites that do not exist in the URL database cannot be accessed.
	See Configure URL Filtering.

### **URL Filtering Profile**

A URL filtering profile is a collection of URL filtering controls that are applied to individual security policy rules to enforce your web access policy. The firewall comes with a default profile that is configured to block threat-prone categories, such as malware, phishing, and adult. You can use the default profile in a security policy, clone it to be used as a starting point for new URL filtering profiles, or add a new URL profile that will have all categories set to allow for visibility into the traffic on your network. You can then customize the newly added URL profiles and add lists of specific websites that should always be blocked or allowed, which provides more granular control over URL categories. For example, you may want to block social-networking sites, but allow some websites that are part of the social-networking category.

The following topics describe the components of the URL Filtering profile:

- ▲ URL Filtering Profile Actions
- ▲ Block and Allow Lists
- ▲ Safe Search Enforcement
- ▲ Container Pages
- ▲ HTTP Header Logging

### **URL Filtering Profile Actions**

The URL Filtering profile specifies an action for each known URL category. By default, when you create a new URL Filtering profile, the action is set to **allow** for all categories. This means that the users will be able to browse to all sites freely and will not be logged.



The default URL Filtering profile is set to allow access to all URL categories except for the following threat-prone categories, which are blocked: abused-drugs, adult, gambling, hacking, malware, phishing, questionable, and weapons. As a best practice, when you need a custom URL Filtering profile, clone the default profile rather than creating a new one to preserve these settings.

Action	Description
alert	The website is allowed and a log entry is generated in the URL filtering log.
allow	The website is allowed and no log entry is generated.
block	The website is blocked and the user will see a response page and will not be able to continue to the website. A log entry is generated in the URL filtering log.
continue	The user will be prompted with a response page indicating that the site has been blocked due to company policy, but the user is prompted with the option to continue to the website. The <b>continue</b> action is typically used for categories that are considered benign and is used to improve the user experience by giving them the option to continue if they feel the site is incorrectly categorized. The response page message can be customized to contain details specific to your company. A log entry is generated in the URL filtering log. The Continue page will not be displayed properly on client machines that are
	configured to use a proxy server.
override	The user will see a response page indicating that a password is required to allow access to websites in the given category. With this option, the security admin or helpdesk person would provide a password that will grant temporary access to all websites in the given category. A log entry is generated in the URL filtering log. See Configure URL Admin Override.
	The Override page will not be displayed properly on client machines that are configured to use a proxy server.
none	The <b>none</b> action only applies to custom URL categories. Select <b>none</b> to ensure that if multiple URL profiles exist, the custom category will not have any impact on other profiles. For example, if you have two URL profiles and the custom URL category is set to <b>block</b> in one of the profiles, the other profile should have the action set to <b>none</b> if you do not want it to apply. Also, in order to delete a custom URL category, it must be set to <b>none</b> in any profile where
	Also, in order to delete a custom URL category, it must be set to <b>none</b> in any profile where it is used.

#### **Block and Allow Lists**

Block and allow lists allow you to define specific URLs or IP addresses in the URL filtering profile that are always allowed or always blocked, regardless of the action defined for the URL category. When entering URLs in the *Block List* or *Allow List*, enter each URL or IP address in a new row separated by a new line. When using wildcards in the URLs, follow these rules:

- Do not include HTTP and HTTPS when defining URLs. For example, enter www.paloaltonetworks.com or paloaltonetworks.com instead of https://www.paloaltonetworks.com.
- Entries in the block list must be an exact match and are case-insensitive.

For example: If you want to prevent a user from accessing any website within the domain paloaltonetworks.com, you would also enter \*.paloaltonetworks.com, so whatever domain prefix (http://, www, or a sub-domain prefix such as mail.paloaltonetworks.com) is added to the address, the specified action will be taken. The same applies to the sub-domain suffix; if you want to block paloaltonetworks.com/en/US, you would need to add paloaltonetworks.com/\* as well.

Further, if you want to specify that the match is for paloaltonetworks.com and not paloaltonetworks.com.au, you must add a / after .com to specify the scope for the match to just be .com and not for the domain suffix .com.au. In this case, you need to add the entry as \*.paloaltonetworks.com/

Block and allow lists support wildcard patterns. Use the following characters as separators:

/
?
&
=
;
+
Every substring that is separated by the characters listed above is considered a token. A token can be any number of ASCII characters that does not contain any separator character or \*. For example, the following patterns are valid:

\*.yahoo.com (tokens are: "\*", "yahoo" and "com")

www.\*.com (tokens are: "www", "\*" and "com")

www.yahoo.com/search=\* (tokens are: "www", "yahoo", "com", "search", "\*")

The following patterns are invalid because the character "\*" is not the only character in the token.

ww\*.yahoo.com

www.y\*.com

#### Safe Search Enforcement

Many search engines have a safe search setting that filters out adult images and videos in search query return traffic. On the firewall, you can Enable Safe Search Enforcement so that the firewall will block search results if the end user is not using the strictest safe search settings in the search query. The firewall can enforce safe search for the following search providers: Google, Yahoo, Bing, Yandex, and YouTube. This is a best-effort setting and is not guaranteed by the search providers to work with every website.

To use this feature you must enable the **Safe Search Enforcement** option in a URL filtering profile and attach it to a security policy. The firewall will then block any matching search query return traffic that is not using the strictest safe search settings. There are two methods for blocking the search results:

- Block Search Results that are not Using Strict Safe Search Settings—When an end user attempts to perform a search without first enabling the strictest safe search settings, the firewall blocks the search query results and displays the URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page. By default, this page will provide a URL to the search provider settings for configuring safe search.
- Enable Transparent Safe Search Enforcement—When an end user attempts to perform a search without first enabling the strict safe search settings, the firewall blocks the search results with an HTTP 503 status code and redirects the search query to a URL that includes the safe search parameters. You enable this functionality by importing a new URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page containing the Javascript for rewriting the search URL to include the strict safe search parameters. In this configuration, users will not see the block page, but will instead be automatically redirected to a search query that enforces the strictest safe search options. This safe search enforcement method requires Content Release version 475 or later and is only supported for Google, Yahoo, and Bing searches.

Also, because most search providers now use SSL to return search results, you must also configure a Decryption policy for the search traffic to enable the firewall to inspect the search traffic and enforce safe search.



Safe search enforcement enhancements and support for new search providers is periodically added in content releases. This information is detailed in the Application and Threat Content Release Notes. How sites are judged to be safe or unsafe is performed by each search provider, not by Palo Alto Networks.

Safe search settings differ by search provider as detailed in Table: Search Provider Safe Search Settings.

Table:	Search	Provider	Safe	Search	Settings	

Search Provider	Safe Search Setting Description
Google/YouTube	Offers safe search on individual computers or network-wide through Google's safe search virtual IP address:
	Safe Search Enforcement for Google Searches on Individual Computers
	In the Google Search Settings, the <b>Filter explicit results</b> setting enables safe search functionality. When enabled, the setting is stored in a browser cookie as FF= and passed to the server each time the user performs a Google search.
	Appending safe=active to a Google search query URL also enables the strictest safe search settings.
	Safe Search Enforcement for Google and YouTube Searches using a Virtual IP Address
	Alternatively, Google provides servers that Lock SafeSearch (forcesafesearch.google.com) settings in every Google and YouTube search. By adding a DNS entry for www.google.com and www.youtube.com (and other relevant Google and YouTube country subdomains) that includes a CNAME record pointing to forcesafesearch.google.com to your DNS server configuration, you can ensure that all users on your network are using strict safe search settings every time they perform a Google or YouTube search. Keep in mind, however, that this solution is not compatible with Safe Search Enforcement on the firewall. Therefore, if you are using this option to force safe search on Google, the best practice is to block access to other search engines on the firewall by creating custom URL categories and adding them to the block list in the URL filtering profile.
	If you plan to use the Google Lock SafeSearch solution, consider configuring DNS Proxy (Network > DNS Proxy) and setting the inheritance source as the Layer 3 interface on which the firewall receives DNS settings from service provider via DHCP. You would configure the DNS proxy with Static Entries for www.google.com and www.youtube.com, using the local IP address for the forcesafesearch.google.com server.
Yahoo	Offers safe search on individual computers only. The Yahoo Search Preferences include three SafeSearch settings: <b>Strict</b> , <b>Moderate</b> , or <b>Off</b> . When enabled, the setting is stored in a browser cookie as vm= and passed to the server each time the user performs a Yahoo search.
	Appending vm=r to a Yahoo search query URL also enables the strictest safe search settings.
	When performing a search on Yahoo Japan (yahoo.co.jp) while logged into a Yahoo account, end users must also enable the <b>SafeSearch Lock</b> option.
Bing	Offers safe search on individual computers or through their Bing in the Classroom program. The Bing Settings include three SafeSearch settings: <b>Strict</b> , <b>Moderate</b> , or <b>Off</b> . When enabled, the setting is stored in a browser cookie as adlt= and passed to the server each time the user performs a Bing search.
	Appending adlt=strict to a Bing search query URL also enables the strictest safe search settings.
	The Bing SSL search engine does not enforce the safe search URL parameters and you should therefore should consider blocking Bing over SSL for full safe search enforcement.

### **Container Pages**

A container page is the main page that a user accesses when visiting a website, but additional websites may be loaded within the main page. If the **Log Container page only** option is enabled in the URL filtering profile, only the main container page will be logged, not subsequent pages that may be loaded within the container page. Because URL filtering can potentially generate a lot of log entries, you may want to turn on this option, so log entries will only contain those URIs where the requested page file name matches the specific mime-types. The default set includes the following mime-types:

- application/pdf
- application/soap+xml
- application/xhtml+xml
- text/html
- text/plain
- text/xml



If you have enabled the **Log container page only** option, there may not always be a correlated URL log entry for threats detected by Antivirus or Vulnerability Protection.

### HTTP Header Logging

URL filtering provides visibility and control over web traffic on your network. For improved visibility into web content, you can configure the URL Filtering profile to log HTTP header attributes included in a web request. When a client requests a web page, the HTTP header includes the user agent, referer, and x-forwarded-for fields as attribute-value pairs and forwards them to the web server. When enabled for logging HTTP headers, the firewall logs the following attribute-value pairs in the URL Filtering logs:

Attribute	Description
User-Agent	The web browser that the user used to access the URL, for example, Internet Explorer. This information is sent in the HTTP request to the server.
Referer	The URL of the web page that linked the user to another web page; it is the source that redirected (referred) the user to the web page that is being requested.
X-Forwarded-For	The header field option that preserves the IP address of the user who requested the web page. It allows you to identify the IP address of the user particularly if you have a proxy server on your network, where all requests might seem to originate from the proxy server's IP address.

#### **URL Filtering Response Pages**

The firewall provides three predefined response pages that display by default when a user attempts to browse to a site in a category that is configured with one of the block actions in the URL Filtering Profile (block, continue, or override) or when Safe Search Enforcement is enabled:

• URL Filtering and Category Match Block Page—Access blocked by a URL filtering profile or because the URL category is blocked by a security policy.

Web Page Blocked
Access to the web page you were trying to visit has been blocked in accordance with company policy. Please contact your system administrator if you believe this is in error.
User:
URL:
Category:

• URL Filtering Continue and Override Page—Page with initial block policy that allows users to bypass the block. With the override page, after clicking Continue, the user must supply a password to override the policy that blocks the URL.

cess to the web page you were trying to visit has been blocked in accordance	
th company policy. Please contact your system administrator if you believe this in error.	
ser: 192.168.2.10	
RL: http://homegrown.com/	
ategory: adult	

• URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page—Access blocked by a security policy with a URL filtering profile that has the Safe Search Enforcement option enabled. The user will see this page if a search is performed using Google, Bing, Yahoo, or Yandex and their browser or search engine account setting for Safe Search is not set to strict.



You can either use the predefined pages, or you can Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages to communicate your specific acceptable use policies and/or corporate branding. In addition, you can use the URL Filtering Response Page Variables for substitution at the time of the block event or add one of the supported Response Page References to external images, sounds, or style sheets.

Variable	Usage
<user></user>	The firewall replaces the variable with the username (if available via User-ID) or IP address of the user when displaying the response page.
<url></url>	The firewall replaces the variable with the requested URL when displaying the response page.
<category></category>	The firewall replaces the variable with the URL filtering category of the blocked request.
<pan_form></pan_form>	HTML code for displaying the continue button on the URL Filtering Continue and Override page.

#### **URL Filtering Response Page Variables**

You can also add code that triggers the firewall to display different messages using depending on what URL category the user is attempting to access. For example, the following code snippet from a response page specifies to display Message 1 if the URL category is games, Message 2 if the category as travel, or Message 3 if the category is kids:

```
var cat = "<category/>";
switch(cat)
{
    case 'games':
        document.getElementById("warningText").innerHTML = "Message 1";
        break;
    case 'travel':
        document.getElementById("warningText").innerHTML = "Message 2";
        break;
    case 'kids':
        document.getElementById("warningText").innerHTML = "Message 3";
        break;
}
```

Only a single HTML page can be loaded into each virtual system for each type of block page. However, other resources such as images, sounds, and cascading style sheets (CSS files) can be loaded from other servers at time the response page is displayed in the browser. All references must include a fully qualified URL.

Reference Type	Example HTML Code					
Image	<img src="http://virginiadot.org/images/Stop-Sign-gif.gif"/>					
Sound	<pre><embed autostart="true" hidden="true" src="http://simplythebest.net/sounds/WAV/WAV_files/ movie_WAV_files/ do_not_go.wav" volume="100"/></pre>					
Style Sheet	<li>k href="http://example.com/style.css" rel="stylesheet" type="text/css" /&gt;</li>					
Hyperlink	<a href="http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Acceptable_use_policy">View Corporate Policy</a>					

#### **Response Page References**

### URL Category as Policy Match Criteria

URL categories can be used as a match criteria in a policy to provide more granularity in the policy. For example, you may have a decryption policy defined, but you would like specific websites to bypass decryption. To do this, you would configure a decryption policy with the *no-decrypt* action and a URL category would be defined as match criteria for the policy rule, so the policy would only match traffic flows to websites that are part of the specified category.

The following table describes the policy types that can utilize URL categories:

Policy Type	Description					
Captive Portal         To ensure that users authenticate before being allowed access to a specific category, attach a URL category as a match criterion for the captive portal policy.						
Decryption	Decryption policies can use URL categories as match criteria to determine if specified websites should be decrypted or not. For example, if you have a decryption policy with the action decrypt for all traffic between two zones, there may be specific website categories, such as <i>financial-services</i> and/or <i>health-and-medicine</i> , that should not be decrypted. In this case, you would create a new decryption policy with the action of <i>no-decrypt</i> that precedes the decrypt policy and then defines a list of URL categories as match criteria for the policy. By doing this, each URL category that is part of the no-decrypt policy will not be decrypted. You could also configure a custom URL category to define your own list of URLs that can then be used in the no-decrypt policy.					
QoS	A QoS policy can use URL categories to determine throughput levels for specific website categories. For example, you may want to allow the streaming-media category, but limit throughput by adding the URL category as match criteria to the QoS policy.					
Security	In security policies you can use URL categories both as a match criteria in the <b>Service/URL Category</b> tab, and in URL filtering profiles that are attached in the <b>Actions</b> tab.					
	<ul> <li>If for example, the IT-security group in your company needs access to the hacking category, while all other users are denied access to the category, you must create the following rules:</li> <li>A security rule that allows the IT-Security group to access content categorized as hacking. The security rule references the <i>hacking</i> category in the Services/URL Category tab and IT-Security group in the Users tab.</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>Another security rule that allows general web access for all users. To this rule you attach a URL filtering profile that blocks the hacking category.</li> </ul>					
	The policy that allows access to hacking must be listed before the policy that blocks hacking. This is because security policy rules are evaluated top down, so when a user who is part of the security group attempts to access a hacking site, the policy rule that allows access is evaluated first and will allow the user access to the hacking sites. Users from all other groups are evaluated against the general web access rule which blocks access to the hacking sites.					

### PAN-DB Categorization Workflow

This section describes the PAN-DB components and describes the URL categorization resolution workflow that occurs as users access various URLs through the firewall.

- ▲ PAN-DB URL Categorization Components
- ▲ PAN-DB URL Categorization Workflow

#### PAN-DB URL Categorization Components

The following table describes the PAN-DB components in detail. The BrightCloud system works similarly, but does not use an initial seed database.

Component	Description
URL Filtering Seed Database	The initial seed database downloaded to the firewall is a small subset of the database that is maintained on the Palo Alto Networks URL cloud servers. The reason this is done is because the full database contains millions of URLs and many of these URLs may never be accessed by your users. When downloading the initial seed database, a region is selected (North America, Europe, APAC, Japan) and each region contains a subset of URLs most accessed for the given region. By doing this, the firewall will store a much smaller URL database, which greatly improves lookup performance. If a user accesses a website that is not in the local URL database, the full cloud database is queried and the firewall will then add the new URL to the local database. In other words, the local database on the firewall will be continually populated/customized based on user activity. Note that the local customized URL database will be cleared if PAN-DB seed database is re-downloaded or if you change the URL database vendor from PAN-DB to BrightCloud.
Cloud Service	The PAN-DB cloud service is implemented using Amazon Web Services (AWS). AWS provides a distributed high-performance and stable environment for seed database downloads and URL lookups for Palo Alto Networks firewalls and communication is performed over SSL. The AWS cloud systems hold the entire PAN-DB and is updated as new URLs are identified. The PAN-DB cloud service supports an automated mechanism to update the firewall's local URL database if the version does not match. Each time the firewall queries the cloud servers for URL lookups, it will also check for critical updates. If there have been no queries to the cloud servers for more than 30 minutes, the firewall will check for updates on the cloud systems. The cloud system also provides a mechanism to submit URL category change requests. This is performed through the test-a-site service and is available directly from the device (URL filtering profile setup) and from the Palo Alto Networks Test A Site website. You can also submit a URL categorization change request directly from the URL filtering log on the firewall in the log details section.

Component	Description
Management Plane (MP) URL Cache	When PAN-DB is activated on the firewall, a seed database is downloaded from one of the PAN-DB cloud servers to initially populate the local cache, which is done to improve lookup performance. Each regional seed database contains the top URLs for the region and the size of the seed database (number of URL entries) also depends on the device platform. The URL MP cache is automatically written to the firewall's local drive every eight hours, before the firewall is rebooted, or when the cloud upgrades the URL database version on the firewall. After rebooting the firewall, the file that was saved to the local drive will be loaded to the MP cache. A least recently used (LRU) mechanism is also implemented in the URL MP cache in case the cache is full. If the cache becomes full, the URLs that have been accessed the least will be replaced by the newer URLs.
Dataplane (DP) URL Cache	This is a subset of the MP cache and is a customized, dynamic URL database that is stored in the dataplane (DP) and is used to improve URL lookup performance. The URL DP cache is cleared at each firewall reboot. The number of URLs that are stored in the URL DP cache varies by hardware platform and the current URLs stored in the TRIE (data structure). A least recently used (LRU) mechanism is implemented in the DP cache in case the cache is full. If the cache becomes full, the URLs that have been accessed the least will be replaced by the newer URLs. Entries in the URL DP cache expire after a specified period of time and the expiration period cannot be changed by the administrator.

#### PAN-DB URL Categorization Workflow

When a user attempts to access a URL and the URL category needs to be determined, the firewall will compare the URL with the following components (in order) until a match has been found:



URL Categorization Resolution Process Flow

If a URL query matches an expired entry in the URL DP cache, the cache responds with the expired category, but also sends a URL categorization query to the management plane. This is done to avoid unnecessary delays in the DP, assuming that the frequency of changing categories is low. Similarly, in the URL MP cache, if a URL query from the DP matches an expired entry in the MP, the MP responds to the DP with the expired category and will also send a URL categorization request to the cloud service. Upon getting the response from the cloud, the firewall will resend the updated response to the DP.

As new URLs and categories are defined or if critical updates are needed, the cloud database will be updated. Each time the firewall queries the cloud for a URL lookup or if no cloud lookups have occurred for 30 minute, the database versions on the firewall be compared and if they do not match, an incremental update will be performed.

### Enable a URL Filtering Vendor

To enable URL filtering on a firewall, you must purchase and activate a URL Filtering license for one of the supported URL Filtering Vendors and then install the database. Use one of the following procedures to enable a URL filtering license on the firewall set up the database. Only one URL filtering license can be active on a firewall.



Starting with PAN-OS 6.0, firewalls managed by Panorama do not need to be running the same URL filtering vendor that is configured on Panorama. For firewalls running PAN-OS 6.0 or later, when a mismatch is detected between the vendor enabled on the firewalls and what is enabled on Panorama, the firewalls can automatically migrate URL categories and/or URL profiles to (one or more) categories that align with that of the vendor enabled on it. For guidance on how to configure URL filtering Panorama if you are managing firewalls running different PAN-OS versions, refer to the Panorama Administrator's Guide.

If you have valid licenses for both PAN-DB and BrightCloud, activating the PAN-DB license automatically deactivates the BrightCloud license (and vice versa).

- ▲ Enable PAN-DB URL Filtering
- ▲ Enable BrightCloud URL Filtering

### Enable PAN-DB URL Filtering

#### Enable PAN-DB URL Filtering

Step 1	Obtain and install a PAN-DB URL filtering license and confirm that it is installed.	1.	<ul> <li>Select Device &gt; Licenses and, in the License Management section, select the license installation method:</li> <li>Activate feature using authorization code</li> </ul>				
	URL filtering continues to work		Retrieve license keys from license server				
	based on the URL category information that exists in the dataplane and management plane caches. However, URL cloud lookups and other cloud-based updates will not function until you install a valid license.	2.	• Manually upload license key After installing the license, confirm that the PAN-DB URL Filtering section, <b>Date Expires</b> field, displays a valid date.				
Step 2	Download the initial seed database and activate PAN-DB URL filtering.	1.	In the PAN-DB URL Filtering section, <b>Download Status</b> field, click <b>Download Now</b> .				
	The firewall must have Internet access: you cannot manually		Choose a region (North America, Europe, APAC, Japan) and then click <b>OK</b> to start the download.				
	upload the PAN-DB.	3.	After the download completes, click Activate.				
			If PAN-DB is already the active URL filtering vendor and you click <b>Re-Download</b> , this will reactivate PAN-DB by clearing the dataplane and management plane caches and replacing them with the contents of the new seed database. You should avoid doing this unless it is necessary, as you will lose your cache, which is customized based on the web traffic that has previously passed through the firewall based on user activity.				
Step 3	Schedule the firewall to download	1.	Select Device > Dynamic Updates.				
	dynamic updates for Applications and Threats.	2.	In the Schedule field in the Applications and Threats section, click the <b>None</b> link to schedule periodic updates.				
	A Threat Prevention license is required to receive content updates, which covers Antivirus and Applications and Threats.		You can only schedule dynamic updates if the firewall has direct Internet access.If updates are already scheduled in a section, the link text displays the schedule settings.				
			The Applications and Threats updates might contain updates for URL filtering related to the <b>Safe Search Enforcement</b> option in the URL filtering profile ( <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles</b> <b>&gt; URL Filtering</b> ). For example, if Palo Alto Networks adds support for a new search provider vendor or if the method used to detect the Safe Search setting for an existing vendor changes, the Application and Threats updates will include that update.				

### Enable BrightCloud URL Filtering

Enable	BrightCloud URL Filtering	
Step 1	Obtain and install a BrightCloud URL         filtering license and confirm that it is         installed.         Image: Security Profile (Objects > Security Profiles > URL         Filtering) to either allow all         categories or block all categories if         the license expires.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Licenses and, in the License Management section, select the license installation method:         <ul> <li>Activate feature using authorization code</li> <li>Retrieve license keys from license server</li> <li>Manually upload license key</li> </ul> </li> <li>After installing the license, confirm that the BrightCloud URL Filtering section, Date Expires field, displays a valid date.</li> </ol>
Step 2	Install the BrightCloud database.	Firewall with Direct Internet Access
	The way you do this depends on whether or not the firewall has direct Internet access.	In the <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> page, BrightCloud URL Filtering section, Active field, click the <b>Activate</b> link to install the BrightCloud database. This operation automatically initiates a system reset.
		Firewall without Direct Internet Access
		access. The firewall must have access to the host:
		a. On a host with Internet access, go to the Palo Alto Support website (https://support.paloaltonetworks.com) and log in.
		b. In the Resources section, click <b>Dynamic Updates</b> .
		c. In the BrightCloud Database section, click <b>Download</b> and save the file to the host.
		2. Upload the database to the firewall:
		<ul> <li>a. Log in to the firewall, select Device &gt; Dynamic Updates and click Upload.</li> </ul>
		b. For the Type, select URL Filtering.
		<ul><li>c. Enter the path to the File on the host or click Browse to find it, then click OK. When the Status is <i>Completed</i>, click Close.</li></ul>
		3. Install the database:
		a. In the Device > Dynamic Updates page, click Install From File.
		b. For the <b>Type</b> , select <b>URL Filtering</b> . The firewall automatically selects the file you just uploaded.
		c. Click <b>OK</b> and, when the Result is <i>Succeeded</i> , click <b>Close</b> .
Step 3	Enable cloud lookups for dynamically	1. Access the firewall CLI.
	categorizing a URL if the category is not available on the local BrightCloud database	2. Enter the following commands to enable dynamic URL filtering:
	ualavase.	configure set deviceconfig setting url dynamic-url yes commit

Enable	Enable BrightCloud URL Filtering (Continued)							
Step 4	Schedule the firewall to download dynamic updates for Applications and Threats signatures and URL filtering.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Dynamic Updates</b> . In the Applications and Threats section, Schedule field, click the <b>None</b> link to schedule periodic updates.					
	You can only schedule dynamic updates if the firewall has direct Internet access.	3.	In the URL Filtering section, Schedule field, click the <b>None</b> link to schedule periodic updates.					
	The Applications and Threats updates might contain updates for URL filtering related to the <b>Safe Search Enforcement</b> option in the URL filtering profile. For example, if Palo Alto Networks adds support for a new search provider vendor or if the method used to detect the Safe Search setting for an existing vendor changes, the Application and Threats updates will include that update.		If updates are already scheduled in a section, the link text displays the schedule settings.					
	BrightCloud updates include a database of approximately 20 million websites that are stored on the firewall drive. You must schedule the URL filtering updates to receive database updates.							
	A Threat Prevention license is required to receive content updates, which covers Antivirus and Applications and Threats.							

## **Determine URL Filtering Policy Requirements**

The recommended practice for deploying URL filtering in your organization is to first start with a passive URL filtering profile that will alert on most categories. After setting the alert action, you can then monitor user web activity for a few days to determine patterns in web traffic. After doing so, you can then make decisions on the websites and website categories that should be controlled.

In the procedure that follows, threat-prone sites will be set to block and the other categories will be set to alert, which will cause all websites traffic to be logged. This may potentially create a large amount of log files, so it is best to do this for initial monitoring purposes to determine the types of websites your users are accessing. After determining the categories that your company approves of, those categories should then be set to allow, which will not generate logs. You can also reduce URL filtering logs by enabling the Log container page only option in the URL Filtering profile, so only the main page that matches the category will be logged, not subsequent pages/categories that may be loaded within the container page.

Config	Configure and Apply a Passive URL Filtering Profile							
Step 1	<ol> <li>Create a new URL Filtering profile.</li> <li>Select Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; URL Filte</li> <li>Select the default profile and then click Clone. will be named default-1.</li> <li>Select the default-1 profile and rename it. For e it to URL-Monitoring.</li> </ol>							
Step 2	Configure the action for all categories to <b>alert</b> , except for threat-prone categories, which should remain blocked. To select all items in the category list from a Windows system, click the first category, then hold down the shift key and click the last category—this will select all categories. Hold the control key (ctrl) down and click items that should be deselected. On a Mac, do the same using the shift and command keys. You could also just set all categories to alert and manually change the recommended categories back to block.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	In the section that lists all URL categories, select all categories. To the right of the <i>Action</i> column heading, mouse over and select the down arrow and then select <b>Set Selected Actions</b> and choose <b>alert</b> .					
Step 3	Apply the URL Filtering profile to the security policy rule(s) that allows web traffic for users.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and select the appropriate security policy to modify it. Select the <b>Actions</b> tab and in the <b>Profile Setting</b> section, click the drop-down for <b>URL Filtering</b> and select the new profile. Click <b>OK</b> to save.					
Step 4	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.					

#### Configure and Apply a Passive URL Filtering Profile (Continued)

Step 5	View the URL filtering logs to determine all of the website categories that your users are accessing. In this example, some categories are set to block, so those categories will also appear in the logs.	Select <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; URL Filtering</b> . A log entry will be created for any website that exists in the URL filtering database that is in a category that is set to any action other than <b>allow</b> .			
	For information on viewing the logs and generating reports, see Monitor Web Activity.				

### Monitor Web Activity

URL filtering logs and reports show all user web activity for URL categories that are set to **alert**, **block**, **continue**, or **override**. By monitoring the logs, you can gain a better understanding of the web activity of your user base to determine a web access policy.

The following topics describe how to monitor web activity:

- ▲ Interpret the URL Filtering Logs
- ▲ Use the ACC to Monitor Web Activity
- ▲ View URL Filtering Reports
- ▲ Configure Custom URL Filtering Reports

#### Interpret the URL Filtering Logs

The following bullet points show examples of the URL filtering logs (Monitor > Logs > URL filtering).

• Alert log—In this log, the category is shopping and the action is alert.

	Receive Time	Category	URL	Source	Destination	Destin Country	Application	Action	Decrypted	Source User
P	11/25 16:05:51	shopping	www.amazon.com/	192, 168, 2, 10	72.21.215.232	US	web-browsing	alert	no	bsimpson

• **Block log**—In this log, the category alcohol-and-tobacco was set to block, so the action is block-url and the user will see a response page indicating that the website was blocked.



• Alert log on encrypted website—In this example, the category is social-networking and the application is facebook-base, which is required to access the Facebook website and other Facebook applications. Because facebook.com is always encrypted using SSL, the traffic was decrypted by the firewall, which allows the website to be recognized and controlled if needed.

-	~	Receive Time	Category	URL	Source	Destination	Destin Country	Application	Action	Decrypted	Source User
Ę	P	11/25 16:13:44	social-networking	www.facebook.com/	192, 168, 2, 10	69,171.237.20	US 🔇	facebook-base	alert	yes	bsimpson

You can also add several other columns to your URL Filtering log view, such as: to and from zone, content type, and whether or not a packet capture was performed. To modify what columns to display, click the down arrow in any column and select the attribute to display.



To view the complete log details and/or request a category change for the given URL that was accessed, click the log details icon in the first column of the log.

Dashboard	-	_			_									
Destroyerd	General				Source						Destina	tion		
	Sessi	on ID	35278				User					User		
Log Details		Action 4	alert			Ad	dress	192.168	.2.10			Address	69.171	237.20
1	Applic	ation f	facebook-base			Co	untry	192.168	.0.0-192.16	8.255.255		Country	US	
Receive Time		Rule I	Rule 1				Port	58779				Port	443	
Ö	Virtual Sy	sten 1	vsysi				Zone	13-vlan-t	rust			Zone	13-untru	st
010 1012m	Devi	ce SN				Inte	rface	vlan.1				Interface	etherne	t1/1
10 11/25 16:13:44	IP Pro	tocol (	top			N	AT IP	10.43.1	4.64			NAT IP	69.171	237.20
11/25 16:13:44	Log /	Action				NA	Port	32134				NAT Port	443	
11/25 16:13:40	Cate	egory e	social-networking		-									
IB 11/25 16:11:55	Generated	Time			URL Deta	ds –					Hags			
the states sectores	Receive	Time 3	2013/11/25 16:13:44			Se	rerity	informat	ional			Captive Portal		
11/25 16:11:56						Repeat (	lount	1				Proxy Transaction		
11/25 16:11:56						_	LIRI	num fa	rebook.com	1		Decrypted	<b>~</b>	
11/25 16:11:42						Reque	st Cate	gorizatio	n Change			Packet Capture		
D. U.S. M. U.M.						-	_			/		Client to Server	<b>V</b>	
(D 11/25 10:11:35												Server to Client		
11/25 16:09:55	Contract to and the second													
Ph 11/25 16:09:55	Related Logs (+/- 24	nours	9											
	Receive Time	Log	Type	Applicatio	n	Action	Rul	é	Bytes	Packets	Severity	Category		URL / FileName
11/25 16:09:31	11/25 16:13:42	traffic	: start	55		allow	Ruk	1	493	4				

#### Use the ACC to Monitor Web Activity

For a quick view of the most common categories being accessed in your environment, select the **ACC** tab and scroll down to the **URL Filtering** section. Along the top of this window, you can also set the time range, sort by option, and define how many results will appear. Here you will see the most popular categories that are accessed by your users, sorted by the most popular at the top of the list. In this example, computer-and-internet-info is the most accessed category, followed by private-ip-addresses (internal servers), and search-engines. In the drop-down in the upper right of the statistics, you can also choose to list by URL Categories, Blocked URL Categories, and Blocked URLs.

	Das	shboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Objects	Network	Device		🐣 Commit
π	me Last 6	8 Hrs		So	rt By Sessions	🕶 Top 25 💌	<b>→</b> +			
		Select a	bove	options t	hen click	submit	/			<sup>2</sup> <sup>3</sup> <sup>4</sup> <sup>5</sup> <b>3.3</b>
	URL Filt	tering							URL Categories	<b>*</b>
		Category						Sessions		Bytes
	<	computer-and-int	ernet-info	>			236		2.4 M	
	2	private-ip-addres	ses				35 🗔		778.4К 🗔	
	3	search-engines					18 🔲		285.7K	
	4	web-based-email					9 🛙		99.9 K	
	5	content-delivery-	networks				1		90.5K	

#### View URL Filtering Reports

To view the default URL filtering reports, select **Monitor > Reports** and under the **URL Filtering Reports** section, choose one of the reports. You can generate reports on URL Categories, URL users, Web Sites accessed, Blocked Categories, and more. The reports are based on a 24-hour period and the day is selected by choosing a day in the calendar section. You can also export the report to PDF, CSV, or XML.

Category     Repeat Count ▼     Custom Reports       Image: Traffic     1     computer-and-internet-info     804       Image: Traffic     1     2       Image: Traffic     2     1       Image: Traffic     1       Image: Tra	ଟ୍ର 🕜 orts oorts	Help + + +	
Category     Repeat Court     Custom Reports       Image: Traffic Traft     1     computer-and-internet-info     9.4     Application Reports       Image: Traffic Trait     2     private-sp-addresses     9.4     Application Reports       Image: URL Filtering     3     search-engines     Report shows computer-     2.3     Traffic Reports       Image: Widther Submissions     4     web-advertesments     and-internet-info is the     119     URL Filtering Report	orts	+ + +	
Image: Traffic Computer-and-internet-info       804       Application Reports         Image: Traffic Computer-and-internet-info       203       Traffic Reports         Image: Traffic Computer-and-internet-info       203       Traffic Reports         Image: Traffic Submissions       3 search-engines       Report Shows computer-       234       Threat Reports         Image: Traffic Submissions       4 web-adversements and-internet-info is the       119       URL Filtering Reports         Image: Traffic Submissions       5       Foromeric       96       URL Filtering Reports	orts	+	
Important       2       private-ip-addresses       253       Traffic Reports         Important       3       search-engines       Report shows computer-       24       Threat Reports         Important       4       web-advertsements       and-internet-info is the       119       URL Filtering Reports         Important       5       chorphic       5       chorphic       0.5       URL Filtering Reports	orts	+	
CRL Filtering         3         search-engines         Report shows computer-         234         Threat Reports           Widdire Submissions         4         web-advertisements         and-internet-info is the         119         URL Filtering Reports	orts	+	
WildFire Submissions 4 web-advertisements and-internet-info is the 119 URL Filtering Rep	orts		
Data Filtering 5 shopping	ons		
most nonular category <sup>20 a</sup>		-	
Be c t t 6 web-based-email 10051 populati Category 84 1 001000 categori	es		
Contraction     Content-delivery-networks     Content-delivery-networks     Content-delivery-networks			
System 8 social-networking 43 1 Web Steel	avior		
P-Packet Canture 9 news 40 Million Rocket Cate	ories		
V A Ao Scope 10 business-and-economy 14 1 1 Bidded Users	, on co		
Summary 11 streaming-media	Behavior		
Change Monitor = 12 alcohol-and-tobacco Select a report 8 I II Blocked Sites	III Blocked Sites		
Threat Monitor 13 internet-communications-and- telephony 6			
Threat Map 14 hacking 2 PDF Summary R	eports	+	
© Treferitor 15 unknown 2 I November 2	2013 🔻	•	
We rank wap 16 weapons Colort a date 2 i 5 M T W		5	
Beneficial and the second seco	21 1	2	
V → PDF Reports 18 not-resolved 1 1 27 28 29 30	51 1	· · ·	
AManage PDF Summary 19 reference-and-research 3 4 5 6	78	9	
Sea         User         Activity Report         20         internet-portals         1         10         11         12         13	14 15	i 16	
🔂 Report Groups	21 22	2 23	
Benal Scheduler	28 20	30	
Export to PDF Export to CSV Export to XML 1 2 3 4	5 6	7	

#### View the User Activity Report

This report provides a quick method of viewing user or group activity and also provides an option to view browse time activity.

Generate a User Activity Report								
Configure a User Activity Report	1. 2.	Select Monitor > PDF Reports > User Activity Report.         Enter a report Name and select the report type. Select User to generate a report for one person, or select Group for a group of users.         You must Enable User-ID in order to be able to select user or group names. If User-ID is not configured, you can select the type User and enter the IP address of the user's computer.						
	3. 4. 5.	Enter the Username/IP address for a user report or enter the group name for a user group report. Select the time period. You can select an existing time period, or select <b>Custom</b> . Select the <b>Include Detailed Browsing</b> check box, so browsing information is included in the report.						
		User Activity Report          Name       My User Activity Report         Type       User         Username / IP Address       192.168.2.10         Time Period       Last Hour         Include Detailed Browsing						
Run the user activity report and then download the report.	1. 2. 3.	Click <b>Run Now</b> . After the report is generated, click the <b>Download User Activity</b> <b>Report</b> link.						
	te a User Activity Report Configure a User Activity Report	te a User Activity Report       1.         Configure a User Activity Report       3.         4.       5.         5.       5.         Run the user activity report and then download the report.       1.         2.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.         3.       3.						
#### Generate a User Activity Report (Continued)

Step 3 View the user activity report by opening the PDF file that was downloaded. The top of the report will contain a table of contents similar to the following:

User Activity Report for 192.168.2.10 Tuesday, December 31, 2013 09:35:47 - 10:35:46

Application Usage	2
Traffic Summary by URL Category	3
Browsing Summary by URL Category	4
Browsing Summary by Website	5
Blocked Browsing Summary by Website	6
Detailed Web Browsing Activity	7

Step 4 Click an item in the table of contents to view details. For example, click *Traffic Summary by URL Category* to view statistics for the selected user or group.

#### Ja paloalto

#### Traffic Summary by URL Category

Category	Count	Bytes
web-advertisements	49	426.8k
business-and-economy	36	693.6k
computer-and-internet-info	35	224.7k
news	24	499.4k
content-delivery-networks	20	6.2M
private-ip-addresses	11	206.2k
search-engines	6	62.2k
web-based-email	2	26.0k
social-networking	1	685

## Configure Custom URL Filtering Reports

To generate a detailed report that can also be scheduled, you can configure a custom report and select from a list of all available URL filtering log fields.

Config	ure a Custom URL Filtering Report		
Step 1	Add a new custom report.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Monitor &gt; Manage Custom Reports</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a report <b>Name</b> , for example, My-URL-Custom-Report. From the <b>Database</b> drop-down, select <b>URL Log</b> .
Step 2	Configure report options.	1. 2.	Select the <b>Time Frame</b> drop-down and select a range. (Optional) To customize how the report is sorted and grouped, select <b>Sort By</b> and chose the number of items to display (top 25 for example) and then select <b>Group By</b> and select an option such as <b>Category</b> , and then select how many groups will be defined.
		3.	<text><list-item><list-item><list-item></list-item></list-item></list-item></text>
Step 3	Run the report to check the results. If the results are satisfactory, set a schedule to run the report automatically.	1.	Click the <b>Run Now</b> icon to immediately generate the report that will appear in a new tab. (Optional) Click the <b>Schedule</b> check box to run the report once per day. This will generate a daily report that details web activity over the last 24 hours. To access the report, select <b>Monitor &gt;</b> <b>Report</b> and then expand <b>Custom Reports</b> on the right column and select the report.
Step 4	Save the configuration.	Clie	ck Commit.

## **Configure URL Filtering**

After you Determine URL Filtering Policy Requirements, you should have a basic understanding of what types of websites and website categories your users are accessing. With this information, you are now ready to create custom URL filtering profiles and attach them to the security policy rule(s) that allow web access.

Config	ure Website Controls	
Step 1	Create a URL Filtering profile or select an existing one. Because the default URL filtering profile blocks risky and threat-prone content, it is a best practice to clone this profile rather than creating a new profile to preserve these default settings.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; URL Filtering. Select the default profile and then click Clone. The new profile will be named default-1.</li> <li>Select the new profile and rename it.</li> </ol>
Step 2	Define how to control access to web content.	<ul> <li>In the Categories tab, for each category that you want visibility into or control over, select a value from the Action column as follows:</li> <li>If you do not care about traffic to a particular category (that is you neither want to block it nor log it), select allow.</li> <li>For visibility into traffic to sites in a category, select alert.</li> <li>To deny access to traffic that matches the category and to enable logging of the blocked traffic, select block.</li> <li>To require users to click Continue to proceed to a questionable site, select continue.</li> <li>To only allow access if users provide a configured password, select override. For more details on this setting, see Configure URL Admin Override.</li> </ul>
Step 3	Define websites that should always be blocked or allowed. For example, to reduce URL filtering logs, you may want add you corporate websites in the allow list, so no logs will be generated for those sites. Or, if there is a website this is being overly used and is not work related in any way, you can add it to the block list. Items in the block list will always be blocked regardless of the action for the associated category, and URLs in the allow list will always be allowed. For more information on the proper format and wildcards usage, see Block and Allow Lists.	<ol> <li>In the URL filtering profile, enter URLs or IP addresses in the Block List and select an action:         <ul> <li>block—Block the URL.</li> <li>continue—Prompt users click Continue to proceed to the web page.</li> <li>override—The user will be a prompted for a password to continue to the website.</li> <li>alert—Allow the user to access the website and add an alert log entry in the URL log.</li> </ul> </li> <li>For the Allow list, enter IP addresses or URLs that should always be allowed. Each row must be separated by a new line.</li> <li>(Optional) Enable Safe Search Enforcement.</li> </ol>

Config	ure Website Controls	
Step 4	Modify the setting to log Container Pages only.	The <b>Log container page only</b> option is enabled by default so that only the main page that matches the category is logged, not subsequent pages/categories that may be loaded within the container page. To enable logging for all pages/categories, clear the <b>Log container page only</b> check box.
Step 5	Enable HTTP Header Logging for one or more of the supported HTTP header fields.	<ul> <li>To log an HTTP header field, select one or more of the following fields to log:</li> <li>User-Agent</li> <li>Referer</li> <li>X-Forwarded-For</li> </ul>
Step 6	Save the URL filtering profile.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 7	<ul> <li>(Optional) Enable response pages on the ingress interface (the interface that first receives traffic for your users).</li> <li>This option is required if you enable the <b>continue</b> or <b>override</b> action for any URL category.</li> <li>You can also Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; Interface Mgmt and either add a new profile or edit an existing profile.</li> <li>Click the Response Pages check box to enable.</li> <li>Click OK to save the profile.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces and then edit the Layer 3 interface or VLAN interface that is your ingress interface.</li> <li>On the Advanced tab, select the Interface Mgmt profile that has the response page option enabled.</li> <li>Click OK to save the interface configuration.</li> </ol>
Step 8	Save the configuration. To test the URL filtering configuration, simply access a website in a category that is set to block or continue to see if the appropriate action is performed.	Click Commit.

## Log Client IP Addresses for Proxied HTTP/HTTPS Requests

If you have a proxy server deployed between the users on your network and the firewall, in HTTP/HTTPS requests the firewall might see the proxy server IP address as the source IP address in the traffic that the proxy forwards rather than the IP address of the client that requested the content. In many cases, the proxy server adds an X-Forwarded-For (XFF) header to traffic packets that includes the actual IPv4 or IPv6 address of the client that requested the content. In such cases, you can configure the firewall to read the XFF header values and determine the IP addresses of the client who requested the content. The firewall matches the XFF IP addresses with usernames that your policy rules reference so that those rules can control access for the associated users and groups. The firewall also uses the XFF-derived usernames to populate the source user fields of logs so you can monitor user access to web services.

You can also configure the firewall to add XFF values to URL Filtering logs. In these logs, an XFF value can be the client IP address, client username (if available), the IP address of the last proxy server traversed in a proxy chain, or any string of up to 128 characters that the XFF header stores.

XFF user identification applies only to HTTP or HTTPS traffic, and only if the proxy server supports the XFF header. If the header has an invalid IP address, the firewall uses that IP address as a username for group mapping references in policies. If the XFF header has multiple IP addresses, the firewall uses the first entry from the left.

- ▲ Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users
- ▲ Add XFF Values to URL Filtering Logs

### Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users

You can configure the firewall to use XFF values in user-based policies and in the source user fields of logs. To use XFF values in policies, you must also Map IP Addresses to Users, Map Users to Groups (if you have group-based policies), and Enable User- and Group-Based Policy.



Logging XFF values doesn't populate the source IP address values of logs. When you view the logs, the source field displays the IP address of the proxy server if one is deployed between the user clients and the firewall. However, you can configure the firewall to Add XFF Values to URL Filtering Logs so that you can see user IP addresses in those logs.

To ensure that attackers can't read and exploit the XFF values in web request packets that exit the firewall to retrieve content from an external server, you can also configure the firewall to strip the XFF values from outgoing packets.

These options are not mutually exclusive: if you configure both, the firewall zeroes out XFF values only after using them in policies and logs.

Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users			
Step 1	Enable the firewall to use XFF values in policies and in the source user fields of logs.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Content-ID</b> and edit the URL Filtering section. Select <b>x-forwarded-for</b> .

Use XF	Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users (Continued)		
Step 2	Remove XFF values from outgoing web requests.	1. 2.	Select <b>Strip x-forwarded-for</b> . Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .
Step 3	Verify the firewall is populating the source user fields of logs.	1.	Select a log type that has a source user field (for example, Monitor > Logs > Traffic).
		2.	Verify that the Source User column displays the usernames of users who access the web.

### Add XFF Values to URL Filtering Logs

You can configure the firewall to add the XFF values from web requests to URL Filtering logs. The XFF values that the logs display can be client IP addresses, usernames if available, or any values of up to 128 characters that the XFF fields store.



This method of logging XFF values doesn't add usernames to the source user fields in URL Filtering logs. To populate the source user fields, see Use XFF Values for Policies and Logging Source Users.

Add XF	F Values to URL Filtering Logs		
Step 1	Configure a URL Filtering profile.	1.	Select Objects > Security Profiles > URL Filtering.
		2.	Select an existing profile or <b>Add</b> a new profile and enter a descriptive <b>Name</b> .
			You can't enable XFF logging in the default URL Filtering profile.
		3.	In the <b>Categories</b> tab, Define how to control access to web content.
		4.	Select the <b>Settings</b> tab and select <b>X-Forwarded-For</b> .
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 2	Attach the URL Filtering profile to a policy rule.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and click the rule.
		2.	Select the <b>Actions</b> tab, set the <b>Profile Type</b> to <b>Profiles</b> , and select the <b>URL Filtering</b> profile you just created.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .
Step 3	Verify the firewall is logging XFF values. 1 2	1.	Select Monitor > Logs > URL Filtering.
		2.	Display the XFF values in one of the following ways:
			<ul> <li>To display the XFF value for a single log—Click the p icon for the log to displays its details. The HTTP Headers section displays the X-Forwarded-For value.</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>To display the XFF values for all logs—Open the drop-down in any column header, select <b>Columns</b>, and select <b>X-Forwarded-For</b>. The page then displays an X-Forwarded-For column.</li> </ul>

## Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages

The firewall provides three predefined URL Filtering Response Pages that display by default when a user attempts to browse to a site in a category that is configured with one of the block actions in the URL Filtering Profile (block, continue, or override) or when Safe Search Enforcement blocks a search attempt. However, you can create your own custom response pages with your corporate branding, acceptable use policies, links to your internal resources as follows:

Custon	nize the URL Filtering Response Pages		
Step 1	Export the default response page(s).	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Device &gt; Response Pages</b> . Select the link for the URL filtering response page you want to modify. Click the response page (predefined or shared) and then click the <b>Export</b> link and save the file to your desktop.
Step 2	Edit the exported page.	1.	<ul> <li>Using the HTML text editor of your choice, edit the page:</li> <li>If you want the response page to display custom information about the specific user, URL, or category that was blocked, add one or more of the supported URL Filtering Response Page Variables.</li> <li>If you want to include custom images (such as your corporate logo), a sound, or style sheet, or link to another URL, for example to a document detailing your acceptable web use policy, include one or more of the supported Response Page</li> </ul>
		2.	References. Save the edited page with a new filename. Make sure that the page retains its UTF-8 encoding. For example, in Notepad you would select <b>UTF-8</b> from the <b>Encoding</b> drop-down in the Save As dialog.
Step 3	Import the customized response page.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; Response Pages</b> . Select the link that corresponds to the URL Filtering response page you edited. Click <b>Import</b> and then enter the path and filename in the <b>Import</b> <b>File</b> field or <b>Browse</b> to locate the file. (Optional) Select the virtual system on which this login page will be used from the <b>Destination</b> drop-down or select <b>shared</b> to make it available to all virtual systems. Click <b>OK</b> to import the file.
Step 4	Save the new response page(s).	Cor	nmit the changes.
Step 5	Verify that the new response page displays.	Fro For resp to b	om a browser, go to the URL that will trigger the response page. example, to see a modified URL Filtering and Category Match ponse page, browse to URL that your URL filtering policy is set plock.

## Configure URL Admin Override

In some cases there may be URL categories that you want to block, but allow certain individuals to browse to on occasion. In this case, you would set the category action to **override** and define a URL admin override password in the firewall Content-ID configuration. When users attempt to browse to the category, they will be required to provide the override password before they are allowed access to the site. Use the following procedure to configure URL admin override:

Config	ure URL Admin Override		
Step 1	Set the URL admin override password.	1.	Select Device > Setup > Content ID.
		2.	In the URL Admin Override section, click Add.
		3.	In the <b>Location</b> field, select the virtual system to which this password applies.
		4.	Enter the <b>Password</b> and <b>Confirm Password</b> .
		5.	Select a <b>Server Certificate</b> for the firewall to present to the user if the site with the override is an HTTPS site.
		6.	Select the <b>Mode</b> for prompting the user for the password:
			• <b>Transparent</b> —The firewall intercepts the browser traffic destined for site in a URL category you have set to override and impersonates the original destination URL, issuing an HTTP 401 to prompt for the password. Note that the client browser will display certificate errors if it does not trust the certificate.
			• <b>Redirect</b> —The firewall intercepts HTTP or HTTPS traffic to a URL category set to override and redirects the request to a Layer 3 interface on the firewall using an HTTP 302 redirect in order to prompt for the override password. If you select this option, you must provide the <b>Address</b> (IP address or DNS hostname) to which to redirect the traffic.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 2	(Optional) Set a custom override period.	1.	Edit the URL Filtering section.
		2.	To change the amount of time users can browse to a site in a category for which they have successfully entered the override password, enter a new value in the <b>URL Admin Override</b> <b>Timeout</b> field. By default, users can access sites within the category for 15 minutes without re-entering the password.
		3.	To change the amount of time users are blocked from accessing a site set to override after three failed attempts to enter the override password, enter a new value in the <b>URL Admin</b> <b>Lockout Timeout</b> field. By default, users are blocked for 30 minutes.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> .

Config	ure URL Admin Override (Continued)		
Step 3	(Redirect mode only) Create a Layer 3 interface to which to redirect web requests to sites in a category configured for override.	<ol> <li>Create a management profile to enable the interface to d the URL Filtering Continue and Override Page response a. Select Network &gt; Interface Mgmt and click Add.</li> <li>b. Enter a Name for the profile, select Response Pages then click OK.</li> <li>Create the Layer 3 interface. Be sure to attach the manage profile you just created (on the Advanced &gt; Other Info ta the Ethernet Interface dialog).</li> </ol>	lisplay 2 page: 3, and ement ab of
Step 4	(Redirect mode only) To transparently redirect users without displaying certificate errors, install a certificate that matches the IP address of the interface to which you are redirecting web requests to a site in a URL category configured for override.You can either generate a self-signed certificate or import a certificate that is signed by an external CA.	<ul> <li>Fo use a self-signed certificate, you must first create a root C certificate and then use that CA to sign the certificate you will for URL admin override as follows:</li> <li>To create a root CA certificate, select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates and the click Generate. Enter a Certificate Name, such as RootC not select a value in the Signed By field (this is what indicate that it is self-signed). Make sure you select the Certificate Authority check box and then click Generate the certificate to use for URL admin override, Generate. Enter a Certificate Name and enter the DNS hostname or IP address of the interface as the Common N In the Signed By field, select the CA you created in the prestep. Add an IP address attribute and specify the IP address to URL categories that have the override action</li> <li>Generate the certificate.</li> <li>To configure clients to trust the certificate, select the CA certificate on the Device Certificates tab and click Export must then import the certificate as a trusted root CA int client browsers, either by manually configuring the brow by adding the certificate to the trusted roots in an Active Directory Group Policy Object (GPO).</li> </ul>	A ll use hen A. Do icates te cate. click S <b>Name.</b> evious ress of b h. A <b>t.</b> You to all vser or e
Step 5	Specify which URL categories require an override password to enable access.	<ol> <li>Select Objects &gt; URL Filtering and either select an existing URL filtering profile or Add a new one.</li> <li>On the Categories tab, set the Action to override for eacategory that requires a password.</li> <li>Complete any remaining sections on the URL filtering p and then click OK to save the profile.</li> </ol>	ing ach profile
Step 6	Apply the URL Filtering profile to the security policy rule(s) that allows access to the sites requiring password override for access.	<ol> <li>Select Policies &gt; Security and select the appropriate security to modify it.</li> <li>Select the Actions tab and in the Profile Setting section the drop-down for URL Filtering and select the profile.</li> <li>Click OK to save.</li> </ol>	urity , click
Step 7	Save the configuration.	Click Commit.	

## Enable Safe Search Enforcement

Many search engines have a safe search setting that filters out adult images and videos for search query return traffic. You can configure Safe Search Enforcement the Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall to prevent search requests that do not have the strictest safe search settings enabled.



The Safe Search Enforcement for Google and YouTube Searches using a Virtual IP Address is not compatible with Safe Search Enforcement on the firewall.

There are two ways to enforce Safe Search on the firewall:

- Block Search Results that are not Using Strict Safe Search Settings
- ▲ Enable Transparent Safe Search Enforcement

## Block Search Results that are not Using Strict Safe Search Settings

By default, when you enable safe search enforcement, when a user attempts to perform a search without using the strictest safe search settings, the firewall will block the search query results and display the URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page. This page provides a link to the search settings page for the corresponding search provider so that the end user can enable the safe search settings. If you plan to use this default method for enforcing safe search, you should communicate the policy to your end users prior to deploying the policy. See Table: Search Provider Safe Search Settings for details on how each search provider implements safe search. The default URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page provides a link to the search settings for the corresponding search provider. You can optionally Customize the URL Filtering Response Pages.

Alternatively, to enable safe search enforcement so that it is transparent to your end users, configure the firewall to Enable Transparent Safe Search Enforcement.

Enable	Safe Search Enforcement		
Step 1	Enable Safe Search Enforcement in the URL Filtering profile.	1. 2.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; URL Filtering</b> . Select an existing profile to modify, or clone the default profile
		3.	On the <b>Settings</b> tab, select the <b>Safe Search Enforcement</b> check box to enable it.
		4.	(Optional) Restrict users to specific search engines:
			<ul> <li>a. On the Categories tab, set the search-engines category to block.</li> </ul>
			b. For each search engine that you want end users to be able to access, enter the web address in the <b>Allow List</b> text box. For example, to allow users access to Google and Bing searches only, you would enter the following:
			www.google.com
			www.bing.com
		5.	Configure other settings as necessary to:
			• Define how to control access to web content.
			• Define websites that should always be blocked or allowed.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 2	Add the URL Filtering profile to the security policy rule that allows traffic from clients in the trust zone to the Internet.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and select a rule to which to apply the URL filtering profile that you just enabled for Safe Search Enforcement.
		2.	On the <b>Actions</b> tab, select the <b>URL Filtering</b> profile.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the security policy rule.
Step 3	Enable SSL Forward Proxy decryption.	1.	Add a custom URL category for the search sites:
	Because most search engines encrypt their search results, you must enable SSL forward proxy decryption so that the firewall can inspect the search traffic and		a. Select <b>Objects &gt; Custom Objects &gt; URL Category</b> and <b>Add</b> a custom category.
			b. Enter a <b>Name</b> for the category, such as SearchEngineDecryption.
	detect the safe search settings.		c. Add the following to the Sites list:
			www.bing.*
			www.google.*
			search.yahoo.*
			d. Click <b>OK</b> to save the custom URL category object.
		2.	Follow the steps to Configure SSL Forward Proxy.
		3.	On the <b>Service/URL Category</b> tab in the Decryption policy rule, <b>Add</b> the custom URL category you just created and then click <b>OK</b> .

Enable	Safe Search Enforcement (Continued)		
Step 4	(Optional, but recommended) Block Bing search traffic running over SSL.	1.	Add a custom URL category for Bing: a. Select <b>Objects &gt; Custom Objects &gt; URL Category</b> and <b>Add</b> a
	Because the Bing SSL search engine does not adhere to the safe search settings, for full safe search enforcement, you must		<ul><li>custom category.</li><li>b. Enter a Name for the category, such as EnableBingSafeSearch.</li></ul>
	deny all Bing sessions that run over SSL.		c. Add the following to the Sites list:
			www.bing.com/images/*
			www.bing.com/videos/*
			d. Click <b>OK</b> to save the custom URL category object.
		2.	Create another URL filtering profile to block the custom category you just created:
			a. Select Objects > Security Profiles > URL Filtering.
			b. Add a new profile and give it a descriptive Name.
			c. Locate the custom category in the Category list and set it to <b>block</b> .
			d. Click <b>OK</b> to save the URL filtering profile.
		3.	Add a security policy rule to block Bing SSL traffic:
			a. Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> a policy rule that allows traffic from your trust zone to the Internet.
			b. On the <b>Actions</b> tab, attach the URL filtering profile you just created to block the custom Bing category.
			c. On the Service/URL Category tab Add a New Service and give it a descriptive Name, such as bingssl.
			d. Select <b>TCP</b> as the <b>Protocol</b> and set the <b>Destination Port</b> to 443.
			e. Click <b>OK</b> to save the rule.
			f. Use the <b>Move</b> options to ensure that this rule is below the rule that has the URL filtering profile with safe search enforcement enabled.
Step 5	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.

#### **Enable Safe Search Enforcement (Continued)** Step 6 Verify the Safe Search Enforcement 1. From a computer that is behind the firewall, disable the strict configuration. search settings for one of the supported search providers. For example, on bing.com, click the Preferences icon on the Bing This verification step only works menu bar. if you are using block pages to enforce safe search. If you are using transparent safe search 🕈 0 of 🄇 Ö enforcement, the firewall block page will invoke a URL rewrite 2. Set the SafeSearch option to Moderate or Off and click Save. with the safe search parameters in 3. Perform a Bing search and verify that the URL Filtering Safe the query string. Search Block page displays instead of the search results: Search Blocked User: 192.168.2.10 Your search results have been blocked because your search settings are not in accordance with company policy. In order to continue, please update your search settings so that Safe Search is set to the strictest setting, and try your search again. For more information, please refer to: http://www.bing.com/account/general Please contact your system administrator if you believe this message is in error. Use the link in the block page to go to the search settings for 4. the search provider and set the safe search setting back to the strictest setting (Strict in the case of Bing) and then click Save. 5. Perform a search again from Bing and verify that the filtered search results display instead of the block page.

#### Enable Transparent Safe Search Enforcement

If you want to enforce filtering of search query results with the strictest safe search filters, but you don't want your end users to have to manually configure the settings, you can enable transparent Safe Search Enforcement as follows. This functionality is supported on Google, Yahoo, and Bing search engines only and requires Content Release version 475 or later.

Enable	Transparent Safe Search Enforcement		
Step 1	Make sure the firewall is running Content	1.	Select Device > Dynamic Updates.
	Release version 475 or later.	2.	Check the <b>Applications and Threats</b> section to determine what update is currently running.
		3.	If the firewall is not running the required update or later, click <b>Check Now</b> to retrieve a list of available updates.
		4.	Locate the required update and click <b>Download</b> .
		5.	After the download completes, click Install.
Step 1	Enable Safe Search Enforcement in the	1.	Select Objects > Security Profiles > URL Filtering.
	URL Filtering profile.	2.	Select an existing profile to modify, or clone the default profile to create a new one.
		3.	On the <b>Settings</b> tab, select the <b>Safe Search Enforcement</b> check box to enable it.
		4.	(Optional) Allow access to specific search engines only:
			a. On the <b>Categories</b> tab, set the <b>search-engines</b> category to <b>block</b> .
			b. For each search engine that you want end users to be able to access, enter the web address in the <b>Allow List</b> text box. For example, to allow users access to Google and Bing searches only, you would enter the following:
			www.google.com
			www.bing.com
		5.	Configure other settings as necessary to:
			• Define how to control access to web content.
			• Define websites that should always be blocked or allowed.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.
Step 2	Add the URL Filtering profile to the security policy rule that allows traffic from clients in the trust zone to the	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and select a rule to which to apply the URL filtering profile that you just enabled for Safe Search Enforcement.
	Internet.	2.	On the <b>Actions</b> tab, select the <b>URL Filtering</b> profile.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the security policy rule.

Enable	Transparent Safe Search Enforcement	(Cor	ntinued)
Step 3	(Optional, but recommended) Block Bing search traffic running over SSL. Because the Bing SSL search engine does not adhere to the safe search settings, for full safe search enforcement, you must deny all Bing sessions that run over SSL.	1. 2. 3.	<ul> <li>Add a custom URL category for Bing:</li> <li>a. Select Objects &gt; Custom Objects &gt; URL Category and Add a custom category.</li> <li>b. Enter a Name for the category, such as EnableBingSafeSearch.</li> <li>c. Add the following to the Sites list: <ul> <li>www.bing.com/images/*</li> <li>www.bing.com/videos/*</li> </ul> </li> <li>d. Click OK to save the custom URL category object.</li> <li>Create another URL filtering profile to block the custom category you just created:</li> <li>a. Select Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; URL Filtering.</li> <li>b. Add a new profile and give it a descriptive Name.</li> <li>c. Locate the custom category you just created in the Category list and set it to block.</li> <li>d. Click OK to save the URL filtering profile.</li> <li>Add a security policy rule to block Bing SSL traffic:</li> <li>a. Select Policies &gt; Security and Add a policy rule that allows traffic from your trust zone to the Internet.</li> <li>b. On the Actions tab, attach the URL filtering profile you just created to block the custom Bing category.</li> <li>c. On the Service/URL Category tab Add a New Service and give it a descriptive Name, such as bingssl.</li> <li>d. Select TCP as the Protocol, set the Destination Port to 443.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the rule.</li> <li>f. Use the Move options to ensure that this rule is below the</li> </ul>
			rule that has the URL filtering profile with safe search enforcement enabled.
Step 4	Edit the URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page, replacing the existing code with the Javascript for rewriting search query URLs to enforce safe search transparently.	1. 2. 3.	Select Device > Response Pages > URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page. Select Predefined and then click Export to save the file locally. Use an HTML editor and replace all of the existing block page text with this script. Copy the script and paste it into the HTML editor, replacing the entire block page.

Enable	Transparent Safe Search Enforcement	(Cor	ntinued)
Step 5	Import the edited URL Filtering Safe Search Block page onto the firewall.	1.	To import the edited block page, select Device > Response Pages > URL Filtering Safe Search Block Page.
		2.	Click <b>Import</b> and then enter the path and filename in the <b>Import File</b> field or <b>Browse</b> to locate the file.
		3.	(Optional) Select the virtual system on which this login page will be used from the <b>Destination</b> drop-down or select <b>shared</b> to make it available to all virtual systems.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to import the file.
Step 6	Enable SSL Forward Proxy decryption. Because most search engines encrypt their search results, you must enable SSL forward proxy decryption so that the firewall can inspect the search traffic and detect the safe search settings.	2.	<ul> <li>Add a custom URL category for the search sites:</li> <li>a. Select Objects &gt; Custom Objects &gt; URL Category and Add a custom category.</li> <li>b. Enter a Name for the category, such as SearchEngineDecryption.</li> <li>c. Add the following to the Sites list: <ul> <li>www.bing.*</li> <li>www.google.*</li> <li>search.yahoo.*</li> </ul> </li> <li>d. Click OK to save the custom URL category object. Follow the steps to Configure SSL Forward Proxy.</li></ul>
		3.	On the <b>Service/URL Category</b> tab in the Decryption policy rule, <b>Add</b> the custom URL category you just created and then click <b>OK</b> .
Step 7	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.

## **URL Filtering Use Case Examples**

The following use cases show how to use App-ID to control a specific set of web-based applications and how to use URL categories as match criteria in a policy. When working with App-ID, it is important to understand that each App-ID signature may have dependencies that are required to fully control an application. For example, with Facebook applications, the App-ID facebook-base is required to access the Facebook website and to control other Facebook applications. For example, to configure the firewall to control Facebook email, you would have to allow the App-IDs facebook-base and facebook-mail. As another example, if you search Applipedia (the App-ID database) for LinkedIn, you will see that in order to control LinkedIn mail, you need to apply the same action to both App-IDs: linkedin-base and linkedin-mail. To determine application dependencies for App-ID signatures, visit Applipedia, search for the given application, and then click the application for details.



The User-ID feature is required to implement policies based on users and groups and a Decryption policy is required to identify and control websites that are encrypted using SSL.

This section includes two uses cases:

- ▲ Use Case: Control Web Access
- ▲ Use Case: Use URL Categories in Policy

#### Use Case: Control Web Access

When using URL filtering to control user website access, there may be instances where granular control is required for a given website. In this use case, a URL filtering policy is applied to the security policy that allows web access for your users and the *social-networking* URL category is set to block, but the allow list in the URL profile is configured to allow the social networking site Facebook. To further control Facebook, the company policy also states that only marketing has full access to Facebook and all other users within the company can only read Facebook posts and cannot use any other Facebook applications, such as email, posting, chat, and file sharing. To accomplish this requirement, App-ID must be used to provide granular control over Facebook.

The first security rule will allow marketing to access the Facebook website as well as all Facebook applications. Because this allow rule will also allow access to the Internet, threat prevention profiles are applied to the rule, so traffic that matches the policy will be scanned for threats. This is important because the allow rule is terminal and will not continue to check other rules if there is a traffic match.

Contro	l Web Access		
Step 1	Confirm that URL filtering is licensed.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Licenses</b> and confirm that a valid date appears for the URL filtering database that will used. This will either be PAN-DB or BrightCloud. If a valid license is not installed, see Enable PAN-DB URL Filtering.
Step 2	Confirm that User-ID is working. User-ID is required to create policies based on users and groups.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	To check group mapping, from the CLI, enter the following command: show user group-mapping statistics To check user mapping, from the CLI, enter the following command: show user ip-user-mapping-mp all If statistics do not appear and/or IP to user mapping information is not displayed, see User-ID.
Step 3	Set up a URL filtering profile by cloning the default profile.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profiles &gt; URL Filtering</b> and select the <b>default</b> profile. Click the <b>Clone</b> icon. A new profile should appear named <b>default-1</b> . Select the new profile and rename it.

Contro	Web Access (Continued)							
Step 4	Configure the URL filtering profile to block social-networking and allow Facebook.	1.	Modify the new URL filtering profile and in the <b>Category</b> list scroll to <b>social-networking</b> and in the <b>Action</b> column click on <b>allow</b> and change the action to <b>block</b> .					
		2.	In the <b>Allow List</b> box, type facebook.com, press enter to start a new line and then type *.facebook.com. Both of these formats are required, so all URL variants a user may use will be identified, such as facebook.com, www.facebook.com, and https://facebook.com.					
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.					
Step 5	Apply the new URL filtering profile to the security policy rule that allows web access from the user network to the Internet.	1.	Select Policies > Security and click on the policy rule that allows web access. On the Actions tab, select the URL profile you just created from the URL Filtering drop-down. security Policy Rule Ceneral Source User Destination Application Service/URL Category Actions Action Setting Log Setting Log Setting Log at Sesson Start Profile Setting Profile Type Profiles Profile Setting Log Forwarding None URL Filtering None URL Filtering None Data Filtering None					
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.					

Contro	Web Access (Co	ontinued)		
Step 6	Create the security policy that will allow marketing access the Facebook website and all Facebook applications. This rule must precede other rules because it is more specific than the other policies and because it is an allow rule, which will terminate when a traffic match occurs.		1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.	<ul> <li>Select Policies &gt; Security and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name and optionally a Description and Tag(s).</li> <li>On the Source tab add the zone where the users are connected.</li> <li>On the User tab in the Source User section click Add.</li> <li>Select the directory group that contains your <i>marketing</i> users.</li> <li>On the Destination tab, select the zone that is connected to the Internet.</li> <li>On the Applications tab, click Add and add the <i>facebook</i> App-ID signature.</li> <li>On the Actions tab, add the default profiles for Antivirus, Vulnerability Protection, and Anti-Spyware.</li> </ul>
	Econtry Real Protection Protectio	Dashboard ACC Monitor	Souther Southe	Iteles         Dejects         Network         Device           Source         Image: Profile         Action         Profile           The facebook         App-ID signature used in this policy encompasses all Facebook applications, such as facebook-base, facebook-chat, and facebook-mail, so this is the only App-ID signature required in this rule.           With this policy in place, when a marketing employee attempts to access the Facebook website or any Facebook application, the rule matches based on the user being part of the marketing group. For traffic from any user outside of marketing, the rule will be skipped because there would not be a traffic match and rule processing would continue.

Contro	Web Access	(Continued)												
Step 7	Configure the other users fro applications of browsing. The	security policy to om using any Fac ther than simple e easiest way to do	1. 2.	From policy icon. Enter	Pol you a N	icies > s created	marketing Fa ht it and then a <b>Descriptio</b>	g Facebook allow hen click the <b>Clone</b>						
	clone the mark modify it.	xeting allow polic	y and then	3.	On the	On the <b>User</b> tab highlight the marketing group and delete it and in the drop-down select <b>any</b>								
				4.	On th and de	e <b>A</b> elete	<b>oplicati</b> it.	ons ta	b, click the	facebook App-ID signature				
				5.	Click	Add	and ad	d the	following A	pp-ID signatı	ires:			
					• face	ebo	ok-apps	;						
					• face	ebo	ok-chat							
					• face	ebo	ok-file-s	sharin	σ					
					• facebook mail									
					- 1ac	• facebook posting								
				• race										
					• tace	ebo	ok-so <b>c</b> ia	al-pluş	gin					
				6.	On th	e Ao	tions t	ab in an ab	the <b>Action S</b>	<b>betting</b> section	1, select	Deny.		
					was cl	one	d.	gs sno	Juid alleady	be correct be	cause u	iis rule		
	maloalto			ļ										
	Patoatto	Dashboard ACC	Monitor	Policies	Objects	N	etwork	Device						
	Security													
	SPTRAT QoS			Sourc	e		Destin	ation						
	Policy Based Forwarding	Name	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile		
	Application Override     Captive Portal     Dos Protection	1 Marketing Facebook Allow	🕅 13-vlan-trust	any	8 Marketing	any	🕅 13-untrust	any	facebook	2 application-default	°	000		
	Contractor	2 Facebook Read-Only	🚧 IS-vlan-trust	any 🤇	••••	any	M 13-untrust	any	facebook-apps     facebook-chat     facebook-chat     facebook-file-sharing     facebook-mail     facebook-posting     facebook-posting     facebook-social-plugin	2 application-default	0			
				7.	Click	<b>0K</b> 1	to save	the se	curity profil	e.				
				8.	Ensur rule. te	e th o er	at this n Isure th	iew de at rule	eny rule is lis	ted after the n	narketin correct	g allow : order		
					to allo	w n	narketin	ig use	rs and then	to deny/limit	all othe	r users.		

With these policies in place, any user who is part of the marketing group will have full access to all Facebook applications and any user that is not part of the marketing group will only have read-only access to the Facebook website and will not be able to use Facebook functions such as post, chat, email, and file sharing.

Click **Commit** to save the configuration.

9.

#### Use Case: Use URL Categories in Policy

URL categories can also be used as match criteria in the following policy types: captive portal, decryption, security, and QoS. In this use case, URL categories will be used in decryption policies to control which web categories should be decrypted or not decrypted. The first rule is a no-decrypt rule that will not decrypt user traffic if the website category is *financial-services* or *health-and-medicine* and the second rule will decrypt all other traffic. The decryption policy type is ssl-forward-proxy, which is used for controlling decryption for all outbound connections performed by users.

Config	ure a Decryp	otion Poli	cy Ba	sed on l	JRL C	ateg	ory						
Step 1	Step 1       Create the no-decrypt rule that will be listed first in the decryption policies list. This will prevent any website that is in the <i>financial-services</i> or <i>health-and-medicine</i> URL categories from being decrypted.				be list. in me vd.	1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	<ul> <li>Select Policies &gt; Decryption and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name and optionally enter a Description and On the Source tab, add the zone where the users are con On the Destination tab, enter the zone that is connect Internet.</li> <li>On the URL Category tab, click Add and select the <i>financial-services</i> and <i>health-and-medicine</i> URL categories.</li> <li>On the Options tab, set the action to No Decrypt and to SSL Forward Proxy.</li> </ul>						and <b>Tag</b> (s). e connected lected to the es. nd the <b>Type</b>
	NETWORKS	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Ob	ojects	Network	Device				
Securit NAT Qos Policy Captiv Captiv Pons Policy	ty Eased Forwarding boon white override e Portal rotection	Name 2 No-Decrypt-Finan	nce-Health	Tags No-Decrypt	Zone (22) 13-vlan-	s -trust a 7.	Source Address any Click	User any x <b>OK</b> to	Zone 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019	estination Address any policy.	URL Calegory financial-services health-and-medicine	Action	Type rest-forward-provy

Configu	ire a Decry	ption Polic	су ваз	sea on UF		ateg	gory (	Contin	uea)					
Step 2	Step 2 Create the decryption policy that will decrypt all other traffic. This policy will be listed after the policy decrypt policy.						Selec click	Select the no-decrypt policy you created previously and then click <b>Clone</b> .						
listed after the no-decrypt policy.							Enter	r a <b>Nar</b> r	<b>ie</b> and op	otionally	v enter a <b>Descr</b>	<b>iption</b> a	nd <b>Tag</b> (s).	
						3.	On th	he URL	Categor	<b>y</b> tab, se	elect <i>financial-se</i>	<i>rvices</i> and	l	
							health	-and-me	<i>dicine</i> and	then cl	ick the <b>Delete</b>	icon.		
						4.	On th SSL I	he Optio Forwar	ons tab, s d Proxy.	set the a	iction to <b>Decry</b>	<b>pt</b> and t	he <b>Type</b> to	
JIII pa	Aloalto	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Polici	es	Objects	Network	Device					
📟 Securit	CV	S.												
PAT							Source		De	stination				
Policy I	Based Forwarding	2 No-Decrypt-Final	nce-Health	Tags No-Decrypt	Zone	an-trust	Address	User	Zone 200 J3-untrust	Address	URL Category	Action	Type ssl-forward-proxy	
Captiv	ition Override e Portal										health-and-medicine			
DoS Pr	otection	3 Decrypt_All_Traf	ffic	none	<b>13-vi</b> a	an-trust	any	any	M 13-untrust	any	any	decrypt	ssl-forward-proxy	
						5.	Ensu no-de will e webs: decry Click	re that ecrypt r nsure th ites in t pted <b>OK</b> to s	this new ule as she hat rule p he <i>financi</i> , save the p	decrypt own in processi <i>al-service</i> policy.	tion rule is listed the previous so ng occurs in th and <i>health-and</i>	ed after t creen cap le correc <i>l-medicine</i>	he oture. This ct order, so are not	
Step 3	(BrightClo	oud only) En	nable cl	oud looku	ıps	1.	Acce	ss the C	CLI on th	e firewa	all.			
1	for dynam	ically catego	orizing	a URL wh	en	2.	Enter	r the fo	llowing c	omman	ids to enable D	vnamic	URL	
	the catego	ry is not ava	ailable	on the loc	al		Filter	ing:	0	wing commands to chable Dynamic OKL				
database on the firewall.							a. co	nfigur	e					
							h aa	o t davia	fia	a a t t i m a	unt dum amaia			
							о. se с. со	mmit	econing	setting	un dynamic-	ull yes		
Step 4	Save the co	onfiguration	1.			Clic	k Corr	nmit.						

#### ...

With these two decrypt policies in place, any traffic destined for the *financial-services* or *health-and-medicine* URL categories will not be decrypted. All other traffic will be decrypted.

You can also define more granular control over decryption policies by defining decryption profiles, which are used to perform checks such as server certificate checks or blocking sessions with expired certificates. The profile is then added in the **Options** tab of the decryption policy. For a complete list of checks that can be performed, select **Objects > Decryption Profiles** from the firewall and then click the help icon.

Now that you have a basic understanding of the powerful features of URL filtering, App-ID, and User-ID, you can apply similar policies to your firewall to control any application in the Palo Alto Networks App-ID signature database and control any website contained in the URL filtering database.

For help in troubleshooting URL filtering issues, see Troubleshoot URL Filtering.

## **Troubleshoot URL Filtering**

The following topics provide troubleshooting guidelines for diagnosing and resolving common URL filtering problems.

- Problems Activating PAN-DB
- PAN-DB Cloud Connectivity Issues
- URLs Classified as Not-Resolved
- Incorrect Categorization
- URL Database Out of Date

#### **Problems Activating PAN-DB**

The following table describes procedures that you can use to resolve issues with activating PAN-DB.

#### **Troubleshoot PAN-DB Activation Issues**

- 1. Access the CLI on the firewall.
- Verify whether PAN-DB has been activated by running the following command: admin@PA-200> show system setting url-database If the response is paloaltonetworks, then PAN-DB is the active vendor.
- Verify that the firewall has a valid PAN-DB license by running the following command: admin@PA-200> request license info You should see the license entry Feature: PAN\_DB URL Filtering. If the license is not installed, you will need to obtain and install a license. See Configure URL Filtering.
- 4. After the license is installed, download a new PAN-DB seed database by running the following command: admin@PA-200> request url-filtering download paloaltonetworks region <region>
- Check the download status by running the following command: admin@PA-200> request url-filtering download status vendor paloaltonetworks
  - If the message is different from PAN-DB download: Finished successfully, stop here; there may be a problem connecting to the cloud. Attempt to solve the connectivity issue by performing basic network troubleshooting between the firewall and the Internet. For more information, see PAN-DB Cloud Connectivity Issues.
  - If the message is PAN-DB download: Finished successfully, the firewall successfully downloaded the URL seed database. Try to enable PAN-DB again by running the following command:

admin@PA-200> set system setting url-database paloaltonetworks

6. If the problems persists, contact Palo Alto Networks support.

#### PAN-DB Cloud Connectivity Issues

To check cloud connectivity, run the following command:

admin@pa-200> show url-cloud status

If the cloud is accessible, the expected response is similar to the following:

```
admin@PA-200> show url-cloud status
PAN-DB URL Filtering
License :
                                   valid
Current cloud server :
                                   s0000.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com
Cloud connection :
                                   connected
URL database version - device :
                                   2013.11.18.000
URL database version - cloud :
                                 2013.11.18.000 ( last update time
2013/11/19
13:20:51 )
URL database status :
                                   good
URL protocol version - device :
                                   pan/0.0.2
URL protocol version - cloud :
                                   pan/0.0.2
Protocol compatibility status :
                                   compatible
```

If the cloud is note accessible, the expected response is similar to the following:

```
admin@PA-200> show url-cloud status
PAN-DB URL Filtering
License :
                                  valid
Cloud connection :
                                  not connected
URL database version - device :
                               2013.11.18.000
URL database version - cloud :
                                 2013.11.18.000 ( last update time
2013/11/19
13:20:51 )
URL database status :
                                  qood
URL protocol version - device :
                               pan/0.0.2
URL protocol version - cloud :
                                pan/0.0.2
Protocol compatibility status :
                               compatible
```

The following table describes procedures that you can use to resolve issues based on the output of the show url-cloud status command, how to ping the URL cloud servers, and what to check if the firewall is in a High Availability (HA) configuration.

#### **Troubleshoot Cloud Connectivity Issues**

- PAN-DB URL Filtering license field shows invalid-Obtain and install a valid PAN-DB license.
- URL database status is out of date—Download a new seed database by running the following command: admin@pa-200> request url-filtering download paloaltonetworks region <region>
- URL protocol version shows not compatible—Upgrade PAN-OS to the latest version.
- Attempt to ping the PAN-DB cloud server from the firewall by running the following command:

admin@pa-200> ping source <ip-address> host s0000.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com For example, if your management interface IP address is 10.1.1.5, run the following command: admin@pa-200> ping source 10.1.1.5 host s0000.urlcloud.paloaltonetworks.com

• If the firewall is in an HA configuration, verify that the HA state of the devices supports connectivity to the cloud systems. You can determine the HA state by running the following command:

admin@pa-200> show high-availability state

Connection to the cloud will be blocked if the firewall is not in one of the following states:

- active
- active-primary
- active-secondary

If the problem persists, contact Palo Alto Networks support.

#### URLs Classified as Not-Resolved

The following table describes procedures you can use to resolve issues where some or all of the URLs being identified by PAN-DB are classified as *Not-resolved*:

#### **Troubleshoot URLs Classified as Not-Resolved**

 Check the PAN-DB cloud connection by running the following command: admin@PA-200> show url-cloud status

The Cloud connection: field should show *connected*. If you see anything other than *connected*, any URL that do not exist in the management plane cache will be categorized as *not-resolved*. To resolve this issue, see PAN-DB Cloud Connectivity Issues.

2. If the cloud connection status shows *connected*, check the current utilization of the firewall. If the firewall's performance is spiking, URL requests may be dropped (may not reach the management plane), and will be categorized as *not-resolved*.

To view system resources, run the following command and view the %CPU and %MEM columns:

admin@PA-200> show system resources

You can also view system resources from the firewall's web interfaces by clicking the **Dashboard** tab and viewing the **System Resources** section.

3. If the problem persist, contact Palo Alto Networks support.

#### **Incorrect Categorization**

The following steps describe the procedures you can use if you identify a URL that does not have the correct categorization. For example, if the URL *paloaltonetworks.com* was categorized as *alcohol-and-tobacco*, the categorization is not correct; the category should be *computer-and-internet-info*.

#### **Troubleshoot Incorrect Categorization Issues**

 Verify the category in the dataplane by running the following command: admin@PA-200> show running url <URL>
 For example, to view the category for the Palo Alto Networks website, run the following command: admin@PA-200> show running url paloaltonetworks.com
 If the URL stored in the dataplane cache has the correct category (computer-and-internet-info in this example), then

the categorization is correct and no further action is required. If the category is not correct, continue to the next step.

2. Verify if the category in the management plane by running the command:

admin@PA-200> test url-info-host <URL>

For example:

admin@PA-200> test url-info-host paloaltonetworks.com

If the URL stored in the management plane cache has the correct category, remove the URL from the dataplane cache by running the following command:

admin@PA-200> clear url-cache url  $<\!\!\mathrm{URL}\!\!>$ 

The next time the device requests the category for this URL, the request will be forwarded to the management plane. This will resolve the issue and no further action is required. If this does not solve the issue, go to the next step to check the URL category on the cloud systems.

- Verify the category in the cloud by running the following command: admin@PA-200> test url-info-cloud <URL>
- 4. If the URL stored in the cloud has the correct category, remove the URL from the dataplane and the management plane caches.

Run the following command to delete a URL from the dataplane cache:

admin@PA-200> clear url-cache url <URL>

Run the following command to delete a URL from the management plane cache:

admin@PA-200> delete url-database url <URL>

The next time the device queries for the category of the given URL, the request will be forwarded to the management plane and then to the cloud. This should resolve the category lookup issue. If problems persist, see the next step to submit a categorization change request.

5. To submit a change request from the web interface, go to the URL log and select the log entry for the URL you would like to have changed.

#### **Troubleshoot Incorrect Categorization Issues**

6. Click the Request Categorization change link and follow instructions. You can also request a category change from the Palo Alto Networks Test A Site website by searching for the URL and then clicking the Request Change icon. To view a list of all available categories with descriptions of each category, refer to https://urlfiltering.paloaltonetworks.com/CategoryList.aspx.

If your change request is approved, you will receive an email notification. You then have two options to ensure that the URL category is updated on the firewall:

- Wait until the URL in the cache expires and the next time the URL is accessed by a user, the new categorization update will be put in the cache.
- Run the following command to force an update in the cache:

admin@PA-200> request url-filtering update url  $\leq URL >$ 

#### URL Database Out of Date

If you have observed through the syslog or the CLI that PAN-DB is out-of-date, it means that the connection from the firewall to the URL Cloud is blocked. This usually occurs when the URL database on the firewall is too old (version difference is more than three months) and the cloud cannot update the firewall automatically. In order to resolve this issue, you will need to re-download an initial seed database from the cloud (this operation is not blocked). This will result in an automatic re-activation of PAN-DB.

To manually update the database, perform one of the following steps:

- From the web interface, select Device > Licenses and in the PAN-DB URL Filtering section click the Re-Download link.
- From the CLI, run the following command:

admin@PA-200> request url-filtering download paloaltonetworks region crepion\_name>



When the seed database is re-download, the URL cache in the management plane and dataplane will be purged. The management plane cache will then be re-populated with the contents of the new seed database.

# **Quality of Service**

Quality of Service (QoS) is a set of technologies that work on a network to guarantee its ability to dependably run high-priority applications and traffic under limited network capacity. QoS technologies accomplish this by providing differentiated handling and capacity allocation to specific flows in network traffic. This enables the network administrator to assign the order in which traffic is handled, and the amount of bandwidth afforded to traffic.

Palo Alto Networks Application Quality of Service (QoS) provides basic QoS applied to networks and extends it to provide QoS to applications and users.

Use the following topics to learn about and configure Palo Alto Networks Application QoS:

- ▲ QoS Overview
- QoS Concepts
- Configure QoS
- Configure QoS for a Virtual System
- QoS Use Case Examples



You can use the Palo Alto Networks product comparison tool to view the QoS features supported on your firewall platform. Select two or more product platforms and click **Compare Now** to view QoS feature support for each platform (for example, you can check if your firewall platform supports QoS on subinterfaces and if so, the maximum number of subinterfaces that QoS can be enabled on).

• The PA-7050 firewall supports QoS on Aggregate Ethernet (AE) interfaces as of PAN-OS 6.0.0.

## QoS Overview

Use QoS to prioritize and adjust quality aspects of network traffic. You can assign the order in which packets are handled and allot bandwidth, ensuring preferred treatment and optimal levels of performance are afforded to selected traffic, applications, and users.

Service quality measurements subject to a QoS implementation are bandwidth (maximum rate of transfer), throughput (actual rate of transfer), latency (delay), and jitter (variance in latency). The capability to shape and control these service quality measurements makes QoS of particular importance to high-bandwidth, real-time traffic such as voice over IP (VoIP), video conferencing, and video-on-demand that has a high sensitivity to latency and jitter. Additionally, use QoS to achieve outcomes such as the following:

- Prioritize network and application traffic, guaranteeing high priority to important traffic or limiting non-essential traffic.
- Achieve equal bandwidth sharing among different subnets, classes, or users in a network.
- Allocate bandwidth externally or internally or both, applying QoS to both upload and download traffic or to only upload or download traffic.
- Ensure low latency for customer and revenue-generating traffic in an enterprise environment.
- Perform traffic profiling of applications to ensure bandwidth usage.

QoS implementation on a Palo Alto Networks firewall begins with three primary configuration components that support a full QoS solution: a QoS Profile, a QoS Policy, and setting up the QoS Egress Interface. Each of these options in the QoS configuration task facilitate a broader process that optimizes and prioritizes the traffic flow and allocates and ensures bandwidth according to configurable parameters.

The figure Figure: QoS Traffic Flow shows traffic as it flows from the source, is shaped by the firewall with QoS enabled, and is ultimately prioritized and delivered to its destination.

#### Figure: QoS Traffic Flow



The QoS configuration options allow you to control the traffic flow and define it at different points in the flow. The Figure: QoS Traffic Flow indicates where the configurable options define the traffic flow. Use the QoS Profile to define QoS classes and use the QoS Policy to associate QoS classes with selected traffic. Enable the QoS Profile on an interface to shape traffic according to the QoS configuration as it flows through the network.

You can configure a QoS Profile and QoS Policy individually or in any order, according to your preference. Each of the QoS configuration options has components that influence the definition of the other options and the QoS configuration options can be used to create a full and granular QoS policy or can be used sparingly with minimal administrator action.

Each firewall model supports a maximum number of ports that can be configured with QoS. Refer to the spec sheet for your firewall model or use the product comparison tool to view QoS feature support for two or more firewalls on a single page.

## **QoS Concepts**

Use the following topics to learn about the different components and mechanisms of a QoS configuration on a Palo Alto Networks firewall:

- ▲ QoS for Applications and Users
- QoS Profile
- QoS Classes
- QoS Policy
- QoS Egress Interface
- QoS Cleartext and Tunneled Traffic

#### QoS for Applications and Users

A Palo Alto Networks firewall provides basic QoS, controlling traffic leaving the firewall according to network or subnet, and extends the power of QoS to also classify and shape traffic according to application and user. The Palo Alto Networks firewall provides this capability by integrating the features App-ID and User-ID with the QoS configuration. App-ID and User-ID entries that exist to identify specific applications and users in your network are available in the QoS configuration so that you can easily specify applications and users to apply QoS to.

You can use a QoS Policy in the web interface (**Policies** > **QoS**) to apply QoS specifically to an application's traffic:

oS Policy Rule	C
General Source Destination Application Service/URL Category Other Settings	
Any	
Applications	
V youtube	~
Application youtube youtube-base youtube-safety-mode youtube-posting	E
New 🖙 Application Fifter 🕼 Application Group	
+ Add Delete	

Or to a user's traffic:

QoS Policy Rule			(
General Source Destination A	pplication Service/URL Category	Other Settings	
Any	🗹 Any	Select	
Source Zone 🗸	Source Address -	Source User 👻	
		Admin 2	
		N2	

See App-ID and User-ID for more information on these features.

### QoS Profile

Use a QoS profile to define values of up to eight QoS classes contained within that single profile (Network > Network Profiles > QoS Profile):

lame		Guaranteed Egress (Mbps)	Maximum Egress (Mbps)	Priority		
dass1	0o5 Profile					
dass2						
dass3	Profile					
and a second	Profile Name	restrict downloads to 15 Mbps 0				
Cass+	Egress Max					
dass5	Enner Cummitteed					
📰 class6	Egress Guaranteed 0					
dass7	Channel					
FE classe	Classes					
La Casso	Class 🔺	Priority	Egress Max	Egress Guaranteed		
	dass1	real-time	0	0		
	dass2	high	0	0		
	dass3	high	0	0		
	dass4	medium	0	0		
	class5	medium	0	0		
	class6	low	0	0		
	Transl 1 and 1 and 1	low	0	0		
	class7					

You enable QoS by applying a QoS profile to the egress interface for network, application or user traffic (or specifically, for cleartext or tunneled traffic). An interface configured with QoS shapes traffic according to the QoS profile class definitions and the traffic associated with those classes in the QoS policy.

A default QoS Profile is available on the firewall. The default profile and the classes defined in the profile do not have predefined maximum or guaranteed bandwidth limits.

You can set bandwidth limits for a QoS profile and/or set limits for individual QoS classes within the QoS profile. The total guaranteed bandwidth limits of all eight QoS classes in a QoS Profile cannot exceed the total bandwidth allocated to that QoS Profile. Enabling QoS on a physical interface includes setting the maximum bandwidth for traffic leaving the firewall through this interface. A QoS profile's guaranteed bandwidth (the **Egress Guaranteed** field) should not exceed the bandwidth allocated to the physical interface that QoS is enabled on.

For details, see Create a QoS profile.

#### **QoS Classes**

A QoS class determines the priority and bandwidth for traffic it is assigned to. In the web interface, use the QoS profile to define QoS classes (Network > Network Profiles > QoS Profile):

QoS Profile						
Profile						
Profile Name	Profile Name restrict download to 15 Mbps					
Egress Max	15					
Egress Guaranteed	0					
Classes						
Class	Priority	Egress Max	Egress Guaranteed			
dass1	medium	0	0			
<b>S</b> s2	high	0	0			
class3	high	0	0			

Defining a QoS class includes setting the class's Priority, maximum bandwidth (Egress Max), and guaranteed bandwidth (Egress Guaranteed).



Real-time priority is typically used for applications that are particularly sensitive to latency, such as voice and video applications.

Use the QoS policy to assign a QoS class to specified traffic (**Policies** > **QoS**):

QoS Policy Rule					
General Source	e Destination	Application	Service/URL Category	Other Settings	
Class	1				
Schedule	None				

There are up to eight definable QoS classes in a single QoS profile. Unless otherwise configured, traffic that does not match a QoS class is assigned a class of 4.

QoS priority queuing and bandwidth management, the fundamental mechanisms of a QoS configuration, are configured within the QoS class definition (see Step 3). Queuing priority is determined by the priority set for a QoS class. Bandwidth management is determined according to the maximum and guaranteed bandwidths set for a QoS class.

Class 1	Class 1
Class 2	
Class 3	QoS class
Class 4	Class 1's bandwidth
Class 5	Class 1's priority
Class 6	
Class 7	
Class 8	

The queuing and bandwidth management mechanisms determine the order of traffic and how traffic is handled upon entering or leaving a network:

- **QoS Priority:** One of four QoS priorities can be defined in a QoS class: real-time, high, medium, and low. When a QoS class is associated with specific traffic, the priority defined in that QoS class is assigned to the traffic. Packets in the traffic flow are then queued according to their priority until the network is ready to process them. This method of priority queuing provides the capability to ensure that important traffic, applications, or users takes precedence.
- QoS Class Bandwidth Management: QoS class bandwidth management provides the capability to control traffic flows on a network so that traffic does not exceed network capacity, resulting in network congestion, or to allocate specific bandwidth limits to traffic, applications, or users. You can set overall limits on bandwidth using the QoS profile or set limits for individual QoS classes. A QoS profile and QoS classes in the profile have guaranteed and maximum bandwidth limits. The guaranteed bandwidth limit (Egress Guaranteed) ensures that any amount of traffic up to that set bandwidth limit is processed. The maximum bandwidth limit (Egress Max) sets the total limit of bandwidth allocated to either the QoS Profile or QoS Class. Traffic in excess of the Maximum Bandwidth limit is dropped. The total bandwidth limits and guaranteed bandwidth limits of QoS classes in a QoS profile cannot exceed the bandwidth limit of the QoS profile.

#### QoS Policy

In a QoS configuration, the QoS policy identifies traffic requiring QoS treatment (either preferential treatment or bandwidth-limiting) using a defined parameter or multiple parameters and assigns it a class.

Use the QoS Policy, similar to a security policy, to set the criteria that identifies traffic:

- Applications and application groups.
- Source zones, source addresses, and source users.
- Destination zones and destination addresses.

- Services and service groups limited to specific TCP and/or UDP port numbers.
- URL categories, including custom URL categories.

The QoS Policy in the web interface (**Policies** > **QoS**) allows you to associate the criteria used to specify traffic with a QoS class.

QoS Policy Rule					
General	Source	Destination	Application	Service/URL Category	Other Settings
Class		1			
Schedule		None			
Schedule		None			

#### **QoS Egress Interface**

Enabling a QoS profile on the egress interface of the traffic identified for QoS treatment completes a QoS configuration. The ingress interface for QoS traffic is the interface on which the traffic enters the firewall. The egress interface for QoS traffic is the interface that traffic leaves the firewall from. QoS is always enabled and enforced on a traffic flow's egress interface. The egress interface in a QoS configuration can either be the external- or internal-facing interface of the firewall, depending on the flow of the traffic receiving QoS treatment.

For example, in an enterprise network, if you are limiting employees' download traffic from a specific website, the egress interface in the QoS configuration is the firewall's internal interface, as the traffic flow is from the Internet, through the firewall, and to your company network. Alternatively, when limiting employees' upload traffic to the same website, the egress interface in the QoS configuration is the firewall's external interface, as the traffic you are limiting flows from your company network, through the firewall, and then to the Internet.



See Step 3 to learn how to Identify the egress interface for applications that you identified as needing QoS treatment.
## QoS Cleartext and Tunneled Traffic

Within the QoS physical interface configuration, you can provide more granular QoS settings for cleartext traffic and tunneled traffic leaving through the interface. Individual tunnel interfaces can be assigned different QoS Profiles. Cleartext traffic can be assigned different QoS Profiles according to traffic's source interface and source subnet. In this case, a source interface and source subnet can be associated with a QoS Profile. If you choose not to select cleartext or tunneled traffic for unique QoS treatment, enabling QoS on an interface requires selecting a default QoS Profile to determine how to shape traffic for specific tunnel interfaces or, in the case of cleartext traffic, source interfaces and source subnets.



On Palo Alto Networks firewalls, the term "tunneled traffic" refers to tunnel interface traffic, specifically IPSec traffic in tunnel mode.

## Configure QoS

Use the following task to configure Quality of Service (QoS), including how to create a QoS profile, create a QoS policy, and enable QoS on an interface.

Config	ure QoS						
Step 1	Identify the traffic to which to apply QoS. This example shows how to use QoS to limit web browsing.	Select <b>ACC</b> to view the <b>Application Command Center</b> page. Use the settings and charts on the <b>ACC</b> page to view trends and traffic related to Applications, URL filtering, Threat Prevention, Data Filtering, and HIP Matches. Click any application name to display detailed application information.					
Step 2	Identify the egress interface for applications that you identified as needing QoS treatment. <b>Tip:</b> The egress interface for traffic depends on the traffic flow. If you are shaping incoming traffic, the egress interface is the internal-facing interface. If you are shaping outgoing traffic, the egress interface is the external-facing interface.	<ul> <li>Select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Traffic to view the device's traffic logs.</li> <li>To filter and only show logs for a specific application:</li> <li>If an entry is displayed for the application, click the underlined link in the Application column then click the Submit icon.</li> <li>If an entry is not displayed for the application, click the Add Log icon and search for the application.</li> <li>The Egress I/F in the traffic logs displays each application's egress interface. To display the Egress I/F column if it is not displayed by default:</li> <li>Click any column header to add a column to the log:</li> <li>Receive The Type F NAT Destination Port I 0/18 11:35:3 doited to application if the P Protocol I 0/18 11:35:3 start I Rule I Ingress I/F is the traffic olumns I is not display a detailed log that includes the application's egress interface listed in the Destination section:</li> <li>Click the spyglass icon to the left of any entry to display a detailed log that includes the application's egress interface listed in the Destination section:</li> <li>In this example, the egress interface for web-browsing traffic is ethernet 1/1.</li> </ul>					

Config	ure QoS (Continued)						
Step 3	Create a QoS profile.		Select <b>Netw</b>	/ork > Networl	k Profiles > QoS	Profile and click A	
	You can edit any existing QoS profile,	2.	Enter a des	criptive <b>Profile</b>	Name.		
	profile name.	3.	Enter an <b>E</b> g the QoS Pr	<b>jress Max</b> to se ofile.	et the overall bar	dwidth allocation	
		4.	Enter an <b>E</b> g	<b>gress Guarant</b> 5 Profile.	eed to set the g	aranteed bandwid	
			Any guai	traffic that exe canteed limit is	ceeds the QoS P best effort but i	Profile's egress s not guaranteed.	
		5.	In the Class QoS classes	ses section, spec	cify how to treat	up to eight individ	
			a. Click Ad	<b>d</b> to add a class	s to the QoS Pro	ofile.	
			b. Select th	e <b>Priority</b> for t	he class.		
			c. Enter an limit for	<b>Egress Max</b> for that individual	or a class to set t class.	he overall bandwic	
			d. Enter an <b>Egress Guaranteed</b> for the class to set the guaranteed bandwidth for that individual class.				
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to	save the QoS	Profile.		
		In	the following	example the	OoS Profile nam	ned Limit Web	
		bar traf sub	ndwidth of 50 ffic that is asso pject to these	) Mbps and a g sociated with c limits.	uaranteed bandy lass 2 in a the Q	vidth of 2 Mbps. A oS policy (Step 4)	
		Qo	5 Profile				
		Ē	Profile				
			Profile Name Limit Web Browsing				
			Egress Guaranteed 0				
			Classes				
			Class	Priority	Egress Max	Egress Guaranteed	
			dass4	high	1000	0	
			dass1	medium	1000	0	
			class3	medium	1000	0	
				and the second sec	1000		
			class5	medium	1000	0	
			dass5 dass6 dass7	medium medium	1000	0	
			<ul> <li>dass5</li> <li>dass6</li> <li>dass7</li> <li>dass8</li> </ul>	medium medium medium medium	1000 1000 1000 1000	0 0 0	
			dass5 dass6 dass7 dass8	medium medium medium	1000 1000 1000	0 0 0	
			dass5     dass5     dass5     dass7     dass8     dass8	medium medium medium	1000 1000 1000	0 0 0	
			dass5     dass6     dass7     dass8     dass8     dass8     dass8     dass8	medium medium medium medium	1000 1000 1000	0 0 0 0	
			dass5     dass6     dass7     dass8     dass8     dass8     dass8	medium medium medium medium	1000 1000 1000	0 0 0 0 0	

Configu	ure QoS (Continued)		
Step 4	Create a QoS policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; QoS</b> and click <b>Add</b> to open the QoS Policy Rule dialog.
		2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, give the QoS Policy Rule a descriptive <b>Name</b> .
		3.	Specify the traffic to which the QoS Policy Rule will apply. Use the <b>Source</b> , <b>Destination</b> , <b>Application</b> , and <b>Service/URL Category</b> tabs to define matching parameters for identifying traffic.
			For example, select the <b>Application</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> and select web-browsing to apply the QoS Policy Rule to that application:
			Qos Policy Rule     Image: Constraintion of the setting
			(Optional) Define additional parameters. For example, on the <b>Source</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> to limit a specific user's web-browsing, in
			this case, user1: QoS Policy Rule General Source Destination Application Service/URL Category Other Settings Any Source Zone A Source Zone A Source User A Source A Sou
		4.	On the <b>Other Settings</b> tab, select a QoS Class to assign to the QoS Policy Rule. For example, assign Class 2 to the user1's
			web-browsing traffic:
			QoS Policy Rule     Image: Constraintion of the setting service/URL Category Other Settings       General     Source     Destination       Class     2     Image: Class setting service/URL Category       Schedule     None     Image: Class setting settin
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the QoS Policy Rule.

### Configure QoS (Continued)

Step 5 Enable the QoS Profile on a physical interface.

You can configure settings to select cleartext and tunneled traffic for unique QoS treatment, in addition to the QoS configuration on the physical interface:

To configure specific settings for cleartext traffic using traffic's source interface and source subnet as criteria for QoS identification and treatment, perform Step 5 - 4.

To apply a QoS profile to a specific tunnel interface(s), perform Step 5 - 5

For more information, see QoS Cleartext and Tunneled Traffic.



Check if the platform you're using supports enabling QoS on a sub-interface by reviewing a summary of the Product Specifications.

It is a best practice to always define the **Egress Max** value for a QoS interface.

- Select **Network > QoS** and click **Add** to open the QoS Interface dialog.
- Enable QoS on the physical interface:

1.

2.

3.

a. On the **Physical Interface** tab, select the **Interface Name** of the interface to apply the QoS Profile to.

In the example, Ethernet 1/1 is the egress interface for web-browsing traffic (see Step 2).

- b. Select Turn on QoS feature on this interface.
- On the **Physical Interface** tab, select a QoS profile to apply by default to all **Clear Text** traffic.

(Optional) Use the Tunnel Interface field to apply a QoS profile by default to all tunneled traffic.

For example, enable QoS on ethernet 1/1 and apply the QoS Profile named Limit Web Browsing as the default QoS Profile for clear text traffic.

QoS Interface		0			
Physical Interface Clear 1	ext Traffic Tunneled Traffic				
Interface Name	ethernet1/1	-			
Egress Max (Mbps)	1000				
	Turn on QoS feature on this interface				
Default Profile					
Clear Tex	Limit Web Browsing	~			
Tunnel Interfac	Tunnel Interface None				
	ОК Санс	:el			

- I. (Optional) On the Clear Text Traffic tab, configure more granular QoS settings for cleartext traffic:
  - Set the **Egress Guaranteed** and **Egress Max** bandwidths for clear text traffic.
  - Click **Add** to apply a QoS Profile to selected clear text traffic, further selecting the traffic for QoS treatment according to source interface and source subnet (creating a QoS node).
- 5. (Optional) On the **Tunneled Traffic** tab, configure more granular QoS settings for tunnel interfaces:
  - Set the **Egress Guaranteed** and **Egress Max** bandwidths for tunneled traffic.
  - Click **Add** to associate a selected tunnel interface with a QoS Profile.
- 6. Click **OK** to save the QoS Profile.
  - **Commit** the changes to enable the QoS Profile on the interface.

### **Configure QoS (Continued)**

Step 6 Verify QoS configuration.

Select **Network > QoS** to view the **QoS Policies** page and click the **Statistics** link to view QoS bandwidth, active sessions of a selected QoS node or class, and active applications for the selected QoS node or class.

For example, see the statistics for ethernet 1/1 with QoS enabled:



Class 2 traffic limited to 2 Mbps of guaranteed bandwidth and a maximum bandwidth of 50 Mbps.

Continue to click the tabs to display further information regarding applications, source users, destination users, security rules and QoS rules.



Bandwidth limits shown on the **QoS Statistics** window include a hardware adjustment factor.

## Configure QoS for a Virtual System

QoS can be configured for a single or several Virtual Systems within a Palo Alto Networks firewall. Because a virtual system is an independent firewall, QoS must be configured independently for a single virtual system to apply a QoS configuration to only that virtual system.

Configuring QoS for a virtual system is similar to configuring QoS on a physical firewall, with the exception that configuring QoS for a virtual system requires specifying the traffic flow's source and destination zones and source and destination interfaces. Because a virtual system exists without set physical boundaries (such as a physical interface) that traffic flows through, specifying source and destination zones and interfaces of a traffic flow allows you to control and shape traffic for that virtual system specifically, as a traffic flow spans more than one virtual system in a virtual environment.

The example below shows two virtual systems configured within a firewall. VSYS 1 (purple) and VSYS 2 (red) each have QoS configured to prioritize or limit two distinct traffic flows, indicated by their corresponding purple (VSYS 1) and red (VSYS 2) lines. The QoS nodes indicate the points at which QoS traffic is identified and then shaped in each virtual system.



Config	Configure QoS in a Virtual System Environment							
Step 1	Confirm that the appropriate interfaces, virtual routers, and security zones are associated with each virtual system.	<ul> <li>To view configured interfaces, select Network &gt; Interface.</li> <li>To view configured zones, select Network &gt; Zones.</li> <li>To view information on defined virtual routers, select Network Virtual Routers.</li> </ul>						
Step 2	Identify traffic to apply QoS to.	Select ACC to view the Application Command Center page. Use the settings and charts on the ACC page to view trends and traffic related to Applications, URL filtering, Threat Prevention, Data Filtering, and HIP Matches. To view information for a specific virtual system, select the virtual system from the Virtual System drop-down: Dashboard ACC Monitor Virtual System Accenter (virtual System) MIS-V5YS (views3) views(1)(views1) views(1)(views2) Views(2)(views3) views(2)(views(2)(views3) views(2)(						

### **Configure QoS in a Virtual System Environment**

- Step 3 Identify the egress interface for Select Monitor > Logs > Traffic to view the device's traffic logs. Each applications that you identified as needing entry has the option to display columns with information necessary QoS treatment. to configure QoS in a virtual system environment: virtual system In a virtual system environment, QoS is applied to traffic on the traffic's egress egress interface point on the virtual system. Depending ingress interface on a virtual system's configuration and the QoS policy, the egress point of QoS source zone traffic could be associated with a physical destination zone interface or could be a configured zone. To display a column if it is not displayed by default: This example shows how to limit Click any column header to add a column to the log: web-browsing traffic on vsys 1. To Port NAT Destination Port Receive Time 🔽 Type IP Protocol 10/18 11:35:3 III Columns Þ Þ Application Þ 10/18 11:35:3 Adjust Columns URL Category Þ 10/18 11:35:38 start Action Rule Þ 10/18 11:35:38 start Ingress I/F 10/18 11:35:27 Þ start Earess I/F
  - Click the spyglass icon to the left of any entry to display a detailed log that includes the application's egress interface, as well as source and destination zones, in the **Source** and **Destination** sections:



For example, for web-browsing traffic from VSYS 1, the ingress interface is ethernet 1/2, the egress interface is ethernet 1/1, the source zone is *trust* and the destination zone is *untrust*.

Configu	ure QoS in a Virtual System Environmer	nt	
Step 4	Create a QoS Profile.	1.	Select Network > Network Profiles > QoS Profile and click Add
	You can edit any existing QoS Profile, including the default by clicking the	2.	Enter a descriptive <b>Profile Name</b> .
	profile name.	3.	Enter an <b>Egress Max</b> to set the overall bandwidth allocation for the QoS profile.
		4.	Enter an <b>Egress Guaranteed</b> to set the guaranteed bandwidth for the QoS profile.
			Any traffic that exceeds the QoS profile's egress guaranteed limit is best effort but is not guaranteed.
		5.	In the Classes section of the <b>QoS Profile</b> , specify how to treat up to eight individual QoS classes:
			a. Click <b>Add</b> to add a class to the QoS Profile.
			b. Select the <b>Priority</b> for the class.
			c. Enter an <b>Egress Max</b> for a class to set the overall bandwidth limit for that individual class.
			d. Enter an <b>Egress Guaranteed</b> for the class to set the guaranteed bandwidth for that individual class.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the QoS profile.

### **Configure QoS in a Virtual System Environment**

Step 5 Create a QoS policy. 1. Select **Policies > QoS** and click **Add** to open the QoS Policy Rule dialog. In a multi-VSYS environment, traffic can 2. On the General tab, give the QoS Policy Rule a descriptive span more than one virtual system before Name. the ingress point on the virtual system you are configuring QoS for. Specifying 3. Specify the traffic to which the QoS policy rule will apply. Use source and destination zones for QoS the Source, Destination, Application, and Service/URL traffic ensures that the traffic is correctly **Category** tabs to define matching parameters for identifying identified as it flows through the specific traffic. virtual system (in this example, vsys 1) For example, select the **Application** tab, click **Add** and select and QoS is applied to the traffic only for web-browsing to apply the QoS Policy Rule to that application: that designated virtual system (and not QoS Policy Rule applied to traffic for other configured virtual systems). Application Service/URL Cate Destination Any Applications 🔲 🏢 web-browsing 4. On the **Source** tab, click **Add** to select the source zone of vsys 1's web-browsing traffic. QoS Policy Rule Source Destination Application Service/URL Category General Any Any an Source Address Source Zone V pag 5. On the **Destination** tab, click **Add** to select the destination zone of vsys 1's web-browsing traffic. QoS Policy Rule Destination Select Any Destination Zone 🔺 **Destination Address** V pag On the **Other Settings** tab, and select a **QoS Class** to assign to 6. the QoS policy rule. For example, assign Class 2 to web-browsing traffic on vsys 1: QoS Policy Rule Service/URL Cate Other Setting Class 2 Schedule None Click **OK** to save the QoS policy rule.

Configure QoS in a Virtual System Environment							
Step 6	Enable the QoS Profile on a physical interface.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; QoS</b> and click <b>Add</b> to open the QoS Interface dialog.				
	It is a best practice to always define	2.	Enable QoS on the physical interface:				
	the <b>Egress Max</b> value for a QoS interface.		a. On the <b>Physical Interface</b> tab, select the <b>Interface Name</b> of the interface to apply the QoS Profile to.				
			In this example, ethernet $1/1$ is the egress interface for web-browsing traffic on vsys 1 (see Step 2).				
			QoS Interface       Interface         Physical Interface       Clear Text Traffic         Interface Name       ethernet1/1         Egress Max (Mbps)       1000         Image: Clear Text Traffic       Turn on QoS feature on this interface         Default Profile       Clear Text Image: Clear Text Imag				
			b. Select Turn on QoS feature on this interface.				
		3.	On the <b>Physical Interface</b> tab, select the default QoS profile to apply to all <b>Clear Text</b> traffic.				
			(Optional) Use the <b>Tunnel Interface</b> field to apply a default QoS profile to all tunneled traffic.				
		4.	(Optional) On the <b>Clear Text Traffic</b> tab, configure additional QoS settings for clear text traffic:				
			• Set the <b>Egress Guaranteed</b> and <b>Egress Max</b> bandwidths for clear text traffic.				
			• Click <b>Add</b> to apply a QoS Profile to selected clear text traffic, further selecting the traffic for QoS treatment according to source interface and source subnet (creating a QoS node).				
		5.	(Optional) On the <b>Tunneled Traffic</b> tab, configure additional QoS settings for tunnel interfaces:				
			• Set the <b>Egress Guaranteed</b> and <b>Egress Max</b> bandwidths for tunneled traffic.				
			• Click <b>Add</b> to associate a selected tunnel interface with a QoS Profile.				
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save changes.				
		7.	<b>Commit</b> the changes.				

Config	Configure QoS in a Virtual System Environment							
Step 7	Verify QoS configuration.	•	Select <b>Network &gt; QoS</b> to view the QoS Policies page. The <b>QoS</b> <b>Policies</b> page verifies that QoS is enabled and includes a <b>Statistics</b> link. Click the Statistics link to view QoS bandwidth, active sessions of a selected QoS node or class, and active applications for the selected QoS node or class.					
		•	In a multi-VSYS environment, sessions cannot span multiple systems. Multiple sessions are created for one traffic flow if the traffic passes through more than one virtual system. To browse sessions running on the firewall and view applied QoS Rules and QoS Classes, select <b>Monitor &gt; Session Browser</b> .					

© Palo Alto Networks, Inc.

## QoS Use Case Examples

The following use cases demonstrate how to use QoS in common scenarios:

- ▲ Use Case: QoS for a Single User
- ▲ QoS for Voice and Video Applications

## Use Case: QoS for a Single User

A CEO finds that during periods of high network usage, she is unable to access enterprise applications to respond effectively to critical business communications. The IT admin wants to ensure that all traffic to and from the CEO receives preferential treatment over other employee traffic so that she is guaranteed not only access to, but high performance of, critical network resources.

### Apply QoS to a Single User

Step 1 The admin creates the QoS profile *CEO\_traffic* to define how traffic originating from the CEO will be treated and shaped as it flows out of the company network:

QoS Profile									
Profile									
Profile Name	Profile Name CEO_traffic								
Egress Max	1000								
Egress Guaranteed	Egress Guaranteed 50								
Classes									
Class		Priority		Egress Max	Egress Guaranteed				
dass1		high			50				

The admin assigns a guaranteed bandwidth (**Egress Guaranteed**) of 50 Mbps to ensure that the CEO will have that amount that bandwidth guaranteed to her at all times (more than she would need to use), regardless of network congestion.

The admin continues by designating Class 1 traffic as high priority and sets the profile's maximum bandwidth usage (**Egress Max**) to 1000 Mbps, the same maximum bandwidth for the interface that the admin will enable QoS on. The admin is choosing to not restrict the CEO's bandwidth usage in any way.



It is a best practice to populate the **Egress Max** field for a QoS profile, even if the max bandwidth of the profile matches the max bandwidth of the interface. The QoS profile's max bandwidth should never exceed the max bandwidth of the interface you are planning to enable QoS on.

#### Apply QoS to a Single User (Continued)

Step 2 The admin creates a QoS policy to identify the CEO's traffic (Policies > QoS) and assigns it the class that he defined in the QoS profile (see Step 1). Because User-ID is configured, the admin uses the Source tab in the QoS policy to singularly identify the CEO's traffic by her company network username. (If User-ID is not configured, the administrator could Add the CEO's IP address under Source Address. See User-ID.):

QoS Policy	Rule							0
General	Source	Destination	Application	Service/URL Category	Other Settings			
🔽 Any			<b>V</b>	Any	[	Select	-	
Source	Source Zone			Source Address 🔺		Source User		
						companynet	work\CEO	

The admin associates the CEO's traffic with Class 1 (**Other Settings** tab) and then continues to populate the remaining required policy fields; the admin gives the policy a descriptive **Name** (**General** tab) and selects **Any** for the **Source Zone** (**Source** tab) and **Destination Zone** (**Destination** tab):

	Name	Tags	Zone	Address	User	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Class	Schedule
1	Video	none	any	any	any	any	any	<ul> <li>google-video</li> <li>http-video</li> <li>youtube</li> </ul>	any	1	none
2	HTTPS	none (	any	any	S companynetwork\JoeAdmin	any	any	web-browsing	any	2	none
3	FTP	none	any	any	any	any	any	🗐 ftp	any	4	none
4	Guarantee CEO bandwidth	none	any	any	Scompanynetwork\CEO	any	any	any	any	1	none

Step 3 Now that Class 1 is associated with the CEO's traffic, the admin enables QoS by checking **Turn on QoS feature on interface** and selecting the traffic flow's egress interface. The egress interface for the CEO's traffic flow is the external-facing interface, in this case, ethernet 1/2:

QoS Interface						0
Physical Interface	Clear T	ext Traffic	Tunneled Traffic			
Interfac	e Name e	thernet 1/2				~
Egress Max	(Mbps) 1	000				
— Default Profile —		🛛 Turn on Qo	S feature on this interfa	ace		
	Clear Text	CEO_traffic				-
Tunnel Interface None						-
					ок	Cancel

Because the admin wants to ensure that all traffic originating from the CEO is guaranteed by the QoS profile and associated QoS policy he created, he selects the *CEO\_traffic* to apply to **Clear Text** traffic flowing from ethernet 1/2.

### Apply QoS to a Single User (Continued)

Step 4 After committing the QoS configuration, the admin navigates to the **Network > QoS** page to confirm that the QoS profile *CEO\_traffic* is enabled on the external-facing interface, ethernet 1/2:

Name	Guaranteed Egress (Mbps)	Maximum Egress (Mbps)	Profile	Enabled	
ethernet1/2		1,000.000		<b>V</b>	Statistics
💼 Tunneled Traffic	0.000	0.000			
🖉 Clear Text Traffic	50.000	0.000	CEO_traffic		
ethemet1/18		0.000		<b>V</b>	Statistics
🗯 Tunneled Traffic	0.000	0.000			
🖉 Clear Text Traffic	0.000	0.000	Limit Facebook apps		
<ul> <li>Facebook Apps (ethernet1/19 - any)</li> </ul>			Limit Facebook apps		

He clicks **Statistics** to view how traffic originating with the CEO (Class 1) is being shaped as it flows from ethernet 1/2:



This case demonstrates how to apply QoS to traffic originating from a single source user. However, if you also wanted to guarantee or shape traffic to a destination user, you could configure a similar QoS setup. Instead of, or in addition to this work flow, create a QoS policy that specifies the user's IP address as the **Destination Address** on the **Policies > QoS** page (instead of specifying the user's source information, as shown in Step 2) and then enable QoS on the network's internal-facing interface on the **Network > QoS** page (instead of the external-facing interface, as shown in Step 3.)

## QoS for Voice and Video Applications

Voice and video traffic is particularly sensitive to measurements that the QoS feature shapes and controls, especially latency and jitter. For voice and video transmissions to be audible and clear, voice and video packets cannot be dropped, delayed, or delivered inconsistently. A best practice for voice and video applications, in addition to guaranteeing bandwidth, is to guarantee priority to voice and video traffic.

In this example, employees at a company branch office are experiencing difficulties and unreliability in using video conferencing and Voice-over-IP (VoIP) technologies to conduct business communications with other branch offices, with partners, and with customers. An IT admin intends to implement QoS in order to address these issues and ensure effective and reliable business communication for the branch employees. Because the admin wants to guarantee QoS to both incoming and outgoing network traffic, he will enable QoS on both the firewall's internal- and external-facing interfaces.

### **Ensure Quality for Voice and Video Applications**

Step 1 The admin creates a QoS profile, defining Class 2 so that any traffic associated with Class 2 receives real-time priority and on an interface with a maximum bandwidth of 1000 Mbps, is guaranteed a bandwidth of 250 Mbps at all times, including peak periods of network usage.

Real-time priority is typically recommended for applications affected by latency, and is particularly useful in guaranteeing performance and quality of voice and video applications.

On the **Network > Network Profiles > Qos Profile** page, the admin clicks **Add**, enters the **Profile Name** *ensure voip-video traffic* and defines Class 2 traffic.

oS Profile									
Profile									
Profile Name	Profile Name ensure voip-video traffic								
Egress Max	1000	1000							
Egress Guaranteed	250	250							
Classes									
Class		Priority	Egress Max	Egress Guaranteed					
dass2		real-time	1000	250					

#### Ensure Quality for Voice and Video Applications (Continued)

Step 2 The admin creates a QoS policy to identify voice and video traffic. Because the company does not have one standard voice and video application, the admin wants to ensure QoS is applied to a few applications that are widely and regularly used by employees to communicate with other offices, with partners, and with customers. On the Policies > QoS > QoS Policy Rule > Applications tab, the admin clicks Add and opens the Application Filter window. The admin continues by selecting criteria to filter the applications he wants to apply QoS to, choosing the Subcategory *voip-video*, and narrowing that down by specifying only voip-video applications that are both low-risk and widely-used.

The application filter is a dynamic tool that, when used to filter applications in the QoS policy, allows QoS to be applied to all applications that meet the criteria of *voip-video*, *low risk*, and *widely used* at any given time.



The admin names the Application Filter voip-video-low-risk and includes it in the QoS policy:



The admin names the QoS policy *Voice-Video* and associates the *voip-video-low-risk* application filter with Class 2 traffic (as he defined it in Step 1). He is going to use the *Voice-Video* QoS policy for both incoming and outgoing QoS traffic, so he sets **Source** and **Destination** information to **Any**:



#### Ensure Quality for Voice and Video Applications (Continued)

Step 3 Because the admin wants to ensure QoS for both incoming and outgoing voice and video communications, he enables QoS on the network's external-facing interface (to apply QoS to outgoing communications) and to the internal-facing interface (to apply QoS to incoming communications).

The admin begins by enabling the QoS profile he created in Step 1, *ensure voice-video traffic* (Class 1 in this profile is associated with policy created in Step 2, *Voice-Video*) on the external-facing interface, in this case, ethernet 1/2.

QoS Interfac	e				0	
Physical Int	erface Clea	r Text Traffic	Tunneled Traffic			
	Interface Name	ethernet1/2			-	
E	gress Max (Mbps	1000				
	Turn on QoS feature on this interface					
Default P	rofile					
	Clear Text ensure voice-video traffic				•	
Tunnel Interface None				-		

He then enables the same QoS profile *ensure voip-video traffic* on the internal-facing interface, in this case, ethernet 1/1.

Qo5 Interface			0
Physical Interface Clear T	ext Traffic T	unneled Traffic	
Interface Name	ethernet1/1		
Egress Max (Mbps)	1000		
l l	🗹 Turn on QoS fe	ature on this interface	
Default Profile			
Clear Text	ensure voice-vid	eo traffic	•
Tunnel Interface	None		•

Step 4 The admin confirms that QoS is enabled for both incoming and outgoing voice and video traffic:

Name	Guaranteed Egress (Mbps)	Maximum Egress (Mbps)	Profile	Enabled	
ethernet1/1		1,000.000	Regelation of the second se		Statistics
	0.000	0.000			
🖉 Clear Text Traffic	250.000	0.000	ensure voice-video traffic		
ethernet1/2		1,000.000		<b>V</b>	Statistics
B Tunneled Traffic	0.000	0.000			
🖉 Clear Text Traffic	250.000	0.000	ensure voice-video traffic		

The admin has successfully enabled QoS on both the network's internal- and external-facing interfaces. Real-time priority is now ensured for voice and video application traffic as it flows both into and out of the network, ensuring that these communications, which are particularly sensitive to latency and jitter, can be used reliably and effectively to perform both internal and external business communications.

# VPNs

Virtual private networks (VPNs) create tunnels that allow users/systems to connect securely over a public network, as if they were connecting over a local area network (LAN). To set up a VPN tunnel, you need a pair of devices that can authenticate each other and encrypt the flow of information between them. The devices can be a pair of Palo Alto Networks firewalls, or a Palo Alto Networks firewall along with a VPN-capable device from another vendor.

- ▲ VPN Deployments
- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN Overview
- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN Concepts
- ▲ Set Up Site-to-Site VPN
- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN Quick Configs

## **VPN** Deployments

The Palo Alto Networks firewall supports the following VPN deployments:

- Site-to-Site VPN— A simple VPN that connects a central site and a remote site, or a hub and spoke VPN that connects a central site with multiple remote sites. The firewall uses the IP Security (IPSec) set of protocols to set up a secure tunnel for the traffic between the two sites. See Site-to-Site VPN Overview.
- **Remote User-to-Site VPN**—A solution that uses the GlobalProtect agent to allow a remote user to establish a secure connection through the firewall. This solution uses SSL and IPSec to establish a secure connection between the user and the site. Refer to the GlobalProtect Administrator's Guide.
- Large Scale VPN— The Palo Alto Networks GlobalProtect Large Scale VPN (LSVPN) provides a simplified mechanism to roll out a scalable hub and spoke VPN with up to 1024 satellite offices. The solution requires Palo Alto Networks firewalls to be deployed at the hub and at every spoke. It uses certificates for device authentication, SSL for securing communication between all components, and IPSec to secure data. See Large Scale VPN (LSVPN).



#### Figure: VPN Deployments

## Site-to-Site VPN Overview

A VPN connection that allows you to connect two Local Area Networks (LANs) is called a site-to-site VPN. You can configure route-based VPNs to connect Palo Alto Networks firewalls located at two sites or to connect a Palo Alto Networks firewall with a third-party security device at another location. The firewall can also interoperate with third-party policy-based VPN devices; the Palo Alto Networks firewall supports route-based VPN.

The Palo Alto Networks firewall sets up a route-based VPN, where the firewall makes a routing decision based on the destination IP address. If traffic is routed to a specific destination through a VPN tunnel, then it is handled as VPN traffic.

The IP Security (IPSec) set of protocols is used to set up a secure tunnel for the VPN traffic, and the information in the TCP/IP packet is secured (and encrypted if the tunnel type is ESP). The IP packet (header and payload) is embedded in another IP payload, and a new header is applied and then sent through the IPSec tunnel. The source IP address in the new header is that of the local VPN peer and the destination IP address is that of the VPN peer on the far end of the tunnel. When the packet reaches the remote VPN peer (the firewall at the far end of the tunnel), the outer header is removed and the original packet is sent to its destination.

In order to set up the VPN tunnel, first the peers need to be authenticated. After successful authentication, the peers negotiate the encryption mechanism and algorithms to secure the communication. The Internet Key Exchange (IKE) process is used to authenticate the VPN peers, and IPSec Security Associations (SAs) are defined at each end of the tunnel to secure the VPN communication. IKE uses digital certificates or preshared keys, and the Diffie Hellman keys to set up the SAs for the IPSec tunnel. The SAs specify all of the parameters that are required for secure transmission— including the security parameter index (SPI), security protocol, cryptographic keys, and the destination IP address—encryption, data authentication, data integrity, and endpoint authentication.

The following figure shows a VPN tunnel between two sites. When a client that is secured by VPN Peer A needs content from a server located at the other site, VPN Peer A initiates a connection request to VPN Peer B. If the security policy permits the connection, VPN Peer A uses the IKE Crypto profile parameters (IKE phase 1) to establish a secure connection and authenticate VPN Peer B. Then, VPN Peer A establishes the VPN tunnel using the IPSec Crypto profile, which defines the IKE phase 2 parameters to allow the secure transfer of data between the two sites.



### Figure: Site-to-Site VPN

A VPN connection provides secure access to information between two or more sites. In order to provide secure access to resources and reliable connectivity, a VPN connection needs the following components:

- IKE Gateway
- Tunnel Interface
- Tunnel Monitoring
- ▲ Internet Key Exchange (IKE) for VPN

## **IKE Gateway**

The Palo Alto Networks firewalls or a firewall and another security device that initiate and terminate VPN connections across the two networks are called the IKE Gateways. To set up the VPN tunnel and send traffic between the IKE Gateways, each peer must have an IP address—static or dynamic—or FQDN. The VPN peers use preshared keys or certificates to mutually authenticate each other.

The peers must also negotiate the mode—main or aggressive—for setting up the VPN tunnel and the SA lifetime in IKE Phase 1. Main mode protects the identity of the peers and is more secure because more packets are exchanged when setting up the tunnel. Main mode is the recommended mode for IKE negotiation if both peers support it. Aggressive mode uses fewer packets to set up the VPN tunnel and is hence faster but a less secure option for setting up the VPN tunnel.

See Set up an IKE Gateway for configuration details.

## **Tunnel Interface**

To set up a VPN tunnel, the Layer 3 interface at each end must have a logical *tunnel* interface for the firewall to connect to and establish a VPN tunnel. A tunnel interface is a logical (virtual) interface that is used to deliver traffic between two endpoints. If you configure any proxy IDs, the proxy ID is counted toward any IPSec tunnel capacity.

The tunnel interface must belong to a security zone to apply policy and it must be assigned to a virtual router in order to use the existing routing infrastructure. Ensure that the tunnel interface and the physical interface are assigned to the same virtual router so that the firewall can perform a route lookup and determine the appropriate tunnel to use.

Typically, the Layer 3 interface that the tunnel interface is attached to belongs to an external zone, for example the untrust zone. While the tunnel interface can be in the same security zone as the physical interface, for added security and better visibility, you can create a separate zone for the tunnel interface. If you create a separate zone for the tunnel interface, say a VPN zone, you will need to create security policies to enable traffic to flow between the VPN zone and the trust zone.

To route traffic between the sites, a tunnel interface does not require an IP address. An IP address is only required if you want to enable tunnel monitoring or if you are using a dynamic routing protocol to route traffic across the tunnel. With dynamic routing, the tunnel IP address serves as the next hop IP address for routing traffic to the VPN tunnel.

If you are configuring the Palo Alto Networks firewall with a VPN peer that performs policy-based VPN, you must configure a local and remote Proxy ID when setting up the IPSec tunnel. Each peer compares the Proxy-IDs configured on it with what is actually received in the packet in order to allow a successful IKE phase 2 negotiation. If multiple tunnels are required, configure unique Proxy IDs for each tunnel interface; a tunnel interface can have a maximum of 250 ProxyIDs. Each Proxy ID counts towards the IPSec VPN tunnel capacity of the firewall, and the tunnel capacity varies by the firewall model.

See Set up an IPSec Tunnel for configuration details.

## **Tunnel Monitoring**

For a VPN tunnel, you can check connectivity to a destination IP address across the tunnel. The network monitoring profile on the firewall allows you to verify connectivity (using ICMP) to a destination IP address or a next hop at a specified polling interval, and to specify an action on failure to access the monitored IP address.

If the destination IP is unreachable, you either configure the firewall to wait for the tunnel to recover or configure automatic failover to another tunnel. In either case, the firewall generates a system log that alerts you to a tunnel failure and renegotiates the IPSec keys to accelerate recovery.

The default monitoring profile is configured to wait for the tunnel to recover; the polling interval is 3 seconds and the failure threshold is 5.

See Set up Tunnel Monitoring for configuration details.

## Internet Key Exchange (IKE) for VPN

The IKE process allows the VPN peers at both ends of the tunnel to encrypt and decrypt packets using mutually agreed-upon keys or certificate and method of encryption. The IKE process occurs in two phases: IKE Phase 1 and IKE Phase 2. Each of these phases use keys and encryption algorithms that are defined using cryptographic profiles— IKE crypto profile and IPSec crypto profile—and the result of the IKE negotiation is a Security Association (SA). An SA is a set of mutually agreed-upon keys and algorithms that are used by both VPN peers to allow the flow of data across the VPN tunnel. The following illustration depicts the key exchange process for setting up the VPN tunnel:



### **IKE Phase 1**

In this phase, the firewalls use the parameters defined in the IKE Gateway configuration and the IKE Crypto profile to authenticate each other and set up a secure control channel. IKE Phase supports the use of preshared keys or digital certificates (which use public key infrastructure, PKI) for mutual authentication of the VPN peers. Preshared keys are a simple solution for securing smaller networks because they do not require the support of a PKI infrastructure. Digital certificates can be more convenient for larger networks or implementations that require stronger authentication security.

When using certificates, make sure that the CA issuing the certificate is trusted by both gateway peers and that the maximum length of certificates in the certificate chain is 5 or less. With IKE fragmentation enabled, the firewall can reassemble IKE messages with up to 5 certificates in the certificate chain and successfully establish a VPN tunnel.

The IKE-crypto profile defines the following options that are used in the IKE SA negotiation:

- Diffie-Hellman (DH) Group for generating symmetrical keys for IKE. The Diffie Hellman algorithm uses the private key of one party and the public key of the other to create a shared secret, which is an encrypted key that is shared by both VPN tunnel peers. The DH groups supported on the firewall are: Group 1—768 bits; Group 2—1024 bits (the default); Group 5—1536 bits; Group 14—2048 bits.
- Authentication options—sha1; sha 256; sha 384; sha 512; md5
- Encryption algorithms—3des; aes128; aes192; aes256

### IKE Phase 2

After the tunnel is secured and authenticated, in Phase 2 the channel is further secured for the transfer of data between the networks. IKE Phase 2 uses the keys that were established in Phase 1 of the process and the IPSec Crypto profile, which defines the IPSec protocols and keys used for the SA in IKE Phase 2.

The IPSEC uses the following protocols to enable secure communication:

- Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP)—Allows you to encrypt the entire IP packet, and authenticate the source and verify integrity of the data. While ESP requires that you encrypt and authenticate the packet, you can choose to only encrypt or only authenticate by setting the encryption option to Null; using encryption without authentication is discouraged.
- Authentication Header (AH)—Authenticates the source of the packet and verifies data integrity. AH does not encrypt the data payload and is unsuited for deployments where data privacy is important. AH is commonly used when the main concern is to verify the legitimacy of the peer, and data privacy is not required.

Table. Algorithms Supported for in SEC Authentication and Encryption	Table:	Algorithms	Supported	for IPSEC	Authentication	and Encryption
--	--------	------------	-----------	-----------	----------------	----------------

ESP	АН				
Diffie Hellman Exchange options supported					

- Group 1—768 bits
- Group 2—1024 bits (the default)
- Group 5—1536 bits
- Group 14—2048 bits.
- no-pfs—By default, Perfect Forward Secrecy (pfs) is enabled. With PFS is enabled, a new DH key is generated in IKE phase 2 using one of the groups listed above; this key is independent of the keys exchanged in IKE phase1, and therefore allows for more secure transfer of data.

No-pfs implies that the DH key created at phase 1 is not renewed and a single key is used for the IPSEC SA negotiations. Both VPN peers must be enabled or disabled for Perfect Forward Secrecy.

Encryption algorithms supported	
• 3des	
• aes128	
• aes192	
• aes256	
• aes128ccm16	
• null	
Authentication algorithms supported	
• md5	• md5
• sha 1	• sha 1
• sha 256	• sha 256
• sha 384	• sha 384
• sha512	• sha 512
• none	

### Methods of Securing IPSec VPN Tunnels (IKE Phase 2)

IPSec VPN tunnels can be secured using manual keys or auto keys. In addition, IPSec configuration options include Diffie-Hellman Group for key agreement, and/or an encryption algorithm and a hash for message authentication.

• **Manual Key**—Manual key is typically used if the Palo Alto Networks firewall is establishing a VPN tunnel with a legacy device, or if you want to reduce the overhead of generating session keys. If using manual keys, the same key must be configured on both peers.

Manual keys are not recommended for establishing a VPN tunnel because the session keys can be compromised when relaying the key information between the peers; if the keys are compromised, the data transfer is no longer secure.

• Auto Key— Auto Key allows you to automatically generate keys for setting up and maintaining the IPSec tunnel based on the algorithms defined in the IPSec Crypto profile.

## Set Up Site-to-Site VPN

To set up site-to-site VPN:

- Make sure that your Ethernet interfaces, virtual routers, and zones are configured properly. For more information, see Set Up Interfaces and Zones.
- Create your tunnel interfaces. Ideally, put the tunnel interfaces in a separate zone, so that tunneled traffic can use different policies.
- Set up static routes or assign routing protocols to redirect traffic to the VPN tunnels. To support dynamic routing (OSPF, BGP, RIP are supported), you must assign an IP address to the tunnel interface.
- Define IKE gateways for establishing communication between the peers across each end of the VPN tunnel; also define the cryptographic profile that specifies the protocols and algorithms for identification, authentication, and encryption to be used for setting up VPN tunnels in IKEv1 Phase 1. See Set up an IKE Gateway and Define IKE Crypto Profiles.
- Configure the parameters that are needed to establish the IPSec connection for transfer of data across the VPN tunnel; See Set up an IPSec Tunnel. For IKEv1 Phase-2, see Define IPSec Crypto Profiles.
- Optional) Specify how the firewall will monitor the IPSec tunnels. See Set up Tunnel Monitoring.
- Define security policies to filter and inspect the traffic.



If there is a deny rule at the end of the security rulebase, intra-zone traffic is blocked unless otherwise allowed. Rules to allow IKE and IPSec applications must be explicitly included above the deny rule.



If your VPN traffic is passing through (not originating or terminating on) a PA-7000 Series firewall, configure bi-directional Security policy rules to allow the ESP or AH traffic in both directions.

When these tasks are complete, the tunnel is ready for use. Traffic destined for the zones/addresses defined in policy is automatically routed properly based on the destination route in the routing table, and handled as VPN traffic. For a few examples on site-to-site VPN, see Site-to-Site VPN Quick Configs.

## Set up an IKE Gateway

To set up a VPN tunnel, the VPN peers or gateways must authenticate each other using preshared keys or digital certificates and establish a secure channel in which to negotiate the IPSec security association (SA) that will be used to secure traffic between the hosts on each side.

Set up	an IKE Gateway		
Step 1	Define the new IKE Gateway.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IKE Gateway</b> and enter a <b>Name f</b> or the new gateway configuration.
		2.	Select the outgoing Interface on the firewall.
		3.	From the <b>Local IP address</b> drop-down list, select the IP address that will be used to as the endpoint for the VPN connection. This is the external-facing interface with a publicly routable IP address on the firewall.

Set up	an IKE Gateway		
Step 2	Define the settings for the peer at the far end of the tunnel.	1.	Select whether the peer uses a <b>Static</b> or <b>Dynamic</b> IP address in <b>Peer IP Type</b> .
_		2.	If the <b>Peer IP Address</b> is static, enter the IP address of the peer.
Step 3	Select the peer authentication method.	•	For configuring a <b>Pre-Shared Key</b> , see Step 4.
	This is required for static and dynamic peers.	•	For configuring digital <b>Certificates</b> , see Step 5.
Step 4	Configure a pre-shared key.	1.	Enter a security key to use for authentication across the tunnel. This key must be the same on both peers.
			Generate a key that is hard to crack with dictionary attacks; use a pre-shared key generator, if necessary. Use a maximum of 255 ASCII or non-ASCII characters.
		2.	Continue with Step 6.
Step 5	Configure certificate-based authentication.	1.	Select <b>Certificate</b> for the <b>Authentication</b> method and select the signed certificate from the <b>Local Certificate</b> drop-down.
-	The pre-requisites for certificate-based authentication are as follows:		If your device is enabled for multi-virtual systems, if the certificate belongs to a virtual system, it must be in the same virtual system as the interface used for the IKE gateway.
<ul> <li>Obtain a signed certificate: See</li> <li>Generate a Certificate on the Firewall or</li> <li>Obtain a Certificate from an External CA.</li> </ul>		2.	From the <b>Local Identification</b> drop-down list, choose one of the following types and enter the value: IP address, FQDN (hostname), User FQDN (email address), Distinguished Name (subject)
	- <b>Configure the certificate profile</b> : The certificate profile provides the settings that the IKE gateway uses for negotiating and validating certificate authentication with its peer. See Configure a Certificate	3.	From the <b>Peer Identification</b> drop-down, choose one of the following types and enter the value: IP address, FQDN (hostname), User FQDN (email address), Distinguished Name (subject).
	Profile.	4.	Select a <b>Certificate Profile</b> to use.
		5.	Continue with Step 6.

Set up	Set up an IKE Gateway					
Step 6	Configure the additional parameters for IKE phase 1 negotiations—Exchange	1.	Select Network > Network Profiles > IKE Gateways and select the Advanced Phase 1 Options tab.			
	mode, Crypto profile, IKE fragmentation, Dead Peer Detection.	2.	Choose auto, aggressive, or main for the Exchange Mode.			
			When a device is set to use the <b>auto</b> exchange mode, it can accept both main mode and aggressive mode negotiation requests; however, whenever possible, it initiates negotiation and allows exchanges in main mode.			
			If the exchange mode is not set to <b>auto</b> , you must configure both VPN peers with the same exchange mode to allow each peer to accept negotiation requests.			
		3.	Select an existing profile or keep the default profile from <b>IKE</b> <b>Crypto Profile</b> drop-down. For details on defining an IKE Crypto profile, see Define IKE Crypto Profiles.			
		4.	Select <b>Passive Mode</b> if you want the firewall to only respond to IKE connections and never initiate them.			
		5.	Select <b>NAT Traversal Select</b> to have UDP encapsulation used on IKE and UDP protocols, enabling them to pass through intermediate NAT devices.			
		6.	(Only if using certificate-based authentication and the exchange mode is not set as <b>aggressive</b> mode) Select <b>Enable</b> <b>Fragmentation</b> to enable the firewall to operate with IKE Fragmentation.			
		7.	Select the <b>Dead Peer Detection</b> check box and enter an <b>Interval</b> (2 - 100 seconds); For <b>Retry</b> , define the time to delay (2 - 100 seconds) before attempting to re-check availability.			
			Dead peer detection identifies inactive or unavailable IKE peers by sending an IKE phase 1 notification payload to the peer and waiting for an acknowledgment.			
Step 7	Save the changes.	Clic	ck OK and Commit.			

## **Define Cryptographic Profiles**

A cryptographic profile specifies the ciphers used for authentication and/or encryption between two IKE peers, and the lifetime of the key. The time period between each renegotiation is known as the lifetime; when the specified time expires, the firewall renegotiates a new set of keys.

For securing communication across the VPN tunnel, the firewall requires IKE and IPSec cryptographic profiles for completing IKE phase 1 and phase 2 negotiations, respectively. The firewall includes a *default* IKE crypto profile and a *default* IPSec crypto profile that is ready for use.

- ▲ Define IKE Crypto Profiles
- ▲ Define IPSec Crypto Profiles

### Define IKE Crypto Profiles

The IKE crypto profile is used to set up the encryption and authentication algorithms used for the key exchange process in IKE Phase 1, and lifetime of the keys, which specifies how long the keys are valid. To invoke the profile, you must attach it to the IKE Gateway configuration.



All IKE gateways configured on the same interface or local IP address must use the same crypto profile.

Define	an	IKF	Crypto	Profile
001110			0.90.0	

Step 1	Create a new IKE profile.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IKE Crypto and select Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the new profile.</li> </ol>
Step 2	Select the DH Group to use for setting up the key exchange.	Click <b>Add</b> and select the key strength that you want to use for the DH Group. Select more than one DH group if you are not certain of what is supported by the VPN peer. Prioritize the list of ciphers by strength so that the strongest cipher is used for setting up the tunnel.
Step 3	Select the authentication and encryption algorithm.	Click <b>Add</b> and select the <b>Authentication</b> and <b>Encryption</b> algorithms that you want to use for communication between the IKE peers. Selecting multiple algorithms allows the peers to use the strongest cipher/algorithm that is supported on both IKE peers.
Step 4	Specify the duration for which the key is valid.	Select the <b>Lifetime</b> for which the key is valid. The time period between each renegotiation is known as the lifetime; when the specified time expires, the firewall will renegotiate a new set of keys.
Step 5	Save your IKE Crypto profile.	Click <b>OK</b> and click <b>Commit</b> .
Step 6	Attach the IKE Crypto profile to the IKE Gateway configuration.	See Step 6 in Set up an IKE Gateway.

### Define IPSec Crypto Profiles

The IPSec crypto profile is invoked in IKE Phase 2. It specifies how the data is secured within the tunnel when Auto Key IKE is used to automatically generate keys for the IKE SAs.

Define	Define the IPSec Crypto Profile		
Step 1	Create a new IPSec profile.	1.	Select Network > Network Profiles > IPSec Crypto and select Add.
		2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> for the new profile.
		3.	Select the <b>IPSec Protocol</b> —ESP or AH—that you want to apply to secure the data as it traverses across the tunnel.
		4.	Click <b>Add</b> and select the <b>Authentication</b> and <b>Encryption</b> algorithms for ESP, and <b>Authentication</b> algorithms for AH, so that the IKE peers can negotiate the keys for the secure transfer of data across the tunnel.
			Selecting multiple algorithms allows the peers to use the strongest cipher/algorithm that is supported on both IKE peers.
Step 2	Select the DH Group to use for the IPSec SA negotiations in IKE phase 2.	1.	Select the key strength that you want to use from the <b>DH Group</b> drop-down.
			Select more than one DH group if you are not certain of what key strength is supported by the peer at the other end. The strongest cipher will be used for setting up the tunnel.
		2.	Select <b>no-pfs</b> , if you do not want to renew the key that was created at phase 1, the current key is reused for the IPSEC SA negotiations.
Step 3	Specify the duration of the key—time and volume of traffic.	Usi: safe	ng a combination of time and traffic volume allows you to ensure ety of data.
		Sele the keys	ect the <b>Lifetime</b> or time period for which the key is valid. When specified time expires, the firewall will renegotiate a new set of s.
		Sele rene	ect the <b>Lifesize</b> or volume of data after which the keys must be egotiated.
Step 4	Save your IPSec profile.	Clic	k <b>OK</b> and click <b>Commit</b> .
Step 5	Attach the IPSec Profile to an IPSec tunnel configuration.	See	Step 4 in

## Set up an IPSec Tunnel

The IPSec tunnel configuration allows you to authenticate and/or encrypt the data (IP packet) as it traverses across the tunnel.

If you are setting up the Palo Alto Networks firewall to work with a peer that supports policy-based VPN, you must define Proxy IDs. Devices that support policy-based VPN use specific security rules/policies or access-lists (source addresses, destination addresses and ports) for permitting interesting traffic through an IPSec tunnel. These rules are referenced during quick mode/IKE phase 2 negotiation, and are exchanged as Proxy-IDs in the first or the second message of the process. So, if you are configuring the Palo Alto Networks firewall to work with a policy-based VPN peer, for a successful phase 2 negotiation you must define the

Proxy-ID so that the setting on both peers is identical. If the Proxy-ID is not configured, because the Palo Alto Networks firewall supports route-based VPN, the default values used as Proxy-ID are source ip: 0.0.0.0/0, destination ip: 0.0.0.0/0 and application: any; and when these values are exchanged with the peer, it results in a failure to set up the VPN connection.

Set up an IPSec Tunnel					
Step 1	Select Network > IPSec Tunnels> Gener	al an	d enter a <b>Name</b> for the new tunnel.		
Step 2	Select the <b>Tunnel interface</b> that will be used to set up the IPSec tunnel. – To create a new tunnel interface:				
	1. Select Network > Interfaces > Tunnel and click Add.				
	2. In the Interface Name field, specify a numeric suffix, such as .2.				
	3. On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down to define the zone as follows:				
	• To use your trust zone as the termination point for the tunnel, select the zone from the drop-down. Associating the tunnel interface with the same zone (and virtual router) as the external-facing interface on which the packets enter the firewall, mitigates the need to create inter-zone routing.				
	• (Recommended) To create a separate zone for VPN tunnel termination, click <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone (for example vpn-corp), and click <b>OK</b> .				
	4. In the Virtual Router drop-down, select default.				
	5. (Optional) If you want to assign an IPv4 address to the tunnel interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 10.31.32.1/32.				
	6. If you want to assign an IPv6 address to the tunnel interface, see Step 3.				
	7. To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .				
Step 3	(Optional) Enable IPv6 on the tunnel interface.	1. 2. 3.	Select the IPv6 tab on <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Tunnel &gt; IPv6</b> . Select the check box to <b>Enable IPv6 on the interface</b> . This option allows you to route IPv6 traffic over an IPv4 IPSec tunnel and will provide confidentiality between IPv6 networks. The IPv6 traffic is encapsulated by IPv4 and then ESP. To route IPv6 traffic to the tunnel, you can use a static route to the tunnel, or use OSPFv3, or use a Policy-Based Forwarding (PBF) rule to direct traffic to the tunnel. Enter the 64-bit extended unique <b>Interface ID</b> in hexadecimal format, for example, 00:26:08:FF:FE:DE:4E:29. By default, the		
			firewall will use the EUI-64 generated from the physical interface's MAC address.		
		4.	To enter an IPv6 <b>Address</b> , click <b>Add</b> and enter an IPv6 address and prefix length, for example 2001:400:f00::1/64. If Prefix is not selected, the IPv6 address assigned to the interface will be wholly specified in the address text box.		
			a. Select <b>Use interface ID as host portion</b> to assign an IPv6 address to the interface that will use the interface ID as the host portion of the address.		
			b. Select <b>Anycast</b> to include routing through the nearest node.		

Set up	Set up an IPSec Tunnel		
Step 4	Select the type of key that will be used to secure the IPSec tunnel.	<ul><li>Continue to one of the following steps, depending on why type of key exchange you are using:</li><li>Set up Auto Key exchange.</li><li>Set up Auto Key exchange.</li></ul>	
•	Set up Auto Key exchange.	<ol> <li>Select the IKE Gateway. To set up an IKE gateway, see Set up an IKE Gateway.</li> <li>(Optional) Select the default IPSec Crypto Profile. To create a new IPSec Profile, see Define IPSec Crypto Profiles.</li> </ol>	
•	Set up a Manual Key exchange.	<ol> <li>Set up the parameters for the local firewall:         <ol> <li>Specify the SPI for the local firewall. SPI is a 32-bit hexadecimal index that is added to the header for IPSec tunneling to assist in differentiating between IPSec traffic flows; it is used to create the SA required for establishing a VPN tunnel.</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	
		b. Select the <b>Interface</b> that will be the tunnel endpoint, and optionally select the IP address for the local interface that is the endpoint of the tunnel.	
		c. Select the protocol to be used— <b>AH</b> or <b>ESP</b> .	
		d. For AH, select the <b>Authentication</b> method from the drop-down and enter a <b>Key</b> and then <b>Confirm Key</b> .	
		<ul> <li>e. For ESP, select the Authentication method from the drop-down and enter a Key and then Confirm Key. Then, select the Encryption method and enter a Key and then Confirm Key, if needed.</li> </ul>	
		2. Set up the parameters that pertain to the remote VPN peer.	
		a. Specify the <b>SPI</b> for the remote peer.	
		b. Enter the <b>Remote Address</b> , the IP address of the remote peer.	
Step 5	Protect against a replay attack. A replay attack occurs when a packet is maliciously intercepted and retransmitted by the interceptor.	Select the <b>Show Advanced Options</b> check box, select <b>Enable Replay</b> <b>Protection</b> to detect and neutralize against replay attacks.	
Step 6	Preserve the Type of Service header for the priority or treatment of IP packets.	In the <b>Show Advanced Options</b> section, select <b>Copy TOS Header</b> . This copies the Type of Service (TOS) header from the inner IP header to the outer IP header of the encapsulated packets in order to preserve the original TOS information.	
Step 7	Enable Tunnel Monitoring. You need to assign an IP address to the tunnel interface for monitoring.	<ol> <li>To alert the device administrator to tunnel failures and to provide automatic failover to another tunnel interface:</li> <li>Specify a <b>Destination IP</b> address on the other side of the tunnel to determine if the tunnel is working properly.</li> <li>Select a <b>Profile</b> to determine the action on tunnel failure. To create a new profile, see Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile.</li> </ol>	

Set up	an IPSec Tunnel		
Step 8	(Required only if the VPN peer uses policy-based VPN). Create a Proxy ID to identify the VPN peers.	1. 2.	Select Network > IPSec Tunnels > ProxyID. Click Add and enter the IP address for the VPN gateway peers. Provy ID       for the IP address for the VPN gateway peers.         Provy ID       for the IP address for the VPN gateway peers.         Provy ID       for the IP address or IP/onersit, only needed when peer regions it. Protocol       Protocol       Protocol
Step 9	Save your changes	Clie	ck OK and Commit.

## Set up Tunnel Monitoring

To provide uninterrupted VPN service, you can use the Dead Peer Detection capability along with the tunnel monitoring capability on the firewall. You can also monitor the status of the tunnel. These monitoring tasks are described in the following sections:

- ▲ Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile
- ▲ View the Status of the Tunnels

### Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile

A tunnel monitoring profile allows you to verify connectivity between the VPN peers; you can configure the tunnel interface to ping a destination IP address at a specified interval and specify the action if the communication across the tunnel is broken.

Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile		
Step 1	Select Network > Network Profiles > Monitor. A default tunnel monitoring profile is available for use.	
Step 2	Click <b>Add</b> , and enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile.	
Step 3	<ul> <li>Select the Action if the destination IP address is unreachable.</li> <li>Wait Recover—the firewall waits for the tunnel to recover. It continues to use the tunnel interface in routing decisions as if the tunnel were still active.</li> <li>Fail Over—forces traffic to a back-up path if one is available. The firewall disables the tunnel interface, and thereby disables any routes in the routing table that use the interface.</li> <li>In either case, the firewall attempts to accelerate the recovery by negotiating new IPSec keys.</li> </ul>	
Step 4	Specify the <b>Interval</b> and <b>Threshold</b> to trigger the specified action. The threshold specifies the number of heartbeats to wait before taking the specified action. The range is 2-100 and the default is 5. The Interval measures the time between heartbeats. The range is 2-10 and the default is 3 seconds.	
Step 5	Attach the monitoring profile to the IPsec Tunnel configuration. See Enable Tunnel Monitoring.	
### View the Status of the Tunnels

The status of the tunnel informs you about whether or not valid IKE phase-1 and phase-2 SAs have been established, and whether the tunnel interface is up and available for passing traffic.

Because the tunnel interface is a logical interface, it cannot indicate a physical link status. Therefore, you must enable tunnel monitoring so that the tunnel interface can verify connectivity to an IP address and determine if the path is still usable. If the IP address is unreachable, the firewall will either wait for the tunnel to recover or failover. When a failover occurs, the existing tunnel is torn down and routing changes are triggered to set up a new tunnel and redirect traffic.

### **View Tunnel Status**

- 1. Select **Network > IPSec Tunnels**.
- 2. View the **Tunnel Status**.
  - Green indicates a valid IPSec SA tunnel.
  - Red indicates that IPSec SA is not available or has expired.
- 3. View the IKE Gateway Status.
  - Green indicates a valid IKE phase-1 SA.
  - Red indicates that IKE phase-1 SA is not available or has expired.
- 4. View the Tunnel Interface Status.
  - Green indicates that the tunnel interface is up.
  - Red indicates that the tunnel interface is down, because tunnel monitoring is enabled and the status is down.

To troubleshoot a VPN tunnel that is not yet up, see Interpret VPN Error Messages.

# Test VPN Connectivity

### **Test Connectivity**

• Initiate IKE phase 1 by either pinging a host across the tunnel or using the following CLI command:

test vpn ike-sa gateway gateway\_name

• Then enter the following command to test if IKE phase 1 is set up:

show vpn ike-sa gateway gateway\_name

In the output, check if the Security Association displays. If it does not, review the system log messages to interpret the reason for failure.

• Initiate IKE phase 2 by either pinging a host from across the tunnel or using the following CLI command:

test vpn ipsec-sa tunnel tunnel\_name

• Then enter the following command to test if IKE phase 1 is set up:

```
show vpn ipsec-sa tunnel tunnel_name
```

In the output, check if the Security Association displays. If it does not, review the system log messages to interpret the reason for failure.

• To view the VPN traffic flow information, use the following command:

### show vpn-flow

Silon (Fil Then					
admin@PA-500> show	vpn flow	v			
total tunnels confi	igured:		1		
filter - type IPSec	c, state	any			
total IPSec tunnel	configu	red:	1		
total IPSec tunnel	shown:		1		
name	id	state	local-ip	peer-ip	tunnel-i/f
vpn-to-siteB	5	active	100.1.1.1	200.1.1.1	tunnel.41

# Interpret VPN Error Messages

The following table lists some of the common VPN error messages that are logged in the system log.

If error is this:	Try this:
<pre>IKE phase-1 negotiation is failed as initiator, main mode. Failed SA: x.x.x.x[500]-y.y.y.y[50 0] cookie:84222f276c2fa2e9 :00000000000000 due to timeout.</pre>	<ul> <li>Verify that the public IP address for each VPN peer is accurate in the IKE Gateway configuration.</li> <li>Verify that the IP addresses can be pinged and that routing issues are not causing the connection failure.</li> </ul>
or	
IKE phase 1 negotiation is failed. Couldn't find configuration for IKE phase-1 request for peer IP x.x.x.x[1929]	
Received unencrypted notify payload (no proposal chosen) from IP x.x.x.x[500] to y.y.y.y[500], ignored or	Check the IKE Crypto profile configuration to verify that the proposals on both sides have a common encryption, authentication, and DH Group proposal.
IKE phase-1 negotiation is failed. Unable to process peer's SA payload.	
pfs group mismatched:my: 2peer: 0 or IKE phase-2 negotiation failed when processing SA payload. No suitable proposal found in peer's SA payload.	<ul> <li>Check the IPSec Crypto profile configuration to verify that:</li> <li>pfs is either enabled or disabled on both VPN peers</li> <li>the DH Groups proposed by each peer has at least one DH Group in common</li> </ul>
IKE phase-2 negotiation failed when processing Proxy ID. Received local id x.x.x.x/x type IPv4 address protocol 0 port 0, received remote id y.y.y.y/y type IPv4 address protocol 0 port 0.	The VPN peer on one end is using policy-based VPN. You must configure a Proxy ID on the Palo Alto Networks firewall. See Step 8.

### Table: Syslog Error Messages for VPN Issues

# Site-to-Site VPN Quick Configs

The following sections provide instructions for configuring some common VPN deployments:

- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN with Static Routing
- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN with OSPF
- ▲ Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing

# Site-to-Site VPN with Static Routing

The following example shows a VPN connection between two sites that use static routes. Without dynamic routing, the tunnel interfaces on VPN Peer A and VPN Peer B do not require an IP address because the firewall automatically uses the tunnel interface as the next hop for routing traffic across the sites. However, to enable tunnel monitoring, a static IP address has been assigned to each tunnel interface.



QUICK	coning. Site-to-Site VPN with Static Rou	ung	
Step 1	Configure a Layer 3 interface.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b> and then select the interface you want to configure for VPN.
	tunnel.	2.	Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select the <b>Security Zone</b> to which the interface belongs:
			• The interface must be accessible from a zone outside of your trust network. Consider creating a dedicated VPN zone for visibility and control over your VPN traffic.
			• If you have not yet created the zone, select <b>New Zone</b> from the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down, define a <b>Name</b> for the new zone and then click <b>OK</b> .
		4.	Select the Virtual Router to use.
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.210.26/24.
		6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .
			In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:
			• Interface—ethernet1/7
			Security Zone—untrust
			• Virtual Router—default
			• <b>IPv4</b> —192.168.210.26/24
			I ne configuration for VPN Peer B is:
			Interface—ethernet1/11     Security Zone—notrust
			Virtual Router—default
			• <b>IPv4</b> —192.168.210.120/24

### Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static Routing

Step 2	Create a ti	reate a tunnel interface and attach it to a				Select Network > Interfaces > Tunnel and click Add		
step 2	virtual rou	uter and se	curity zone		2	In the Interface Name field specify a pumeric suffix, such as		
Interface	Management Profile	IP Address	Virtual Router	Security Zone	3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down to define the pape as follows:		
onel 11		none 172.19.9.2	none defadt	none vpr_tur		<ul> <li>To use your trust zone as the termination point for the tunnel, select the zone from the drop-down.</li> </ul>		
						<ul> <li>(Recommended) To create a separate zone for VPN tunnel termination, click New Zone. In the Zone dialog, define a Name for new zone (for example <i>vpn-tun</i>), and then click OK</li> </ul>		
					4.	Select the Virtual Router.		
					5.	(Optional) Assign an IP address to the tunnel interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> or <b>IPv6</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface.		
						With static routes, the tunnel interface does not require an IP address. For traffic that is destined to a specified subnet/IP address, the tunnel interface will automatically become the next hop. Consider adding an IP address if you want to enable tunnel monitoring.		
					6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .		
						In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:		
						• Interface—tunnel.11		
						Security Zone—vpn_tun		
						Virtual Router—default		
						• IPv4—172.19.9.2/24		
						The configuration for VPN Peer B is:		
						• Interface—tunnel.12		
						Security Zone—vpn_tun		
						• Virtual Router—default		
						• <b>IPv4</b> —192.168.69.2/24		
tep 3	Configure	e a static ro	ute, on the	virtual	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Router</b> and click the router you defined in step 4 above		
	router, to	the desuma	uon subne	: <b>t.</b>		Charlie Deute III Add a have a state		
rtual Router -	default				Ζ.	Select Static Route, click Add, and enter a new foute to access the subnet that is at the other end of the tunnel		
Static Routes Redistribution	Profile					In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:		
RIP OSPF			Next	Hop		And the configuration for viria recrimes.		
OSPFv3 9GP	Name	Destination Inter	face Type	Value Admin Distance		Destination—192.100.09.0/24      Interface		
Multicast	traffic to 192.168.6	9.0 192.168.69 tunn	0.11	default		The configuration for VPN Peer B is:		
						Destination 172 10 0 0/24		

Quick	Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static Rou	uting	I					
Step 4	Set up the Crypto profiles (IKE Crypto profile for phase 1 and IPSec Crypto profile for phase 2).	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IKE Crypto</b> . In this example, we use the default profile.					
	Complete this task on both peers and make sure to set identical values.	2.	Neme     ESP/AH     Encrypton     Authentication     Dif Group     Lifetime       default     ees120, 36e     shail     group2     0 hours   Select Network > Network Profiles > IPSec Crypto. In this example, we use the default profile.					
Step 5	Set up the IKE Gateway.	1.	Select Network > Network Profiles > IKE Gateway.					
General Pro	any IDS  Anter TurneluSUsB  force Lunnel. 11  (yee @ Autus Kery GlobalProtect Satellite  wary GatewayTaPeres  for default		<ul> <li>In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:</li> <li>Interface—ethernet1/7</li> <li>Local IP address—192.168.210.26/24</li> <li>Peer IP type/address—static/192.168.210.120</li> <li>Preshared keys—enter a value</li> <li>Local identification—None; this means that the local IP address will be used as the local identification value.</li> <li>The configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> </ul>					
		3.	<ul> <li>Interface—ethernet1/11</li> <li>Local IP address—192.168.210.120/24</li> <li>Peer IP type/address—static/192.168.210.26</li> <li>Preshared keys—enter same value as on Peer A</li> <li>Local identification—None</li> <li>Select Advanced Phase 1 Options and select the IKE Crypto profile you created earlier to use for IKE phase 1.</li> </ul>					

### Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static Routing

Quick	Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static Rou	ting
Step 6	Set up the IPSec Tunnel.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; IPSec Tunnels.</li> <li>Click Add and configure the options in the General tab. In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:         <ul> <li>Tunnel Interface—tunnel.11</li> <li>Type—Auto Key</li> <li>IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IPSec Crypto profile defined in Step 4.</li> </ul> </li> <li>The configuration for VPN Peer B is:         <ul> <li>Tunnel Interface—tunnel.12</li> <li>Type—Auto Key</li> <li>IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IPSec Crypto profile defined in Step 4.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Tunnel Interface—tunnel.12         <ul> <li>Type—Auto Key</li> <li>IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IPSec Crypto defined in Step 4.</li> </ul> </li> <li>(Optional) Select Show Advanced Options, select Tunnel Monitor, and specify a Destination IP address to ping for verifying connectivity. Typically, the tunnel interface IP address for the VPN Peer is used.</li> <li>(Optional) To define the action on failure to establish connectivity, see Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile.</li> </ol>
Step 7	Create policies to allow traffic between the sites (subnets).	<ol> <li>Select Policies &gt; Security.</li> <li>Create rules to allow traffic between the untrust and the vpn-tun zone and the vpn-tun and the untrust zone for traffic originating from specified source and destination IP addresses.</li> </ol>
Step 8	Save any pending configuration changes.	Click Commit.
Step 9	Test VPN connectivity.	See View the Status of the Tunnels.

# Site-to-Site VPN with OSPF

In this example, each site uses OSPF for dynamic routing of traffic. The tunnel IP address on each VPN peer is statically assigned and serves as the next hop for routing traffic between the two sites.



Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Dynamic Routing using OSPF

Step 1	Configure the Layer 3 interfaces on each firewall.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet</b> and then select the interface you want to configure for VPN.
		2.	Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select the <b>Security Zone</b> to which the interface belongs:
			• The interface must be accessible from a zone outside of your trust network. Consider creating a dedicated VPN zone for visibility and control over your VPN traffic.
			• If you have not yet created the zone, select <b>New Zone</b> from the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down, define a <b>Name</b> for the new zone and then click <b>OK</b> .
		4.	Select the Virtual Router to use.
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.210.26/24.
		6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .
			In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:
			• Interface—ethernet1/7
			Security Zone—untrust
			<ul> <li>Virtual Router—default</li> <li>IPv4—100.1.1.1/24</li> </ul>
			The configuration for VPN Peer B is:
			• Interface—ethernet1/11
			Security Zone—untrust
			<ul> <li>Virtual Router—default</li> <li>IPv4—200.1.1.1/24</li> </ul>
		1	

Quick	Config: Si	te-to-Site	VPN with [	Dynamic R	out	ing using OSPF				
Step 2	Create a t	tunnel inte	rface and at	tach it to a	1.	Select Network > Interfaces > Tunnel and click Add.				
	virtual router and security zone.				2.	In the Interface Name field, specify a numeric suffix, say, .11.				
Interface	Management Profile	IP Address none 2.1.1.141/24	ess Virtual Router Security Zone		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down to define the zone as follows:				
						• To use your trust zone as the termination point for the tunnel, select the zone from the drop-down.				
						<ul> <li>(Recommended) To create a separate zone for VPN tunnel termination, click New Zone. In the Zone dialog, define a Name for new zone (for example <i>vpn-tun</i>), and then click OK.</li> </ul>				
					4.	Select the Virtual Router.				
					5.	Assign an IP address to the tunnel interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> or <b>IPv6</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask/prefix to assign to the interface, for example, 172.19.9.2/24.				
						This IP address will be used as the next hop IP address to route traffic to the tunnel and can also be used to monitor the status of the tunnel.				
					6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .				
						In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:				
						• Interface—tunnel.41				
						Security Zone—vpn_tun     Virtual Bouterdefault				
						• <b>IPv4</b> —2.1.1.141/24				
						The configuration for VPN Peer B is:				
						• Interface—tunnel.40				
						Security Zone—vpn_tun				
						<ul> <li>IPv4—2.1.1.140/24</li> </ul>				
Step 3	Set up th profile fo profile fo	e Crypto p or phase 1 or phase 2)	profiles (IKI and IPSec C	E Crypto Crypto	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IKE Crypto</b> . In this example, we use the default profile.				
	Complete make sur	e this task e to set ide	on both pee entical value	ers and s.		Name         Encryption         Authentication         DH Group         Lifetime           If:         default         des120, 5des         shail         group2         0 hours				
					2.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IPSec Crypto</b> . In this example, we use the default profile.				
						Name         ESP/AH         Encryption         Authentication         DH Group         Lifetime         Lifetime           default         ESP         aes128, 3des         sha1         group2         1 hours				

		- un	ing conig con i
Step 4	Set up the OSPF configuration on the virtual router and attach the OSPF areas with the appropriate interfaces on the firewall. For more information on the OSPF options that are available on the firewall, see Configure OSPF. Use Broadcast as the link type when there are more than two OSPF routers that need to exchange routing information.	1. 2. 3.	<ul> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the default router or add a new router.</li> <li>Select OSPF (for IPv4) or OSPFv3 (for IPv6) and select Enable.</li> <li>In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer A is: <ul> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.141</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 that is assigned to the tunnel.1 interface with Link type: p2p</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.10 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> </ul> </li> <li>The OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is: <ul> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 that is assigned to the tunnel.1 interface with Link type: p2p</li> </ul> </li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 that is assigned to the tunnel.1 interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> </ul>
Step 5	Set up the IKE Gateway. This examples uses static IP addresses for both VPN peers. Typically, the corporate office uses a statically configured IP address, and the branch side can be a dynamic IP address; dynamic IP addresses are not best suited for configuring stable services such as VPN.	1. 2. 3.	Select Network > Network Profiles > IKE Gateway. Click Add and configure the options in the General tab. In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is: Interface—ethernet1/7 Local IP address—100.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—200.1.1.1/24 Preshared keys—enter a value The configuration for VPN Peer B is: Interface—ethernet1/11 Local IP address—200.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—200.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—200.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—200.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—100.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—100.1.1.1/24 Peer IP address—100.1.1.1/24 Preshared keys—enter same value as on Peer A Select the IKE Crypto profile you created earlier to use for IKE phase 1.

### Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Dynamic Routing using OSPF

Quick	uick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Dynamic Routing using OSPF					
Step 6	Set up the IPSec Tunnel.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Network &gt; IPSec Tunnels.</li> <li>Click Add and configure the options in the General tab.</li> <li>In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is: <ul> <li>Tunnel Interface—tunnel.41</li> <li>Type—Auto Key</li> <li>IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> </ul> </li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>The configuration for VPN Peer B is: <ul> <li>Tunnel Interface—tunnel.40</li> <li>Type—Auto Key</li> <li>IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> </ul> </li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IKE Gateway defined above.</li> <li>Select Show Advanced Options, select Tunnel Monitor, and specify a Destination IP address to ping for verifying connectivity.</li> <li>To define the action on failure to establish connectivity, see Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile.</li> </ul>			
Step 7	Create policies to allow traffic between the sites (subnets).	1. 2.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> . Create rules to allow traffic between the untrust and the vpn-tun zone and the vpn-tun and the untrust zone for traffic originating from specified source and destination IP addresses.			

Step 8	Verify OSPF adjacencies and routes from	Verify that both the firewalls can see each other as neighbors with						
oup o	the CLI.	full status. Also confirm that the IP address of the VPN peer's tunnel						
		interface and the OSPF Router ID. Use the following CLI						
		commands on each VPN peer.						
		<ul> <li>show routing protocol ospf neighbor</li> </ul>						
		admin@FW-A> show routing protocol ospf meighbor						
		Options: 0x80:reserved, 0:Opaq-LSA capability, DC:demand circuits, EA:Ext-Attr LSA capability, N/P:NSSA option, MC:multicase, E:AS external LSA capability, T:TOS capability						
		virtual router: vrl neighter address: 2.1.1.140 local address binding: 0.0.0.0 type: dynamic status: full						
		meighnor router 10: 192.180.100.140 area id: 0.0.0.0 meighnor priority: 1						
		lifetime remain: 39 mesages pending: 0 LSA request pending: 0 ontions: 0000-0 F						
		bploast okarot hello suppressed: no						
		admin@FW-B> show routing protocol cspf neighbor						
		Options: Ox80:reserved, OiOpaq-LSA capability, DC:demand circuits, EA:Ext-Att LSA capability, NP:NISSA option, MC:multicase, E:AS external LSA capability, T:TOS capability ************************************						
		virio dadress 2.1.1.141 local address binding: 0.0.0.0 type:						
		status: full neighbor router ID: 192.146.100.141 area id: 0.0.0.0						
		neignoc priority: 1 lifetime remin: 39 messages pening: 0						
		options: 0x42: 0 E hello suppressed: no						
		show routing route type ognf						
		<ul> <li>snow routing route type ospr admin@FW-A&gt; show routing route type ospf</li> </ul>						
		<pre>flags: Atactive, ?:loose, C:connect, H:host, S:static, ~:internal, R:rip, O:ospf, B:bg Di:ospf intra-area, Oo:ospf inter-area, Ol:ospf ext-type-1, O2:ospf ext-type-2</pre>						
		VIRTUAL ROUTER: vrl (id 1)						
		destination nexthop metric flags age interface 2.1.1.0/24 0.0.0.0 10 0i 6760 tunnel.41						
		172.16.101.0/24 0.0.0.0 10 0i 6854 ethernet1/1 192.168.1.0/24 2.1.1.140 20 A Oo 6754 tunnel.40 total routes shown: 3						
		admin8FW-B> show routing route type ospf						
		flags: A:active, C:connect, H:host, S:static, R:rip, O:ospf, Oi:ospf intra-area, Oo:ospf inter-area, Ol:ospf ext-type-1, O2:ospf ext-type-2						
		VIRIUAL ROUTER: vrl (id 1)						
		destination nexthop metric flags age interface 2.1.1.0/24 0.0.0.0 10 01 20033 tunnel.40						
		172.16.101.0/24 2.1.1.141 20 AOo 6896 tunnel.40 192.168.1.0/24 0.0.0.0 10 Oi 8058 ethernet1/15 total routes shown: 3						
Step 9	Test VPN connectivity.	See Set up Tunnel Monitoring and View the Status of the Tunnels.						

### Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Dynamic Routing using OSPF

# Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing

In this example, one site uses static routes and the other site uses OSPF. When the routing protocol is not the same between the locations, the tunnel interface on each firewall must be configured with a static IP address. Then, to allow the exchange of routing information, the firewall that participates in both the static and dynamic routing process must be configured with a *Redistribution profile*. Configuring the redistribution profile enables the virtual router to redistribute and filter routes between protocols—static routes, connected routes, and hosts—

from the static autonomous system to the OSPF autonomous system. Without this redistribution profile, each protocol functions on its own and does not exchange any route information with other protocols running on the same virtual router.

In this example, the satellite office has static routes and all traffic destined to the 192.168.x.x network is routed to tunnel.41. The virtual router on VPN Peer B participates in both the static and the dynamic routing process and is configured with a redistribution profile in order to propagate (*export*) the static routes to the OSPF autonomous system.

			IPSec Tunne	Regional (	Office with OSPF		
		VF	'N Peer A	VPN	Peer B	Area 0.0.0.0	
atellite Office		Interface	tunnel.41	Interface	tunnel.40		Area 0.0.0.20
vith Static Routes		IP Address	2.1.1.141/24	IP Address	2.1.1.140/24		
		Zone	vpn-tun	Zone	vpn-tun	8	
	VPN Peer A					VPN Peer B	
				2			
						Router ID	
_		IVEG	staway Canfigu	ration		192.168.100 <mark>.</mark> 14	102 169 1 0/24
172.16.101.0/24		IKE G	VDN I		192.100.1.0/24		
	Interface	Ethernet1/	7 Interfac	eerb Fthe	rnet1/11		Area 0.0.0.10
	IP Address	100 1 1 1/2	A IP Addre	2001	1 1 1/24		
	Zene	Lustruct	7000				
	2one	Untrust	Zone	untr	ust		
	PeerIP	dynamic	PeerIP	dyna	imic		
			The virt redistrib	ual router is co oute static rou	onfigured to tes from the 172	.16.x.x	
			netWork	to the USPF a	11445.		192.168.2.0/24

|--|

Stop 1	Configure the Laver 2 interfaces on each	1	Solart Network > Interfaces > Ethernet and then relat the		
Step 1	firewall.	1.	interface you want to configure for VPN.		
		2.	Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.		
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select the <b>Security Zone</b> to which the interface belongs:		
			• The interface must be accessible from a zone outside of your trust network. Consider creating a dedicated VPN zone for visibility and control over your VPN traffic.		
			• If you have not yet created the zone, select <b>New Zone</b> from the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down, define a <b>Name</b> for the new zone and then click <b>OK</b> .		
		4. 5.	Select the <b>Virtual Router</b> to use. To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.210.26/24.		
		6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .		
			In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is: <ul> <li>Interface—ethernet1/7</li> <li>Security Zone—untrust</li> <li>Virtual Router—default</li> </ul>		
					• Interface—ethernet1/11
				Security Zone—untrust	
				• Virtual Router—default	
				• <b>IPv4</b> —200.1.1.1/24	
Step 2	Set up the Crypto profiles (IKE Crypto profile for phase 1 and IPSec Crypto profile for phase 2).		1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Network Profiles &gt; IKE Crypto</b> . In this example, we use the default profile.	
	Complete this task on both peers and make sure to set identical values.		Name Encryption Authentication DH Group Lifetime for default ares120, 36es sha I group 8 a hours		
			Select Network > Network Profiles > IPSec Crypto. In this		
			example, we use the default profile.		
			Invane     ESP(AH     Encryption     Authentication     DH Group     Ufetime     Ufesize     default     ESP     aesi28, 3des     sha1     group2     1hours		

Quick	uick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing					
Quick Step 3	Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Set up the IKE Gateway. With pre-shared keys, to add authentication scrutiny when setting up the IKE phase-1 tunnel, you can set up Local and Peer Identification attributes and a corresponding value that is matched in the IKE negotiation process.	<b>Dyn</b> 1. 2.	Select Network > Network Profiles > IKE Gateway. Click Add and configure the options in the General tab. In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is: Interface—ethernet1/7 Local IP address—100.1.1.1/24 Peer IP type—dynamic			
			<ul> <li>Preshared keys—enter a value</li> <li>Local identification—select FQDN(hostname) and enter the value for VPN Peer A.</li> <li>Peer identification—select FQDN(hostname) and enter the value for VPN Peer B</li> <li>The configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> <li>Interface—ethernet1/11</li> </ul>			
		3.	<ul> <li>Local IP address—200.1.1.1/24</li> <li>Peer IP address—dynamic</li> <li>Preshared keys—enter same value as on Peer A</li> <li>Local identification—select FQDN(hostname) and enter the value for VPN Peer B</li> <li>Peer identification—select FQDN(hostname) and enter the value for VPN Peer A</li> <li>Select the IKE Crypto profile you created earlier to use for IKE phase 1.</li> </ul>			

which beining. One to one vi it with blatte an					Uyi	
Step 4	Create a	tunnel inter	rface and at	tach it to a	1.	Select Network > Interfaces > Tunnel and click Add.
	virtual ro	outer and se	ecurity zone	е.	2.	In the Interface Name field, specify a numeric suffix, say, .41
Interface	Management Profile	IP Address	Virtual Router	Security Zone	3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down to define the zone as follows:
Bannel 11		2.1.1.191/29	detaut	vpn_tun		• To use your trust zone as the termination point for the tunnel, select the zone from the drop-down.
						<ul> <li>(Recommended) To create a separate zone for VPN tunnel termination, click New Zone. In the Zone dialog, define a Name for new zone (for example <i>vpn-tun</i>), and then click OK.</li> </ul>
		4. Select the <b>Virtual</b>				Select the Virtual Router.
					5.	Assign an IP address to the tunnel interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> or <b>IPv6</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask/prefix to assign to the interface, for example, 172.19.9.2/24.
						This IP address will be used to route traffic to the tunnel and to monitor the status of the tunnel.
			6.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .		
						In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is:
						• Interface—tunnel.41
						Security Zone—vpn_tun
					• Virtual Router—default	
					• IPV4—2.1.1.141/24 The configuration for VDN Deer B is:	
						Interface tupped 42
						Security Zone—von tun
						Virtual Router—default
						• <b>IPv4</b> —2.1.1.140/24
Step 5	Specify the	Specify the interface to route traffic to a			1.	On VPN Peer A, select the virtual router.
	destinatio	on on the 1	92.168.x.x	network.	2.	Select <b>Static Routes</b> , and <b>Add</b> tunnel.41 as the <b>Interface</b> for routing traffic with a <b>Destination</b> in the 192.168.x.x network.

### Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing

<ul> <li>Step 6 Set up the static route and the OSPF configuration on the virtual router and attach the OSPF arras with the appropriate interfaces on the firewall.</li> <li>1. On VPN Peer B, select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the default router or add a new route.</li> <li>2. Select Static Routes and Add the tunnel IP address as the new hop for traffic in the 172.168.x.x. network. Assign the desired route metric; using a lower the value make the a higher priority for route selection in the forwarding table 3. Select OSPF (for IPv4) or OSPFv3 (for IPv6) and select Enable 4. In this example, the OSPF (for IPv4) or OSPFv3 (for IPv6) and select Enable 4. In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 usink type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 usink type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 usink type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 used for the profile and click Add.</li> <li>Cerate a redistribution profile to over yo used above.</li> <li>b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF System Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>C. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>Select Add and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>Select Add and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>Select Add and select the redistribution profile that you just created.<th>Quick (</th><th>Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and</th><th>Dyn</th><th>namic Routing</th></li></ul>	Quick (	Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and	Dyn	namic Routing
<ul> <li>appropriate interfaces on the firewall.</li> <li>appropriate interfaces on the firewall.</li> <li>Select <b>OMP</b> Fouries in the 72 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of port ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio in the 17 address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio address and fire of the ratio address as the fire of the ratio address and fire of the ratio address</li></ul>	Step 6 Set up the static route and the OSPF configuration on the virtual router and attach the OSPF areas with the		1.	On VPN Peer B, select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Routers</b> , and select the default router or add a new router.
<ul> <li>Assign the desired route metric; using a lower the value make the a higher priority for route selection in the forvarding table 3. Select OSPF (for IPv4) or OSPFv3 (for IPv6) and select Enable 4. In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.10 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Step 7 Create a redistribution profile on VPN Peer B.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select Redist and assign - Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Select SSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSP</li></ul>		appropriate interfaces on the firewall.	Ζ.	hop for traffic in the 172.168.x.x. network.
<ul> <li>3. Select OSPF (for IPv4) or OSPFv3 (for IPv6) and select Enable</li> <li>4. In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.010 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.020 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Create a redistribution profile to inject the static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign = Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Select OSPF&gt;Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both intern and external OSPF' metric, use Ext1.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF' system.</li> <li>Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>				Assign the desired route metric; using a lower the value makes the a higher priority for route selection in the forwarding table.
<ul> <li>In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is:</li> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.10 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Create a redistribution profile to inject the static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.</li> <li>Create a redistribution Profile on VPN Peer B.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign : Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Set Source Type as static, and click NC. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both intern and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>			3.	Select $\textbf{OSPF}\xspace$ (for IPv4) or $\textbf{OSPFv3}\xspace$ (for IPv6) and select $\textbf{Enable}.$
<ul> <li>Router ID: 192.168.100.140</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.00 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Create a redistribution profile on VPN Peer B.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign: Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>Select SOFF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>Select New the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both intern and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>Click KK to save the changes.</li> </ul>			4.	In this example, the OSPF configuration for VPN Peer B is:
<ul> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.10 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Create a redistribution profile on VPN Peer B.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>c. Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign: Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external onlows you to chang</li></ul>				• Router ID: 192.168.100.140
<ul> <li>Area ID: 0.0.010 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.020 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Area ID: 0.0.020 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Step 7 Create a redistribution profile to inject the static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router you used above.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign = Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>Select Network = Settil.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system.</li> <li>Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>				• Area ID: 0.0.0.0 is assigned to the interface Ethernet 1/12 Link type: Broadcast
<ul> <li>Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast</li> <li>Step 7 Create a redistribution profile to inject the static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.</li> <li>Create a redistribution Profiles, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign a Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost on the route using only the external metrics. To use both interna and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> </ul>				• Area ID: 0.0.0.10 that is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/1 and Link Type: Broadcast
<ul> <li>Step 7 Create a redistribution profile to inject the static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.</li> <li>Create a redistribution profile on VPN Peer B.</li> <li>a. Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router yo used above.</li> <li>b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>c. Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign a Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>2. Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interm and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>				• Area ID: 0.0.0.20 is assigned to the interface Ethernet1/15 and Link Type: Broadcast
<ul> <li>a. Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers, and select the router you used above.</li> <li>b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>c. Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign a Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interm and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>	Step 7 Create a redistribution profile to inject the			Create a redistribution profile on VPN Peer B.
<ul> <li>b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.</li> <li>c. Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign a priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>2. Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interm and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>		static routes into the OSPF autonomous system.		a. Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Routers</b> , and select the router you used above.
<ul> <li>c. Enter a Name for the profile and select Redist and assign a Priority value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.</li> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>2. Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you jus created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both internation and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>				b. Select Redistribution Profiles, and click Add.
<ul> <li>d. Set Source Type as static, and click OK. The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.</li> <li>e. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interna and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>	Name St Priority 1 ieneral Filter 05 Source Type	Redstribute O No Redst S Redst		c. Enter a Name for the profile and select <b>Redist</b> and assign a <b>Priority</b> value. If you have configured multiple profiles, the profile with the lowest priority value is matched first.
<ol> <li>Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.</li> <li>Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv6).</li> <li>Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost or the route using only the external metrics. To use both interna and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ol>	bgp connect ospf rp Statc	Ex. 10.1.7.1 or 10.1.7.0/24 Ex. 10.1.7.1 or 10.1.7.0/24		d. Set <b>Source Type</b> as <b>static</b> , and click <b>OK</b> . The static route defined in Step 6-2 will be used for the redistribution.
<ul> <li>a. Select OSPF&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4) or OSPFv3&gt; Export Rules (for IPv4).</li> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost or the route using only the external metrics. To use both internar and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>			2.	Inject the static routes in to the OSPF system.
<ul> <li>b. Click Add, and select the redistribution profile that you just created.</li> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interna and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>	default	🖸 Enelos		a. Select <b>OSPF&gt; Export Rules</b> (for IPv4) or <b>OSPFv3&gt; Export</b> <b>Rules</b> (for IPv6).
<ul> <li>c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, Ext2 calculates the total cost o the route using only the external metrics. To use both interna and external OSPF metrics, use Ext1.</li> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click OK to save the changes.</li> </ul>	Profile	Router ID         19, 165, 100, 140           Auth Protities         Export Rules           Allow Redshibute Default Route		b. Click <b>Add</b> , and select the redistribution profile that you just created.
<ul> <li>d. Assign a Metric (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.</li> <li>e. Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.</li> </ul>	Virtual Router - OSPF - Export Role			c. Select how the external routes are brought into the OSPF system. The default option, <b>Ext2</b> calculates the total cost of the route using only the external metrics. To use both internal and external OSPF metrics, use <b>Ext1</b> .
e. Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.				d. Assign a <b>Metric</b> (cost value) for the routes injected into the OSPF system. This option allows you to change the metric for the injected route as it comes into the OSPF system.
				e. Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.

QUICK	Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and	Dyn	amic Routing
Step 8	Set up the IPSec Tunnel.	1. 2. 3.	Select Network > IPSec Tunnels. Click Add and configure the options in the General tab. In this example, the configuration for VPN Peer A is: • Tunnel Interface—tunnel.41 • Type—Auto Key • IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above. • IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IKE Gateway defined above. The configuration for VPN Peer B is: • Tunnel Interface—tunnel.40 • Type—Auto Key • IKE Gateway—Select the IKE Gateway defined above. • IPSec Crypto Profile—Select the IKE Gateway defined above. Select Show Advanced Options, select Tunnel Monitor, and specify a Destination IP address to ping for verifying connectivity
		4.	To define the action on failure to establish connectivity, see Define a Tunnel Monitoring Profile.
Step 9	Create policies to allow traffic between the sites (subnets).	1. 2.	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> . Create rules to allow traffic between the untrust and the vpn-tun zone and the vpn-tun and the untrust zone for traffic originating from specified source and destination IP addresses.

# Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing

Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and	Quick Config: Site-to-Site VPN with Static and Dynamic Routing						
Step 10 Verify OSPF adjacencies and routes from the CLI.	Verify that both the firewalls can see each other as neighbors with full status. Also confirm that the IP address of the VPN peer's tunnel interface and the OSPF Router ID. Use the following CLI commands on each VPN peer.						
	<ul> <li>show routing protocol ospf neighbor</li> </ul>						
	admin@FN-A> show routing protocol ospf neighbor						
	Options: 0x80:reserved, 0:0pag-LSA cagability, DC:demand circuits, EA:Ex-Attr LSA cagability, WP:NSSA option, MC:malicase, EAS external LSA cagability, TrOS cagability         virtual router:       vrl         neighbor address:       2.1.1.140         local address indig:       0.0.0         type:       dynamic         status:       foll         neighbor priority:       foll         neighbor priority:       0.0.0         tifetime remain:       39         meragese pending:       0         LSA request pending:       0         options:       0x42:0 E         hello suppressed:       no						
	adminBFF-B> show routing protocol ompf neighbor Options: Oxf0:reserved, OrDpaq-LSA capability, DCidemand circuits, EA/Ext-Attr LSA capability, W/rNDSA point, NC:multicase, EAAS external LSA capability, TiTOS capability virtual router: vri virtual router: vri virtual router: vri virtual router: vri virtual router: vri topic vri virtual router: vri topic vri virtual router: v						
	• show routing route The following is an example of the output on each VPN peer.						
	VPN PeerA destination next hop metric flags age interface next-AS 192.166.1.0/24 2.1.1.141 20 A 5 tunnel.41 192.166.2.0/24 2.1.1.141 20 A 5 tunnel.41 172.16.10.0/24 0.0.0.0 1 A H ethernet1/1 2.1.1.140/24 2.1.1.141 20 A 5 tunnel.41 VPN NeveR						
	destination         next hop         metric         flags         age         interface         next-AS           192.168.1.0/24         0.0.0.0         10         A Ou         ethernet1/1           192.168.2.0/24         0.0.0.0         10         A Ou         ethernet1/15           172.16.101.0/24         2.1.1.140         20         A H         tunnel.40           2.1.1.141/24         2.1.1.140         10         A C         tunnel.40						
Step 11 Test VPN connectivity.	See Set up Tunnel Monitoring and View the Status of the Tunnels.						

# Large Scale VPN (LSVPN)

The GlobalProtect Large Scale VPN (LSVPN) feature on the Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall simplifies the deployment of traditional hub and spoke VPNs, enabling you to quickly deploy enterprise networks with several branch offices with a minimum amount of configuration required on the remote *satellite* devices. This solution uses certificates for device authentication and IPSec to secure data.



LSVPN enables site-to-site VPNs between Palo Alto Networks firewalls. To set up a site-to-site VPN between a Palo Alto Networks firewall and another device, see VPNs.

The following topics describe the LSVPN components and how to set them up to enable site-to-site VPN services between Palo Alto Networks firewalls:

- LSVPN Overview
- ▲ Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN
- ▲ Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components
- Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites
- ▲ Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN
- ▲ Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN
- Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN
- ▲ Verify the LSVPN Configuration
- ▲ LSVPN Quick Configs

# **LSVPN** Overview

GlobalProtect provides a complete infrastructure for managing secure access to corporate resources from your remote sites. This infrastructure includes the following components:

- GlobalProtect Portal—Provides the management functions for your GlobalProtect LSVPN infrastructure. Every satellite that participates in the GlobalProtect LSVPN receives configuration information from the portal, including configuration information to enable the satellites (the spokes) to connect to the gateways (the hubs). You configure the portal on an interface on any Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall.
- **GlobalProtect Gateways**—A Palo Alto Networks firewall that provides the tunnel end point for satellite connections. The resources that the satellites access is protected by security policy on the gateway. It is not required to have a separate portal and gateway; a single firewall can function both as portal and gateway.
- **GlobalProtect Satellite**—A Palo Alto Networks firewall at a remote site that establishes IPSec tunnels with the gateway(s) at your corporate office(s) for secure access to centralized resources. Configuration on the satellite firewall is minimal, enabling you to quickly and easily scale your VPN as you add new sites.

The following diagram illustrates how the GlobalProtect LSVPN components work together.



# Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN

You must configure the following interfaces and zones for your LSVPN infrastructure:

- GlobalProtect portal—Requires a Layer 3 interface for GlobalProtect satellites to connect to. If the portal and gateway are on the same firewall, they can use the same interface. The portal must be in a zone that is accessible from your branch offices.
- **GlobalProtect gateways**—Requires three interfaces: a Layer 3 interface in the zone that is reachable by the remote satellites, an internal interface in the trust zone that connects to the protected resources, and a logical tunnel interface for terminating the VPN tunnels from the satellites. Unlike other site-to-site VPN solutions, the GlobalProtect gateway only requires a single tunnel interface, which it will use for tunnel connections with all of your remote satellites (point-to-multipoint). If you plan to use dynamic routing, you must assign an IP address to the tunnel interface.
- **GlobalProtect satellites**—Requires a single tunnel interface for establishing a VPN with the remote gateways (up to a maximum of 25 gateways). If you plan to use dynamic routing, you must assign an IP address to the tunnel interface.

For more information about portals, gateways, and satellites see LSVPN Overview.

Set Up	et Up Interfaces and Zones for the GlobalProtect LSVPN							
Step 1	<ul> <li>Configure a Layer 3 interface.</li> <li>The portal and each gateway and satellite all require a Layer 3 interface to enable traffic to be routed between sites.</li> <li>If the gateway and portal are on the same firewall, you can use a single interface for both components.</li> <li>IPv6 addresses are not supported with LSVPN.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet and then select the interface you want to configure for GlobalProtect LSVPN.</li> <li>Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.</li> <li>On the Config tab, select the Security Zone to which the interface belongs: <ul> <li>The interface must be accessible from a zone outside of your trust network. Consider creating a dedicated VPN zone for visibility and control over your VPN traffic.</li> <li>If you have not yet created the zone, select New Zone from the Security Zone drop-down, define a Name for the new zone and then click OK.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Select the Virtual Router to use.</li> <li>To assign an IP address to the interface, select the IPv4 tab, click Add in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 203.0.11.100/24.</li> <li>To save the interface configuration, click OK.</li> </ul>					

Set Up Interfaces and Zones for the GlobalPro	tect	LSVPN (Continued)
Step 2On the firewall(s) hosting GlobalProtect gateway(s), configure the logical tunnel interface that will terminate VPN tunnels established by the GlobalProtect satellites.Image: Image:	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Tunnel and click Add.</li> <li>In the Interface Name field, specify a numeric suffix, such as .2.</li> <li>On the Config tab, expand the Security Zone drop-down to define the zone as follows:</li> <li>To use your trust zone as the termination point for the tunnel, select the zone from the drop-down.</li> <li>(Recommended) To create a separate zone for VPN tunnel termination, click New Zone. In the Zone dialog, define a Name for new zone (for example <i>lsvpn-tun</i>), select the Enable User Identification check box, and then click OK.</li> <li>Select the Virtual Router.</li> <li>(Optional) If you want to assign an IP address to the tunnel interface, select the IPv4 tab, click Add in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 203.0.11.33/24.</li> <li>To save the interface configuration, click OK.</li> </ul>

Step 3 If you created a separate zone for tunnel termination of VPN connections, create a security policy to enable traffic flow between the VPN zone and your trust zone. For example, the following policy rule enables traffic between the *lsvpn-tun* zone and the *L3-Trust* zone.

	Name	Zone	Address	User		Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	
	LSVPN Access	🕅 Isvpn-tun	any	any		🕅 L3-Trust	any	📰 adobe-creati	🗶 application-d	0	
								📰 ms-exchange			
								ms-office365			
S	Step 4 Save the configuration.				Clic	ck Commit.					

# Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components

All interaction between the GlobalProtect components occurs over an SSL connection. Therefore, you must generate and/or install the required certificates before configuring each component so that you can reference the appropriate certificate(s) and/or certificate profiles in the configurations for each component. The following sections describe the supported methods of certificate deployment, descriptions and best practice guidelines for the various GlobalProtect certificates, and provide instructions for generating and deploying the required certificates:

- About Certificate Deployment
- ▲ Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components

# About Certificate Deployment

There are two basic approaches to deploying certificates for GlobalProtect LSVPN:

- Enterprise Certificate Authority—If you already have your own enterprise certificate authority, you can use this internal CA to issue an intermediate CA certificate for the GlobalProtect portal to enable it to issue certificates to the GlobalProtect gateways and satellites.
- Self-Signed Certificates—You can generate a self-signed root CA certificate on the firewall and use it to issue server certificates for the portal, gateway(s), and satellite(s). As a best practice, create a self-signed root CA certificate on the portal and use it to issue server certificates for the gateways and satellites. This way, the private key used for certificate signing stays on the portal.

# Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components

The GlobalProtect LSVPN components use SSL/TLS to mutually authenticate. Before deploying the LSVPN, you must issue server certificates to the portal and gateways. You do not need to create server certificates for the satellite devices because the portal will issue a server certificate for each satellite during the first connection.

In addition, you must import the root CA certificate used to issue the server certificates onto each firewall that you plan to host as a gateway or satellite. Finally, on each gateway and satellite participating in the LSVPN, you must configure a certificate profile that will enable them to establish an SSL/TLS connection using mutual authentication.

The following workflow shows the best practice steps for deploying SSL certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN components:



You do not need to issue server certificates for the satellite devices because the portal will issue them as part of the satellite registration process.

Step 1	On the firewall hosting the portal, create the root CA certificate for issuing self-signed certificates for the GlobalProtect components.	To cert Glc 1.	use self-signed certificates, you must first create the root CA difficate that will be used to sign the certificates for the obalProtect components as follows: To create a root CA certificate, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate</b> <b>Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates</b> and then click <b>Generate</b> .
		2.	name cannot contain any spaces.
		3.	Do not select a value in the <b>Signed By</b> field (this is what indicates that it is self-signed).
		4.	Select the <b>Certificate Authority</b> check box and then click <b>OK</b> to generate the certificate.
Step 2	Generate server certificates for the GlobalProtect portal and gateway(s). You must issue a unique self-signed server certificate for the portal and for each GlobalProtect gateway. The best practice is to issue all of the required certificates on the portal, so that the signing certificate (with the private key) does not have to be exported.	Use gate 1. 2. 3.	e the root CA on the portal to generate server certificates for each eway you plan to deploy: Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and then click Generate. Enter a Certificate Name. The Certificate Name cannot contain any spaces. Enter the FQDN (recommended) or IP address of the interface where you plan to configure the gateway in the Common Name field.
	If the GlobalProtect portal and gateway are on the same firewall interface, you can use the same server certificate for both components.	<ol> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	In the <b>Signed By</b> field, select the <i>LSVPN_CA</i> you created previously. In the Certificate Attributes section, click <b>Add</b> and define the attributes to uniquely identify the gateway. Keep in mind that if you add a <b>Host Name</b> attribute (which populates the SAN field of the certificate), it must exactly match the value you defined for the <b>Common Name</b> . <b>Generate</b> the certificate.

### Deploy SSL Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect Components

Step 3	Deploy the self-signed server certificates	1.	On the portal, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt;</b>
	D in Calceways.		you want to deploy, and click <b>Export</b> .
	<ul> <li>Export the self-signed server certificates issued by the root CA from the portal and import them onto the gateways.</li> <li>Because to issue a unique server.</li> </ul>	2.	Select Encrypted Private Key and Certificate (PKCS12) from the File Format drop-down.
		3.	Enter (and re-enter) a <b>Passphrase</b> to encrypt the private key associated with the certificate and then click <b>OK</b> to download the PKCS12 file to your computer.
	<ul><li>The Common Name (CN) and, if</li></ul>	4.	On the gateway, select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt;</b> Certificates > Device Certificates and click Import.
	applicable, the Subject Alternative	5.	Enter a Certificate Name.
	Name (SAN) fields of the certificate must match the IP address or fully	6.	Enter the path and name to the <b>Certificate File</b> you just downloaded from the portal, or <b>Browse</b> to find the file.
	qualified domain name (FQDN) of the interface where you configure the	7.	Select Encrypted Private Key and Certificate (PKCS12) as the File Format.
	gateway.	8.	Enter the path and name to the PKCS12 file in the <b>Key File</b> field or <b>Browse</b> to find it.
		9.	Enter and re-enter the <b>Passphrase</b> you used to encrypt the private key when you exported it from the portal and then click <b>OK</b> to import the certificate and key.
Step 4	Import the root CA certificate used to issue server certificates for the LSVPN components. You must import the root CA certificate onto all gateways and satellites. For	1.	Download the root CA certificate from the portal.
			a. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates.
			b. Select the root CA certificate used to issue certificates for the LSVPN components and click <b>Export</b> .
	security reasons, make sure you export the certificate only, and not the associated private key.		<ul> <li>c. Select Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM) from the File</li> <li>Format drop-down and click OK to download the certificate.</li> <li>(Do not export the private key.)</li> </ul>
		2.	On the firewalls hosting the gateways and satellites, import the root CA certificate.
			a. Select Device > Certificate Management > Certificates > Device Certificates and click Import.
			b. Enter a <b>Certificate Name</b> that identifies the certificate as your client CA certificate.
			c. <b>Browse</b> to the <b>Certificate File</b> you downloaded from the CA.
			d. Select <b>Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM)</b> as the <b>File Format</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .
			e. Select the certificate you just imported on the <b>Device</b> <b>Certificates</b> tab to open it.
			f. Select <b>Trusted Root CA</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .
			g. <b>Commit</b> the changes.

### Deploy SSL Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect Components (Continued)

Deploy GOL Gerver Gerundates to the Global Potect Components (Gontinued)				
Step 5	Create a certificate profile. The GlobalProtect LSVPN portal and each gateway require a certificate profile that specifies which certificate to use to authenticate the satellites.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificate Profile</b> and click <b>Add</b> and enter a profile <b>Name</b> . Make sure <b>Username Field</b> is set to <b>None</b> . In the <b>CA Certificates</b> field, click <b>Add</b> , select the Trusted Root CA certificate you imported in Step 4. (Optional, but recommended) Enable use of CRL and/or OCSP to enable certificate status verification. Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile.	
Step 6	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.	

### Deploy SSL Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect Components (Continued)

# Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites

In order to register with the LSVPN, each satellite must establish an SSL/TLS connection with the portal. After establishing the connection, the portal authenticates the satellite device to ensure that is authorized to join the LSVPN. After successfully authenticating the satellite, the portal will issue a server certificate for the satellite and push the LSVPN configuration specifying the gateways to which the satellite can connect and the root CA certificate required to establish an SSL connection with the gateways.

There are two ways that the satellite can authenticate to the portal during its initial connection:

- Serial number—You can configure the portal with the serial number of the satellite firewalls that are authorized to join the LSVPN. During the initial satellite connection to the portal, the satellite presents its serial number to the portal and if the portal has the serial number in its configuration, the satellite will be successfully authenticated. You add the serial numbers of authorized satellites when you configure the portal. See Configure the Portal.
- Username and password—If you would rather provision your satellites without manually entering the serial numbers of the satellite devices into the portal configuration, you can instead require the satellite administrator to authenticate when establishing the initial connection to the portal. Although the portal will always look for the serial number in the initial request from the satellite, if it cannot identify the serial number, the satellite administrator must provide a username and password to authenticate to the portal. Because the portal will always fall back to this form of authentication, you must create an authentication profile in order to commit the portal configuration. This requires that you set up an authentication profile for the portal LSVPN configuration even if you plan to authenticate satellites using the serial number.



The following workflow describes how to set up the portal to authenticate satellites against an existing authentication service. GlobalProtect LSVPN supports external authentication using a local database, LDAP (including Active Directory), Kerberos, or RADIUS.

Set Up	Satellite Authentication		
Step 1	Create a server profile on the portal.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Server Profiles</b> and select type of profile ( <b>LDAP</b> , <b>Kerbares</b> or <b>PADIUS</b> )
	The server profile instructs the firewall how to connect to an external authentication service to validate the authentication credentials provided by the satellite administrator. If you are using local authentication, you can skip this step and instead add a local user configuration for authenticating the satellite administrator.	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile, such as <i>LSVPN-Auth</i> .
		3.	(LDAP only) Select the <b>Type</b> of LDAP server you are connecting to.
		4.	Click <b>Add</b> in the Servers section and then enter information required to connect to the authentication service, including the server <b>Name</b> , <b>IP Address</b> (or FQDN), and <b>Port</b> .
		5.	(RADIUS and LDAP only) Specify settings to enable the
	If you are using LDAP to connect to Active Directory (AD), you must create a separate LDAP server profile for every AD domain.		<ul> <li>RADIUS—Enter the shared Secret when adding the server entry.</li> </ul>
			• LDAP—Enter the <b>Bind DN</b> and <b>Bind Password</b> .
		6.	(LDAP and Kerberos only) Specify where to search for credentials in the directory service:
			• LDAP—The <b>Base</b> DN specifies where in the LDAP tree to begin searching for users and groups. This field should populate automatically when you enter the server address and port. If it doesn't, check the service route to the LDAP server.
			• Kerberos—Enter the Kerberos <b>Realm</b> name.
		7.	Specify the <b>Domain</b> name (without dots, for example <b>acme</b> not <b>acme.com</b> ).
		8.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the server profile.
Step 2	Create an authentication profile.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Authentication Profile</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
	The authentication profile specifies which server profile to use to authenticate satellites.	2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile and then select the <b>Authentication</b> type ( <b>Local Database, LDAP, Kerberos,</b> or <b>RADIUS</b> ).
		3.	Select the Server Profile you created in Step 1.
		4.	(LDAP AD) Enter <b>sAMAccountName</b> as the <b>Login Attribute</b> .
		5.	Chek <b>OK</b> .
Step 3	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.

# Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN

Because the GlobalProtect configuration that the portal delivers to the satellites includes the list of gateways the satellite can connect to, it is a good idea to configure the gateways before configuring the portal.

- ▲ Prerequisite Tasks
- ▲ Configure the Gateway

# Prerequisite Tasks

Before you can configure the GlobalProtect gateway, you must have completed the following tasks:

- Created the interfaces (and zones) for the interface where you plan to configure each gateway. You must configure both the physical interface and the virtual tunnel interface. See Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN.
- Set up the gateway server certificates and certificate profile required for enable GlobalProtect satellite and gateway to establish a mutual SSL/TLS connection. See Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components.

# Configure the Gateway

After you have completed the Prerequisite Tasks, configure each GlobalProtect gateway to participate in the LSVPN as follows:

Config	ure the Gateway for LSVPN		
Step 1	Add a gateway.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select Network > GlobalProtect > Gateways and click Add. On the General tab, enter a Name for the gateway. The gateway name should not contain any spaces and as a best practice it should include the location or other descriptive information that will help identify the gateway. (Optional) Select the virtual system to which this gateway belongs from the Location field.
Step 2	Specify the network information to enable satellites to connect to the gateway. If you have not yet created the network interface for the gateway, see Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN for instructions. If you haven't yet created a server certificate for the gateway, see Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components.	1. 2. 3.	Select the <b>Interface</b> that satellites will use for ingress access to the gateway. Select the <b>IP Address</b> for gateway access. Select the <b>Server Certificate</b> for the gateway from the drop-down.

Config	Configure the Gateway for LSVPN (Continued)			
Step 3	Select the certificate profile for the gateway to use to authenticate satellites attempting to establish tunnels.	Select the <b>Certificate Profile</b> to you created for SSL communication between the LSVPN components.		
	If you have not yet set up the certificate profile, see Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components for instructions.			
Step 4	Configure the tunnel parameters and enable tunneling.	<ol> <li>On the GlobalProtect Gateway dialog, select Satellite Configuration &gt; Tunnel Settings.</li> </ol>		
		2. Select the <b>Tunnel Configuration</b> check box to enable tunneling.		
		3. Select the <b>Tunnel Interface</b> you defined in Step 2 in Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN.		
		<ol> <li>(Optional) If you want to preserve the Type of Service (ToS) information in the encapsulated packets, select the Copy TOS check box.</li> </ol>		
Step 5	(Optional) Enable tunnel monitoring.	1. Select the <b>Tunnel Monitoring</b> check box.		
	Tunnel monitoring enables satellite devices to monitor its gateway tunnel connection, allowing it to failover to a backup gateway if the connection fails. Failover to another gateway is the only type of tunnel monitoring profile supported with LSVPN.	2. Specify the <b>Destination IP</b> address the satellite devices should use to determine if the gateway is active. Alternatively, if you configured an IP address for the tunnel interface, you can leave this field blank and the tunnel monitor will instead use the tunnel interface to determine if the connection is active.		
		3. Select <b>Failover</b> from the <b>Tunnel Monitor Profile</b> drop-down (this is the only supported tunnel monitor profile for LSVPN).		
Step 6	Select the Crypto Profile to use when establishing tunnel connections. The crypto profile specifies the type IPSec encryption and/or the authentication method for securing the data that will traverse the tunnel. Because both tunnel endpoints in an LSVPN are trusted firewalls within your organization, you can typically use the default profile, which uses ESP-DH group2-AES 128 with SHA-1 encryption. However, if you require a different mix of encryption and authentication mechanisms, you can optionally create a custom IPSec crypto profile.	Select <b>default</b> from the <b>IPSec Crypto Profile</b> drop-down or, optionally, select <b>New IPSec Crypto Profile</b> to define a new profile. For details on the authentication and encryption options in the crypto profile, refer to the online help.		

Config	Configure the Gateway for LSVPN (Continued)				
Step 7	Configure the network settings to assign the satellites during establishment of the	1.	On the GlobalProtect Gateway dialog, select Satellite Configuration > Network Settings.		
	IPSec tunnel. You can also configure the satellite device to push the DNS settings to its local clients by configuring a DHCP server on the firewall hosting the satellite. In this configuration, the satellite will push DNS settings it learns from the gateway to the DHCP clients.	2.	<ul> <li>(Optional) If clients local to the satellite device need to resolve FQDNs on the corporate network, configure the gateway to push DNS settings to the satellites in one of the following ways:</li> <li>Manually define the <b>Primary DNS</b>, <b>Secondary DNS</b>, and <b>DNS Suffix</b> settings to push to the satellites.</li> </ul>		
			• If the gateway has an interface that is configured as a DHCP client, you can set the <b>Inheritance Source</b> to that interface and the GlobalProtect satellites will be assigned the same settings received by the DHCP client.		
		3.	To specify the <b>IP Pool</b> of addresses to assign the tunnel interface on the satellite devices when the VPN is established, click <b>Add</b> and then specify the IP address range(s) to use.		
		4.	To define what destination subnets to route through the tunnel click <b>Add</b> in the <b>Access Route</b> area and then enter the routes as follows:		
			• If you want to route all traffic from the satellites through the tunnel, leave this field blank. Note that in this case, all traffic except traffic destined for the local subnet will be tunneled to the gateway.		
			• To route only some traffic through the gateway (called <i>split tunneling</i> ), specify the destination subnets that must be tunneled. In this case, the satellite will route traffic that is not destined for a specified access route using its own routing table. For example, you may choose to only tunnel traffic destined for your corporate network, and use the local satellite to safely enable Internet access.		
			• If you want to enable routing between satellites, enter the summary route for the network protected by each satellite.		
Step 8	(Optional) Define what routes, if any, the gateway will accept from satellites.	1.	To enable the gateway to accept routes advertised by satellites, select <b>Satellite Configuration &gt; Route Filter</b> .		
	By default, the gateway will not add any	2.	Select the Accept published routes check box.		
	routes satellites advertise to its routing table. If you do not want the gateway to accept routes from gateways, you do not need to complete this step.	3.	To filter which of the routes advertised by the satellites to add to the gateway routing table, click <b>Add</b> and then define the subnets to include. For example, if all the satellites are configured with subnet 192.168.x.0/24 on the LAN side, configuring a permitted route of 192.168.0.0/16 to enable the gateway to only accept routes from the satellite if it is in the 192.168.0.0/16 subnet.		
Step 9	Save the gateway configuration.	1.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the settings and close the GlobalProtect Gateway dialog.		
		2.	<b>Commit</b> the configuration.		

# Configure the GlobalProtect Portal for LSVPN

The GlobalProtect portal provides the management functions for your GlobalProtect LSVPN. Every satellite system that participates in the LSVPN receives configuration information from the portal, including information about available gateways as well as the certificate it needs in order to connect to the gateways.

The following sections provide procedures for setting up the portal:

- Prerequisite Tasks
- ▲ Configure the Portal
- Define the Satellite Configurations

# **Prerequisite Tasks**

Before you can configure the GlobalProtect portal, you must have completed the following tasks:

- Created the interfaces (and zones) for the firewall interface where you plan to configure the portal. See Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN.
- □ Issued the portal server certificate, gateway server certificates, and set up the portal to issue server certificates for the satellites. See Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components.
- Defined the authentication profile that will be used to authenticate GlobalProtect satellites in the event that the serial number is not available. See Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites.
- Configured the global protect gateways. See Configure GlobalProtect Gateways for LSVPN.

# Configure the Portal

After you have completed the Prerequisite Tasks, configure the GlobalProtect portal as follows:

Configure the Portal for LSVPN			
Step 1	Add the portal.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select Network > GlobalProtect > Portals and click Add. On the Portal Configuration tab, enter a Name for the portal. The portal name should not contain any spaces. (Optional) Select the virtual system to which this portal belongs from the Location field.
Step 2	Specify the network information to enable satellites to connect to the portal. If you have not yet created the network interface for the portal, see Create Interfaces and Zones for the LSVPN for instructions. If you haven't yet created a server certificate for the portal and issued gateway certificates, see Deploy Server Certificates to the GlobalProtect LSVPN Components.	1. 2. 3.	Select the <b>Interface</b> that satellites will use for ingress access to the portal. Select the <b>IP Address</b> for satellite access to the portal. Select the <b>Server Certificate</b> you generated to enable the satellite to establish SSL connection with the portal.
Step 3	Specify an authentication profile for authenticating satellite devices. Even if you plan to manually configure the portal with the serial numbers of the satellites, you must define an authentication profile or you will not be able to save the configuration.	•	Select the <b>Authentication Profile</b> you defined for authenticating satellites. If you have not yet set up the authentication profile, select <b>New Authentication Profile</b> to create one now. See Configure the Portal to Authenticate Satellites for instructions. If the portal is unable to validate the serial number of a connecting satellite, it will fall back to the authentication profile and therefore you must configure an authentication profile in order to save the portal configuration.
Step 4	Continue with defining the configurations to push to the satellites, or, if you have already created the satellite configurations, save the portal configuration.	Cli Sat	ck <b>OK</b> to save the portal configuration or continue to Define the cellite Configurations.

# Define the Satellite Configurations

When a GlobalProtect satellite connects and successfully authenticates to the GlobalProtect portal, the portal delivers a satellite configuration, which specifies what gateways the satellite can connect to. If all your satellites will use the same gateway and certificate configurations, you can create a single satellite configuration to deliver to all satellites upon successful authentication. However, if you require different satellite configurations—for example if you want one group of satellites to connect to one gateway and another group of satellites to connect to a different gateway—you can create a separate satellite configuration for each. The portal will then use the enrollment username/group name or the serial number of the satellite device to determine which satellite configuration to deploy. As with security rule evaluation, the portal looks for a match starting from the top of the list. When it finds a match, it delivers the corresponding configuration to the satellite.

For example, the following figure shows a network in which some branch offices require VPN access to the corporate applications protected by your perimeter firewalls and another site needs VPN access to the datacenter.



Use the following procedure to create one or more satellite configurations.
Create	a GlobalProtect Satellite Configuration				
Step 1	Specify the certificates required to enable satellites to participate in the LSVPN.	1. Select <b>Network &gt; GlobalProtect &gt; Portals</b> and select the portal configuration for which you want to add a satellite configuration and then select the <b>Satellite Configuration</b> tab.			
		2. In the <b>Trusted Root CA</b> field, click <b>Add</b> and then select the CA certificate used to issue the gateway server certificates. The portal will deploy the root CA certificate you add here to all satellites as part of the configuration to enable the satellite to establish an SSL connection with the gateways. As a best practice, all of your gateways should use the same issuer.			
		If the root CA certificate used to issue your gateway server certificates is not on the portal, you can <b>Import</b> it now. See Enable SSL Between GlobalProtect LSVPN Components for details on how to import a root CA certificate.			
		3. Select the Root CA certificate that the portal will use to issue certificates to satellites upon successfully authenticating them from the <b>Issuing Certificate</b> drop-down.			
Step 2	Add a satellite configuration.	In the Satellite Configuration section, click <b>Add</b> and enter a <b>Name</b> for			
	The satellite configuration specifies the GlobalProtect LSVPN configuration settings to deploy to the connecting satellites. You must define at least one satellite configuration.	the configuration. If you plan to create multiple configurations, make sure the name you define for each is descriptive enough to allow you to distinguish them.			
Step 3	Specify which satellites to deploy this	Specify the match criteria for the satellite configuration as follows:			
	configuration to. There are two ways to specify which satellites will get the configuration: by enrollment user/group name and/or using the serial number of the satellite devices.	• To restrict this configuration to satellite devices with specific serial numbers, select the <b>Devices</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> , and enter serial number (you do not need to enter the satellite hostname; it will be automatically added when the satellite connects). Repeat this step for each satellite you want to receive this configuration.			
	The portal uses the <b>Enrollment</b> <b>User/User Group</b> settings and/or <b>Devices</b> serial numbers to match a satellite to a configuration. Therefore, if you have multiple configurations, be sure to order them properly. As soon as the portal finds a match, it will deliver the configuration. Therefore, more specific configurations must precede more general ones. See Step 6 for instructions on ordering the list of satellite configurations.	Select the <b>Enrollment User/User Group</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> , and the select the user or group you want to receive this configuration. Satellites that do not match on serial number will be required t authenticate as a user specified here (either an individual user of group member). Before you can restrict the configuration to specific groups, you must Map Users to Groups.			

oreate	a cloball roteot catellite conliguration	,oontinaca)
Step 4	Specify the gateways that satellites with this configuration can establish VPN tunnels with.	<ol> <li>On the Gateways tab, click Add.</li> <li>Enter a descriptive Name for the gateway. The name you enter here should match the name you defined when you configured the gateway and should be descriptive enough identify the location of the gateway.</li> <li>Enter the FQDN or IP address of the interface where the gateway is configured in the Gateways field. The address you specify must exactly match the Common Name (CN) in the gateway server certificate.</li> <li>(Optional) If you are adding two or more gateways to the configuration, the Routing Priority helps the satellite pick the preferred gateway. Enter a value in the range of 1-25, with lower numbers having the higher priority (that is, the gateway the satellite will connect to if all gateways are available). The satellite will multiply the routing priority by 10 to determine the routing metric.</li> </ol>
Step 5	Save the satellite configuration.	<ol> <li>Click <b>OK</b> to save the satellite configuration.</li> <li>If you want to add another satellite configuration, repeat Step 2 through Step 5.</li> </ol>
Step 6	Arrange the satellite configurations so that the proper configuration is deployed to each satellite.	<ul> <li>To move a satellite configuration up on the list of configurations, select the configuration and click Move Up.</li> <li>To move a satellite configuration down on the list of configurations, select the configuration and click Move Down.</li> </ul>
Step 7	Save the portal configuration.	<ol> <li>Click <b>OK</b> to save the settings and close the GlobalProtect Portal dialog.</li> <li><b>Commit</b> your changes.</li> </ol>

## Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN

In order to participate in the LSVPN, the satellite devices require a minimal amount of configuration. Because the required configuration is minimal, you can pre-configure the devices before shipping them to your branch offices for installation.

Prepare	e the Satellite Device to Join the Global	Protect LSVPN
Step 1	Configure a Layer 3 interface.	This is the physical interface the satellite will use to connect to the portal and the gateway. This interface must be in a zone that allows access outside of the local trust network. As a best practice, create a dedicated zone for VPN connections for visibility and control over traffic destined for the corporate gateways.
Step 2	Configure the logical tunnel interface for the tunnel to use to establish VPN tunnels with the GlobalProtect gateways. IP addresses are not required on the tunnel interface unless plan to use dynamic routing. However, assigning an IP address to the tunnel interface can be useful for troubleshooting connectivity issues.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Tunnel and click Add.</li> <li>In the Interface Name field, specify a numeric suffix, such as .2.</li> <li>On the Config tab, expand the Security Zone drop-down and select an existing zone or create a separate zone for VPN tunnel traffic by clicking New Zone and defining a Name for new zone (for example <i>lsvpnsat</i>).</li> <li>In the Virtual Router drop-down, select default.</li> <li>(Optional) If you want to assign an IP address to the tunnel interface, select the IPv4 tab, click Add in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 2.2.2.11/24.</li> <li>To save the interface configuration, click OK.</li> </ol>

Prepare	e the Satellite Device to Join the Global	rot	ect LSVPN (Continued)
Step 3	If you generated the portal server certificate using a Root CA that is not trusted by the satellites (for example, if you used self-signed certificates), import the root CA certificate used to issue the portal server certificate. The root CA certificate is required to enable the satellite device to establish the initial connection with the portal to obtain the LSVPN configuration.	1.	<ul> <li>Download the CA certificate that was used to generate the portal server certificates. If you are using self-signed certificates, export the root CA certificate from the portal as follows:</li> <li>a. Select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates.</li> <li>b. Select the CA certificate, and click Export.</li> <li>c. Select Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM) from the File Format drop-down and click OK to download the certificate. (You do not need to export the private key.)</li> <li>Import the root CA certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates and click Import.</li> <li>a. Select Device &gt; Certificate Management &gt; Certificates &gt; Device Certificates and click Import.</li> <li>b. Enter a Certificate Name that identifies the certificate as your client CA certificate.</li> <li>c. Browse to the Certificate File you downloaded from the CA.</li> <li>d. Select Base64 Encoded Certificate (PEM) as the File Format and then click OK.</li> <li>e. Select Trusted Root CA and then click OK</li> </ul>
Step 4	Configure the IPSec tunnel configuration.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> <li>7.</li> </ol>	Select Network > IPSec Tunnels and click Add. On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the IPSec configuration. Select the Tunnel Interface you created for the satellite. Select GlobalProtect Satellite as the Type. Enter the IP address or FQDN of the portal as the Portal Address. Select the Layer 3 Interface you configured for the satellite. Select the Local IP Address to use on the selected interface.
Step 5	(Optional) Configure the satellite to publish local routes to the gateway. Pushing routes to the gateway enables traffic to the subnets local to the satellite via the gateway. However, the gateway must also be configured to accept the routes.	1.	To enable the satellite to push routes to the gateway, on the <b>Advanced</b> tab select <b>Publish all static and connected routes to Gateway</b> . (Optional) If you only want to push routes for specific subnets rather than all routes, click <b>Add</b> in the Subnet section and specify which subnet routes to publish.
Step 6	Save the satellite configuration.	1. 2.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the IPSec tunnel settings. Click <b>Commit</b> .

Close

#### Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the GlobalProtect LSVPN (Continued)

Select Network > IPSec Tunnels and click the Gateway Info link Step 7 If required, provide the credentials to 1. allow the satellite to authenticate to the in the Status column of the tunnel configuration you created for portal. the LSVPN. 2. Click the enter credentials link in the Portal Status field and This step is only required if the portal was username and password required to authenticate the satellite to unable to find a serial number match in its the portal. configuration or if the serial number didn't work. In this case, the satellite will After the portal successfully authenticates to the portal, it will not be able to establish the tunnel with the receive its signed certificate and configuration, which it will use to connect to the gateway(s). You should see the tunnel gateway(s). establish and the Status change to Active. 0 🗆 ellite Config Portal Address 172.16.222.254 Portal Status Connection ful - 02/10/2014 18:59:33 (ref Interface ethernet1/1 Interface tunnel.2 Local IP 172.16.222.30 Established 02/11/2014 10:39:49 172.16.0.0/16,4.2.2.1/32,4.2.2.2/32 All routes accepted

## Verify the LSVPN Configuration

After configuring the portal, gateways, and satellite devices, verify that the satellites are able to connect to the portal and gateway and establish VPN tunnels with the gateway(s).

Verify	the LSVPN Configuration								
Step 1	Verify satellite connectivity with portal.	From the firewall hosting the portal, verify that satellites are successfully connecting by selecting <b>Network &gt; GlobalProtect &gt;</b> <b>Portal</b> and clicking <b>Satellite Info</b> in the Info column of the portal configuration entry.							t > ortal
		GlobalProtect F	ortal Satellite Info	rmation					0 🗆
			Name Addres	<ul> <li>Isvpn</li> <li>172.16.222.254/24</li> </ul>					
		Name a	Serial	Configuration	Last Seen IP	Last Connection	Certificate Expira	tion Certificate	→ × Status
		EBC-PA-2050 EBC-PA-500 PA-500	0003C103065 0006C105214 0006C104646	pa2000_35 pa500_32 pa500_30	172.16.222.35 172.16.222.100 172.16.222.30	Tue Feb 11 19: 2014 GMT Mon Feb 10 22:42:30 2014 Tue Feb 11 02: 2014 GMT	23:38 Feb 18 19:23:41 2014 GMT Feb 17 22:42:32 2014 GMT 59:29 Feb 18 02:59:33 2014 GMT	valid valid valid	
								C	Close
		GlobalProtect C	vith the g intervay Status Name (sypngate cation vsys1 srface ethernet1/11 srface ethernet1.1	ateway w	vill display	IP Address 1 annel IP Address 2	72.16.222.254/24 2.2.100	llites	tab.
		Active Satellit	es Inactive Sate	lites	-				
		EBC-PA-2050 (Serial No. 0003C103065)	Active Establishe 13:06:13	d: 02/11/2014	16.222.35 2	2.12.12	Route Sharing	Cog	<b>S</b>
		EBC-PA-500 (Serial No.	Active Establishe	d: 02/11/2014	16.222.100 2	2.12.10		6	•
		0006C105214) PA-500 (Serial No. 0006C104646)	13:13:21 Active Establishe 12:39:07	d: 02/11/2014	16.222.30 2	2.12.11		e	0
									Close
Step 1	Verify LSVPN tunnel status on the satellite.	On each selecting indicated	firewall h <b>Network</b> by a gree	nosting a <b>c &gt; IPSec</b> en icon.	satellite, v Tunnels :	erify the and verif	tunnel sta y active St	tus by. atus as	
				D	© Galeway/Satelite		Turnel Inte	πface	
		Name El Isopo 5020	Status Type O global- protec satelit	ethernet 17	cal IP Peer IP 5 2. 16	tatus Interface Gateway tunnel.2	Vertual Vertual Router System Isvpn ( vsys1 Show Routes)	Zone Isvprisat	Status

## **LSVPN Quick Configs**

The following sections provide step-by-step instructions for configuring some common GlobalProtect LSVPN deployments:

- ▲ Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing
- Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing

## Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing

This quick config shows the fastest way to get up and running with LSVPN. In this example, a single firewall at the corporate headquarters site is configured as both a portal and a gateway. Satellite devices can be quickly and easily deployed with minimal configuration for optimized scalability.



The following workflow shows the steps for setting up this basic configuration:

Quick (	luick Config: Basic LSVPN with Static Routing				
Step 1   Configure a Layer 3 interface.		<ul> <li>In this example, the Layer 3 interface on the portal/gateway requires the following configuration:</li> <li>Interface—ethernet1/11</li> </ul>			
		Security Zone—lsvpn-unt			
		• IPv4—203.0.113.11/24			
Step 2	On the firewall(s) hosting GlobalProtect gateway(s), configure the logical tunnel interface that will terminate VPN tunnels established by the GlobalProtect satellites.	<ul> <li>In this example, the Tunnel interface on the portal/gateway requires the following configuration:</li> <li>Interface—tunnel.1</li> <li>Security Zone—lsvpn-tun</li> </ul>			
	To enable visibility into users and groups connecting over the VPN, enable User-ID in the zone where the VPN tunnels terminate.				

Step 3 Create the security policy rule to enable traffic flow between the VPN zone where the tunnel terminates (lsvpn-tun) and the trust zone where the corporate applications reside (L3-Trust).

Name	Zone	Address	User	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action
LSVPN Access	🕅 Isvpn-tun	any	any	🕅 L3-Trust	any	adobe-creati	💥 application-d	0
						📰 ms-exchange		
						ms-office365		

QUICK	Config: Basic LSVPN with Static Routing	g (Continued)
Step 4	Issue a self-signed server certificate for the portal/gateway. The certificate subject name must match the FQDN or IP address of the Layer 3 interface you create for the portal/gateway.	<ol> <li>On the firewall hosting the portal, create the root CA certificate for issuing self-signed certificates for the GlobalProtect components. In this example, the root CA certificate, <i>lsvpn-CA</i>, will be used to issue the server certificate for the portal/gateway. In addition, the portal will use this root CA certificate to sign the CSRs from the satellite devices.</li> <li>Generate server certificates for the GlobalProtect portal and gateway(s). Because the portal and gateway will be on the same interface in this example, they can share a server certificate. In this example, the server certificate is named <i>lsvpnserver</i>.</li> </ol>
Step 5	Create a certificate profile.	In this example, the certificate profile, <i>lsvpn-profile</i> , references the root CA certificate <i>lsvpn-CA</i> . The gateway will use this certificate profile to authenticate satellites attempting to establish VPN tunnels.
Step 6	Configure an authentication profile for the portal to use if the satellite serial number is not available.	<ol> <li>Create a server profile on the portal.</li> <li>Create an authentication profile. In this example, the profile <i>lsvpn-sat</i> is used to authenticate satellites.</li> </ol>
Step 7	Configure the Gateway for LSVPN.	Select Network > GlobalProtect > Gateways and Add a configuration. This example requires the following gateway configuration: Interface—ethernet1/11 IP Address—203.0.113.11/24 Server Certificate—lsvpnserver Certificate Profile—lsvpn-profile Tunnel Interface—tunnel.1 Primary DNS/Secondary DNS—4.2.2.1/4.2.2.2 IP Pool—2.2.2.111-2.2.2.120 Access Route—10.2.10.0/24
Step 8	Configure the Portal for LSVPN.	Select Network > GlobalProtect > Portal and Add a configuration. This example requires the following portal configuration: Interface—ethernet1/11 IP Address—203.0.113.11/24 Server Certificate—lsvpnserver Authentication Profile—lsvpn-sat

### Quick Config: Basic LSVPN with Static Routing (Continued)

QUICK						
Step 9	Create a GlobalProtect Satellite Configuration.	On the <b>Satellite Configuration</b> tab in the portal configuration, <b>Add</b> a Satellite Configuration and a Trusted Root CA and specify the CA the portal will use to issue certificates for the satellites. In this example the required settings are as following: • <b>Gateway</b> —203.0.113.11				
		Issuing Certificate—lsvpn-CA				
		Trusted Root CA—lsvpn-CA				
Step 10	Prepare the Satellite Device to Join the LSVPN.	The satellite configuration in this example requires the following settings:				
		Interface Configuration				
		• Layer 3 interface—ethernet1/1, 203.0.113.13/24				
		• Tunnel interface—tunnel.2				
		• Zone—lsvpnsat				
		Root CA Certificate from Portal				
		• lsvpn-CA				
		IPSec Tunnel Configuration				
		Tunnel Interface—tunnel.2				
		• Portal Address—203.0.113.11				
		• Interface—ethernet1/1				
		• Local IP Address—203.0.113.13/24				
		Publish all static and connected routes to Gateway—enabled				

## Advanced LSVPN Configuration with Dynamic Routing

In larger LSVPN deployments with multiple gateways and many satellites, investing a little more time in the initial configuration to set up dynamic routing will simplify the maintenance of gateway configurations because access routes will update dynamically. The following example configuration shows how to extend the basic LSVPN configuration to configure OSPF as the dynamic routing protocol.

Setting up an LSVPN to use OSPF for dynamic routing requires the following additional steps on the gateways and the satellites:

- Manual assignment of IP addresses to tunnel interfaces on all gateways and satellites.
- Configuration of OSPF point-to-multipoint (P2MP) on the virtual router on all gateways and satellites. In addition, as part of the OSPF configuration on each gateway, you must manually define the tunnel IP address of each satellite as an OSPF neighbor. Similarly, on each satellite, you must manually define the tunnel IP address of each gateway as an OSPF neighbor.

Although dynamic routing requires additional setup during the initial configuration of the LSVPN, it reduces the maintenance tasks associated with keeping routes up to date as topology changes occur on your network.

The following figure shows an LSVPN dynamic routing configuration. This example shows how to configure OSPF as the dynamic routing protocol for the VPN.



For a basic setup of a LSVPN, follow the steps in Basic LSVPN Configuration with Static Routing. You can then complete the steps in the following workflow to extend the configuration to use dynamic routing rather than static routing.

<ul> <li>Step 1 Add an IP address to the tunnel interface configuration on each gateway and each satellite:</li> <li>Step 1 Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Tunnel and select the tunnel interface, see Step 2 in Quick Config Basic LSVPN to open the Tunnel Interface dialog.</li> <li>If you have not yet created the tunnel interface, see Step 2 in Quick Config Basic LSVPN with Static Routing.</li> <li>Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Area itac, click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite:</li> <li>Click VK (wice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN.</li> <li>Select parp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Setep 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite:</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>Nepetat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Setep 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite:</li> <li>Setep 42 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite:</li> <li>Setep 42 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite:</li> <li>Setep 42 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite:</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or</li></ul>	Quick C	Config: LSVPN with Dynamic Routing		
<ul> <li>step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface solution with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>Configure OSPF on the satellite:</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.&lt;</li></ul>	Step 1	Add an IP address to the tunnel interface configuration on each gateway and each satellite.	Co: 1. 2.	<ul> <li>mplete the following steps on each gateway and each satellite:</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Tunnel and select the tunnel configuration you created for the LSVPN to open the Tunnel Interface dialog.</li> <li>If you have not yet created the tunnel interface, see Step 2 in Quick Config: Basic LSVPN with Static Routing.</li> <li>On the IPv4 tab, click Add and then enter an IP address and subnet mask. For example, to add an IP address for the gateway</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Step 2 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.</li> <li>To configure OSPF on the gateway: <ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the the changes on the gateway.</li> </ol> </li> <li>Step 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>To configure OSPF on the satellite: <ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>			3.	tunnel interface you would enter 2.2.2.100/24. Click <b>OK</b> to save the configuration.
<ul> <li>2. On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>3. If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite device, for example 2.2.2.111.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>8. Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>9. On the Areas tab, click Add in create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>9. If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>9. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>9. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>9. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>9. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>9. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>	Step 2	Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the gateway.	To 1.	configure OSPF on the gateway: Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Routers</b> and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.
<ul> <li>3. If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite device, for example 2.2.2.111.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>8. Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>70 configure OSPF on the satellite:</li> <li>1. Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>2. On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select P2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> </ul>	Interfa	see tunel.1	2.	On the <b>Areas</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.
<ul> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite device, for example 2.2.2.111.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add in the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> </ul>	Link Ty Neighbors 2.2.2.111	Passive Auth Profile None	3. 4.	If you are creating a new area, enter an <b>Area ID</b> on the <b>Type</b> tab. On the <b>Interface</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> and select the tunnel <b>Interface</b> you created for the LSVPN.
<ul> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite device, for example 2.2.2.111.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>8. Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Step 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>To configure OSPF on the satellite: <ul> <li>1. Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>2. On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>3. If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>		Retransmit Interval   S Transit Delay   1	5.	Select <b>p2mp</b> as the <b>Link Type</b> .
<ul> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> <li>Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Step 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>To configure OSPF on the satellite: <ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ol> </li></ul>	+Add - Del	ete	6.	Click <b>Add</b> in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each satellite device, for example 2.2.2.111.
<ol> <li>Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.</li> <li>Step 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ol>		OK Cancel	7.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the virtual router configuration and then <b>Commit</b> the changes on the gateway.
<ul> <li>Step 3 Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.</li> <li>To configure OSPF on the satellite:</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.</li> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>			8.	Repeat this step each time you add a new satellite to the LSVPN.
<ol> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.</li> <li>If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ol>	Step 3	Configure the dynamic routing protocol on the satellite.	То 1.	configure OSPF on the satellite: Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Routers</b> and select the virtual router associated with your VPN interfaces.
<ul> <li>3. If you are creating a new area, enter an Area ID on the Type tab.</li> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>	Virtual Router -	0597 - Arca - Interface         Image: Comparison of the image:	2.	On the <b>Areas</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> to create the backbone area, or, if it is already configured, click on the area ID to edit it.
<ul> <li>4. On the Interface tab, click Add and select the tunnel Interface you created for the LSVPN.</li> <li>5. Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>	Link Tv	Priority 1 Proving Auth Profile None	3.	If you are creating a new area, enter an <b>Area ID</b> on the <b>Type</b> tab.
<ul> <li>Select p2mp as the Link Type.</li> <li>Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>	Neighbors 2.2.2.100	Timing Helo Interval 10 Dead Counts 4	4.	On the <b>Interface</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> and select the tunnel <b>Interface</b> you created for the LSVPN.
<ul> <li>6. Click Add in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.</li> <li>7. Click OK twice to save the virtual router configuration and then Commit the changes on the gateway.</li> </ul>		Retransmit Interval S Transit Delay 1	5.	Select <b>p2mp</b> as the <b>Link Type</b> .
7. Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the virtual router configuration and then <b>Commit</b> the changes on the gateway.	<b>⊕</b> Add <b>−</b> De	inter and the second	6.	Click <b>Add</b> in the Neighbors section and enter the IP address of the tunnel interface of each GlobalProtect gateway, for example 2.2.2.100.
0 0 1		OK Cancel	7.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the virtual router configuration and then <b>Commit</b> the changes on the gateway.
8. Repeat this step each time you add a new gateway.			8.	Repeat this step each time you add a new gateway.

#### Quick Config: LSVPN with Dynamic Routing (Continued)

Step 4 Verify that the gateways and satellites are able to form router adjacencies.

• On each satellite and each gateway, confirm that peer adjacencies have formed and that routing table entries have been created for the peers (that is, the satellites have routes to the gateways and the gateways have routes to the satellites). Select **Network > Virtual Router** and click the **More Runtime Stats** link for the virtual router you are using for the LSVPN. On the Routing tab, verify that the LSVPN peer has a route.

Virtual Router - Isvpn	irtual Router - Isvpn								
Routing RIP 05	PF BGP Multicas								
Destination	March Llas	Makia	ri	1	Tabarla as				
Desunation	Next hop	Medic	ridys	Age	interface				
2.2.2.0/24	2.2.2.100	0	AC		tunnel.1				
2.2.2.100/32	0.0.0.0	0	AH						
2.2.2.111/32	2.2.2.111	10	A Oi	1360303	tunnel.1				

• On the **OSPF > Interface** tab, verify that the **Type** is **p2mp**.

Vir	firtual Router - Isvpn							
	Routing RIP OSPF BGP Multicast							
	Summary Area Interface Neighbor Virtual Link Virtual Neighbor							
	٩,							
	Name	8 d d a a a	Time	Dessive	Arres Tel	Dautas Driasitu	Chabur	
	Name	Address	Type	Passive	Area Iu	Router Phonity	Status	
	tunnel. 1	2.2.2.100	p2mp		0.0.0.0	1	p2p	

• On the **OSPF** > **Neighbor** tab, verify that the firewalls hosting your gateways have established router adjacencies with the firewalls hosting your satellites and vice versa. Also verify that the **Status** is **Full**, indicating that full adjacencies have been established.

Virt	Virtual Router - Isvpn							
R	Routing RIP OSPF BGP Multicast							
ſ	Summary Area Interface Neighbor Virtual Link Virtual Neighbor							
	Neighbor Address	Neighbor Router Id	Local Address Binding	Area Id	Neighbor Priority	Remaining Lifetime	Status	
	2.2.2.111	2.2.2.111	2.2.2.100	0.0.0.0	1	31	full	

# Networking

All Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls provide a flexible networking architecture that includes support for dynamic routing, switching, and VPN connectivity, enabling you to deploy the firewall into nearly any networking environment. When configuring the Ethernet ports on your firewall, you can choose from virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3 interface deployments. In addition, to allow you to integrate into a variety of network segments, you can configure different types of interfaces on different ports. The Interface Deployments section provides basic information on each type of deployment. For more detailed deployment information, refer to Designing Networks with Palo Alto Networks Firewalls.

The following topics describe networking concepts and how to integrate Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewalls into your network.

- ▲ Interface Deployments
- ▲ Virtual Routers
- ▲ Static Routes
- ▲ RIP
- ▲ OSPF
- ▲ BGP
- Session Settings and Timeouts
- ▲ DHCP
- ▲ NAT
- ▲ NAT64
- ▲ LACP

For information on route distribution, refer to Understanding Route Redistribution and Filtering.

## **Interface Deployments**

A Palo Alto Networks firewall can operate in multiple deployments at once because the deployments occur at the interface level. The following sections describe the deployments.

- Virtual Wire Deployments
- ▲ Layer 2 Deployments
- ▲ Layer 3 Deployments
- Tap Mode Deployments

### Virtual Wire Deployments

In a virtual wire deployment, the firewall is installed transparently on a network segment by binding two ports together and should be used only when no switching or routing is needed.

A virtual wire deployment allows the following conveniences:

- Simplifies installation and configuration.
- Does not require any configuration changes to surrounding or adjacent network devices.

The "default-vwire" that is shipped as the factory default configuration binds together Ethernet ports 1 and 2 and allows all untagged traffic. You can, however, use a virtual wire to connect any two ports and configure it to block or allow traffic based on the virtual LAN (VLAN) tags; the VLAN tag "0" indicates untagged traffic. You can also create multiple subinterfaces, add them into different zones and then classify traffic according to a VLAN tag, or a combination of a VLAN tag with IP classifiers (address, range, or subnet) to apply granular policy control for specific VLAN tags or for VLAN tags from a specific source IP address, range, or subnet.

#### Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment



#### Virtual Wire Subinterfaces

Virtual wire subinterfaces provide flexibility in enforcing distinct policies when you need to manage traffic from multiple customer networks. It allows you to separate and classify traffic into different zones (the zones can belong to separate virtual systems, if required) using the following criteria:

• VLAN tags — The example in Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment with Subinterfaces (VLAN Tags only), shows an Internet Service Provider (ISP) using virtual wire subinterfaces with VLAN tags to separate traffic for two different customers.

• VLAN tags in conjunction with IP classifiers (address, range, or subnet)— The following example shows an ISP with two separate virtual systems on a firewall that manages traffic from two different customers. On each virtual system, the example illustrates how virtual wire subinterfaces with VLAN tags and IP classifiers are used to classify traffic into separate zones and apply relevant policy for customers from each network.

#### Virtual Wire Subinterface Workflow

- 1. Configure two Ethernet interfaces as type virtual wire, and assign these interfaces to a virtual wire.
- 2. Create subinterfaces on the parent Virtual Wire to separate CustomerA and CustomerB traffic. Make sure that the VLAN tags defined on each pair of subinterfaces that are configured as virtual wire(s) are identical. This is essential because a virtual wire does not switch VLAN tags.
- 3. Create new subinterfaces and define IP classifiers. This task is optional and only required if you wish to add additional subinterfaces with IP classifiers for further managing traffic from a customer based on the combination of VLAN tags and a specific source IP address, range or subnet.

You can also use IP classifiers for managing untagged traffic. To do so, you must create a sub-interface with the vlan tag "0", and define sub-interface(s) with IP classifiers for managing untagged traffic using IP classifiers

IP classification may only be used on the subinterfaces associated with one side of the virtual wire. The subinterfaces defined on the corresponding side of the virtual wire must use the same VLAN tag, but must not include an IP classifier.

#### Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment with Subinterfaces (VLAN Tags only)



Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment with Subinterfaces (VLAN Tags only) depicts CustomerA and CustomerB connected to the firewall through one physical interface, ethernet1/1, configured as a Virtual Wire; it is the ingress interface. A second physical interface, ethernet1/2, is also part of the Virtual Wire; it is the egress interface that provides access to the Internet. For CustomerA, you also have subinterfaces ethernet1/1.1 (ingress) and ethernet1/2.1 (egress). For CustomerB, you have the subinterface ethernet1/1.2 (ingress) and ethernet1/2.2 (egress). When configuring the subinterfaces, you must assign the appropriate VLAN tag and zone in order to apply policies for each customer. In this example, the policies for CustomerA are created between Zone1 and Zone2, and policies for CustomerB are created between Zone3 and Zone4.

When traffic enters the firewall from CustomerA or CustomerB, the VLAN tag on the incoming packet is first matched against the VLAN tag defined on the ingress subinterfaces. In this example, a single subinterface matches the VLAN tag on the incoming packet, hence that subinterface is selected. The policies defined for the zone are evaluated and applied before the packet exits from the corresponding subinterface.



The same VLAN tag must not be defined on the parent virtual wire interface and the subinterface. Verify that the VLAN tags defined on the Tag Allowed list of the parent virtual wire interface (**Network > Virtual Wires**) are not included on a subinterface. Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment with Subinterfaces (VLAN Tags and IP Classifiers) depicts CustomerA and CustomerB connected to one physical firewall that has two virtual systems (vsys), in addition to the default virtual system (vsys1). Each virtual system is an independent virtual firewall that is managed separately for each customer. Each vsys has attached interfaces/subinterfaces and security zones that are managed independently.



Figure: Virtual Wire Deployment with Subinterfaces (VLAN Tags and IP Classifiers)

Vsys1 is set up to use the physical interfaces ethernet1/1 and ethernet1/2 as a virtual wire; ethernet1/1 is the ingress interface and ethernet1/2 is the egress interface that provides access to the Internet. This virtual wire is configured to accept all tagged and untagged traffic with the exception of VLAN tags 100 and 200 that are assigned to the subinterfaces.

CustomerA is managed on vsys2 and CustomerB is managed on vsys3. On vsys2 and vsys3, the following vwire subinterfaces are created with the appropriate VLAN tags and zones to enforce policy measures.

Customer	Vsys	Vwire Subinterfaces	Zone	VLAN Tag	IP Classifier
A	2	e1/1.1 (ingress) e1/2.1 (egress)	Zone3 Zone4	100 100	None
	2	e1/1.2 (ingress) e1/2.2 (egress)	Zone5 Zone6	100 100	IP subnet 192.1.0.0/16
	2	e1/1.3 (ingress) e1/2.3 (egress)	Zone7 Zone8	100 100	IP subnet 192.2.0.0/16
В	3	e1/1.4 (ingress) e1/2.4 (egress)	Zone9 Zone10	200 200	None

When traffic enters the firewall from CustomerA or CustomerB, the VLAN tag on the incoming packet is first matched against the VLAN tag defined on the ingress subinterfaces. In this case, for CustomerA, there are multiple subinterfaces that use the same VLAN tag. Hence, the firewall first narrows the classification to a subinterface based on the source IP address in the packet. The policies defined for the zone are evaluated and applied before the packet exits from the corresponding subinterface.

For return-path traffic, the firewall compares the destination IP address as defined in the IP classifier on the customer-facing subinterface and selects the appropriate virtual wire to route traffic through the accurate subinterface.



The same VLAN tag must not be defined on the parent virtual wire interface and the subinterface. Verify that the VLAN tags defined on the Tag Allowed list of the parent virtual wire interface (**Network > Virtual Wires**) are not included on a subinterface.

## Layer 2 Deployments

In a Layer 2 deployment, the firewall provides switching between two or more networks. Each group of interfaces must be assigned to a VLAN object in order for the firewall to switch between them. The firewall will perform VLAN tag switching when layer 2 subinterfaces are attached to a common VLAN object. Choose this option when switching is required.

#### Figure: Layer 2 Deployment



### Layer 3 Deployments

In a Layer 3 deployment, the firewall routes traffic between multiple ports. An IP address must be assigned to each interface and a virtual router must be defined to route the traffic. Choose this option when routing is required.

#### Figure: Layer 3 Deployment



In addition, because the firewall must route traffic in a Layer 3 deployment, you must configure a virtual router. See Virtual Routers.

### Point-to-Point Protocol over Ethernet Support

You can configure the firewall to be a Point-to-Point Protocol over Ethernet (PPPoE) termination point to support connectivity in a Digital Subscriber Line (DSL) environment where there is a DSL modem but no other PPPoE device to terminate the connection.

You can choose the PPPoE option and configure the associated settings when an interface is defined as a Layer 3 interface.



PPPoE is not supported in HA active/active mode.

### **DHCP** Client

You can configure the firewall interface to act as a DHCP client and receive a dynamically assigned IP address. The firewall also provides the capability to propagate settings received by the DHCP client interface into a DHCP server operating on the firewall. This is most commonly used to propagate DNS server settings from an Internet service provider to client machines operating on the network protected by the firewall.



DHCP client is not supported in HA active/active mode.

For more information, see DHCP.

### Tap Mode Deployments

A network tap is a device that provides a way to access data flowing across a computer network. Tap mode deployment allows you to passively monitor traffic flows across a network by way of a switch SPAN or mirror port.

The SPAN or mirror port permits the copying of traffic from other ports on the switch. By dedicating an interface on the firewall as a tap mode interface and connecting it with a switch SPAN port, the switch SPAN port provides the firewall with the mirrored traffic. This provides application visibility within the network without being in the flow of network traffic.



When deployed in tap mode, the firewall is not able to take action, such as block traffic or apply QoS traffic control.

## Virtual Routers

The firewall uses virtual routers to obtain routes to other subnets by manually defining a route (static routes) or through participation in Layer 3 routing protocols (dynamic routes). The best routes obtained through these methods are used to populate the firewall's IP route table. When a packet is destined for a different subnet, the Virtual Router obtains the best route from this IP route table and forwards the packet to the next hop router defined in the table.

The Ethernet interfaces and VLAN interfaces defined on the firewall receive and forward the Layer 3 traffic. The destination zone is derived from the outgoing interface based on the forwarding criteria, and policy rules are consulted to identify the security policies to be applied. In addition to routing to other network devices, virtual routers can route to other virtual routers within the same firewall if a next hop is specified to point to another virtual router.

You can configure the virtual router to participate with dynamic routing protocols (BGP, OSPF, or RIP) as well as adding static routes. You can also create multiple virtual routers, each maintaining a separate set of routes that are not shared between virtual routers, enabling you to configure different routing behaviors for different interfaces.

Each Layer 3 interface, loopback interface, and VLAN interface defined on the firewall must be associated with a virtual router. While each interface can belong to only one virtual router, multiple routing protocols and static routes can be configured for a virtual router. Regardless of the static routes and dynamic routing protocols configured for a virtual router, a common general configuration is required. The firewall uses Ethernet switching to reach other devices on the same IP subnet.

The following Layer 3 routing protocols are supported from Virtual Routers:

- RIP
- OSPF
- OSPFv3
- BGP

Define	a Virtual Router General Configuration	
Step 1	Gather the required information from your network administrator.	<ul> <li>Interfaces that you want to route</li> <li>Administrative distances for static, OSFP internal, OSPF external, IBGP, EBGP and RIP</li> </ul>
Step 2	Create the virtual router and name it.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers.</li> <li>Click Add and enter a name for the virtual router.</li> <li>Select interfaces to apply to the virtual router.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> </ol>
Step 3	Select interfaces to apply to the virtual router.	<ol> <li>Click Add in the Interfaces box.</li> <li>Select an already defined interface from the drop-down.</li> <li>Repeat Step 2 for all interfaces that you want to add to the virtual router.</li> </ol>

Define	efine a Virtual Router General Configuration (Continued)				
Step 4	Set Administrative Distances for static and dynamic routing.	<ol> <li>Set Administrative Distances as required.</li> <li>Static—Range: 10-240, Default: 10</li> <li>OSPF Internal—Range: 10-240, Default: 30</li> <li>OSPF External—Range: 10-240, Default: 110</li> <li>IBGP—Range: 10-240, Default: 200</li> <li>EBGP—Range: 10-240, Default: 20</li> <li>RIP—Range: 10-240, Default: 120</li> </ol>			
Step 5	Save virtual router general settings.	Click <b>OK</b> to save your settings.			
Step 6	Commit your changes.	Click <b>Commit</b> . The device may take up to 90 seconds to save your changes.			

## **Static Routes**

The following procedure shows how to integrate the firewall into the network using static routing.

Set Up	Set Up Interfaces and Zones				
Step 1	Configure a default route to your Internet router.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Router</b> and then select the <b>default</b> link to open the Virtual Router dialog.		
		2.	Select the <b>Static Routes</b> tab and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the route and enter the route in the <b>Destination</b> field (for example, $0.0.0.0/0$ ).		
		3.	Select the <b>IP Address</b> radio button in the <b>Next Hop</b> field and then enter the IP address and netmask for your Internet gateway (for example, 208.80.56.1).		
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> twice to save the virtual router configuration.		
Step 2	Configure the external interface (the interface that connects to the Internet).	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and then select the interface you want to configure. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/3 as the external interface.		
		2.	Select the <b>Interface Type</b> . Although your choice here depends on your network topology, this example shows the steps for <b>Layer3</b> .		
		3.	In the Virtual Router drop-down, select default.		
		4.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select <b>New Zone</b> from the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down. In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example Untrust, and then click <b>OK</b> .		
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab and <b>Static</b> radio button. Click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 208.80.56.100/24.		
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select <b>Advanced &gt; Other</b> <b>Info</b> , expand the <b>Management Profile</b> drop-down, and select <b>New Management Profile</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the profile, select <b>Ping</b> and then click <b>OK</b> .		
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .		

Set Up	Interfaces and Zones (Continued)		
Step 3	Configure the interface that connects to your internal network.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select the interface you want to configure. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/4 as the internal interface.
	In this example, the interface connects to a network segment that uses private IP addresses. Because private IP addresses cannot be routed externally you	2.	Select Layer3 from the Interface Type drop-down.
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down and select <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example Trust, and then click <b>OK</b> .
	will have to configure NAT. See Configure NAT for details.	4.	Select the same Virtual Router you used in Step 2, default in this example.
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab and the <b>Static</b> radio button, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 192.168.1.4/24.
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select the management profile that you created in Step 2-6.
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Configure the interface that connects to the DMZ.	1.	Select the interface you want to configure.
		2.	Select <b>Layer3</b> from the <b>Interface Type</b> drop-down. In this example, we are configuring Ethernet1/13 as the DMZ interface.
		3.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, expand the <b>Security Zone</b> drop-down and select <b>New Zone</b> . In the Zone dialog, define a <b>Name</b> for new zone, for example DMZ, and then click <b>OK</b> .
		4.	Select the Virtual Router you used in Step 2, default in this example.
		5.	To assign an IP address to the interface, select the <b>IPv4</b> tab and the <b>Static</b> radio button, click <b>Add</b> in the IP section, and enter the IP address and network mask to assign to the interface, for example 10.1.1.1/24.
		6.	To enable you to ping the interface, select the management profile that you created in Step 2-6.
		7.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Save the interface configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.
Step 6	Cable the firewall.	Attach straight through cables from the interfaces you configured to the corresponding switch or router on each network segment.	
Step 7	Verify that the interfaces are active.	Fro icon stat	om the web interface, select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and verify that n in the Link State column is green. You can also monitor link te from the <b>Interfaces</b> widget on the <b>Dashboard</b> .
		Inte	I 3 5 7       9 11 13 15       17 19 21 23         I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII

## RIP

Routing Information Protocol (RIP) is an interior gateway protocol (IGP) that was designed for small IP networks. RIP relies on hop count to determine routes; the best routes have the fewest number of hops. RIP is based on UDP and uses port 520 for route updates. By limiting routes to a maximum of 15 hops, the protocol helps prevent the development of routing loops, but also limits the supported network size. If more than 15 hops are required, traffic is not routed. RIP also can take longer to converge than OSPF and other routing protocols. The firewall supports RIP v2.

Perform the following procedure to configure RIP.

Config	ure RIP		
Step 1	Configure general virtual router configuration settings.	See	Virtual Routers for details.
Step 2	Configure general RIP configuration	1.	Select the <b>RIP</b> tab.
	settings.	2.	Select the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the RIP protocol.
		3.	Select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you do not want to learn any default routes through RIP. This is the recommended default setting.
		4.	De-select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you want to permit redistribution of default routes through RIP.
Step 3	Configure interfaces for the RIP protocol.	1.	On <b>Interfaces</b> tab, select an interface from the drop-down in the Interface configuration section.
		2.	Select an already defined interface from the drop-down.
		3.	Select the <b>Enable</b> check box.
		4.	Select the <b>Advertise</b> check box to advertise a default route to RIP peers with the specified metric value.
		5.	You can optionally select a profile from the <b>Auth Profile</b> drop-down. See Step 5 for details.
		6.	Select normal, passive or send-only from the <b>Mode</b> drop-down.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Configure RIP timers.	1.	On the <b>Timers</b> tab, enter a value in the <b>Interval Seconds (sec)</b> box. This setting defines the length of the timer interval in seconds. This duration is used for the remaining RIP timing fields. Default: 1. Range: 1 - 60.
		2.	Enter an <b>Update Intervals</b> to define the number of intervals between route update announcements Default: 30. Range: 1 - 3600.
		3.	Specify the <b>Delete Intervals</b> to define the number of intervals between the time that the route expires to its deletion Default: 180. Range: 1 - 3600.
		4.	Specify the <b>Expire Intervals</b> to define the number of intervals between the time that the route was last updated to its expiration Default: 120. Range: 1 - 3600.

Configure RIP			
Step 5	(Optional) Configure Auth Profiles.		default, the firewall does not use RIP authentication for the hange between RIP neighbors. Optionally, you can configure RIP hentication between RIP neighbors by either a simple password using MD5 authentication.
		Sin	nple Password RIP authentication
		1.	Select Auth Profiles and click Add.
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate RIP messages.
		3.	Select Simple Password as the Password Type.
		4.	Enter a simple password and then confirm.
		MI	D5 RIP authentication
		1.	Select Auth Profiles and click Add.
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate RIP messages.
		3.	Select MD5 as the Password Type.
		4.	Click Add.
		5.	Enter one or more password entries, including:
			• Key-ID Range 0-255
			• Key
		6.	You can optionally select <b>Preferred</b> status.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to specify the key to be used to authenticate outgoing message.
		8.	Click <b>OK</b> again in the Virtual Router - RIP Auth Profile dialog box.

## OSPF

Open Shortest Path First (OSPF) is an interior gateway protocol (IGP) that is most often used to dynamically manage network routes in large enterprise network. It determines routes dynamically by obtaining information from other routers and advertising routes to other routers by way of Link State Advertisements (LSAs). The information gathered from the LSAs is used to construct a topology map of the network. This topology map is shared across routers in the network and used to populate the IP routing table with available routes.

Changes in the network topology are detected dynamically and used to generate a new topology map within seconds. A shortest path tree is computed of each route. Metrics associated with each routing interface are used to calculate the best route. These can include distance, network throughput, link availability etc. Additionally, these metrics can be configured statically to direct the outcome of the OSPF topology map.

Palo Alto networks implementation of OSPF fully supports the following RFCs:

- RFC 2328 (for IPv4)
- RFC 5340 (for IPv6)

The following topics provide more information about the OSPF and procedures for configuring OSPF on the firewall:

- OSPF Concepts
- ▲ Configure OSPF
- ▲ Configure OSPFv3
- ▲ Configure OSPF Graceful Restart
- ▲ Confirm OSPF Operation

### **OSPF** Concepts

The following topics introduce the OSPF concepts you will need to understand in order to configure the firewall to participate in an OSPF network:

- ▲ OSPFv3
- OSPF Neighbors
- ▲ OSPF Areas
- ▲ OSPF Router Types

### OSPFv3

OSPFv3 provides support for the OSPF routing protocol within an IPv6 network. As such, it provides support for IPv6 addresses and prefixes. It retains most of the structure and functions in OSPFv2 (for IPv4) with some minor changes. The following are some of the additions and changes to OSPFv3:

- Support for multiple instances per link—With OSPFv3, you can run multiple instances of the OSPF protocol over a single link. This is accomplished by assigning an OSPFv3 instance ID number. An interface that is assigned to an instance ID drops packets that contain a different ID.
- Protocol Processing Per-link—OSPFv3 operates per-link instead of per-IP-subnet as on OSPFv2.
- **Changes to Addressing**—IPv6 addresses are not present in OSPFv3 packets, except for LSA payloads within link state update packets. Neighboring routers are identified by the Router ID.
- Authentication Changes—OSPFv3 doesn't include any authentication capabilities. Configuring OSPFv3 on a firewall requires an authentication profile that specifies Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP) or IPv6 Authentication Header (AH). The re-keying procedure specified in RFC 4552 is not supported in this release.
- Support for multiple instances per-link—Each instance corresponds to an instance ID contained in the OSPFv3 packet header.
- New LSA Types—OSPFv3 supports two new LSA types: Link LSA and Intra Area Prefix LSA.

All additional changes are described in detail in RFC 5340.

### **OSPF** Neighbors

Two OSPF-enabled routers connected by a common network and in the same OSPF area that form a relationship are OSPF neighbors. The connection between these routers can be through a common broadcast domain or by a point-to-point connection. This connection is made through the exchange of hello OSPF protocol packets. These neighbor relationships are used to exchange routing updates between routers.

### **OSPF** Areas

OSPF operates within a single autonomous system (AS). Networks within this single AS, however, can be divided into a number of areas. By default, Area 0 is created. Area 0 can either function alone or act as the OSPF backbone for a larger number of areas. Each OSPF area is named using a 32-bit identifier which in most cases is written in the same dotted-decimal notation as an IP4 address. For example, Area 0 is usually written as 0.0.0.0.

The topology of an area is maintained in its own link state database and is hidden from other areas, which reduces the amount of traffic routing required by OSPF. The topology is then shared in a summarized form between areas by a connecting router.

Area Type	Description
Backbone Area	The backbone area (Area 0) is the core of an OSPF network. All other areas are connected to it and all traffic between areas must traverse it. All routing between areas is distributed through the backbone area. While all other OSPF areas must connect to the backbone area, this connection doesn't need to be direct and can be made through a virtual link.
Normal OSPF Area	In a normal OSPF area there are no restrictions; the area can carry all types of routes.
Stub OSPF Area	A stub area does not receive routes from other autonomous systems. Routing from the stub area is performed through the default route to the backbone area.
NSSA Area	The Not So Stubby Area (NSSA) is a type of stub area that can import external routes, with some limited exceptions.

Table: OSPF Area Types

### OSPF Router Types

Within an OSPF area, routers are divided into the following categories.

- Internal Router—A router with that has OSPF neighbor relationships only with devices in the same area.
- Area Border Router (ABR)—A router that has OSPF neighbor relationships with devices in multiple areas. ABRs gather topology information from their attached areas and distribute it to the backbone area.
- **Backbone Router**—A backbone router is any OSPF router that is attached to the OSPF backbone. Since ABRs are always connected to the backbone, they are always classified as backbone routers.
- Autonomous System Boundary Router (ASBR)—An ASBR is a router that attaches to more than one routing protocol and exchanges routing information between them.

## **Configure OSPF**

OSPF determines routes dynamically by obtaining information from other routers and advertising routes to other routers by way of Link State Advertisements (LSAs). The router keeps information about the links between it and the destination and can make highly efficient routing decisions. A cost is assigned to each router interface, and the best routes are determined to be those with the lowest costs, when summed over all the encountered outbound router interfaces and the interface receiving the LSA.

Hierarchical techniques are used to limit the number of routes that must be advertised and the associated LSAs. Because OSPF dynamically processes a considerable amount of route information, it has greater processor and memory requirements than does RIP.

Config	Configure OSPF				
Step 1	Configure general virtual router configuration settings.	See Virtual Routers for details.			
Step 2	Configure general OSPF configuration settings.	<ol> <li>Select the <b>OSPF</b> tab.</li> <li>Select the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the OSPF protocol.</li> <li>Optionally enter the <b>Router ID</b>.</li> <li>Select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you do not want to learn any default routes through OSPF. This is the recommended default setting.</li> <li>De-select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you want to permit redistribution of default routes through OSPF.</li> </ol>			

Config	ure OSPF (Continued)		
Step 3	Configure Areas - Type for the OSFP protocol.	1. 2. 3.	<ul> <li>On the Areas tab, click Add.</li> <li>Enter an Area ID for the area in <i>x.x.x.x</i> format. This is the identifier that each neighbor must accept to be part of the same area.</li> <li>On the Type tab, select one of the following from the area Type drop-down:</li> <li>Normal—There are no restrictions; the area can carry all types of routes.</li> </ul>
			• <b>Stub</b> —There is no outlet from the area. To reach a destination outside of the area, it is necessary to go through the border, which connects to other areas. If you select this option, configure the following:
			– Accept Summary—Link state advertisements (LSA) are accepted from other areas. If this option on a stub area Area Border Router (ABR) interface is disabled, the OSPF area will behave as a Totally Stubby Area (TSA) and the ABR will not propagate any summary LSAs.
			<ul> <li>Advertise Default Route—Default route LSAs will be included in advertisements to the stub area along with a configured metric value in the configured range: 1-255.</li> </ul>
			• NSSA (Not-So-Stubby Area)—The firewall can only leave the area by routes other than OSPF routes. If selected, configure Accept Summary and Advertise Default Route as described for Stub. If you select this option, configure the following:
			<ul> <li>– Type—Select either Ext 1 or Ext 2 route type to advertise the default LSA.</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Ext Ranges—Click Add in the section to enter ranges of external routes that you want to enable or suppress advertising for.</li> </ul>
		4.	<b>Priority</b> —Enter the OSPF priority for this interface (0-255). This is the priority for the router to be elected as a designated router (DR) or as a backup DR (BDR) according to the OSPF protocol. When the value is zero, the router will not be elected as a DR or BDR.
			• <b>Auth Profile</b> —Select a previously-defined authentication profile.
			• <b>Timing</b> —It is recommended that you keep the default timing settings.
			• <b>Neighbors</b> —For p2pmp interfaces, enter the neighbor IP address for all neighbors that are reachable through this interface.
		5. 6	Select <b>normal</b> , <b>passive</b> or <b>send-only</b> as the <b>Mode</b> . Click <b>OK</b>

Config	Configure OSPF (Continued)				
Step 4	Configure Areas - Range for the OSFP protocol	1. 2.	On the <b>Range</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> to aggregate LSA destination addresses in the area into subnets. <b>Advertise</b> or <b>Suppress</b> advertising LSAs that match the subnet, and click <b>OK</b> . Repeat to add additional ranges.		
Step 5	Configure Areas - Interfaces for the OSFP protocol	1.	<ul> <li>On the Interface tab, click Add and enter the following information for each interface to be included in the area:</li> <li>Interface—Select an interface from the drop-down box.</li> <li>Enable—Selecting this option causes the OSPF interface</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>settings to take effect.</li> <li><b>Passive</b>—Select the check box to if you do not want the OSPF interface to send or receive OSPF packets. Although OSPF packets are not sent or received if you choose this option, the interface is included in the LSA database.</li> </ul>		
			• Link type—Choose Broadcast if you want all neighbors that are accessible through the interface to be discovered automatically by multicasting OSPF hello messages, such as an Ethernet interface. Choose p2p (point-to-point) to automatically discover the neighbor. Choose p2mp (point-to-multipoint) when neighbors must be defined manually. Defining neighbors manually is allowed only for p2mp mode.		
			• <b>Metric</b> —Enter an OSPF metric for this interface. Default: 10. Range: 0-65535.		
			• <b>Priority</b> —Enter an OSPF priority for this interface. This is the priority for the router to be elected as a designated router (DR) or as a backup DR (BDR). Default: 1. Range: 0 - 255. If zero is configured, the router will not be elected as a DR or BDR.		
			• <b>Auth Profile</b> —Select a previously-defined authentication profile.		
			• <b>Timing</b> —The following OSPF timing settings can be set. Palo Alto Networks recommends that you retain the default timing settings.		
			<ul> <li>Hello Interval (sec)—Interval at which the OSPF process sends hello packets to its directly connected neighbors. Default: 10 seconds. Range: 0-3600 seconds.</li> </ul>		
			– Dead Counts—Number of times the hello interval can occur for a neighbor without OSPF receiving a hello packet from the neighbor, before OSPF considers that neighbor down. The Hello Interval multiplied by the Dead Counts equals the value of the dead timer. Default: 4. Range: 3-20.		

Configure OSPF (Continued)	
	– Retransmit Interval (sec)—Length of time that OSPF waits to receive a link state advertisement (LSA) from a neighbor before OSPF retransmits the LSA. Default: 10 seconds. Range: 0-3600 seconds.
	<ul> <li>Transit Delay (sec)—Length of time that an LSA is delayed before it is sent out of an interface. Default: 1 second. Range: 0-3600 seconds.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Graceful Restart Hello Delay (sec)—Applies to an OSPF interface when Active/Passive High Availability is configured. Graceful Restart Hello Delay is the length of time during which the firewall sends Grace LSA packets at 1-second intervals. During this time, no hello packets are sent from the restarting firewall. During the restart, the dead timer (which is the Hello Interval multiplied by the Dead Counts) is also counting down. If the dead timer is too short, the adjacency will go down during the graceful restart because of the hello delay. Therefore, it is recommended that the dead timer be at least four times the value of the Graceful Restart Hello Delay. For example, a Hello Interval of 10 seconds and a Dead Counts of 4 yield a dead timer of 40 seconds. If the Graceful Restart Hello Delay is set to 10 seconds, that 10-second dead timer, so the adjacency will not time out during a graceful restart. Default: 10 seconds. Range: 1-10 seconds.</li> </ul>
	neighbor IP addresses for all neighbors that are reachable through this interface.
	2. Click <b>OK</b>
Step 6 Configure Areas - Virtual Links.	1. On the <b>Virtual Link</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> and enter the following information for each virtual link to be included in the backbone area:
	• <b>Name</b> —Enter a name for the virtual link.
	• <b>Neighbor ID</b> —Enter the router ID of the router (neighbor) on the other side of the virtual link.
	• <b>Transit Area</b> —Enter the area ID of the transit area that physically contains the virtual link.
	• <b>Enable</b> —Select to enable the virtual link.
	• <b>Timing</b> —It is recommended that you keep the default timing settings.
	• <b>Auth Profile</b> —Select a previously-defined authentication profile.
	2. Click <b>OK</b> .

Config	Configure OSPF (Continued)				
Step 7	(Optional) Configure Auth Profiles.		By default, the firewall does not use OSPF authentication for the exchange between OSPF neighbors. Optionally, you can configure OSPF authentication between OSPF neighbors by either a simple password or using MD5 authentication.		
		Sim	Simple Password OSPF authentication		
		1.	On the Auth Profiles tab, click Add.		
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate OSPF messages.		
		3.	Select Simple Password as the Password Type.		
		4.	Enter a simple password and then confirm.		
		MD	05 OSPF authentication		
		1.	On the Auth Profiles tab, click Add.		
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate OSPF messages.		
		3.	Select MD5 as the Password Type.		
		4.	Click Add.		
		5.	Enter one or more password entries, including:		
			• Key-ID Range 0-255		
			• Key		
			• Select the <b>Preferred</b> option to specify that the key be used to authenticate outgoing messages.		
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> .		
		7.	Click ${\sf OK}$ again in the Virtual Router - OSPF Auth Profile dialog box.		
Step 8	Configure Advanced OSPF options.	1.	On the <b>Advanced</b> tab, select the <b>RFC 1583 Compatibility</b> check box to ensure compatibility with RFC 1583.		
		2.	Configure a value for the SPF Calculation Delay (sec) timer.		
			This timer allows you to tune the delay time between receiving new topology information and performing an SPF calculation. Lower values enable faster OSPF re-convergence. Routers peering with the firewall should be tuned in a similar manner to optimize convergence times.		
		3.	Configure a value for the <b>LSA Interval (sec)</b> time. This timer specifies the minimum time between transmissions of two instances of the same LSA (same router, same type, same LSA ID). This is equivalent to MinLSInterval in RFC 2328. Lower values can be used to reduce re-convergence times when topology changes occur.		

## Configure OSPFv3

#### Configure OSPFv3

Step 1	Configure general virtual router configuration settings.	See	Virtual Routers for details.
Step 2	Configure general OSPF configuration settings.	1.	Select the <b>OSPF</b> tab.
		2.	Select the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the OSPF protocol.
		3.	Select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you do not want to learn any default routes through OSPF. This is the recommended default setting.
		4.	Clear the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you want to permit redistribution of default routes through OSPF.
Step 3	Configure general OSPFv3 configuration settings.	1.	Select the <b>OSPFv3</b> tab.
		2.	Select the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the OSPF protocol.
		3.	Select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you do not want to learn any default routes through OSPFv3 This is the recommended default setting.
			De-select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box if you want to permit redistribution of default routes through OSPFv3.
Step 4	Configure Auth Profile for the OSFPv3 protocol. While OSPFv3 doesn't include any authentication capabilities of its own, it relies entirely on IPsec to secure communications between neighbors.	When configuring an authentication profile, you must use Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP) or IPv6 Authentication Header (AH).	
		ES	P OSPFv3 authentication
		1.	On the Auth Profiles tab, click Add.
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate OSPFv3 messages.
		3.	Specify a Security Policy Index ( <b>SPI</b> ). The SPI must match between both ends of the OSPFv3 adjacency. The SPI number must be a hexadecimal value between 00000000 and FFFFFFFF.
		4.	Select ESP for Protocol.
		5.	Select a Crypto Algorithm from the drop-down.
			You can enter none or one of the following algorithms: SHA1, SHA256, SHA384, SHA512 or MD5.
		6.	If a <b>Crypto Algorithm</b> other than none was selected, enter a value for <b>Key</b> and then confirm.

Config	ure OSPFv3 (Continued)		
		AF	I OSPFv3 authentication
		1.	On the Auth Profiles tab, click Add.
		2.	Enter a name for the authentication profile to authenticate OSPFv3 messages.
		3.	Specify a Security Policy Index ( <b>SPI</b> ). The SPI must match between both ends of the OSPFv3 adjacency. The SPI number must be a hexadecimal value between 00000000 and FFFFFFF.
		4.	Select AH for Protocol.
		5.	Select a <b>Crypto Algorithm</b> from the drop-down.
			You must enter one of the following algorithms: SHA1, SHA256, SHA384, SHA512 or MD5.
		6.	Enter a value for <b>Key</b> and then confirm.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .
		8.	Click <b>OK</b> again in the Virtual Router - OSPF Auth Profile dialog.
Step 5	Configure Areas - Type for the OSFP protocol. 2. 3.	1.	On the <b>Areas</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter an Area ID. This is the identifier that each neighbor must accept to be part of the same area.
		3.	On the <b>General</b> tab, select one of the following from the area <b>Type</b> drop-down:
			• <b>Normal</b> —There are no restrictions; the area can carry all types of routes.
			• <b>Stub</b> —There is no outlet from the area. To reach a destination outside of the area, it is necessary to go through the border, which connects to other areas. If you select this option, configure the following:
			– Accept Summary—Link state advertisements (LSA) are accepted from other areas. If this option on a stub area Area Border Router (ABR) interface is disabled, the OSPF area will behave as a Totally Stubby Area (TSA) and the ABR will not propagate any summary LSAs.
			<ul> <li>Advertise Default Route—Default route LSAs will be included in advertisements to the stub area along with a configured metric value in the configured range: 1-255.</li> </ul>
Config	ure OSPFv3 (Continued)		
--------	-------------------------------------	----	---
			• NSSA (Not-So-Stubby Area)—The firewall can only leave the area by routes other than OSPF routes. If selected, configure Accept Summary and Advertise Default Route as described for Stub. If you select this option, configure the following:
			<ul> <li>Type—Select either Ext 1 or Ext 2 route type to advertise the default LSA.</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Ext Ranges—Click Add in the section to enter ranges of external routes that you want to enable or suppress advertising for.</li> </ul>
Step 6	Associate an OSPFv3 authentication	То	an Area
	profile to an area or an interface.		On the Areas tab, select an existing area from the table.
			On the <b>General</b> tab, select a previously defined <b>Authentication</b> <b>Profile</b> from the <b>Authentication</b> drop-down.
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> .
		То	an Interface
		1.	On the Areas tab, select an existing area from the table.
		2.	Select the Interface tab and click Add.
		3.	Select the authentication profile you want to associate with the OSPF interface from the <b>Auth Profile</b> drop-down.
Step 7	(Optional) Configure Export Rules	1.	On the <b>Export</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Select the <b>Allow Redistribute Default Route</b> check box to permit redistribution of default routes through OSPFv3.
		3.	Select the name of a redistribution profile. The value must be an IP subnet or valid redistribution profile name.
		4.	Select a metric to apply for New Path Type.
		5.	Specify a <b>New Tag</b> for the matched route that has a 32-bit value.
		6.	Assign a metric for the new rule. Range: 1 - 65535.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .

Config	ure OSPFv3 (Continued)		
Step 8	Configure Advanced OSPFv3 options.	1.	On the <b>Advanced</b> tab, select the <b>Disable Transit Routing for</b> <b>SPF Calculation</b> check box if you want the firewall to participate in OSPF topology distribution without being used to forward transit traffic.
		2.	Configure a value for the SPF Calculation Delay (sec) timer.
			This timer allows you to tune the delay time between receiving new topology information and performing an SPF calculation. Lower values enable faster OSPF re-convergence. Routers peering with the firewall should be tuned in a similar manner to optimize convergence times.
		3.	Configure a value for the <b>LSA Interval (sec) time</b> , This timer specifies the minimum time between transmissions of two instances of the same LSA (same router, same type, same LSA ID). This is equivalent to MinLSInterval in RFC 2328. Lower values can be used to reduce re-convergence times when topology changes occur.
		4.	Optionally, Configure OSPF Graceful Restart.

## Configure OSPF Graceful Restart

OSPF Graceful Restart directs OSPF neighbors to continue using routes through a device during a short transition when it is out of service. This behavior increases network stability by reducing the frequency of routing table reconfiguration and the related route flapping that can occur during short periodic down times.

For a Palo Alto Networks firewall, OSPF Graceful Restart involves the following operations:

- Firewall as a restarting device—In a situation where the firewall will be down for a short period of time or is unavailable for short intervals, it sends Grace LSAs to its OSPF neighbors. The neighbors must be configured to run in Graceful Restart Helper mode. In Helper Mode, the neighbors receive the Grace LSAs that inform it that the firewall will perform a graceful restart within a specified period of time defined as the Grace Period. During the grace period, the neighbor continues to forward routes through the firewall and to send LSAs that announce routes through the firewall. If the firewall resumes operation before expiration of the grace period, traffic forwarding will continue as before without network disruption. If the firewall does not resume operation after the grace period has expired, the neighbors will exit helper mode and resume normal operation, which will involve reconfiguring the routing table to bypass the firewall.
- Firewall as a Graceful Restart Helper—In a situation where neighboring routers may be down for a short periods of time, the firewall can be configured to operate in Graceful Restart Helper mode. If configured in this mode, the firewall will be configured with a **Max Neighbor Restart Time**. When the firewall receives the Grace LSAs from its OSFP neighbor, it will continue to route traffic to the neighbor and advertise routes through the neighbor until either the grace period or max neighbor restart time expires. If neither expires before the neighbor returns to service, traffic forwarding continues as before without network disruption. If either period expires before the neighbor returns to service, the firewall will exit helper mode and resume normal operation, which will involve reconfiguring the routing table to bypass the neighbor.

#### Configure OSPF Graceful Restart

- 1. Select Network > Virtual Routers and select the virtual router you want to configure.
- 2. Select **OSPF > Advanced**.
- 3. Verify that the following check boxes are selected (they are enabled by default):
  - Enable Graceful Restart
  - Enable Helper Mode
  - Enable Strict LSA checking

These check boxes should remain selected unless required by your topology.

- 4. Configure a Grace Period in seconds.
- 5. Configure a Max Neighbor Restart Time in seconds.

## **Confirm OSPF Operation**

Once an OSPF configuration has been committed, you can use any of the following operations to confirm that OSPF is operating:

- ▲ View the Routing Table
- ▲ Confirm OSPF Adjacencies
- ▲ Confirm that OSPF Connections are Established

#### View the Routing Table

By viewing the routing table, you can see whether OSPF routes have been established. The routing table is accessible from either the web interface or the CLI. If you are using the CLI, use the following commands:

- show routing route
- show routing fib

The following procedure describes how to use the web interface to view the routing table.

#### View the Routing Table

1. Select Network > Virtual Routers.

								e 📀
4								•
	Name	Interfaces	Configuration	RIP	OSPF	BGP	Multicast	Runtime Stats
8	default	ethemet1/1 ethemet1/2 loopback.3			Enabled Area Count: 1 Subnet Count: 1 Neighbor Count: 0 Virtual Link Count: 0 Virtual Aleahbor Count: 0			More Runtime Stats

#### View the Routing Table

2. Select the Routing tab and examine the Flags column of the routing table for routes that were learned by OSPF.

4					
Destination	Next Hop	Metric	Flags	Age	Interface
192.0.2.0/30	0.0.0	10	0	7515	ethernet1/1
192.0.2.0/30	192.0.2.2	0	AC		ethernet1/1
192.0.2.2/32	0.0.0	0	AH		
192.0.2.4/30	192.0.2.13	20	AO	7364	ethernet1/3
192.0.2.8/30	192.0.2.1	20	AO	7399	ethernet1/1
192.0.2.12/30	0.0.0.0	10	0	7515	ethernet1/3
192.0.2.12/30	192.0.2.14	0	AC		ethernet1/3
192.0.2.14/32	0.0.0.0	0	AH		
192.0.2.16/30	0.0.0.0	10	0	7515	ethernet1/2
192.0.2.16/30	192.0.2.17	0	AC		ethernet1/2
192.0.2.17/32	0.0.0.0	0	AH		
192.0.2.20/30	0.0.0.0	10	0	7515	ethernet1/4
192.0.2.20/30	192.0.2.21	0	AC		ethernet1/4
192.0.2.21/32	0.0.00	0	AH		

#### **Confirm OSPF Adjacencies**

By viewing the **Neighbor** tab as described in the following procedure, you can confirm that OSPF adjacencies have been established.

#### View the Neighbor Tab to Confirm OSPF Adjacencies

1. Select Network > Virtual Routers.

								S 0
Nam	ne	Interfaces	Configuration	RIP	OSPF	BGP	Multicast	Runtime Stats
] defi	ault -	ethernet1/1 ethernet1/2 loopback.3			Enabled Area Count: 1 Subnet Count: 1 Neighbor Count: 0 Wrbuil Link Count: 0 Wrbuil Link Count: 0			More Runtime Stata

2. Select **OSPF > Neighbor** and examine the **Status** column to determine if OSPF adjacencies have been established.

ſ	Routing R	IP OSPF	BGP MI	ulticast						
ſ	Summary Area Interface Neighbor Virtual Link Virtual Neighbor									
	•									
	Neighbor Address	Neighbor Router Id	Local Address Binding	Area Id	Neighbor Priority	Remaining Lifetime	Status	1		
	192.0.2.1	192.0.2.1	0.0.0.0	0.0.0	1	30	full	Γ		
	192.0.2.13	192.0.2.13	0.0.00	0.0.00	1	30	full	Γ		
	192.0.2.18	192.0.2.18	0.0.0	0.0.0	1	34	full	Γ		
	192.0.2.22	192.0.2.22	0.0.0.0	0.0.00	1	33	full	Γ		
							$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	Γ		

### Confirm that OSPF Connections are Established

By viewing the system log, you can confirm that OSPF connections have been established, as described in the following procedure:

#### Examine the System Log

1. Select **Monitor> System** and look for messages to confirm that OSPF adjacencies have been established.

9								S OHelp
	Name	Interfaces	Configuration	RIP	OSPF	BGP	Multicast	Runtime Stats
	default	ethemet1/1 ethemet1/2 loopback.3			Enabled Area Count: 1 Subnet Count: 1 Neighbor Count: 0 Wrtual Link Count: 0 Wrtual Aleighbor Count: 0			More Runtme Stats

2. Select **OSPF > Neighbor** and examine the **Status** column to determine if OSPF adjacencies have been established.

R	Routing     RIP     OSPF     BGP     Multicast       Summary     Area     Interface     Neighbor     Virtual Link     Virtual Neighbor								
	Neighbor Address	Neighbor Router Id	Local Address Binding	Area Id	Neighbor Priority	Remaining Lifetime	Status	P	
	192.0.2.1	192.0.2.1	0.0.0.0	0.0.0.0	1	30	full	Τ	
	192.0.2.13	192.0.2.13	0.0.0.0	0.0.0.0	1	30	full	Т	
	192.0.2.18	192.0.2.18	0.0.0.0	0.0.0.0	1	34	full	Τ	
	192.0.2.22	192.0.2.22	0.0.0.0	0.0.0.0	1	33	full	Τ	
							$\nabla$	Т	

# BGP

Border Gateway Protocol (BGP) is the primary Internet routing protocol. BGP determines network reachability based on IP prefixes that are available within autonomous systems (AS), where an AS is a set of IP prefixes that a network provider has designated to be part of a single routing policy.

In the routing process, connections are established between BGP peers (or neighbors). If a route is permitted by the policy, it is stored in the routing information base (RIB). Each time the local firewall RIB is updated, the firewall determines the optimal routes and sends an update to the external RIB, if export is enabled.

Conditional advertisement is used to control how BGP routes are advertised. The BGP routes must satisfy conditional advertisement rules before being advertised to peers.

BGP supports the specification of aggregates, which combine multiple routes into a single route. During the aggregation process, the first step is to find the corresponding aggregation rule by performing a longest match that compares the incoming route with the prefix values for other aggregation rules.

The firewall provides a complete BGP implementation, which includes the following features:

- Specification of one BGP routing instance per virtual router.
- Routing policies based on route-map to control import, export and advertisement, prefix-based filtering, and address aggregation.
- Advanced BGP features that include route reflector, AS confederation, route flap dampening, and graceful restart.
- IGP-BGP interaction to inject routes to BGP using redistribution profiles.

BGP configuration consists of the following elements:

- Per-routing-instance settings, which include basic parameters such as local route ID and local AS and advanced options such as path selection, route reflector, AS confederation, route flap, and dampening profiles.
- Authentication profiles, which specify the MD5 authentication key for BGP connections.
- Peer group and neighbor settings, which include neighbor address and remote AS and advanced options such as neighbor attributes and connections.
- Routing policy, which specifies rule sets that peer groups and peers use to implement imports, exports, conditional advertisements, and address aggregation controls.

Perform the following procedure to configure BGP.

# Configure BGP

Step 1	Configure general virtual router	See Virtual Routers for details.
	configuration settings.	

Config	ure BGP (Continued)		
Step 2	Configure standard BGP configuration settings.	1. 2. 3. 4.	Select the <b>BGP</b> tab. Select the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the BGP protocol. Assign an IP address to the virtual router in the <b>Router ID</b> box. Enter the number of the AS to which the virtual router belongs in the <b>AS Number</b> box, based on the router ID. Range: 1-4294967295
Step 3	Configure general BGP configuration settings.	1. 2. 3. 4.	Select <b>BGP &gt; General</b> . Select the <b>Reject Default Route</b> check box to ignore any default routes that are advertised by BGP peers. Select the <b>Install Route</b> check box to install BGP routes in the global routing table. Select the <b>Aggregate MED</b> check box to enable route
		5. 6.	<ul> <li>aggregation even when routes have different Multi-Exit Discriminator (MED) values.</li> <li>Enter a value for the <b>Default Local Preference</b> that specifies a value than can be used to determine preferences among different paths.</li> <li>Select one of the following values for the AS format for interoperability purposes:</li> <li>2 Byte (default value)</li> </ul>
		7.	<ul> <li>4 Byte</li> <li>Enable or disable each of the following values for Path Selection:</li> <li>Always Compare MED—Enable this comparison to choose paths from neighbors in different autonomous systems.</li> </ul>
		8.	<ul> <li>Deterministic MED Comparison—Enable this comparison to choose between routes that are advertised by IBGP peers (BGP peers in the same autonomous system).</li> <li>Click Add to include a new authentication profile and configure the following settings:</li> <li>Profile Name—Enter a name to identify the profile.</li> <li>Secret/Confirm Secret—Enter and confirm a passphrase for BGP peer communications.</li> </ul>

Configu	ure BGP (Continued)		
Step 4	Configure BGP Advanced settings (Optional)	1.	<ul> <li>On the Advanced tab, select Graceful Restart and configure the following timers:</li> <li>Stale Route Time (sec)—Specifies the length of time in seconds that a route can say in the stale state. Range: 1 - 3600 seconds. Default: 120 seconds.</li> </ul>
			• Local Restart Time (sec)—Specifies the length of time in seconds that the local device waits to restart. This value is advertised to peers. Range: 1 - 3600 seconds. Default: 120 seconds.
			• Max Peer Restart Time (sec)—Specifies the maximum length of time in seconds that the local device accepts as a grave period restart time for peer devices. Range: 1 - 3600 seconds. Default: 120 seconds.
		2.	Specify an IPv4 identifier to represent the reflector cluster in the <b>Reflector Cluster ID</b> box.
		3.	Specify the identifier for the AS confederation to be presented as a single AS to external BGP peers in the <b>Confederation</b> <b>Member AS</b> box.
		4.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter the following information for each Dampening Profile that you want to configure, select <b>Enable</b> , and click <b>OK</b> :
			• <b>Profile Name</b> —Enter a name to identify the profile.
			• <b>Cutoff</b> —Specify a route withdrawal threshold above which a route advertisement is suppressed. Range: 0.0-1000.0. Default: 1.25.
			• <b>Reuse</b> —Specify a route withdrawal threshold below which a suppressed route is used again. Range: 0.0-1000.0. Default: 5.
			• <b>Max Hold Time (sec)</b> —Specify the maximum length of time in seconds that a route can be suppressed, regardless of how unstable it has been. Range: 0-3600 seconds. Default: 900 seconds.
			• <b>Decay Half Life Reachable (sec)</b> —Specify the length of time in seconds after which a route's stability metric is halved if the route is considered reachable Range: 0-3600 seconds. Default: 300 seconds.
			• <b>Decay Half Life Unreachable (sec)</b> —Specify the length of time in seconds after which a route's stability metric is halved if the route is considered unreachable. Range: 0 - 3600 seconds. Default: 300 seconds.
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> .

Configu	ure BGP (Continued)		
Step 5	Configure the BGP peer group.	1.	Select the <b>Peer Group</b> tab and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a Name for the peer group and select Enable.
		3.	Select the <b>Aggregated Confed AS Path</b> check box to include a path to the configured aggregated confederation AS.
		4.	Select the <b>Soft Reset with Stored Info</b> check box to perform a soft reset of the firewall after updating the peer settings.
		5.	Specify the type of peer or group from the <b>Type</b> drop-down and configure the associated settings (see below in this table for descriptions of Import Next Hop and Export Next Hop).
			IBGP—Export Next Hop: Specify Original or Use self
			• EBGP Confed—Export Next Hop: Specify Original or Use self
			• EBGP Confed—Export Next Hop: Specify Original or Use self
			• EBGP—Import Next Hop: Specify Original or Use self, Export Next Hop: Specify Resolve or Use self. Select Remove Private AS if you want to force BGP to remove private AS numbers.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.
Step 6	Configure Import and Export rules.	1.	Select the <b>Import</b> tab and then click <b>Add</b> and enter a name in the <b>Rules</b> field and select the <b>Enable</b> check box.
	import/export routes from/to other routers. For example, importing the	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and select the <b>Peer Group</b> to which the routes will be imported from.
	default route from your Internet Service Provider.	3.	Click the <b>Match</b> tab and define the options used to filter routing information. You can also define the Multi-Exit Discriminator (MED) value and a next hop value to routers or subnets for route filtering. The MED option is an external metric that lets neighbors know about the preferred path into an AS. A lower value is preferred over a higher value.
		4.	Click the <b>Action</b> tab and define the action that should occur (allow/deny) based on the filtering options defined in the <b>Match</b> tab. If <b>Deny</b> is selected, no further options need to be defined. If the <b>Allow</b> action is selected, define the other attributes.
		5.	Click the <b>Export</b> tab and define export attributes, which are similar to the <b>Import</b> settings, but are used to control route information that is exported from the firewall to neighbors.
		6.	Click <b>OK</b> to save.

Configu	ure BGP (Continued)		
Step 7	Configure conditional advertising, which allows you to control what route to advertise in the event that a different route is not available in the local BGP routing table (LocRIB), indicating a peering or reachability failure. This is useful in cases where you want to try to force routes to one AS over another, for example if you have links to the Internet through multiple ISPs and you want traffic to be routed to one provider instead of the other unless there is a loss of connectivity to the preferred provider.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Select the Conditional Adv tab, click Add and enter a name in the Policy field.</li> <li>Select the Enable check box.</li> <li>Click Add and in the Used By section enter the peer group(s) that will use the conditional advertisement policy.</li> <li>Select the Non Exist Filter tab and define the network prefix(es) of the preferred route. This specifies the route that you want to advertise, if it is available in the local BGP routing table. If a prefix is going to be advertised and matches a Non Exist filter, the advertisement will be suppressed.</li> <li>Select the Advertise Filters tab and define the prefix(es) of the route in the Local-RIB routing table that should be advertised in the local routing table. If a prefix is going to be advertised and define the superised and the event that the route in the non-exist filter is not available in the local routing table. If a prefix is going to be advertised and does not match a Non Exist filter, the advertisement will occur.</li> </ul>
Step 8	Configure aggregate options to summaries routes in the BGP configuration. BGP route aggregation is used to control how BGP aggregates addresses. Each entry in the table results in one aggregate address being created. This will result in an aggregate entry in the routing table when at least one or more specific route matching the address specified is learned.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select the <b>Aggregate</b> tab, click <b>Add</b> and enter a name for the aggregate address. In the <b>Prefix</b> field, enter the network prefix that will be the primary prefix for the aggregated prefixes. Select the <b>Suppress Filters</b> tab and define the attributes that will cause the matched routes to be suppressed. Select the <b>Advertise Filters</b> tab and define the attributes that will cause the matched routes to always be advertised to peers.
Step 9	Configure redistribution rules. This rule is used to redistribute host routes and unknown routes that are not on the local RIB to the peers routers.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select the <b>Redist Rules</b> tab and click <b>Add</b> . In the <b>Name</b> field, enter an IP subnet or select a redistribution profile. You can also configure a new redistribution profile from the drop-down if needed. Click the <b>Enable</b> check box to enable the rule. In the <b>Metric</b> field, enter the route metric that will be used for the rule. In the <b>Set Origin</b> drop-down, select <b>incomplete</b> , <b>igp</b> , or <b>egp</b> . Optionally set MED, local preference, AS path limit and community values.

# **Session Settings and Timeouts**

This section describes the global settings that affect TCP, UDP, and ICMPv6 sessions, in addition to IPv6, NAT64, NAT oversubscription, jumbo frame size, MTU, accelerated aging, and captive portal authentication. There is also a setting (Rematch Sessions) that allows you to apply newly configured security policies to sessions that are already in progress.

The **Device > Setup > Session** tab is where these session settings and timeouts are configured.

	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies	Obje	ects N	Network	Device		📥 Commit 🔮  🗎
-								59 ST		<b>S</b> (
Setup	Management	Operations	Services	Content-ID	VildFire	Session	HSM			
Config Audit	(management of the second s					-				
Password Profiles	Session Setting	5			8	Session	limeouts			
		Rematch Ses	sions 🧹					Default (sec)	30	
I Virtual Systems	ICMP	v6 Token Bucket	Size 100				Dis	card Default (sec)	60	
Shared Gateways	ICMPv6 Error P	acket Rate (per	sec) 100					Discard TCP (sec)	90	
Der Identification		IPv6 Firewa	alling 🔽					Discard UDP (sec)	60	
🕎 VM Information Sources		Enable Jumbo Fr	ame					ICMP (sec)	6	
High Availability		Global	MTU 1500					Scan (sec)	10	
🕫 🕞 Certificate Management	NAT64 IPv6 M	inimum Network	MTU 1280					TCP (sec)	3600	
🔁 Certificates	NAT O	versubscription I	Rate 1x				TC	handshake (sec)	10	
🔁 Certificate Profile		Accelerated A	ging 🗸					TCP init (sec)	5	
🔂 OCSP Responder	Accelera	ated Aging Three	hold 80				TCF	Half Closed (sec)	120	
Response Pages	Accelerated	Aging Scaling Fa	actor 2				Т	P Time Wait (sec)	15	
Log Settings							Un	verified RST (sec)	30	
System	Decryption Sett	ings						UDP (sec)	30	
Ligo Config	Cartificate Rev	location Chackin					C	aptive Portal (sec)	30	
HIP Match	Ceruncate Key	rocation Checkin	9							
Alarms	Forward Proxy	Server Certifica	ite Settings							

The first few topics below provide brief summaries of the Transport Layer of the OSI model, TCP, UDP, and ICMP. For more information about the protocols, refer to their respective RFCs. The remaining topics describe the session timeouts and settings.

- ▲ Transport Layer Sessions
- ▲ TCP
- ▲ UDP
- ▲ ICMP
- ▲ Configure Session Timeouts
- ▲ Configure Session Settings

## **Transport Layer Sessions**

A network session is a conversation that occurs between two or more communication devices, lasting for some period of time. A session is established and is torn down when the session ends. Different types of sessions occur at three layers of the OSI model: the Transport layer, the Session layer, and the Application layer.

The Transport Layer operates at Layer 4 of the OSI model, providing reliable or unreliable, end-to-end delivery and flow control of data. Internet protocols that implement sessions at the Transport layer include Transmission Control Protocol (TCP) and User Datagram Protocol (UDP).

# TCP

Transmission Control Protocol (TCP) (RFC 793) is one of the main protocols in the Internet Protocol (IP) suite, and is so prevalent that it is frequently referenced together with IP as *TCP/IP*. TCP is considered a reliable transport protocol because it provides error-checking while transmitting and receiving segments, it acknowledges segments received, and it reorders segments that arrive out of order from the device that sent them. TCP also requests and provides retransmission of segments that were dropped. TCP is stateful and connection-oriented, in that a connection between the sender and receiver is established for the duration of the session. TCP provides flow control of packets, so it can handle congestion over networks.

TCP performs a three-way handshake during session setup to initiate and acknowledge a session. After the data is transferred, the session is closed in an orderly manner.

Applications that use TCP as their transport protocol include Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP), Hypertext Transfer Protocol Secure (HTTPS), File Transfer Protocol (FTP), Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP), Telnet, Post Office Protocol version 3 (POP3), Internet Message Access Protocol (IMAP), and Secure Shell (SSH).

The following topics describe details of the PAN-OS implementation of TCP.

- ▲ TCP Half Closed and TCP Time Wait Timers
- Unverified RST Timer

You can use zone protection profiles on the firewall to configure packet-based attack protection and thereby drop IP, TCP, and IPv6 packets with undesirable characteristics or strip undesirable options from packets before allowing them into the zone. You can also configure flood protection, specifying the rate of SYN connections per second (not matching an existing session) that trigger an alarm, cause the firewall to randomly drop SYN packets or use SYN cookies, and cause the firewall to drop SYN packets that exceed the maximum rate.

#### TCP Half Closed and TCP Time Wait Timers

The TCP connection termination procedure uses a TCP Half Closed timer, which is triggered by the first FIN the firewall sees for a session. The timer is named TCP Half Closed because only one side of the connection has sent a FIN. A second timer, TCP Time Wait, is triggered by the second FIN or a RST.

If the firewall were to have only one timer triggered by the first FIN, a setting that was too short could prematurely close the half-closed sessions. Conversely, a setting that was too long would make the session table grow too much and possibly use up all of the sessions. Two timers allow you to have a relatively long TCP Half Closed timer and a short TCP Time Wait timer, thereby quickly aging fully closed sessions and controlling the size of the session table.

The following figure illustrates when the firewall's two timers are triggered during the TCP connection termination procedure.



The TCP Time Wait timer should be set to a value less than the TCP Half Closed timer for the following reasons:

- The longer time allowed after the first FIN is seen gives the opposite side of the connection time to fully close the session.
- The shorter Time Wait time is because there is no need for the session to remain open for a long time after the second FIN or a RST is seen. A shorter Time Wait time frees up resources sooner, yet still allows time for the firewall to see the final ACK and possible retransmission of other datagrams.

If you configure a TCP Time Wait timer to a value greater than the TCP Half Closed timer, the commit will be accepted, but in practice the TCP Time Wait timer will not exceed the TCP Half Closed value.

The timers can be set globally or per application. The global settings are used for all applications by default. If you configure TCP wait timers at the application level, they override the global settings.

#### **Unverified RST Timer**

If the firewall receives a Reset (RST) packet that cannot be verified (because it has an unexpected sequence number within the TCP window or it is from an asymmetric path), the Unverified RST timer controls the aging out of the session. It defaults to 30 seconds; the range is 1-600 seconds. The Unverified RST timer provides an additional security measure, explained in the second bullet below.

A RST packet will have one of three possible outcomes:

- A RST packet that falls outside the TCP window is dropped.
- A RST packet that falls inside the TCP window but does not have the exact expected sequence number is unverified and subject to the Unverified RST timer setting. This behavior helps prevent denial of service (DoS) attacks where the attack tries to disrupt existing sessions by sending random RST packets to the firewall.
- A RST packet that falls within the TCP window and has the exact expected sequence number is subject to the TCP Time Wait timer setting.

## UDP

User Datagram Protocol (UDP) (RFC 768) is another main protocol of the IP suite, and is an alternative to TCP. UDP is stateless and connectionless in that there is no handshake to set up a session, and no connection between the sender and receiver; the packets may take different routes to get to a single destination. UDP is considered an unreliable protocol because it does not provide acknowledgments, error-checking, retransmission, or reordering of datagrams. Without the overhead required to provide those features, UDP has reduced latency and is faster than TCP. UDP is referred to as a best-effort protocol because there is no mechanism or guarantee to ensure that the data will arrive at its destination.

Although UDP uses a checksum for data integrity, it performs no error checking at the network interface level. Error checking is assumed to be unnecessary or is performed by the application rather than UDP itself. UDP has no mechanism to handle flow control of packets.

UDP is often used for applications that require faster speeds and time-sensitive, real-time delivery, such as Voice over IP (VoIP), streaming audio and video, and online games. UDP is transaction-oriented, so it is also used for applications that respond to small queries from many clients, such as Domain Name System (DNS) and Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP).

You can use zone protection profiles on the firewall to configure flood protection and thereby specify the rate of UDP connections per second (not matching an existing session) that trigger an alarm, trigger the firewall to randomly drop UDP packets, and cause the firewall to drop UDP packets that exceed the maximum rate. (Although UDP is connectionless, the firewall tracks UDP datagrams in IP packets on a session basis; therefore if the UDP packet doesn't match an existing session, it is considered a new session and it counts as a connection toward the thresholds.)

## ICMP

Internet Control Message Protocol (ICMP) (RFC 792) is another one of the main protocols of the Internet Protocol suite; it operates at the Network layer of the OSI model. ICMP is used for diagnostic and control purposes, to send error messages about IP operations, or messages about requested services or the reachability of a host or router. Network utilities such as traceroute and ping are implemented by using various ICMP messages.

ICMP is a connectionless protocol that does not open or maintain actual sessions. However, the ICMP messages between two devices can be considered a session.

Palo Alto Networks firewalls support ICMPv4 and ICMPv6. You can control ICMPv4 and ICMPv6 packets in several ways:

- Create Security Policy Rules Based on ICMP and ICMPv6 Packets and select the icmp or ipv6-icmp application in the rule.
- Control ICMPv6 Rate Limiting when you Configure Session Settings.
- Use Zone Protection profiles to configure flood protection, specifying the rate of ICMP or ICMPv6 connections per second (not matching an existing session) that trigger an alarm, trigger the firewall to randomly drop ICMP or ICMPv6 packets, and cause the firewall to drop ICMP or ICMPv6 packets that exceed the maximum rate.
- Use Zone Protection profiles to configure packet based attack protection:
  - For ICMP, you can drop certain types of packets or suppress the sending of certain packets.
  - For ICMPv6 packets (Types 1, 2, 3, 4, and 137), you can specify that the firewall use the ICMP session key to match a Security policy rule, which determines whether the ICMPv6 packet is allowed. (The firewall uses the Security policy rule, overriding the default behavior of using the embedded packet to determine a session match.) When the firewall drops ICMPv6 packets that match a Security policy rule, the firewall logs the details in Traffic logs.

#### Security Policy Rules Based on ICMP and ICMPv6 Packets

The firewall forwards ICMP or ICMPv6 packets only if a security policy rule allows the session (as the firewall does for other packet types). The firewall determines a session match in one of two ways, depending on whether the packet is an ICMP or ICMPv6 error packet or redirect packet as opposed to an ICMP or ICMPv6 informational packet:

• ICMP Types 3, 5, 11, and 12 and ICMPv6 Types 1, 2, 3, 4, and 137—The firewall by default looks up the embedded IP packet bytes of information from the original datagram that caused the error (the invoking packet). If the embedded packet matches an existing session, the firewall forwards or drops the ICMP or ICMPv6 packet according to the action specified in the security policy rule that matches that same session. (You can use Zone Protection profiles with packet based attack protection to override this default behavior for the ICMPv6 types.)

• Remaining ICMP or ICMPv6 Packet Types—The firewall treats the ICMP or ICMPv6 packet as if it belongs to a new session. If a security policy rule matches the packet (which the firewall recognizes as an icmp or ipv6-icmp session), the firewall forwards or drops the packet based on the security policy rule action. Security policy counters and traffic logs reflect the actions.

If no security policy rule matches the packet, the firewall applies its default security policy rules, which allow intrazone traffic and block interzone traffic (logging is disabled by default for these rules).



Although you can override the default rules to enable logging or change the default action, we don't recommend you change the default behavior for a specific case because it will impact all traffic that those default rules affect. Instead, create security policy rules to control and log ICMP or ICMPv6 packets explicitly.

There are two ways to create explicit security policy rules to handle ICMP or ICMPv6 packets that are not error or redirect packets:

- Create a security policy rule to allow (or deny) all ICMP or ICMPv6 packets—In the security
  policy rule, specify the application icmp or ipv6-icmp; the firewall allows (or denies) all IP packets
  matching the ICMP protocol number (1) or ICMPv6 protocol number (58), respectively, through the
  firewall.
- Create a custom application and a security policy rule to allow (or deny) packets from or to that application—This more granular approach allows you to Control Specific ICMP or ICMPv6 Types and Codes.

#### ICMPv6 Rate Limiting

ICMPv6 rate limiting is a throttling mechanism to prevent flooding and DDoS attempts. The implementation employs an error packet rate and a token bucket, which work together to enable throttling and ensure that ICMP packets do not flood the network segments protected by the firewall.

First the global **ICMPv6 error packet rate (per sec)** controls the rate at which ICMP error packets are allowed through the firewall; the default is 100 packets per second; the range is 10 to 65535 packets per second. If the firewall reaches the ICMP error packet rate, then the token bucket comes into play and throttling occurs, as follows.

The concept of a logical token bucket controls the rate at which ICMP messages can be transmitted. The number of tokens in the bucket is configurable, and each token represents an ICMP message that can be sent. The token count is decremented each time an ICMP message is sent; when the bucket reaches zero tokens, no more ICMP messages can be sent until another token is added to the bucket. The default size of the token bucket is 100 tokens (packets); the range is 10 to 65535 tokens.

To change the default token bucket size or error packet rate, see the section Configure Session Settings.

#### Control Specific ICMP or ICMPv6 Types and Codes

Use this task to create a custom ICMP or ICMPv6 application and then create a security policy rule to allow or deny that application.

Control	Specific ICMP or ICMPv6 Ty	pes and Codes	
Step 1	Create a custom application for ICMP or ICMPv6 message types and codes.	<ol> <li>Select Object &gt; Applications and Add a custom application.</li> <li>On the Configuration tab, enter a Name for the custom application and a Description. For example, enter the name ping6.</li> <li>For Category, select networking.</li> <li>For Subcategory, select ip-protocol.</li> <li>For Technology, select network-protocol.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> <li>On the Advanced tab, select ICMP Type or ICMPv6 Type.</li> <li>For Type, enter the number (range is 0-255) that designates the ICMP or ICMPv6 message type you want to allow or deny. For example, Echo Request message (ping) is 128.</li> <li>If the Type includes codes, enter the Code number (range is 0-255) that applies to the Type value you want to allow or deny. Some Type values have Code 0 only.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> </ol>	
Step 2	Create a Security policy rule that allows or denies the custom application you created.	Create a Security policy rule. On the <b>Application</b> tab, specify the name of the custom application you just created.	
Step 3	Commit.	Click Commit.	

## **Configure Session Timeouts**

A session timeout defines the duration of time for which PAN-OS maintains a session on the firewall after inactivity in the session. By default, when the session timeout for the protocol expires, PAN-OS closes the session.

On the firewall, you can define a number of timeouts for TCP, UDP, and ICMP sessions in particular. The Default timeout applies to any other type of session. All of these timeouts are global, meaning they apply to all of the sessions of that type on the firewall.

In addition to the global settings, you have the flexibility to define timeouts for an individual application in the **Objects > Applications** tab. The firewall applies application timeouts to an application that is in established state. When configured, timeouts for an application override the global TCP or UDP session timeouts.

Returning to the global settings, perform the optional tasks below if you need to change default values of the global session timeout settings for TCP, UDP, ICMP, Captive Portal authentication, or other types of sessions. All values are in seconds.



The defaults are optimal values. However, you can modify these according to your network needs. Setting a value too low could cause sensitivity to minor network delays and could result in a failure to establish connections with the firewall. Setting a value too high could delay failure detection.

Change	e Session Timeouts	
Step 1	Access the Session Settings.	<ol> <li>Select Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session.</li> <li>In the Session Timeouts section, click the Edit icon.</li> </ol>
Step 2	(Optional) Change miscellaneous timeouts.	• <b>Default</b> —Maximum length of time that a non-TCP/UDP or non-ICMP session can be open without a response. Default: 30. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• <b>Discard Default</b> —Maximum length of time that a non-TCP/UDP session remains open after PAN-OS denies a session based on security policies configured on the firewall. Default: 60. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• <b>Scan</b> —Maximum length of time that any session remains open after it is considered inactive; an application is regarded as inactive when it exceeds the application trickling threshold defined for the application. Default: 10. Range: 5-30.
		• <b>Captive Portal</b> —Authentication session timeout for the Captive Portal web form. To access the requested content, the user must enter the authentication credentials in this form and be successfully authenticated. Default: 30. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		To define other Captive Portal timeouts, such as the idle timer and the expiration time before the user must be re-authenticated, select <b>Device &gt; User Identification &gt; Captive Portal Settings</b> . See Configure Captive Portal.

Chang	e Session Timeouts (Continued)	
Step 3	(Optional) Change TCP timeouts.	• <b>Discard TCP</b> —Maximum length of time that a TCP session remains open after it is denied based on a security policy configured on the firewall. Default: 90. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• <b>TCP</b> —Maximum length of time that a TCP session remains open without a response, after a TCP session is in the Established state (after the handshake is complete and/or data is being transmitted). Default: 3600. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• <b>TCP Handshake</b> —Maximum length of time permitted between receiving the SYN-ACK and the subsequent ACK to fully establish the session. Default: 10. Range: 1-60.
		• <b>TCP init</b> —Maximum length of time permitted between receiving the SYN and SYN-ACK prior to starting the TCP handshake timer. Default: 5. Range: 1-60.
		• <b>TCP Half Closed</b> —Maximum length of time between receiving the first FIN and receiving the second FIN or a RST. Default: 120. Range: 1-604,800.
		• <b>TCP Time Wait</b> —Maximum length of time after receiving the second FIN or a RST. Default: 15. Range: 1-600.
		• Unverified RST—Maximum length of time after receiving a RST that cannot be verified (the RST is within the TCP window but has an unexpected sequence number, or the RST is from an asymmetric path). Default: 30. Range: 1-600.
		<ul> <li>See also the Scan timeout in the section (Optional) Change miscellaneous timeouts.</li> </ul>
Step 4	(Optional) Change UDP timeouts.	• <b>Discard UDP</b> —Maximum length of time that a UDP session remains open after it is denied based on a security policy configured on the firewall. Default: 60. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• <b>UDP</b> —Maximum length of time that a UDP session remains open without a UDP response. Default: 30. Range: 1-1599999.
		• See also the <b>Scan</b> timeout in the section (Optional) Change miscellaneous timeouts.
Step 5	(Optional) Change ICMP timeouts.	• <b>ICMP</b> —Maximum length of time that an ICMP session can be open without an ICMP response. Default: 6. Range: 1-15,999,999.
		• See also the <b>Discard Default</b> and <b>Scan</b> timeout in the section (Optional) Change miscellaneous timeouts.
Step 6	Commit the changes.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the changes.

# **Configure Session Settings**

This topic describes various settings for sessions other than timeouts values. Perform these optional tasks if you need to change the default settings.

Chang	e Session Settings	
Step 1	Access the Session Settings.	1. Select Device > Setup > Session.
		2. In the <b>Session Settings</b> section, click the <b>Edit</b> icon.
Step 2	(Optional) Change session settings.	• <b>Rematch Sessions</b> —Causes the firewall to apply newly configured security policies to sessions that are already in progress. This capability is enabled by default. If this setting is disabled, any policy change applies only to sessions initiated after the policy change was committed.
		For example, if a Telnet session started while an associated policy was configured that allowed Telnet, and you subsequently committed a policy change to deny Telnet, the firewall applies the revised policy to the current session and blocks it.
		• ICMPv6 Token Bucket Size—Default: 100 tokens. See the section ICMPv6 Rate Limiting.
		• ICMPv6 Error Packet Rate (per sec)—Default: 100. See the section ICMPv6 Rate Limiting.
		• <b>Enable IPv6 Firewalling</b> —Enables firewall capabilities for IPv6. All IPv6-based configurations are ignored if IPv6 is not enabled. Even if IPv6 is enabled for an interface, the <b>IPv6 Firewalling</b> setting must also be enabled for IPv6 to function.
		• <b>Enable Jumbo Frame</b> —Enables jumbo frame support on Ethernet interfaces. Jumbo frames have a maximum transmission unit (MTU) of 9216 bytes and are available on certain platforms.
		<b>Global MTU</b> —Establishes the maximum transmission unit (MTU) available globally; this field is tied to the <b>Enable Jumbo Frame</b> field.
		• If you do not check <b>Enable Jumbo Frame</b> , the <b>Global MTU</b> defaults to 1500 bytes; the range is 576 to 1500 bytes.
		• If you check <b>Enable Jumbo Frame</b> , the <b>Global MTU</b> defaults to 9192 bytes; the range is 9192 to 9216 bytes.
		If you enable jumbo frames and you have interfaces where the MTU is not specifically configured, those interfaces will automatically inherit the jumbo frame size. Therefore, before you enable jumbo frames, if you have any interface that you do not want to have jumbo frames, you must set the MTU for that interface to 1500 bytes or another value.
		• NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU—Sets the global MTU for IPv6 translated traffic. The default of 1280 bytes is based on the standard minimum MTU for IPv6 traffic.

Change See	ssion Settings (Continued	d)	
		•	<b>NAT Oversubscription Rate</b> —If NAT is configured to be Dynamic IP and Port (DIPP) translation, an oversubscription rate can be configured to multiply the number of times that the same translated IP address and port pair can be used concurrently. The rate is 1, 2, 4, or 8. The default setting is based on the firewall platform.
			• A rate of 1 means no oversubscription; each translated IP address and port pair can be used only once at a time.
			• If the setting is <b>Platform Default</b> , user configuration of the rate is disabled and the default oversubscription rate for the platform applies.
			Reducing the oversubscription rate decreases the number of source device translations, but provides higher NAT rule capacities.
		•	<b>Accelerated Aging</b> —Enables faster aging-out of idle sessions. Select the check box to enable accelerated aging, and, if necessary, change the threshold (%) and scaling factor.
			• Accelerated Aging Threshold—Percentage of the session table that is full when accelerated aging begins. The default is 80%. When the session table reaches this threshold (% full), PAN-OS applies the Accelerated Aging Scaling Factor to the aging calculations for all sessions.
			• Accelerated Aging Scaling Factor—Scaling factor used in the accelerated aging calculations. The default scaling factor is 2, meaning that the accelerated aging occurs at a rate twice as fast as the configured idle time. The configured idle time divided by 2 results in a faster timeout of one-half the time. To calculate the session's accelerated aging, PAN-OS divides the configured idle time (for that type of session) by the scaling factor to determine a shorter timeout.
			For example, if the scaling factor is 10, a session that would normally time out after 3600 seconds would time out 10 times faster (in $1/10$ of the time), which is 360 seconds.
Step 3 Co	mmit the changes.	Cl	lick <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the changes.
Step 4 Rel cha cor	boot the firewall after anging the jumbo frame nfiguration.	1. 2.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Operation</b> . Click <b>Reboot Device</b> .

# DHCP

This section describes Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) and the tasks required to configure an interface on a Palo Alto Networks firewall to act as a DHCP server, client, or relay agent. By assigning these roles to different interfaces, the firewall can perform multiple roles.

- ▲ DHCP Overview
- ▲ DHCP Messages
- ▲ DHCP Addressing
- DHCP Options
- Restrictions to Palo Alto Networks Implementation of DHCP
- Configure an Interface as a DHCP Server
- Configure an Interface as a DHCP Client
- ▲ Configure an Interface as a DHCP Relay Agent
- ▲ Monitor and Troubleshoot DHCP

# **DHCP** Overview

DHCP is a standardized protocol defined in RFC 2131, Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol. DHCP has two main purposes: to provide TCP/IP and link-layer configuration parameters and to provide network addresses to dynamically configured hosts on a TCP/IP network.

DHCP uses a client-server model of communication. This model consists of three roles that the device can fulfill: DHCP client, DHCP server, and DHCP relay agent.

- A device acting as a DHCP client (host) can request an IP address and other configuration settings from a DHCP server. Users on client devices save configuration time and effort, and need not know the network's addressing plan or other resources and options they are inheriting from the DHCP server.
- A device acting as a DHCP server can service clients. By using any of three DHCP Addressing mechanisms, the network administrator saves configuration time and has the benefit of reusing a limited number of IP addresses when a client no longer needs network connectivity. The server can deliver IP addressing and many DHCP options to many clients.
- A device acting as a DHCP relay agent transmits DHCP messages between DHCP clients and servers.

DHCP uses *User Datagram Protocol* (UDP), RFC 768, as its transport protocol. DHCP messages that a client sends to a server are sent to well-known port 67 (UDP—Bootstrap Protocol and DHCP). DHCP Messages that a server sends to a client are sent to port 68.

An interface on a Palo Alto Networks firewall can perform the role of a DHCP server, client, or relay agent. The interface of a DHCP server or relay agent must be a Layer 3 Ethernet, Aggregated Ethernet, or Layer 3 VLAN interface. The network administrator configures the firewall's interfaces with the appropriate settings for any combination of roles. The configuration tasks for each role are provided in this document.

# DHCP Messages

DHCP uses eight standard message types, which are identified by an option type number in the DHCP message. For example, when a client wants to find a DHCP server, it broadcasts a DHCPDISCOVER message on its local physical subnetwork. If there is no DHCP server on its subnet and if DHCP Helper or DHCP Relay is configured properly, the message is forwarded to DHCP servers on a different physical subnet. Otherwise, the message will go no further than the subnet on which it originated. One or more DHCP servers will respond with a DHCPOFFER message that contains an available network address and other configuration parameters.

When the client needs an IP address, it sends a DHCPREQUEST to one or more servers. Of course if the client is requesting an IP address, it doesn't have one yet, so RFC 2131 requires that the broadcast message the client sends out have a source address of 0 in its IP header.

When a client requests configuration parameters from a server, it might receive responses from more than one server. Once a client has received its IP address, it is said that the client has at least an IP address and possibly other configuration parameters *bound* to it. DHCP servers manage such binding of configuration parameters to clients.

DHCP Message	Description	
DHCPDISCOVER	Client broadcast to find available DHCP servers.	
DHCPOFFER	Server response to client's DHCPDISCOVER, offering configuration parameters.	
DHCPREQUEST	<ul> <li>Client message to one or more servers to do any of the following:</li> <li>Request parameters from one server and implicitly decline offers from other servers.</li> <li>Confirm that a previously allocated address is correct after, for example, a system reboot.</li> <li>Extend the lease of a network address.</li> </ul>	
DHCPACK	Server to client acknowledgment message containing configuration parameters, including a confirmed network address.	
DHCPNAK	Server to client negative acknowledgment indicating the client's understanding of the network address is incorrect (for example, if the client has moved to a new subnet), o a client's lease has expired.	
DHCPDECLINE	Client to server message indicating the network address is already being used.	
DHCPRELEASE	Client to server message giving up the user of the network address and canceling the remaining time on the lease.	
DHCPINFORM	Client to server message requesting only local configuration parameters; client has an externally configured network address.	

The following table lists the DHCP messages.

# **DHCP** Addressing

There are three ways that a DHCP server either assigns or sends an IP address to a client:

#### DHCP

- Automatic allocation—The DHCP server assigns a permanent IP address to a client from its IP Pools. On the firewall, a Lease specified as Unlimited means the allocation is permanent.
- **Dynamic allocation**—The DHCP server assigns a reusable IP address from **IP Pools** of addresses to a client for a maximum period of time, known as a *lease*. This method of address allocation is useful when the customer has a limited number of IP addresses; they can be assigned to clients who need only temporary access to the network. See the DHCP Leases section.
- Static allocation—The network administrator chooses the IP address to assign to the client and the DHCP server sends it to the client. A static DHCP allocation is permanent; it is done by configuring a DHCP server and choosing a **Reserved Address** to correspond to the **MAC Address** of the client device. The DHCP assignment remains in place even if the client logs off, reboots, has a power outage, etc.

Static allocation of an IP address is useful, for example, if you have a printer on a LAN and you do not want its IP address to keep changing, because it is associated with a printer name through DNS. Another example is if a client device is used for something crucial and must keep the same IP address, even if the device is turned off, unplugged, rebooted, or a power outage occurs, etc.

Keep these points in mind when configuring a **Reserved Address**:

- It is an address from the IP Pools. You may configure multiple reserved addresses.
- If you configure no Reserved Address, the clients of the server will receive new DHCP assignments from the pool when their leases expire or if they reboot, etc. (unless you specified that a Lease is Unlimited).
- If you allocate all of the addresses in the IP Pools as a Reserved Address, there are no dynamic addresses free to assign to the next DHCP client requesting an address.
- You may configure a Reserved Address without configuring a MAC Address. In this case, the DHCP server will not assign the Reserved Address to any device. You might reserve a few addresses from the pool and statically assign them to a fax and printer, for example, without using DHCP.

#### **DHCP** Leases

A lease is defined as the time period for which a DHCP server allocates a network address to a client. The lease might be extended (renewed) upon subsequent requests. If the client no longer needs the address, it can release the address back to the server before the lease is up. The server is then free to assign that address to a different client if it has run out of unassigned addresses.

The lease period configured for a DHCP server applies to all of the addresses that a single DHCP server (interface) dynamically assigns to its clients. That is, all of that interface's addresses assigned dynamically are of **Unlimited** duration or have the same **Timeout** value. A different DHCP server configured on the firewall may have a different lease term for its clients. A **Reserved Address** is a static address allocation and is not subject to the lease terms.

Per the DHCP standard, RFC 2131, a DHCP client does not wait for its lease to expire, because it risks getting a new address assigned to it. Instead, when a DHCP client reaches the halfway point of its lease period, it attempts to extend its lease so that it retains the same IP address. Thus, the lease duration is like a sliding window.

Typically if an IP address was assigned to a device, the device was subsequently taken off the network and its lease was not extended, the DHCP server will let that lease run out. Because the client is gone from the network and no longer needs the address, the lease duration in the server is reached and the lease is in "Expired" state.

The firewall has a hold timer that prevents the expired IP address from being reassigned immediately. This behavior temporarily reserves the address for the device in case it comes back onto the network. But if the address pool runs out of addresses, the server re-allocates this expired address before the hold timer expires. Expired addresses are cleared automatically as the systems needs more addresses or when the hold timer releases them.

In the CLI, use the show dhcp server lease operational command to view lease information about the allocated IP addresses. If you do not want to wait for expired leases to be released automatically, you can use the clear dhcp lease interface value expired-only command to clear expired leases, making those addresses available in the pool again. You can use the clear dhcp lease interface value ip ip command to release a particular IP address. Use the clear dhcp lease interface value mac mac\_address command to release a particular MAC address.

# **DHCP** Options

The history of DHCP and DHCP options traces back to the Bootstrap Protocol (BOOTP). BOOTP was used by a host to configure itself dynamically during its booting procedure. A host could receive an IP address and a file from which to download a boot program from a server, along with the server's address and the address of an Internet gateway.

Included in the BOOTP packet was a vendor information field, which could contain a number of tagged fields containing various types of information, such as the subnet mask, the BOOTP file size, and many other values. RFC 1497 describes the BOOTP Vendor Information Extensions.

These extensions eventually expanded with the use of DHCP and DHCP host configuration parameters, also known as options. Similar to vendor extensions, DHCP options are tagged data items that provide information to a DHCP client. The options are sent in a variable-length field at the end of a DHCP message. For example, the DHCP Message Type is option 53, and a value of 1 indicates the DHCPDISCOVER message. DHCP options are defined in RFC 2132, DHCP Options and BOOTP Vendor Extensions.

A DHCP client can negotiate with the server, limiting the server to send only those options that the client requests.

The Palo Alto Networks firewall supports a subset of the standard DHCP options for its implementation of DHCP server. Such options are configured on the DHCP server and sent to the clients that sent a DHCPREQUEST to the server. The clients are said to *inherit* and implement the options that they are programmed to accept. The firewall supports the following predefined options on its DHCP servers, shown in the order in which they appear on the **DHCP Server** configuration screen:

DHCP Option	DHCP Option Name
51	Lease duration
3	Gateway
1	IP Pool Subnet (mask)
6	Domain Name System (DNS) server address (primary and secondary)
44	Windows Internet Name Service (WINS) server address (primary and secondary)

DHCP Option	DHCP Option Name
41	Network Information Service (NIS) server address (primary and secondary)
42	Network Time Protocol (NTP) server address (primary and secondary)
70	Post Office Protocol Version 3 (POP3) server address
69	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP) server address
15	DNS suffix

### Restrictions to Palo Alto Networks Implementation of DHCP

- The DHCP standard, RFC 2131, is designed to support IPv4 and IPv6 addresses. The Palo Alto Networks implementations of DHCP server and DHCP client support IPv4 addresses only. Its DHCP relay implementation supports IPv4 and IPv6.
- DHCP client is not supported in High Availability active/active mode.
- The firewall supports DHCPv4 Server and DHCPv6 Relay. However, a single interface cannot support both DHCPv4 Server and DHCPv6 Relay.
- DHCP replaces BOOTP; BOOTP is not supported

### Configure an Interface as a DHCP Server

The prerequisites for this task are:

- You have configured a Layer 3 Ethernet or Layer 3 VLAN interface.
- The interface is assigned to a virtual router and a zone.
- You know a valid pool of IP addresses from your network plan that can be designated to be assigned by your DHCP server to clients.

Perform the following task to configure an interface on the firewall to act as a DHCP server. You may configure multiple DHCP servers.

Config	Configure an Interface as a DHCP Server					
Step 1	Select an interface to be a DHCP Server.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select Network > DHCP > DHCP Server and click Add. Enter an Interface name or select one from the drop-down. For Mode, select enabled or auto mode. Auto mode enables the server and disables it if another DHCP server is detected on the network. The disabled setting disables the server. Optionally click the Ping IP when allocating new IP check box if you want the server to ping the IP address before it assigns that address to its client.			
			<ul> <li>If the ping receives a response, that means a different device already has that address, so it is not available. The server assigns the next address from the pool instead. This behavior is similar to Optimistic Duplicate Address Detection (DAD) for IPv6, RFC 4429.</li> <li>After setting options and returning to the DHCP server tab, the <b>Probe IP</b> column for the interface indicates if this check box was checked.</li> </ul>			

Config	Configure an Interface as a DHCP Server (Continued)			
Step 2	Configure the DHCP Options that the	• In the Options section, select a <b>Lease</b> type:		
	server sends to its clients.	• <b>Unlimited</b> causes the server to dynamically choose IP addresses from the <b>IP Pools</b> and assign them permanently to clients.		
		• <b>Timeout</b> determines how long the lease will last. Enter the number of <b>Days</b> and <b>Hours</b> , and optionally the number of <b>Minutes</b> .		
		• Inheritance Source—Leave None or select a source DHCP client interface or PPPoE client interface to propagate various server settings into the DHCP server. If you specify an Inheritance Source, select one or more options below that you want inherited from this source.		
		Benefits of specifying an inheritance source are that it quickly adds DHCP options from the upstream server of the source DHCP client. It also keeps the client's options updated if the source changes an option. For example, if the source replaces its NTP server (which had been identified as the <b>Primary NTP</b> server), the client will automatically inherit the new address as its <b>Primary NTP</b> server.		
	•	• Check inheritance source status—If your selected an Inheritance Source, clicking this link opens the Dynamic IP Interface Status window, which displays the options that were inherited from the DHCP client.		
		• <b>Gateway</b> —IP address of the network gateway (an interface on the firewall) that is used to reach any device not on the same LAN as this DHCP server.		
		• <b>Ippool Subnet</b> —Network mask that applies to the addresses in the <b>IP Pools</b> .		

Config	ure an Interface as a DHCP Server (Cont	tinued)
		For the following fields, click the down arrow and select <b>None</b> , or <b>inherited</b> , or enter a remote server's IP address that your DHCP server will send to clients for accessing that service. If you select <b>inherited</b> , the DHCP server inherits the values from the source DHCP client specified as the <b>Inheritance Source</b> .
		<ul> <li>The DHCP server sends these settings to its clients.</li> <li>Primary DNS, Secondary DNS—IP address of the preferred and alternate Domain Name System (DNS) servers.</li> </ul>
		• <b>Primary WINS, Secondary WINS</b> —IP address of the preferred and alternate Windows Internet Naming Service (WINS) servers.
		• <b>Primary NIS, Secondary NIS</b> —IP address of the preferred and alternate Network Information Service (NIS) servers.
		• <b>Primary NTP, Secondary NTP</b> —IP address of the available Network Time Protocol servers.
		• <b>POP3 Server</b> —IP address of a Post Office Protocol (POP3) server.
		• <b>SMTP Server</b> —IP address of a Simple Mail Transfer Protocol (SMTP) server.
		• <b>DNS Suffix</b> —Suffix for the client to use locally when an unqualified hostname is entered that it cannot resolve.
Step 3	Identify the stateful pool of IP addresses from which the DHCP server chooses an address and assigns it to a DHCP client. If you are not the network administrator for your network, ask the network administrator for a valid pool of IP addresses from the network plan that can be designated to be assigned by your DHCP server.	<ol> <li>In the IP Pools field, click Add and enter the range of IP addresses from which this server assigns an address to a client. Enter an IP subnet and subnet mask (for example, 192.168.1.0/24) or a range of IP addresses (for example, 192.168.1.10-192.168.1.20). At least one IP pool is required.</li> <li>Optionally repeat Step 1 to specify another IP address pool.</li> </ol>
Step 4	<ul> <li>(Optional) Specify an IP address from the IP pools that will not be assigned dynamically. If you also specify a MAC Address, the Reserved Address is assigned to that device when the device requests an IP address through DHCP.</li> <li>See the DHCP Addressing section for an explanation of allocation of a Reserved</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>In the Reserved Address field, click Add.</li> <li>Enter an IP address from the IP Pools (format <i>x.x.x.x</i>) that you do not want to be assigned dynamically by the DHCP server.</li> <li>Optionally specify the MAC Address (format <i>xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx</i></li></ol>
Step 5	Address. Save the configuration.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the change.

# Configure an Interface as a DHCP Client

Before configuring a firewall interface as a DHCP client, make sure you have configured a Layer 3 Ethernet or Layer 3 VLAN interface, and the interface is assigned to a virtual router and a zone. Perform this task if you need to use DHCP to request an IPv4 address for an interface on your firewall.

Configu	ure an Interface as a DHCP Client	
Step 1	Configure an interface as a DHCP client.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces.</li> <li>On the Ethernet tab or the VLAN tab, click Add and enter an interface, or click a configured interface, that you want to be a DHCP client.</li> <li>The following shows the Ethernet Interface screen:</li> </ol>
		Ethernet Interface       Interface Name ethernet1/1         Interface Type       Layer3         Netflow Profile       None         Comment       IPv4         Type       Static         PPOE       DHCP Clent         Image: Control of the static state of the st
		<ol> <li>Click the IPv4 tab; for Type, select DHCP Client.</li> <li>Select the Enable check box.</li> </ol>
		5. Optionally select the Automatically create default route pointing to default gateway provided by server check box. This causes the firewall to create a static route to a default gateway that will be useful when clients are trying to access many destinations that do not need to have routes maintained in a routing table on the firewall.
		6. Optionally enter a <b>Default Route Metric</b> (priority level) for the route between the firewall and the DHCP server. A route with a lower number has higher priority during route selection. For example, a route with a metric of 10 is used before a route with a metric of 100. Range is 1-65535. There is no default metric.
		7. Optionally click <b>Show DHCP Client Runtime Info</b> to see all of the settings the client has inherited from its DHCP server.
Step 2	Save the configuration.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the change. Now the Ethernet interface indicates <b>Dynamic-DHCP Client</b> in its <b>IP</b> <b>Address</b> field on the <b>Ethernet</b> tab.
Step 3	(Optional) See which interfaces on the firewall are configured as DHCP clients.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet and look in the IP Address field to see which interfaces indicate DHCP Client.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; VLAN and look in the IP Address field to see which interfaces indicate DHCP Client.</li> </ol>

. .

. . .

# Configure an Interface as a DHCP Relay Agent

\_\_\_\_\_

Before configuring a firewall interface as a DHCP relay agent, make sure you have configured a Layer 3 Ethernet or Layer 3 VLAN interface, and the interface is assigned to a virtual router and a zone. You want that interface be able to pass DHCP messages between clients and servers. The interface can forward messages to a maximum of four external DHCP servers. A client DHCPDISCOVER message is sent to all configured servers, and the DHCPOFFER message of the first server that responds is relayed back to the requesting client.

Perform the following task to configure an interface on the firewall to act as a DHCP relay agent:

Configure an Interface as a DHCP Relay Agent				
Step 1	Select DHCP Relay.	Sele	ect Network > DHCP > DHCP Relay.	
Step 2	Specify the IP address of each DHCP server with which the DHCP relay agent will communicate.	1.	In the <b>Interface</b> field, select from the drop-down the interface you want to be the DHCP relay agent.	
		2.	Check either the <b>IPv4</b> or <b>IPv6</b> check box, indicating the type of DHCP server address you will specify.	
		3.	If you checked <b>IPv4</b> , in the <b>DHCP Server IP Address</b> field, click <b>Add</b> . Enter the address of the DHCP server to and from which you will relay DHCP messages.	
		4.	If you checked <b>IPv6</b> , in the <b>DHCP Server IPv6 Address</b> field, click <b>Add</b> . Enter the address of the DHCP server to and from which you will relay DHCP messages. If you specify a <i>multicast</i> address, also specify an outgoing <b>Interface</b> .	
		5.	Optionally repeat Steps 2-4 to enter a maximum of four DHCP server addresses.	
Step 3	Save the configuration.	Clic	k <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the change.	

## Monitor and Troubleshoot DHCP

You can view the status of dynamic address leases that your DHCP server has assigned or that your DHCP client has been assigned by issuing commands from the CLI. You can also clear leases before they time out and are released automatically. For complete command syntax, see the *PAN-OS Command Line Interface Reference Guide*.

- ▲ View DHCP Server Information
- ▲ Clear Leases Before They Expire Automatically
- ▲ View DHCP Client Information
- ▲ Gather Debug Output about DHCP

#### View DHCP Server Information

To view DHCP pool statistics, IP addresses the server has assigned, the corresponding MAC address, state and duration of the lease, and time the lease began, use the following command. If the address was configured as a **Reserved Address**, the state column indicates reserved and there is no duration or lease\_time. If the lease was configured as **Unlimited**, the duration column displays a value of 0.

admin@PA-200> show dhcp server lease all interface: "ethernet1/2" Allocated IPs: 1, Total number of IPs in pool: 5. 20.0000% used ip mac state duration lease\_time 192.168.3.11 f0:2f:af:42:70:cf committed 0 Wed Jul 2 08:10:56 2014 admin@PA-200>

To view the options that a DHCP server has assigned to clients, use the following command:

admin@PA-200>	show dhcp	server sett	ings all		
Interface	GW	DNS1	DNS2	DNS-Suffix	Inherit source
ethernet1/2 admin@PA-200>	192.168.3	.1 10.43.2	.10 10.44.2	.10	ethernet1/3

#### Clear Leases Before They Expire Automatically

The following example shows how to release expired DHCP Leases of an interface (server) before the hold timer releases them automatically. Those addresses will be available in the IP pool again.

admin@PA-200> clear dhcp lease interface ethernet1/2 expired-only

The following example shows how to release the lease of a particular IP address:

admin@PA-200> clear dhcp lease interface ethernet1/2 ip 192.168.3.1

The following example shows how to release the lease of a particular MAC address:

admin@PA-200> clear dhcp lease interface ethernet1/2 mac f0:2c:ae:29:71:34

#### **View DHCP Client Information**

To view the status of IP address leases sent to the firewall when it is acting as a DHCP client, use the show dhcp client state *interface\_name* command or the following command:

admin@PA-200>	show dhcp	client state all		
Interface	State	IP	Gateway	Leased-until
ethernet1/1 admin@PA-200>	Bound	10.43.14.80	10.43.14.1	70315

#### Gather Debug Output about DHCP

To gather debug output about DHCP, use one of the following commands: admin@PA-200> **debug dhcpd** admin@PA-200> **debug management-server dhcpd** 

# NAT

This section describes Network Address Translation (NAT) and how to configure NAT rules and features.

- Purpose of NAT
- NAT Rules and Security Policies
- ▲ Source NAT and Destination NAT
- ▲ NAT Rule Capacities
- ▲ Dynamic IP and Port NAT Oversubscription
- ▲ Dataplane NAT Memory Statistics
- Configure NAT

## Purpose of NAT

NAT was introduced to solve the problem of an organization not having enough public, globally-routable IPv4 addresses assigned to it by the Internet Assigned Numbers Authority (IANA) or a Regional Internet Registry. NAT translates private, non-routable IPv4 addresses to one or more globally-routable IPv4 addresses, thereby conserving an organization's routable IP addresses.

Since its origination, the use of NAT has expanded. For example, NAT is used as a way to not disclose the real IP addresses of hosts that need access to public addresses. It is also used to manage traffic by performing port forwarding. The NAT64 option translates between IPv6 and IPv4 addresses, providing connectivity between networks using disparate IP addressing schemes, and therefore a migration path to IPv6 addressing. PAN-OS supports all of these uses.

If you use private IP addresses within your internal networks, you must use NAT to translate the private addresses to public addresses that can be routed on external networks. In PAN-OS, you create NAT policy rules that instruct the firewall which packet addresses need translation and what the translated addresses are.

# NAT Rules and Security Policies

You configure a NAT rule to match a packet's source zone and destination zone, at a minimum. In addition to zones, you can configure matching criteria based on the packet's destination interface, source and destination address, and service. You can configure multiple NAT rules. The firewall evaluates the rules in order from the top down. Once a packet matches the criteria of a single NAT rule, the packet is not subjected to additional NAT rules. Therefore, your list of NAT rules should be in order from most specific to least specific so that packets are subjected to the most specific rule you created for them.

It is important to understand the firewall's flow logic when it applies NAT rules and security policies so that you can determine what rules you need, based on the zones you have defined.

Upon ingress, the firewall inspects the packet and does a route lookup to determine the egress interface and zone. Then the firewall determines if the packet matches one of the NAT rules that have been defined, based on source and/or destination zone. It then evaluates and applies any security policies that match the packet based on the original (pre-NAT) source and destination addresses, but the post-NAT zones. Finally, upon egress, for a matching NAT rule, the firewall translates the source and/or destination address and port numbers.

Keep in mind that the translation of the IP address and port do not occur until the packet leaves the firewall. The NAT rules and security policies apply to the original IP address (the pre-NAT address). A NAT rule is configured based on the zone associated with a pre-NAT IP address.

Security policies differ from NAT rules because security policies examine post-NAT zones to determine whether the packet is allowed or not. Because the very nature of NAT is to modify source or destination IP addresses, which can result in modifying the packet's outgoing interface and zone, security policies are enforced on the post-NAT zone.

#### Address Pools Identified as Address Objects

When configuring a NAT IP address pool, it is typical to identify it as address object. It can be a host IP address, IP address range, or IP subnet. Because both NAT rules and security policies use address objects, it is a best practice to distinguish between them by naming an address object used for NAT with a prefix, such as "NAT-*name*."

### Source NAT and Destination NAT

The firewall supports both source address and/or port translation and destination address and/or port translation.

- Source NAT
- Destination NAT

#### Source NAT

Source NAT is typically used by internal users to access the Internet; the source address is translated and thereby kept private. There are three types of source NAT:

• **Dynamic IP and Port (DIPP)**—Allows multiple hosts to have their source IP addresses translated to the same public IP address with different port numbers. The dynamic translation is to the next available address in the NAT address pool, which you configure as a **Translated Address** pool be to an IP address, range of addresses, a subnet, or a combination of these.

As an alternative to the next address in the NAT address pool, DIPP allows you to specify the address of the **Interface** itself. The advantage of specifying the interface in the NAT rule is that the NAT rule will be automatically updated to use any address subsequently acquired by the interface.

DIPP has a default NAT oversubscription rate, which is the number of times that the same translated IP address and port pair can be used concurrently. For more information, see Dynamic IP and Port NAT Oversubscription and Modify the Oversubscription Rate for DIPP NAT.

- **Dynamic IP**—Allows the 1-to-1, dynamic translation of a source IP address only (no port number) to the next available address in the NAT address pool. By default, if the source address pool is larger than the NAT address pool and eventually all of the NAT addresses are allocated, new connections that need address translation are dropped. The default behavior can be changed by clicking **Advanced (Dynamic IP/Port Fallback)**, which causes DIPP addresses to be used when necessary. In either event, as sessions terminate and the addresses in the pool become available, they can be allocated to translate new connections.
- **Static IP**—Allows the 1-to-1, static translation of a source IP address, but leaves the source port unchanged. A common scenario for a static IP translation is an internal server that must be available to the Internet.

#### **Destination NAT**

Destination NAT is performed on incoming packets, when the firewall translates a public destination address to a private address. Destination NAT does not use address pools or ranges. It is a 1-to-1, static translation with the option to perform port forwarding or port translation.

• Static IP—Allows the 1-to-1, static translation of a destination IP address and optionally the port number.

One common use of destination NAT is to configure several NAT rules that map a single public destination address to several private destination addresses assigned to servers or services. For example:

- Port Forwarding—Can translate a public destination address and port number to a private destination address, but keeps the same port number.
- Port Translation—Can translate a public destination address and port number to a private destination address and a different port number, thus keeping the real port number private. It is configured by entering a Translated Port on the Translated Packet tab in the NAT policy rule.

### **NAT Rule Capacities**

The number of NAT rules allowed is based on the firewall platform. Individual rule limits are set for static, Dynamic IP (DIP), and Dynamic IP and Port (DIPP) NAT. The sum of the number of rules used for these NAT types cannot exceed the total NAT rule capacity. For DIPP, the rule limit is based on the device's oversubscription setting (8, 4, 2, or 1) and the assumption of one translated IP address per rule. To see platform-specific NAT rule limits and translated IP address limits, use the Compare Firewalls tool.

Consider the following when working with NAT rules:

- If you run out of pool resources, you cannot create more NAT rules, even if the platform's maximum rule count has not been reached.
- If you consolidate NAT rules, the logging and reporting will also be consolidated. The statistics are provided per the rule, not per all of the addresses within the rule. If you need granular logging and reporting, do not combine the rules.

# Dynamic IP and Port NAT Oversubscription

Dynamic IP and Port (DIPP) NAT allows you to use each translated IP address and port pair multiple times (8, 4, or 2 times) in concurrent sessions. This reusability of an IP address and port (known as oversubscription) provides scalability for customers who have too few public IP addresses. The design is based on the assumption that hosts are connecting to different destinations, therefore sessions can be uniquely identified and collisions are unlikely. The oversubscription rate in effect multiplies the original size of the address/port pool to 8, 4, or 2 times the size. For example, the default limit of 64K concurrent sessions allowed, when multiplied by an oversubscription rate of 8, results in 512K concurrent sessions allowed.

The oversubscription rates that are allowed vary based on the platform. The oversubscription rate is global; it applies to the device. This oversubscription rate is set by default and consumes memory, even if you have enough public IP addresses available to make oversubscription unnecessary. You can reduce the rate from the default setting to a lower setting or even 1 (which means no oversubscription). By configuring a reduced rate, you decrease the number of source device translations possible, but increase the DIP and DIPP NAT rule capacities. To change the default rate, see Modify the Oversubscription Rate for DIPP NAT.

If you select **Platform Default**, your explicit configuration of oversubscription is turned off and the default oversubscription rate for the platform applies, as shown in the table below. The **Platform Default** setting allows for an upgrade or downgrade of a software release.

Platform	Default Oversubscription Rate
PA-200	2
PA-500	2
PA-2020	2
PA-2050	2
PA-3020	2
PA-3050	2
PA-3060	2
PA-4020	4
PA-4050	8
PA-4060	8
PA-5020	4
PA-5050	8
PA-5060	8
PA-7050	8
VM-100	1
VM-200	1

The following table lists the default (highest) oversubscription rate for each platform.
Platform	Default Oversubscription Rate
VM-300	2
VM-1000-HV	2

The firewall supports a maximum of 256 translated IP addresses per NAT rule, and each platform supports a maximum number of translated IP addresses (for all NAT rules combined). If oversubscription causes the maximum translated addresses per rule (256) to be exceeded, the firewall will automatically reduce the oversubscription ratio in an effort to have the commit succeed. However, if your NAT rules result in translations that exceed the maximum translated addresses for the platform, the commit will fail.

### **Dataplane NAT Memory Statistics**

The show running global-ippool command displays statistics related to NAT memory consumption for a pool. The Size column displays the number of bytes of memory that the resource pool is using. The Ratio column displays the oversubscription ratio (for DIPP pools only). The lines of pool and memory statistics are explained in the following sample output:

adm	in@PA-7050-HA-(	0 (active-primary)>show r	unning global	-ippool				
Idx	Туре	From	То	Num	Ref.Cnt	Size	Ratio	
1	DynamicIP	201.0.0.0-201.0.255.255	210.0.0.0	4096	2	657072	N/A	
2	DynamicIP	202.0.0.0-202.0.0.255	220.0.0.0	256	1	41232	N/A	
3	Dynamic IP/Port	200.0.2.100-200.0.2.100	200.0.3.11	1	1	68720	8	)
Usab Usec Dyna Dyna	ble NAT DIP/DIPP sh MAT DIP/DIPP sh amic IP NAT Pool: amic IP/Port NAT F	shared memory size: 5849 ared memory size: 767024 2 (1.19%) ← N Pool: 1 (0.12%) ← N	0064	Total pł Bytes ar pools ir P pools	nysical NA nd % of us n use and % in use and	T memory ( able NAT m % of total u 1% of total	bytes) emory sable me usable m	mory that all DIP pools use emory that all DIPP pools use

For NAT pool statistics for a virtual system, the show running ippool command has columns indicating the memory size used per NAT rule and the oversubscription ratio used (for DIPP rules). The following is sample output for the command.

admin@PA-7050-HA-0vsys1(active-primary)> show running ippool VSYS1 has 4 NAT rules, DIP and DIPP rules: Mem Size Rule Type Used Available Ratio nat1 Dvnamic IP 0 4096 788144 0 **DvnamicIP** nat2 0 256 49424 0 nat3 DynamicIP/Port 0 638976 100976 4 nat11 Dvnamic IP 0 4096 788144 0

A field in the output of the show running nat-rule-ippool rule command shows the memory (bytes) used per NAT rule. The following is sample output for the command, with the memory usage for the rule encircled.

admin@PA-7050-HA-0 (active-primary)>show running nat-rule-ippool rule nat1

VSYS 1 Rule nat1: Rule: nat1, Pool index: 1, memory usage: 788144							
Reserve IP: no 201.0.0.0-201.0 210.0	).255.255 => .0.0-210.0.15.25	5					
Source	Xlat-Source	Ref.Cnt(F)	TTL(s)				
Total IPs in use: 0 Total entries in time-reserve cache: 0							

Total freelist left: 4096

# Configure NAT

Perform the following tasks to configure various aspects of NAT.

- ▲ Translate Internal Client IP Addresses to Your Public IP Address
- ▲ Enable Clients on the Internal Network to Access your Public Servers
- ▲ Enable Bi-Directional Address Translation for Your Public-Facing Servers
- Modify the Oversubscription Rate for DIPP NAT
- ▲ Disable NAT for a Specific Host or Interface

The NAT example in this section is based on the following topology, which was also used in Getting Started for setting up interfaces and zones:



Based on the topology initially used in Getting Started to create the interfaces and zones, there are three NAT policies we need to create as follows:



- To enable the clients on the internal network to access resources on the Internet, the internal 192.168.1.0 addresses will need to be translated to publicly routable addresses. In this case, we will configure source NAT, using the egress interface address, 203.0.113.100, as the source address in all packets that leave the firewall from the internal zone. See Translate Internal Client IP Addresses to Your Public IP Address for instructions.
- To enable clients on the internal network to access the public web server in the DMZ zone, we will need to configure a NAT rule that redirects the packet from the external network, where the original routing table lookup will determine it should go based on the destination address of 203.0.113.11 within the packet, to the actual address of the web server on the DMZ network of 10.1.1.11. To do this you must create a NAT rule from the trust zone (where the source address in the packet is) to the untrust zone (where the original destination address to an address in the DMZ zone. This type of destination NAT is called *U-Turn NAT*. See Enable Clients on the Internal Network to Access your Public Servers for instructions.
- To enable the web server—which has both a private IP address on the DMZ network and a public-facing address for access by external users—to both send and receive requests, the firewall must translate the incoming packets from the public IP address to the private IP address and the outgoing packets from the private IP address to the public IP address. On the firewall, you can accomplish this with a single bi-directional static source NAT policy. See Enable Bi-Directional Address Translation for Your Public-Facing Servers.

### Translate Internal Client IP Addresses to Your Public IP Address

When a client on your internal network sends a request, the source address in the packet contains the IP address for the client on your internal network. If you use private IP address ranges internally, the packets from the client will not be able to be routed on the Internet unless you translate the source IP address in the packets leaving the network into a publicly routable address.

On the firewall you can do this by configuring a source NAT policy that translates the source address and optionally the port into a public address. One way to do this is to translate the source address for all packets to the egress interface on your firewall, as shown in the following procedure.



Configure Source NAT (Continued)		
Step 2 Create the NAT policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
	2.	On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the policy.
	3.	On the <b>Original Packet</b> tab, select the zone you created for your internal network in the <b>Source Zone</b> section (click <b>Add</b> and then select the zone) and the zone you created for the external network from the <b>Destination Zone</b> drop-down.
		General Original Packet Translated Packet
		Any Destination Zone Any Any
		Source Zone
		any V Service any V
		Add      Delete     Add      Delete     Add      Delete
		OK Cancel
	4. 5.	from the <b>Translation Type</b> drop-down in the <b>Source Address</b> <b>Translation</b> section of the screen and then click <b>Add</b> . Select the address object you just created.
		NAT Policy Rule
		Conce Address Translation         Translation Type         Address Type         Translated Address         Translated Address         Public Address         Public Address         Address         Opelete
	6.	Click <b>UK</b> to save the NAT policy.
Step 3 Save the configuration.	Cli	ck Commit.

### Enable Clients on the Internal Network to Access your Public Servers

When a user on the internal network sends a request for access to the corporate web server in the DMZ, the DNS server will resolve to the public IP address. When processing the request, the firewall will use the original destination in the packet (the public IP address) and route the packet to the egress interface for the untrust zone. In order for the firewall to know that it must translate the public IP address of the web server to an address on the DMZ network when it receives requests from users on the trust zone, you must create a destination NAT rule that will enable the firewall to send the request to the egress interface for the DMZ zone as follows.

<ul> <li>Step 1 Create an address object for the web server.</li> <li>1. Select Objects &gt; Addresses and click Add.</li> <li>2. Enter a Name and optionally a Description for the ob</li> <li>3. Select IP Netmask from the Type drop-down and enter public IP address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>Meters Name Pake web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>4. Click OK.</li> <li>Step 1 Create the NAT policy.</li> <li>1. Select Policies &gt; NAT and click Add.</li> <li>2. On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N.</li> <li>3. On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created for the exten network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for the externet network from the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>	Configu	ire U-Turn NAT		
<ul> <li>server.</li> <li>2. Enter a Name and optionally a Description for the ob</li> <li>3. Select IP Netmask from the Type drop-down and enter public IP address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>Meters Net Policy of the address for corporate web server.</li> <li>Your Platemak from the type drop-down and enter public IP address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>Meters Net Policy of the address for corporate web server.</li> <li>4. Click OK.</li> <li>Step 1 Create the NAT policy.</li> <li>1. Select Policies &gt; NAT and click Add.</li> <li>2. On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N</li> <li>3. On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created in the cane, you created for the exten network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for the exten network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for the externer network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>	Step 1	Create an address object for the web	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
<ul> <li>3. Select IP Netmask from the Type drop-down and entopublic IP address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>Mercan address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in the example.</li> <li>Mercan address for coposte web server is the address of the one of address of the server is the address of the server is the address of the ad</li></ul>	server.	2.	Enter a <b>Name</b> and optionally a <b>Description</b> for the object.	
<ul> <li>Attress International address for corporate web server</li> <li>Description between address for corporate web server</li> <li>Type IP Hetmask IP address a sensek using the address of the address</li></ul>		3.	Select <b>IP Netmask</b> from the <b>Type</b> drop-down and enter the public IP address of the web server, 203.0.113.11 in this example.	
<ul> <li>Hattic Todak web server</li> <li>Description</li> <li>External address for corporate web server</li> <li>Type [P Heimask</li> <li>Ty</li></ul>				Address 🕥
<ul> <li>Isotopion External address for corporate web server: Type IP Hetmadk 220.011311 Type IP Hetmadk 220.011311 Type IP Hetmadk 200.011311 Type IP Hetmadk 200.011311</li></ul>			Name Public web server	
Type [P Netmask Parks 113.11 Type [P Netmask Parks 13.11.31.11 Tage Parks 13.11.01 Tage Parks 13.11.01 OK Cancel 4. Click OK. Step 1 Create the NAT policy. 1. Select Policies > NAT and click Add. 2. On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N 3. On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the exter network from the Destination Zone drop-down. 4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server. Virtual Packet Pack				Description External address for corporate web server
<ul> <li>Tage Control Cont</li></ul>				Type         IP Netmask         203.0.113.11           Enter an IP address or a network using the slash notation (Ec. 132.168.80.150 or 192.168.80.0/24).You can also enter an IP-6 address or an IP-6 address with its prefix (Ex. 2001:db8123:1:1:1 or 2001:db8123:1:1:1 or
<ul> <li>Click OK.</li> <li>Step 1 Create the NAT policy.</li> <li>Select Policies &gt; NAT and click Add.</li> <li>On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N</li> <li>On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the extern network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>			Tags	
<ul> <li>4. Click OK.</li> <li>Step 1 Create the NAT policy.</li> <li>1. Select Policies &gt; NAT and click Add.</li> <li>2. On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N</li> <li>3. On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the exter network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>				OK Cancel
<ol> <li>Step 1 Create the NAT policy.</li> <li>Select Policies &gt; NAT and click Add.</li> <li>On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N</li> <li>On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the exter network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ol>			4.	Click <b>OK</b> .
<ul> <li>On the General tab, enter a descriptive Name for the N</li> <li>On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the exter network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>	Step 1	Create the NAT policy	1	Select Policies > NAT and click Add
<ul> <li>3. On the Original Packet tab, select the zone you created internal network in the Source Zone section (click Add select the zone) and the zone you created for the exter network from the Destination Zone drop-down.</li> <li>4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.</li> </ul>	Step 1	cleate the twit policy.	2	On the <b>General</b> tablenter a descriptive <b>Name</b> for the NAT rule
4. In the Destination Address section, click Add and sele address object you created for your public web server.          NAT Policy Rule         General Original Packet         Translated Packet         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Address         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Address         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Address         Intrust         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Zone         Intrust         Source Address         Intrust         Int		3.	On the <b>Original Packet</b> tab, select the zone you created for your internal network in the <b>Source Zone</b> section (click <b>Add</b> and then select the zone) and the zone you created for the external network from the <b>Destination Zone</b> drop-down.	
address object you created for your public web server.			4.	In the <b>Destination Address</b> section, click <b>Add</b> and select the
NAT Policy Rule         General       Original Packet         Any       Destination Zone         Intrust       Source Zone ▲         Intrust       Source Address ▲         Destination Interface       any         any       Service         intry       Service         intry       Service         intry       Service         intry       Add				address object you created for your public web server.
				Image: Service any         And             Destination Interface any             And             And             Petitiestion Zone             Any              Any             Any              Any                       Any
ок				OK Cancel

Configure U-Turn NAT (Continued)	
	<ol> <li>On the Translated Packet tab, select the Destination Address Translation check box and then enter the IP address that is assigned to the web server interface on the DMZ network, 10.1.1.11 in this example.</li> </ol>
	NAT Policy Rule  General Original Packet Translated Packet  Source Address Translation  Translated Address Translation  Translated Address 10.1.1.11  Translated Port [1-65535]
	6. Click <b>OK</b> to save the NAT policy.
Step 2         Save the configuration.	Click Commit.

### Enable Bi-Directional Address Translation for Your Public-Facing Servers

When your public-facing servers have private IP addresses assigned on the network segment where they are physically located, you need a source NAT rule to translate the source address of the server to the external address upon egress. You create a static NAT rule to translate the internal source address, 10.1.1.11, to the external web server address, 203.0.113.11 in our example.

However, a public-facing server must be able to both send and receive packets. You need a reciprocal policy that translates the public address (the destination IP address in incoming packets from Internet users) into the private address so that the firewall can route the packet to your DMZ network. You create a bi-directional static NAT rule, as described in the following procedure.

Config	ure Bi-Directional NAT		
Step 1	Create an address object for the web server's internal IP address.	1. 2. 3.	Select Objects > Addresses and click Add. Enter a Name and optionally a Description for the object. Select IP Netmask from the Type drop-down and enter the IP address of the web server on the DMZ network, 10.1.1.11 in this example.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> . If you did not already create an address object for the <i>public</i> address of your web server, you should create that object now.

Config	ure Bi-Directional NAT (Continued)		
Step 2	Create the NAT policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, enter a descriptive <b>Name</b> for the NAT rule.
		3.	On the <b>Original Packet</b> tab, select the zone you created for your
			DMZ in the <b>Source Zone</b> section (click <b>Add</b> and then select the
			zone) and the zone you created for the external network from the <b>Destination Zone</b> drop-down
		4.	In the <b>Source Address</b> section, click <b>Add</b> and select the address
			object you created for your internal web server address.
			NAT Policy Rule
			General Original Packet Translated Packet In
			Any Contraction Address A Destination Address A
			V DMZ
			any 💌
			Service
			any 💌
			+ Add - Delete + Add - Delete
			OK Cancel
		5.	On the Translated Packet tab, select Static IP from the
			Translation Type drop-down in the Source Address
			created for your external web server address from the
			Translated Address drop-down.
		6.	In the <b>Bi-directional</b> field, select <b>Yes</b> .
			NAT Policy Rule
			Source Address Translation
			Translation Type Static IP Translated Address
			Bi-directional   Yes No
			OK (hy Cancel
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the NAT policy.
Step 3	Save the configuration.	Clic	ck Commit.

### Modify the Oversubscription Rate for DIPP NAT

If you have enough public IP addresses that you do not need to use DIPP NAT oversubscription, you can reduce the oversubscription rate and thereby gain more DIP and DIPP NAT rules allowed.

Set NA	Set NAT Oversubscription					
Step 1	View the DIPP NAT oversubscription rate.	1.	Select Device > Setup > Session > Session Settings. View the NAT Oversubscription Rate setting.			
Step 2	Set the DIPP NAT oversubscription rate.	1. 2.	Click the Edit icon in the Session Settings section. In the <b>NAT Oversubscription Rate</b> drop-down, select <b>1x</b> , <b>2x</b> , <b>4x</b> , or <b>8x</b> , depending on which ratio you want.			
			The <b>Platform Default</b> setting applies the default oversubscription setting for the platform. If you want no oversubscription, select <b>1x</b> .			
		3.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> the change.			

### Disable NAT for a Specific Host or Interface

You may have exceptions where you do not want NAT to occur for a certain host in a subnet or for traffic exiting a specific interface. Source NAT and destination NAT rules can be configured to disable translation in those cases. The following procedure shows how to disable source NAT for a host.

Create	a Source NAT Exemption		
Step 1	Create the NAT policy.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a descriptive <b>Name</b> for the policy.
		3.	On the <b>Original Packet</b> tab, select the zone you created for your internal network in the <b>Source Zone</b> section (click <b>Add</b> and then select the zone) and the zone you created for the external network from the <b>Destination Zone</b> drop-down.
		4.	For <b>Source Address</b> , click <b>Add</b> and enter the host address. Click <b>OK</b> .
		5.	On the <b>Translated Packet</b> tab, select <b>None</b> from the <b>Translation Type</b> drop-down in the <b>Source Address Translation</b> section of the screen.
		6.	Click UK to save the NAT policy.
Step 2	Save the configuration.	Clie	ck Commit.

# NAT64

NAT64 provides a way to transition to IPv6 while you still need to communicate with IPv4 networks. When you need to communicate from an IPv6-only network to an IPv4 network, you use NAT64 to translate source and destination addresses from IPv6 to IPv4 and vice versa. NAT64 allows IPv6 clients to access IPv4 servers and allows IPv4 clients to access IPv6 servers. You should understand NAT before configuring NAT64.

- ▲ NAT64 Overview
- ▲ IPv4-Embedded IPv6 Address
- ▲ DNS64 Server
- Path MTU Discovery
- ▲ Configure NAT64

### NAT64 Overview

Palo Alto Networks supports stateful NAT64 for IPv6-initiated communication, which maps multiple IPv6 addresses to one IPv4 address, thus preserving IPv4 addresses. (It does not support stateless NAT64, which maps one IPv6 address to one IPv4 address and therefore does not preserve IPv4 addresses.)

Palo Alto Networks also supports IPv4-initiated communication with a static binding that maps an IPv4 address and port number to an IPv6 address. It also supports port rewrite, which preserves even more IPv4 addresses by translating an IPv4 address and port number to an IPv6 address with multiple port numbers.

A single IPv4 address can be used for NAT44 and NAT64; you don't reserve a pool of IPv4 addresses for NAT64 only.

NAT64 operates on Layer 3 interfaces, subinterfaces, and tunnel interfaces. To use NAT64 on a Palo Alto Networks firewall for IPv6-initiated communication, you must have a third-party DNS64 Server or a solution in place to separate the DNS query function from the NAT function. The DNS64 server translates between your IPv6 host and an IPv4 DNS server by encoding the IPv4 address it receives from a public DNS server into an IPv6 address for the IPv6 host.

Palo Alto Networks supports the following NAT64 features:

- Hairpinning (NAT U-Turn); additionally, NAT64 prevents hairpinning loop attacks by dropping all incoming IPv6 packets that have a source prefix of 64::/n.
- Translation of TCP/UDP/ICMP packets per RFC 6146 and the firewall makes a best effort to translate other protocols that don't use an application-level gateway (ALG). For example, the firewall can translate a GRE packet. This translation has the same limitation as NAT44: if you don't have an ALG for a protocol that can use a separate control and data channel, the firewall might not understand the return traffic flow.
- Translation between IPv4 and IPv6 of the ICMP length attribute of the original datagram field, per RFC 4884.

Configure NAT64 for IPv6-initiated communication or IPv4-initiated communication.

# IPv4-Embedded IPv6 Address

NAT64 uses an IPv4-embedded IPv6 address as described in RFC 6052, IPv6 Addressing of IPv4/IPv6 Translators. An IPv4-embedded IPv6 address is an IPv6 address in which 32 bits have an IPv4 address encoded in them. The IPv6 prefix length (PL in the figure) determines where in the IPv6 address the IPv4 address is encoded, as follows:

++	+++	++	+	+	++	+	+	+
PL	0	4	04856	бб4	72808	8961	04	
++	++	++	+	+	++	+	+	+
32	prefix	v4(32)	)	u	suffix			1
++	+++	++	+		++	+	+	+
40	prefix	1	v4(24)	u	(8)   suffi	x		
++	++	++	++	+	++	+	+	+
48	prefix		v4(16)	)   u	(16)	suffix		1
++	+++	++	+	+	++	+	+	+
56	prefix		I	v4(8)∣ u	v4(24)	suffi	X	1
++	+++	++	+	+	++	++	+	+
64	prefix			u	v4 (32	)	suffix	1
++	++	++	+	+	++	+	+	+
96	prefix					v4(32	)	
++	+	++	+	+	++	+	+	+

The firewall supports translation for /32, /40, /48, /56, /64, and /96 subnets using these prefixes. A single firewall supports multiple prefixes; each NAT64 rule uses one prefix. The prefix can be the Well-Known Prefix (64:FF9B::/96) or a Network-Specific Prefix (NSP) that is unique to the organization that controls the address translator (the DNS64 device). An NSP is usually a network within the organization's IPv6 prefix. The DNS64 device typically sets the u field and suffix to zeros; the firewall ignores those fields.

## **DNS64 Server**

If you want to perform NAT64 translation using IPv6-Initiated Communication, you must use a third-party DNS64 server or other DNS64 solution that is set up with the Well-Known Prefix or your NSP. When an IPv6 host attempts to access an IPv4 host or domain on the internet, the DNS64 server queries an authoritative DNS server for the IPv4 address mapped to that host name. The DNS server returns an Address record (A record) to the DNS64 server containing the IPv4 address for the host name.

The DNS64 server in turn converts the IPv4 address to hexadecimal and encodes it into the appropriate octets of the IPv6 prefix it is set up to use (the Well-Known Prefix or your NSP) based on the prefix length, which results in an IPv4-Embedded IPv6 Address. The DNS64 server sends an AAAA record to the IPv6 host that maps the IPv4-embedded IPv6 address to the IPv4 host name.

# Path MTU Discovery

IPv6 does not fragment packets, so the firewall uses two methods to reduce the need to fragment packets:

- When the firewall is translating IPv4 packets in which the DF (don't fragment) bit is zero, that indicates the sender expects the firewall to fragment packets that are too large, but the firewall doesn't fragment packets for the IPv6 network (after translation) because IPv6 doesn't fragment packets. Instead, you can configure the minimum size into which the firewall will fragment IPv4 packets before translating them. The NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU value is this setting, which complies with RFC 6145, IP/ICMP Translation Algorithm. You can set the NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU to its maximum value (Device > Setup > Session), which causes the firewall to fragment IPv4 packets to the IPv6 minimum size before translating them to IPv6. (The NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU does not change the interface MTU.)
- The other method the firewall uses to reduce fragmentation is Path MTU Discovery (PMTUD). In an IPv4-initiated communication, if an IPv4 packet to be translated has the DF bit set and the MTU for the egress interface is smaller than the packet, the firewall uses PMTUD to drop the packet and return an ICMP 'Destination Unreachable fragmentation needed' message to the source. The source lowers the path MTU for that destination and resends the packet until successive reductions in the path MTU allow packet delivery.

### **Configure NAT64**

You can configure two types of NAT64 translation on the firewall; each one is doing a bi-directional translation between the two IP address families. Configure one of the following, depending on whether the initial translation is from IPv6 to IPv4 or from IPv4 to IPv6. IPv4-initiated communication offers an additional option to translate port numbers.

- IPv6-Initiated Communication
- IPv4-Initiated Communication
- ▲ IPv4-Initiated Communication with Port Translation

### IPv6-Initiated Communication

As shown in the example topology below, IPv6-initiated communication requires a DNS64 Server. The DNS64 server must be set up to use the Well-Known Prefix 64:FF9B::/96 or your Network-Specific Prefix, which must comply with RFC 6052 (/32, /40,/48,/56,/64, or /96).

IPv6-initiated communication to the firewall is similar to source NAT for an IPv4 topology. In the NAT64 policy rule, configure the original source to be an IPv6 host address or Any. Configure the destination IPv6 address as either the Well-Known Prefix or the NSP that the DNS64 server uses. (You do not configure the full IPv6 destination address in the rule.)

On the translated side of the firewall, the translation type must be Dynamic IP and Port in order to implement stateful NAT64. You configure the source translated address to be the IPv4 address of the egress interface on the firewall. You do not configure the destination translation field; the firewall translates the address by first finding the prefix length in the original destination address of the rule and then based on the prefix, extracting the encoded IPv4 address from the original destination IPv6 address in the incoming packet.

Before the firewall looks at the NAT64 rule, the firewall must do a route lookup to find the destination security zone for an incoming packet. You must ensure that the NAT64 prefix can be reached through the destination zone assignment because the NAT64 prefix should not be routable by the firewall. The firewall would likely assign the NAT64 prefix to the default route or drop the NAT64 prefix because there is no route for it. The firewall will not find a destination zone because the NAT64 prefix is not in its routing table, associated with an egress interface and zone.

You must also configure a tunnel interface (with no termination point). You apply the NAT64 prefix to the tunnel and apply the appropriate zone to ensure that IPv6 traffic with the NAT64 prefix is assigned to the proper destination zone. The tunnel also has the advantage of dropping IPv6 traffic with the NAT64 prefix if the traffic does not match the NAT64 rule. Your configured routing protocol on the firewall looks up the IPv6 prefix in its routing table to find the destination zone and then looks at the NAT64 rule.

The figure below illustrates the role of the DNS64 server in the name resolution process. In this example, the DNS64 server is configured to use Well-Known Prefix 64:FF9B::/96.

1. A user at the IPv6 host enters the URL www.abc.com, which generates a name server lookup (nslookup) to the DNS64 server.

2. The DNS64 Server sends an nslookup to the public DNS server for www.abc.com, requesting its IPv4 address.

3. The DNS server returns an A record that provides the IPv4 address to the DNS64 server.

4. The DNS64 server sends an AAAA record to the IPv6 user, converting the IPv4 dotted decimal address 198.51.100.1 into C633:6401 hexadecimal and embedding it into its own IPv6 prefix, 64:FF9B::/96. [198 = C6 hex; 51 = 33 hex; 100 = 64 hex; 1 = 01 hex.] The result is IPv4-Embedded IPv6 Address 64:FF9B::C633:6401.

Keep in mind that in a /96 prefix, the IPv4 address is the last four octets encoded in the IPv6 address. If the DNS64 server uses a /32, /40, /48, /56 or /64 prefix, the IPv4 address is encoded as shown in RFC 6052.



Upon the transparent name resolution, the IPv6 host sends a packet to the firewall containing its IPv6 source address and destination IPv6 address 64:FF9B::C633:6401 as determined by the DNS64 server. The firewall performs the NAT64 translation based on your NAT64 rule.



Configure NAT64 for IPv6-Initiated Communication						
Step 1	Enable IPv6 to operate on the firewall.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and edit the Session Settings.			
		2.	Select Enable IPv6 Firewalling.			
_		3.	Click <b>OK</b> .			

Config	ure NAT64 for IPv6-Initiated Communica	tion	n (Continued)
Step 2	Create an address object for the IPv6 destination address (pre-translation).	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a Name for the object, for example, nat64-IPv4 Server.
		3.	For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv6 prefix with a netmask that is compliant with RFC 6052 (/32, /40, /48, /56, /64, or /96). This is either the Well-Known Prefix or your Network-Specific Prefix that is configured on the DNS64 Server.
			For this example, enter 64:FF9B::/96.
			NOTE: The source and destination must have the same netmask (prefix length).
			(You don't enter a full destination address because, based on the prefix length, the firewall extracts the encoded IPv4 address from the original destination IPv6 address in the incoming packet. In this example, the prefix in the incoming packet is encoded with C633:6401 in hexadecimal, which is the IPv4 destination address 198.51.100.1.)
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 3	(Optional) Create an address object for the IPv6 source address (pre-translation).	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a Name for the object.
		3.	For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the address of the IPv6 host, in this example, 2001:DB8::5/96.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	(Optional) Create an address object for the IPv4 source address (translated).	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	Enter a Name for the object.
		3.	For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv4 address of the firewall's egress interface, in this example, 192.0.2.1.
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Create the NAT64 rule.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> .
		2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, enter a <b>Name</b> for the NAT64 rule, for example, nat64_ipv6_init.
		3.	(Optional) Enter a <b>Description</b> .
		4.	For NAT Type, select nat64.
Step 6	Specify the original source and destination information.	1.	For the <b>Original Packet</b> , <b>Add</b> the <b>Source Zone</b> , likely a trusted zone.
		2.	Select the <b>Destination Zone</b> , in this example, the Untrust zone.
		3.	(Optional) Select a <b>Destination Interface</b> or the default ( <b>any</b> ).
		4.	For <b>Source Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> or <b>Add</b> the address object you created for the IPv6 host.
		5.	For <b>Destination Address</b> , <b>Add</b> the address object you created for the IPv6 destination address, in this example, nat64-IPv4 Server.
		6.	(Optional) For Service, select any.

Configu	ure NAT64 for IPv6-Initiated Communica	ation	(Continued)
Step 7	Specify the translated packet information.	1.	For the Translated Packet, in Source Address Translation, for Translation Type, select Dynamic IP and Port.
		2.	For Address Type, do one of the following:
			• Select <b>Translated Address</b> and <b>Add</b> the address object you created for the IPv4 source address.
			• Select <b>Interface Address</b> , in which case the translated source address is the IP address and netmask of the firewall's egress interface. For this choice, select an <b>Interface</b> and optionally an <b>IP Address</b> if the interface has more than one IP address.
		3.	Leave <b>Destination Address Translation</b> unselected. (The firewall extracts the IPv4 address from the IPv6 prefix in the incoming packet, based on the prefix length specified in the original destination of the NAT64 rule.)
		4.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the NAT64 policy rule.
Step 8	Configure a tunnel interface to emulate a	1.	Select Network > Tunnels and Add a tunnel.
	loopback interface with a netmask other than 128.	2.	On the <b>General</b> tab, enter a <b>Name</b> for the tunnel.
		3.	For the Tunnel Interface, select New Tunnel Interface.
		4.	In the <b>Interface Name</b> field, enter a numeric suffix, such as .2.
		5.	On the <b>Config</b> tab, select the <b>Virtual Router</b> where you are configuring NAT64.
		6.	For <b>Security Zone</b> , select the destination zone associated with the IPv4 server destination (Trust zone).
		7.	On the IPv6 tab, select Enable IPv6 on the interface.
		8.	Click Add and for the Address, select New Address.
		9.	Enter a Name for the address.
		10.	(Optional) Enter a <b>Description</b> for the tunnel address.
		11.	For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter your IPv6 prefix and prefix length, in this example, 64:FF9B::/96.
		12.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the new address.
		13.	Select Enable address on interface and click OK.
		14.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the tunnel interface.
		15.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the tunnel.
Step 9	Create a security policy rule to allow NAT	1.	Select Policies > Security and Add a rule Name.
	traffic from the trust zone.	2.	Select Source and Add a Source Zone; select Trust.
		3.	For Source Address, select Any.
		4.	Select $\ensuremath{Destination}$ and $\ensuremath{Add}$ a $\ensuremath{Destination}$ are; select $\ensuremath{Untrust}$ .
		5.	For Application, select Any.
		6.	For Actions, select Allow.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 10	Commit.	Clic	ck Commit.

Configure NAT64 for IPv6-Initiated Communication (Continued)
--

Configure NAT64 for IPv6-Initiated Communication (Continued)	
--	--

Step 11 Troubleshoot or view a NAT64 session. > show session id <session-id>

### IPv4-Initiated Communication

IPv4-initiated communication to an IPv6 server is similar to destination NAT in an IPv4 topology. The destination IPv4 address maps to the destination IPv6 address through a one-to-one, static IP translation (not a many-to-one translation).

The firewall encodes the source IPv4 address into Well-Known Prefix 64:FF9B::/96 as defined in RFC 6052. The translated destination address is the actual IPv6 address. The use case for IPv4-initiated communication is typically when an organization is providing access from the public, untrust zone to an IPv6 server in the organization's DMZ zone. This topology does not use a DNS64 server.



Configu	Configure NAT64 for IPv4-Initiated Communication				
Step 1	Enable IPv6 to operate on the firewall.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and edit the Session Settings. Select <b>Enable IPv6 Firewalling</b> . Click <b>OK</b> .		
Step 2	(Optional) When an IPv4 packet has its DF bit set to zero (and because IPv6 does not fragment packets), ensure the translated IPv6 packet does not exceed the path MTU for the destination IPv6 network.	<ol> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and edit Session Settings. For <b>NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU</b> , enter the smallest number of bytes into which the firewall will fragment IPv4 packets for translation to IPv6 (range is 1280-9216, default is 1280). TIP: If you don't want the firewall to fragment an IPv4 packet prior to translation, set the MTU to 9216. If the translated IPv6 packet still exceeds this value, the firewall drops the packet and issues an ICMP packet indicating destination unreachable - fragmentation needed. Click <b>OK</b> .		

Config	ure NAT64 for IPv4-Initiated Communic	cation	l de la construcción de la constru
Step 3	Create an address object for the IPv4 destination address (pre-translation).	1. 2. 3. 4.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_ip4server. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv4 address and netmask of the firewall interface in the Untrust zone. This example uses 198.51.19.1/24. Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Create an address object for the IPv6 source address (translated).	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_ip6source. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the NAT64 IPv6 address with a netmask that is compliant with RFC 6052 (/32, /40, /48, /56, /64, or /96). For this example, enter 64:FF9B::/96. (The firewall encodes the prefix with the IPv4 source address 192.1.2.8, which is C001:0208 in hexadecimal.) Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Create an address object for the IPv6 destination address (translated).	1. 2. 3. 4.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_server_2. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv6 address of the IPv6 server (destination). This example uses 2001:DB8::2/64. NOTE: The source and destination must have the same netmask (prefix length). Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 6	Create the NAT64 rule.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> . On the <b>General</b> tab, enter a <b>Name</b> for the NAT64 rule, for example, nat64_ipv4_init. For <b>NAT Type</b> , select <b>nat64</b> .
Step 7	Specify the original source and destination information.	1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	For the <b>Original Packet</b> , <b>Add</b> the <b>Source Zone</b> , likely an untrust zone. Select the <b>Destination Zone</b> , likely a trust or DMZ zone. For <b>Source Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> or <b>Add</b> the address object for the IPv4 host. For <b>Destination Address</b> , <b>Add</b> the address object for the IPv4 destination, in this example, nat64_ip4server. For <b>Service</b> , select <b>any</b> .

Configu	are NAT64 for IPv4-Initiated Communica	tion	1
Step 8	Specify the translated packet information.	1.	For the Translated Packet, in the Source Address Translation, Translation Type, select Static IP.
		2.	For <b>Translated Address</b> , select the source translated address object you created, nat64_ip6source.
		3.	For <b>Destination Address Translation</b> , for <b>Translated</b> <b>Address</b> , specify a single IPv6 address (the address object, in this example, nat64_server_2, or the IPv6 address of the server). Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 9	Create a security policy rule to allow the NAT traffic from the Untrust zone.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> a rule <b>Name</b> . Select <b>Source</b> and <b>Add</b> a <b>Source Zone</b> ; select <b>Untrust</b> . For <b>Source Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> . Select Destination and Add a Destination Zone; select DMZ. For <b>Actions</b> , select <b>Allow</b> . Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 10	Commit.	Clie	ck Commit.
Step 11	Troubleshoot or view a NAT64 session.	> 5	show session id <session-id></session-id>

### IPv4-Initiated Communication with Port Translation

This use case builds on the prior use case, but the organization controlling the IPv6 network prefers to translate the public destination port number to an internal destination port number and thereby keep it private from users on the IPv4 untrust side of the firewall. In this example, port 8080 is translated to port 80. To do that, in the Original Packet of the NAT64 policy rule, create a new Service that specifies the destination port is 8080. For the Translated Packet, the translated port is 80.



Configu	ure NAT64 for IPv4-Initiated Communica	tion	n with Port Translation
Step 1	Enable IPv6 to operate on the firewall.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and edit the Session Settings. Select <b>Enable IPv6 Firewalling</b> . Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 2	(Optional) When an IPv4 packet has its DF bit set to zero (and because IPv6 does not fragment packets), ensure the translated IPv6 packet does not exceed the path MTU for the destination IPv6 network.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Session</b> and edit Session Settings. For <b>NAT64 IPv6 Minimum Network MTU</b> , enter the smallest number of byes into which the firewall will fragment IPv4 packets for translation to IPv6 (range is 1280-9216, default is 1280). TIP: If you don't want the firewall to fragment an IPv4 packet prior to translation, set the MTU to 9216. If the translated IPv6 packet still exceeds this value, the firewall drops the packet and issues an ICMP packet indicating destination unreachable - fragmentation needed. Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 3	Create an address object for the IPv4 destination address (pre-translation).	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_ip4server. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv4 address and netmask of the firewall interface in the Untrust zone. This example uses 198.51.19.1/24. Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Create an address object for the IPv6 source address (translated).	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_ip6source. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the NAT64 IPv6 address with a netmask that is compliant with RFC 6052 (/32, /40, /48, /56, /64, or /96). For this example, enter 64:FF9B::/96. (The firewall encodes the prefix with the IPv4 source address 192.1.2.8, which is C001:0208 in hexadecimal.) Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Create an address object for the IPv6 destination address (translated).	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Objects &gt; Addresses</b> and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the object, for example, nat64_server_2. For <b>Type</b> , select <b>IP Netmask</b> and enter the IPv6 address of the IPv6 server (destination). This example uses 2001:DB8::2/64. NOTE: The source and destination must have the same netmask (prefix length). Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 6	Create the NAT64 rule.	1. 2. 3.	Select <b>Policies &gt; NAT</b> and click <b>Add</b> . On the <b>General</b> tab, enter a <b>Name</b> for the NAT64 rule, for example, nat64_ipv4_init. For <b>NAT Type</b> , select <b>nat64</b> .

conngt			
Step 7	Specify the original source and destination information, and create a service to limit the translation to a single ingress port number.	Formula           2.         Sel           3.         Formula           4.         En           5.         Sel           6.         Formula           7.         Clin           3.         Formula           6.         Formula           7.         Clin           8.         Formula           9.         Formula           9.         Formula	r the <b>Original Packet</b> , <b>Add</b> the <b>Source Zone</b> , likely an untrust ne. lect the <b>Destination Zone</b> , likely a trust or DMZ zone. r <b>Service</b> , select <b>New Service</b> . leter a <b>Name</b> for the Service, such as Port_8080. lect <b>TCP</b> as the <b>Protocol</b> . r <b>Destination Port</b> , enter 8080. ck <b>OK</b> to save the Service. r <b>Source Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> or <b>Add</b> the address object for e IPv4 host. r <b>Destination Address</b> , <b>Add</b> the address object for the IPv4 estination, in this example, nat64_ip4server.
Step 8	Specify the translated packet information.	<ol> <li>Fo: obj</li> <li>Fo: obj</li> <li>Fo: Ad this ser</li> <li>Spo wh in t</li> <li>Cli</li> </ol>	r the Translated Packet, in the Source Address anslation, Translation Type, select Static IP. r Translated Address, select the source translated address ject you created, nat64_ip6source. r Destination Address Translation, for Translated dress, specify a single IPv6 address (the address object, in s example, nat64_server_2, or the IPv6 address of the rver). ecify the private destination Translated Port number to tich the firewall translates the public destination port number, this example, 80. ck OK.
Step 9	Create a security policy rule to allow the NAT traffic from the Untrust zone.	I.         Sel           2.         Sel           3.         Fo:           4.         Sel           5.         Fo:           6.         Cli	ect Policies > Security and Add a rule Name. ect Source and Add a Source Zone; select Untrust. r Source Address, select Any. ect Destination and Add a Destination Zone; select DMZ. r Actions, select Allow. ck OK.
Step 10	Commit.	Click <b>C</b>	ommit.
Step 11	Troubleshoot or view a NAT64 session.	> show	session id <session-id></session-id>

### Configure NAT64 for IPv4-Initiated Communication with Port Translation

# LACP

The firewall can now use Link Aggregation Control Protocol (LACP) to detect the physical interfaces between itself and a connected device (peer) and manage those interfaces as a single virtual interface (aggregate group). An aggregate group increases the bandwidth between peers. Enabling LACP provides redundancy within the group: the protocol automatically detects interface failures and performs failover to standby interfaces. Without LACP, you must manually identify interface failures occurring at layers above the physical or occurring between peers that are not directly connected.

The following Palo Alto Networks firewalls support LACP: PA-500, PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, PA-5000 Series, and PA-7050. The firewalls support LACP for HA3 (only on the PA-500, PA-3000 Series, PA-4000 Series, and PA-5000 Series), Layer 2, and Layer 3 interfaces.

The following topics describe LACP and how to configure it for aggregate groups:

- LACP Settings
- Configure LACP

## LACP Settings

To implement LACP, you must configure an aggregate group on each LACP peer that will use the protocol. Before you Configure LACP, determine the optimal settings for each peer, as described in the following topics:

- ▲ Mode
- Transmission Rate
- Fast Failover
- Port Priority and System Priority

#### Mode

In LACP active mode, a device actively searches the network for peers and queries their status (available or unresponsive). In passive mode, a device only responds to queries from an active peer. Between any two peers, it is recommended that one be active and the other passive. LACP cannot function if both peers are passive.

#### **Transmission Rate**

You can configure a device to detect the state (available or unresponsive) of peers and individual interfaces at fast (every second) or slow (every 30 seconds) intervals. When the device does not receive an LACP update from the peer within a period that is three times the transmission rate (3 seconds or 90 seconds), it flags the peer as unresponsive. Therefore, set the transmission rate according to how much LACP processing your network can support and how quickly a device should detect and resolve interface failures.

For example, in a network where peers have many redundant links, a single interface failure would not disrupt traffic. In this case, a slow rate would suffice for detecting failures and would avoid the extra processing associated with the fast rate. If the network can support the extra processing and requires high availability (for example, datacenters supporting critical business operations), a fast transmission rate would enable the firewall to substitute failed interfaces quicker.



If devices have different transmission rates, each uses the rate of its peer.

### Fast Failover

When an interface goes down, it fails over to a standby interface. The IEEE 802.1ax standard that defines LACP specifies a failover process that takes at least three seconds. For networks that require quicker failover, the firewall provides an option that performs fast failover within one second. This option is recommended for deployments in which critical data might be lost during the standard failover interval. For example, if the amount of traffic between peers is close to the maximum that the active interfaces can support and one interface fails, the risk of data being lost while a standby interface becomes active is significantly less for fast failover than for standard failover.



Because both peers perform failover when an interface goes down, it is recommended that you configure fast failover on both so that they complete the process within the same time frame.

### Port Priority and System Priority

When you configure an aggregate group, the **Max Ports** parameter determines how many interfaces can be active at any given time. If the number of interfaces you assign to the group exceeds the **Max Ports**, the remaining interfaces are in standby mode. If an active interface fails, a standby interface becomes active. LACP uses the **LACP Port Priority** assigned to each interface to determine which interfaces are initially active and to determine the order in which standby interfaces become active upon failover. (You set port priorities when configuring individual interfaces, not when configuring the aggregate group.)



It is recommended that you assign a unique priority number to each interface in an aggregate group. However, if multiple interfaces have the same priority number, the interface with the lowest port number has the highest priority.

To enable LACP between two peers, each requires an aggregate group configuration. If the port priority values for the member interfaces differ in each peer, the values of the peer with the higher **System Priority** will override the other peer in determining active and standby interfaces.

For port and system priorities, the priority level is the inverse of its numerical value: a priority of 1 designates the highest priority level; a value of 65535 designates the lowest priority level. The default is 32768.

The following figure shows an aggregate group instance configured on a firewall and on a switch. The group has four interfaces and the **Max Ports** parameter is set to three. That means three interfaces are active and one is standby. The firewall administrator assigned port priorities 12, 64, 128, and 258 to the interfaces. The switch administrator assigned port priorities 22, 54, 158, and 228 to the interfaces. LACP uses the port priorities of the firewall instance because the **System Priority** of the firewall is higher than that of the switch.

#### Figure: LACP System Priority



It is a best practice to assign a unique system priority to each peer. However, in some cases, peers might have the same value. This could happen if a different administrator configured the aggregate group on each peer. In such cases, the peer for which the *system ID* is a lower numerical value will override the other peer with respect to port priorities. LACP automatically derives the system ID from the system priority and system MAC address. A numerically lower MAC address produces a numerically lower system ID.

The following figure shows the same peers as in Figure: LACP System Priority but with identical system priorities. In this case, LACP uses the system IDs to determine port prioritization: the switch overrides the firewall.



#### Figure: LACP System ID

Firewalls in a high availability (HA) pair have the same system priority value. However, in an active/passive deployment, the system ID for each can be the same or different, depending on whether you assign the same MAC address. (Firewalls in an active/active deployment require unique MAC addresses so PAN-OS automatically assigns them.) When the LACP peers (also in HA mode) are virtualized (appearing to the network as a single device), selecting the **Same System MAC Address for Active-Passive HA** option for the firewalls is a best practice to minimize latency during failover. When the LACP peers are not virtualized, using the unique MAC address of each firewall is the best practice to minimize failover latency. In the latter case, if the HA firewall pair and the LACP peer devices all have the same system priority but each firewall in the HA pair has a unique system ID, one firewall might have a lower system ID than the LACP peers while the other firewall has a higher system ID than the LACP peers and the firewall has a higher system the LACP peers and the firewall that becomes active.

# **Configure LACP**

Before starting this procedure:

- Determine which physical interfaces connect the LACP peers. This procedure assumes the cabling is complete.
- Determine the optimal LACP Settings for the peers.



This procedure only covers the configuration steps for an LACP peer that is a Palo Alto Networks firewall. Other devices have proprietary methods for configuring LACP.

Perform the following steps to configure LACP on a firewall. In a high availability deployment, configure the primary (for active/active) or active (for active/passive) firewall; the secondary or passive firewall automatically synchronizes with it.

Config	ure LACP		
Step 1	Add an aggregate group with LACP enabled.	1.	Select Network > Interfaces > Ethernet and click Add Aggregate Group.
		2.	In the field adjacent to the read-only <b>Interface Name</b> , enter a number (1-8) to identify the group.
		3.	For the Interface Type, select HA, Layer 2, or Layer 3.
			Only select <b>HA</b> if the interface is an HA3 link between two firewalls in an active/active deployment.
		4.	On the LACP tab, select Enable LACP.
		5.	For the LACP <b>Mode</b> , select whether the firewall is <b>Passive</b> (default) or <b>Active</b> .
		6.	For the $\ensuremath{Transmission}$ Rate, select $\ensuremath{Fast}$ or $\ensuremath{Slow}$
		7.	If desired, select <b>Fast Failover</b> (under one second) for when interfaces go down. Otherwise, the standard failover (at least three seconds) applies.
		8.	Enter a <b>System Priority</b> number (1-65535, default 32768) that determines whether the firewall or peer overrides the other with respect to port priorities. Note that the lower the number, the higher the priority.
		9.	For the <b>Max Ports</b> , enter the number of interfaces (1-8) that are active. The value cannot exceed the number of interfaces you assign to the group. If the number of assigned interfaces exceeds the number of active interfaces, the remaining interfaces will be in standby mode.
		10.	By default, each firewall in an HA pair has a unique MAC address. A <b>Same System MAC Address for Active-Passive HA</b> configuration is recommended only when the LACP peers are virtualized (appearing to the network as a single device). In such cases, select the check box and select the system-generated <b>MAC</b> <b>Address</b> , or enter your own. You must verify the address is globally unique.
			If the firewalls are not in active/passive HA mode, PAN-OS ignores your selections for these fields. Firewalls in an active/active deployment require unique MAC addresses so PAN-OS automatically assigns them. If the <b>Interface Type</b> is <b>HA</b> , these fields do not appear.
		11.	Click <b>OK</b> .

<ul> <li>Step 2 Assign interfaces to the aggregate group.</li> <li>Perform the following steps for each physical interface (1-8) i belong to the aggregate group.</li> <li>During normal operations, assign more than one int You would only assign a single interface if a troublesl procedure requires it.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces and select the interface a must be the same type (HA, Layer 2, or Layer 3) as the aggregate group.</li> <li>Change the Interface Type to Aggregate Ethernet.</li> <li>Select the Aggregate Group you just defined.</li> <li>Select the Ink Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It is practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interfaces in the group. For non-matching values, the coor operation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to thigher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768), number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Ports you configured for the group, the port priorities detern which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the m value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Features column displays a green icon aggregate group.</li> <li>Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface.</li> <li>Selet Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Confie edit the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>For the HA3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.<th>Config</th><th>ure LACP (Continued)</th><th></th><th></th></li></ul>	Config	ure LACP (Continued)		
<ul> <li>During normal operations, assign more than one int You would only assign a single interface if a troublest procedure requires it.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces and select the interface n must be the same type (HA, Layer 2, or Layer 3) as the aggregate group.</li> <li>Change the Interface Type to Aggregate Ethernet.</li> <li>Select the Aggregate Group you just defined.</li> <li>Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It i practice to set the same link speed and duplex values fe interface in the group. For non-matching values, the co- operation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to 1 higher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65335, default 32768), number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Ports you configured for the group, the port priorities detern which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the m value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group.</li> <li>Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces a the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs fo LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>For the HA3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.</li> </ul>	Step 2	Assign interfaces to the aggregate group.	Per: belo	form the following steps for each physical interface (1-8) that will ong to the aggregate group.
<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces and select the interface n must be the same type (HA, Layer 2, or Layer 3) as the aggregate group.</li> <li>Change the Interface Type to Aggregate Ethernet.</li> <li>Select the Aggregate Group you just defined.</li> <li>Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It i practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interfaces are active or standby. The lower the m which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the m value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Gaures column displays an LACP enable for the group. Indicating that all member interfaces are down.</li> <li>If the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface is of the magregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> </ol>			n	During normal operations, assign more than one interface. You would only assign a single interface if a troubleshooting procedure requires it.
<ul> <li>Change the Interface Type to Aggregate Ethernet.</li> <li>Select the Aggregate Group you just defined.</li> <li>Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It is practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interface in the group. For non-matching values, the cooperation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to thigher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768), number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Porter you configured for the group, the port priorities detern which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the m value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enabl for the aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface.</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> </ul>			1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and select the interface name. It must be the same type (HA, Layer 2, or Layer 3) as the aggregate group.
<ul> <li>3. Select the Aggregate Group you just defined.</li> <li>4. Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It is practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interface in the group. For non-matching values, the cooperation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to thigher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>5. Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768). number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Porter you configured for the group, the port priorities determ which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the mixelue, the higher the priority.</li> <li>6. Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>7. Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>7. Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>1. Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>7. Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces are the icon is yellow, it least one member is down but not the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>8. If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface.</li> <li>8. Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>9. Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Configured.</li> </ul>			2.	Change the Interface Type to Aggregate Ethernet.
<ul> <li>4. Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It is practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interface in the group. For non-matching values, the cooperation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to thigher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>5. Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768). number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Porter you configured for the group, the port priorities determ which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the nu value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>6. Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>1. Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>2. Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is yellow, at least one for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface is the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>Step 4 interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> </ul>			3.	Select the <b>Aggregate Group</b> you just defined.
<ul> <li>practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for interface in the group. For non-matching values, the cooperation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to thigher speed and full duplex.</li> <li>Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768). number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Ports you configured for the group, the port priorities determ which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the mixeline the higher the priority.</li> <li>Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces are active is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is yellow.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface set the forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> </ul>			4.	Select the Link Speed, Link Duplex, and Link State. It is a best
<ul> <li>5. Enter an LACP Port Priority (1-65535, default 32768). number of interfaces you assign exceeds the Max Ports you configured for the group, the port priorities detern which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the nu value, the higher the priority.</li> <li>6. Click OK and Commit.</li> <li>7. Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>2. Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group.</li> <li>3. Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>4. If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface is the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>7. Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>7. Step 4 Ha3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.</li> </ul>				practice to set the same link speed and duplex values for every interface in the group. For non-matching values, the commit operation displays a warning and PAN-OS defaults to the higher speed and full duplex.
6. Click OK and Commit.         Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.         1. Select Network > Interfaces > Ethernet.         2. Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group.         3. Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.         4. If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor > Logs > System and review the logs fo LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface :         Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.       1. Select Device > High Availability > Active/Active Confied the Packet Forwarding section.         2. For the HA3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.       2. For the aggregate group you configured.			5.	Enter an <b>LACP Port Priority</b> (1-65535, default 32768). If the number of interfaces you assign exceeds the <b>Max Ports</b> value you configured for the group, the port priorities determine which interfaces are active or standby. The lower the numeric value, the higher the priority.
<ol> <li>Step 3 Verify the status of the aggregate group.</li> <li>Select Network &gt; Interfaces &gt; Ethernet.</li> <li>Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group.</li> <li>Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs fo LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface :</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Configured.</li> </ol>			6.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .
<ul> <li>Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enable for the aggregate group.</li> <li>Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs fo LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface is edit the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> </ul>	Step 3	Verify the status of the aggregate group.	1.	Select Network > Interfaces > Ethernet.
<ul> <li>3. Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces at the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not the icon is red, all members are down.</li> <li>4. If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs fo LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface interfac</li></ul>			2.	Verify that the Features column displays an LACP enabled icon for the aggregate group.
<ul> <li>4. If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow select Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System and review the logs for LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface = 1. Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Confiered the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>2. For the HA3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.</li> </ul>			3.	Verify that the Link State column displays a green icon for the aggregate group, indicating that all member interfaces are up. If the icon is yellow, at least one member is down but not all. If the icon is red, all members are down.
<ul> <li>Step 4 (Optional) If you selected HA as the Interface Type for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li> <li>Select Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Confident edit the Packet Forwarding section.</li> <li>For the HA3 Interface, select the aggregate group you configured.</li> </ul>			4.	If the Link State icon for the aggregate group is yellow or red, select <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; System</b> and review the logs for the LACP subtype to investigate the causes of the interface failures.
<ul><li>enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.</li><li>2. For the HA3 linterface, select the aggregate group you configured.</li></ul>	Step 4	(Optional) If you selected <b>HA</b> as the <b>Interface Type</b> for the aggregate group, enable forwarding of packets over the HA3 link.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; High Availability &gt; Active/Active Config</b> and edit the Packet Forwarding section.
			2.	For the <b>HA3 Interface</b> , select the aggregate group you configured.
3. Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .			3.	Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .

# Policy

Policies allow you to enforce rules and take action. The different types of policy rules that you can create on the firewall are: Security, NAT, Quality of Service (QoS), Policy Based Forwarding (PBF), Decryption, Application Override, Captive Portal, Denial of Service (DoS), and Zone protection policies. All these different policies work together to allow, deny, prioritize, forward, encrypt, decrypt, make exceptions, authenticate access, and reset connections as needed to help secure your network. The following topics describe how to work with policy:

- ▲ Policy Types
- Security Policy
- ▲ Policy Objects
- ▲ Security Profiles
- ▲ Enumeration of Rules Within a Rulebase
- ▲ Use Tags to Visually Distinguish Objects
- ▲ Tips and Tricks for Searching for Objects in Security Policy
- ▲ Use a Dynamic Block List in Policy
- ▲ Register IP Addresses and Tags Dynamically
- ▲ Monitor Changes in the Virtual Environment
- ▲ CLI Commands for Dynamic IP Addresses and Tags
- ▲ Policy-Based Forwarding
- ▲ DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions

# **Policy Types**

The Palo Alto Networks next-generation firewall supports a variety of policy types that work together to safely enable applications on your network.

Policy Type	Description
Security	Determine whether to block or allow a session based on traffic attributes such as the source and destination security zone, the source and destination IP address, the application, user, and the service. For more details, see Security Policy.
NAT	Instruct the firewall which packets need translation and how to do the translation. The firewall supports both source address and/or port translation and destination address and/or port translation. For more details, see NAT.
QoS	Identify traffic requiring QoS treatment (either preferential treatment or bandwidth-limiting) using a defined parameter or multiple parameters and assigns it a class. For more details, see Quality of Service.
Policy Based Forwarding	Identify traffic that should use a different egress interface than the one that would normally be used based on the routing table. For details, see Policy-Based Forwarding.
Decryption	Identify encrypted traffic that you want to inspect for visibility, control, and granular security. For more details, see Decryption.
Application Override	Identify sessions that you do not want processed by the App-ID engine, which is a Layer-7 inspection. Traffic matching an application override policy forces the firewall to handle the session as a regular stateful inspection firewall at Layer-4. For more details, see Manage Custom or Unknown Applications.
Captive Portal	Identify traffic that requires the user to be known. The captive portal policy is only triggered if other User-ID mechanisms did not identify a user to associate with the source IP address. For more details, see Captive Portal.
DoS Protection	Identify potential denial-of-service (DoS) attacks and take protective action in response to rule matches. DoS Protection Profile.

# **Security Policy**

Security policies protect network assets from threats and disruptions and aid in optimally allocating network resources for enhancing productivity and efficiency in business processes. On the Palo Alto Networks firewall, security policies determine whether to block or allow a session based on traffic attributes such as the source and destination security zone, the source and destination IP address, the application, user, and the service.

All traffic passing through the firewall is matched against a session and each session is matched against a security policy. When a session match occurs, the security policy is applied to bi-directional traffic (client to server and server to client) in that session. For traffic that doesn't match any defined rules, the default rules apply. The default rules—displayed at the bottom of the security rulebase—are predefined to allow all intrazone (within the zone) traffic and deny all interzone (between zones) traffic. Although these rules are part of the pre-defined configuration and are read-only by default, you can override them and change a limited number of settings, including the tags, action (allow or deny), log settings, and security profiles.

Security policies are evaluated left to right and from top to bottom. A packet is matched against the first rule that meets the defined criteria; after a match is triggered the subsequent rules are not evaluated. Therefore, the more specific rules must precede more generic ones in order to enforce the best match criteria. Traffic that matches a rule generates a log entry at the end of the session in the traffic log, if logging is enabled for that rule. The logging options are configurable for each rule, and can for example be configured to log at the start of a session instead of, or in addition to, logging at the end of a session.

- ▲ Components of a Security Policy Rule
- ▲ Security Policy Best Practices

# Components of a Security Policy Rule

The security policy rule construct permits a combination of the required and optional fields as detailed in the following tables:

- ▲ Required Fields
- Optional Fields

### **Required Fields**

Required Field	Description
Name	A label that supports up to 31 characters, used to identify the rule.
Rule Type	<ul> <li>Specifies whether the rule applies to traffic within a zone, between zones, or both:</li> <li>universal (default)—Applies the rule to all matching interzone and intrazone traffic in the specified source and destination zones. For example, if you create a universal role with source zones A and B and destination zones A and B, the rule would apply to all traffic within zone A, all traffic within zone B, and all traffic from zone A to zone B and all traffic from zone B to zone A.</li> </ul>
	• <b>intrazone</b> —Applies the rule to all matching traffic within the specified source zones (you cannot specify a destination zone for intrazone rules). For example, if you set the source zone to A and B, the rule would apply to all traffic within zone A and all traffic within zone B, but not to traffic between zones A and B.
	• <b>interzone</b> —Applies the rule to all matching traffic between the specified source and destination zones. For example, if you set the source zone to A, B, and C and the destination zone to A and B, the rule would apply to traffic from zone A to zone B, from zone B to zone A, from zone C to zone A, and from zone C to zone B, but not traffic within zones A, B, or C.
Source Zone	The zone from which the traffic originates.
Destination Zone	The zone at which the traffic terminates. If you use NAT, make sure to always reference the post-NAT zone.
Application	The application which you wish to control. The firewall uses App-ID, the traffic classification technology, to identify traffic on your network. App-ID provides application control and visibility in creating security policies that block unknown applications, while enabling, inspecting, and shaping those that are allowed.
Action	Specifies an <i>Allow</i> or <i>Deny</i> action for the traffic based on the criteria you define in the rule.

### **Optional Fields**

Optional Field	Description
Tag	A keyword or phrase that allows you to filter security rules. This is handy when you have defined many rules and wish to then review those that are tagged with a particular keyword, for example <i>Inbound to DMZ</i> .
Description	A text field, up to 255 characters, used to describe the rule.
Source IP Address	Define host IP or FQDN, subnet, named groups, or country-based enforcement. If you use NAT, make sure to always refer to the original IP addresses in the packet (i.e. the pre-NAT IP address).
Destination IP Address	The location or destination for the traffic. If you use NAT, make sure to always refer to the original IP addresses in the packet (i.e. the pre-NAT IP address).
User	The user or group of users for whom the policy applies. You must have User-ID enabled on the zone. To enable User-ID, see User-ID Overview.
URL Category	Using the URL Category as match criteria allows you to customize security profiles (antivirus, anti-spyware, vulnerability, file-blocking, Data Filtering, and DoS) on a per-URL-category basis. For example, you can prevent exe file download/upload for URL categories that represent higher risk while allowing them for other categories. This functionality also allows you to attach schedules to specific URL categories (allow social-media websites during lunch & after-hours), mark certain URL categories with QoS (financial, medical, and business), and select different log forwarding profiles on a per-URL-category-basis.
	Although you can manually configure URL categories on your device, to take advantage of the dynamic URL categorization updates available on the Palo Alto Networks firewalls, you must purchase a URL filtering license.
	To block or allow traffic based on URL category, you must apply a URL Filtering profile to the security policy rules. Define the URL Category as <i>Any</i> and attach a URL Filtering profile to the security policy. See Set Up Basic Security Policies for information on using the default profiles in your security policy and see Control Access to Web Content for more details.
Service	Allows you to select a Layer 4 (TCP or UDP) port for the application. You can choose <i>any</i> , specify a port, or use <i>application-default</i> to permit use of the standards-based port for the application. For example, for applications with well- known port numbers such as DNS, the <i>application-default</i> option will match against DNS traffic only on TCP port 53. You can also add a custom application and define the ports that the application can use. For inbound allow rules (for example, from untrust to trust), using <i>application-default</i> prevents applications from running on unusual ports and protocols. Application-default is the default option; while the device still checks for all applications on all ports with this configuration, applications are only allow the second
Security Profiles	applications on all ports, with this configuration, applications are only allowed on their standard ports/protocols.  Provide additional protection from threats, vulnerabilities, and data leaks. Security profiles are only evaluated for rules that have an <i>allow</i> action.
	only evaluated for fulls that have all anon action.

Optional Field	Description (Continued)
HIP Profile (for GlobalProtect)	Allows you to identify clients with Host Information Profile (HIP) and then enforce access privileges.
Options	Allow you to define logging for the session, log forwarding settings, change Quality of Service (QoS) markings for packets that match the rule, and schedule when (day and time) the security rule should be in effect.
# Security Policy Best Practices

The task of safely enabling Internet access and preventing misuse of web access privileges, and exposure to vulnerabilities and attacks is a continuous process. The key principle when defining policy on the Palo Alto Networks firewall is to use a positive enforcement approach. Positive enforcement implies that you selectively allow what is required for day-to-day business operations as opposed to a negative enforcement approach where you would selectively block everything that is not allowed. Consider the following suggestions when creating policy:

- □ If you have two or more zones with identical security requirements, combine them into one security rule.
- The ordering of rules is crucial to ensure the best match criteria. Because policy is evaluated top down, the more specific policy must precede the ones that are more general, so that the more specific rule is not *shadowed*. The term shadow refers to a rule that is not evaluated or is skipped because it is placed lower in the policy list. When the rule is placed lower, it is not evaluated because the match criteria was met by another rule that preceded it, thereby shadowing the rule from policy evaluation.
- To restrict and control access to inbound applications, in the security policy, explicitly define the port that the service/application will be listening on.
- Logging for broad allow rules—for example access to well known servers like DNS—can generate a lot of traffic. Hence it is not recommended unless absolutely necessary.
- By default, the firewall creates a log entry at the end of a session. However, you can modify this default behavior and configure the firewall to log at the start of the session. Because this significantly increases the log volume, logging at session start is recommended only when you are troubleshooting an issue. Another alternative for troubleshooting without enabling logging at session start is to use the session browser (Monitor > Session Browser) to view the sessions in real time.

# **Policy Objects**

A *policy object* is a single object or a collective unit that groups discrete identities such as IP addresses, URLs, applications, or users. With policy objects that are a collective unit, you can reference the object in security policy instead of manually selecting multiple objects one at a time. Typically, when creating a policy object, you group objects that require similar permissions in policy. For example, if your organization uses a set of server IP addresses for authenticating users, you can group the set of server IP addresses as an *address group* policy object and reference the address group in the security policy. By grouping objects, you can significantly reduce the administrative overhead in creating policies.

Policy Object	Description
Address/Address Group, Region	Allow you to group specific source or destination addresses that require the same policy enforcement. The address object can include an IPv4 or IPv6 address (single IP, range, subnet) or the FQDN. Alternatively, a region can be defined by the latitude and longitude coordinates or you can select a country and define an IP address or IP range. You can then group a collection of address objects to create an <i>address group</i> object. You can also use dynamic address groups to dynamically update IP addresses in environments where host IP addresses change frequently.
User/User Group	Allow you to create a list of users from the local database or an external database and group them.
Application Group and Application Filter	An <i>Application Filter</i> allows you to filter applications dynamically. It allows you to filter, and save a group of applications using the attributes defined in the application database on the firewall. For example, you can filter by one or more attributes—category, sub-category, technology, risk, characteristics—and save your application filter. With an application filter, when a PAN-OS content update occurs, any new applications that match your filter criteria are automatically added to your saved application filter. An <i>Application Group</i> allows you to create a static group of specific applications that you wish to group together for a group of users or for a particular service.
Service/Service Groups	Allows you to specify the source and destination ports and protocol that a service can use. The firewall includes two pre-defined services—service-http and service-https— that use TCP ports 80 and 8080 for HTTP, and TCP port 443 for HTTPS. You can however, create any custom service on any TCP/UDP port of your choice to restrict application usage to specific ports on your network (in other words, you can define the default port for the application). To view the standard ports used by an application, in <b>Objects &gt; Applications</b>
	search for the application and click the link. A succinct description displays.

You can create the following policy objects on the firewall:

# **Security Profiles**

While security policies enable you to allow or deny traffic on your network, security profiles help you define an *allow but scan* rule, which scan allowed applications for threats, such as viruses, malware, spyware, and DDOS attacks. When traffic matches the allow rule defined in the security policy, the security profile(s) that are attached to the rule are applied for further content inspection rules such as antivirus checks and data filtering.



Security profiles are not used in the match criteria of a traffic flow. The security profile is applied to scan traffic after the application or category is allowed by the security policy.

The firewall provides default security profiles that you can use out of the box to begin protecting your network from threats. See Set Up Basic Security Policies for information on using the default profiles in your security policy. As you get a better understanding about the security needs on your network, you can create custom profiles. See Scan Traffic for Threats for more information.

You can add security profiles that are commonly applied together to a security profile group; this set of profiles can be treated as a unit and added to security policies in one step (or included in security policies by default, if you choose to set up a default security profile group).

The following topics provide more detailed information about each type of security profile and how to set up a security profile group:

- Antivirus Profiles
- ▲ Anti-spyware Profiles
- Vulnerability Protection Profiles
- URL Filtering Profiles
- Data Filtering Profiles
- ▲ File Blocking Profiles
- ▲ DoS Protection Profile
- Zone Protection Profiles
- Security Profile Group

## Antivirus Profiles

Antivirus profiles protect against viruses, worms, and trojans as well as spyware downloads. Using a stream-based malware prevention engine, which inspects traffic the moment the first packet is received, the Palo Alto Networks antivirus solution can provide protection for clients without significantly impacting the performance of the firewall. This profile scans for a wide variety of malware in executables, PDF files, HTML and JavaScript viruses, including support for scanning inside compressed files and data encoding schemes. If you have enabled Decryption on the firewall, the profile also enables scanning of decrypted content.

The default profile inspects all of the listed protocol decoders for viruses, and generates alerts for SMTP, IMAP, and POP3 protocols while blocking for FTP, HTTP, and SMB protocols. Customized profiles can be used to minimize antivirus inspection for traffic between trusted security zones, and to maximize the inspection of traffic received from untrusted zones, such as the Internet, as well as the traffic sent to highly sensitive destinations, such as server farms.

The Palo Alto Networks WildFire system also provides signatures for persistent threats that are more evasive and have not yet been discovered by other antivirus solutions. As threats are discovered by WildFire, signatures are quickly created and then integrated into the standard antivirus signatures that can be downloaded by Threat Prevention subscribers on a daily basis (sub-hourly for WildFire subscribers).

## Anti-spyware Profiles

Anti-spyware profiles blocks spyware on compromised hosts from trying to phone-home or beacon out to external command-and-control (C2) servers, allowing you to detect malicious traffic leaving the network from infected clients. You can apply various levels of protection between zones. For example, you may want to have custom anti-spyware profiles that minimize inspection between trusted zones, while maximizing inspection on traffic received from an untrusted zone, such as Internet facing zones.

You can define your own custom Anti-spyware profiles, or choose one of the following predefined profiles when applying anti-spyware to a security policy:

- **Default**—Uses the default action for every signature, as specified by Palo Alto Networks when the signature is created.
- **Strict**—Overrides the default action of critical, high, and medium severity threats to the block action, regardless of the action defined in the signature file. This profile still uses the default action for medium and informational severity signatures.

In addition, you can enable the DNS Sinkholing action in anti-spyware profiles to enable the firewall to forge a response to a DNS query for a known malicious domain, causing the malicious domain name to resolve to an IP address that you define. This feature helps to identify infected hosts on the protected network using DNS traffic Infected hosts can then be easily identified in the traffic and threat logs because any host that attempts to connect to the sinkhole IP address are most likely infected with malware.

Anti-spyware and vulnerability protection profiles are configured similarly.

## **Vulnerability Protection Profiles**

Vulnerability protection profiles stop attempts to exploit system flaws or gain unauthorized access to systems. While anti-spyware profiles help identify infected hosts as traffic leaves the network, vulnerability protection profiles protect against threats entering the network. For example, vulnerability protection profiles help protect against buffer overflows, illegal code execution, and other attempts to exploit system vulnerabilities. The default vulnerability protection profile protects clients and servers from all known critical, high, and medium-severity threats. You can also create exceptions, which allow you to change the response to a specific signature.

## **URL Filtering Profiles**

URL Filtering profiles enable you to monitor and control how users access the web over HTTP and HTTPS. The firewall comes with a default profile that is configured to block websites such as known malware sites, phishing sites, and adult content sites. You can use the default profile in a security policy, clone it to be used as a starting point for new URL filtering profiles, or add a new URL profile that will have all categories set to allow for visibility into the traffic on your network. You can then customize the newly added URL profiles and add lists of specific websites that should always be blocked or allowed, which provides more granular control over URL categories.

## **Data Filtering Profiles**

Data filtering profiles prevent sensitive information such as credit card or social security numbers from leaving a protected network. The data filtering profile also allows you to filter on key words, such as a sensitive project name or the word confidential. It is important to focus your profile on the desired file types to reduce false positives. For example, you may only want to search Word documents or Excel spreadsheets. You may also only want to scan web-browsing traffic, or FTP.

You can use default profiles, or create custom data patterns. There are two default profiles:

- CC# (Credit Card)—Identifies credit card numbers using a hash algorithm. The content must match the hash algorithm in order for data to be detected as a credit card number. This method will reduce false positives.
- SSN# (Social Security Number)—Uses an algorithm to detect nine digit numbers, regardless of format. There are two fields: SSN# and SSN# (no dash).

#### Weight and Threshold Values

It is important to understand how the weight of an object (SSN, CC#, pattern) is calculated in order to set the appropriate threshold for a condition you are trying to filter. Each occurrence multiplied by the weight value will be added together in order to reach an action threshold (alert or block).

#### Example: Filter for Social Security Numbers Only

For simplicity, if you only want to filter files with Social Security Numbers (SSN) and you define a weight of 3 for SSN#, you would use the following formula: each instance of a SSN x weight = threshold increment. In this case, if a Word document has 10 social security numbers you multiply that by the weight of 3, so  $10 \times 3 = 30$ . In order to take action for a file that contains 10 social security numbers you would set the threshold to 30. You may want to set an alert at 30 and then block at 60. You may also want to set a weight in the field SSN# (no dash) for Social Security Numbers that do not contain dashes. If multiple settings are used, they will accumulate to reach a given threshold.

#### Example: Filter for Social Security Numbers and a Custom Pattern

In this example, we will filter on files that contain Social Security Numbers and the custom pattern confidential. In other words, if a file has Social Security Numbers in addition to the word confidential and the combined instances of those items hit the threshold, the file will trigger an alert or block, depending on the action setting.

SSN# weight = 3

Custom Pattern confidential weight = 20

The custom pattern is case sensitive.

If the file contains 20 Social Security Numbers and a weight of 3 is configured, that is  $20 \ge 3 = 60$ . If the file also contains one instance of the term confidential and a weight of 20 is configured, that is  $1 \ge 20$  for a total of 80. If your threshold for block is set to 80, this scenario would block the file. The alert or block action will be triggered as soon as the threshold is hit.

## **File Blocking Profiles**

The firewall uses file blocking profiles two ways: to forward files to WildFire for analysis or to block specified file types over specified applications and in the specified session flow direction (inbound/outbound/both). You can set the profile to alert or block on upload and/or download and you can specify which applications will be subject to the file blocking profile. You can also configure custom block pages that will appear when a user attempts to download the specified file type. This allows the user to take a moment to consider whether or not they want to download a file.

You can configure a file blocking profile with the following actions:

- Alert—When the specified file type is detected, a log is generated in the data filtering log.
- **Block**—When the specified file type is detected, the file is blocked and a customizable block page is presented to the user. A log is also generated in the data filtering log.
- **Continue**—When the specified file type is detected, a customizable response page is presented to the user. The user can click through the page to download the file. A log is also generated in the data filtering log. Because this type of forwarding action requires user interaction, it is only applicable for web traffic.
- Forward—When the specified file type is detected, the file is sent to WildFire for analysis. A log is also generated in the data filtering log.
- **Continue-and-forward**—When the specified file type is detected, a customizable continuation page is presented to the user. The user can click through the page to download the file. If the user clicks through the continue page to download the file, the file is sent to WildFire for analysis. A log is also generated in the data filtering log.

## **DoS Protection Profile**

DoS protection profiles provide detailed control for Denial of Service (DoS) protection policies. DoS policies allow you to control the number of sessions between interfaces, zones, addresses, and countries based on aggregate sessions or source and/or destination IP addresses. There are two DoS protection mechanisms that the Palo Alto Networks firewalls support.

- Flood Protection—Detects and prevents attacks where the network is flooded with packets resulting in too many half-open sessions and/or services being unable to respond to each request. In this case the source address of the attack is usually spoofed. See DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions.
- **Resource Protection** Detects and prevent session exhaustion attacks. In this type of attack, a large number of hosts (bots) are used to establish as many fully established sessions as possible to consume all of a system's resources.

You can enable both types of protection mechanisms in a single DoS protection profile.

The DoS profile is used to specify the type of action to take and details on matching criteria for the DoS policy. The DoS profile defines settings for SYN, UDP, and ICMP floods, can enable resource protect and defines the maximum number of concurrent connections. After you configure the DoS protection profile, you then attach it to a DoS policy.

When configuring DoS protection, it is important to analyze your environment in order to set the correct thresholds and due to some of the complexities of defining DoS protection policies, this guide will not go into detailed examples. For more information, refer to the Threat Prevention Tech Note.

## **Zone Protection Profiles**

Zone protection profiles provide additional protection between specific network zones in order to protect the zones against attack. The profile must be applied to the entire zone, so it is important to carefully test the profiles in order to prevent issues that may arise with the normal traffic traversing the zones. When defining packets per second (pps) thresholds limits for zone protection profiles, the threshold is based on the packets per second that do not match a previously established session. For more information, refer to the Threat Prevention Tech Note.

## Security Profile Group

A security profile group is a set of security profiles that can be treated as a unit and then easily added to security policies. Profiles that are often assigned together can be added to profile groups to simplify the creation of security policies. You can also setup a default security profile group—new security policies will use the settings defined in the default profile group to check and control traffic that matches the security policies by default. This allows you to consistently include your organization's preferred profile settings in new policies automatically, without administrators having to manually add them each time they create a new policy.

The following sections show how to create a security profile group and how to enable a profile group to be used by default in new security policies:

- ▲ Create a Security Profile Group
- ▲ Set Up or Override a Default Security Profile Group

### Create a Security Profile Group

Use the following steps to create a security profile group and add it to a security policy.

Create	a Security Profile Group				
Step 1	Create a security profile group.	1.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Security</b> security profile group.	<b>Profile Groups</b> and <b>Add</b> a	new
		2.	Give the profile group a d Threats.	escriptive <b>Name</b> , for exam	ple,
		3.	If the firewall is in Multipl profile to be <b>Shared</b> by all	e Virtual System Mode, en l virtual systems.	able the
		4.	Add existing profiles to th	e group.	
			Security Profile Group		0
			Name	Threats	
			Antivirus Profile	default	~
			Anti-Spyware Profile	strict	-
			Vulnerability Protection Profile	strict	~
			URL Filtering Profile	None	-
			File Blocking Profile	None	~
			Data Filtering Profile	None	-
				ОК Сапсе	
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the profil	e group.	

Create	a Security Profile Group		
Step 2	Add a security profile group to a security policy.	1. 2	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> or modify a security policy rule.
		3.	In the Profile Setting section, select <b>Group</b> for the <b>Profile Type</b> .
		4.	In the <b>Group Profile</b> drop-down, select the group you created (for example, select the Threats group): <b>Profile Setting</b>
			Profile Type     Group       Group Profile     Threats
		5.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the policy and <b>Commit</b> your changes.
Step 3	Save your changes.	Clic	ck Commit.

### Set Up or Override a Default Security Profile Group

Use the following options to set up a default security profile group to be used in new security policies, or to override an existing default group. When an administrator creates a new security policy, the default profile group will be automatically selected as the policy's profile settings, and traffic matching the policy will be checked according to the settings defined in the profile group (the administrator can choose to manually select different profile settings if desired). Use the following options to set up a default security profile group or to override your default settings.



If no default security profile exists, the profile settings for a new security policy are set to **None** by default.

<ol> <li>Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profile Groups</b> and Add a new security profile group.</li> </ol>
2. Give the profile group a descriptive <b>Name</b> , for example, Threats.
3. If the firewall is in Multiple Virtual System Mode, enable the profile to be <b>Shared</b> by all virtual systems.
<ol> <li>Add existing profiles to the group. For details on creating profiles, see Security Profiles.</li> </ol>
Security Profile Group
Name Threats
🗹 Shared
Antivirus Profile default
Anti-Spyware Profile strict
Vulnerability Protection Profile strict
URL Filtering Profile None
File Blocking Profile None
Data Filtering Profile None
OK Cancel
5. Click <b>OK</b> to save the profile group.
6. Add the security profile group to a security policy.
7. Add or modify a security policy rule and select the Actions
8. Select <b>Group</b> for the <b>Profile Type</b> .
<ol> <li>In the Group Profile drop-down, select the group you creat (for example, select the Threats group):</li> </ol>
Profile Setting
Profile Type Group
Group Profile Threats

Set Up or Override a Default Security Profile	e Group
• Set up a default security profile group.	<ol> <li>Select <b>Objects &gt; Security Profile Groups</b> and add a new security profile group or modify an existing security profile group.</li> </ol>
	2. <b>Name</b> the security profile group <i>default</i> :
	Security Profile Group
	Name default
	3. Click <b>OK</b> and <b>Commit</b> .
	4. Confirm that the <i>default</i> security profile group is included in new security policies by default:
	a. Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> and <b>Add</b> a new security policy.
	b. Select the <b>Actions</b> tab and view the <b>Profile Setting</b> fields:
	Profile Setting
	Profile Type Group
	Group Profile default
	By default, the new security policy correctly shows the <b>Profile Type</b> set to Group and the <i>default</i> <b>Group Profile</b> is selected.
• Override a default security profile group.	If you have an existing default security profile group, and you do not want that set of profiles to be attached to a new security policy, you can continue to modify the Profile Setting fields according to your preference. Begin by selecting a different Profile Type for your policy ( <b>Policies &gt; Security &gt; Security Policy Rule &gt; Actions</b> ).
• Override a default security profile group.	By default, the new security policy correctly shows the <b>Profile</b> set to Group and the <i>default</i> <b>Group Profile</b> is selected. If you have an existing default security profile group, and you d want that set of profiles to be attached to a new security policy can continue to modify the Profile Setting fields according to preference. Begin by selecting a different Profile Type for your p ( <b>Policies &gt; Security &gt; Security Policy Rule &gt; Actions</b> ).

# Enumeration of Rules Within a Rulebase

Each rule within a rulebase is automatically numbered and the ordering adjusts as rules are moved or reordered. When filtering rules to find rules that match the specified filter(s), each rule is listed with its number in the context of the complete set of rules in the rulebase and its place in the evaluation order.

On Panorama, pre-rules and post-rules are independently numbered. When rules are pushed from Panorama to a managed firewall, the rule numbering incorporates hierarchy in pre-rules, device rules, and post-rules within a rulebase and reflects the rule sequence and its evaluation order. The **Preview** option in Panorama offers an ordered list view of the total number of rules on a managed device.

#### View the Ordered List of Rules Within a Rulebase

• View the numbered list of rules on the firewall.

Select **Policies** and any rulebase under it. For example, **Policies > QoS**. The left-most column in the table displays the rule number.

	Virtual System	vsys1	<b>v</b>				
📟 Security	٩,						
∰≫ NAT							
Policy Based Forwarding		Name	Zone	Zone	Address	Application	Action
🔓 Decryption	1	allow RIP	any	🚧 Zone5	any	📰 rip	0
Application Override	2	allow BGP	any	🚧 Zone5	any	📰 bgp	0
DoS Protection	3	allow FTP	🚧 Zone5	🙀 Untrusted	any	📰 ftp	0
<b>G</b>	4	allow web-browsing	🚧 Zone5	🕅 Untrusted	any	📰 web-browsing	0

• View the numbered list of rules on Panorama.

Select Policies and any rulebase under it. For example, Policies > Security> Pre-rules.

▼ 📟 Security	*	٩.						11 item
Pre Rules								
Post Rules					-	-		
▼ B≫ NAT			Name	Location	Tags	Zone	Address	User
Pre Rules		1	allow RIP	Shared		any	any	any
Post Rules								
▼ 💑 QoS								
Pre Rules		-						
Post Rules		2	allow BGP	Shared		any	any	any
▼ Belicy Based Forwarding	=							
Pre Rules								
e Post Rules		3	Trusted 2 All	5050 vsvs1		600 DMZ	anv	anv
▼ 💣 Decryption		-				600 Taustan		
Pre Rules						Ma musteu		
Post Rules						Mini Untrusted		
Application Override		4	DMZ_2_Outside	5050_vsys1		🕅 Trusted	any	any
Pre Rules								
Post Rules	-	5	Internet_2_Trusted	5050_vsys1		(20) Internet	any	any
Pre Rules		6	DMZ_2_Trusted_DNS	5050_vsys1		pan DMZ	any	any
Post Rules	Ŧ	7	Internet_2_DMZ_svr	5050_vsys1		🕅 Internet	any	any
Addresses		8	allow FTP	5050_vsys1		🚧 Zone5	any	any
	X)	9	allow web-browsing	5050_vsys1		🕅 Zone5	any	any
Name Address		10	ssl permit	5050_vsys1		🕅 Zone5	any	any
Hunc		11	allow LDAP	5050_vsys1		🚧 Zone5	any	any

#### View the Ordered List of Rules Within a Rulebase (Continued)

• After you push the rules from Panorama, view the complete list of rules with numbers on the managed device.

From the web interface of the managed device, select **Policies** and pick any rulebase under it. For example, select **Policies > Security** and view the complete set of numbered rules that will be evaluated on the device.

	Virtual System	vsys1	~					
📟 Security	٩,							
₩ NAT								
🚴 QoS		Name	Zone	Zone	Address	Application	Action	Profile
Policy Based Forwarding		-llow DTD	20110	20110	Address		Action	Tronic
Application Override	1	allow RIP	any	pag Zone5	any	III rip	<b>e</b>	none
Sp Captive Portal	2	allow BGP	any	(M) Zone5	any	iii bgp	<b>e</b>	none
<b>EDoS Protection</b>	3	allow FTP	pm Zone5	(22) Untrusted	any	iii ftp	•	none
	4	allow web-browsing	🚧 Zone5	🚧 Untrusted	any	web-browsing	0	none
	5	ssl permit	🚧 Zone5	🕅 Untrusted	any	III ss	0	none
	6	allow LDAP	🕅 Zone5	🕅 Untrusted	any	📰 ldap	0	none
	7	tap_policy	🕅 Tap_zone	🕅 Tap_zone	any	any	0	
	8	vwire_pol	🚧 vWire_Trust	🕅 vWire_Untrust	any	any	0	
	9	Trusted_2_All	MZ DMZ	🕅 Internet	any	any	0	
			🕅 Trusted					
			🕅 Untrusted					
	10	DMZ_2_Outside	M Trusted	MZ DMZ	any	any	0	none
	1			🕅 Untrusted				
	11	temp UserID rule	(20) Trusted	(MZ	any	any	8	none
				(M) Untrusted				
	12	Internet_2_Trusted	(20) Internet	100 Trusted	5, 204, 43	📰 ms-rdp	0	none
	13	DMZ_2_Trusted_DNS	pag DMZ	M Trusted	5 40.40.40.9	any	ø	none
	14	Internet_2_DMZ_svr	🕅 Internet	DMZ	5.204.42	any	0	none
	15	post1	🕅 Zone5	🕅 Untrusted	any	🏢 ftp	0	none
	16	post2	🕅 Zone5	🕅 Internet	any	📰 tftp	0	none
	17	post3	🕅 Zone5	🕅 Untrusted	any	📰 ssl	0	none
	18	post4	(20) Trusted	20ne5	any	📰 dns	ø	none
	19	post5	20ne5	🕅 Internet	any	📰 ms-rdp	0	none
	20	allow cisco-nac	any	🕅 Zone5	any	📰 cisco-nac	0	none
	21	allow rtsp	any	🕅 Zone5	any	III rtsp	0	none
							_	

# Use Tags to Visually Distinguish Objects

You can tag objects and add color to the tag in order to visually distinguish tagged objects. Tags can be added to the following objects: address objects, address groups, zones, service groups, and policy rules.

The firewall and Panorama support both static tags and dynamic tags, dynamic tags are registered from a variety of sources and are not displayed with the static tags, because dynamic tags are not part of the device configuration. See Register IP Addresses and Tags Dynamically for information on registering tags dynamically. The tags discussed in this section are statically added and are part of the device configuration.

One or more tags can be applied to objects and to policy rules; a maximum of 64 tags can be applied to an object. Panorama supports a maximum of 10,000 tags that can be apportioned across Panorama (shared and device groups) and the managed devices (including devices with multiple virtual systems).

Tag Ob	jects		
Tag Ob Step 1	jects Create tags. To tag a zone, you must create a tag with the same name as the zone. When the zone is attached in policy rules, the tag color automatically displays as the background color against the zone name.	1. 2. 3. 4.	Select <b>Objects &gt; Tags</b> . On Panorama or a multiple virtual system firewall, select the <b>Device Group</b> or the <b>Virtual System</b> to which this object must belong. Click <b>Add</b> and enter a <b>Name</b> to identify the tag. The maximum length is 127 characters. (Optional) Select <b>Shared</b> to create the object in a shared location for access as a shared object in Panorama or for use across all virtual systems in a multiple virtual system firewall.
		5.	(Optional) Assign one of the 16 predefined colors to the tag. By default, no color is selected.
Step 2	View tags in policy.	1. 2. 3. Zone	Select Policies and any rulebase under it.         Click Add to create a policy rule and use the tagged objects you created in Step 1.         Verify that the tags are in use.         Source       Destination         User       Zone       Address         Application       Service         Service       Service         User       Zone       Address         Application       Service         Service       Service

Tag Objects (Continued)	
Step 3 Working with tags.	• Select <b>Objects &gt; Tags</b> to perform any of the following operations with tags:
	• Click the link in the <b>Name</b> column to edit the properties of a tag.
	• Select a tag in the table, and click <b>Delete</b> to remove the tag from the firewall.
	• Click <b>Clone</b> to create a duplicate tag with the same properties. A numerical suffix is added to the tag name. For example, FTP-1.
	• To apply a tag to an address object, address group, service or service group:
	<ul> <li>Create the object. Click Add. For example to create a service group, select Objects &gt; Service Groups &gt; Add.</li> </ul>
	• Select the tag(s) from the <b>Tag</b> drop-down or enter a phrase to create a new tag.
	To edit a tag or add color to the tag, select <b>Objects &gt;Tags</b> .

#### Policy

# Tips and Tricks for Searching for Objects in Security Policy

The policy filtering mechanism is a powerful tool for searching for objects in even the most complex security policy rulebase. The following topics show examples to help you learn to search the security policy rulebase (**Policies > Security**) efficiently so that you can streamline your management tasks:

- ▲ Search Security Policy Rules for Security Profiles
- ▲ Search for Disabled Rules in the Security Policy
- Search for Log Forwarding Details in Security Policy
- ▲ Search for Log Details in Security Policy
- ▲ Search for Scheduled Rules in Security Policy

### Search Security Policy Rules for Security Profiles

- ▲ Search for an Antivirus Profile
- Search for a Specific URL Filtering Profile
- ▲ Search for an Anti-Spyware Profile
- Search for a Vulnerability Protection Profile
- ▲ Search for a File Blocking Profile
- Search for a Data Filtering Profile

#### Search for an Antivirus Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/virus/member syntax to search for an Antivirus security profile. For example, suppose you have an Antivirus profile named **BlockAll** that you use to block viruses in all FTP, HTTP, IMAP, POP3, SMB, and SMTP application traffic. To search for all security policy rules that include this Antivirus profile you would enter the following search string in the filter text box on the **Policy** tab:

profile-setting/profiles/virus/member eq BlockAll



The search filter is case sensitive. Therefore, when filtering you must enter the object name exactly as it displays on the **Objects** tab. In this case, filtering on blockall or Blockall would not yield a match because the exact capitalization of the object is BlockAll.

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now only displays security policy rules with the BlockAll Antivirus security profile attached as follows:

profile-setting/profiles/virus/member e		er eq BlockAll				701						14940 - C	
Name	Тад	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options	
HILS Web-Browsing	Lync ERP-CRM	Lync pog Trust any ERP-CRM		PR Trust any S pancademo/account operat	pancademo\account operators     pancademo\finance	any	ស្រឡ Untrust	Server 1	Webmail	any	۲	9000G	
				2 pancademo gary.stevenson			Sig misc Sig test	III freegate III ssl III web-browsing			Antivirus Prof	iles: BlockAll	
iharepoint access to	none	any	any	pancademo\finance     steve	any	any	any	sharepoint-c	any	٥	<b>3006</b> A		
krowsing	none	(10) Trust	any	🕵 pancademo \administrators	any	(20) Untrust	any	📰 ssl 🔝 web-browsing	any	۲	8000		
estrule	none	(22) Trust	any	g pancademo \alida.hale g pancademo \finance	any	(X) Untrust	any	google-docs	any	0	9000		
llow Google docs to	none	(PR) Trust	any	g pancademo\administrators g pancademo\carlton.stever	any	pilit Untrust	any	google-docs	any	۲	<b>9</b> 0		
dfsd	none	PR DC-DMZ	any	9 pancademo\alida.hale 8 pancademo\marketing	any	1991 DC-Database	any	Google-docs	🗶 application-d	٥	9000.		
Vert all but block bad	none	(PR) Trust-L3	any	<ul> <li>g pancademo \andy.miller</li> <li>g pancademo \finance</li> <li>g pancademo \steven.sharma</li> </ul>	any	(M) Untrust-L3	any	G facebook-apps	any	0	9 <b>00</b> 6		
Demo	none	(PR) Trust-L3	any	any	any	pag Untrust-L3	any	proxy	any	0	80006		
Safe p2p	none	FER Trust-L3	any	g pancademo\adam.johnson g pancademo\domain admins	any	pag Untrust-L3	any	🙀 safe filesharing	any	0	9000G		
ifep2p	none	pag Trust-L3	any	g pancademo \adam.johnson g pancademo \administrators	any	(M) Untrust-L3	any	🕞 sfp2papps1	any	0	<b>9000</b>		

### Search for a Specific URL Filtering Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/url-filtering/member syntax to search for an antivirus security profile. For example, to search for all security policy rules that have a URL Filtering profile named **block malware**, you would enter the following search string in the filter text box:

profile-setting/profiles/url-filtering/member eq "block malware"



In this case, because the profile name contains a space, you must enclose the name in quotation marks in order for the filter to match policy rules with the block malware URL Filtering profile attached.

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now only displays security policy rules with the block malware URL Filtering security profile attached as follows:

rity	profile-sett	ng/profiles/uni-filtering	pinember eq "block maiv	vare"									
y Based Forwarding	Name	Tag	Zane	Address	Use	HIP Profile	Zure	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Option
yption Ication Override Itve Portal Protection	within a	rane.	tal oc ow.	#14	S pancademo jakoa, haie S pancademo (marketing)	any	pag CC Combane	a11	Confection pos.	X appication d.,	Ø	999 <b>9</b>	12
	facebook :	none	PR Trust	intry :	arty	any	pre universite	any .	The facebook-base	aty	0	20333	P2

### Search for an Anti-Spyware Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/spyware/member syntax to search for an Anti-Spyware security profile. For example, to search for all security policy rules that have the **default** Anti-Spyware security profile attached, you would enter the following search string in the filter text box:

profile-setting/profiles/spyware/member eq default

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now only displays security policy rules with the default Anti-Spyware security profile attached as follows:

Security	profile-setting/pro	files/spyware/m	mber eg default										
B+ HAT								Destination					
Policy Based Forwarding	Name	Tag	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Optons
Construction	Pacebook Miking	none	(RR) Trust	Sig test1	🤹 pancademo (marketing	any	for Untrust	Sig Voa	III 3c-enterprise	<b>X</b> 55H	0	9000	
Captive Portal					S pancademojwendy.llynn				Cacebook base	2 service-http		Anti-Spy	ware Profiles: defaul
	Peer in Peer Applicati	LINC BRI-COM	jih Trust	C 335.64 (1.0-35.	percadeno jadinstitutator percadeno jadinstitutator percadeno jatinstitutiono percadeno jatinstitutiono percadeno jatine percadeno jatine	ntoje m41	ATY	ary .	Chronypated Tu- Generag Proor Ju Peor Process Frances frances	497		0049	
	nd(2)	Lane BRP-CRM	jõi Trust	att.64.0-m.	<ul> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> <li>pancademo (administrator)</li> </ul>	ntste ur er	arr.	879	Branpted Tu.     Genrg     Genrg     Poor As Prov     Arnes     facebook     Genracity     critrative tap     mortu.	any.	0	4049	D.
	Sharma 1	none	prog CHKZ	any	g pancademo'steven.sharina	any	any	any.	Extorrent	arty	0	6500	
	facebook -test	none	(RR) Trust	any	S pancademo (marketing	any	(22) Untrust	any	inkedn-base	any	0	8033	
	12432	none	(#8 Management	0179	g pancademol/as operators	arry	(12) Unimust	10719	🕞 storage	🗶 application-d	0	0000	

### Search for a Vulnerability Protection Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/vulnerability/member syntax to search for a Vulnerability Protection security profile. For example, to search for all security policy rules that have the **strict** Vulnerability Protection security profile attached, you would enter the following search string in the filter text box:

```
profile-setting/profiles/vulnerability/member eq strict
```

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now only displays security policy rules with the strict Vulnerability Protection security profile attached as follows:

paloalto	Dashboard	ACC	Menitor	Policies Ob	ecis Network	Device								
Security	profile-setting/or	: files vuinerabili	ly/memiber eq strict											
da quá					Source			Destrution						-
Polcy Based Forwarding	Nome	Tag	Zone	Address	Uter	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Servce	Action	Profile	Options	
G Decrypton III Application Override Captive Portal Front Service Inc.	Seturing yordes	rane	pit Trat	879	81Y	199	In Lintust	any	🕞 finlang-o.	R application of	0	Vulner	ability Protectio	n Profiles: strict

### Search for a File Blocking Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/file-blocking/member syntax to search for a File Blocking security profile. For example, suppose you created a File Blocking profile named Wildfire that you will use to forward all PE files to WildFire for analysis. You can quickly verify that all security policy rules have the File Blocking profile attached by searching for all security policy rules that have the **Wildfire** File Blocking security profile attached by entering the following search string in the filter text box:

profile-setting/profiles/file-blocking/member eq Wildfire

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now displays all security policy rules that have the Wildfire File Blocking security profile attached as follows:

paloalto	Dashboa	DOA br	Monitor	Policies Ob	ects Network Device		_	_			_		_
Security	profile-setter	gprofiles/file-blocking/me	nber eq Wildfre										
S NAT													
Policy Based Forwarding	Name	Tag	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options
di Decryption	Enabler App	App Dependency	pag Trust	eny	g pancademolipil.amith g pancademolidisadmins	any	any	any	ttp	🌟 ftp-2121	0		
DoS Protection					9 pancadeno (james.adama 9 pancadeno (narketing)							File Blocking Pro	ne: Wildhre
	Safe p2p	none	pag Trust-L3	any	9 pancateno/adam.johnson gi pancateno/domain admini	any.	for untrust-LS	any	🔯 safe flesharing	1 mil	0	80300A	Lin .
	facebook2	none	(R) Trust	any	🥵 pancademo (administrators	any .	play Trust	any	Tacebook-base	🔆 service-http:	0	00301	
	sfep3p	none	pag Trust-CD	arry.	g pancademo (adam. johnson g pancademo (adaministrators)	arry .	pag Untrust-C3	any	The stoleneous t	any	0	65555C6	60

### Search for a Data Filtering Profile

Use the profile-setting/profiles/data-filtering/member syntax to search for security policy rules that have a specific Data Filtering security profile attached. For example, suppose you created a Data Filtering profile named **credit cards**. You can search for all security policy rules have this profile attached by searching for all security policy rules that have the **credit cards** Data Filtering security profile attached by entering the following search string in the filter text box:

profile-setting/profiles/data-filtering/member eq "credit cards"

Notice once again that the profile name must be enclosed in quotation marks because it contains a space.

After applying the search filter, the rulebase now displays only security policy rules that have the credit cards Data Filtering security profile attached as follows:

palo <mark>alto</mark>	Dashboard	ACC	Monitor	Policies 0t	jects Network Device								
Security	profile setting/p	rofileo/dala filerir	ghenber og "oredt os	rda"				100 M Pr. 7 March					
da Quá	News	Ter	200	Alter	South	100 Builts	200	Destration	Andralia	-		Bulle	Output
Beroldy Based Forwarding	Publica de prueba	oane	pre Usuality	any	g partusteno (na keting	801	prej billiones.	61Y	Chapters .	any	©	90a	
Captive Portal	test22	none	Fre Trust-13	<b>Q</b> , CH	S cancademi/ateven.alvama	any	any	any :	E bittorrent	🗶 telset-23	0	a	EA.
Dog Protection									p2pfiestring			Data Filtering Pr	rofile: credit cards

## Search for Disabled Rules in the Security Policy

If you want to get a quick view of all security rules that are currently disabled in your policy, you can display these by entering the following command on the search bar on the Security Policy:

disabled eq yes

Apple     Image     Top     Control     Control     PP Profile     Control     Address     <	Security Re NAT	deabled eq yes											
International of the second	Qc5	Name	Tag	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile
Adu2 Lync: P00 Than' P00 T	Corrybon E Application Diverside Captive Portal Elocitive Portal Elocit Protection	Peer to Peer Applicati	I JPE BRF CRM	ann 7nam	Q 200.64.0.9-00	Concostence Ladientativative     Sancostence Ladientativative     Sancostence Ladientative     Sancostence Ladientative     Sancostence Latieven: uterma     Sancostence Latieven: uterma	ng Asole III-Fi	-899	any.	Drangted Tu.,     Gamey     Gamey     Peer to Peer     Proses     facebook     an onlice.365,     unincum-tap     nore	any.		1012318
INDEX.		n.82	Lync ENP-CRPf	(D); Truat	<b>Q</b> 100.64.0.3-10.	<ul> <li>parcodero Jahrinabaltor</li> <li>parcodero Jarriz Jahimabaltor</li> <li>parcodero Jarriz Jahimabaltor</li> <li>parcodero Jarriz Jahimabaltor</li> <li>parcodero Jarriz Jahimabaltor</li> <li>parcodero Jahimabaltor</li> </ul>	C Mode IV A	arty.	any .	<ul> <li>Beryelad Tu.</li> <li>dealing</li> <li>Peer to Peer</li> <li>Protect</li> <li>Accetool.</li> <li>antification.</li> <li>antification.</li> <li>antification.</li> </ul>	any .		0.739

## Search for Log Forwarding Details in Security Policy

If you want to get a quick view of all security rules that are currently sending their logs using a particular log forwarding profile, you can filter the rulebase using the logsetting parameter. For example, to filter for all rules that are forwarding their logs using a log forwarding profile named **panorama**, you would enter the following command on the search bar on the **Policies > Security** page:

logsetting eq panorama



## Search for Log Details in Security Policy

If you want to get a quick view of all security rules that are currently sending logs, you can filter using the log-end and log-start filters. For example, to view all policy rules that generate logs at the end of a session, you can filter the rulebase using the following filter:

#### log-end eq yes

Secretz	log-endleg yes												
NAT	and a second state of the												
QoS Policy Based Forwarding	Name	Tag	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Frofile	Options
Jeoryptian	Abe Al	Fanorama	POR TAD	any .	any	any	pag Tap	any.	any	any -	0	8008	(AFG
oplication Override	Block Unsafe-Social Networking	Sodal Networking	(RE Trust	апу	arty	bity.	(#R Unitrial	any	Dittorrent	807	0	rane	
oS Protection									facebook-dept facebook-deat facebook-deal facebook-deal facebook-nal range-games				Traffic log sent at sessio
	Allow Safe Social Networking	Social Networking	<b>pog</b> Trust	any	🕵 pancadeno(marketing	DETY.	<b>jog</b> Unitrat	001	facebook-base facebook-pos. google-plue-b initeden-base penterest facereen-base	arry	ø	9093A	Ch.
	test policy for Al	none	pog Trust-E.3	any	S pancadeno jalce, chevaler S pancadeno (divance)	any	pitig Unitrust 4.3	any	facebook-mail	any	0	8039 <u>8</u> 3	9 G
	drap and leg	App Web App Office	(and DC-Application (and DC-Outstance	arry	🕵 pancadensi salamati sasena 🕵 pancadensi (finance	any	pq DC-Auduston	Scample	i sah web-browsing	🗶 tap 3295	9	3	8

Similarly, to view all policy rules that generate logs at the start and the end of a session, you can filter the rulebase as follows:

#### log-start eq yes

paloalto	Dashboard	ACC	Menter Po	ucies Object	ts Network Device									\$
Contraction	kg-start eq yes													
P NAT A Quis	1				tora		Oyet	neten						
Party Paice Based Fanwarding Cocrypton Application Duenide Cocrypton Cocryp	Powe my new webdra	Tag	Jone (KR Trust	Address mitt	Caer S powadenu/admitistraturo S powadenu/admitistraturo S powadenu/atever-sileme	HCP Profile	the web pict	Address = 7	Application	X servicinta X servicintas	Q.	Conte Conte	Traffic log sent	at session staff, and at session and

## Search for Scheduled Rules in Security Policy

If you want to get a quick view of all security rules that are set to be active based on a particular time schedule, such as during Lunch time, you can display these by entering the following command on the search bar on the **Policies > Security** page:

```
schedule eq "Lunch time"
```



The search field is case sensitive, so you must enter the object name exactly as it appears in the firewall configuration. In addition, you must enclose object names that contain a space in quotation marks.

oaloalto	Dashboa	rd ACC 1	Nonitor Poll	cles Objects	Network Device	1							
unty	schedule eq "Lu	1ch time"											
5	-				Sana		Dest	matori					
y Based Forwarding	Name	749	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Optons
aton aton Override	skype	App Officer	FIG THOM	Server-10.9.2	pancadeno juman guesta     gi pancadeno joster braut	C Han Second	pog Vrust. pog Unitest.	ary	HE CH N	any.	0	4399	
Portal													Schedule

# Use a Dynamic Block List in Policy

The firewall or Panorama typically enforce policy for a source or destination IP address that is defined as a static object on the firewall. If you need agility in enforcing policy for a list of source/destination IP addresses that emerge ad hoc, you can use dynamic block lists.

A dynamic block list is a text file that contains a list of IP addresses, IP ranges, or IP subnets, and is hosted on a web server. The dynamic block list can be used to deny or allow access to the IP addresses (IPv4 and IPv6) included in the list. For example, you can use it as a whitelist for allowing a set of IP addresses or as a blacklist to disallow access to the specified IP addresses. At a configured interval, the firewall dynamically imports the list and enforces policy for the IP addresses included in the list. When you modify the list, the firewall retrieves the updates; a configuration change or commit is not required on the firewall. If the web server is unreachable, the firewall or Panorama will use the last successfully retrieved list for enforcing policy until the connection is restored with the web server that hosts the list.

- ▲ View the IP Address Limit For Your Firewall Model
- Formatting Guidelines for Dynamic Block Lists
- ▲ Enforce Policy with a Dynamic Block List
- ▲ View the List of IP addresses in the Dynamic Block List
- Retrieve a Dynamic Block List from Web Server

## View the IP Address Limit For Your Firewall Model

Irrespective of the firewall model, each firewall supports a maximum of 10 Dynamic Block Lists.

To find the maximum number of addresses, address groups, and IP addresses per group, for your model of the firewall, use the following CLI command:

#### show system state | match cfg.general.max-address

For example:

admin@PA-7050> show system state | match cfg.general.max-address

cfg.general.max-address: 80000

cfg.general.max-address-group: 8000

cfg.general.max-address-per-group: 500



Each list can contain the maximum number of addresses supported by your firewall model minus 300. Up to 300 IP addresses are reserved for internal use on the firewall and are deducted from the available limit. Therefore, in the example above, the firewall can have a maximum of 79,700 IP addresses.

## Formatting Guidelines for Dynamic Block Lists

The dynamic block list can include individual IP addresses, subnet addresses (address/mask), or range of IP addresses. In addition, the block list can include comments and special characters such as \*, : , ; , #, or /. The syntax for each line in the list is [IP address, IP/Mask, or IP start range-IP end range] [space] [comment].

Because the firewall ignores incorrectly formatted lines, use these guidelines when defining the list:

- Enter each IP address/range/subnet in a new line; URLs are not supported in this list.
- If you add comments, the comment must be on the same line as the IP address/range/subnet. The space at the end of the IP address is the delimiter that separates a comment from the IP address.

An example:

```
192.168.20.10/32
2001:db8:123:1::1 #test IPv6 address
192.168.20.0/24 ; test internal subnet
2001:db8:123:1::/64 test internal IPv6 range
192.168.20.40-192.168.20.50
```



For an IP address that is blocked, you can display a notification page only if the protocol is HTTP.

## Enforce Policy with a Dynamic Block List

Enforce	e Policy with a Dynamic Block List		
Step 1	Create the dynamic block list and host it on a web server, so that the firewall can retrieve the list for policy evaluation.	1.	Create a text file and enter the IP addresses for which you want to enforce policy. For syntax, see Formatting Guidelines for Dynamic Block Lists.
Step 2	Create a dynamic block list object on the	1.	Select Objects > Dynamic Block Lists.
	firewall.	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter a descriptive <b>Name</b> for the list.
		3.	(Optional) Select <b>Shared</b> , to share the list with all virtual systems on a device that is enabled for multiple virtual systems. By default, the object is created on the virtual system that is currently selected in the <b>Virtual Systems</b> drop-down.
		4.	Enter the <b>Source</b> URL (hostname or IP address and the path) for the list you just created on the web server. For example, https://1.2.3.4/DBL_2014
		5.	Click <b>Test Source URL</b> to verify that the firewall or Panorama can connect to the web server.
		6.	(Optional) Specify the <b>Repeat</b> frequency at which the firewall or Panorama must retrieve the list. By default the list is retrieved ever hour.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.

Enforce	Policy with a Dynamic Block List		
Step 3	Use the dynamic block list as a source or destination address object in policy. Create separate dynamic block lists if you want to specify allow and deny actions for specific IP addresses. The list can be referenced in any policy type. In this example, we attach it as a destination object in security policy.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> <li>5.</li> <li>6.</li> </ol>	Select <b>Policies &gt; Security</b> . Click <b>Add</b> and give the rule a descriptive name in the <b>General</b> tab. In the <b>Source</b> tab, select the <b>Source Zone</b> . In the <b>Destination</b> tab, select the <b>Destination Zone</b> and select the dynamic block list as the Destination Address. In the <b>Service/URL Category</b> tab, make sure the <b>Service</b> is set to <b>application-default</b> . In the <b>Actions</b> tab, set the <b>Action Setting</b> to Allow or Deny.
		7. 8. 9.	Leave all the other options at the default values. Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes. <b>Commit</b> the changes.
Step 4	Test that the policy action is enforced.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>tes des pro</li> </ol>	Access a IP address that is included in the dynamic block list and verify that action you defined is enforced. Select <b>Monitor &gt; Logs &gt; Traffic</b> and see the log entry for the session. To verify the policy rule that matches a flow, use the following CLI command: t security-policy-match source <ip_address> tination <ip_address> destination port <port_number> tocol <protocol_number></protocol_number></port_number></ip_address></ip_address>

### View the List of IP addresses in the Dynamic Block List

To view the list of IP addresses that the firewall has retrieved from the web server enter the following CLI command: request system external-list show name <*name*>

For example, for a list named case DBL\_2014, the output is: vsys1/DBL\_2014: Next update at: Wed Aug 27 16:00:00 2014 IPs: 1.1.1.1 1.2.2.2/20 #test China 192.168.255.0; test internal 192.168.254.0/24 test internal range

## Retrieve a Dynamic Block List from Web Server

The firewall or Panorama can be configured to retrieve the list from the web server on an hourly, daily, weekly, or monthly basis. If you have added or deleted IP addresses on the list and need to trigger an immediate refresh, you must use the Command Line Interface.

Re	rieve a Dynamic Block List					
1.	Enter the command: request s	ystem exte	rnal-list refrea	sh name <i><na< i=""></na<></i>	me>	
	For example, request system	external-l	ist refresh name	DBL_2014		
2.	Get the job ID for the refresh jo	b using the	CLI command: sho	w jobs all		
	Look for the last EBL Refresh jo	b in the list.				
3.	View the details for the job ID.	Jse the com	mand show jobs i	d <number></number>		
	A message indicating the success	or failure d	isplays. For example			
	admin@PA-200> <b>show jobs</b>	s id 55				
	Enqueued	ID	Туре	Status Re	esult	Completed
	2014/08/26 15:34:14 Warnings: Details:	55	EBLRefresh	FIN	OK	15:34:40

# Register IP Addresses and Tags Dynamically

To mitigate the challenges of scale, lack of flexibility and performance, the architecture in networks today allows for clients, servers and applications to be provisioned, changed, and deleted on demand. This agility poses a challenge for security administrators because they have limited visibility into the IP addresses of the dynamically provisioned clients, servers and the plethora of applications that can be enabled on these virtual resources.

The firewall (hardware-based platforms and the VM-Series) supports the ability to register IP addresses and tags dynamically. The IP addresses and tags can be registered on the firewall directly or registered on the firewall through Panorama. This dynamic registration process can be enabled using any of the following options:

- User-ID agent for Windows—In an environment where you've deployed the User-ID agent, you can enable the User-ID agent to monitor up to 100 VMware ESXi and/or vCenter Servers. As you provision or modify virtual machines on these VMware servers, the agent can retrieve the IP address changes and share them with the firewall.
- VM Information Sources—Allows you to monitor VMware ESXi and vCenter Server, and the AWS-VPC to retrieve IP address changes when you provision or modify virtual machines on these sources. VM Information Sources polls for a predefined set of attributes and does not require external scripts to register the IP addresses through the XML API. See Monitor Changes in the Virtual Environment.
- VMware Service Manager (only available for the integrated NSX solution)—The integrated NSX solution is designed for automated provisioning and distribution of Palo Alto Networks next-generation security services and the delivery of dynamic context-based security policies using Panorama. The NSX Manager updates Panorama with the latest information on the IP addresses and tags associated with the virtual machines deployed in this integrated solution. For information on this solution, see Set Up a VM-Series NSX Edition Firewall.
- XML API—The firewall and Panorama support an XML API that uses standard HTTP requests to send and receive data. You can use this API to register IP addresses and tags with the firewall or Panorama. API calls can be made directly from command line utilities such as cURL or using any scripting or application framework that supports REST-based services. Refer to the PAN-OS XML API Usage Guide for details.

For information on creating and using Dynamic Address Groups, see Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy.

For the CLI commands for registering tags dynamically, see CLI Commands for Dynamic IP Addresses and Tags.

# Monitor Changes in the Virtual Environment

To secure applications and prevent threats in an environment where new users and servers are constantly emerging, your security policy must be nimble. To be nimble, the firewall must be able to learn about new or modified IP addresses and consistently apply policy without requiring configuration changes on the firewall.

This capability is provided by the coordination between the VM Information Sources and Dynamic Address Groups features on the firewall. The firewall and Panorama provide an automated way to gather information on the virtual machine (or guest) inventory on each monitored source and create policy objects that stay in sync with the dynamic changes on the network.

- ▲ Enable VM Monitoring to Track Changes on the Virtual Network
- ▲ Attributes Monitored in the AWS and VMware Environments
- ▲ Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy

## Enable VM Monitoring to Track Changes on the Virtual Network

VM information sources provides an automated way to gather information on the Virtual Machine (VM) inventory on each monitored source (host); the firewall can monitor the VMware ESXi and vCenter Server, and the AWS-VPC. As virtual machines (guests) are deployed or moved, the firewall collects a predefined set of attributes (or metadata elements) as tags; these tags can then be used to define Dynamic Address Groups (see Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy) and matched against in policy.

Up to 10 VM information sources can be configured on the firewall or pushed using Panorama templates. By default, the traffic between the firewall and the monitored sources uses the management (MGT) port on the firewall.



VM Information Sources offers easy configuration and enables you to monitor a predefined set of 16 metadata elements or attributes. See Attributes Monitored in the AWS and VMware Environmentsfor the list.

#### Set up the VM Monitoring Agent

Step 1 Enable the VM Monitoring Agent. 1. Select Device > VM Information Sources. 2. Click Add and enter the following information: Up to 10 sources can be configured for each firewall, or for • A Name to identify the VMware ESX(i) or vCenter Server each virtual system on a multiple that you want to monitor. virtual systems capable firewall. • Enter the Host information for the server—hostname or IP address and the Port on which it is listening. If your firewalls are configured in a high availability configuration: • Select the **Type** to indicate whether the source is a **VMware** • An active/passive setup, only the active ESX(i) server or a VMware vCenter Server. firewall monitors the VM sources. • Add the credentials (Username and Password) to An active/active setup, only the authenticate to the server specified above. firewall with the priority value of Use the credentials of an administrative user to enable access. primary monitors the VM sources. (Optional) Modify the Update interval to a value between ٠ 5-600 seconds. By default, the firewall polls every 5 seconds. The API calls are queued and retrieved within every 60 seconds, so updates may take up to 60 seconds plus the configured polling interval. VM Information Source Configuration 0 Name 10.5.124.5 Host 10.5,124.5 Description Port 443 C Enabled Type O VMware ESXi 
 VMware VCenter Username root Password .... Confirm Password Update Interval (sec) 10 Enable timeout when source is disconnected Timeout (hours) Cancel • (Optional) Enter the interval in hours when the connection to the monitored source is closed, if the host does not respond. (default: 2 hours, range 2-10 hours) To change the default value, select the check box to Enable timeout when the source is disconnected and specify the value. When the specified limit is reached or if the host cannot be accessed or does not respond, the firewall will close the connection to the source. • Click **OK**, and **Commit** the changes. • Verify that the connection **Status** displays as connected \_\_\_\_\_.

Set up the VM Monitoring Agent (Continued)		
Step 2	Verify the connection status.	Verify that the connection <b>Status</b> displays as connected.
### Attributes Monitored in the AWS and VMware Environments

Each VM on a monitored ESXi or vCenter server must have VMware Tools installed and running. VMware Tools provide the capability to glean the IP address(es) and other values assigned to each VM.

In order to collect the values assigned to the monitored VMs, the firewall monitors the following predefined set of attributes:

Attributes Monitored on a VMware Source	Attributes Monitored on the AWS-VPC
• UUID	Architecture
• Name	• Guest OS
• Guest OS	• Image ID
• VM State — the power state can be poweredOff, poweredOn, standBy, and unknown.	Instance ID
Annotation	Instance State
• Version	• Instance Type
Network — Virtual Switch Name, Port Group Name, and VLAN ID	• Key Name
Container Name —vCenter Name, Data Center Object Name, Resource Pool Name, Cluster Name, Host, Host IP address.	Placement—Tenancy, Group Name, Availability Zone
	Private DNS Name
	Public DNS Name
	• Subnet ID
	• Tag (key, value) (up to5 tags supported per instance
	• VPC ID

### Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy

Dynamic address groups are used in policy. They allow you to create policy that automatically adapts to changes—adds, moves, or deletions of servers. It also enables the flexibility to apply different rules to the same server based on *tags* that define its role on the network, the operating system, or the different kinds of traffic it processes.

A dynamic address group uses tags as a filtering criteria to determine its members. The filter uses logical *and* and *or* operators. All IP addresses or address groups that match the filtering criteria become members of the dynamic address group. Tags can be defined statically on the firewall and/or registered (dynamically) to the firewall. The difference between static and dynamic tags is that static tags are part of the configuration on the firewall, and dynamic tags are part of the runtime configuration. This implies that a commit is not required to update dynamic tags; the tags must however be used by Dynamic Address Groups that are referenced in policy, and the policy must be committed on the device.

To dynamically register tags, you can use the XML API or the VM Monitoring agent on the firewall or on the User-ID agent. Each tag is a metadata element or attribute-value pair that is registered on the firewall or Panorama. For example, IP1 {tag1, tag2,....tag32}, where the IP address and the associated tags are maintained as a list; each registered IP address can have up to 32 tags such as the operating system, the datacenter or the virtual switch to which it belongs. Within 60 seconds of the API call, the firewall registers the IP address and associated tags, and automatically updates the membership information for the dynamic address group(s).

Platform	Maximum number of dynamically registered IP addresses
PA-7050, PA-5060, VM-1000-HV	100,000
PA-5050	50,000
PA-5020	25,000
PA-4000 Series, PA-3000 Series	5000
PA-2000 Series, PA-500, PA-200, VM-300, VM-200, VM-100	1000

The maximum number of IP addresses that can be registered for each platform is different. Use the following table for specifics on your platform:

The following example shows how dynamic address groups can simplify network security enforcement. The example workflow shows how to:

- Enable the VM Monitoring agent on the firewall, to monitor the VMware ESX(i) host or vCenter Server and register VM IP addresses and the associated tags.
- Create dynamic address groups and define the tags to filter. In this example, two address groups are created. One that only filters for dynamic tags and another that filters for both static and dynamic tags to populate the members of the group.
- Validate that the members of the dynamic address group are populated on the firewall.
- Use dynamic address groups in policy. This example uses two different security policies:
  - A security policy for all Linux servers that are deployed as FTP servers; this rule matches on dynamically registered tags.

- A security policy for all Linux servers that are deployed as web servers; this rule matches on a dynamic address group that uses static and dynamic tags.
- Validate that the members of the dynamic address groups are updated as new FTP or web servers are deployed. This ensure that the security rules are enforced on these new virtual machines too.

Use Dy	namic Address Groups in Policy				
Step 1	Enable VM Source Monitoring.	See Net	Enable VM Monite twork.	oring to Track Changes or	ı the Virtual
Step 2	Create dynamic address groups on the firewall.  View the tutorial to see a big picture view of the feature.	Net 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	twork. Log in to the web Select <b>Object &gt; Ad</b> Click <b>Add</b> and enter group. Select <b>Type</b> as <b>Dyn</b> Define the match of as the match criter Click <b>Add Match C</b> select the attribute against. and then of Mame Description Type Match	interface of the firewall. Idress Groups. er a Name and a Descripting mamic. criteria. You can select dynamic criteria, and select the And es that you would like to fil click OK. webservers All linux web servers on the network Dynamic 'guestos.Ubuntu Linux 64-bit' and 'yumame.WebServer_Corp' or 'black'	on for the address amic and static tag rs of the group. or <b>Or</b> operator and ter for or match
			Tags	ок	Cancel
		6.	Click <b>Commit</b> .		

The match criteria for each dynamic address group in this example is as follows:

ftp\_server: matches on the guest operating system "Linux 64-bit" and annotated as "ftp" ('guestos.Ubuntu Linux 64-bit' and 'annotation.ftp').

web-servers: matches on two criteria—the tag black or if the guest operating system is Linux 64-bit and the name of the server us Web\_server\_Corp. ('guestos.Ubuntu Linux 64-bit' and 'vmname.WebServer\_Corp' or 'black')

Name 🗢	Location	Members Count	Addresses	Click to see
ftp_servers		dynamic	more	members/registered IP
Web_servers		dynamic	more	addresses

...

Use Dy	Use Dynamic Address Groups in Policy (Continued)					
Step 3	Use dynamic address groups in policy.	1.	Select Policies > Security.			
	View the tutorial.	2.	Click <b>Add</b> and enter a <b>Name</b> and a <b>Description</b> for the policy.			
Ο		3.	Add the <b>Source Zone</b> to specify the zone from which the traffic originates.			
		4.	Add the <b>Destination Zone</b> at which the traffic is terminating.			
		5.	For the <b>Destination Address</b> , select the Dynamic address group you created in Step 2 above.			
		6.	Specify the action— <b>Allow</b> or <b>Deny</b> —for the traffic, and optionally attach the default security profiles to the rule.			
		7.	Repeats Steps 1 through 6 above to create another policy rule.			
		8.	Click <b>Commit</b> .			

This example shows how to create two policies: one for all access to FTP servers and the other for access to web servers.

	Tags	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options
Access to web	servers	any	any	any	any	pol untrust	Web_servers	any	2 application-d	0	800	
Access to PTP	ber vers	any	any	any	any	føg untrust.	LSB ttp_servers	100 mp 100 μ	38 application d	0	909	(a)
Vali	date that	the men	nbers of t	he dynar	nic 1.	Select P	olicies >	Securit	<b>y</b> , and sel	ect the	rule.	
add	ress grou	p are po	pulated o	on the	2.	Select th	ne drop-d	own ari	ow next t	o the ac	ldress 21	oup lin
firev	wall.					select In	snort V	011 000	leo verifu	that th	e match	criteria
						sciect ii	ispect. I	ou can i	aiso venity	uiat tii	e maten	cincina
						accurate						
								Source			Destination	
					ags	Zone	Address	User	HIP Profile	Zone	Address	Application
						🕅 untrust	any	any	any	(22) server-side	Web_serve	rs any
						any	any	any	any	🕅 untrust	ftp_servers	🚳 Edit
												Filter
												- Remove
										Type: Dynamic Match: 'guestos.L and 'anno! more	lbuntu Linux 64-biť tation.ftp'	
					3.	Click th addresse	e <b>more</b> li es is displ <del>s Groups</del> -	nk and ayed. ftp_serv	verify that	t the lis	t of regi	stered I
						<b>_</b>						-
						Addres	s 🔺		Ту	pe		
						10.5.1	24.45		reg	gistered-ip		
						15.0.0	.45		reg	gistered-ip		
						fe80::2	250:56ff:feb	5:beaa	reg	jistered-ip		
						te80::2	25(1:56tt+teh)	5*cee9	rec	ustered-in		
								SACCES	1.12	joter eu ip		

# CLI Commands for Dynamic IP Addresses and Tags

The Command Line Interface on the firewall and Panorama give you a detailed view into the different sources from which tags and IP addresses are dynamically registered. It also allows you to audit registered and unregistered tags. The following examples illustrate the capabilities in the CLI.

Example	CLI Command				
View all registered IP addresses that match the tag, state.poweredOn or that are not tagged as vSwitch0	;, show log iptag tag_name equal state.poweredOm show log iptag tag_name not-equal switch.vSwi				
View all dynamically registered IP addresses that were sourced by VM Information Source with name vmware1 and tagged as poweredOn	show vm-monitor source source state.poweredOn registered-ip	e-name vmwarel tag p all			
	registered IP	Tags			
	fe80::20c:29ff:fe69:2f76 10.1.22.100 2001:1890:12f2:11:20c:29ff:fe "state.poweredOn" fe80::20c:29ff:fe69:2f80 192.168.1.102 10.1.22.105 2001:1890:12f2:11:2cf8:77a9:5 "state.poweredOn" fe80::2cf8:77a9:5435:c0d	"state.poweredOn" "state.poweredOn" e69:2f76 "state.poweredOn" "state.poweredOn" "state.poweredOn" 5435:c0d "state.poweredOn"			
Clear all IP addresses and tags learned from a specific VM Monitoring source without disconnecting the source.	debug vm-monitor clear source-name <i><name></name></i>				
Display IP addresses registered from all sources.	show object registered-ip all				
Display the count for IP addresses registered from all sources.	show object registered-ip all option count				
Clear IP addresses registered from all sources	debug object registered-ip cl	lear all			
Add or delete tags for a given IP address that was registered using the XML API.	debug object test registered-ip [ <register unregister="">] <ip netmask=""> <tag></tag></ip></register>				

Example	CLI Command
View all tags registered from a specific information source.	<pre>show vm-monitor source source-name vmwarel tag all vlanId.4095 vswitch.vSwitch1 host-ip.10.1.5.22 portgroup.TOBEUSED hostname.panserver22 portgroup.VM Network 2 datacenter.ha-datacenter vlanId.0 state.poweredOn vswitch.vSwitch0 vmname.Ubuntu22-100 vmname.win2k8-22-105 resource-pool.Resources vswitch.vSwitch2 guestos.Ubuntu Linux 32-bit guestos.Microsoft Windows Server 2008 32-bit annotation. version.vmx-08 portgroup.VM Network vm-info-source.vmware1 uuid.564d362c-11cd-b27f-271f-c361604dfad7 uuid.564dd337-677a-eb8d-47db-293bd6692f76 Total: 22</pre>
View all tags registered from a specific data source, for example from the VM Monitoring Agent on the firewall, the XML API, Windows User-ID Agent or the CLI.	<ul> <li>To view tags registered from the CLI: show log iptag datasource_type equal unknown</li> <li>To view tags registered from the XML API: show log iptag datasource_type equal xml-api</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>To view tags registered from VM Information sources: show log iptag datasource_type equal vm-monitor</li> <li>To view tags registered from the Windows User-ID agent: show log iptag datasource_type equal xml-api datasource_subtype equal user-id-agent</li> </ul>
View all tags that are registered for a specific IP address (across all sources).	debug object registered-ip show tag-source ip <i>ip_address</i> tag all

# **Policy-Based Forwarding**

Normally, the firewall uses the destination IP address in a packet to determine the outgoing interface. The firewall uses the routing table associated with the virtual router to which the interface is connected to perform the route lookup. Policy-Based Forwarding (PBF) allows you to override the routing table, and specify the outgoing or *egress* interface based on specific parameters such as source or destination IP address, or type of traffic.

- ▲ PBF
- Create a Policy-Based Forwarding Rule
- ▲ Use Case: PBF for Outbound Access with Dual ISPs
- ▲ Use Case: PBF for Routing Traffic Through Virtual Systems

### PBF

PBF rules allow traffic to take an alternative path from the next hop specified in the route table, and are typically used to specify an egress interface for security or performance reasons. Let's say your company has two links between the corporate office and the branch office: a cheaper Internet link and a more expensive leased line. The leased line is a high-bandwidth, low-latency link. For enhanced security, you can use PBF to send applications that aren't encrypted traffic, such as FTP traffic, over the private leased line and all other traffic over the Internet link. Or, for performance, you can choose to route business-critical applications over the leased line while sending all other traffic, such as web browsing, over the cheaper link.

#### **Egress Path and Symmetric Return**

Using PBF, you can direct traffic to a specific interface on the firewall, drop the traffic, or direct traffic to another virtual system (on systems enabled for multiple virtual systems).



In networks with asymmetric routes, such as in a dual ISP environment, connectivity issues occur when traffic arrives at one interface on the firewall and leaves from another interface. If the route is asymmetrical, where the forward (SYN packet) and return (SYN/ACK) paths are different, the firewall is unable to track the state of the entire session and this causes a connection failure. To ensure that the traffic uses a symmetrical path, which means that the traffic arrives at and leaves from the same interface on which the session was created, you can enable the *Symmetric Return* option.

With symmetric return, the virtual router overrides a routing lookup for return traffic and instead directs the flow back to the MAC address from which it received the SYN packet (or first packet). However, if the destination IP address is on the same subnet as the ingress/egress interface's IP address, a route lookup is performed and symmetric return is not enforced. This behavior prevents traffic from being blackholed.

To determine the next hop for symmetric returns, the firewall uses an Address Resolution Protocol (ARP) table. The maximum number of entries that this ARP table supports is limited by the firewall model and the value is not user configurable. To determine the limit for your model, use the CLI command: **show pbf return-mac all**.

### **Path Monitoring**

Path monitoring allows you to verify connectivity to an IP address so that the firewall can direct traffic through an alternate route, when needed. The firewall uses ICMP pings as *heartheats* to verify that the specified IP address is reachable.

A monitoring profile allows you to specify the threshold number of heartbeats to determine whether the IP address is reachable. When the monitored IP address is unreachable, you can either disable the PBF rule or specify a *fail-over* or *wait-recover* action. Disabling the PBF rule allows the virtual router to take over the routing decisions.

The following table lists the difference in behavior for a path monitoring failure on a new session versus an established session.

Behavior of a session on a monitoring failure	If the rule stays enabled when the monitored IP address is unreachable	If rule is disabled when the monitored IP address is unreachable
	Disable this rule if nexthop/monitor ip is unreachable	Disable this rule if nexthop/monitor ip is unreachable
For an established session	<b>wait-recover</b> —Continue to use egress interface specified in the PBF rule	<b>wait-recover</b> —Continue to use egress interface specified in the PBF rule
	<b>fail-over</b> —Use path determined by routing table (no PBF)	<b>fail-over</b> —Use path determined by routing table (no PBF)
For a new session	<b>wait-recover</b> —Use path determined by routing table (no PBF)	<b>wait-recover</b> —Check the remaining PBF rules. If no match, use the routing table
	fail-over—Use path determined by routing table (no PBF)	fail-over—Check the remaining PBF rules. If no match, use the routing table

### Service Versus Applications in PBF

PBF rules are applied either on the first packet (SYN) or the first response to the first packet (SYN/ACK). This means that a PBF rule may be applied before the firewall has enough information to determine the application. Therefore, application-specific rules are not recommended for use with PBF. Whenever possible, use a service object, which is the Layer 4 port (TCP or UDP) used by the protocol or application.

However, if you specify an application in a PBF rule, the firewall performs *App-ID caching*. When an application passes through the firewall for the first time, the firewall does not have enough information to identify the application and therefore cannot enforce the PBF rule. As more packets arrive, the firewall determines the application and creates an entry in the App-ID cache and retains this App-ID for the session. When a new session is created with the same destination IP address, destination port, and protocol ID, the firewall could identify the application as the same from the initial session (based on the App-ID cache) and apply the PBF rule. Therefore, a session that is not an exact match and is not the same application, can be forwarded based on the PBF rule.

Further, applications have dependencies and the identity of the application can change as the firewall receives more packets. Because PBF makes a routing decision at the start of a session, the firewall cannot enforce a change in application identity. YouTube, for example, starts as web-browsing but changes to Flash, RTSP, or YouTube based on the different links and videos included on the page. However with PBF, because the firewall identifies the application as web-browsing at the start of the session, the change in application is not recognized thereafter.



PBF rules cannot be based on domain names; only IP addresses are valid; also, you cannot use custom-applications, application-filters or application groups in PBF rules.

### Create a Policy-Based Forwarding Rule

Use a PBF rule to direct traffic to a specific egress interface on the firewall, and override the default path for the traffic.

Create	a PBF Rule		
Step 1	Create a PBF rule.	1.	Select Policies > Policy Based Forwarding and click Add.
	When creating a PBF rule you must	2.	Give the rule a descriptive name in the <b>General</b> tab.
	specify a name for the rule, a source zone	3.	In the <b>Source</b> tab, select the following:
	or interface, and an egress interface. All other components are either optional or have a default value provided.	All l or	a. Select the <b>Type—Zone</b> or <b>Interface</b> — to which the forwarding policy will be applied, and the relevant zone or interface.
			PBF is only supported on Layer 3 interfaces.
			b. (Optional) Specify the <b>Source Address</b> to which PBF will apply. For example, a specific IP address or subnet IP address from which you want to forward traffic to the interface or zone specified in this rule.
			Use the <b>Negate</b> option to exclude a one or more source IP addresses from the PBF rule. For example, if your PBF rule directs all traffic from the specified zone to the Internet, <b>Negate</b> allows you to exclude internal IP addresses from the PBF rule.
		The evaluation order is top down. A packet is matched against the first rule that meets the defined criteria; after a match is triggered the subsequent rules are not evaluated.	
			c. (Optional) <b>Add</b> and select the <b>Source User</b> or groups of users to whom the policy applies.
		4.	In the <b>Destination/Application/Service</b> tab, select the following:
			a. <b>Destination Address</b> . By default the rule applies to <b>Any</b> IP address. Use the <b>Negate</b> option to exclude one or more destination IP addresses from the PBF rule.
			b. Select the Application(s) or Service(s) that you want to control using PBF.
			Application-specific rules are not recommended for use with PBF. Whenever possible, use a service object, which is the Layer 4 port (TCP or UDP) used by the protocol or application. For more details, see Service Versus Applications in PBF.

Create a PBF Rule							
	5. In the <b>Fo</b>	orwarding ta	ab, select the fo	ollowing	g:		
	a. Set the	e <b>Action.</b> Th	e options are a	as follo	ws:		
	– Forv Inte	ward—Diree erface. Enter	cts the packet t the <b>Next Hop</b>	to a spe IP add	cific <b>E</b> ress fo	<b>gress</b> or the pac	ket.
	– <b>Forv</b> virtu forw	ward To VSY ual systems) vard the pack	<b>S</b> —(On a devi Select the virtu ket.	ce enal 1al syste	oled for em to v	r multiple which to	2
	– Disc	card—Drop	the packet.				
	– <b>No F</b> sour Mate firew from	<b>PBF</b> —Exclu rce/destinati rching packet wall uses the n the redirec	de the packets on/application is use the route route table to ted port.	that ma n/servic e table i exclude	atch th ce defin instead e the m	e criteria ned in the l of PBF; natched tr	for rule. the caffic
	no T	o trigger the	e specified actives frequency, cro	on at a eate and	daily, v d attacl	weekly or h a <b>Scheo</b>	dule.
	b. (Optic target <b>Monit</b> e that sp	onal) Enable IP address of o <b>r</b> and attacl pecifies the a	Monitoring to or to the next h h a monitoring action when th	o verify nop IP <b>Profile</b> e IP ad	conne addres e (defa dress i	ctivity to s. Select ult or cus s unreach	a tom) nable.
	c. (Optic Select addres	onal, require Enforce Syr sses in the N	d for asymmet nmetric Retur ext Hop Addre	ric rout n and e ss List	ting en enter o t.	vironmer ne or mo	nts) re IP
	Enabli from t forwar traffic	ling symmetr the Trust zo rded out thr ingresses fr	tic return ensur ne on the LAN ough the same om the Interne	res that N to the interfa et.	t return e Intern ice thro	n traffic (s net) is ough whic	say, ch
Step 2 Save the policies to the running	Click <b>Commit</b>	t.					
configuration on the device.	The PBF rule is in effect.						
Source Destination			Forwarding		Monitori	ing	
Name Zone/Interface Address Address Application	Service Actic	on Egress I/F	Next Hop Enforce Symmetric Return	Profile	Target	Disable If Unreachable	Schedule
1 HTTP to ISP-B 🎉 I3-trust any Style HQ-Subnet any	🙊 service-http forwa	vard ethernet1/4	10.3.4.54 false	default	none	false	none

### Use Case: PBF for Outbound Access with Dual ISPs

In this use case, the branch office has a dual ISP configuration and implements PBF for redundant Internet access. The backup ISP is the default route for traffic from the client to the web servers. In order to enable redundant Internet access without using an internetwork protocol such as BGP, we use PBF with destination interface-based source NAT and static routes, and configure the firewall as follows:

- Enable a PBF rule that routes traffic through the primary ISP, and attach a monitoring profile to the rule. The monitoring profile triggers the firewall to use the default route through the backup ISP when the primary ISP is unavailable.
- Define Source NAT rules for both the primary and backup ISP that instruct the firewall to use the source IP address associated with the egress interface for the corresponding ISP. This ensures that the outbound traffic has the correct source IP address.
- Add a static route to the backup ISP, so that when the primary ISP is unavailable, the default route comes into effect and the traffic is directed through the backup ISP.



PBF fo	r Outbound Access with Dual ISPs							
Step 1	Configure the ingress and the egress interfaces on the firewall.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Interfaces</b> and then select the interface you want to configure, for example, Ethernet1/1 and Ethernet1/3.					
	Egress interfaces can be in the same zone. In this example we assign the egress		The interface configuration on the firewall used in this example is as follows:					
	interfaces to different zones.		• Ethernet 1/1 connected to the primary ISP:					
			– Zone: ISP-East					
			– IP Address:1.1.1.2/30					
			– Virtual Router: Default					
			• Ethernet 1/3 connected to the backup ISP:					
			– Zone: ISP-West					
			– IP Address:2.2.2/30					
			– Virtual Router: Default					
			• Ethernet 1/2 is the ingress interface, used by the network clients to connect to the Internet:					
			– Zone: Trust					
			– IP Address:192.168. 54.1/24					
			– Virtual Router: Default					
		2.	To save the interface configuration, click <b>OK</b> .					
Step 2	On the virtual router, add a static route to the backup ISP.	1.	Select <b>Network &gt; Virtual Router</b> and then select the <b>default</b> link to open the Virtual Router dialog.					
		2.	Select the <b>Static Routes</b> tab and click <b>Add</b> . Enter a <b>Name</b> for the route and specify the <b>Destination</b> IP address for which you are defining the static route. In this example, we use 0.0.0.0/0 for all traffic.					
		3.	Select the <b>IP Address</b> radio button and set the <b>Next Hop</b> IP address for your router that connects to the backup Internet gateway. In this example, 2.2.2.1.					
		4.	Specify a cost metric for the route. In this example, we use 10.					
		5.	tare interface: Configuration RP 05P 05P1/3 05P Nutcase Runtes Sats about starest13 stareRouter tare interfaces tare interfaces configuration tare interfaces configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration Configuration					

#### PBF for Outbound Access with Dual ISPs

Step 3 Create a PBF rule that directs traffic to the interface that is connected to the primary ISP.

Make sure to exclude traffic destined to internal servers/IP addresses from PBF. Define a negate rule so that traffic destined to internal IP addresses is not routed through the egress interface defined in the PBF rule.

- 1. Select Policies > Policy Based Forwarding and click Add.
- 2. Give the rule a descriptive **Name** in the **General** tab.
- 3. In the **Source** tab, set the **Source Zone** to Trust.
- 4. In the **Destination/Application/Service** tab, set the following:
  - a. In the Destination Address section, **Add** the IP addresses or address range for servers on the internal network or create an address object for your internal servers. Select **Negate** to exclude the IP addresses or address object listed above from using this rule.
  - b. In the Service section, **Add** the **service-http** and **service-https** services to allow HTTP and HTTPS traffic to use the default ports. For all other traffic that is allowed by security policy, the default route will be used.



To forward all traffic using PBF, set the Service to **Any**.

eneral Source Destination	Application/Service Forwarding	
Any	🌠 Any	Select
Destination Address 🔺	Applications	Service 🔺
🛯 🔙 Internal_servers		🔲 💥 service-http
		x service-https
+ Add - Delete	+ Add - Delete	+ Add - Delete

- 5. In the **Forwarding** tab, specify the interface to which you want to forward traffic and enable path monitoring.
  - a. To forward traffic, set the **Action** to **Forward**, and select the **Egress Interface** and specify the **Next Hop**. In this example, the egress interface is ethernet1/1, and the next hop IP address is 1.1.1.1.

eneral	Source	Destination/Application/Service Forwarding	
	Action	Forward	
Egress In	nterface	ethernet1/1	
N	lext Hop	1.1.1.1	
Monit	tor		
	Profile	default	~
		Disable this rule if nexthop/monitor ip is unreachable	
I	P Address		

PB	F for Outb	ound Acces	s with Dua	ISPs						
					b.	Enable <b>M</b> trigger a not speci monitor t unreachal specified	<b>onitor</b> and attach failover to the ba fy a target IP add the next hop IP a ble the firewall w on the virtual ro	n the defa ckup ISP. lress to m address; if ill direct t uter.	ult monito In this ex conitor. Th this IP ad raffic to th	oring profile, to ample, we do ne firewall will ldress is ne default route
					c. d.	(Required Symmeti Trust zor interface NAT ens the corre Click <b>OK</b>	I if you have asyr ric <b>Return</b> to ensure to the Internet through which tr ures that the traffict interface/IP are to save the chang	nmetric re sure that r t is forwas caffic ingr fic from the ddress on ges.	outes). Sel return traff rded out o ressed from he Interne the firewa	ect <b>Enforce</b> fic from the n the same n the Internet. t is returned to all.
	Name	Zone/Interface	Address	Service	Action	Egress I/F	Enforce Symmetric Return	Profile	Target	Disable If Unreachable
1	Use ISP-Primary	pog Trust	Sy Internal_servers	in the service of th	forward	ethernet1/1	false	default	1,1,1,2	true

PBF fo	r Outboun	d A	Access with	Dual ISP	S				
Step 4	Create N interface the corre outbound	AT anc ct s ł cc	rules based I ISP. These ource IP ado onnections.	on the egra rules ensur- lress is use	ess 1. 2. d for	Select Poli In this exau follows: NAT for I In the Orig • Source • Destina In the Tran Translatior • Transla • Address • Interfac • IP Addr NAT for I In the Orig • Source • Destina In the Tran Translatior • Translatior • Transla • Address • Interfac	cies > NAT mple, the N Primary IS ginal Packe Zone: Trus tion Zone: n tion Type: Inte ess: 1.1.1.2 Backup IS ginal Packe Zone: Trus tion Zone: n tion Type: s Type: Inte ce: ethernet ess: 2.2.2.2	and click <b>Ac</b> JAT rule we <b>P</b> et tab, t ISP-West <b>cket</b> tab, und Dynamic IP erface Addree (1/1 2/30 <b>P</b> et tab, t ISP-East <b>cket</b> tab, und Dynamic IP erface Addree (1/3 2/30	ld. create for each ISP is as der Source Address and Port ss der Source Address and Port ss
						Original Packet			Translated Packet
			Name	Source Zone	Destination Zone	Destination Interface	Source Address	Destination Address	Source Translation
		1	NAT-Primary ISP	M Trust	🕅 ISP-West	any	any	any	dynamic-ip-and-port ethernet1/1 1. 1. 1.2/30
		2	NAT-Backup ISP	M Trust	🕅 ISP-East	any	any	any	dynamic-ip-and-port ethernet1/3 2.2.2.2/30

PBF fo	r Outbound Access with Dual ISPs									
Step 5	Create security policy to allow outbound access to the Internet.	To to fire 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	o safely o the Inte ewall. Select Give In the and I: In the <b>appli</b> In the a. Set b. At vui <b>Se</b> Unde	enable ernet ar the rul e Source e Desti SP-We e Servi cation- e Actio t the Action t the Action	application ad attach e a descri- ce tab, set nation tal st. ce/ URL ( -default. ns tab, co ction Sett e default lity protections, verify	ons, cre the sec urity at ptive N the Sc b, Set t Catego omplete ting to profile ction at v that lo	ate a simple s curity profiles and click Add. Hame in the G ource Zone to the Destination ry tab, leave these tasks: Allow. s for antiviru and URL filter	rule the s availa Genera o Trust on Zon the dea s, anti- ring, un bled at	at allows ble on the ol tab. t. e to ISP fault spyware, nder <b>Pro</b> the end	access ie -East , file of a
			sessio	on. Onl	y traffic t	hat ma	tches a secur	ity rule	e is logge	:d.
			Name	Zone	Zone	Application	Service	Action	Profile	Options
		1	Trust2ISP	ស្រា Trust	(22) ISP-East (22) ISP-West	any	X application-default	۲	9 <b>77</b> 0	
Step 6	Save the policies to the running configuration on the device.	Cli	ick <b>Com</b>	mit.						

PBF for	r Outbo	ound A	Access wit	th Dual	ISPs									
Step 7	Verify the pr	y that th rimary 1 s.	he PBF rul ISP is used	e is active for Inte	e and that ernet	: 1.	Launch a w check the t	veb brows raffic log	er and for w	d acces eb-bro	ss a web wsing <i>i</i>	o serve activit	er. Or zy.	the firewall
			(	Traffic is : attach	sent through the prim	ne interfa ary ISP.	ce	i	Trafi dentifie	fic on port d as web-	80 is browsing.		The s that allo	ecurity policy ows the traffic.
	Receive Time Typ			From Zor	ne To Zone	Source	Desti	nation	To Port	Applicatio	n A	ction	Rule	Bytes
		11/05 08	8:24:04 end	Trust	ISP-West	192.168	3.54.56 204.7	9.197.200	80	web-brow	sing a	llow	Trust2I5	3.7
						2.	From a clie	ent on the	netw	ork, us	se the p	ing u	tility t	o verify
							connectivit	y to a web	o serv	er on t	the Inte	ernet.	and c	heck the
							traffic log o	on the fire	wall.					
							C:\Users\p	m-user1>p	ing 4	.2.2.1				
							Reply from	4.2.2.1 Wit	n 32 byte	bytes s=32 t	ime=34r	a: ns TTI	L=117	
							Reply from Reply from	4.2.2.1: 4.2.2.1:	byte byte	s=32 t s=32 t	ime=13r ime=25r	ns TT1 ns TT1	L=117 L=117	
							Reply from Ping stati	4.2.2.1: stics for	byte 4.2.	s=32 t 2.1:	ime=3ms	s TTL:	=117	
							Packet	s: Sent = e round t	4, R rip t	eceive imes i	d = 4, n mill:	Lost i-sec	= 0 ( onds:	0% loss),
							Minimu	m = 3ms,	Maxim	um = 3	4ms, Av	verage	e = 18	Bms
			A	s defined by	the PBF rule,	only traff	fic on ports 80 or 4	43 use the Pri	imary IS	P;	1		The that a	security policy
				fielice pli	iy is is sericul	rough un		d to the backu	pior.				undr d	nows are dance.
			Receive Time	Туре	From Zone	To Zone	Source	Destinatio	n	To Port	Application	n	Action	Rule
		<b>I</b>	11/05 09:03:03	end	Trust	ISP-East	192.168.54.56	4.2.2.1		0	ping		allow	Trust2ISP
						3.	To confirm	h that the	PBF	rule is	active,	use tł	ne CL	I command
							show pb	f rule	all	-				
							admin@PA-N	GFW> show	pbf	rule a	ll ion F	aroaa	, TE /W	CVC Novtuon
							Ruie	=== =====	= 5LA	= ====			5 1F/V ======	= ======
							Use ISP-Pr	1 Act	tive	F.O.	rward e	thern	let1/1	1.1.1.1
Step 8	Verify	y that tl	he failover	to the ba	ackup ISP	1.	Unplug the	connectio	on to	the pr	imary I	SP.		
	occur	s and t	hat the Sou	irce NA'	T is	2.	Confirm th	at the PB	F rul	e is ina	ctive w	ith th	e CLI	command
	correc	ctly app	olied.				show pb	f rule	all	-				
							admin@PA-N Rule	GFW> show ID Rul	pbf e Sta	rule a te Act	ll ion E	gress	s IF/V	SYS NextHop
							use ISP-Pr	=== ==== 1 Disa	===== bled	= ==== Forw	== ===: ard e	therr	====== net1/1	= ======= 1.1.1.1
						2	A	- <b>L</b>	1	-11- 4	1	C - 1		
						э.	Access a w	ed server,	and (	theous	h tho b		g to ve	enty that
							traffic is be	ing torwa	iueu	unoug	in the b	аски	5 ISF.	
													_	
					Traffic is sent attached to	through t the bac	the interface kup ISP.						The that a	security policy allows the traffic.
			Receive Time	Туре	From Zone	To Zone	Source	Destination	n	To Port	Application	ı	Action	Rule
		<b>P</b>	11/05 09:50:44	end	Trust	ISP-East	192.168.54.56	204.79.197	7.200	443	ssl		allow	Trust2ISP
		<b>I</b>	11/05 09:50:44	end	Trust	ISP-East	192.168.54.56	204.79.197	7.200	80	web-brows	ing	allow	Trust2ISP

PBF for Outbound Access with Dual ISPs	
4	4. View the session details to confirm that the NAT rule is working
	properly.
	admin@PA-NGFW> show session all
	ID Application State Type Flag Src[Sport]/Zone/Proto (translated IP[Port]) Vsys Dst[Dport]/Zone (translated IP[Port])
	87212 ssl ACTIVE FLOW NS 192.168.54.56[53236]/Trust/6 (2.2.2.2[12896]) vsysl 204.79.197.200[443]/ISP-East (204.79.197.200[443])
5	5. Obtain the session identification number from the output and
	view the session details. Note that the PBF rule is not used and
	hence is not listed in the output.
	admin@PA-NGFW> show session id 87212
	Session 87212
	c2s flow: source: 192.168.54.56 [Trust] dst: 204.79.197.200 proto: 6
	sport: 53236 dport: 443 state: ACTIVE type: FLOW src user: unknown dst user: unknown
	s2c flow: source: 204.79.197.200 [ISP-East] dst: 2.2.2.2 proto: 6
	sport: 443 dport: 12896 state: ACTIVE type: FLOW src user: unknown dst user: unknown
	<pre>start time : Wed Nov5 11:16:10 2014 timeout : 1800 sec time to live : 1757 sec total byte count(c2s) : 1918 total byte count(s2c) : 4333 layer7 packet count(s2c) : 7 vsys : vsys1 application : ssl rule : Trust2ISP session to be logged at end : True session in session ager : True session in session ager : True session synced from HA peer : False address/port translation : source nat-rule : NAT-Backup ISP(vsys1) layer7 processing : enabled URL filtering enabled : True session traverses tunnel : False session traverses tunnel : False ingress interface : ethernet1/2 session QoS rule : N/A (class 4)</pre>

# **DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions**

The following topics describe how to configure DoS protection to better block IP addresses in order to handle high-volume attacks more efficiently.

- DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions
- ▲ Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions
- ▲ Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session
- ▲ Identify Sessions That Use an Excessive Percentage of the Packet Buffer
- ▲ Discard a Session Without a Commit

### **DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions**

DoS protection against flooding of new sessions is beneficial against high-volume single-session and multiple-session attacks. In a single-session attack, an attacker uses a single session to target a device behind the firewall. If a Security policy rule allows the traffic, the session is established and the attacker initiates an attack by sending packets at a very high rate with the same source IP address and port number, destination IP address and port number, and protocol, trying to overwhelm the target. In a multiple-session attack, an attacker uses multiple sessions (or connections per second [cps]) from a single host to launch a DoS attack.



This feature defends only against DoS attacks of new sessions, that is, traffic that has not been offloaded to hardware. An offloaded attack is not protected by this feature. However, this topic describes how you can create a Security policy rule to reset the client; the attacker reinitiates the attack with numerous connections per second and is blocked by the defenses illustrated in this topic.

- Multiple-Session DoS Attack
- Single-Session DoS Attack

#### Multiple-Session DoS Attack

Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions by configuring a DoS Protection policy rule, which determines the criteria that, when matched by incoming packets, trigger the protect action. The DoS Protection profile counts each new connection toward the Alarm Rate, Activate Rate, and Max Rate thresholds. When the incoming new connections per second exceed the Max Rate allowed, the firewall takes the action specified in the DoS Protection policy rule.

The following figure and table describe how the Security policy rules, DoS Protection policy rules and profile work together in an example.



Seque	nce of Events as Firewall Quarantines an IP Address						
1	In this example, an attacker launches a DoS attack at a rate of 10,000 new connections per second to UDP port 53. The attacker also sends 10 new connections per second to HTTP port 80.						
2	The new connections match criteria in the DoS Protection policy rule, such as a source zone or interface, source IP address, destination zone or interface, destination IP address, or a service, among other settings. In this example, the policy rule specifies UDP.						
	The DoS rule also specifies the Protect action and Classified, two settings that dynamically put the DoS Protection Profile settings into effect. The DoS Protection Profile specifies that a Max Rate of 3000 packets per second is allowed. When incoming packets match the DoS rule, new connections per second are counted toward the Alert, Activate, and Max Rate thresholds.						
	You can also use a Security policy rule to block all traffic from the source IP address if you deem that address to be malicious all the time.						
3	<ul> <li>The 10,000 new connections per second exceed the Max Rate threshold. When all of the following occur:</li> <li>the threshold is exceeded,</li> <li>a Block Duration is specified, and</li> <li>Classified is set to includes source IP address,</li> <li>the firewall puts the offending source IP address on the block list.</li> </ul>						
4	An IP address on the block list is in quarantine, meaning all traffic from that IP address is blocked. The firewall blocks the offending source IP address before additional attack packets reach the security policy.						

The following figure describes in more detail what happens after an IP address that matches the DoS Protection policy rule is put on the block list. It also describes the Block Duration timer.



Every one second, the firewall allows the IP address to come off the Block List so that the firewall can test the traffic patterns and determine if the attack is ongoing. The firewall takes the following action:

- During this one-second test period, the firewall allows packets that do not match the DoS Protection policy criteria (HTTP traffic in this example) through the DoS Protection policy rules to the Security policy for validation. Very few packets, if any, have time to get through because the first attack packet that the firewall receives after the IP address is let off the Block List will match the DoS Protection policy criteria, quickly causing the IP address to be placed back on the block list for another second. The firewall repeats this test each second until the attack stops.
- The firewall blocks all attack traffic from going past the DoS Protection policy rules until the Block Duration expires.

When the attack stops, the firewall does not put the IP address back on the Block List. The firewall allows non-attack traffic to proceed through the DoS Protection policy rules to the Security policy rules for validation. You must configure a Security policy rule because without one, an implicit deny rule denies all traffic.

The block list is based on a source zone and source address combination. This behavior allows duplicate IP addresses to exist as long as they are in different zones belonging to separate virtual routers.

The Block Duration setting in a DoS Protection profile specifies how long the firewall blocks the [offending] packets that exactly match a DoS Protection policy rule. The attack traffic remains blocked until the Block Duration expires, after which the attack traffic must again exceed the Max Rate threshold to be blocked again.



If the attacker uses multiple sessions or bots that initiate multiple attack sessions, the sessions count toward the thresholds in the DoS Protection profile without a Security policy deny rule in place. Hence, a single-session attack requires a Security policy deny rule in order for each packet to count toward the thresholds; a multiple-session attack does not.

Therefore, the DoS protection against flooding of new sessions allows the firewall to efficiently defend against a source IP address while attack traffic is ongoing and to permit non-attack traffic to pass as soon as the attack stops. Putting the offending IP address on the block list allows the DoS protection functionality to take advantage of the block list, which is designed to quarantine all activity. Quarantining the IP address from all activity protects against a modern attacker who attempts a rotating application attack, in which the attacker simply changes applications to start a new attack or uses a combination of different attacks in a hybrid DoS attack.



Beginning with PAN-OS 6.1.7, it is a change in behavior that the firewall places the attacking source IP address on the block list. When the attack stops, non-attack traffic is allowed to proceed to the Security policy rules. The attack traffic that matched the DoS Protection profile and DoS Protection policy rules remains blocked until the Block Duration expires.

#### Single-Session DoS Attack

A single-session DoS attack typically will not trigger Zone or DoS Protection profiles because they are attacks that are formed after the session is created. These attacks are allowed by the Security policy because a session is allowed to be created, and after the session is created, the attack drives up the packet volume and takes down the target device.

Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions to protect against flooding of new sessions (single-session and multiple-session flooding). In the event of a single-session attack that is underway, additionally Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session.

## Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions

Config	onfigure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions								
Step 1	(Required for single-session attack mitigation or attacks that have not triggered the DoS Protection policy threshold; optional for multiple-session attack mitigation)		Set Up Basic Security Policies Components of a Security Policy Rule						
	Configure Security policy rules to deny traffic from the attacker's IP address and allow other traffic based on your network needs. You can specify any of the match criteria in a Security policy rule, such as source IP address.								
	This step is one of the steps typically performed to stop an existing attack. See Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session.								

Step 2	Configure a DoS Protection profile for	1	Select Objects > Security Profiles > DoS Protection and Add a
Step 2	flood protection.	1.	profile Name.
	Because flood attacks can occur	2.	Select Classified as the Type.
	over multiple protocols, as a best	3.	For Flood Protection, select the check boxes for all of the
	practice, activate protection for all		following types of flood protection:
	of the flood types in the DoS		• SYN Flood
	Protection profile.		UDP Flood
			ICMP Flood
			ICMPv6 Flood
			Other IP Flood
		4.	(Optional) On each of the flood tabs, change the following thresholds to suit your environment:
			• Alarm Rate (packets/s)—Specify the threshold rate (packets per second [pps]) above which a DoS alarm is generated. (Range is 0-2000000; default is 10000.)
			• Activate Rate (packets/s)—Specify the threshold rate (pps) above which a DoS response is activated. The DoS response is configured in the Action field of the DoS policy where this profile is referenced. When the Activate Rate threshold is reached, Random Early Drop occurs. (Range is 0-2000000; default is 10000.)
			• Max Rate (packets/s)—Specify the threshold rate of incoming packets per second that the firewall allows. When the threshold is exceeded, new packets that arrive are dropped and the Action specified in the DoS Policy rule is triggered. (Range is 2-2000000; default is 40000.)
			The default threshold values in this step are only starting points and might not be appropriate for your network. You must analyze the behavior of your network to properly set initial threshold values.
		5.	On each of the flood tabs, specify the <b>Block Duration</b> (in seconds), which is the length of time the firewall blocks packets that match the DoS Protection policy rule that references this profile. Specify a value greater than zero. (Range is 1-21600; default is 300.)
			Set a low Block Duration value if you are concerned that packets you incorrectly identified as attack traffic will be blocked unnecessarily.
			Set a high Block Duration value if you are more concerned about blocking volumetric attacks than you are about incorrectly blocking packets that are not part of an attack.

6. Click **OK**.

Po	licy
Po	licy

Step 3	Configure a DoS Protection policy rule that specifies the criteria for matching the incoming traffic.	1.	Select <b>Policies &gt; DoS Protection</b> and <b>Add</b> a <b>Name</b> on the <b>General</b> tab. The name is case-sensitive and can be a maximum of 31 characters, including letters, numbers, spaces, hyphens,
			and underscores.
		2.	On the <b>Source</b> tab, choose the <b>Type</b> to be a <b>Zone</b> or <b>Interface</b> , and then <b>Add</b> the zone(s) or interface(s).
		3.	(Optional) For <b>Source Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> for any incoming IP address to match the rule or <b>Add</b> an address object such as a geographical region.
		4.	(Optional) For Source User, select any or specify a user.
		5.	(Optional) Select <b>Negate</b> to match any sources except those you specify.
		6.	(Optional) On the <b>Destination</b> tab, choose the <b>Type</b> to be a <b>Zone</b> or <b>Interface</b> , and then <b>Add</b> the destination zone(s) or interface(s). For example, enter the security zone you want to protect.
		7.	(Optional) For <b>Destination Address</b> , select <b>Any</b> or enter the IP address of the device you want to protect.
		8.	(Optional) On the <b>Option/Protection</b> tab, <b>Add</b> a <b>Service</b> . Select a service or click <b>Service</b> and enter a <b>Name</b> . Select <b>TCP</b> or <b>UDP</b> . Enter a <b>Destination Port</b> . Not specifying a particular service allows the rule to match a flood of any protocol type without regard to an application-specific port.
		9.	On the <b>Option/Protection</b> tab, for <b>Action</b> , select <b>Protect</b> .
		10.	Select the <b>Classified</b> check box.
		11.	For <b>Profile</b> , select the name of the <b>DoS Protection</b> profile you created in Step 2.
		12.	For <b>Address</b> , select <b>source-ip-only</b> or <b>src-dest-ip-both</b> , which determines the type of IP address to which the rule applies. Choose the setting based on how you want the firewall to identify offending traffic.
			• Specify <b>source-ip-only</b> if you want the firewall to classify only on the source IP address. Because attackers often test the entire network for hosts to attack, <b>source-ip-only</b> is the typical setting for a wider examination.
			• Specify <b>src-dest-ip-both</b> if you want to protect only against DoS attacks on the server that has a specific destination address and also ensure that every source IP address will not surpass a specific connections-per-second threshold to that server.
		13.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 4	Save the configuration.	Clic	k Commit.

Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions (Continued)

### Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session

To mitigate a single-session DoS attack, you would still Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions in advance. At some point after you configure the feature, a session might be established before you realize a DoS attack (from the IP address of that session) is underway. When you see a single-session DoS attack, perform the following task to end the session, so that subsequent connection attempts from that IP address trigger the DoS protection against flooding of new sessions.

#### Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session

Step 1	Identify the	e source IP	address	that is	causing the atta	ack.
otep 1	racinary and	c bource ii	addiebo	unac 10	causing the atta	ten.

For example, use the firewall Packet Capture feature with a destination filter to collect a sample of the traffic going to the destination IP address. Alternatively, in PAN-OS 7.0 and later, you can use ACC to filter on destination address to view the activity to the target host being attacked.

- Step 2 Create a DoS Protection policy rule that will block the attacker's IP address after the attack thresholds are exceeded.
- Step 3 Create a Security policy rule to deny the source IP address and its attack traffic.
- Step 4 End any existing attacks from the attacking source IP address by executing the clear session all filter source <ip-address> operational command.

Alternatively, if you know the session ID, you can execute the clear session id <value> command to end that session only.



If you use the clear session all filter source <ip-address> command, all sessions matching the source IP address are discarded, which can include both good and bad sessions.

After you end the existing attack session, any subsequent attempts to form an attack session are blocked by the Security policy. The DoS Protection policy counts all connection attempts toward the thresholds. When the Max Rate threshold is exceeded, the source IP address is blocked for the Block Duration, as described in Sequence of Events as Firewall Quarantines an IP Address.

### Identify Sessions That Use an Excessive Percentage of the Packet Buffer

When a firewall exhibits signs of resource depletion, it might be experiencing an attack that is sending an overwhelming number of packets. In such events, the firewall starts buffering inbound packets. With PAN-OS 6.1.10 and later PAN-OS 6.1 releases, you can quickly identify the sessions that are using an excessive percentage of the packet buffer and mitigate their impact by discarding them.

Perform the following task on any hardware-based firewall platform (not a VM-Series firewall) to identify, for each slot and dataplane, the packet buffer percentage used, the top five sessions using more than two percent of the packet buffer, and the source IP addresses associated with those sessions. Having that information allows you to take appropriate action.

#### View Firewall Resource Usage, Top Sessions, and Session Details

Step 1 View firewall resource usage, top sessions, and session details. Execute the following operational command in the CLI (sample output from the command follows):

```
admin@PA-7050> show running resource-monitor ingress-backlogs
```

```
-- SLOT:s1, DP:dp1 --
USAGE - ATOMIC: 92% TOTAL: 93%
TOP SESSIONS:
        PCT
                  GRP-TD COUNT
SESS-ID
                           156
6
            92%
                  1
                  7
                           1732
SESSION DETAILS
SESS-ID PROTO SZONE SRC
                                SPORT DST
                                                 DPORT IGR-IF
                                                                  EGR-IF
                                                                               APP
             trust 192.168.2.35 55653 10.1.8.89 80 ethernet1/21 ethernet1/22
6
       6
undecided
```

The command displays a maximum of the top five sessions that each use 2% or more of the packet buffer.

The sample output above indicates that Session 6 is using 92% of the packet buffers with TCP packets (protocol 6) coming from source IP address 192.168.2.35.

- GRP-ID—indicates an internal stage of processing packets.
- COUNT—indicates how many packets are in that GRP-ID for that session.
- **SESS-ID**—indicates the global session ID that is used in all other show session commands. The global session ID is unique within the firewall.
- **APP**—indicates the application name extracted from the Session information, which can help you determine whether the traffic is legitimate. For example, spoofed packets that use a common TCP or UDP port but indicate an APP of undecided are possibly attack traffic.

To restrict the display output:

On a PA-7000 Series platform, you can limit output to a slot, a dataplane, or both. For example:

```
admin@PA-7050> show running resource-monitor ingress-backlogs slot sl
admin@PA-7050> show running resource-monitor ingress-backlogs slot sl dp dpl
```

On a PA-5000 Series platform, you can limit output to a dataplane. For example:

admin@PA-5060> show running resource-monitor ingress-backlogs dp dp1

#### View Firewall Resource Usage, Top Sessions, and Session Details

Step 2 Use the command output to determine whether the source at the source IP address using a high percentage of the packet buffer is sending legitimate or attack traffic.

In the sample output above, a single-session attack is likely occurring. A single session (Session ID 6) is using 92% of the packet buffer for Slot 1, DP 1, and the application at that point is undecided.

- If you determine a single user is sending an attack and the traffic is in the slow path, you can Use the CLI to End a Single Attacking Session. At a minimum, you can Configure DoS Protection Against Flooding of New Sessions.
- If the traffic is offloaded to hardware (the traffic is in the fast path), clearing the session does not help because the software then has to handle the barrage of packets. You should Discard a Session Without a Commit instead.

To see whether a session is offloaded or not, use the show session id <session-id> operational command in the CLI as shown in the following example. The layer7 processing value indicates completed for sessions offloaded or enabled for sessions not offloaded.

admin@PA-5060≻ sho	w session :	id 68088184	ļ.			
Session 680	88184					
c2s flow:						
sa ds pr sp st sr ds of	ource: ot: oot: oort: cate: rc user: it user: ifload:	1.1.42.15 1.2.27.99 6 55993 ACTIVE unknown unknown Yes	[trust	] dport: type:		6881 FLOW
s2c flow:						
so ds pr sp	ource: st: roto: port:	1.2.27.99 1.1.42.15 6 6881	[untru	st] dport:		55993
st sr ds of	ate: c user: it user: fload:	ACTIVE unknown unknown Yes		type:		FLOW
DP index(loca start time timeout total byte total byte layer7 pac layer7 pac vsys applicatio rule session tu session tu session tu session tr session tr	<pre>&gt;</pre>	) c2s) s2c) ger A peer d ies n host nnel on		: 2 : 979320 : Tue 00: 1200 s : 1167 s : 270 : 3 : 3 : vsys1 : tvsys1 : True : True : True : True : True : False : False : False : False : False : False : False : False : Salse : Sal	rrent ectived	14:20:09 2015 21 22 4) 5 bypass
end-reason	i I			: unknow	in	. 0,0000

### Discard a Session Without a Commit

With PAN-OS 6.1.10 and later PAN-OS 6.1 releases, you can perform this task to permanently discard a session, such as a session that is overloading the packet buffer. No commit is required; the session is discarded immediately after executing the command. The commands you use for this task apply to both offloaded and non-offloaded sessions.

Discard a Session Without a Commit				
Step 1	In the CLI, execute the following operational command on any hardware platform:			
	admin@PA-7050> request session-discard [timeout <seconds>] [reason <reason-string>] id <session-id></session-id></reason-string></seconds>			
	The default timeout is 3600 seconds.			
Step 2	Verify that sessions have been discarded:			
	admin@PA-7050> show session all filter state discard			

# Virtual Systems

This topic describes virtual systems, their benefits, typical use cases, and how to configure them. It also provides links to other topics where virtual systems are documented as they function with other features.

- ▲ Virtual Systems Overview
- ▲ Communication Between Virtual Systems
- ▲ Shared Gateway
- ▲ Configure Virtual Systems
- ▲ Configure Inter-Virtual System Communication within the Firewall
- ▲ Configure a Shared Gateway
- ▲ Virtual System Functionality with Other Features

# Virtual Systems Overview

Virtual systems are separate, logical firewall instances within a single physical Palo Alto Networks firewall. Rather than using multiple firewalls, managed service providers and enterprises can use a single pair of firewalls (for high availability) and enable virtual systems on them. Each virtual system (vsys) is an independent, separately-managed firewall with its traffic kept separate from the traffic of other virtual systems.

This topic includes the following:

- Virtual System Components and Segmentation
- Benefits of Virtual Systems
- ▲ Use Cases for Virtual Systems
- Platform Support and Licensing for Virtual Systems
- Restrictions on Virtual Systems
- ▲ Administrative Roles for Virtual Systems
- ▲ Shared Objects for Virtual Systems

### Virtual System Components and Segmentation

A virtual system is an object that creates an administrative boundary, as shown in the following figure.



A virtual system consists of a set of physical and logical interfaces and subinterfaces (including VLANs and virtual wires), virtual routers, and security zones. You choose the deployment mode(s) (any combination of virtual wire, Layer 2, or Layer 3) of each virtual system. By using virtual systems, you can segment any of the following:

- Administrative access
- The management of all policies (security, NAT, QoS, policy-based forwarding, decryption, application override, captive portal, and DoS protection)
- All objects (such as address objects, application groups and filters, dynamic block lists, security profiles, decryption profiles, custom objects, etc.)
- User-ID

- Certificate management
- Server profiles
- Logging, reporting, and visibility functions

Virtual systems affect the security functions of the firewall, but virtual systems alone do not affect networking functions such as static and dynamic routing. You can segment routing for each virtual system by creating one or more virtual routers for each virtual system, as in the following use cases:

- If you have virtual systems for departments of one organization, and the network traffic for all of the departments is within a common network, you can create a single virtual router for multiple virtual systems.
- If you want routing segmentation and each virtual system's traffic must be isolated from other virtual systems, you can create one or more virtual routers for each virtual system.

### **Benefits of Virtual Systems**

Virtual systems provide the same basic functions as a physical firewall, along with additional benefits:

- Segmented administration—Different organizations (or customers or business units) can control (and monitor) a separate firewall instance, so that they have control over their own traffic without interfering with the traffic or policies of another firewall instance on the same physical device.
- Scalability—After the physical firewall is configured, adding or removing customers or business units can be done efficiently. An ISP, managed security service provider, or enterprise can provide different security services to each customer.
- **Reduced capital and operational expenses**—Virtual systems eliminate the need to have multiple physical firewalls at one location because virtual systems co-exist on one firewall. By not having to purchase multiple firewalls, an organization can save on the hardware expense, electric bills, and rack space, and can reduce maintenance and management expenses.

### Use Cases for Virtual Systems

There are many ways to use virtual systems in a network. One common use case is for an ISP or a managed security service provider (MSSP) to deliver services to multiple customers with a single firewall. Customers can choose from a wide array of services that can be enabled or disabled easily. The firewall's role-based administration allows the ISP or MSSP to control each customer's access to functionality (such as logging and reporting) while hiding or offering read-only capabilities for other functions.

Another common use case is within a large enterprise that requires different firewall instances because of different technical or confidentiality requirements among multiple departments. Like the above case, different groups can have different levels of access while IT manages the firewall itself. Services can be tracked and/or billed back to departments to thereby make separate financial accountability possible within an organization.

### Platform Support and Licensing for Virtual Systems

Virtual systems are supported on the PA-2000, PA-3000, PA-4000, PA-5000, and PA-7050 Series firewalls. Each firewall series supports a base number of virtual systems; the number varies by platform. A Virtual Systems license is required in the following cases:

- To support multiple virtual systems on PA-2000 or PA-3000 Series firewalls.
- To create more than the base number of virtual systems supported on a platform.

For license information, see Activate Licenses and Subscriptions. For the base and maximum number of virtual systems supported, see Compare Firewalls tool.

Multiple virtual systems are not supported on the PA-200, PA-500 or VM-Series firewalls.

### **Restrictions on Virtual Systems**

- Within a Palo Alto Networks firewall, a packet may hop from one virtual system to another virtual system or a shared gateway. A packet may not traverse more than two virtual systems or shared gateways. For example, a packet cannot go from one virtual system to a shared gateway to a second virtual system within the firewall.
- Only one Shared Gateway is permitted on a firewall.

### Administrative Roles for Virtual Systems

A **superuser** administrator can create virtual systems and add a **Device Administrator**, **vsysadmin**, or **vsysreader**. A **Device Administrator** can access all virtual systems, but cannot add administrators. The two types of virtual system administrative roles are:

- vsysadmin—Grants full access to a virtual system.
- vsysreader—Grants read-only access to a virtual system.

A virtual system administrator can view logs of only the virtual systems assigned to that administrator. Someone with **superuser** or **Device Admin** permission can view all of the logs or select a virtual system to view.

Persons with vsysadmin permission can commit configurations for only the virtual systems assigned to them.

### Shared Objects for Virtual Systems

If your administrator account extends to multiple virtual systems, you can choose to configure objects (such as an address object) and policies for a specific virtual system or as shared objects, which apply to all of the virtual systems on the firewall. If you try to create a shared object with the same name and type as an existing object in a virtual system, the virtual system object is used.
# **Communication Between Virtual Systems**

There are two typical scenarios where communication between virtual systems (inter-vsys traffic) is desirable. In a multi-tenancy environment, communication between virtual systems can occur by having traffic leave the firewall, go through the Internet, and re-enter the firewall. In a single organization environment, communication between virtual systems can remain within the firewall. This section discusses both scenarios.

- ▲ Inter-VSYS Traffic That Must Leave the Firewall
- ▲ Inter-VSYS Traffic That Remains Within the Firewall
- ▲ Inter-VSYS Communication Uses Two Sessions

## Inter-VSYS Traffic That Must Leave the Firewall

An ISP that has multiple customers on a firewall (known as multi-tenancy) can use a virtual system for each customer, and thereby give each customer control over its virtual system configuration. The ISP grants **vsysadmin** permission to customers. Each customer's traffic and management are isolated from the others. Each virtual system must be configured with its own IP address and one or more virtual routers in order to manage traffic and its own connection to the Internet.

If the virtual systems need to communicate with each other, that traffic goes out the firewall to another Layer 3 routing device and back to the firewall, even though the virtual systems exist on the same physical firewall, as shown in the following figure.



## Inter-VSYS Traffic That Remains Within the Firewall

Unlike the preceding multi-tenancy scenario, virtual systems on a firewall can be under the control of a single organization. The organization wants to both isolate traffic between virtual systems and allow communications between virtual systems. This common use case arises when the organization wants to provide departmental separation and still have the departments be able to communicate with each other or connect to the same network(s). In this scenario, the inter-vsys traffic remains within the firewall, as described in the following topics:

- ▲ External Zone
- ▲ External Zones and Security Policies For Traffic Within a Firewall

#### **External Zone**

The communication desired in the use case above is achieved by configuring security policies that point to or from an *external* zone. An external zone is a security object that is associated with a specific virtual system that it can reach; the zone is external to the virtual system. A virtual system can have only one external zone, regardless of how many security zones the virtual system has within it. External zones are required to allow traffic between zones in different virtual systems, without the traffic leaving the firewall.

The virtual system administrator configures the security policies needed to allow traffic between two virtual systems. Unlike security zones, an external zone is not associated with an interface; it is associated with a virtual system. The security policy allows or denies traffic between the security (internal) zone and the external zone.

Because external zones do not have interfaces or IP addresses associated with them, some zone protection profiles are not supported on external zones.

Remember that each virtual system is a separate instance of a firewall, which means that each packet moving between virtual systems is inspected for security policy and App-ID evaluation.

#### External Zones and Security Policies For Traffic Within a Firewall

In the following example, an enterprise has two separate administrative groups: the departmentA and departmentB virtual systems. The following figure shows the external zone associated with each virtual system, and traffic flowing from one trust zone, out an external zone, into an external zone of another virtual system, and into its trust zone.



In order to create external zones, the device administrator must configure the virtual systems so that they are *visible* to each other. External zones do not have security policies between them because their virtual systems are visible to each other.

To communicate between virtual systems, the ingress and egress interfaces on the firewall are either assigned to a single virtual router or else they are connected using inter-virtual router static routes. The simpler of these two approaches is to assign all virtual systems that must communicate with each other to a single virtual router.

There might be a reason that the virtual systems need to have their own virtual router, for example, if the virtual systems use overlapping IP address ranges. Traffic can be routed between the virtual systems, but each virtual router must have static routes that point to the other virtual router(s) as the next hop.

Referring to the scenario in the figure above, we have an enterprise with two administrative groups: departmentA and departmentB. The departmentA group manages the local network and the DMZ resources. The departmentB group manages traffic in and out of the sales segment of the network. All traffic is on a local network, so a single virtual router is used. There are two external zones configured for communication between the two virtual systems. The departmentA virtual system has three zones used in security policies: deptA-DMZ, deptA-trust, and deptA-External. The departmentB virtual system also has three zones: deptB-DMZ, deptB-trust, and deptB-External. Both groups can control the traffic passing through their virtual systems.

In order to allow traffic from deptA-trust to deptB-trust, two security policies are required. In the following figure, the two vertical arrows indicate where the security policies (described below the figure) are controlling traffic.



• Security Policy 1: In the preceding figure, traffic is destined for the deptB-trust zone. Traffic leaves the deptA-trust zone and goes to the deptA-External zone. A security policy must allow traffic from the source zone (deptA-trust) to the destination zone (deptA-External). A virtual system allows any policy type to be used for this traffic, including NAT.

No policy is needed between external zones because traffic sent to an external zone appears in and has automatic access to the other external zones that are visible to the original external zone.

• Security Policy 2: In the preceding figure, the traffic from deptB-External is still destined to the deptB-trust zone, and a security policy must be configured to allow it. The policy must allow traffic from the source zone (deptB-External) to the destination zone (deptB-trust).

The departmentB virtual system could be configured to block traffic from the departmentA virtual system, and vice versa. Like traffic from any other zone, traffic from external zones must be explicitly allowed by policy to reach other zones in a virtual system.



In addition to external zones being required for inter-virtual system traffic that does not leave the firewall, external zones are also required if you configure a Shared Gateway, in which case the traffic is intended to leave the firewall.

#### Inter-VSYS Communication Uses Two Sessions

It is helpful to understand that communication between two virtual systems uses two sessions, unlike the one session used for a single virtual system. Let's compare the scenarios.

Scenario 1—Vsys1 has two zones: trust1 and untrust1. A host in the trust1 zone initiates traffic when it needs to communicate with a device in the untrust1 zone. The host sends traffic to the firewall, and the firewall creates a new session for source zone trust1 to destination zone untrust1. Only one session is needed for this traffic.

Scenario 2—A host from vsys1 needs to access a server on vsys2. A host in the trust1 zone initiates traffic to the firewall, and the firewall creates the first session: source zone trust1 to destination zone untrust1. Traffic is routed to vsys2, either internally or externally. Then the firewall creates a second session: source zone untrust2 to destination zone trust2. Two sessions are needed for this inter-vsys traffic.

## **Shared Gateway**

This topic includes the following information about shared gateways:

- External Zones and Shared Gateway
- Networking Considerations for a Shared Gateway

#### External Zones and Shared Gateway

A shared gateway is an interface that multiple virtual systems share in order to communicate over the Internet. Each virtual system requires an External Zone, which acts as an intermediary, for configuring security policies that allow or deny traffic from the virtual system's internal zone to the shared gateway.

The shared gateway uses a single virtual router to route traffic for all virtual systems. A shared gateway is used in cases when an interface does not need a full administrative boundary around it, or when multiple virtual systems must share a single Internet connection. This second case arises if an ISP provides an organization with only one IP address (interface), but multiple virtual systems need external communication.

Unlike the behavior between virtual systems, security policy and App-ID evaluations are not performed between a virtual system and a shared gateway. That is why using a shared gateway to access the Internet involves less overhead than creating another virtual system to do so.

In the following figure, three customers share a firewall, but there is only one interface accessible to the Internet. Creating another virtual system would add the overhead of App-ID and security policy evaluation for traffic being sent to the interface through the added virtual system. To avoid adding another virtual system, the solution is to configure a shared gateway, as shown in the following diagram.



The shared gateway has one globally-routable IP address used to communicate with the outside world. Interfaces in the virtual systems have IP addresses too, but they can be private, non-routable IP addresses.

You will recall that an administrator must specify whether a virtual system is visible to other virtual systems. Unlike a virtual system, a shared gateway is always visible to all of the virtual systems on the firewall.

A shared gateway ID number appears as **sg<ID>** on the web interface. It is recommended that you name your shared gateway with a name that includes its ID number.

When you add objects such as zones or interfaces to a shared gateway, the shared gateway appears as an available virtual system in the vsys drop-down menu.

A shared gateway is a limited version of a virtual system; it supports NAT, policy-based forwarding (PBF), and DoS policies, but does not support security, QoS, decryption, application override, or captive portal policies.

#### Networking Considerations for a Shared Gateway

Keep the following in mind while you are configuring a shared gateway.

- The virtual systems in a shared gateway scenario access the Internet through the shared gateway's physical interface, using a single IP address. If the IP addresses of the virtual systems are not globally routable, configure source NAT to translate those addresses to globally-routable IP addresses.
- A virtual router routes the traffic for all of the virtual systems through the shared gateway.
- The default route for the virtual systems should point to the shared gateway.
- Security policies must be configured for each virtual system to allow the traffic between the internal zone and external zone, which is visible to the shared gateway.
- A device administrator should control the virtual router, so that no member of a virtual system can affect the traffic of other virtual systems.

To save configuration time and effort, consider the following advantages of a shared gateway:

- Rather than configure NAT for multiple virtual systems associated with a shared gateway, you can configure NAT for the shared gateway.
- Rather than configure policy-based routing (PBR) for multiple virtual systems associated with a shared gateway, you can configure PBR for the shared gateway.

# **Configure Virtual Systems**

Creating a virtual system requires that you have the following:

- A **superuser** administrative role.
- $\Box$  An interface configured.
- A Virtual Systems license if configuring a PA-2000 or PA-3000 Series firewall, or if creating more than the base number of virtual systems supported on the platform. See Platform Support and Licensing for Virtual Systems.

Perform the following procedure to create and configure virtual systems.

Configure a Virtual System				
Step 1	Enable virtual systems.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Setup &gt; Management</b> and edit the <b>General</b> Settings.	
		2.	Select the <b>Multi Virtual System Capability</b> check box and click <b>OK</b> . This action triggers a commit if you approve it.	
			Only after completing Step 1 will the <b>Device</b> tab display the <b>Virtual Systems</b> and <b>Shared Gateways</b> options.	
Step 2	Create a virtual system.	1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Virtual Systems</b> , click <b>Add</b> and enter a virtual system <b>ID</b> , which is appended to "vsys." Range: 1-255.	
			The default ID is 1, which makes the default virtual system <b>vsys1</b> . This default appears even on platforms that do not support multiple virtual systems.	
		2.	Check the <b>Allow forwarding of decrypted content</b> check box if you want to allow the firewall to forward decrypted content to an outside service. For example, you must enable this option for the firewall to be able to send decrypted content to WildFire for analysis.	
		3.	Enter a descriptive <b>Name</b> for the virtual system. A maximum of 31 alphanumeric, space, and underscore characters is allowed.	

Config	ure a Virtual System		
Step 3	Assign interfaces to the virtual system. The virtual routers, vwires, or VLANs can either be configured already or you can configure them later, at which point you specify the virtual system associated with it. The procedure to configure a virtual router, for example, is in Step 6 below.	<ol> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> <li>4.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>On the General tab, select a DNS Proxy profile if you want to apply DNS proxy rules to the interface.</li> <li>In the Interfaces field, click Add to enter the interfaces or subinterfaces to assign to the virtual system. An interface can belong to only one virtual system.</li> <li>Do any of the following, based on the deployment type(s) you need in the virtual system:</li> <li>In the VLANs field, click Add to enter the VLAN(s) to assign to the vsys.</li> <li>In the Virtual Wires field, click Add to enter the virtual wire(s) to assign to the vsys.</li> <li>In the Virtual Routers field, click Add to enter the virtual router(s) to assign to the vsys.</li> <li>In the Virtual System field, click Add to enter the virtual router(s) to assign to the vsys.</li> <li>In the Visible Virtual System field, check all virtual systems that should be made visible to the virtual system being configured. This is required for virtual systems that need to communicate with each other.</li> <li>In a multi-tenancy scenario where strict administrative boundaries are required, no virtual systems would be checked. Click OK</li> </ul>
Step 4	(Optional) Limit the resource allocations for sessions, rules, and VPN tunnels allowed for the virtual system. The flexibility of being able to allocate limits per virtual system allows you to effectively control device resources.	<ol> <li>5.</li> <li>1.</li> <li>2.</li> </ol>	Click <b>OK</b> . On the <b>Resource</b> tab, optionally set limits for a virtual system. There are no default values. • <b>Sessions Limit</b> —Range: 1-262144 • <b>Security Rules</b> —Range: 0-2500 • <b>NAT Rules</b> —Range: 0-3000 • <b>Decryption Rules</b> —Range: 0-250 • <b>QoS Rules</b> —Range: 0-1000 • <b>Application Override Rules</b> —Range: 0-250 • <b>Policy Based Forwarding Rules</b> —Range: 0-500 • <b>Captive Portal Rules</b> —Range: 0-1000 • <b>DoS Protection Rules</b> —Range: 0-1000 • <b>Site to Site VPN Tunnels</b> —Range: 0-1024 • <b>Concurrent SSL VPN Tunnels</b> —Range: 0-1024 Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 5	Save the configuration.	Clic from	ck <b>Commit</b> and <b>OK</b> . The virtual system is now an object accessible m the <b>Objects</b> tab.

Configure a Virtual System			
Step 6	Create at least one virtual router for the virtual system in order to make the virtual system capable of networking functions, such as static and dynamic routing. Alternatively, your virtual system might use a VLAN or a virtual wire, depending on your deployment.	<ol> <li>Select Network &gt; Virtual Routers and Add a virtual router by Name.</li> <li>Add the Interfaces that belong to the virtual router.</li> <li>Click OK.</li> </ol>	
Step 7	Configure a security zone for each interface in the virtual system.	For at least one interface, create a Layer 3 security zone. See Set Up Interfaces and Zones.	
Step 8	Configure the security policies allowing or denying traffic to and from the zones in the virtual system.	See Set Up Basic Security Policies.	
Step 9	Save the configuration.	Click <b>Commit</b> and <b>OK</b> . After a virtual system is created, a device administrator can use the CLI to commit a configuration for only a specific virtual system: PA-5060> commit partial vsys vsys <id></id>	
Step 10	(Optional) View the security policies configured for a virtual system.	Open an SSH session to use the CLI. To view the security policies for a virtual system, in operational mode, use the following commands: PA-5060> set system setting target-vsys <vsys-id> PA-5060&gt; show running security-policy</vsys-id>	

# Configure Inter-Virtual System Communication within the Firewall

Perform this task if you have a use case, perhaps within a single enterprise, where you want the virtual systems to be able to communicate with each other within the firewall. Such a scenario is described in Inter-VSYS Traffic That Remains Within the Firewall. This task presumes:

☐ You completed the task, Configure Virtual Systems.

When configuring the virtual systems, in the **Visible Virtual System** field, you checked the boxes of all virtual systems that must communicate with each other to be visible to each other.

Config	Configure Inter-Virtual System Communication within the Firewall			
Step 1	Configure an external zone for each virtual system.	1. Select <b>Network &gt; Zones</b> and <b>Add</b> a new zone by <b>Name</b> .		
		2. For <b>Location</b> , select the virtual system for which you are creating an external zone.		
		3. For Type, select External.		
		4. For <b>Virtual Systems</b> , enter the virtual system that the external zone can reach.		
		<ol> <li>Zone Protection Profile—Optionally select a zone protection profile (or configure one later) that provides flood, reconnaissance, or packet-based attack protection.</li> </ol>		
		6. <b>Log Setting</b> —Optionally select a log forwarding profile for forwarding zone protection logs to an external system.		
		7. Optionally select the <b>Enable User Identification</b> check box to enable User-ID for the external zone.		
		8. Click <b>OK</b> .		
Step 2	Configure the security policies allowing or denying traffic from the internal zones to the external zone of the virtual system, and vice versa.	See Set Up Basic Security Policies.		
		• See Inter-VSYS Traffic That Remains Within the Firewall.		
Step 3	Save the configuration.	Click Commit.		

## **Configure a Shared Gateway**

Perform this task if you need multiple virtual systems to share an interface (a Shared Gateway) to the Internet. This task presumes:

- You configured an interface with a globally-routable IP address, which will be the shared gateway.
- You completed the prior task, Configure Virtual Systems. For the interface, you chose the external-facing interface with the globally-routable IP address.
- When configuring the virtual systems, in the **Visible Virtual System** field, you checked the boxes of all virtual systems that must communicate to be visible to each other.

Configure a Shared Gateway				
Step 1	Configure a Shared Gateway.		1.	Select <b>Device &gt; Shared Gateway</b> and enter an <b>ID</b> .
			2.	Enter a helpful <b>Name</b> , preferably including the <b>ID</b> of the gateway.
			3.	In the <b>DNS Proxy</b> field, select a DNS proxy profile if you want to apply DNS proxy rules to the interface.
			4.	Add an Interface that connects to the outside world.
			5.	Click <b>OK</b> .
Step 2	Configure the zone for the shared		1.	Select Network > Zones and Add a new zone by Name.
	gateway.	2.	For Location, select the shared gateway for which you are	
	When adding objects such as zones or interfaces to a shared gateway, the shared gateway itself will be listed as an available vsys in the <b>VSYS</b> drop-down menu.		creating a zone.	
		zones or interfaces to a shared 3 gateway, the shared gateway itself will be listed as an available vsys in the <b>VSYS</b> drop-down menu. 5 6	3.	For Type, select Layer3.
			4.	<b>Zone Protection Profile</b> —Optionally select a zone protection profile (or configure one later) that provides flood, reconnaissance, or packet-based attack protection.
			5.	<b>Log Setting</b> —Optionally select a log forwarding profile for forwarding zone protection logs to an external system.
			6.	Optionally select the <b>Enable User Identification</b> check box to enable User-ID for the shared gateway.
		7.	Click <b>OK</b> .	
Step 3	Save th	e configuration.	Click Commit.	

## Virtual System Functionality with Other Features

Many of the firewall's features and functionality are capable of being configured, viewed, logged, or reported per virtual system. Therefore, virtual systems are mentioned in other relevant locations in the documentation and that information is not repeated here. Some of the specific chapters are the following:

- If you are configuring Active/Passive HA, the two firewalls must have the same virtual system capability (single or multiple virtual system capability). See High Availability.
- To configure QoS for virtual systems, see Configure QoS for a Virtual System.
- For information about configuring a firewall with virtual systems in a virtual wire deployment that uses subinterfaces (and VLAN tags), see the Networking section, Virtual Wire Subinterfaces.